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REPORT.

On the 2Tth day of August, 1862, the House of Representatives of
the Confederate States adopted the following joint resoliitiou:

^^ Resolved by the Congress of the Confederate States of America,
That a Joint Select Commiiiee of five on the part oi the Senate, and
five on the part of the House, he appointed to investigate the adminis-
tration of the Navy Department, under its present head, with power to

send for persons and papers, and to report the resuhs of said investiga-
tion to the two Houses respectively."

The Speaker, under this resohition, appointed the following com-
mittee on the part of the House: Messis. Foote^ Barksdale, Lyi.ns,
of Va., BoYCK and Dupre.
On the 28lh of August, the day after the adoption of this resolution

by the House, the Senate concurred therein, and the President appointed
the following committee on the part of that body: Messrs. Clay,
Semmes, Maxwell, Phelan and Hunter. Mr. Hunter subsequently
resigned, and Mr. PKYTo^^, of Missouri, was appoi»rfed in his stead.
This resolution was offered by Mr. Bamk^dale in the House of Repre-
sentatives, during the pendency of a resolution offered by Mr. Foote,
declarins that the Navy Department, under its present head, had not
the confidence of the country.

SATURDAY, Sept. 4, 1862.

The committee met in one of the rooms of the Navy Department, all

the members of* the committee being present, and Mr. Clay in the
chair. * "

Mr. Lyons offered the following resolution, which was adopted:
Resolved, That the chairmaiii be requested to communicate to the

Secretary of the Navy, a copy of the resolution of the two Houses of
Congress, and inf >rni the Secretary of the Navy that the CJ)minittee
will receive from him any comnmnication in writing which he may
choose to make to it ; and also to invite him to be present, if he pleases,
while any witness is under examination.

Mr. Bakksdalk offered the following resolutions, which were
adopted

:

Resolved, That the following plan of investigation into the affairs of
tlie Navy heparrment, be adopted:

1. Enquire the exact period o\ the organization of the Navy Depart-
metit, and whether there were any vessels of war, or other prepared
warlike materials in that branch of the service at its disposal.



3. What laws have been passed for the construetion of a Navy, and
when ?

3. Who were sent as agents to the United States, or to foreign coun-

tries, for the purchase of vessels; what instructions were given them;
what obstacles did they encounter, and what were the results of their

respef'tive missions.

4. What number of vessels have been purchased within the limits of

the Confederacy, their cost, names, and where they have been em-
ployed ?

5. What number have been built within the limits of the Confed-
eracy; by whom; upon what conditions, and under whose immediate
supervision were the appropriations therefor expended?

6. What were the floating defences of the city of New Orleans ? In-

vestigate the facets attending the building of the irnn-clad Mississippi
;

whether due diligence was exercised in. her c<»nstruction, &.c.? By
whose order she v/as destroyed, and whether such a result could have
been averted ?

7. At what date were laws passed m.aking appropriations fm- the de-

fence of the Cumberland and Tennessee rivers, and what instructions

v/ere issued for carrying out this object, and to whom ?

8. What laws have been passed for construction of gun-boats for

coast defence; afid under whose direction have the moneys appropriated

for this object been expended ?

9. What boats have been constructed at Memphis; by whom were
contracts taken; and upon whose recommendation were those contracts,

if any, made?
10. What contracts are now pending for the construction of vessels

of war within the limits of the Confederacy and elsewhere.

Mr. DupRK offered the following resolutions, which were adopted:

1. Resolved, That the Secretary of the Navy be requested to furnish

the committee with all the reports made by hmi, at different times, to

the Provisional Congress, together with all the documents attached

thereto and ujaking part thereof.

2. Also all and every recommendation made by him to the said Con-
gress and the Permanent Congress, ni relation to appropriations for the

purpose of buying and building gun-boats, and to give additional

efficiency to the Navy. ,.

3. Also the amounts appropriated f^r the Navy by the Permanent and
Provisional Congress, and the manner in which they were disposed of.

4. Also copies of all contracts made for the building of gun-boats at

Memphis, New Orleans, Mobile, Savannah, Charleston, Norfolk, Rich-

mond, l*ensac()la and the Tennessee river, and the Yazoo river, or

elsewhere.

5. Also what materials were at Norfolk for building gun-boats at the

tiu»e of the taking possession of the place by the Confederate States,

When was the building of the Virginia begut»?

(3. Also (if within his knowledge) with whom the Messrs. Tift con-

tracted for the iron work and iron plates necessary for the construction

and completion of the Mississippi.

7. Also wfiether any orders were given, and at what time, to remove

the Mississippi from New Orleans; and who removed or caused the

Arkansas to be removed from Memphis ?



8. Also what contracts have been made with the Messrs. Tifl, or any
one of them for the building of an^ other gun-boat either at. New
Orleans, or at any other place, and the copies of the contracts.

9. Also what orders were given to Captain Tatnall, as commander of
the Virginia, after the evacuation of Norfolk was determined upon?

10. Also whether any enquiry has been instituted by his department
to ascertiiin the cause of the failure of the Messrs. Tift to complete the
Mississippi before the fall of New Orleans, together with copies of all

correspondence between them and the department while the Mississippi

was being built; and copies of all correspondence between the depart-

ment and the contractor of the Arkansas, and the other boat unfinished

at Meujphis, and which was destroyed there.

11. Also the report of the engineers who superintended the putting
in of the engine, bef(»re she left the Yazoo river, and by v/hose order

the Arkansas was ordered from Vicksburg to Baton Rouge.
12. What orders, if any, were given to the commanders of the gun-

boats in liake Ponchartrain and Bayou St. John, before and after the
fall of New Orleans; and the orders, if any, for the destruction of the
gun-boats in the Yazoo river.

13. Whether any. enquiry has been instituted by his department in
regard to the destruction of the gun-boats in Lake Ponchartrain and
Bayou St. Jnhn and Yazoo river.

14. What contracts, if any, were made iti New Orleans, and with
whom, for ordnance supplies and stores; when made; and whether any
supplies and stores purchased in that city were returned? At what
time, and by whose order?

15. Also what caused the necessity for the destruction of the Louis-
iana? Was it a defect in the machinery; and if so, in v/hat that defect

consisted ?

16. By whose order the Navy Yard at Norfolk was destroyed, and
why?
The Committee adjourned to meet again on Monday at 9 o'clock.

MONDAY, Sept, 8,. 1862.

The Committee, met at 9 o'clock. Present—Messrs. Clay, (Chair-

man,) Seaimes, Bakksuale, l)upre, Phelan, Maxwell, Lyons,
BoYCEand Foote
The Chair laid before the Committee the following communication

from the Secretary of the Navy:

C. S. Navy Department, ")

Richmond, SepL 5, 1S62.5

Hon. C. C. Clay, Jr., Chairman, Sf'c.

Sir: In response to the fourth resolution, adopted by your Com-
mittee, 1 have the hon>'r to submit hen-with the original contracts made
for the coustrn<'tion of vessels at New Orleans.

Contract with E. C Murray, lor the constniction of the Louisiana.

Two accepted offers of J no. Hughes <fc Co., for the construction of
the Livingston and Bienville.
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The contract with John Hughes & Co., for the construction of an
iron-clad vessel.

Ill response to the sixth rescjiition, 1 submit the report of Messrs. N.

& A. F. Tift, which will exhibit the contracts made iiy them for tlie

iron work and iron plates for the Mississippi.

In response to, the sevenilj resolntion, I snbmit herewitii copy of a

telegram, dated the 24th of April, 18l2, to the commanding officer at

Kew Orleans.

Ill response to the tenth resolution, I respectfnlly state that the De-
partment called upon Messrs. Tift t^ra report, wliich is herewith sub-

mitted, together with the instructions ofthe Department to theuj for the

construction of the Mississippi, and the correspondence of the Uepart-

ment with those gentlemen dining her construction.

In response to the twelfth resolution, I respectfully state that the ves-

sels on Lake Ponchartrain and Bayou St. John were under the imme-
diate orders of the commanding officer of the siatjoii, Captain Whittle,

and their commanding oiiicers received instructions for their general

operations from him.

In response to the thirteenth resolution, I respectfully state that the

destruction of the gun- boats on Lake Ponchartrcdn and Bayou St. Jwhn
has been thorougidy investigated by a court of inquiry; which court

apprrx'ed of their destruction. The record of the court will be placed

before yon as soon as ii is received from Jackson, Mississippi, wJiere it

has been sent, to be used hefire a court-mariial. The DepiUtinent dis-

sented from the finding of the court, and tried the senior officer by
court-martial, at Jackson^ Mississippi, the record of which has not yet

been received.

In response to the fourteenth resolution, I respectfully state that no
contracts for ordnanf^e stores were made by the Department directly.

The duty of purchasing, manufacturing and preparing ordnance st"res

at New Orleans, was committed to the commanding officers of the sta-

tion; they had necessarily to be gathered from many different sources,

and carefLfily prepared under the direction of ^mr own officers.

Upon this subject Commander Minor, who had charge of the duties

of ordnance of the Department, Captains Rousseau and Holljns, and
Commander Mitnhell, who commanded at dKFerent times at New Or-
leans, and Lieutenant R. D. Minor, who was sent there by the Depart-
ment to report upon ordnance, will furnish the information desired.

The establishment of a laboratory, th^ preparation of shells, shrapnel,
cylinders, fuses, primers, all pyrotechny, and the fitting and eqinpment
of guns geiieriilly, were nndertaketi at JNew Orleansj^and of this ihe

offi:eis above named are rognizant.
li response to the fifteenth losoliuion, I snbmit herewith the report

of Commander Mitchell, which has just been received, sinee his re-

lease as a prisnner of war, and the letter of Mr. H. C. Murray, con-
tra -trr foi the coiistru<tiou of the ship, u iiich will furnish all the in-

lor iif tion n t le possession of iho Department. Mr. Murray will be
tU.nnione ' 'o ppear bef' re you.

1 im risptclfidly, your obedient sorv't,

S. R. MALLORY,
iSuactary (f the Navy.



The f>llow!n2: papers transmiited by the Secretary of the Navy iii

response io the resohitioiis of she Commitiei^ adopted on yesterday,

were read by the Chair

:

1. A contract with E. C. Murray to build ship L-^iiisiaaa for $^195,000,

to be constructed by the 25th of January, 1862. This contract is

dated September ISih, 1S6L
2. Instructions of Secretary of the Navy to Commander J'ohn K.

Mitchell, at New Orleans, dated March 14tli, 1862, endorsed ^' Instruc-

tions to Naval Commander ashore and afloat at New Orleans,"

3. Telegram from Comma.nder Mitchellj to Secretary of the Navvc
dated 13th March, 1862.

4. Telegram March 20th, 1862.

5. Letter March 20th, 18n2.

6. 'Telegram of the Secretary of the Navy, to Commander W. V.

Whittle, New Orleans, April 5th, 1882.

7. Letter of the Secretary, to Commander Whittle, April 5th, lS6'.i'.

8. Letter of the Secretary, to Commander Whittle, April lOth, 1862.

9. Telegram from the Secretary, to Commodore G. N. liollins at For*;

Pillow, April 10th, 1862. ^ ,

10. Telegram from the Secretary, to Commander Whittle at New Or-

leans, April 10th, 1862.

11. Telegram from the Secretary, to Commander Whittle at New Or
leans, April llth, lS6io

12. Telegram from the Secretary, to Commodore G. N. HollinSj da-

ted April 1 Ith, 1862—care of Commander Whittle,

13. Telegram from the Secretary, to Commander Whittle, New Or-

leans, April Uth, 1862.

14. Letter h'om the Secretary, to Commander V/hitde, New Orleans,

April llJh, 1862. -

15. Telegram from the Secretary, to Commander Whittle, April

i6th, 1862.

16. Telegram from the- Secretary, to Commander Whittle, April

16th, 1862.

17. Telegram from the Secretary, to Commander Whittle, April

17th, 1862.

18. Telegram from the Secretary, to Commander Whittle, April

17th, 1862. '

19. Telegram from the Secretary, to Commander Whittle, ApriS

22nd, 1862. This related to'gnns for the Mississippi.

20. Telegram from the Secretary, to Commander V/hittle, April

23rd, 1862.

21. Telegram from the Secretary, to Commander Whittle, April

24th, 1862.
22. Telegram from the Secretary, to Commander Whitile, Jackson

j

Mississippi, April 29th, 1862.

23. Letter from the Secretary, to E. C. Murday, 22nd March, 1862.

24. Report of Commander Mitchell, August 9th, 1862.

The Committee then adjourned until to-morrow at 9 o'clock.



TUESDAY, Sept. 9, 1862.

The Committee met at 9 o'clock. Present—the Chairman, (Mr.

Clay,) Messrs. Semmes, Maxwell, Phelan, Lyoks, Foote^ Barks-

dale and DuPRE.
At the suggestion of Mr Lyons, it was
Ordered, That the terms of a contract entered into hy the Commit-

tee with P. Kean, Stenographer, to report the proceedings of the Com-,
mittee, be entered upon the record.

These terms are, that the said P. Kean, receive for his services each

day that testimony is taken, $20, and $5 for each day that only the

bare minutes of the proceedings are kept.

On motion of Mr. Semmes, it was agreed that Capt. Wm. C, Whit-

tle be first called and exammed.
Capt. W. C. Whittle was accordingiy called, and diiiy sworn.

Mr. SEMMES. When were you assigned to the command at New
Orleans?

Capt. Whittle. I can't tell exactly. It can be ascertained by
reference to the office near by. It was some time iji the month of

March, 1862. I had intended to prepare myself for that question by
bringing my papers with me ; hut overlooked it. The iijformation de-

sired can, however, be obtained in the Department.
,

Mr. SEMMES. The date is of some consequence, and it would be

well we should have it.

Capt. Whittle. Well, it can be ascertained in a moment.
Mr. FOOTE. 1 move the Captain be permitted to examine the files

in the Department from vt'hich this information can be obtained.

The files were accordingly examined, when it appeared that the date

of the Captain's assumption of the command was March 29th, 1862.

Mr. SEMMES. What were the duties assigned to you ?

Capt. Whittle. 1 commanded the Naval Station at New Orleans.

I will here explain to the Committee, what perhaps not being acquainted
with professional matters appertaining to the Navy Department, thej
may not understand without explanation. As we of the IS'avy under-
stand it, the command of a station does not involve the command of
any thing afloat that does not appertain to repairs. Where an officer is

in command of a station, he commands notliing more.
Mr. SEMMES. What officer did you find in command of the station

when you went there ?

Capt. Whittle. Commander J. R. Mitchell was temporary in

charge, and was ordered to transfer the command to me.
Mr. SEMMES. To v/hat duty was he assigned alter yon took com.-^

mand?
Capt. Whittle. He v/as assigned to the office of executive oflicer

to me until other duties were assigned to him by rae.

Mr. SEMMES. Will you state what was the condition of things in

regard to the Naval affairs at New Orleans when you took command of
the Naval Station at that place ?

Capt. Whittle. Jt would be hard to tell that. Everv thing was
progressing as well as might be expected . We labored under great em-
barrassmeut, owing to the difficulty of procuring labor and other



necessary requirements which, in the practice of our profession, we
}iad no difficulty in procuring heretofore. The progress of things there
however, was as ilivorable as could, under the circumstances, be ex-
pected.

Mr. SEMMEfS. Had you any charge or control over the Mississippi

or Louisiana ?

Capt. Whittle. In regard to the Mississippi, it was distinctly un-
derstood by me that I had no control except eo far as to assist in any
way 1 could in the progress of the work on her. But I exercised no
control over the building of her. I would say here that a question
arose in New Orleans between a committee called the ^' committee of
safety," and the builders of that vessel—the Messrs. Tift—as to the

propriety of launching her—the committee requiring that she should
he launched, and the Messrs. Tift being opposed to it. The matter
was referred to me by the committee, but under an impression which
I then entertained, and now entertain, that I had no jurisdiction in the
matter, I declined to interfere.

Mr. SEMMES. And the Messrs. Tift refused to launch her,

Capt. Whittle; Yes, sir.

Mr. SEMMES. And you dechned to interfere.

Capt. Whittle. Yes, sir, for the reason I have just stated.

Mr. SEMMES. Can you state the time when the committee called

upon you to interfere?

Capt. Whittle. No't exactly. Perhaps if I had my papers here, I
could.

Mr. SEMMES. Perhaps I could assist you in determining the date.

Were the enemy at that time attacking Fort Jackson and Fort St,

Phillip. ,

Capt. Whittle. I don't believe they were.

Mr. SEMMES. Have you your papers with you?
Capt Wh[ttle. No, sir. They are now in the country, and can-

not well conveniently get them. I will hereafter furnish the Committee
with a copy of the letter of the Committee of Safety to me, and of
my reply.

Mr. Barksdale had previously suggested the following question,

and it was again put by Mr. Semmes. Was it proper to launch the
vessel when the committee of safety called upon the Messrs. Tift to

do so ?

Capt. Whittle.—A good deal of local knowledge, such as I must
say I do not possess, would be necessary, in order to enable one to

form an opinion. I would say, in regard to forwarding the work of the
vessel, that it is decidedly my opinion that the work upon her would
not be forwarded by launching her. This opinion would be based
on the presumption that she was safe where she was , and that the
ground under her was good. In declining to interfere, however, I was
governed by no other consideration than that the whole matter was left

with the builders, and not with m^e. . I felt that I was acting properly
in declining to interfere, having seen the contract between the Navy
Department and the Messrs. Tift.

Mr. SEMMES. Then I understand you to say that your personal
opinion would be based upon a knowlege of local circumstances apper-

taining to the character of the ground and the condition of the water.

.2



10
.

Capt. Whittle. Exactly, and that I think was the ground taken

by the committee. They took two grounds—first, the probability of

the sinking of the earth; and, secondly, that her completion would be

forwarded by her being launched.
' Mr. SEMMES. What was the condition of the rivei' at that time ?

Capt. Whittle. It was rather high.

Mr. SEMMES. How long do you think it was, after the commit-

tee insisted upon her being launched, that she was actually launched?

Capt. Whittle. I cannot tell that distinctly. It was not very

long. I will state that the time when, in my judgment, it was proper

the vessel should be in the water, was dictated more by the operations

of the enemy below, than any local considerations. When I subse-

quently addressed a note to the Messrs. jTift, stating that in my opinion

that vessel should be put into the Avater, they proceeded at once to

launch her.

Mr. SEMMES. Did not Captain Mitchell concur with you in that

opinion? .

Capt. Whittle. I don't know that.

Mr. SEMMES. I will state that the Messrs. Tift wrote a letter to

the Department, stating that after a conference with you and Captain

Mitchell, they decided to launch the vessel. . *

Capt. Whittle. I do not know what might be regarded as a con-

ference; but I do know that I addressed a letter to the Messrs. Tift on

the subject, and that immediately upon its receipt, they proceeded to

launch the vessel. Captain Mitchell and myself might have had a con-

ference upon the subject some time afterwards. I was of opinion, how-
ever, that the Messrs. Tift were influenced ni the course they took, by
the letter which I addressed to them.

Mr. SEMMES. When she was actually launched, were not the

enemy attacking the forts below ?

Capt. Whittle. I am not positive of that. They were either at-

tacking them, or the attack Avas momentarily expected.

Mr. SEMMES. It was that motive that induced you to write the

letter to the Messrs. Tift, which you did write.

Capt. Whittle. Entirely.

Mr. SEMMES. What was your object in ordering the vessel to be
launched ?

Capt. Whittle. My object was, in case ol misfortune below, to

get her up the river, or destroy her on the water, so as to avoid damage
on land from the fire

.

Mr. SEMMES. Did you take any control of the Mississippi from
the time she was launched, up to the time of her destruction ?

Capt. W. I took no control of her from the time she was launched

until the enemy got as far as the quarantine. I received a telegraphic

despatch from the operator at the Quarantine Station, at about forty

minutes past five on the morning of the 24th of April, informing me
that some of the enemy's i-essels had passed up there, and then, and
not before, I assumed control of the Mississippi.

Mr. SEMMES. Had you received any order from the Navy Depart-

ment, prior to the 24th of April, as to what you should do with the

vessel m case the enemy passed the forts ?

Capt. W. None; decidedly not.
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Mr. SEMMEl?. Did you roceive any on tliat day ?

Capt. VV. None, wliatcvcr, that I am aware of. I am certain I rc-

ceiv^ed none.

Mr. SEMMES. Did you telegraph to the Department on that day
the news of the passage of Quarantine Station by the enemy's vessels?

Capt. W. I don't know that 1 didj but I think it extremely proba-
ble that I did so.

Mr. SEMMES, To refresii your memory, I would state that there

is a despatch on file here; addressed by the Navy Department to you,
on the 24th of April, instructing you to take the vessel up the river. I

would like to know wlieu ji^ou received that despatch ?

Capt. W. I will remark that I have preserved copies of the several

papers addressed by the Navy Department to me. They are boxed up
carefully, and sonic of them arc now here. More of them are on the
way here.

Mr. Semmes here read a copy of the despatch just referred to, in-

structing Captain Whittle to send the Mississippi up the river, to pre-

vent her faUiijg into the hands of the enemy.
Capt. W. I never received that despatch. I would say that were

you in my position, common sense would have dictated to you what
was necessary to be done un(.ler the circumstances. Indeed, I could
not have received that despatch in sufficient time on that day to have,

acted upon it; and it therefore could not have controlled my action.

The Chairman, (Mr. Clay.) What time does it take to receive a tel-

egraphic despatch from here?

Capt. W. 1 do not know that it was impossible for me to have
received that despatch as early as 40 minutes past 5 in the morning.

Mr. SEMMES. When you heard of the enemy's passing the quar-
anthie ground, you took charge of the vessel you say.

Capt. W. Yes, sir.

Mr. SEMMES. What did you do then?
Capt. W. I sent for Capt. Sinclair, who was ordered to take com-

mand of the vessel by the Navy Department, and ordered him to use
every exertion in his power to get her up the river, and failing to do
so, to destroy her, so as to prevent her falhng into the hands of the

enemy. This I did on my own account altogether, and without re-

gard to telegraphs from here or anywhere else. I will say that I took
no immediate interest ni the matter, having entrusted the management
of the whole affair to a reliable officer.

Mr. SEMMES. When you gave the order, what was the condition
of things in New Orleans?

Capt. W. There was great excitement prevailing. I had an in-

terview with the Governor of Louisiana, who was occupying a
room in the same hotel with me. The moment I received the despatch
from the operator at Quarantine Station, I sent a messenger with it

to the Governor's room, with a request that it be returned after it was
read. After reading it, he sent me word that he would see me as soon
as possible. I must say that I did not fail to anticipate the possibility

of the enemy's passing the forts, and I therefore took the precaution of
preparing a steamer to take away every thing in my own department,
should that contingency occur. I stated to the Sub-Treasurer that I

intended, in the contingency of the enemy's passing the forts, to pm-
vide for removing the treasure.
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Mr. SEMMES. When did you comineuce niaking engagenienls for

the vessel for this purpose ?

Capt. W. It was no engagement. The vessel belonged lo the Con-

federacy.

Mr. SEMMES. The vessel was the St. Phiihp, formerly the Star

of the West, was she not ?

Capt. W. Yes, sir. I had a conversation with the Sub-Treasurer,

who called upon me some time before the passage of the forts by the

enemy, and I stated to him my intention to provide for the removal of

the public property under my charge, in the contingency to which I

have just referred, and offered to remove the treasure.

Mr. SEMMES. How long before the passage of the forts by the

enemy,- did that interview take place?

Capt. W. I don't exactlv know.
Mr. SEMMES. Was it three days ?

Capt. W. I cannot say.

Mr. SEMMES. Was it four days?
Capt. W. I cannot exactly say.

Mr. SEMMES. Was it a week?
Capt. W. I cannot say; but would suppose it was about three days.

Mr. SEMMES. Did the Sub-Treasurer call on you, or you on the

Sub-Treasurer?
Capt. W. He called upon me, and conversed with me about the

safety of the public treasure. He availed himself of the offer I made
him, and sent the treasure by the St, Phillip.

Mr. BOYCE. Was it not to be expected that the enemy would
have accomplished what they did do. I mean, have passed the bat-

teries below the city.

Capt. W. My opinion is, that war steamers can pass land batteries

at anytime. This has been our experience in the Revolutionary war,

and it is the opinion of General Lee, as expressed in his memoirs of

the Southern campaign.
Mr. SEMMES. That is the general opinion.

Capt. W. Yes, sir; and it h an opinion very Avell founded.

Mr. SEMMES. When the Sub-Treasurer called upon you to ex-

press his apprehensions of the safety of the public treasure, did you
make any preparations then to remove the Mississippi?

Capt. W. Oh, no £iir. I am not certain that the Mississippi was
launched at that time.

Mr. SEMMES. Do you recollect whether the Sub-Treasurer called

upon you, after or before the enemy attacked the forts?

Capt. W. I think it must have been in tiie early stage of liic attack,

I am not sure of that however. I can only give my general knowledge
in respect to dates, without referring to documents.

Mr, SEMMES, When you gave the order to (.'ommander Sinclair,

did he state that there was any difficulty in accomplishing that order?
Capt. W. I don't think ho did ; but there was great difficulty 1 found

after,

Mr, SEMMES, Were there not a great many steamers lying in the

river at the time ?

Capt. W. There were, bir.

Mr. SEMMES. When did you leave the city ?



•Gapt. W. . Oil the inoriiiug ol the 25Ui of April.

Mr. SEMMES. What time of the day ?
.

Capt. W. Between midnight and daylight.

Mr. SEMMES. The enemy arrived in front of the city about break-

fast time.

Capt! v\\ 1 think so. I was not there at the lime. I detained the

St. Phillip up to the last moment, so as (o get as much on board her

as possible. I left the day after she left.

Mr. DUPRE. Under the powers which appertain to you as Coni-

raandant of the New Orleans Station, if this boat had been built under

A contract to A. or B., won]4 you have any control over her?

Capt. W. I think I would if she had been built in one of tlje Navy
yards by Naval contractors. I do iiot, however, think I would have any
control over her when built by special contract^ as in this instance.

Mr. DUPRE. If you had the general control that belongs to you
as Naval Commandant, the vessel being built under any ordinary con-

tract, would you have v\''aited until the morning of the 24th to remove
that vessel, with your opinion about the capacity of war steamers to

pass forts?

Capt. W. In regard to that matter, you jnust remember that, in my
opinion, we were in danger from above, as well as below^; and the ques-

tion in my mind was, whether we were not more in danger from above
than below. Military men were publishing despatches, some of which
appeared in the papers, that we Avere safe from below, and it was a ques-

tion with me whether the vessel was not more in danger from above,

than below ; and in this dilemma, I did not know in the name of God
what to do with her.

Mr. FOOTE. You entertained the opinion at that time firmly and
unchanged, that the gun-boats of the enemy could pass the forts.

Capt. W. Yes. Could pass forts as a general thing.

Mr. FOOTE. Did you entertain that opinion in regard to these par-

ticular forts ?

Capt. W. Aly opinion was that.they could pass these forts.

Mr. FOOTE. Having that opinion still fixed in your mind—that

boats of that description could pass any battery, would you, if you had
control of thissteamer, keep her so long unlaunched?

Capt. W. If I should have hesitated to do so, it would have been
owing to this great consideration entirely. The great object was to get

that vessel ready Avith as much despatch as possible. The accomplish-

ment of this desirable end would have been materially delayed by taking

her from Ncav Orleans, and I therefore deemed it wise to keep her there

until there was an actual necessity for xemovingher.
Mr. FOOTE. I will put the question in another, and perhaps a

plainer form. Entertaining the opinion that gun-boats could pass a

battery, if you had control of the vessel, would yon not in season have
launched her and carried her to some part of the river, to have her fin-

ished in preference to leaving her tliere until it was too late to save her?
Capt. W. If I had known any place where to have carried her, I

Avould

.

The CHAIRMAN. Were there any obstructions in tlic river below
the forts ?

Capt. W. There Avere, but Avhat the exact character of them wa.->,

1 could not say.
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The UHAIRMAjN. You say you always believed, since you have
been informed of the capacity of war vessels, that they could pass bat-

teries, and were therefore apprehensive that the gun-boats of the enemy
could pass the lower batteries; but you were also, you say, informed
that boats had passed the batteries above, and were therefore doubtful

whether the vessel would be safer going up than by remaining as she
Avas; and in this state of things you knew no place of safety to which
3^ou could take her, because you ran an equal hazard ascending as well

as descending. Do I understand you correctly?

(Japt. W. Yes, sir. I was doubtful where the danger lay, and 1

'pursued what seemed to me to be the only course left to me.
Mr. SEMMES. Now about the Louisiana.

Capt. W. I will state in refereiice to her, that I received an order

from the Navy Department to send her up the river. I forget tlie date

of the order.

Mr. DUPRE. The 16th of April.

Capt. W. It becoming known to the commanding general there thai

I received a telegraphic despatch to that eiiect. General Lovell, as 1

understand, and Governor Moore, of Louisiana, telegraphed to the Pres-

ident, requesting that vessel to be sent below. (Soon after, I received

an order by telegraph to this effect—that I was to consult with General
Lovell and Governor JMoore, and after consultation with them, that I

was to decide upon my ov/n responsibility, whether she should go up or

down.
[Mr. Semmes here read the telegraph referred to, which accorded sub-

stantially with the statement of Captain W.]
Capt. ^\. resuming. I decided to send her down to the fort, and foe

llie reason that the danger seemed to be pressing there more than above.

Mr. SEMMES. Do you recollect this despatch?
'• Is the boom or raft below the forts in order to resist the enemy, or

is any part of it given way?"
Did you answer that?

Capt. W. I presume I did.

Mr. SEMMES. Had j^ou ever been on tlie New Orleans station

before ?

' Capt. W. Never, sir. It was entirely new ground to me.
Mr. SEMMES. You know nothing, then, of the locality of the

country.

Capt. W. Nothing at all.

.
Mr. SEMMES. Have you ever been in the Mississippi river before?
Capt. W. I was up to Columbus, where I v/as lor a time in com-

mand in co-o]>cration with General Polk.
Mr. SEMMES. Then you know nothing at all of the river?

Capt. VY. Very little.

Mr. SEMMES. How many vessels \vent with you up tlie river on
the morning of the 25th ?

Capt. VV. None that I had any control of. The St. Phillip went
up the day belljre mc, and I went in a little vessel called the Ivy—that

I think was her name.
Mr. tSEMMES. As you were going up the river, were there any

vessels burni'ng I mean by the wiiarf?

(iJapt. W. Yes, sir; before 1 left there, they set lire tu u very large

vessel, and a quantity of cotton.
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Mr. SEMMES. Were there any steamers o\\ fire ?

Capt. W. 1 don't knoAV, I. presume so, as there xvas a lai'ge con-
flagration.

Mr. SEMMES. Did you ever make any inquiry as to whether there
were steamers enough there to take oft' -the Mississippi?

Capt. W. I am satisfied tl;iere were enough there for that purpose,
if they could be commanded. I am convinced of this now as I was
then, for this reason: that on the morning of the. 24th of April, in a
conversation with Governor Moore, of Louisiana, at the St. Cliarles

Hotel, I suggested to him the propriety of filling the steamers with
armed men, w;ho would board the enemy's vessels as thev passed up
from quarantine. 1 remarked to him that he had the power over these
steamers, and that he could supply the men, while T agreed to ifnrnish

the officers.

Mr. LYONS. What was the reply?

Capt. W. He made no response, sir. v*

Mr. SEMMES. Don't you recollect that there was an advertisement
calling for 1,000 men to do that?

Capt. W. When, sir?

Mr. SEMMES. On the morning of the 25th.

Capt. W. I could not have read the newspapers, as I was not there
that day.

Mr. BARKSDALE. Was it not legitimate to press them into the
service of the Confederate States?

Capt. W. Where were the men to come from, unless supplied by
the GoTernor. I could do nothing more than propose to the Governor
to supply the men, and I furnish the officers.

,

Mr. SEMMES. Why did you not make this proposition to Governor
Lovell?

'

Capt. W. He Avas down beloAv, and I thought the Governor of the
State was the proper person to take the matter^n hand.

Mr. SEMMES. You said that when you took command of the
yard, in March, you found things in confusion.

Capt. W. Not as nmch as they were before, as I understand
Mr. SEMMES. Who did you supercede ?

Capt. W. Commander Mitchell.

Mr. SEMMES. Do you know whom he superceded?
Capt. W. Commodore Hollins had, as I understand, the command

afloat and the command ashore. The command was divided, and he
was assigned to the command afloat.

Mr. SEMMES. Did you, from time to time, visit the Mississippi
while in course of construction ?

Capt. W. Generally, I did—not very often, however. •

Mr. SEMMES. Now we come to the Louisiana.
Mr. BARKSDALE^ Do you recollect the time when the Missi^^

sippi was launched ? • .

Capt. W.- Not exactly—that can be easily ascertained.
Mr. BARKSDALE. Your opinion is, that in view of the danger of

a descent of the enemy from above, it would not have been advisable to
have launched the Mississippi and sent her up earlier ?

Capt. W. That idea did not occur to me. I have said that I had
no control over the Mississippi. It did not occyr to me to send her np
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with reference to the daager below. There was danger all round.. I

saidj ill a conversation with General Lovell;, you seem to be apprehen-

sive of danger from below—don't you apprehend danger from above?
I supposed then that if I was in Commodore Foote's place, I would
ignore Memphis, and come down the river at once. With this idea, I

had naturally concluded that there wa§ danger alike from above and
below, and lience, as I have already said, I regarded the policy pursued

as the only safe one for us.

Mr. BARKSDALE. Then you think that the course pursued in
* reference to the Mississippi, was the most advisable one.

Capt. W. Undoubtedly I do.
•

Mr. BARKSDALE. If she was removed up the river, was there a

place of security to be found where she could have been completed?

Capt. W. Probably, if she had been sent to Vicksburg, some se-

curity might have been afforded to her; but then such a course would
have delayed h«r complefion for months. I think she could not at best

have been completed in less than six weeks from the day she was
launched. Her removal to the point indicated, would, necessarily,

have delayed her completion for a longer time.

Mr. BARKSDALE. I understood you to say, that you gave instruc-

tions for her to be taken up the river to be saved, if possible, and only

to be destroyed when that hope failed

.

Capt. W. That .was my order.

Mr. SEMMES. Did you know there was any such place as the

Yazoo river ? -

Capt. W. Yes, sir.

Mr. SEMMES. Did you know that this vessel could have been car-

ried up there ?

Capt. W. I don't know; but I was of opinion that it would have

required an mimense force of steamers to tow her up against the strong

current of that river, indef)endent of the great delay which it would in-

volve.

Mr. SEMMES. About the armament of the Mississippi, when she

was burned, what armament did she have?

Capt. W. That I cannot tell. You will get all information on that

head from Commander Sinclair.

Mr-ISEMMES. In regard to the Louisiana, sh6 left the wjiarf on

the 20th. What was her condition at the time she started to go down
the river?

Capt. W. She was unfinished . She had some of her guns on bojlrd

;

but as Commander Mitchell attended to her, I apprehend he will fur-

nish all necessary information concerning her.

Mr. SEMMES. Did you go to see her while she was being built?

Capt. W. Frequently.
' Mr. SEMMES. Were the contractors pushinf the work upon her

vigorously?

Capt. W. I believe so. Capt. Mcintosh who commanded her, and

who was killed in the conflict which she had with the enemy's gun-

boats, superintended the construction of her, in a great measure, and

he was a very laborious man.

Mr. SEMMES. Did he make any complaint to you concerning the

progress of the work upon her?

Capt. W. No, sir ! I don't remember.
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Mr. SEMMES. Did her armament arrive in time?
Oapt. W, The greater part of it was on board when she started

down the river.
*

Mr. MAXWELL. Was there any interference on the part of the
military there with her armament?

Cap.t W. No, Sir. 1 would not have permitted it if any was at-

tempted.

Mr. SEMMES. \YeYe not the citizens of New Orleans very anxious
about the completion of the Louisiana?

Capt. W, They seemed to be more anxious about the Mississippi,

Mr. SEMMES, Did the "committee of safety " take any steps in

regard to the Louisiana.

Capt. W. The committee offered their services in any way thatiyas

necessary, and I should have called upon them if occasioij required.

I recollect expressing my thanks to one of the gentlemen for the kind
offer tendered by the committee, and took occasion to state that I would
call upon them if I required their services.

Mr. SEMMES. Was the character of the offer to furnish money, or

what?
Capt. W. It was to furnish any thing that was necessary, as 1 un-

derstand.

Mr. SEMMES. Did 5^ou call upon any of them?.
Capt. W. Well, I do not recollect. 1 had really iso much to do at

the time, and was so overwhelmed with business of the most vital im-
portance as lo render it difficult for me now to recollect every incident

connected with that disaster. I have no douht, however, tiiatany thing

that was required from the committee of safety was readily furnished.

Mr. DUPRE. Do you know that the workmen upon the Louisi-

ana and Mississippi ceased to work at any time, because there was no
money to pay them ?

Capt. W. That might have been the case before I went to New Or-

leans. 1 don't know whether or not it was the case ; but I heard so.

After I went there, there was an ample supply of funds.

Mr. LYONS. Are you aware of any defect or omission, or neglect

of means on the part of the government, which were necessary to the

finishing in proper time of the Louisiana and Mississippi?

Capt. W. I am not aware of any. If there was any defect of that

kind, 1 think it must have existed before I went to New Orleans—surely
not afterwards.

Mr. LYONS. Are you aware of any such neglect or omission oii

the part of the Naval constructors of the Louisiana and Mississippi

after you went there ?

Capt. W. The state of things was this. I was in command on the

upper Mississippi when orders were issued appointing me to the com-
mand at New Orleans. That was the first order. Some how or other

that order did not get to me. I came to Richmond, and the order was
renewed, and under that, I went to New Orleans as sooa as I could get
there, which was not many days after.

Mr. LYONS. Will you state whether it would have been practica-

ble after the commencement of this war, and before your awival.in
New Orleans, to put New Orleans in a condition of successful defence

against such a force as the enemy brought ?
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Capt. W. I have already stated that my local kiiovv^iedgc of iNew

Orleans and surrounding localities, is so slight as not to justify nxe in

passing an opinion as to what would be required to put it in a condition

of perfect defence. My impression, however is, that it is unfortunate

we had not commenced earlier with the construction of gun boats. 1

don't mean vessels with guns upon them.

Mr. SEMMES. What is the difference?

Capt. W. One is a vessel built specially for warlike purposes. The
other is a vessel built for a different purpose, upon which guns are

placed, a sort of free negro concern, which is made available for pur-

poses of war, without any of the qualities to render her in any degree

efficient.

Mr. LYONS. What length of time w"ould it take to build such

boats as those to which you refer?

Capt. TV*. I cannot say. A great many difficulties lay in the M^ay

which did not beset the construction of vessels in ordinary times.

While in command of the defences at Yorktown in May, 1801, I ad-'

dressed a letter to the Virginia government, urging upon them the pro-

priety of allowing me to build gun boats upon the Mattaponi and
Pamunky rivers. There was in the neighborhood of those rivers a

sufficiency of timber, and 1 urged upon them, by every consideration

that I could address to them, to let me begin the construction of these

boats as soon as the mouth of York river was secured. Notwithstand-

ing all my efforts, I never have been able to get them to attempt it. I

am now of opinion, that had we begun this enterprise at that time,

things would have worn a very different aspect now. I think we could

have commanded Hampton Roads and the approaches to Fortress Mon-
roe, and starved out that fortress in a few weeks.

Mr. LYONS. Do you refer to iron-clad gun boats?

Capt. W. No, sir. I don't think they were needed then. Now,
however, they would be,

Mr. LYONS. Did you ever offer any suggestion to the Navy De-

partment, such as that you made to the Virginia government?

Capt. W. I addressed a letter, I don't know whether to the Secre-

tary of the Navy, or to the officer in charge of the bureau of orders

and detail, in which that matter is referred to. I don't know whether

I addressed any thing to the Navy Department, so specifie as the letter

1 have already spoken of. I think an idea of this kind was expressed

in that letter, that if the foundation for a Navy was the construction of

gun boats, we then might go on advancing in this form of defence, and
endeavor to maintain a competition with.our enemy, if not excel them.

Mr. BARKSDALE. Was 3'our proposition made to Virginia after

the passage of the ordinance of secession ?

Capt. W. Oh I yes, sir.

Mr. BAUKSDALE. Your proposition was made before Virginia

joined the Conjederacy?

Capt. W. Yes, sir.

[The communications referred to by Capt. W., were furnished the Re-

porter since this evidence was given in, and are herewith published,

They ar« dated respectively September 24th, 1661 , and May Uth, 18o2.]
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York River, Virginia, >

Sej)LMtfi, 1861. j"

Sir : In i'lirthevaiice of a vvish expressed by the Honorable Secretary

of the Navy and coiive^T^ed- to me by CosTsmander Page, I send to you
the bearer, Mr, Gabriel F. Miller, a constructor from Matthews county,
who, I understand is every way rehabie and fully competent to fulfil

any contract in whicli he may engage. He would be willing to under-

take at once the constrnction at West Point of a steam propeller gun.

boat of one hundred and fifty feet keel, the model of which, with other

dimensions and detail can be arranged with him by the Department.
The timber can be bad on the Pamnnky river hard by, and 1 suppose
the fjsteiiings could be procured at the Navy Yard at Gosport. I hope he
may be authorized to visit the Navy Yard and acquaint himself with
whatever can be supplied from that depot for the speedy comple-

tion of the vessel. On the 11th of May last I had the honor to address

myself to the Navy Department of Virginia, on the importance of

building gun- boats ; a copy of my letter is probably on file in your office.

Vessels of that description, so valuable as they would be to us now,
are the true foundations for a Navy of eight hundred or a thousand
tons, and manned by an hundred men each, such men as the river

trade in our ov/n waters could supply, they would be invaluablfe to us
now, and give a security to our coasts and rivers which nothing else

can ensure.* There need be no apprehension about seamen; if we will

do our part'and build the vessels, they will flock to us to man and fight

them.
1 am. sir, respectful Iv, your obedient servant,

WM. 0. WHITTLE.
Commanding York River Defences.

Capt. F. DucuAK'Ax. la Charge of Office of
Orders and Detail, Richmond.

[copy.]

West Point, "^

York River, Va., M«y lU/i, 1862. j'

Sir: Many circumstances which Avill readily present themselves to

your mind concur, in. my judgment, to give strength and practical con-

sequence to a suggestion which I shall make, and which I would be
pleased that you should refer to the Governor and to the General-in-

Chief.

It i§^ that an energetic naval constructor, with any number of me-
chanics, who could be actively employed, be at once directed to com-
mence the construction, at some point on this river or one of its tribu-

taries, of one or moYe steam propeller gun boats, to carry each two 11-

inch shell guns, and be manned by eighty or an hundred men. Ton-
nage, draught and model could be decided upon in a moment, and
much timber for such purposes could be found already cut, with an in-

exhaustible supply standing everywhere in the surrounding forests

^

The number of such vessels could be increased indefinitely. If the
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constractioii of such a class of vessels sliould also be commeuced ai

the Navy Yard at Gosport, we would soon be in possession of a force

afloat sufficient to give us the command of our own waters, and to hold

an enemy, established at Fort Monroe, in a very uncomfortable p6sition.

(Signed,)
' *' WM. C. WHITTLE,
Commanding defences on York River.

Captain S. Barron,
Office of Detail and Equipment , Richmond. Va.

Mr. LYONS. In speaking of gun boats, am I to understand you as

saying that, in your opinion, if wooden gun boats had been constructed

at the time you made the suggestion to the Government of Virginia,*

they could have successfully run the batteries of Fortress Monroe?
Capt. W. I don't mean to say that all would, but I think the ma-

jority of them would.
Mr LYONS. Do you think they could have competed with the

vessels of the enemy ?

Capt. W. That would depend upon the armament they may have
on board.

Mr. IjYONS. Supposing in the defence of New Orleans, in respect

to which you say your local knowledge does not justify you in passing

an opinion—please to say whether, if defensible at all, it could be bet-

ter defended by gun boats or land batteries?

Capt. W. I do not believe in land batteries. They arejixed batte-

ries, and in that respect peculiarly objectionable. J much prefer gun
boats as a means of defence.

Mr. LYONS. Does not 'the character of the stream, and the nature
of the country above and belosv New Orleans, make the defence of that

city by land more than usually difficult?

Capt. W. I think so.

Mr. LYO^S. Will you have the goodness to say what Avas the ear-

hest period within your knowledge, when the government began to build
gun -boats?

Capt. W. I don't know.
Mr. BARKSDALE. Do you kiiovv- whether they began to Imild

them soon after Virginia joined the Confederacy?
Capt. W. I understand not soon after. I do not know of my ov/n

knowledge.
Mr. BARKSDALE. Do you recollect when Commodore Maurjr

was placed in charge of the business of supervising the construction of
gun boats in Virginia waters?

Capt. W. No, sir; not exactly.

The CHAIRMAN. Would not house carpenters be competent to

engage in the construetion of the class of gun boats to which you
refer ? '

Capt. W. Some of thcth might be—they might be inspired, and
under that influence prove efficient; but as a general thing they are not,

in my opinion, competent to engage in such work.
The CHAIRMAN. Was iliere a sufliccnt number of ship carpen-

ters available to construct these gun boats ?

Capt. W. I think there was. In the county of Matthews there

were very many. Several of these had previously been employed in
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ihe JNavy Yard at Gospoit; and my understanding wtis, ihul desirous to

serve their country from patriotic motives, they would prefer to do so,

even at the compensation of the volunteer;, in the way of their trade,

rather than in the ranks of the army.
Mr. PHELAN. You sitppose that we could have built wooden war

vessels, had we set about them in time, which could have passed Fort
Monroe, and intercepted the passage of the enemy's vessels to that

stronghold, and ultimately have starved them out. Admitting that we
could at that time have built vessels that would have accomplished this,

could we have continued to maintain that position ?

Capt. W. You know hov/ York river is formed. Its shape is very

much like that of a bottle, the narrow neck between Gloucester Point

aud Yorktown, representing the neck of the bottle. In the beginning,

we could have got together a little fleot, which, in connection with the

batteries at these respective points, would have secured the river against

the enemy. Then by having a lookout vessel, Ave could always be

made aware of all that was passing in the bay; and we could, upon the

approach of any vesseMn the direction of t\ie Fort, sally forth and
harass them in such a way, as to compel the enemy to convoy every ves-

sel they sent in or out to the Fort. In this manner it seems to me that

the day would not have been far distant whiten we conld have gained

possession of Fort Monroe. ,

Mr. PHELAN. Admit that we could have made such a ileet of

boats as to have harassed the enemy at that time in the manner de-

scribed. How long would it have been before they could have attained

a superiority over us?
Capt. VV. 1 do not know; but had we not the power to increase as

they might, and even keep ahead of them?
Mr. PHELAN. One Monitor could have destroyed, a whole fleet of

these gun boats.

Capt. W. Of course—but it must be remembered that we had tlie

Merrimac constructed in advance of her, and we could thus continue
to maintain the supremacy, having first had the start of them.

Mr. PHELAN. Could we have held the superiority you speak of

until we starved out Fort Monroe ?

Capt. W. I think so. We could have done that in six weeks. This
is my opinion.

Mr. LYONS. Is not the York river a very deep river?

Capt. W. Yes, sir; and a remarkably straight one.

Mr. SEMMES. Have you any idea of the quantity of ship build-

ing materials which was at the Norfolk Navy Y'^ard at the time that we
took possession of it? •

Capt. W. I don't,know; but there was an immense quantity of it

there. None of the ship timber was destroyed by the enemy upon
their evacuating the place.

Mr. LYONS. Are you av/are of the fact, that after we had got pos-

session of York river, ship timber was permitted to be carried out in

Yankee vessels to Yankee land?
Capt. W. Yes, sir. I am aware of it, for it was done against my

remonstrance.

Mr. SEMMES. Was it done with the sanction of the Confederate

Government?
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Uapt. W. \o, str. U was done by ihf siuicuon of the Virginia

S'oveniment,

The CHAIRMAN. H'o\r caiiie li: to be laken ?

Capt. W". It has been the habit of the Yankees for many years, lo

visit the Mattaponi and Pamiinky, ftr the. 'purpose of cutting timber.

The custom was to come in the month of October, and spend the win-

ter there. One 01" two vessels, which were loaded with ship timber,

remained there after Yirginia had taken matters into her own hands,

and they were on tiieir wa\'- out when I ordered them to be stopped.

An order, however, came from Richmond to permit them to pass, and I

of course obeyed that order. I think there was an idea that the Con-
federate Government permitted all vessels to pass within a Hmited lime,

which did not carry anything contraband of war. 1 thought that noth-

ing could be more contraband tiian this important element in the con-

struction of war vessels, and I accordingly rofused:to permit the vessels

to pass. But I was overruled.

Mr. DUPRF]. Do you know what quantity of ship timber was left

at Norfolk? You say that some ship timber was permitted to go from

that point to Yankee land.

Capt. W. Xo, sir.

Mr. DUPRE. I ui;ide*'stood you to say there was aii immense quan-

tity of ship timber at Norfolk, that was not burnt by the enemy.
Capt. W. Yes, but the timber to which 1 refer as liaving gone to

yankee land, was that brought from the Mattaponi and PamAinlcy. As
t(5 the quantity of timber left at the. Navy Yard, Commodore Forest,

who was since in charge of it, will inform you, 1 presume.
The Committee adjourned until 9 o'clock tomorrow.

WEDNESDAY, Sept. 10, 1862.

The j'ullownig members of the Committee met at tjic a"j;»ponited hour:

The Cliairman, ^Mr. Clay/) Messrs. Foote, Semmes, Dupre, Maxwell
and Boyce.

After a lapse of soujc tvy-enty or .thirty minutes, no quorum being
present,

i

Mr. Maxwell moved that the Committee adjoijrn until 9 o'clock to-

morrow, and that the testimony of Capt. Whittle, taken on yesterday,

be read to iiim l)y the reporter in presence of the Secretary of the Navy
and the Chairman of the Committee.
The motion was agreed to, and the Committee accordingly adjourned.

THURSDAY,' Sept. 1 1, 186:^.

The Committee mot at 9 o'clock, A. J\i., pursuant lo adjourimieut.

Present—Messrs. Clay, (Chairman,) l.''oote, Maxwell, Semmes, Boyce
and Barksdale.

Mr. Maxwkll moved that hereafter it v;onld be competent lor icss

ilian a quorum to examino Avitnesses.



The motion was agreed to, llie Ohaiimaii voling against ic.

Capt. Whittle was recalled, when the following questions \vere put
to him b}' the tSecretary of the Navy, through the chair:

Question. Did you receive tlie following telegram:

^"^Navy Department C. S., )
Richmond, April 5, 1862.^

Capt. Wm. C. Whittlf,,
Comm.andi'iig at New Orleans.

Work day and night to get the Louisiana and the Mississippi (Tifts'

boat) ready for action, I'he preparation cf ordnance stores and the
drilling of the crew, should all progress simultaneously. Not an hour
must be lost. Spare neither men nor money. Put the' best officers you
can get on board the ships, if those we send don't arrive in time. Strike
a blow at the enemy yourself, should Captain llollins be absent when
ready.

S. R. :ilALLORY.
* Secrekiry of the Navy.

Capt. Whittle. I cannot say from memory whether I received a tel-

egraphic despatch couched in these very words; but I received one en-
tirely to that effect. 1 Have no doubt of the correctness of that telegraph,
and of my having received it.

Qxiestion. In your communications with the military authorities at

New Orleans, what seemed to be their judgment as to the ability of th*e

enemy's fleet to pass the forts?

Capt. W. I do not remember to have had any formal communication
with the military authorities; but in my conversations with General
Loveil, and from the observations which i saw generally in the daily
papers of 'New Orleans, I was led to believe that the military authorities
believed that they had the power to prevent the passage of the forts.

Question. When did the '' committee of safety -' make the tender of
services to which you refer?

Capt. W. A letter, which is in possession of the Navy Department,
will fix the date. I take it for granted it was on or about the time of
my written communication with the "committee of safety."

Question. You speak of gun boats that might have been built on
the Mattaponi and Pamunky rivers, and which was recommended to
the State of Virginia; please state the general size and character, steam
power and armament of the vessels to which you refer as gun boats.

Capt. W, I have not gone even in my own mind into any detail
upon that subject. I merely advanced the naked idea, leaving it for
practical decision afterwards.

Question. Where would you have built or obtained the steam power
for them ?

Capt. W. 1 proposed to have it done at the Tredegar Works, in
this city.

Question. You say batteries might have been placed to protect the •

little fleet of gun boats on the Mattaponi and Pamunky rivers. Could
you have placed batteries which the enemy's ships could not have
passed? •

Capt. W. I don't think I have sai4 that the batteries I referred to
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at the time referred to. I don't think that batteries, particularly for that

object, could be or need be erected.

The CHAIR. What about the latter part of the question ?

Capt. W. In regard to that part of the interrogatory my opinion is,

that all* batteries might be passed by steamers of war. But that does

not seem to have been the opinion of some of the Federal officers, for

they made a great many preparations for passing them by, which, in

my iudgment^ were not necessary. .

^ .^ ^ ,

Question. Would the gun boats you proposed to build, have been

able to contend successfully with the enemy's, vessels ?

Capt. W. It does seem to me that they would much more success-

fully than any we have ever had.
'

Question. What would have prevented the heavy 40-gun steam

frio-ates of the class of the Wabash, Colorado and Minnesota; the 20-

ffun steam sloops of the class of the Richmond, Hartford and Brook-

lyn- and the medium 6-gun steam sloops of the class of the Iroquois,

Seniinole and Dacotah of the enemy, from destroying the httle fleet to

which you refer?
^ , . ,1, -,

Capt. W. Nothing that I know of, unless tney could have destroyed

everything* else that^we had in that way. I don't know that these

vessels would be indesn-uctible against a force of' that kind.' But taken

in connection Avith the batteries there, my idea is that they would have

effected a great deal. By occupying the passes by which vessels might

come they would render much service. At all events, these are mat-

ters that were to be decided, and I looked upon it as worth a trial there,

if it ^vas any where else ; for at that thue it was reported that the York

river was the high road to Richmond.

Question, liook over the official U. S. Naval Register of January,

1861 and name the regular war steamers of the U. S. Navy, at that

date 'without regard to the additions made to it from the commercial,

marine or otherwise.

Screw Frigates.

Name of Vessel. ^o- "^ Guns.

Niagara 12

Roanoke 40

Colorado ; 40

Merrimack 40

Minnesota 40

Wabash 40

Franklin 50

I don't think the Franklin was in the water.

First Class Steam- Sloops.

San Jacinto 13

Lancaster 22

Pensacola 19

Brooklyn • 25

Hartford 16

Richmond .^ ,...>,. 14
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Side Wheel,

Mississippi = ...'. 11

.

Susquehanna 15
Powhatan 11
Saranac ~ 9

Secotid Class Steam- Sloops.

Mohican fi

Narragansett 5
Iroquois 6
Pawnee

, 4
Wyoming 6
Dacotah 6
Pocahontas 5
Seminole 3

Side WheeL

Fulton 4

Third Class Steamers.

Wyandotte 5
Mohawk '

.5

Crusader — 8
Sumter *

.

5'.''
5Mystic

Side WheeL

Water Witch 3
Michigan 1

Pulaski 1

Saginau

Steam Tenders—^Screii-

John Hancock 3

Auacosta , 1

Stevens' war steamer 6

Question. Don't you know that the gun boats under construction

on the York and Pamunky rivers^ under the superintendence of Com-
mander Maury, had to be destroyed after the abandonment of York-
town by our forces ?

Capt. W. I don't know. I have heard so^, and presume it is the

case.

Mr. BOYCE. You have said tiiat war steamers, in your opinion,

could pass the forts below New Orleans 3 did the military officers there

take the necessary precaution to prevent their passage ?

Capt. W. I can only speak in regard to the Naval Department, and
I will say that they did everything in their power to prevent the passage

of the enemy's vessels. After I assumed command at New Orleans,

there was nothing in our power to do that was left undone. I never
saw officers in the public service work with more zeal and energy than

did the officers at that point.

The CHAIR. Were you supplied with all the means which, in your
4
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Opinion^ were at the command of the Naval Department for the protec-

tion of that city ?

Capt. W. I think so. I have in fact no doubt of it. Our demands
were very numerous and very difficult to be met—very ofteli impossible

to be met; but I am satisfied that there was nothing that the Navy De-
partment could do, from the time of my assuming command at New
Orleans, that was not done or attempted to be done.

Mr. SEMMES. Was there any deficiency in the supply of money?
Capt. W. None that I am aware of. In fact, I think I was paying

debts that were due before I arrived there.

Mr. MAXWELL. You speak of the officers engaged there as work-

ing very efficiently. Do you include in that the contractors, or rather

the men employed by them?
Capt. W. 1 include the naval officers. As far as I could ascertain

from some of these officers, the workmen on these steamers worked
Avith similar energy.

The CHAIR. I will ask another question, which was suggested by
the interrogatory propounded by the Senator from Louisiana. I under-

stood you to say now, that you did not know, of your own knowledge,

of any deficiency of money for the prosecution of the wotk, while you
were in command. Do you know that in consequence of a want of

money, any work v/as suspended, or any laborers dismissed ?

Capt. W . Not that 1 know of. I do not know -what occu rred before

I went there.

The CHAIR. Did you hear any complaint of that kind from any of

your predecessors ?

.

Capt. W. No, sir. My immediate predecessor is here; and he can
answer that question.

Capt. J. K. Mitchell was next called and duly sworn, the Secretary

of the Navy being present.

Mr. SEMMES. When did you take charge at New Orleans ?

Capt. Mitchell. I arrived there early in December, and was under the

order of Commodore Hollins at that time; but I relieved him from com-
mand of the station about the 1st of February, or the/latter part of Jan-

uary.

Mr. SEMMES. What were your duties when you were under the

orders of Commodore Hollins?

Capt. Mitchell. I was executive officer of the station.

Mr. SEMMES. As executive officer, what works had you to super-

intend ?

Capt. Mitchell. There was a general superintendence of outside

work; but I had no time to attend to it. My whole time was talien up
with office work, or assisting the Commodore in the discharge of the
duties of the office.

Mr. SEMMES. Did you have any superintendence over either of
the gun boats, Louisiana or Mississippi?

Capt. Mitchell. None. They were built by contract, and I had noth-

ing more to do with them than to visit them occasionally, as a matter of
curiosity, and to make occasional suggestions. I had no authority in

connection with their construction at all.

Mr. SEMMES. You received a telegraphic dispatch to take charge

of the Louisiana,, if you thought proper, in case thD work upon her was
not progressing with due energy ?



27

Capt, MiTCHJiLL. That was after the station was placed in my charge.

Mr. 8EMMES. AVhat time was that?

Capt. Mitchell. I cannot now give the exact date; but it was proba-

bly the latter part of Marcli. I presume a copy of the dispatch is on
file here, which will show the date.

Mr. SEMMES. Did you act on that dispatch ?

Capt. Mitchell. I did to this extent: I conferred with Gen'l Lovell,

as directed in the dispatch, as to the propriety of taking the work out of

the hands of the contractor; and we agreed that it was probably best to

let him know that we had authority to do so, and should exercise it in

case the work was not pushed forward with more energy. I made this

intimation to the contractor, and found it had the effect of stimulating

him.
Mr. SEMMES. Do you know whether the work on the Louisiana

was pushed with energy ?

Capt. M. I think it was pushed with as much energy as work gen-

erally is; but 1 thought at one time that the Avork was progressing rather

slow. I so stated in a telegraphic dispatch, which I sent to the Secre-

tary of the Navy, and his reply was, to take the work out of the hands
of the contractor, if I should think projjer to do so, after conference

with General Lovell.

Mr. SEMMES. Had you noticed that the work had been progress-

ing slowly before the time you had sent this dispatch ?

Capt. M. In a consultation with the engineer of the station^ and
others connected with the construction, we found out that the work
was not progressing as rapidly as it ought to be; and we thought it

would probably stimulate him by informing him of the character of the

order conveyed in the dispatch referred to. The information had the

desired eflect; for immediately a large force was transferred from the

Mississippi to the Louisiana. Mr. Tift authorized Mr. Pearce to assist

in the work of that vessel, and after that there were as many men at

work upon her as could be employed to advantage.
Mr. SEMMES. Was there any deficiency of means in the way of

money in the department while you had charge of it ?

Capt. M. There was at one time. I represented to the Navy De-
partment- at one time the condition of the finances, and gave my views
upon that subject in full.

Mr. SEMMES. You refer then to your letters on that subject, which
are now on file in the Navy Department.

Capt. M. I do.

Mr SEMMES. Was there any deficiency of supplies of money; in

regard to the Louisiana at any time?
Capt. M. The contractors, I believe, complained at one time; but

not justly. It was necessary for them to obtain the certificate of Mr.
Pearce that certain work had made certain progress, before they could
be entitled to receive their pay. I think the department in some cases,

went so far as to make some payments in advance.
Mr. MAXWELL. You think the certificate was given as soon as

the progress of the work would justify ?

Capt. M. I am satisfied it was, and even ia some instances the con-
tractors would strain a point in order to secure payment in advance for

the workmen who needed it.
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were prepared to defend the city;, belonging to the navy ?

Capt. M. There was none that I know of, except those on the

lakes.

Mr. SEMMES. Which were they ?

Capt. M. The Florida belonged to Commodore HoUins' command;
but she was caught at Mobile, and could not get away from there. And
then there was the Pamlico. There was none on the Mississippi river

Ijelow—they were all sent up to Columbus when I arrived there.

Mr. SEMMES. I suppose you don't know ht)w many vessels were

•u p there all told

.

.

"
'

Capt. M. In December, Commodore HoUins had the General Polk,

the Ivy, the Jackson, the Manassas and the McRae.

Mr. SExMMES. What was the character of the gun boats?

Capt. M. They were all mere shells—nothing but converted river

boats, except the Manassas, and she too was converted. The iron in

her was very thin, being not more than an inch and a half in thick-

ness .

Mr. SEMMES. ,
How many guns did these boats mount, and what

was their calibre ? ^
.

Capt. M. The Polk had, I think, five guns, the calibre of which I

do not now remember. I connnunicated an account of the armament

of all these vessels, which, I have no doubt, can be found in the bureau

of ordnance.

Mr. SEMMES. Then, as i understand you, there wore no other

vessels there than those which were sent up to Columbus in December?

Capt. M. Not when 1 got there. In' the month of January and

February following, other vessels were fitted out. There was the Maure-

pas, the Livingston, the Bienville, the Ponchartrain and the Carondolet.

Mr. SEMMES. When Avere the Carondolet and Bienville launched?

Capt. M. One was launched in January, the other in February.

Mr. SEMMES. What was the character of these boats?

Capt. M. Side wheel, light draft. They were pretty substantially

built; pierced for eight or nine guns; no rails; no breast work. They
might cany eight heavy guns.

Mr. SEMMES. Did they have their armament on board at any

time?
Capt. M. Not such as we designed for them. We got ten of the

old navy smooth bore 42-poijnders from General Lovell, and divided

them between the two vessels. In addition to this, each had a rifle

gun, one a 32-pounder, and the other smaller.

Mr. SEMMES. Were they ready for action before the fall of New
Orleans ?

Capt. M. 1 don't think they were fully ready. One, the Carondolet,

was fitted out, but had not her full compliment of men. The other

vessel, Avhen I left New Orleans, on the 21st of April, three days before

the fight, had not a crew.

Mr. SliiMMJiiS. Did she have her supplies?

Capt. M. She had supplies and officers, but was short of a crew.

The Pamlico came in for repairs, and all the men that could be taken

from her were transferred to the Louisiana.

Mr. SEMMES. In the course of January and February, you fitted
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out the Maiirepas, the Ponchartrain and the Livingston—all newly con-
structed boats ?

*

Capt. M. Yes, sir. They were all converted boatS; however. The
Livingston was new, but was designed as a ferry or tow boat—that is,

when her keel was laid; but when on the stocks she was fitted out as a
inan-of-war.

Mr. SEMMES. These boats, together with the Louisiana and Mis-
sissippi, were the only boats which were in the service of the govern-
ment in the Navy Department, either as purchased or constructed

.

Capt. M. These were all, except those which were fitted out by the

State of Louisiana—the Governor Moore, and the General Quitman-.
Both of these, as I have said, belonged to the State of Louisiana,
and were placed under my command.

-Mr. SEMMES. You left the city on the 21st; on board the

Louisiana?
Capt. M.. I left the city on Sunday the 20th.

Mr. SEMMES. You have described in your report the condition of

the Louisiana, when you left New Orleans—I suppose you adopt that

as your testimony.

Capt. M. That report was drawn up with deliberation, and I think
I can sustain all that it contains. I cannot think of anytliing material

to add to it now, unless there is some point that I have omitted upon
which you would desire to be informed.

Mr. SEMMES. How much time would it have taken to have com-
pleted the Louisiana for action?

Capt. M. To have prepared her fully for a fight, it would have
taken at least six weeks, if not two months longer. In work of that

kind there arc many causes of delay. For instance, we were a long
time waiting for the propellers. The engineers Avere promising every
day that they would be readjr, but they failed to come up to theirpro-

mise, though I am satisfied it was made in good laith. The work was
much more arduous and difficult than 'they apprehended. They were
embarrassed, moreover, by having their men taken away occasionally

by the military authorities, who pressed them into service. AVe had
frequently to go to General Lovell for an order to get them back. In-

stances of this draft for military service had frequently occurred; and
this necessarily involved delay in the construction of the engines.
Mr. SEMMES. Why were not these annoyances remedied by some

general order from the proper authorities. Why did not you or the

comftianding officer apply for some such general order?
Capt. M. I believe that was done as far. as it could be done. But

the fact is, these embarrassments are inseperable from the slate of
things which surrounded us there. The emergency came upon us so

'sudden, that it was difficult for us to have a regularly organized plan of
action. Embarrassment beset us at every point afmost.

Mr. SEMMES. Had you been ever engaged on the Mississippi
river before?

# Capt. M. Never. This is the first experience I have had there.

Mr. SEMMES. I do not understand from your report the exact ex-

tent to which the Louisiana was not ready. I think you state in your
report that she was not sheathed with iron any distance below the water-

line.
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Capt. M. I don't think it was designed that she should sustain a

much greater \^eight of. iron than would sheath her a short distance

below the water-hne. True, it could be put oh her ; but the contract as

I understand ;, did not allow for more than she had on.

Mr. SEMMES. Was she covered with iron dov/n to the water-line?

Capt. M.- Yes.
Mr. SEMMES. ' The great difficulty then about the Louisiana was

not her unprotected hull, but her machineiy ?

Capt. M. A plunging shot, or a shot between wind and water

would have gone into her and done her some damage—perhaps mate-

rially injured her by passing through some vital part.

Mr. SEMMES. In the engagement you had, was she at all injured ?

Capt. M. Her hull was not much injured. Two of the enemy's 11

inch shells struck her forward, and made an indentation, crushing in

the iron, without, however, starting the spikes. The shells burst into

a thousand particles, and scattered all over the Vessel.

Mr. SEMMES.—You say in your report, that the guns were badly

mounted—some being ranged too high, and others too low.

Capt. M. They were put on board in a hurry. Capt. Mcintosh
who had command of the vessel, was allowed to range the guns as he

pleiased. It was not known in the beginning, what her battery would
be, and we had to pick up guns every where. In the meantime, we
used all the guns we had, and put them in the best position we could,

under the circumstances—a position, as we supposed, where they could

be used. It turned out, however, that some were too high, and some
too low; and all these mistakes had to be corrected afterwards. The
whole arrangement of her armament was made in a hurry, the vessel

being in fact sent down at the earnest request of the military officer in

command. Capt. Whittle decided that it was perhaps best to send her

down, even in that condition, so that she might assist the forts in pre-

venting the enemy from coming up. I think my re]5ort will be found

to state that our vv^hole time was taken up in making the necessary

changes in the bearing of the guns. On the night of the li^ht, it took

nearly all our hands until 10 o'clock at night, to arrange thg batteries,

and the work was not finished.

Mr. SEMMES. What battery did you actually have on board the

Louisiana, and what Avas the calibre of the guns ?

Capt. M. We had 16 guns on board, two 7-incii rifle guns ; three

0-inch shell guns ; four 8-inch shell guns, and seven 6-100 rille guns.

Mr. SEMMES. Where did these guns come from?

Capt. M. The most important, and I think all the guns wore sent

from here. The 7-inch guns were sent from here, and almost all the

rifle 32's we had on board, which consisted of four or five. One of

the 7-inch guns was. loaned to Fort Jackson.

Mr. SEMMES. When did they arrive in I^aw Orleans?

Capt. M. They commenced arriving there about the 1st of April.

1 may be mistaken, however, as to the date. To be strictly accurate, I

should have to refer to the records in the ofiices. •

^
Mr. SEMMES. My object was to ascertain wiiether you had time,

after they arrived in New Odeans, to put them on board the vessel, and
adjust them properly.

Capt. M. The vessel was not ready to receive them. As it was,

they were put on board before she was prepared lor their reception.
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Mr. SBMMES. Yon had to hm-ry tham on board; to ^able tho

vessel to go down ?

Capt. M. Yes, sn-; and putting them on board interfered, moreover,
with the progress of the work upon her.

Mr, SEMMES. When you got down to the fort, you stated in your
report, that you conferred with Gen'l Duncan, and that there was some
difference of opinion between you as to the position the Louisiana
should occupy.

Capt. M. We had a conference first, in which no difference of

opinion arose. It v/as I think on the second day that he suggested a
position different from that assigned by me. I concurred with liim

that the position he suggeste was a very good one, if the vessel had
been in proper condition. But the mechanics being at work upon her
endeavoring to get her in the best order possible. The reasons which
induced me not to conform to his suggestions at that time are stated in

my report to the Secretary of the Navy, and in my letter to Gen'l
Duncan.

Mr. SEMMES. Before you left the city of New Orleans did you
know what was the condition of the raft down there? You say they
hurried you down. Was it in consequence of information received as
to the raft being somewhat insufficient to obstruct the passage of the
enemy ?

Capt. M. I don't know whether it was on that account. I understood
the raft gave way ; but when 1 got down there, I found there was but a
small portion of it left. I found its condition far worse than I expected.

Mr. SEMMES. Do you concur in the opinion of Capt. Whittle in
regard to the capacity of steam war vessels to pass forts ? Capt.
Whittle's opinion is this; that war vessels under the operation of steam,
can pass any fixed battery.

Capt. M. I think so.

Mr. SEMMES. I think Capt. Whittle's opinion was, that some
may be destroyed, and some may pass.

Capt. M. I find from experience down there, that they can pass
with great facility. I think 1 expressed my opinion to prominent men
upon this subject some time before the fall of New Orleans. I think I
expressed it to Gen'l Duncan and Gen'l Lovell as far back as January,
when I Avas down there to command an expedition to capture the Cal-
houn. I expressed my opinion then to Gen'l Duncan, that I thought
the enemy could pass these forts. He did not, however, concur with
me.

Mr. SEMMES. Did you ever confer with other Naval officers upon
that subject?

Capt. M. I did; and I think it was the general opinion of all Naval
officers ?

Mr. SEMMES. The only hope then was that the enemy's boats
would be detained by the obstructions until the forts would destrov
them?

^

Capt. M. The only hope I had of our preventing them from coming
up, was when I heard that the raft was in good condition. That was
after the second raft was constructed. The first was carried away.
Mr. SEMMES. Do you know when it was carried awav?
Capt. M. I do not.
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Mr. SE'MMES. Do you know whether it was a month or two be-

fore the fall of New Orleans ?

Capt. M. I was down there the last of January, and the raft was
there then, but there was a large amount of drift wood against it.

I suggested to Gen'l Duncan that it would be well to remove it. In

10 days after that, the raft was carried away.
Mr. SEMMEiS. So that when you saw this immense mass of drift

timber pressing against the raft, you suggested to have it removed ?

Capt. M. 1 merely suggested in n conversation with Gen'l Duncan
if that could be removed. He said, " I believe it would be an endless

job." He seemed to think that it made the raft stronger. In 10 days

after, as I have remarked, it was carried away.
Mr. SEMMES. How long after that was it, that the raft v/as re-

placed, and what sort of a raft was placed there ? .

Capt. M. They got all the pilot boats they could, and planted them
across the river. The next plan was I believe, to take some of our fire

boats which are employed by the Navy. These were first used, I be-

lieve, to supply the place of rafts. There was also used in connection

with them a chain cable, which extended across under the bottom

of these boats, and held them together. This contrivance proved inef-

fectual, for as I have said, they were carried away. In the second in-

stance, they took pilot boats, and extended them across the river,

connecting them with pieces of chains. But this also gave way, and
the result was that no impediment existed to the passage of the enemy's

gunboats, so far as river obstructions are concerned.

Mr. SEMMES. Was that the character of the obstruction that re-

inained until the enemy came up?
Capt. M. Yes, sir. The second obstruction, as I have remarked,

had also been carried away with the exception of a small remnant of it,

which I discovered upon visiting there.

Mr. SEMMES. Do you know how long it was prior to your going

down there, that this last obstruction had been destroyed? •

Capt. M. I think very few days before. When 1 got there, it Avas

materially damaged. I did not know it was in the condition in which
it proved to be, until I got there.

Mr. SEMMES. You know nothing of the affairs connected with

the Mississippi at all ?

Capt. M. Do you mean any tiling connected with the building of

her?
Mr. SEMMES. Yes.

,

Capt. M. I was there very frequently, and watched her progress.

I have some knowledge of her.

Mr. SEMMES. You were in command of the station after Commo-
dore HoUins left. Did you visit the Mississippi?

Capt. M. Yes; I went there as a matter of curiosity, but had no
control over her whatever.

Mr. SEMMES. You say you visited her occasionahy. I wish you
would state whether you thought the work was pressed with vigor?

Capt. M. I think the work was pressed with vigor. I heard the Messrs.

Tift complain that the contractors for the engines were rather dilatory in

executing the work. The contractor was Mr. Kirk, but whether he
was really to blame or not, I do not know. The work was new to
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him, and lie was therefore laboring nn-ler disadvantages as well from
• that, as doubtless other causes. I do think whatever promise he made,
was made in good faith.

Mr. SKMMES. He had a large estabh'shment, had he not?
Capt. M, I iio nnt know. I was never in il.

Mr. SI'MMK^. You say you talked with the Messrs. Tift in regard
to the progress of the vessel, and that the cause of tlie delay in her
coiistiuctioN was applied exclusively to the delay in completing the
engines.

Capt. M. Yes, sir.

Mr, SEMME8. Do you know the first time he made any complaint
t© you ?

Capt. M. I sent a telegraphic dispatch on tin* subject to the

Navy Department some time after that, in r^g^n-d t" the delay on the

part of tlie contractor, Kirk. I did not refer to tfie Tifts at all.

Mr. SEM.VIHS. At the time, as I nnderstmi yon, you sent a dis-

patch to the. I'epartment in reg'ird to the Jjouisnana
;
yb» also tele-

graphed in regard to the Mississippi.

Oapt. M. The tf^legraph in regard to the Mississippi was sent a day
or two after 1 telegraphed in refl-rence to the Louisiana. I felt it my
duty to make enquiry in regard to this vessel, and keep the Navy De-
partment advised as to how she v/as progressing. The infirmation
which I conveyed in that dispatch, was derived from the Tifts, as well
as from the consulting engineer,- Mr. Freeman.

Mr. SKMMES. Do you know of any effort made on the part of the
"committee of safety," of I^ew Orleans, to press forward this vessel to

completion ?

Capt. M. They waited upon me in reference to this matter, and I

will state my belief that they did every thing in their pf)wer to forward
the work. I don't know whether they were of much service or not.,

1 mean m respect to these vessels. 1 understand that Mr. Tift told the
chairman of the committee, that if the committee wanted to assist him;,

that the best way to do so, would be to get as many workmen as they
could, to assist Kirk in making the engines, and to work night and day.

Mr. SEMMES. Do you know whether they did furnish any work-
men?

Capt. M. 1 do not know to what extent they were instrumental in
getting workmen. Their influence might have been available in that

respect, and probably was; but I know nothing in that connection of
my own knowledge.

Mr. SEMMES. Do you know whether or not the influence of the

citizens secured many workmen for the Mississippi ?

Capt. M. I do not know of my own knowledge. It is very likely

they exercised a great deal of influence in the matter.

Mr. SEMMES. What was your opinion as to the propriety of launch-
ing the Mississippi at the time she was launched?

Capt. M. There was an effort made on the part of the safety com-
mittee, to have her launched before she was launched.

Mr. SEMMES. On what was that based ?

Capt. i\l. It was thought best by the committee to have her launched,
from an impression, as I understand, that the work npon her would
progress more rapidly on the water than on lahd^ and that, moreover,
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her armament being on, she might be rendered available in some de^

gree for the defence of the city, in case of an attaciv. I remember the

Tifis consulted Capt. Whittle, Capt. Sinclair and myself upon the sub-

ject. Capt. Sinclair and myself subsequently addressed him a note,

in reply to a call for our opinion, advising him not to launch the vessel

at that time, and gave as our reasons that it would delay her comple-

tion. In a week after, however, we advised her to be launched as soon
as possible.

Mr. SfiMMES. What was the cause of this change of opinion?

Capt. M. The enemy then commenced the attack on Fort Jackson,

and we supposed that the only safety for her was being in the water, as

she could thus be either towed up the river to a place of safety, or used

to defend the city.

Mr MAXWELL. Did they act upon that advice

?

Capt. M. Yes, sir; they went to work immediately to launch her.

Events, I think, justify our advice, as being afloat there was then a

chance to gel* her up the river.

Mr. SEMMES. You know nothing abput the efforts to get her up
the river ?

Capt. M. No, sir.

Mr. SEMMES. In visiting the Mississippi, you had occasion to See

the river. Were there many stt-amers lying about there?

Capt. M. Yes, sir; a good many. Theie were several large steam-

ers lying there, probably six or eight.

Mr. SKMMKS. Then, as I understand yon, the reason that you
changed your opinion in regard to the propriety of launching the ves-

sel was, it the forts were passed she might be u.sed in delenre of the

city, and that by proper ettort she might be brought np and saved.

Capt. M. Yes, sir. If she was on tfie stocks we would have to

destroy her, at a serious risk perhaps to oih^^r property.

Mr. SEMMES. In case it was necessary to bring her up the river,

was there any place talked of where she might be brought to ?

Capt. M. No, sir. At that time, I think Island JVo. 10 had fallen.

Fort Pillow had either fallen, or was expected to fall every day, and we
did not decide upon any place to which she might be brought. We
only thought that having her- afloat and bringing her somewhere, was
the only chance of saving her,

Mr. MAXWELL. What reason did the Tifts give first for not launch-

ing the vessel ?

Capt. M. I think they gave the same reason that we did in the first

instance, which was, that it would delay her completion.

Mr. SEMMES. In regard to these propellers. Was not the work
on the Mississippi delayed a good deal for want of the necessary shafts?

Capt. M. The shafts were not ready when the vessel, was ready to

receive them. The shafts might have been put in a month sooner, if

they were ready.

Mr. SEMMES. Do you know whether the shafts were constructed
at New Orleans ?

Capt. M. Those for the Louisiana were, but I think the main shaft

for the Misssissippi came from Richmond.
Mr. SEMMES. Was that main shaft for the Mississippi larger than

either of those of the Louisiana?
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Capt. M. Tliey nuiSt ha?e been, because the slia/ts for th« Louis-
iana were merely auxiliary, and were not intended to give the vessel
any great speed . Tliey were designed more for the steering of her than
for speed . Of course they must aid in propelling her.

The CHAIR. Was the work on either of tliese boats delayed or
suspended to your knowledge, from the want of the requisite funds to

pay contractors or laborers at any time ?

Capt. M. No, sir. On the contrary, I know that there were funds
all the time in the hands of the pay-master, for the Tifts' vessel, as
well a.s the other. 1 believe there was always a fund to pay the con-
tractors for the Louisiana.

The CHAIR. Do you recollect whether any laborer ceased to work,
or any contractor ceased to carry on his contract for want of funds?

Capt. M. None at all in the Mississippi, nor in the Louisiana, so far

as I know; but my impression is, that Mr. Murray complained about
the non-receipt of funds.

The CHAIR. Do you know whether the contractors for the Louis-
iana or Alississif>pi ever r» fused labor or any aid tendered them by the
committee of safety i.f New Orleans, or failed to avail themselves of any
opportunity to push on the work ?

Capt. M. I <lon't know.
The CHAIR. Do you know whether the means and f icilities for

constructing vessels of the character of these, are sufficient in the city

of New Orleans, <»r are they d- ficient there ?

Capt. M . The farts show that the vessels could be constructed there.
However, the work was unusual at that point, and the mechanics en-
gaged in it undertook to do what they were not accustomed to do, and
the consequence was, they took more time than they probably other-
wise would.
The CHAIR. Do you mean to say that, in your opinion, there was

a deficiency of skillful labor, competent to the construction of these
works, and of the material necessary for their construction ?

Capt. M. 1 can't say there v/as a deficiency, because this work was
done and the material obtained.

The CHAIR. If there had been skillful handicraft in that kind of
work, would the work have progressed more rapidly than it did ?

Capt. M. I think so. We had to resort to many substitutes for

articles used in the construction of ships, and adapt them to the pur-
pose. This occasioned much delay.

The Committee then adjourned until 9 o'clock to-morrow.

FRIDAY, Sept. 12, ISoi^.

The Commitlee met at 9 o'clock, pursuant to adjournment*.
Present—Messrs. Semmes, who acted as Chairman, LyonSjBo^xe,

Maxwell and Dupre.
Mr. SEMMES. The Senate on yesterday excused from service on

this Committee three of its members—Mr. Hunter, Mr. Phelan and Mr.
Clay, for reasons which they stated to that body—two firom personal
reasons, the other, because of his being chairman of another commit-
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lee, which reqiuredhis presence there almost constantly. The Seiiate,

in excusing these membe'rs, did not fill up their places, and Mr, Max-
well and myself now constitute the Senate's quota of the Committee.
In the present state of things shall we proceed or not with the investi-

gation; or shall we await the further action of the Senate to fill up the

Committee ?

Mr. DUPRE. Did the Senate refuse to fill up the Committee?
Mr. SEMMES. The Senate's action in the matter was had at a late

hour—about half past four, and it was therefore laid over.

Blr. DUPRE. It seems to me as this is a Joint Committee, that the

Committee must be filled from, both sides, before we can proceed. The
two component parts make a whole; and if this Committee is not put

in its original form by the Senate, it will be incomplete. Unless the

Senate should fill up the regular number by the appointment of others

in place of those who have been excused, I should consider the action

of this Cohimittee illegal. The House portion of the Committee should
have to report to that body to know what course we should take, and
what action became us as one poition of the Committee. To take any
action now is, in my opinion, imprariicable, and would not be in con-

formity with the m.otives which gave rise to the Committee. We have
decided here that we might vote /?cr capita upon any question, or if de-

sired, that we migljt vote separately. As the Committee is now con-

stituted, a disadvantage would result to one branch of the Committee,
and no harmony could possibly exist. I regard the Committee, as now
constituted, as not being in a condition to act legally.

Mr. LYONS. My vote would df^pend upon the question, whether
the Senate would determine to leave the Oommiltee to or nsist of two
on its part, or put on tfiree more. I am willing to leave the genilemen
here from the Senate to decide the question.

Mr. MAXWF^JjL. There has been no action taken at all as yet by
the Senate in the niatter.

Mr. LYONS. If you gentlemen who are representiug the Senate on
the Committee, choose logo on, I have no objection. At the same
time, if we voie pir capita on any question, the Senate Committee
would be votrd down.

i\|r. DUPRE. We are apprised now that a portion of the Committee
has been withdrawn by the acrej>tiince of resignations. That, there-

fore, leaves ihe C< niniiltecincf n;f lefe, and unless the Senate art again,

I oonsidt^r the aoticn I'f tliis Ccmniittee as illegal. 1 M^ould tie loath to

continue an invc^^tigatim now, I erause this Crmniiitee would be acting

in conflict wiih tlu* letter and j-pirit of the resolution which created it.

What wciuld take place iiciw, w< uld have to be gone over again (or the
information of any new members that may be appointed by the Senate.

Mr. SEMMES. I would piopos^e, as a matter of ccu'-enienee, as
Captain Miichell h:is aheady been examined, and the Secretary of the
Navy has* some intermgati'ries to pnipontid to him, thai we hear those
interrogatories, as Capt. Mitchell i.s lo go away as soon as the Committee
is done with him.

Mr. MAXWELL. The Secretary has not his interrogatories pre-

pared, and will not have before 10 o'clock.

Mr. LYONS. As 1 have said, I have no objection to the Senate's

ComraiUee acting as now constiliUed, if they so desire; but it seems to
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me that if they refuse to act as the representatives of the Senate Com-
mittee in general, they should forego action in reference to this matter,

and await the course of the Senate in respect to the filling up of the

Committee.
Mr. SEMMES. I believe that Mr. Maxwell and myself have not

authority to act; certainly not as the Committee appointed by the Sen-
ate's resolution.

Mr. DUPRE, Even if your number had been thre^ you would not

conform to the joint resolution, uiiless the Senate would consent to dis-

pense with five, and go on with three.

Mr. LYONS, Then I move we adjourn.

The motion was agreed to, and the Corrimittee adjourned with the

understanding that they were to meet at half past 9 to-morrov/,. to hear

from Mr. Semmes what action the Senate m.ay take in regard to filling

up the Committee.

SATURDAY, Sept. 13, 1862.

The Committee met at half past 9 o'clock, pursuant to adjournment.
Present—Messrs. Clay, (Chairman,) Dupre, Lyons, Se'mraes, Barks-

dale, Maxwell and Boyce.
Absent—Mr. Foote.

Mr. LYONS'. Not having been present when the testimony of Capt.
Mitchell was given, I am anxious to hear it read.

Mr.. PHELAN. I hope the Committee will not order it to be read
again.

Mr. DUFRE. If any member of tlie Committee is not here when
the testimony is rffered, it is his misfortune. If we had to read over
the testin]ni]y tor eveiy meniber who chooses to absent himself when it

is given in, we wf uld never get ihrrugh with this investigation.

Mr. LY( NS. The memhers are hound to he in the House when it

is in session; and I vvruld ."ay that this difficulty has hoen produced by
the Cfmmittee authorizing the examinatifn of witnesses in the absence
of a quorum. 1 agrt-o with the gentleman, that if a member absents
himself from the Coinmirtee within committee hours, he cannot ask
this privilege. But if the Ci<rninittee adopts a resolution to examine
witnesses, when ther^ is less than a quoru-ti present, he p its ir out of
the powei of a member who, as in my case <ri Thursd-iy, when the
House met at 10 o'clo«"k, is necessarily ab.>eut. How can a member
discharge his duty properly without hearing the testimony rea<l ?

1 move that the testimony of Commodore Mit2hell be now read in

presence of the Committee.
The question was put, and decided in the negative. •

Mr. L\ ONS. 1 beg that it he entered upon the record of the Com-
mittee, that my mr tion was to read over to the <A^mni\tUH^ the testimony
of Commodore Mitchell to enable members, wiio were necessarily ab-

sent when it was given in, to pr.'pniind interrogatories based upon that

testimony, and that that motion was overruled.

Mr. BARKSDALE. I will remark that I was absent yesterday and
the day before, but was under the impression, when I voted in favor of



taking testimony in the al>senc.e of a quorum, thai the testhnony wonld
be read by those who were absent when it was given in, as it was taken

by the reporter. It was with that understanding that I voted for the

motion to examine witnesses when a quorum w-as not present.

Capt. John K. Mitchell was recalled, when the foliov^ring interroga-

tories were put to him by the Secretary of the Navy, through the

Chair:

Question. You speak of the small craw of one of the lake steamers.

Please state why her crew was not willj and what your efforts and
those of your navy officers were to ge-t men for navy service at New-

Orleans.

Capt. M. We made every eifort to obtain crews' ibr the vessels.

The rendezvous was open all ibe time. We gavfftwo dollars to any
person who would bring a seaman there. That was not authorized,

but we took it upon ourselves to give it.. Besides that, there . was a

bounty of fifty dollars, I think, paid to each man. I sent officers to

the coast of Lake Ponchartrain and the Sound, to get men, and they

succeeded in getting a good many. We tried to get seamen from the

array also, and I believe we did get a few in that way. We made
every possible effort to get crews. Nearly all the vessels on the river,

as well as on the lake shore, were, more or less, short ox crews. Those
that went up to Columbus, went up more or less short.

Question. You refer to only three vessels as being in the river in

January; the Livingston, Ponchartrain and Maurepas. Where was the

Ivy, the Polk, the McRae, the two floating batteries, the Jackson and
Seger ?

Capt. M. I think in my previous examination I gave a list of the

vessels that were in the river, at Columbus, wheti I arrived at New
Orleans, in December. They were the Gen. Polk, the Ivy, the

McRae and the Jackson. The floating battery '^' New Orleans," and
the hired gun boat '^'Calhoun," I omitted to mention. They were
also at Columbus in December. The Ponchartrain, the Maurepas and
the Livingston were fitted out, as I before stated, in January and
February, and seat to Columbus. The Ivy and the McRae returned

to New Orleans in the month of January, I think, for repairs. They
were subsequendy sent back to Columbus. The Mobile and Seger

were not on the river, but were employed in Berv/ick Bay, together

with a small steamer that had been presented to the government, called

the St. Marys. The floating battery, Memphis, was also at New Orleans

without any arniament.

Question. You refer to guiis sent out for the Mississippi and Lou-
isiana as being loaned to the army. Why, and by whom were they

loaned ?

Capt. M. I was in conunand of the station when tiie first T-inch

rifle gun arrived there. I was applied to by the army for the loan of

that to be mounted on Fort Jackson. I acceded to the request on the

express condition of a proniisc that it v/ould be returned on being called

for by the Navy, and with the understanding also, if we desired it, that

the gun would be served by the Navy, while at Fort Jackson. Capt.

Whittle afterwards lent another T-inch gun to the Fort on the same
condition. He had loaned also some 32-pound rifle guns to the river

defence gun boats, }jopularly known as Montgomery's fleet. These guns
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were afterwards called for to be mounted on the Louisiana and Missis-

sippi; and they were promptly returned by the army, with the exception
of one 7-inch gun, which was allowed to remain at Fort Jackson at the

particular request of the commanding officer, and because the Missis-

sippi for which it was intended, was not ready to receive it. The
attack upon the fort too had commenced at that time. It was thought
that under these circnmstances. it would be more useful there in the

defence of New Orleans, than if brought to the city.

Question. You refer to fire boats as having been prepared by the
Navy. Do you know their character arfd number?

Capt. M. I do. They were the flat boats commonly used for coal

upon that river. Their capacity generally is about 8,000 barrels of
coal. Theie were also barges which are of a rather better construction

than the fiats, especially in their bows. The fiat boats were generally

bro'ken up for fuel; the barges were kept down the river for coal.

Eleven of these barges were given to the army to construct the raft

after it was first carried away. We sent down, up to the 3rd of April,

14 fire boats to the army. After that, and before I left New Orleans,

about ten or a dozen more must have been sent down. They were
fitted with travellers, shackles and chains, so that they might be strung
together and form a continuous line across the river. That was the de-

sign, to string them out in that way, or to string them together in pairs,

and drop them athwart the bows of the enemy's vessels. These fire

boats that were sent down were prepared for lire service with wood, fire,

pitch and coal oil.

Question. You refer to the enemy's? fleet which assailed New Or-
leans. Please state your judgment of its power and its character?

Capt. M. I think I have stated in my report to the Navy Depart-
ment, my opinion of its power and character.. But I shall repeat "it now
if required.

Mr. SEMMES. There is one thing; you did not mention in your
report, that is, whether there were any iron-clad vessels in that fight.

Capt. M. J don't think there were. la regard to the power and
character of this fleet, I think these vessels were of the most formida-

ble kind in their construction and armament, that ever floated for their

tonnage. They v/ere fully manned by the most skillful crew. The
enemy had unlimited resources in men and materials, and the men and
materials were controlled by the most skillful, scientific and practical offi-

cers. Chain cables were bitted up and down the sides of the vessels, to

protect them from rams or from shot, and I tiave no doubt, afforded a very
effectual protection as far as it went. 1 think that any one of the five

first class ships of war, could have effected the same destruction of our
converted vessels, that the whole fleet had accomplished.
The CHAIR. Do I understand you to mean that one of these ves-

sels was a match for all our fleet ?

Capt. M. For all our converted vessels. There was one of ours,
the Louisiana, that was nothing more than a battery. She could not
pursue the enemy. In referring to the class of formidable vessels, I

speak of the first class sloops of war. The vessels that passed the forts

had all the heaviest armament. With the exception of a few boat
howitzers mounted on their tops, they carried generally ll-inch shell

guns, and 9-inch shell guns, besides rifle guns; probably not less in all
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than 130. Besides the 21 vessels heMnging to the mortar fleet, there

were others ilmt dit not pass the f<»r»s.

The CHAIR. !)'> I iinHerstHiid yon to mean that the vessels that-

passed the forts mcnn'ed nlt^iieiher probnf^ly 1 3o heavy guns. What
2uns (1.(1 the vessels b< Inv the fort^ nunut?

Capt M. i have no idea They wert* small vessels—one was a sail-

iiia Vf'ssel. wiiich dicy endeavored »o tow up, bnf failed.

Tfie CHAIK. The [• \U wing letters are submitted to you as copies

of letters that were sent to you. You will say whether or not you re-

ceived them.

&

}

[copy.]

'^ CONFEKERATK StATES OF AMERICA,
Navy Di-.partme\t, Kiciimond, Feb. 'di, 1862.

Commander John K. Mitchell, *

Commanding Station at New Oi leans.

Sir: The importance of having the ordnance and ordnance stores

ready for the Louisiana and the iron-clad vessel being built by Mr. Tift

in time, is apparent to ynu; and you will make all proper exertions to

have guns and carriages ready.

If they cannot be finished in time otherwise, you will endeavor to

stimulate the parties to worif night gangs of men upon them. Lient.

McCorWe will relieve you of much of the labor attending this. You
will keep the department advised of everything connected with this

subject, which you may deem of interest, and every effort will be made
here to facilitate your operations. You arerehed upon for getting these

batteries ready.

I am, respectfnllv, your obedient servant,

(Signed,)
' " S. R. MALLORY",

Secretary of the Navy.^^

The CHAIR. Did you receive that letter?

Capt. M. From the reading of the letter I think I did, but, of

course, not having the letter with me, I cannot vouch for the exactness

of the copy, nor the date. I have no doubt, however, but tliat the

letter is correct.

Mr. SEMMES. Have you any remark to make about the letter?

Capt. M. The qnestion i3»simply as to whether I received a copy

of it. I have no doubt I did.

The CHAIR. I am instructed to ask you, did you receive the

following letter?

[copy.]

Confederate States op America, Navy Department, ]

Richmond, March 15, 1S62.
\

Commander John K. Mitchell, Cotmnandinff at New Orleans,

Sir: I telegraphed you yesterday to consult with Gen. Lovell, and
to take the gun boat Louisiana out of the hands of the contractors, if,

in your judginaent, they are not doing every thing practicable to com-
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plete her at the earliest moment ^ and to go on and complete her yoMx-

self.

You will please, should you require mechanics, and are unable
otherv\-ise to procure them, to ask Gen. Lovell for details of men to

work upon the boat. Not a day must be lost.

You will please adopt all means in -your power to have rolling mills

constructed, and contracts made for iron for covering vessels. The
recent engagement in Hampton Roads convinces me that Tift's ship,

if completed, would raise the blockade of every gulf port in ten days.

I telegraphed you yesterday as to building iron-plated vessels, the

models and drawings of which constructor Porter will transmit to you, .

giving you full authority in the premises. I stated the dimensions of

the vessel as follows: 150 feet keel, 34 feet beam, and 14 feet hold.

These boats you may build by contract or otherwise, as your judgment
shall dictate. The iron should be rolled in slabs or plates of not less

than two inches thick, eight inches v/ide, and of the length required

for the slope of the roof. The Secretary of War informs me that he
will turn over such old scrap iron as his agents in New Orleans have se-

cured. You will please inform me what time Clark & Go. will com-
mence rolling, and what qunntity and what dimension of iron they
will produce. Should you find their establishment inadequate to the

supply you will require, you will look immediately for additional re-

sources, and to stimulate them, will make the advance which you have
made to Clark &- Co. Means should be provided by them for producing
the iron in an exact and uniform manner.

"

• 1 am, respectfullv, vour obedient servant,

(Signed,)
'

-
. g_ ^ MALLORY,

Secretary of Navy.''''

The CHAIR. Did you receive that letter?

Capt. Mitchell. I have no doubt this is a coirect copy of the letter

which 1 received.

The CHAIR. That concludes the interrogatories on -the part of the

Secretary. If gentlemen wish to propound any question to the witness,

they can do it now.
Mr. SEMMES. Your attention was called in the letter of February

24th, to the importance of having ordnance and ordnance stores ready

for the Louisiana and the iron-clad vessel, which was being constructed

by Mr. Tift— the Mississippi— what steps did ywu take under this letter

to obtain what is mentioned in it?

Capt. M. I furnished, I think, the ordnance officer with a copy of
that letter, with a view to his carrying out its requirements. We more-
over conferred together every day, and he took occasion to visit all the

establishments in New Orleans that prepared ordnance stores. He en-

deavored also to get them to cast guns for us, but was unable to get

them to do it. We had promises from some that they would undertake
the work; but nothing was done about the time of my leaving New
Orleans. They supplied shot and shell as fast as they could, and we
had enough for our purpose, though our requisition was not entirely

j&lled. I would say that we had enough for our immediate use.

Mr. SEMMES. Did you notify the Department of your inability \xi

get guns made in New, Orleans ?

6
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Capt. M. I did. I notified the Department iully of the condition of

things, and particularly in respect to guns.

Mr. SEMMES. Do you know how long that was after the recep-

tion of this letter? The date of this letter is the 24th of February.

Capt. M. It must have been before that— I am inclined to think so

at least. I kept the Department constantly advised of my efforts there

*o get work done. These letters aie now on file in the ordnance office

or the Navy Department itself.

Mr. SEMMES. Yon desire then to refer, to them as part of your

answer ?

Capt. M. I do.

Mr. SEMMES. This other letter of the Secretary to you is dated

March 15th. In regard to rolling mills for the construction of which
vou are ordered here to adopt all means in your power; what did you
do to accomplish that end ?

Capt. M. I endeavored to get men to .do it, but could get none ex-

cept Clark. He told me he made preparations to roll, but at the time I

was there he had not made a beginning; and from what I saw, I was
afraid he would not have been able to furnish the iron required in

time.

Mr. MAXWELL. Did you, in making these eiforts^ proffer the

stimulants suggested by the Secretary of the Navy ?

Capt. M. 1 did. We advanced Clark $5,000 as a stimulant to push
on the work.
The CHAIR. Did you employ or endeavor to employ all the means

and resources that existed in the city of New Orleans to accomplish

these ends ?

Capt. M. I did, sir. I omitted no effort on ray own part; and the

officers who were with me were no less zealous.

The CHAIR. You said they did not cast the ordnance pursuant to

your requisition. Did they decline to do it, or fail to do it from any
deficiency of means, or because they could not fill all their orders and
do that?

Capt. M. Bujac &. Co. had the most extensive estabhshment there,

and a very large quantity of the right kind of iron; but they refused

positively to work for the Navy. I believe the reasons given by them
1 communicated to the Navy Department. They said the Navy were
too particular in their inspection, and refused to receive any guns that

they chose to cast after their own manner. The Navy required a cer-

tain inspection, from which they would not depart, and hence they

refused to work for them.

The CHAIR. 1 will ask one question, as much to gratify my curi-

osity as anything else. You spoke of the breaking of this raft being
caused by the accumulated drift wood and the strong current of the

river together. It had been remarked that the enemy cut the chain
cable. What is your opinion about that? Did they remove or help
to remove the obstruction, or was it carried away by the drift wood and
the strength of the current?

Capt. M. By both. It was chiefly carried away, I believe, by the

strength of the current and drift wood. But, as I understood, the

enemy came up there the night before I got there, and cut some of it.

That I mentioned in my report. 1 would say in connection with the
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there and offered to the Navy. It bursted, however, on the first trial.

It was cast by Leeds. There were some other guns cast there before I

had anything to do with the station, and put on board of our vessels,

and I believe that some of them also bursted. There were some six or

eight of them altogether—some were put on board the Maurepas, the
Ponchartrain and the Livingston.

Mr. PHELAN. I would ask whether ^'ou would endorse the action

of the Navy Department in refusing to accept guns cast in New Orleans
except upon inspection?

Capt. M. Yes, sir, I would. The standing regulation of the De-
partment in respect to the proving of ordnance, was somewhat relaxed

on account of the pressing necessity for guns; and we all agreed that it

was better to stand by guns of doubtful character, rather than have
none for the defence of New Orleans; and the opinion of the officers

then was, to receive these guns rather than have none at all.

Mr. PHELAN. That was before any were cast?

Capt. M. It was when we were endeavoring to get foundries to cast

for us.

Mr. PHELAN. This willingness to stand by guns of doubtful

character, you say was determined upon before any guns were cast*

Was it determined upon with reference to the guns of Bujac?
Capt. M. Perhaps I went too far in saying " without inspection."

Mr. PHELAN. Don't you think that the rule adopted by the Navy
Department, in refusing to accept any guns without inspection, was a
good and just one ?

Capt. M. I do, sir. But the Department authorized guns to be re-

ceived by the Navy ?iot fabricated in the manner prescribed by the

established rule of the Navy. This does not imply that the prescribed

inspection was to be changed. We were willing to relax our regula-

tion with regard to the fabrication of them, .because the founders

assured us they could make them as strong in their mode as in our
mode.

Mr. PHELAN. Were our misfortiines at New Orleans occasioned by
the absence of any necessary guns on board these vessels?

Capt. M. No, sir; I think not. All the vessels that were down
there had their guns. They were converted boats belonging to the

river defence or Montgomery fleet. They had one or two guns each.

Mr. PHELAN. Could anything more be done with more guns?
Capt. M. Not in these vessels.

The CHAIR. As I understand, the Montgomery fleet was the fleei

that was built by the City of New Orleans, or the State of Louisiana,

independently of the Navy. It was not under the control of the Navy?
Capt. M. I think it was built by a special appropriation made by

Congress.

Mr. SEMMES. It was an appropriation of a million of dollars made
by Congress and put under the control of the War Department.

Capt. M. The State had nothing to do with the fleet. The State

had two vessels—the Gov. Moore and the Gen. Quitman. Thesfe

were imder ray command.
The CHAIR. What is your estimation of these boats. Would the

Montgomery fleet, in point of invulnerability and power, be made to

answer for the defence of the city ?
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Capt. M. I had supposed they might be partly available for that

purpose. But I had never much confidence in them at all. They
would have answered well as rams against the smallest class of the

enemy's gun boats.

The CHAIR. Did Capt. Montgomery employ them at all as rams?

Capt. M. Capt. Montgomery himself was not down there. Capt.

Stevenson commanded them.

Mr. SEMMES. You say that Bnjac had plenty of the right kind

of iron for these guns. This gun of Leeds you say bursted—was that

made of the right kind of iron?

Capt. M. I don't know.
Mr. SEMMES. Do you know of what kind of iron any of the

guns that bursted were made?
Capt. M. No; sir.

Mr. LYONS. State whether in your opinion it would ha^e been
practicable to defend New Orleans against such a force as was brought
against it. If it would have been, by what means ?

Capt. M. I think there was no means in command of the army or

navy at that place, to defend it, or perhaps disposable in the Confed-

eracy at that time.

/ Mr. BOYCE. Do you think that every thing was done that could
possibly be done by the military and naval authorities from the very

earliest period, to defend New Orleans?
Capt. M. I cannot say what was done prior to my going there.

But while I was there from December, I am quite sure that every efibrt

was made and all the workshops there kept very busy for the army and
navy in preparing ordnance stores and casting guns. They cast some
guns for the army, and some had also been cast for the navy when I

got there. Whether the armydid all in its power, I am unable to say.

But from my conversations with army officers, 1 am inclined to think

they did every thing in their power. I can say nothing in that regard,

however, from personal observation, for my time was taken up with

my own duties, and I had no oppojrtunity for personal observation.

Mr. DUPRE. You said in reply to the question of the gentleman
firom Virginia, (Mr. Lyons,) that everything had been done, you be-

lieve, that could have been done by the army and navy at New Orleans,

with the means at their command to defend the city, but that the means
were not commensurate with the required means of defence. And you
stated moreover, according to my recollection, that there was not means
enough in the Confederate States to enable a defence to be made against

such an attack as was made. I want to know if this is your meaning?
I want to know whether you intended to state that there was not means
in the Confederate States sufficient to resist the attack that was made in

New Orleans? I want to know whether, in your opinion, the Con-
federate States had no means adequate to defend New Orleans against

the attack that was made ?

The CHAIR. The. Chair feels it to be his duty to interpose at this

point. I did not understand the question propounded by the gentle-

man from Virginia, (Mr. Lyons,) to have the latitude, which is given
to it by the gentleman from Louisiana. I understood the question of

the gentleman from Virginia to be this, whethuer in the opinion of the

witness there was sufficient means in the naval and army service at

New Orleans for the defence of the place ?
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Mr. LYOffS. No, sir. I put the question in this form. Could
New Orleans, in your opinion, have been successfully defsnded against

.such a force as was brought against it; and if it could, state by what
means. The answer of the witness, as I understand him was, that in

his opinion. New Orleans could not have been defended by any means
that were under the control of the army or navy at New Orleans, or in

the Confederacy at that time, as he believed. The witness did not

mean to say that if all the means in the Confederacy was applied to

that object it would be inadequate to its accomplishment. He meant
to say, I understood him, that it could not have been accomplished by
any means available at that time in^ew Orleans.

Mr. BARKSDALE. Did I understand the gentleman from Lou-
isiana to say that the Confederacy had means enough at its command
in New Orleans to defend that city?

Mr. DUPRE. I stated that the gentleman from Virginia, (Mr. Ly-
ons,) had asked the question which he repeated this moment. The
answer was understood by me to be that there was not means enough
in the Confederacy to defend New Orleans. I wanted to understand
from the witness whether his opinion was, that sufficient means did not

exist in the Confederacy to accomplish that object against the charac-

ter of the attack made upon that city. What the witness, it appears,

intended to say was, that there was not in the control of the Confed-
eracy at New Orleans at that time, sufficient means to defend the city.

The CHAIR. I want to know what you understand by the word
'•disposable?" Do you mean that the Government could not defend
the city of New Orleans by the means then at command there, and that

in order to defend it successfully, it would be necessary to divert the

means of defence from other places, at the risk of exposing them to

capture by the enemy ?

Capt. M. That is what 1 mean.
Mr. BARKSDALE. I wanted to remark that the first question pro-

pounded by the gentleman from Louisiana, (Mr. Dupre,) would be a

very extraordinary one, for I should suppose the witness could not un-
dertake to describe all the means at the control of the Southern Con-
federacy.

Mr. DUPRE. I intended to let the witness have an opportunity to

make an explanation of the statement which he made, as I thought,
without due consideration. He has explained his answer fully. In

putting the questionr that I did put, I was actuated by a desire to afford

the witness an opportunity of setting himself right.

Commodore Hollins was next sworn.
Mr. SEMMES. When were you assigned to the command at New

Orleans ?

Com. Hollins. The 1st of August, 186!

.

Mr. SEMMES. Whom did you supercede
Com. HoLLTNs. Commodore Rousseau.
Mr. SEMMES. \¥hat was the condition of things when you arrived

there— I mean in the Naval Department? What progress was being
made in the construction of vessels?

Com. HoLLiNs. The Livingston was in progress at that time.

She was under contract by Commodore Rousseau with a Mr. John
Hughes.

?
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Mr. SEMMES. Was she a steamer or sailing vessel I f»

f'Corn. HoLiiNs. She had been commenced for a ferry boat, but
was converted to a man-of-war.

Mr. SEMMES. You superceded Commodore Kousseau^you say^ in

the command.
Com. HoLLiNs. Yes, sir.

Mr. SEMMES. When you went there, what instructions were
given to you as to any preparations that were to be made?
Com. HoLLiNs. None, sir. I Avas sent there to obey such orders

as 1 might receive generally from the Department. Economy was
rigidly to be enforced in everything.

Mr. SEMMES. When you got mere did you make any suggestions
to the Department as to what should be done;, and ask authority to

do it?

Com. H. I did, sir.

Mr. SEMMES. Were these suggestions in writing?
Com. H. They were.

Mr. SEMMES. About what time were they made?
Com, H. I cannot bring to my recollection the time. 1 think it

was the latter part of August.
Mr. SEMMES. I presume of course, they are on file here.

Com. H. 1 believe they are, sir. All copies of documents re-

tained by me went down with the McRae.
Mr. SEMMES. Then you refer to your correspondence on that sub-

ject as part of your testimony?
Com. H. I do.

Mr. SEMMES. How long did you remain in command at New Or-
leans ?

Com.. H. I think I was relieved b}^ Commander Whittle about
February, 18G2.

Mr. SEMMES. What were the operations of the Navy Department
during your administration, as to the purchase or the construction of
vessels ?

Com. H. We constructed two vessels on the lakes, and purchased
five on the river. I may say six, for 1 seized the Manassas and paid
for her afterwards.

M.r. SEMMES. Were there sufficient supplies purchased then?
Com. H. No, sir. There were very few purchased then. It was

very hard to gel them either from Richmond or in New Orleans.

Mr. SEMMES, Was not Mr. Beverly Kennon in New Orleans in

charge of the ordnance department, at the time you were there?
Com. H. Yes, sir.

Mr. SEMMES. Did he not make a great many purchases?
Corn. H. He did, sir.

Mr. SEMMES. I have heard that these purchases were ordered io

he returned on account of extravagance.
Com, H. That 1 don't know.
Mr. SEMMES. Do you know whether tiiey were returned ?

Com. H. I do not know; but I think there was economy in pur-

chasing when we did purchase, so much so, that for some things we
were oflered three times as much as we gave for them.
Mr. SEMMES. Did you not seize or purchase a large amount of

coal?
•



Com. H. I seized it/ but it was all returned again.

Mr. SEMMES. By whose direction ?

Com. H. By orders of the Department.
Mr. SEMMES. Do yon recolleot what the quantity of the coal was ''

Com. H. I do not.

Mr. SEMMES. Yon seized it in anticipation of the wants of the
Navy ?

Com. H. I did; sir.

• Mr. SEMMES. What was the price of coal at that time ?

Com. H. The price of coal by the barrel at that time was ^1 25
and $1 50. I seized it and allov/ed a dollar for it.

Mr. SEMMES. After that time coal advanced in Nevv^ Orleans?
Com. H. Yes, sir; very much.
Mr. SEMMES. Do you know why it was ordered to b^ returned ?

Com. H. I supposed because it was thought improper for the

government to seize it.

xMr. SEMMES. Did you have any control over the Louisiana or

Mississippi in their construction ?

Com. H. None at all.

Mr. SEMMES. Did you ever see the authority vnder which the

parties constructing these vessels were acting ?

Com. H. No, sir.

Mr. SEMMES. . While you were in charge at New Orleans, did yon
have occasion to go up and visit the Mississippi ?

Com. H. Whenever I did so, I did so merely from curiosity to

see how the work was progressing. /

Mr. SEMMES. When you went there, did the work seem to be
progressing with rapidity and energy ?

Com. H. I think so.

Mr. SEMMES. Did you see her before you went up from New Or-'

leans

!

Com. H. 1 was one of those who' was present, and helped to launch
her. In endeavoring to do so, we found she was bolted to her bed.

•Mr. SEMMES. How did that happen?
Com. H. 1 left New Orleans before they got her off. I heard the

reason she was not gotten off in the first instance was, that wooden
bolts were put down through her into the bed below. This was done
by some person to prevent her from being launched. I heard afterwards
it was done by one of the foremen, who was discharged.

Mr. SEMMES. When did you leave New Orleans?
Com. H. 1 think on the 18th of April, about five days before

New Orleans was taken.

Mr. SEMMES. But you operated in New Orleans some time before

you brought off the fleet to go up to Columbus ?

Com. H. That was, I think, about three months before that. It

was about the time that Capt. Whittle relieved me in February.
Mr. SEMMES. You recollect Fort Donelson fell about the 14th,

Was it before or after that time that you went up the river?
Com. H. It was about that time.

Mr. SEMMES. What vessels constituted your fleet?

Com. H. The McRae, the Livingston, the Maurepas^ the General
Polk and the Ivy.
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Mr. SEMMES. Did you not have the Manassas at one time ?

Com. H. She came part of the way up, but she was sent back
again, having run aground and injured herself.

Mr. SEMMES. Were you engaged in conflicts with the enemy up
(he river?

Com. H. Sometimes. At New Madrid we were engaged off and
on for nearly 17 days—night and day.

"

Mr. SEMMES. ' We have seen a telegraphic dispatch from the Navy
Department to you, dated, I believe, the 14th of April, when you pro-»

posed to go down the river, countermanding that proposed movement.
What motive had you in view in going down the river?

Com. H. I received a telegraphic dispatch from Captain Whittle,

stating that the enemy were in force at the mouth of the river, and beg-

ging of me to come down, that my services were needed there.

Mr. SEMMES. Where did you receive the dispatch countermand-

ing you?
Com. H. In New Orleans.

Mr. SEMMES. What was the condition of your fleet at the time

you proposed to go to New Orleans, with regard to powder?
Com. H. I don't believe 1 had twenty minutes powder. I tele-

graphed before that, that I had but half an hour's supply. I used a

great deal of powder before that time in engagements with the trans-

ports which brought provisions and ammunition up to the army.

. Mr. SEMMES. Why did vou desire to go down with your fleet to

New Orleans ?

Com. H. To whip the enemy out of the river. I felt confident

I could do it.

Mr. SEMMES. Please tell us the means by which you proposed to

accomplish it.

Com. H. I considered that our boats had a great advantage in

going down the stream. They were completely guarded with iron on

their bows, and not only that, I had 40 coal boats and I had 12,000

cords of lightwood, together with a lar^e quantity of tar and stuffs of

that kind to put on board of them. I should have gone with these fire

boats on each side of my gun boats, and run them immediately on

board the enemy. I. should have gone '.below the forts and attacked

them. I knew they were there in such numbers, that if I attacked

them they would run foul of each other, and become so confused as

to render them unable to do me any serious injury. I felt perfectly

safe in going down. I knev/ the enemy never thought anything of

passing Ibrt Pillow, and they stopped to attack the fort because it was
absolutely necessary for them to silence it before they could get their

transports by. The gunboats were no use v/ithout the transports, and
hence it was necessary to silence the fort to enab'le them to pass. Our
boats could have come down the mouth of the river in three days. I

felt confident I would have whipped the enemy.
Mr. SEiVlMES. In a narrow stream like the Mississippi, the in-

equality between your fleet and that of the enemy was in a great

degree counterbalanced by the immense number of the enemy's fleet,

the difficulty of motion from that cause, and your coming down stream ?

Com. H. It was, sir. I had also a great advantage in having all

ray guns forward, whereas they could not use their guns until they
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turned broadside, which would have thrown them across the river>

thus crowding them together in inextricable confusion.

Mr. SEMMES. You would have possessed the advantage over
them, you say, because of your guns being forward and their 's on the
side?

Com. H. Yes, sir; and not only that, but the fire boats would
have stricken terror into them. If it were not for these fire boats, I
would never have driven them out of the river in the first instance.

Mr.' SEMMES. Your boats were iron in front—were they not?
Cora. H. They were, sir.

Mr. SEMMES. Was the calibre of your guns equal to that of the
enemy ?

Com. H. Not quite ; but they could be brought to bear upon their
boats with powerful effect. .

Mr. SEMMES. Was your machinery in good condition?
Cora. H. Yes, sir ; but, of course, not equal to theirs.

,
Mr. SEMMES. *So that your main reliance was upon the narrow-

ness of the £.tream, your guns being in front and your going down the
river, while they were going up?
Com. H. Yes, sir.

Mr. SEMMKS. How many guns could you have brought to bear
upon the enemy?
Com. H^ I suppose about 20. They could have brought to bear

upon me at most only 8 or 9, unless they turned broadside, and that
would have given me complete advantage over them, because they
would have been in each other's way.
Mr. PHELAN. In case they should have turned their broadside to

you, were their sides not protected by chains?
Com. H. 1 heard so ; but I don't think jhat was any protection,

because the chains were cut through.

Mr. SEMMES. Would you have gone down below the raft?

Com. H. I would have gone down below the f »rts, and not given
them a chance to come up. I should have caught them at their

anchors.

Mr. SEMMES. Did you-come down the river from any apprehen-
sion of the vtissels of the enemy passing our forts above?
Com. H. No, sir. I never dreamed of their passing the forts until

their army could take them by land. 1 now refer to Fort Pillow.
Mr. SEMMES. The vessels above were iron-clad—were tliey not?
Com. H. Yes, sir, they could come by without any trouble—

they wanted, however, to bring their transports, and that was their
main object.

Mr. SEMMES. You said you received a telegraphic dispatch at
New Orleans countermanding your projected movement down the
river?

Com. H. I did, sir.

Mr. SEMMES. What did you do !

Com. H. I showed it to Gov. Moore and others; I told him what
I thought I could do. I was subsequently informed by Capt. Whit-
tie that Governor Moore and Gen'l Lovell and the Captain himself tele-

egraphed to the Department to let me remain and make a dash at the

eaemy.
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Mr. SBMMES. What was the reply ?

Com. H. There was no reply. 1 waited 24 hours for an answer,

but none was received. The first intimation I received after that, was

a telegraphic dispatch to come on to Richmond immediately.

Mr. SEMMES. Did vou come on?

Com. H. I did.
'

Mr. SEMMES. Did- you see the Secretary of the Navy?

Com. H. I did. I received orders to be President of the board

to examine Midshipmen.

Mr. SEMMES . Was this matter about your recall from the command

a subject of any conversation?

Com. H. I "said nothing about it.

Mr. SEMMES. Did the Secretary say anything to you upon the

subject?
1 , , ,

Oom. H. Nothing, sir. I told him if I was allowed to do what i

proposed, I should have whipped the squadron.

Mr. SEMMES. What did he say to that

?

Com. H. He said nothing.

Mr. SEMMES. Where was your fleet when you were ordered from

New Orleans here ?

Com. H. At Fort Pillow. I could have gone back to it by rail in

24 hours from New Orleans.

Mr. SEMMES. How long would it have taken you to have gone

back by water?

Com. H. Two days and two nights. Perhaps more.

Mr. SEMMES. What finally became of your fleet?

Com. H. It was burned, sir.

Mr. SEMMES. Where?
Com. H. At the mouth of the Yazoo river.

Mr. SEMMES. At the time it was burned, was it supplied with

guns and ammunition ?

Com. H. I think not. I think all the grns and ammunition were

left at Fort Pillow. The fleet was then brought down to the mouth of

the Yazoo river and burnt.

Mr. SEMMES. Was the burning to prevent them from falling into

the hands of the enemy ?

Com. H. So 1 have understood.

Mr. SEMMES. Was there a Court of Enquiry called upon the

subject ?

Com. H. Yes, sir, there is a court martial now whose verdict is

about to be brought in.

Mr SEMMES. You say yon went to New Orleans in August, 1861,

and left lo go up the river in February, 1862. In that interval, was
everything done by the Naval Department that could have been done

for the purpose of defending the city of New Orleans?

Com. H. I think the idea of economy was carried rather to an ex-

treme, in being very severe on me for giving a high price for powder.

Mr. SEMMES. What price did you give?

Com. H. 1 gave two dollars and two and a half a pound. It went
up since to three dollars.

Mr. SEMMES. Could you purchase as much as you needed for two

dollars f
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Com. H. No, sir. I bought that powder at a favorable time when it

was lower than it has been since. I ordered some powder since then
at three dollars.

Mr. SEMMES. Did they revoke that order ?

Com. H They did, sir.

Mr. SEMMES. Did they order the powder delivered to you to be
returned?
Com. H. No, sir. I kept what I got. The other order was revoked.

They never got powder for less.

Mr. SEMMES. I asked you a general question, whether every
thing had been done by the Navy- Department for the purpose of de-

fending the city of New Orleans that could be done in the construction

or purchase of ships, &c.
Com. H. I think they did everything they could have done. They

were in want of money sometimes; but I don't think the Navy De-
partment was to blame for that. The Treasury Department was proba-

bly more to blame. The mechanics knocked off work sometimes for

two and three days, for want of money. It became proverbial that

they would not trust the navy, but they would the army, I have had
every mechanic to knock off there at once for two or three days, right

in the middle of the work. I then went round among the merchants
and borrowed 40 or 50,000 dollars, promising to return it in a few days.
I was mortified to death that they did not get it at the time I had
promised to return it, and when it came, it came in bonds. They
were unwilling to receive it in that form, preferring Louisiana money.

Mr. SEMMES. Were they willing to take Confederate money?
Com. H. Not very, sir.

The CHAIR. What money had you been purchasing materials
with before?

Com. H. Louisiana money.
The CHAIR. And that was the money which had been furnished

you by the Government ?

Com. H. Yes, sir, until they commenced issuing Treasury notes.

Mr. SEMMES. Were you furnished an abundance of Confederate
money ? Does your remark apply to the deficiency of that money?
Com. H. Not at that time.

Mr. SEMMES. At what time ?

Com. H. October and November,
Mr. SEMMES. - I think I can explain the cause of the difference in

respect to the circulation of Confederate money in New Orleans at the
time referred to.

When they first commenced issuing Treasury notes, in consequence
of the banks of New Orleans paying specie, Treasury notes did not
circulate freely there. The people would take them; but at a discount
of ten per cent., and that continued, until, by a pressure frora the
Government upon the banks, the banks agreed to suspend specie pay-
ments, which took place on the 16th of Septernber. After that, when
the banks commenced receiving on deposit Confederate notes, they
were deemed just as good as any other, and circulated freely.

Mr. SEMMES. By whose order was the fleet taken up to Fort PJf

low; and did you approve of tlie order when it was given ?

Com. H. By order of the Department, and I approved it.
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Mi*. BARKSDALE. Do you think the defences of New Orleans

were adequate to the defence of the city without your fleet ?

Com. H. I never thought so. I felt confident it would fall without
our fleet.

Mr. BARKSDALE, Why then did you approve of sending that fleet

up the river ?

Com. H. Because the enemy's fleet was not off" the harbor then.

Mr. BARKSDALE. Did you apprehend that the enemy's fleet

above would come down the river and take New Orleans ?

Com. H. I never dreamed they would. I felt that they would at-

tack the city from below.

Mr. BARKSDALE. Why then, I desire to know^ did you send
your fleet up the river?

Com. H. To prevent them from coming down. There being no
great use for my fleet at New Orleans at the time ihey were there, the

enemy having made no demonstration from below, it was deemed best

to take it up the river. The appearance of the enemy below, was very

precipitate, and I niight say, unexpected. They got there almost

within three or four days. Another thing; when 1 went up the river

the first time, I felt as if I was going to do something. There were no
gun boats of any importance up there. Had Gen'l Polk carried out

my suggestion then, there would not have been an enemy's vessel in

the Tennessee river. About the time 1 got there, they were bringing

down all their heavy guns from up the river, on board the Mary Den-
ning and others. They sent the guns down in flat boats, to be put on
board the Mary Denning at Cairo. I suggested to Gen'l Polk to send

up 1,000 or more men, to engage the two forts lying between me and
Cairo from the shore, and thus divert attention from my operations on
the river. This he declined doing. I was satisfied that without the

co-operation of a land force, any efl'ort on my part would be useless.

With this co-operation, I am satisfied I would have captured the vessel

with all the guns.

Mr. BARKSDALE. Were you subject to Gen'l Polk's orders ?

Cora. H. No, sir; but I was anxious to co-operate with him in

every movement off"ering a hope of good results; and I was desirous

that he would co-operate with me. To take my three little gun boats

on this enterprise without the co-operation asked for, would be to throw
them away.

Mr. BARKSDALE. Did your fleet consist altogether of three

boats ?

Com. H. At that time it did.

Mr. BARKSDALE. The cause of your lailure then to cany out

your purpose, was the refusal of Gen'l Polk to co-operate with you?
Com. H. Yes, sir.

The CHAIR. What was the cause of your leaving your squadron
at Fort Pillow, and going to New Orleans?
Com. H. The receipt of a telegraph from the otiicer in command

there, begging of me to come down, that the enemy's fleet was at the

mouth of the river.

The CHAIR. You were not subject to any orders at the time.

Com. H. No, sir, except the orders from the Department to reniam
there.
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The CHAIR. What persons oftered three times ihe price you paid

Tor ordnance stores ?
•

Com. H. I was only told that by persons in my office. I do not

say it of- my own knowledge ?

Mr. BARKSDALE. You spoke of having a large quantity of light- .

wood—what became of it ?

Com. H. I left it down at Fort Jackson , and the Yankees got it.

Mr. BARKSDALE. What became of the raft that was constructed

across the river ?

Com. H. I understood from Gapt. Mitchell that the Yankees came
up and cut it.

Mr. BARKSDALE. You spoke of a bolt being driven through the

bottom of the Mississippi into her bed, which caused a delay in launch-

ing her. Would the vessel have been saved, if that bolt had not been
driven in ?

Com. ft. That was discovered only the day before ,she was launched,
and did not interfere with her safety in the least. [I was under tele-

graphic orders to come on to Richmond at the tipie she was being
launched. She was the greatest vessel in the world I don't suppose
there ever was such a vessel built. I

The CHAIR. You state there was a deficiency of gun powder.
Com. H. There was, sir.

The CHAIR, Was there a sufficiency of it in the State whicir
might have been procured ?

Com. H. I doubt if there was. T believe the army was much bet-

ter supplied than we were.

The CHAIR. . Did you reject any oifers of powder made to yoii?

Com. H. No, sir. I received offers from parties to go to Cuba and
purchase powder after 1 received this lecture from the Department,

'

stating that I paid too much for what I bought. Of course I refused the

offer.

The CHAHI. Was there any powder manufactured at New Orleans
or that vicinity ?

Com. H. No; sir; the army got up a couple of mills there since

then.

.

•

' Mr. DUPRE. You state in answer to the question of the gentleman
from Mississippi, (Mr. Baricsdale,) that you were not under the con-
trol of Gen. Polk, and that 3^ou had full power to act as commodore of

the fleet. At the same time I understood you to say that you could
not undertake to take these vessels without the co-operation of troops

by land from Gen. Polk's command, to divert the attention of the enemy,
from your purposes.

Com. H. Yes, sir.

Mr. DUPRE. You speak of raits. Did you or did you not know
that the first raft that was put there was entirely destroyed hy high
Avater and drift wood ?

Com. H. I think it wa§.
The CHAIR. How many guns did you have in your squadron

altogether ?

Com. H. When I left Columbus I had five boats—four carried nine
guns each, and the fifth carried two.
The CHAIR . What was their calibre ?
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Com. H. Seven and a half inch rifle and 8-inch smooth bore.

The CHATR. Were all these boats iron-plated?

Com. H. Only in their bow—they looked very much like a cow-
catcher. This was intended not to guard the men at all, but -as a pro-

tection to the machinery.

Mr. DUPRE. You stated that they were not iron plated at ail, but
that the machinery was protected?

Cora. H. That was the only protection afforded—the hull was not

protected.

Mr. DUPRE. You stated that you had four boats with 9 guns, and
one with but 2—making 38 altogether. I understood you to state that

you could bring 40 guns to bear upon the enemy.
Com. H. I stated that I could bring 20 guns to bear upon the

enemy's vessels going down.
Mr. PHELAN, 1 desire to ascertain the time at which ,you were

present in New Orleans.. You left there, you say, in February, and
went up the river; you then returned in April in consequence of a tele-

graph from Capt. Whittle, and remained there a few days, when you
were ordered to Richmond. Here you were put at the head of the

court—where v/as that court held?
Com. H. Here.

Mr. PHELAN. Did you return to New Orleans again?

Com. H. Not since,

Mr. PHELAN. How long did you remain in New Orleans after the

receipt of the telegraph from Capt. Whittle?

Com. H. About 5 days at one time.

Mr. PHELAN. With reference to the ordnance stores, a sufficient

supply of which you did not think was in New Orleans while you were
there—do you know whether, when the fight commenced, there was
any deficiency of ordnance stores with the fleet?

Com. H. I don't know.
Mr. PHELAN. You speak of having seized a large quantity of

coal, and of some complaint being made—did the citizens of New
Orleans complain of that coal being taken?

Com. H. They did, sir.

Mr. PHELAN. With reference to the supposed deficiency upon the

iNides of the enemy's fleet, you speak only of what you heard. With
reference to the character of this deficiency, the officers who were in

command of the fleet at the time of the combat would, of course, be

much better judges of the character of this deficiency than yourself?

Com. H. I have no doubt they would.

Mr. BARKSDALE. Who succeeded you in command of the fleet?

Com. H. Commander Pinckney. I was the senior officer j but I

turned the squadron over to no person.

Mr. DuPKE ofl'ered the following resolution, which was adopted :

Resolved by the Committee, That the Secretary of the Navy be re-

quested to furnish all correspondence betw'een Capt. Hollins and the

iVavy Department.
The Committee then adjourned until half-past 9 o'clock on Monday.
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MONDAY, Sept. 15, 1862.

The Committee met at half past 9 o'clock, pursuant to adjournment.
Present—Messrs. Clay, (Chairman,) Semmes, Foote, Maxwell, Du-

pre, Peyton, Barksdale, Lyons, Phelan and Boyce.

Messrs. Semmes, Botce and Foote were absent at the conclusion of
the Committee's sitting.

Mr. FOOTE. i beg leave to apologize to the Committee for my ab-

sence from its sittings on the two preceding days. I came here the
other day, and was informed that three of the Senators declined serving.

There was th^n a prospect of the Committee being dissolved, and I

therefore did not come on the two succeeding days. 1 heard of no ac-

tion being taken by the Senate towards filling up the Committee until

Saturday last. Had I been aware that the Committee was previously
organized, I should certainly have been in attendance.

The CHAIR. Your excuse is very satisfactory.

The testimony of Capt. Mitchell was {hen read to him, after which
the following interrogatories were put to him:
The CHAIR. You say you adyanced Clark &, Co. ^5,000—was it

not 110,000 ?

Capt. Mitchell. My opinion was |5,000—there were two objects

for which we were authorized to oifer this encouragement—one for es-

tablishing a rolling mill, another for casting guns. My ibrrespondence
to the Department will show all my action in relation to this matter. I

do not remember distinctly for which of these two objects this money
was advanced.
Mr. BARKSDALE. I will ask how many vessels were used in

towing the Mississippi up the river!

Capt. Mitchell. I don't know anything about that.

Paymaster Felix Senac was next sworn.
The CHAIR. You are a paymaster in the Navy, I believe.

Mr. Senac. Yes, sir.

The CHAIR. When did you enter upon the duties of that office ?

Mr. SavAc. Some time in August, 186L
The CHAIR. Have you, during your period of service, wanted

funds at any time to pay any just demands made against the govern-
ment?

Mr. Senac. The only occasion when I wanted funds was, when I

first went to New Orleans.

The CHAIR. When was that?

Mr. Senac. About the beginning of Sept., 1861. If you will allow
me, 1 will state the matter fully. I came here and received orders to

go to New Orleans to disburse for the Messrs. Tift, and was informed
at the Department that 1 would find a draft there. When I arrived at

New Orleans, a few days after, I received a draft on the treasury at

Richmond for $75,000; but found it impracticable to have the draft
cashed at New Orleans.

The CHAIR. And that was the reason of the deficiency of funds ?

Mr. Sewac. Yes, sir.

The CHAIR. Was there no other deficiency of funds tliat you are

Advised of, except in that way ?
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Mr. Senac. None, sir.

The CHAIR. Do you know of your own knowledge of any labor

being suspended, or any contractor ceasing to carry on his contract be-

cause of the want of funds?

Mr. Senac. I do not, sir.

The CHAIR. How long did you remain at New Orleans?

Mr. Senac . I was there up to the 25th of April last.

Mr. SEMMES. You were not paymaster for the station at New
Orleans.

Mr. S. No, sir. , I was disbursing for the Louisiana, the Mississippi

and a steamer built at Memphis.
Mr. SEMMES. The remarks that you made apply excjusively to the

disbursements for these vessels ?

Mr. S. And the ships built by Mr. Hughes.-

Mr. SEMMES. How many did he build ?

Mr. S. He was building two. I paid him $40^000 before I left New
Orleans.

Mr. SEMMES. Then you know nothing of any deficiency in any
other case, except in regard to these vessels.

Mr. S. Nothing at all.
,

Mr. SEMMES. There was another paymaster at New Orleans-
Paymaster Nixon.
Mr. S. Yes, sir. I will say that so far from wanting money, I had

more of it on •and than was convenient. When I left New Orleans I

had $600,000 to my credit there.

Mr. SEMMES. How was this disbijirsement made. Upon whose
order did you pay out money ?

Mr. S. I paid it out upon the certificiate of the Messrs. Tift. For
the Louisiana, 1 disbursed upon orders from the Department, and
also for the steamers at Memphis.

Mr. SEMMES. How with Mr. Hughes ?

Mr. S. There was one payment made upon the certificate of Mr.

Hughes, baseij upon sub-vouchers furnished by him. The other, I

paid upon the order of Capt. Whittle.

Mr. SEMMES. Whatdo you mean by the certificates of the Messrs.

Tift?

Mr. S. The bills of prices were made up by the parties who furnished

articles, and the Messrs. Tift certified as follows: '^ We certify that

the articles enumerated in the above account have been received, and
that the services performed and the prices charged are just and reason-

able."

The CHAIR. You paid the bills to those who sold the articles, and
not to the Messrs. Tift.

Mr. S. Yes, sir.

Mr. MAXWELL. With reference to these bills, did you examine
them as to the reasonableness of the prices ?

Mr. S. I did examine them. It was impossible for me to determine

in all cases whether the prices were reasonable or not. The prices

went up so rapidly because of the scarcity of articles necessary for us

there, as to make it impossible to fix a price. The Tifts being in con-

.sultation with other good judges, were, I should think, fully compe-

tent to determine what was a fair price, according to the prevailing

rates. In some cases very large deductions were made.
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Mr. MAXWELL. Upon your suggestions?

Mr. S. Partly, and by the Messrs, Tift themselves. Since the
evacuation of New Orleans, I paid, two bills upon which a consid-
erable reduction was made. In one instance, $3,000 was taken for a
bill furnished for $9,200. In another case a man presented a bill for

$8,000 and some odd hundred dolla-rs, for which he took $5,000.
Mr. MAXWELL. Were these hills certified to ?

Mr. S. They- were, sir, after the deductions were made.
Mr. DUPRE. Did you ever pay any money directly to the Tifts?

Mr. S, I paid them their personal expenses.

Mr. DUPRE. On their own warrant.

Mr. S. Yes, sir.

Mr. MAXWELL. Have you any recollection as to what the

amount was?
Mr. S. Yes, sir. From July, when their services commenced in

the Department, as near as I remember, to the 14th of May—the

date of the last payment I made them, ] paid Mr, Asa Tift a little

more than $1,900, and to Mr. Nelson Tift, 1,400, and from the l4th of

May, up to two weeks ago

—

Mr MAXWEiiL. That is n<>t neressnry. It is enough to know
that these payments were made in cjuneciion with the work at Aew
Orleans.

Mr. 8. They were made on a^^connt of traveling exppnses, and of
course in ci'nn'^<ni 'ii with the w.irk upon which t ley wjr^eiij,-dg.Hi.

Mr. MAXWbjLL. All the fther money, ex 'npt t'le anouut ad-
vaneed to them h»i persorial expenses, was paid dire tly to parties

from whom purchases weie umde?
Mr. S. ^'es,^ir The V( uchers in the Depart. >ient will s^ow that.

Mr. BARKSDALK. Was extra comprn^atiou otfe.eJ at any time
for expediting the wiuk ?

Mr. S. Yes, sir. After the work on the Mississippi had been going
on f(»r tA^o months, all the ship-carpenters strn''k for hig'ier wages.
They demanded a dollar a day more than they were receiving. After
a delay of two days, the Tifts agreed to this demand aguiist the oppo-
sition of all the ship builders in New Orle.ms', Mr. Haght*s particu-

larly. He was building ships under contract, and he regarded it as a
great injustice to advance the wages of the ship-carpenters. TheTi&s
stated that a delay of*ven a day would be incurring, p(;rhaps a great
risk, and that they prelerred paying the amount demanded, than incur
that risk. They had no discretion, and were compelled to, submit.
They paid $4 a day, and the wages subsequently aJvanced to $4.50.

Mr. BARKSDALE. Was there a deficiency of workmen?
Mr. S. Always.
Mr. BARKS DALE. Was every effort made to procure men ?

Mr. S. Yes, sir. I myself endeavored to procure them. Every
effort was made both by advertising and sending out agents to procure
workmen, but with little success.

Mr. BARKSDALE. Was the work delayed on account of the diffi-

culty of getting workmen?
Mr. S. 1 think so. It was abo delayed on aecouat of tke difficulty of

getting materials.

Mr. BARKSDALE. What kind of material*?
8
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Mr. S. Timber principally.

Mr. BARKSDALE. Were all proper means resorted, to^ to get these

materials?
*

Mr. S. They had two or three men constantly going up the road to

get materials.

Mr. MAXWELL. How were they gettingtheir timber—fresh out of

the wood, or already cut?

Mr. S. Fresh. There was no timber already cut.

Mr. BARKSDALE. Did the Tifts receive any part of the compen-

sation for constructing the vessel ?

Mr. S. They received nothing at all except their personal expenses.

They had very great solicitude for the completion of the vessel. From
my conversations with them, I learned from ihem that they expected

to make a name for themselves by finishing that ship.

The CHAIR. They had no pecuniary interest in forwarding her to

completion ?

Mr. S. None at all, sir. ir

The CHAIR. Did you know the Tifts previous to this contract?

Mr. S. I did, sir.

The CHAIR. Have you known them for some time?

Mr. S. 1 have known Asa Tift since 1847.

The CHAIR. Was there any relationship by blood or maniage be-

tween them and the Secretary of the Navy ?

Mr. S. None at all, sir.

The CHAHi. On what authority do you say so?

Mr. S. Because 1 know the families on both sides pretty familiarl)^

Mr. FOOTE. Was either of them engaged with Mr. Mallory in

business?

Mr. S. They were not.

Mr. FOOTE. Don't you know the contrary of that?

Mr. S. I do not, sir.

Mr. FOOTE. Where did you know the Tifts?

Mr. S. 1 knew Mr. Asa Tift at Key West.

Mr. FOOTE. Would you have been able to know if any business

connections existed between the Tifts and Mr. MaWory ?

Mr. S. I would
•Mr. FOOTE. They are very intimate—are they not?

Mr. S. I believe so.

Mr. FOOTE. Where are the Tifts from—where .were they born?
Mr. S. I believe in Mystic, Connecticut.

Mr. BARKSDALE. How long have they resided in the South?
Mr. S. 1 think since they were 10 years old—on.e of them I know

has been a resident of (Georgia for 30 years.

Mr. FOOTE. Where are the estates of these gentlemen located ?

Mr. S. Mr. Nelson Tift owns a large property in Georgia. Mr.
Asa Tilt owns considerable property in Key West.

Mr. FOOTE. 'J'hat property is in the hands of the Federal Gov-
ernment, is it not?

Mr. S. So I heard.

Mr. FOOTE. Do you know that that property is under the special

protection of that Government for his benefit?

Mr. S. I have every reason to believe it is not.
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Mr. FOOTE. What is your reason for scbelieving?
Mr. S. I know that Mr. Asa Tift had some money in the hands of

Messrs. Maitland <fc Co. , which was paid over by that fi;-m to the Federal
Government

Mr. FOOTE. How do you know that?

Mr. S. By letters which I saw from Mr. Wall, of Key West.
Mr. FOOTE. How did this Mr. Wall know anything about them?
Mr. 8. There was an intimacy between Mr. Tift and Mr. Wall in

business matters, and there was also an association between the prin-

cipal merchants there, which had been called the ^' holy alliance."

Mr. FOOTE. Did yon not get this information from Mr. Tift

himself?

Mr. S. I got it from a letter I saw in the hands of Mr. Tift.

Mr. FOOTE. Have you got the letter?

Mr. S. No, sir. I saw a statement in keeping with this in the

newspapers.
Mr. FOOTE. Have you got the paper?
Mr. S. No, sir.

Mr. FOOTE. What paper did you see it in ?

Mr. S. I think I saw it in some of the Southern papers, and per-

haps in a Northern paper.

Mr. FOOTE. Is Maitland a countryman of his?

Mr. S. 1 don't understand you.
Mr. FOOTE. Is Maitland a brother Yankee ?

Mr. S. I don't know where he was born.

The CHAlR. I will ask your nativity?

Mr. S. I .was born in Florida.

Mr. LYONS. What has been the general character of the Tifts in

society since yon have known them, up to this time?
Mr. S. They have always occupied the highest position that any

men could occupy in the communil3^
Mr. LYONS, Has either of them been engaged in political life?

Mr. S. I think not. They have had their opinions in politics,

however. Mr. Asa Tift was a member of the Florida Convention, and
voted for secession. .

Mr. LYONS. Do you know whether Mr. Nelson Tift was a mem-
ber of the Georgia Legislature ?

^Mr. S. I cannot speak upon that of my own knowledge—I heard so.

•Mr. FOOTE. Was he a supporter of Mr. Mallory ?

Mr. S. 1 don't know.
Mr. FOOTE. Had he any holy alliance w'ith him, as you called

this alliance of merchants awhile ago ?

Mr- S. 1 don't know, sir.

Mr. MAXWELL. Are the Tifts energetic men?
Mr. S. I think they are.

Mr. MAXWELL. Has the one living in Key West; been engaged
in the shipping business ?

Mr. S. He has had ships repaired that come there.

Mr. BARKSDALE. What was the standing of the Tifts as South-
ern men?

Mr. S. I never heard their loyalty questioned.
Mr. FOOTE. Is it, in your judgment, a conclusive proof of a



man's being entirely a ipan of public and private integrity, that he
I'oted f>r secession?

Mr. S. Not at all. " I don't think it is conclnsive of any such thing.

Mr. BAEIKSI^ALE. I understood you to say that these gentlemen
possessed the confidence of the community in which they lived, as truC;

loyal Southern men?,
Mr. S. Yes, sir, in an eminent degree.

The CHAIR. Had they unquestioned character for intqgrity?

Mr.S. They had, sir.

Mr. DUPRE. Was Mr. Asa Tift engaged in banking operations in

Kov West?
Mr. S. Not that I know of.

Mr. SKMAIES. What was the orcnpation of Mr. Nelson Tift prior

to his.nndertakiug the construction of this vessel?

Mr. S. Hh was largely engaged in the building of railroads in

Georgia and Florida.

Mr. SEMMES. What was the occupation of Mr. Asa Tift prior to

his engaging in this work?
Mr !S. He was in business in Key West.
Mr SEMMES. He was engaged in |'in'<'hasing wre^'ks, &,f.?

Mr S. Ttie.o are a limited iiinuber of wh irves for discharging car-

goes at that f)la e. * A large nuujber of ships come there annually in

disiiess, and their rarg «> arn j^enerally discharged to enable the neces-
sary repairs to be made m them. Mis business was storing these car-

goes in his warehouse and repairing ships.

Mr. SEMMES. Did he condu.'t the repairing himself, or make a
contract in Innjp for storing the goods and repairing the ships?

Mr. S. Th«5 w^hole matter is controlled by the admiralty court in

that place. The court determines the rate of charges.
Mr. SEMMES. Did he have a ship yard there to repair these ves-

sels, or did he give them out by contract?
Mr. S. He superintended the work himself, and carried it on him-

self.

Mr. SEMMES. You say the bills were docked by the Messrs. Tift

before they were paid. Yf)u only mentioned two bills as being paid
after the i'all of New Orleans. Do you know whether they docked any
bills anterior to the fall of New Orleans ?

Mr. S. They did several. One bill was for timber by the house of
Hammond & Co., which I paid. One of the partners in that house
"was an employee of the New Orleans and .Tackson Railroad.

Mr. SEMMES. Do you recollect any other?
Mr.S. No, sir.

Mr. MAXWELL. 1 \vant to know it you remember the aggregate
amount of money you paid out on account of the Mississippi?

Mr. S. I made a statement to the Navy Department some time ago
of her cost, from the data in my possessicm, which was imperfect, from
the fact that it was commingled up with payments made for materials
for two other steamers which were ordered to be built. The cost of the
Mississippi amounted to some $468,000. Since that I had a conver-
.sation with the Messrs. Tift, and they satisfied me that .$570,000 were
paid for materials for other ships that were to be built, which should be
deducted from fhis amount, leaving $397,000 as the actual cost of the
Mississippi-



Mr. MAXWELL. Would you suppose that that is a large amount
for that size vessel.

Mr. S. I would not like to express an opinion, for I am really no
judge of such matters.

Mr. SEMMES. Does this $397,000 include the cost of hel: arma-
ment ?

Mr. S. No, sir. It was for the work on the hull, machinery, and
the iron for her roof, which cost alone ^124,000.

Mr. T3UPRE. Was all the iron there at the time of her destruction?

Mr. S. The largest portion of it was in New Orleans. The re-

mainder of it was on its way to New Orleans.

Capt. Arthur Senclatr was next sworOo

The CHAIR. You had control of the Mississippi at New Orleans?
Capt. Sinclair. I had the command of her.

The CHAIR.. When did you reach New Orleans?
Capt. Sinclair. On the 3d of last April. •

The CHAIR, What was the progress of the work on her after you
reached there?

Capt. SiVOL air. They were getting on with her very rapidly. My
stay there was to the 25th of April.

Tho CHAIR. Did they employ all the hands that could be pro-

cured upon her?
Capt. Sinclair. Yes, sir; quite as many as could be engaged upon

her to advantage.

The CHAIR. There js a limit beyond which laborers would be in

each other's way ?

Capt. Sinclair. Yes, sir.

Xhe CHAIR. Were the required materials, of wood and iron on
hand ?

Capt. Sinclair. There was a great deal on hand; but some of the

iron had not arrived when I left there," .

The CHxilR. Were all necessary and proper efforts made to procure
the materials for that vessel?

Capt. Sinclair. As far as ray observations went while I was there,

everything went on very rapidly. Indeed, I thought the greatest de-r

sire was evinced by everybody employed upon her, to get her ready
with all possible despatch.

The CHAIR. Was any desire expressed by the vigilant committee
or any citizen of New Orleans, to have her launched sooner than she
was ?

Capt. S. There was.
The CHAIR. Was this wish complied with ?

Capt. S. No, sir. It was deemed advisable to leave her on the
stocks until she got her propellers and shafts on board. To have-gotten
her in the water before that would, in my opinion, have very much re-

tarded her completion. When, however, it was expected the enemy
would pass the forts, we then advised her to be launched.
The CHAIR. Why did you then advise it?

Capt. S. Because I thought the only chance of keeping her out of
the hands of the enemy was to have her in the water, so that she might
be carried up the river, ii^ possible, or -destroyed in case of a failure to

take her up.



62

The CHATR. Were effjrts made to get her up?
Capt. S. Yes, sir.

The CHAIR. What effort?

Capt. S. On the morning of the 24th, I employed, through the

Messrs'. Tift, the only two steamers then available— the St. Charles and
the Peytona, to come immediately to the ship and endeavor to get her

up the river. They did not come, however, until a late hour. During
that day I was employed getting everything I could on board the ship,

with a view to finishing her up the river, if possible. The steamers

came about 8 o'clock at night, and made as an excuse for their failure

to come earlier, the want of engineers aad hands. There was a great

deal of confusion in the city at the time. I furnished the steamers with

hands and an engineer, and after some difficulty we started. But we
found it impossible to do anything with the vessel on account of the

strong current. There was a freshet at the time, and this rendered the

current much stronger than usual. We tugged at her the whole of that

night unsuccessfully, for instead of making any headway we lost

ground considerably. Before 4 o'clock the following morning, Colonel

Beggs, one of the vigilance committee, came on board, and offered me
assistance in the shape of additional steam pov/er, which he said would

he ready at 4 o'clock, and which I wiUingly accepted; but they never

came. I then made fast the vessel and went up to the city myself in

ihe Peytona, for the purpose of getting additional steam power. 1 left

an officer on board, Lieut. Waddel, and the naval constructor, Pearce,

with orders if the enemy hove in sight during my absence, not to wait

for me but to fire the ship. I went to the city and endeavored to get

additional steam power. I found on getting there that the crews of the

vessels had left them. The captains of some of them informed me,that

they u ent to look after their own private concerns. While there, I saw
the enemy coming up, and then 1 regarded the case as hopeless. I

started back to the Peytona for the purpose of returning to the ship and

setting her on fire. As I got round the point, 1 saw the flame issuing

from her, and was satisfied that all was right.

This is the state of things as they transpired that morning. I saw
it was impossible to get the ship up, and 1 fiyed her according to my
orders from Capt. Whittle, to prevent her falling into the hands of the

enemy.
The CHAIR. Had you any orders in regard to the disposition to be

made of that vessel?

Capt. S. No, sir. Capt. Whittle sent for me on the morning of the

24th, and stated to me that the enemy was coming. He asked me
what was to be done? I said, try and get her up the river, and in

case it was found impossible to do so, to burn her. I am of the opinion

that if we had gone up the river we would have been captnred. We
could not possibly get her up fast enough to take her out of the enemy's
way. They knew all about her. They came up to the ship before

that and saw thnt she was in a fair way of being destroyed, and then

returned. They wovild, I am satisfied, have followed her up the river,

had we gone there ; and before we could. have cast the hawsers they

would have captured herj nor would it be possible for us to have fired

her in time.

The CHAHI. Why did you delay removing the vessels until the

24th?
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Capt. 8. There was no special canse to remove her before then.

We were going on rapidly with the woik, and to have taken the ship

away would have retarded the work a great deal. We were not aware
that the enemy were coming as soon as they did come, and we deemed
it best to keep her as'she was and try if possible and finish her before

the enemy would advance upon ns.

The ,CHA1R. Could the work have been prosecuted as rapidly any-

where else?

Capt. S. No, sir; there was no place of safety within 800 miles of

New Orleans. I allude to Memphis.
""

The CHAIR. What was the draft of the vessel?

Capt. S. She would have drawn about 14 feet. I think her draft,

when I left her, v/as about 12 or 12^ feet. She had no guns and no
ammunition of any sort. Her guns had arrived there, but they had
been taken for the Louisiana, and another battery was ordered for her,

and was on its way. 1 met it at Jackson, alter the ship was burned,

when on my way to Richmond. The Messrs. Tift were under the im-

pression that they would have finished the ship in the course of two or

three weeks; but my opinion was and is now, that she could not have
been completed sooner than the 1st of July, if then. She had the

main propeller in, and the other two were lying on the wharf. I en-

deavored to get them on board, but I lound it impossible to do so.

The enemy was so close up that I had to leave them behind. I did

transfer a great deal of the materials to the steamer that remained by
her and took it up to Vicksburg. The ship had no iron upon her

shield, as it is called. Some of the iron had been laid upon the shield

but not bolted down. Her rudder was not on; her pnrts were not com-
pleted, and I am satisfied she could not have been completed sooner

than the 1st of July. She was a formidable ship—the finest of the

sort I^ever saw in my life; she would in my opinion not only have

cleared the river of the enemy's vessels, but have raised the blockade

of every port in the South.

Mr. UUPRE. When did you take control over the Mississippi ?

Capt. S. On the 3d day of April.

Mr. DUPRE. Did 1 understand you to say that you had no control

of the ship from that time otherwise than being appointed to command
her?

Capt. S. I was superintending her, but not fully in command.
Mr. DUPRB. I want to know when you took upon yourself to give

your orders for her removal or destruction ?

Capt. S. I merely reported for command—she was entirely under
the control of the contractors. I received orders from the commander
of the station, Capt. Whittle, to save her if possible, and in case of a

failure to do so, to destroy her, so as to ^prevent her falling into the

hands of the enemy?
Mr. DUPRE. Had you assumed such control over her as that it

was not necessary ibr you to ask for any order ti-om Capt. Whittle to

destroy her ?

Capt. S. I would have destroyed herunder the circumstinre; w!.h-

out any order from Capt, Whittle.

Mr. DUPRE. Did you take any measures before the morning of the

24th, to get steamers to take the vessel up?
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Oapt. fS. I had two steamers engaged for several days before—the

Pejtona and the St Charles. When I applied for them, I was informed

that they wore taken hy order of Gen. Lovcll; whereupon I went imme-
diately to Gen. Loveil and had the order rescinded.

Mr. DUPRE. It was only on the night between the 24th and 25th

that you endeavored to take the vessel up?
Capt. (S. It was on the night of the 24th. I ordered the boats in

the morning, but they did not get there until night. The reason offered

by them for the delay was, that they could get no engineers; and there

was great indisposition on the part of all to aid ms—particularly the St.

Charles.

Mr. DUPRE. There was no attempt made by you previous to the

24th, and the night of the 24th, to remove the vessel?

Capt. S. 'None whatever. We had no desire to remove her.

Mr. DUPRE. What was your opinion of the capacity of steam ves-

sels to pass land batteries or forts?.

Capt. S. I believed that these vessels would pass, and I believe that

they can always pass unless there are obstructions.

Mr. DUPRE. Were there obstructions?

Capt. S. There had been, but 1 beUeve they were swept away by
the current, i never have heen down to the mouth of the river, and I

only speak about this obstruction from information furnished me.
The CHAIR. Do you consider that there were strong objections

against removing the vessel until the time you did?

"Capt, S. I consider there were. It would delay her completion

many weeks, if not months. I was anxious to go on with her, and, if

possible, finish her in time to meet the enemy.
Mr. DUPRE. Did you have any orders from the Captain of the

station before the 24th, as to what should be done with her? Did you
have any orders to launch her before then? •

Capt. S. No, sir.

Mr. DUPRE. Did you have any orders from the Navy Department

to that effect?

Capt. S. No, sir. On the contrary, I had orders from the Depart-

ment to work at the ship night and day, and to spare neither money
nor men.

Mr. DUPRE. Did you receive any orders from the Navy Depart-

ment from the 3d to the 25th of April?

Capt. S. I did, sir; and they were all to the same effect, to hurry

up the work.
Mr. DUPRE. Do you know Capt. Ellis, of Louisiana?

Capt. S. I do.

Mr. DUPRE. Will you tell me whether Capt. Ellis came to New
Orleans some two or three weelcs before, with a number of country car-

penters, negro blacksmiths and others to assist tlie progress of the work
on the Mississippi ?

Capt. S. 1 think he did. He also offered to -assist us in getting

handt. for the vessel. I accepted his services very cheerfully.

Mr. DUPRE. Do you know how many he brought there?

Capt. S. I don't know.
Mr. DUPRE. Do you know how long before the destruction of the

ship he was there?



C5

Oapt. S. About a fortnight or ten days.

Mr. DUPRE. Was he present when the efforts were made that

night to take the boat up?
Capt. S. YeSj sir.

Mr. DUPRE. Was he not on board the Peytona himself?

Capt. S. I think he was.

Mr. DUPRE. Did you have any conversation with him in relation

to getting other vessels, or giving up the idea of taking the ship up with
the two vessels ?

Capt. S. I don't remember.
Mr. DUPRE. He seemed to take a very deep interest in saving the

ship—did he not?

Capt. S. He did, sir.

Mr. DUPRE. Do you know when he left the city?

Capt. S. No, sir.

Mr. DUPRE. Did you go up in the Peytona?
Capt. S. I did, sir. I laid up in the Peytona when the ship was

fired until I saw the roof fall in., to satisfy myself that she was well

burned

.

Mr. DUPRE. You are aware that the forts had been bombarded for

a week or ten days before the 24th ?

Capt. S. Yes, sir.

Mr. FOOTE. You say there was no other place in the Confederate

States where such a ship could have been built.

Capt. S. No, sir. I said there was no place of safety to which 1

could have carried her.

Mr. FOOTE. Was there no river to take her up?
Capt. S. No, sir.

Mr. FOOTE. Could she not have been carried to the Yazoo river?

Capt. S. She might; but she would have been caught before she

got there. Besides there were no guns there.

Mr. FOOTE. Suppose she had been launched a week or ten days
before ?

Capt. S. If there had been orders to that effect, I could have taken

her up, provided the enemy did not come up after her.

Mr. DUPRE. Do you know the speed with which the gun boats of

the enemy travel on the Mississippi, up stream?
Capt. S. 1 should think 8 or 10 miles an hour—at least many of

them.
Mr. DUPRE. Do you know the position of Carrolton ?

Capt. S. No, sir; 1 do not.

Mr. DUPRE. Do you know how long after the enemy took posses-

sion of New Orleans it was before they sent pickets out as far as Car-

rolton ?

Capt. S. I do not.

Mr. DUPRE. Do you know that the enemy being ip. the river at

Carrolton could have complete command of the New Orleans and Jack-
son Railroad ?

Capt. S. I don't know. But after I set fire to the Mississippi and
satisfied myself that she was entirely consumed, I started back to the

city for the purpose of offering the services of myself and ofiicers to

Gan. I>ovell. On tlie way we nietliieut. McCorkle, who informedrus
9 .

' ,/^

;
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that the enemy were Dp us far as Canal siieet, and that Cien. Lovell

had evacuated the city.

Mr. DUPRE. Do you know the Bayou Lafouche and the Bayou

Sara?
Capt. S. No, sir.

Mr. DUPRE. Have you ever been at Atchafalaya 1

Capt. S. No, sir.

Mr. DUPRE. You never were below the city?

Capt. S. Not since 15 years ago.

Mr. DUPRE. Have you ever been at Donaldsonville?

Capt.S. Never.

Mr. DUPRE. You don't know the population of that town, or.

whether they have any workshops or foundries there ?

Capt. S. No, sir.

Mr. DUPRE. Do you know the distance between New Orleans and

the Yazoo river?

Capt. S. I do not.

Mr. DUPRE. Do you know how long after the fall of New Orleans

Yicksburg was attacked by the enemy?
Capt. S. No, sir; I do not.

Mr. DUPRE. I think you stated that the vessel could not have been

completed before the 1st of July.

Capt. S. No, sir, I don't think she- could have been finished even

then.

Mr. DUPRE. There was no powder on board of her.

Capt. S. No, sir. I borrowed 1,000 pounds from Gen. Lovell to

blow her up.

Mr. DUPRE. Then there was no preparation on board of her even

though she had been ready for action.

Capt. S. No, sir. There were no men for her, no guns and no

ammunition, except four old fashion smooth-bore which I borrowed

from the station.

Mr. DUPRE. When she was fastened to the St. Charles and Pey-

tona, did yon succeed in bringing her up stream?

Capt. S. No, sir; on the contrary I lost ground.

Mr. DUPRE. Did you not, after she drifted down, bring lier up
stream to the first position she occupied?

Capt. S. We shoved her out of the current, and in that way suc-

ceeded in bringing her up to near where she was first placed.

Mr. DUPRE. On the night of the 24th, when she drifted down,
and you succeeded in bringing her lip, did you not receive an order

from Capt. Whittle to burn her up?
Capt. S. Capt. Whittle came onboard, and 1 explained to him why

I could not bring her up. I stated to him all the difficulties in the

way, and he remarked, *' save her if you can, but ,do not let her Ihll

into the hands of the enemy."
Mr." DUPRE. Do you remember whether any representation was

made to you by Capt. Ellis, that he would take the boat up if he was
gdlowed to control the steamers then at New Orleans ?

Gapt. S. No, sir; he made no such representation to me.
Mi*. pUPRE. Did he have any of his negro force on board?

•>t. i9o
' .Yes, sir. We could not have gotten along without them.



My own eiigiiieer worked the engines of the St. Charles; and I would
Jiere make a single remark in regard to the conduct of the Captain of

that boat. When I offered the services of my engineer, the chief

engineer said, " I don't want any d n s—u of a b h of a naval

engineer to work my engines !"

Mr. DUPRE. I want to ask you whether, when you were going up
with the boat after you drifted down, you were not induced to desist

from the effort to take lier up, by reason of a rumor which reached

yon , that the gun boats of the enemy were within a few miles of the city ?

Capt. S. No, sir; there was such a rumor, but I took her there be-

cause I saw it was utterly impossible to take lief up with the force at

my command.
Mr. DUPRE. Did you, when the boats came there, fasten her to

them?
Capt. S. Yes, sir.

Mr. DUPRE. How long did it take to do so ?

Capt. S. About two hours; in consequence of the indisposition of

all on board the steamer to aid me.
Mr. DUPRE. It was about 2 o'clock you say when you decided to

start up the river?

Capt. S. About that, I think Capt. Beggs came on board a short

tima before I had given up, and before the enemy hove in sight.

Mr. DUPRE. After deciding upon taking the vessel up the river,

was it not your intention to have destroyed her, had not the vigilance

committee interfered?
'

.

Capt.S. It was my intention to have destroyed her if I did not get

additional steam power; and I did not get it. It was my determination

that she should not fall into the hands of the enemy.
Mr. DUPRE. When you returned to New Orleans,, Avere there any

steamers there at all ?

Capt. S. Yes, sir, there were.

Mr. DUPRE. Do you know Col. Manning?
Capt. S. No, sir.

Mr. DUPRE. Did you have any conversation with the Messrs.*

Tift on Thursday, the 24th, after the vessels passed the forts, in rela-

tion to the saving of this boat?
Capt. S. I might have had—I was with them all Thursday.
Mr. DUPRE. Was any of them present on the night of the 24th,

when you attempted to take away the vessel ?

Capt. IS. They were on board with me, and went up the river after-

wards with me.
Mr. DUPRE. Do you remember that Col. Ellis was on board the

Peytona with you ?

Capt. S. I think he was.
Mr. MAXWELL. If it had been in your discretion iVoni the first

day you went there, to take that vessel up the river, was there any time
that you would have done so, considering the prevalent opinion as to

the defences of New Orleans, before you had undertaken to do it?

Capt. S. No, sir. I would not have removed her, simply because
we had every facility there to finish her.

Mr. LYONS. What number of steamers would it have required to

take her up ? . .



Capt. S. 1 think about three or four of considerable power.

Mr. LYONS. At what rate could you have towed her up with that

force?

Capt. S. At the rate of about three or fmiv miles an hour. With
any force we could have put to her, I am satisfied the enemy would
have overtaken her, even if we were 200 miles ahead of them.

Mr. DUPRE. Do you know what facilities there were at "Franklin,

Parish of St. Maiy's, to finish her?

Capt. S. I don't know.
Mr. DUPRE. Do you know what facilities there were at Bayou

Sara, Bayou Placquemine, or Donaldsonville ?

Capt. S. I do not.

Mr. BARKSDALE. Could any other vessels have been procured

than the two you got ?

Capt. S. On the morning of the 24th, I made application to the

Messrs. Tift to try and get more boats. They did try, but without effect.

Mr. BARKSDALE. If you succeeded in getting other vessels,

could you not have traveled with sufficient speed to have escaped the

enemy?
Capt. S. No, sir, unless I went four or five days before.

Mr. BARKSDALE. Would you have thought it advisable to have

left some days before?

Capt. S. I always thought the enemy would have passed the forts,

but my object was to get the ship done as soon as possible, for I knew
she could have cleared the river, and raised the blockade. I was sat-

isfied she could have been finished sooner at New Orleans, than any
Avhere else.

Mr. DUPRE. You say you bad secured the two boats before the

21th ?

Capt. S. We had these boats engaged several days before.

Mr. DUPRE. Had you made any attempt at any time before the

24tli, to secure more than two boats?

Capt. S. No, sir.

The Committoe then adjoiu'acd.

TUESDAY, Sept. IClh, 1S62.

Tiie Connuiltce met at half past o'clock, pursuant to adjournuicnt.

I'resent—Messrs. Clay, (Chairman,) Lyons, Boyce, Maxwell,

Semmes, Barksdale and L)iipre.

Mr. SEMMES. My absence at the close of the Committee's silting

on yesterday, is noted on the record. 1 will state that I was called

away to attend on the committee of finance.

The testimony of Mr. Senac and Capt. Sinclair, were read to them
in presence of the Committee, whereupon, Mr. Foote interrogated

Capt. Sinclair as follows :

Mr. FOOTE. You havo testified that the orders ol" the Secretary

of the Navy required that the work on the ship should go on night and

day, and that no time should be lost—tell mc now how many hours
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per day were devoted by those employed in couslmcting llit; shipj to

Avorking upon her ?

Capt. Sinclair. They worked from sun to sun, as well as I re-

member; and they worked during the night in the shops. It was not

considered advisable to work on the hull of the ship during the night.

Work, however, was being" done during that time, which expedited

operation^ upon the vessel very considerably.

Mr. FOOTE. How many hours per day were devoted to work
upon her ?

Capt. Sinclair. 1 should suppose about eight or nine.

Mr. FOOTE. Did not the citizens of New Orleans testify much
uneasiness at the slow progress made, and offer any amount of aid in ma-
terials, men and money?

Capt. Sinclair. They did testifj'^ some uneasiness, and offered any
aid which might be deemed fiecessary.

Mr. FOOTE. What reception did this offer meet with ?

Capt. Sinclair. I can say nothing of what occurred before I got

there. After I got there, they proffered every aid to advance the ship.

Mr. FOOTE. Did they accept any aid from the citizens?

Capt. Sinclair. I cannot say. Bnt 1 know there were as many
men employed on the ship, as in my opinion, could have worked to

advantage.

Mr. FOOTE. Could they not have been respited, and others pnt
in their place, so as to work night and day?

Capt. Sinclair. I don't think it would have been safe to work on
the hull at night.

Mr. FOOTE. Who is responsible for the work not going on by night
and day?

Capt. Sinclair. The Messrs. Tift had control of the work on board
the ship; but I was of opinion, that it would not be prudent to work on
the ship at night. There was considerable danger of fire from the

shavings coming in contact with the hghts.
Mr. FOOTE. That was the opinion of the Messrs. Tilt ?

Capt. Sinclaie. Yes, sir; and my opinion also.

Mr. FOOTE. And that in the face of the fact that you felt convinced
that the enemy would be able to pass the forts, and that the ship would
not have been finished before the 1 st of July ?

Capt. Sinclair. The Messrs. Tift were (ionfident she would be fin-

ished in a few Weeks.
Mr. FOOTE. What was the feeling of the citizens of New Or-

leans upon the crisis being reached at which the ship was to be burned;
was there not universal indignation in the city?

Capt. Sinclair. There was, sir.

Mr. FOOTE. Did they not threaten violence to the Messrs. Tifi?
Capt. Sinclair. They did, sir. T heard one of my officers say

that a party came down for the purpose of hanging the Tifts.

Mr. FOOTE. Did they make their escape?
Capt. Sinclair. They did, sir.

Mr. FOOTE. Were they not subsequently apprehended at Vicks-
burg?

Capt. Sinclair. They were.
Mr. FOOTE. Who was at the head of the movement?
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Capt. S. I think they were arrested upon a telegraphic dispatcii

from Mr. Sonle.

Mr. FOOTE. Who was at the head of it at Yicksburg—was not

Mr. Marshall; and others?

Capt. S. I do not know.
Mr. FOOTE. AVhat saved their lives ?

Capt. >S. It was proved that they had nothing to do with the bii ril-

ing of the ship. They were saved on that point.

Mr. BARKSDALE. Did you not say on yesterday that an oiler of

aid made by Mr. Eihs, of Louisiana, was accepted by the Messrs. Tift

and yourself?

Capt. tS. 1 think so. We did accept aid; but what amount of aid ho
had I do not reuiember.

Mr. BARKSDALE. The gentleman from TeuRessee (Mr. Footk)
asked you whose fault it was that the work did not progress by day
and night. Did 1 understand you to say that the work did progress in

the shops by night?
Capt. S. It certainly did; and if I saw any disposition on the part of

the Tifts to delay the work, 1 should have made a report o( the fact to the

commanding officer of the station. But I saw no disposition to delay

operations. On the conti'ary, everything went on to my satisfaction.

Mr. FOOTE. Did the Secretary of the Navy know the condition of

the ship as well as j'-ou did, by your reports?

Capt. S. I think the first letter I wrote to Mr. Mallory on the s.ub-

jcct was, that I found everything progressing rapidly and to my entire

satisfaction, but that I feared the vessel would not be completed as early

as was anticipated. I refer to my correspondence on this subject as

part of my testimony.

Mr. MAXWELL. What gave rise to this indignation against the

Tifts?

Capt. S. I cannot imagine. As I stated before, they evinced every

disposition while I was there to carry on the work as rapidly as pos-

sible. I never saw men work more zealously,

Mr. FOOTE. You speak of words only. They did not engage in .

any manual labor upon her?
Capt. S. They did not put their hands to the work; but they were

constantly active in pushing it ahead.

Mr. FOOTE. They might have been so openly; but they might
Iiave been secretly disposed to retard the work.

Capt. S. They showed every disposition to forward the work as

much as possible.

Mr. FOOTE. What kind of iron work was going on in the shops
at night?

C'ajit. S. Machinery and other iron work necessary for the ship.

.Mr. FOOTE. Were they at work all night?

(/a])t. S. I did not visit the shop at night, but it was reported to ino

that they did work during the night. 1 have every reason to believe

they did. n
Mr. FOO'l'E. You say the work on the ship did not go on at

night?

Capt. 8. It did not, sir.

Mr. SEMMES. Do 1 understand you to say that the work that was
(lone at nigijt was upon the machinery?



• 71.

Capt. ^S. Yes, sir.

The CHAIR,. Did j^ou ever see any work done therC;, or being done
at night?

Capt. S. No, sir.

The CHAIR. You have been asked 'whether you did not know any
safe place of retreat for the vessel, and you answered no. Did any one
in New Orleans suggest to you a place v.^iere you could take her and
make her secure?

Capt. S. I have no recollection of any such suggestion.

Mr. SEMMES. Did you ask any one where you might take her to

in order to secure her? ^ -

Capt. S. No, sir.

The CHAIR. Did persons make suggestions to yoii about the

vessel?

Capt. S. Several suggestions were made to me, among which were
a great many very ridiculous ones.

The CHAIR. But there was no suggestion made to you, within
your memory, of a place of safety to which you could carry the vessel?

Capt. S. None that I remember. I believe there was no place of

safety nearer than Memphis, to which she could be carried.

Mr. FOOTE. That is according to your opinion—you not having
any acquaintance with the river to enable you to judge as to any other

places of safety to which she might be carried.

Capt. S. Yes, sir.

Mr. FOOTE. If you were Secretary of the Navy, as familiar as all

the Secretaries of the Navy are supposed to be with the geography of
the country, the depth and width of rivers, tfcc, with your knowledge
of the fact that the enemy's guns boats were attempting to pass the

forts, with the conviction on your mind that they would effect that ob-

ject, would you have allowed such a ship as that to remain there until

the enemy passed the forts? Would you not, with a knowledge some-
tmie before that the attempt was made, obtain the aid of steamers to get

the vessel up?
Ctipt. S. I would, if I thought 1 could have taken her up and se-

cure4 her.

^\r. FOOTE. If you had to act the part over again, would you not

have made the attempt to take her up to Yazoo river, after you became
convinced that the enemy's gun boats could have passed the forts?

Capt. S. No, sir; because I was perfecdy satisfied that there was no
place of safet}'- for her.

Mr. FOOTE. With your knowledge now of the Yazoo river and
of other streams that would have offered a safe cover lor that ship,

would you not have taken her off with the prospect before you of the
enemy's ships certainly passing the forts—would you not have taken
her up the river before the vessels passed the forts, in order to have her
finished some place where the work could have been consummated ?

Capt. S. I would; but I do not believe she could have been saved ?

Mr. FOOTE. Why?
Capt. S. Because there was no battery for her protection at any

point to which she could have been carried. If we had taken her up
three or four weeks before, transferred the workshops fi:om New Orleans
to the Yazoo river, for instance, and erected batteries there, we might
have saved her.
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Mr. FOOTE. You know something of the history of the Arkansas ?

Capt. S. YeS; sir.

Mr. FOOTE. Do you knoAv that there was a large iron foundry in

the City of Vicksburg ?

Capt. S. No, sir.

Mr. FOOTE. If you knew there were such foundries ther«, and
with the knowledge which you have now of the Yazoo river, would
you not have deemed it expedient to have taken her up that river to

some safe point where you would have completed her, a little more
slowly it may be, than at New Orleans, but just as effectually?

£!apt. S. I think I would.

The CHAIR. I understand you to say, that to make any place to

which she might be carried a safe place, you would need the defence of

a batteiy to protect it against the assault of the enemy?
Capt. S. Yes, sir.

The CHAIR. You did not know then of any place where there

was a battery ?

Capt. S. No, sir.

The CHAIR. Even now you don't know of any place where bat-

teries are erected to which you might bring her?

Mr. FOOTE. The Captain said that with his knowledge of facts

now, to wit : that the enemy's gun boats would undoubtedly come up
the river—that there was a foundry in Vicksburg which could supply

all the necessary iron works for her construction, and that the Yazoo
river afforded a place of safety for the vessel, he would, enlightened by
experience, have taken up the vessel four^ weeks before to the Yazoo
river.

The CHAIR. The interrogatory of the gentleman from Tennessee
(Mr. Foote) was a leading one.

Mr. FOOTE. With all due deference to the Chair, I noticed that

his interrogatories to the witnesses on yesterday were essentially leading,

ones.

The CHAIR. The Chair might have put questions of that character,

and if he did, it was the duty of any member of the Committee to have
interposed. But I wish this thing settled. Do you know any safe

place now to which you could have carried that boat ?

Capt. S. I do not.

The CHAIR. Could the vessels of the enemy have gone where-
«ver this boat floated?

Capt. S. They could have gone everywhere that she could have
floated at the time that I took her down, except to Memphis.
The CHAIR. Did some of the enemy's boats draw more water than

others ?

Capt. 8. Many of their boats were much smaller than the Missis-

sippi, and coukl have pursued her without difficulty wherever she went.
The CHAIR. Would you or would you not have regarded her safe

af any point accessible to the enemy's gun boats, without a battery to

prolnct her?
Ca])t. >S. 1 would not.

Mr. F(JOTE. What do you think of the wisdom of the movement
of bBinging the ram Arkansas down the river, and thence up the Yazoo
riJTRi' t/) Y.'izao Citv ''



Capt. S. It turned out to be a wise movement.
The CHAIR. You would not have undertaken that?

Capt. S. If I had the same knowledge of the river as the Captain
of that vessel had, 1 might have done so.

Mr. FOOTE. If you had the same knowledge as the Captain of
that vessel, would you not have taken her up the river and finished her
without a battery ?

Capt. S. I think I would.
Mr. FOOTE. You would not have made that an indispensable con-

dition of removing the vessel at all ?

Capt. S. I think the two vessels were very differently situated.

Mr. FOOTE. I ask the question about the Arkansas first. Would
you have pursued the same course with the Arkansas that they pur-
sued ?

Capt. S. I would.
Mr. FOOTE. With the same knowledge possessed by them, and

the opinion you entertained that the enemy would pass the forts, and
that the boat would not be finished before the 1st of July, would you,
having been thus advised by experience four weekt before the enemy
did pass the forts, have taken that boat up the river, carried her to the

Yazoo river and have her finished at some point, even though there

was not a batlery there, especially if you ascertained the fact that there

were large foundries at Vicksburg to furnish the necessary iron work
for her completion ?

Capt. S. 1 would, sir.

Mr. MAXWELL. Would you have vvaited before taking her from
New Orleans to inquire whether there was any fleet at the mouth of the
Mississippi, with a view of passing the batteries?

Capt. S. No, sir.

Mr. MAXWELL. Do you know how long these batteries were
there?

Capt. S. I do not.

Mr, MAXWELL. Would you have done this before there was a
demonstration to pass the balteries?

Capt, S. No, sir.

Mr. .MAXWELL. Suppose you had been Secretary of the Navy,
and had known everything \yhich ha» been suggested to you by the

gentleman from Tennessee, (Mr. fooTE,) but were in constant re-

ceipt of information from those who had charge of the defences of
New Orleans, that New Orleans was safe, would you have taken her
away, notwithstanding all that knowledge?

Capt. S. I would not.

Mr. FOOTE. Would you, as Secretary of the Navy, taking an ex-

tended view of the whole f\e\<X of operatiorjs; bound to know the whole
geography of this country, both land and water; and where the proper
kind of materials for constructing ships are niost easy to be obtained;

bound to know the strength of the enenay which were advancing up
the river; bound to know by consultation with experienced navy offi-

cers, the impossibility of keeping the eneniy's gun tioats down the

river—would you, here in Richmond, have deemed it safe and prudent
to allow that boat tp renaain therej the finishing of S^hich was deemed
next to io^possible l^fare the Isjt of ^ulvrr^would you l^ave deemed it
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steamboat force available, and dragged her up to the Yazoo river,

knowing that there was there a means of finishing her?

The Chair here objected to the question as an illegal one.

Some debate followed; Mr. Foote maintaining its legality.

The Chair being anxious to have the decision of the Committee
upon his ruhng, put the question—shall the decision of the Chair
stand as the judgment of the Committee, and it was decided in the

affirmative.

Some intimation having been thrown out in the course of the debate

by Mr. Foote, that it was not strictly parliamentary fof the Chair to

participate in the exammation of witnesses, the Chair put to a vote of

the Committee, the question, " whether, in the judgment of the Com-
mittee, it is proper for the CnAHi lo participate in the examination of

witnesses," and it was decided in the affirmative

—

Mr. Semmes alone,

voting in the negative.

Mr. FooTE said he would vote for the Chair's being allowed to pro-

pound interrogatorJ£s to witnesses, since the Chair said it was proper

for it to do so.

Mr. LYONS. If the Mississippi had been carried up the Yazoo
river to Yazoo city, could she not have been pursued to that point by
the boats of the enemy at any time in the absence of a battery to pro-

tect her?
Capt. Sinclair. She certainly could as far as ray knowledge of the

river extends—I speak of it only from hearsay.

Mr. LYONS. Would not that be necessarily true, if she drew no
more water than many of the boats of the enemy?

Capt. S. Certainly it would.

Mr. LYONS. Does it not follow from that fact that boats drawing

less water could follow her?
• Capt. S. It necessarily does.

Mr. FOOTE. Are you aware of the fact that when the ram Arkan-

sas was taken up the Yazoo river^ there were large quantities of wood
piled up across the rivei, so as to prevent the enemy's gun boats

from coming in; that some attempts were made by the enemy to go up
there, but without success, and that when the Arkansas was finished,

the timber obstruction was cut away, and she allowed to pass out?

Mr. BARKSDALE. I object to that question as being illegal. The
Chair decided it was illegal, and the hour of 12 having arrived, the

Committee adjourned by limitation.

WEDNESDAY, Sept. 17, 1862.

The Committee met at half past 9 o'clock, pursuant to adjournment.

Present—Messrs. Clay, (Chairman,) Boyce, Foote, Maxwell, Dupre,

Semmes and Lyons.

Mr. SEMMES. There is a witness here, Mr. Chairman, from New
Orleans, of the name of Martin , who expects to leave to-morrow. I

move that he be allowed to give his testimony before we proceed to the

croes-exaraination of witnesses who have already been examined

.
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Ttie qiiesdoii oa the niolioii, was put, and il wati decided iu the

affirmative.

Mr. James Martin was tiien called, and duly sworn.

Mr. SKMMES. You lived in Nev/ Orleans, did you not?
Mr. Martin. I lived in Algiers, opposite New Orleans.

Mr. SEMMES. What was your occupation there?

Mr. Martin. Ship builder.

Mr. SEMMES. Hov/ long have you been engaged in that business ?

Mr. Martin. I have been engaged as master workman about 20
years.

Mr. SEMMES. Are tliere many ship yards at Algiers?

Mr. Martin. Yes, sir, there are.

• Mr. SEMMES. How'many?
iMr. Martin. There are Hughes, Valette &. Go., Haseni & Ander-

son, Hyde & Mackey and James Martin. These are in Algiers.

Mr. SEMMES. Are there any others in. the city?

Mr. Martin. There are np prominent ones. There are some that

have ship yards permanently engaged.
Mr^ SEMMES. Can you tell us anything about the supply of

workmen or ship builders in New Orleans during the past year? I

mean from the commencement of the Confederate Government, down
to the fair of New Orleans?

Mr. Martin. We all had a sufficient supply,of workmen there to

do whatever work we had to do on our side of the river—we always
procured all the mechanics necessary to accomplish any work entrusted

to us?
Mr. SEMMES. Do you know whether those who had yards on

the opposite side of the river, had any difficulty in procuring workmen?
Mr. Martin. I cannot tell you that. Mr. Tift told me yesterdky

that he had great difficulty in getting workmen. When the largest

amount of work was being done there—which was when the Mont-
gomery fleet was being fitted up in addition to |the other work then
under contract, we found that we had men enough to accomplish
that work in a very short time. These vessels were divided out among
various persons, to facilitate the work, and we found no difficulty in

obtaining men to complete them.
Mr. DUPRE. At any time between last fall and spring, could

workmen be procured in the city with facility ?

Mr. Martin. 1 have no doubt of it.

Mr. DUPRE. How long was this Montgomery fleet being built-—

or rather how long were they being converted?
Mr. Martin. I don't think they occupied more than six weeks in

being converted.

Mr. DUPRE. When were they being constructed?
Mr. Martin. I think in January, or about there.

Mr. MAXWELL. Do you mean that they were completed then, or

in progress of conversion ?

Mr. M It was about that time they were being fitted out.

Mr. MAXWELL. Do you know when they were completed ?

Mr. M. Some time in March, I think—I have no distinct recollec-

tion of the precise time now—they were »just completed before the

bombardment of Fort Jackson.
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Mr. DUPRB. With your knowledge and experience of the city

within the last 20 years, do you beheve you could have got, at any
time, from September to April, 500 good workmen, if you needed them ?

Mr. M. I beUeve I could.

Mr. DUPRE. Were these yai'ds pretty busy in peace times?

Mr. M. A portion of the time, tolerably busy; another portion of

the time, there was very little doing. During last summer we were
doing very little, except in the wiay of the Oi-dinary steamboat repairs,

which are done annually, until the conversion of the Montgomery fleet

commenced. Hughes, however, was building two boats for the Gov-
ernment at that time.

Mr. SEMMES. Before the blockade, Wfere they busy-^I hl^an when
the city was in a flourishing condition?

Mr. M. They were, sir.

Mr. SEMMES. After the blockade Was established, all these hands
were out of employment)

Mr. M. A large number of them were, and a large number Went into

the army.
Mr. DUPRE. Was thei^e not pi-etty e'xtehsive business in that line

going on in Algiers?

Mr. M. Not so much in building, as in the repairing hue. We had
eight dry-dorks, which were constantly supplied with business.

Mr. DUPRE. Did you evet visit the boat ^Mississippi ?

Mr. M. I did once.

Mr. SEMMES. When was that ?

Mr. M. About 10 or 15 days before she was launched. The master
ship builders over in Algiers were requested by the committee of safety

to visit her, to ascertain whether or not the vessei ought to be launched.
Mr, SEMMES. VVho were these master ship builders?

Mr. M. There was Mr. Hughes, Mr. Valette, Mr. Mackey, Mr.
Peter Marcy and myself.

Mr. SEMMES. What appeared to be the state of forwardness of

the Work on the vessel ?

Mr. M. The work seemed to he progressing rapidly. They had a

large number of rneu at v/ork on her 'at that time, and seemed to have
a supply of everything they wanted. They said however that they
were detained for the want of shafting. The object in inviting us to

visit her was, to ascertain whether it \vas necessary to launch her. It

was said, as the water had risen, that she would be likely to settle, or

that the bank might break away, and the consequence was that they
called us in to say whether it was necessary for her safety to have her
launched.

Mr. SEMMES. State what you did, and what was the result?

Mr. M. We went and examined her. At that time the water had
risen up to her water mark, and had overflown her ways which were
placed under her ready for launching her before the water had risen.

The water was within 30 feet of her bows; and from our knowledge of

these batlures in the river, We recotnmehd^d the vessel to be launched
as soon as p(*sible, as we had'knoWU instances where n bank had risen

between the vessel and the river, afe tv'iSis the case in legard to a vessei

called " Walk in the Water." reji&ired by Mr. Majrcy sbrne years «go.

We based our report on the fact, that Mrhen th'e water is up in the
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Mississippi, this balture will sometimes lili, and at otiiei- times may
take a notion to break away. The batture that the vessel was on was
a making hattiire, and we came to the conclusion that if the bank again

broke away, it would, in all probability, fill up and make a bar on the

outside of her, so that she could not begotten out at all before, the

water fell.

Mr. SEMMES, How many men, when you went there to examine

the vessel, were at work upon her?

Mr. M. I could not tell the number; but tiiere was evidently a large

number—indeed , I might say an ample number.
Mr. SEMMES. As many as could conveniently work upon her?

Mr. M. Yes, sir. About 10 or 15 days before the fall of New Or-

leans, we had commenced some boats for the defence of the Cumber-
land and Tennessge rivers, at the instance of Lieut. Brown. The
Lieutenant came over to us one day and requested that we would send

over to the Mississippi as many men as we could to assist in finishing

her. Each of the master workmen sent over as many as they could

spare. I sent over I think 16, and the foreman and the other master

workmen sent over perhaps an equal number, and some perhaps more.

Mr. SEMMES. At whose instance did you say they were sent

over?
Mr. M. Lieut. Brown made the request. We were building boats

for him at the time. This was about the time the bombardment com-

menced .

Mr. SEMMES. Do you know what facilities existed in New Or-

leans for the purpose of constructing the shafts necessary for that

steamer?
Mr. M. Well, I was in Mr. Clark's foundry one day seeing about

some machinery that I was getting^ him to set up. I saw; him forging

a large shaft, and I asked him what it was for? He told me the Mis-

sissippi. I asked him if he could not have made all the shafts for her;

and I put that question, knowing there was great blame on account of

the shafts being wanted. He told me he could, if he had the contract

for them. He put up a steam hammer and a furnace, which would

enable him to complete work of that character. With these facilities

he said he could finish all the shafts, if he had the contract for them.

Mr. SEMMES. W^hich is the largest establishm-ent in New Orleans

engaged in the manufa-cture of machinerv?
Mr. M. Leeds & Co.

Mr. SEMMES. Could they have put up a hammer and eo.nstructed

these shafts in ample time, if the contract had been given to them at a

proper time?
Mr. M. I presume so. They can do almost anything in their v/ay,

if they had Sufficient inducements offered to them.
Mr. SEMMES. They have a very large establishment, have thev

not?
Mr. M. Yes, sir; the largest establishment in Lornsiana.

Mr. SEMMES. Does it require a long time to put up a steam ham-
mer to manufacture these shafts?

Mr. M.I have no personal knowledge as to what time it would take;

but it seems to me that it took Clark but a short time to make these al-

terations.
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Mr. SEMMES. Are Leeds & Co. engaged lu ihe Limiiulacuire ui"

engines ?

Mr. M. They are, sir.

Mr. SEMMES. ' They are engaged in the niaiiufacture of machinery

of all kinds for steam boats?

Mr. M. Yes, sir.

Mr. SEMMES. What is the comparative extent of their estabhsh-

ment to that of Clark &. Co.?

Mr. M. The foundry of Clark & Co. is quite a new establishment,

not being more than two years in existence. That of Leeds & Co. is

of long standing, and has the advantage of having a large variety of

patterns, machinery, &c., the accumulation of nearly half a century.

Clark's foundry is a small one compared with that of Leeds & Co.

Clark was once foreman with John Armstrong.

Mr. SEMMES. With your knowledge of the extent of the two estab-

lishments, don't yon think that Leeds & Co. could have^manufactured

all the necessary machinery more rapidly than Clark?

Mr. M. It is a common saying among the community about the city

of New Orleans—in fact among the planters, that if you v/anted a piece

of machinery with expedition, send to Leeds &- Co. They were looked

upon as the most reliable men to have work done by. They have al-

ways borne a very high reputation for conducting their business prop-

erly, and executing work expeditiously and well.

Mr. SEMMES. What other establishments, are there besides Leeds'

and Clark's, for the manufacture of machinery?
Mr. M. . Bennett's, on the opposite side of the river; Gretna, oppo-

site the city; and then there is John Armstrong; Bennett 6c Largis;

the Shakespeare Foundry, besides a number of small foimdries. I will

mention another, that of Kirk's, which built the machinery for the

Mississippi.

Mr. SEMMES. What sort of an establishment is that?

Mr. M. That is a large estabhshment, not so extensive, however, -as

that of Leeds tt Co. It would about class with Clark's.

Mr. SEMMES. Do you know whether there was any difiicuity

among these froundiy men in getting workmen to construct the ma-
chinery ?

Mr. M. I never heard any complaints upon tlie subject.

Mr. SEMMES. Were you in the city at the tim^ of the iail of New
Orleans ?

Mr. M. I was, sir.

Mr. SEMMES. Do you know whether many steamers were lying

about the river a [e\v days before?

Mr. M. Yes, sir; a large number.
Mr. SRMMES. Of what description?

Mr. M. Of all descriptions ?

Mr. SKMMES, Tug boats, steam boats, *fcc.?

Mr. M. Yes, sir; there was a large number of up river boats.

Mr. SEMMES. Was there steam power enough there to have towed
the Mississippi up the river?

Mr. M. Yes, sir. There was steam power enough there to have

towed four or live vessels, such as the Mississippi, up the river, if prop-

erly employed.
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Mr. SEMMES. Were any of tliern burned on the day the enemy
arrived in front of the city?

Mr. M. Yes, sir; there was a large number burned. As the enemy
came up around the point, I happened to be at my ship yard. The
river was soon one mass of fire—steam boats, tug boafs, barges, ships,

were all commingled in the general conflagration, the Mississippi being
among the number. I was standing right on the extreme point, where
I could hav^ a good view of the river, and I saw all that v;as passing.

Mr. SEMMES. Did you see many steamers leaving to go up the
river?

Mr. M. I did not. I was at a point where 1 could not see them
going up—I was immediately on the opposite side of the river at the
extreme point on the Algiers side; and during the forenoon and the

night before, I was very busily engaged in destroying property that
might be of advantage to the enemy. I was engaged up to the very
moment that the enemy came round the point, taking down the frame
of a boat I was building.

Mr. SEMMES. Did not some steam boats leave the next day?
Mr. M. I think not, sir. There was one boat, the St. Charles,

which I was told had hold of the Mississippi endeavoring to low her
up, but v/ithout effect. After the thing had been given up, the Captain
brought her down to the steam boat wharf to make some arrangements
with the owners. In the mean time the enemy's vessels came and
hoisted the Yankee flag over her. That was in the afternoon , after the
enemy's fleet settled around the banks of the river.

Mr. SEMMES. Do you know whether any of our large class Mis-
sissippi steamers had been lying there before the fall of ^ew Orleans?

Mr. M. Yes, sir; there was tlie Peytona, the William Morrison,
and quite a number of other steamers, whose names I cannot now re-

member. They all ^aid about, from the triangular building up-to Jef-

ferson City, and a good many lay over on the Algiers shore. The
William Morrison, at the time that I speak of, was there. She came
down the river on fire and struck against the Canal street ferry boat,
setting her on fire. Immediatel}'- after she struck her she glanced off,

whereupon one or two others and myself went on. board and put the
fire out. The William Morrison was a very large boat.

Mr. MAXWELL. You speak of an abundance of ship-carpenters
being in New Orleans—can you give any approximate estimate of the
number?

Mr. M. Well, to give you some idea of the number. that were there,
1 will remark that before the war commenced we did a large business
there in repairing and other work. Each of our- yards usually em-
ployed from two to four hundred mechanics.

Mr. MAXWELL. How many yards were there?
Mr. M. Eight, I believe. The work slackened somewhat, even be-

fore the war; but whenever we wanted men, we could get any number
we wanted. Even after the commencement of the war, and when the
work increased by the fitting out of the Montgomery fleet, we could
get all the men we required.

Mr. MAXWELL. Did many of the workmen volunteer into the
army?

Mr. M. Yes, sir; the best of our young men joined the army.
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Mr. MAXWELL. Do you know whether or not; a good many
workmen were taken off to other places where vessels were being con-
structed—Pensacola and Mobile, for instance? Were not some ship

carpenters taken to Memphis ?

Mr. M. No, sir; none that I know of. I know that a man came
down from Memphis to employ ship carpenters for work at that place.

I think very few went there, because the wages offei;ed was not more
than they were receiving at New Orleans.

Mr. MAXWELL. Were these men unemployed during the time

spoken of?

Mr. M. There was a large portion of the time that two or three of

the constructors had very little to do.

Mr. MAXWELL. About what time ?

Mr. M. Along from the 1st of October during the winter.

Mr. LYONS. I understood you to say that you had been on board

the Mississippi?

Mr. M. Only once.

Mr. LYONS. When was that?

Mr. M. About 10 or 15 days before the fall of New Orleans.

Mr. LYONS. What appeared to be the state of the work then?
Mr. M. It appeared to be progressing very rapidily.

Mr. LYONS. Were there as many hands upon her then as could
be advantageously employed ?

Mr. M. It looked so to me. Judging from appearances, there was
a large number of men at work. The iron seemed to be rapidly going
on around the knuckles of the vessels. .

Mr. LYONS. You said a man could hate gone out from New Or-
leans and gotten 4 or 500 hands ?

Mr. M. No, sir.

Mr. LYONS. What number did you say?
Mr. M. I said that we were in the habit of employing from 2 to

•400 hands in each of our yards.

Mr. LYONS. That was a different answer. In answer to Mr.
DupRE, did you not say that between certain periods, you could get a
large number of hands?

Mr. M. No doubt of it.

Mr. LYONS. By '^ hands," do you mean mechanics or laborers?

Mr. M. 1 mean the various description of hands that are fit to work
upon a vessel.

Mr. LYONS. Such hands as would be fit to work upon war
steamers? -

'

Mr. M, Yes, sir. All the hands employed upon war steamers, are

not necessarily mechanics.
Mr. LYONS. At what time could those men be procured that you

refer to—in what month ?

Mr. M. It could be done in almost any month in the year.

Mr. LYONS. Of the last, or present year?
Mr. M. At any time before the fall of New Orleans.

Mr. LYONS. Were there generally as many as 4 or 600 unem-
ployed mechanics ?

Mr. M. No, sir, not generelly unemployed.
Mr. LYONS. Then, if you went out to get them, you should get

them from other establishments^
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Mr. M. I never went out myself to get them—I generally an-

nounced to my foreman that I wanted handS; and he would go and
get them.

Mr. SEMMES. Would they come from some other establishments?

Mr. M. I could not say. ,
^

Mr. MAXWELL. Is it not the case among ship-carpenters that

they have a preference for some yards ?

Mr. M. Yes, sir. For instance, men who have been in the habit

of working for me, if working any where else, would come back to

me when I need them. They regard it as a compliment to go to those

with whom they have been most employed. When we get out of

work, they then go to others.

Mr. LYONS. Do you know whether the work on the Mississippi

or the Louisiana was at any time suspended or iniperfectly carried on
for the want of hands ?

Mr. M. I do not, at least of my own knowledge.

Mr. MAXWELL. I want to know whether, when ship-carpenters

are wanted for work, they would, or would not be more likely to go to

old established yards, rather than to new establishments?

Mr. M. I always found it so.

The CHAIR. Do you live in Algiers, or New Orleans?

Mr. M. I live in Algiers.

The CHAIR. Were you often in New Orleans ?

Mr. M. Every day. : .

The CHAIR. On which side of the river -^jpere the boats Missis-

sippi and Louisiana built ?

Mr. M. On the New Orleans side.

The CHAIR. Did you not often see advertisements for mechanics
for those boats, or hear of calls for mechanics ?

BIr. M. I heard of no calls being made for laborers. I have known
men to be sent to our side of the river to get men to go there.

The CHAIR. Did that happen within your knowledge, more than

once ?

Mr. M. I can only remember one particular fact in connection with

that matter. We had a battalion over there of volunteers, made up of

the workmen of the different yards, and we were even in the habit of

having battalion drill on Sunday morning. On Sunday morning at

battalion drill, some of the men in my company told me that these men
came over there from the Mississippi, soUciting the workmen to go over

there. At that time, there had been a stand out among the workmen
for higher wages ; and the master workmen on our side of the riverj

thought that the wages we were then giving—$3 a day—^was sufficient,

and we stood out at that. The men told me that an agent had been

sent over there from Mr. Pearce, the naval constructor, telling them to

come over to his place the next morning, and that he would give them
$4 a day; on that, some of our men quit, and went over there. I have
heard the men frequently say, that they had been solicited to go and
work upon the Mississippi.

The CHAIR. Was there any vessel of war ever built in New Or-
leans prior to this war?

Mr. M. No, sir; not that I am aware of.

11
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The CHAIR. Did you build ocean steamers and sailing vessels

Jiere?

Mr. M. Sailing vessels, tow boats and river steamers have been
built there; but no ocean steamers.

The CHAIR. Wliy did they burn the steamers then to which you
have referred ?

Mr. M. I suppose to prevent them from falling into the hands of the

enemy.
The CHAIR. Why did they not carry them up the river ?

Mr. M. I should suppose they ought.

Tlie CHAIR. Bid any of them escape up the river that you know
of?

Mr. M. Yes, sir; a number of them.

The CHAIR. Did as many escape as were bnrnt ?

Mr. M. I should think so. Those that did escape, topk time by
the fore-lock. On Thursday, when they ascertained that the enemy's
fleet had passed the forts, parties interested in these vessels took them
away.
The CHAIR. It was Friday morning that the enemy's vessels

came up?
Mr. M. They arrived about one or half past one.

The CHAIR. Was it known at Algiers on Thursday morning that

the enemy's vessels passed the forts ?

Mr. M. Yes, sir. 1 heard it about 7 o'clock on Thursday morning,
but I suppose it was known in the city before that.

The CHAIR. Why did^not the owners of steam "boats at the wharf
then take them up*^ the river ?

Mr. M. I can't tell you. It seems to me they had ample time to

take the boats up the river, and save a large amount of property that

was destroyed.

The CHAIR. Was there ample material in the shape of wood for

building vessels in New Orleans from September last until April?

Mr. M. The timber is not in New Orleans. It is brought there from

the adjacent country.

The CHAIR. Was there ever any deficiency of timber?

Mr. M. W'e could always obtain materials very readily—of course

it took time to get it accumulated.

The CHAIR. Was it green or seasonegl ?

Mr. M. We generally got it green for hurried work.

Mr. MAXWELL. Do you know whether the builders of the iMis-

sissippi made any effort to get work done at the foundries which they

could not get done ?

Mr. M. I do not know whether they did or did not, because I was
not about when they were doing their business.

The CHAIR. You say that there was generally an average of from

two to four hundred hands employed at these different ship yards in

times of peace ?

Mr. M. Yeg, sir.

The CHAIR. What was the number that was diverted from that

sort of labor by going into the war, and other ship yards since the war
begun?

Mr. M. I could not tell you.

The CHAIR. Can vou form an Wca?
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ever we had work to do, we always could get hands ia two or three

days to go to work at it.

The CHAIR. Did you do any work for the fjfovernment?

Mr. M. Yes, sir. 1 fitted up one of these vessels belonging to the

Montgomery fleet. I fitted up the vessel *^' Dry Dock " into a battery,

and I also fitted up tlie Sumter, of the Montgomery fleet.

Mr. DUPRK. On account of the blockade and the suspension of

trade from the west, was there not a number of steamers laid up on the

Algiers side that had no hands upon them?
Mr. M. There were, sir.

Mr. Felix Senac, Paymaster, who was examined on yesterday, was
again recalled to answer the following interrogatories, put to him by the

Secretary of the Navy, through the CiiaIr.

1st. Question. < How did the expenditures for and on account of the

construction of the Mississippi compare with those made for the

Louisiana, the vessel at Memphis, and other public works at that time

at New Orleans, that you have knowledge of?

Mr. Senac . I paid on account of the Mississippi so far $ 198,000, atiii

there is still an outstanding account of some $10,000 or $12,000* I

ixiid on account of the two steamers built at Memphis, one of which
was burnt, ^138,000. t know of no other public works at New
Orleans than the Mississippi, with which I have had any connection.

1 hardly know how to express an opinion upon the relative expen-
ditures for the Mississippi and the other steamers, from the difference

in the size of the vessels—I think the Mississippi ought to have cost a
great deal more money than the Louisiana. '" ;' -

;

2d. Question. You have spoken of the conduct of the Messrs.

Tift in constructing the vessel—you will please express your judgment
whether energy, zeal, ability and industry were or were not exhibited

by them in this work ?

Mr. Senac. 1 consider the conduct of the Messrs. Tift as the most
energetic, and their devotion to this work the most extraordinary that

I have ever seen in the prosecution of any work that I have ever

known.
"

3d. Questimi. If you know the circumstances of the arrest, the

examination and the release of the Messrs. Tift, resulting from the

destruction of the Mississippi, please state them.
Mr. Senac. I was in the same boat with these gentlemen. We

aitived at Vicksburg on Sunday, the 2$th of April, I think. While
lying at the landing a gentleman appeared on the guard of the boat and
stated to the passengers that nobody would be allowed to land from her;

intimating that there were persons on board of a dangerous character.

The people appeared to be very much excited there. There v/as a
large crowd on board the boat. We all knew each other on board ilv-

boat. It struck me at first that it was simply ridiculous. When we
hauled into the wharf the Provost Marshal's deputy came on board
and enquired for the Messrs. Tift; on seeing them he placed them
under arrest. There was great excitement on the part of the whole
crowd— I thought actually the people of Vicksburg had all gone crazy.

They told these gentlemen that they had to go ashore, and as soon as

they landed, I heard an officer clothed in Confederate uuitbrm cry out
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ill a loud tone of voice, thai there were many other rascals in the Uoii-

federate service who ought to be hung. 1 went up and asked him his

address—I told him that as a citizen his conduct was very censurable,

but that as an officer it was disgraceful—that he sought to excite the

people to murder two gentlemen of irreproachable character. He
asked me who I was; I told him I was an officer of the Confederate
States Navy. He then said, he did not intend this remark for these

gentlemen. I told him it was very extraordinary that he should have
made such a speech. I asked him to whom he intended to apply the

remark. At that stage of the conversation some one interrupted us. 1

wgntup and saw the Provost Marshal, and insisted upon knowing upon
whose charge he arrested these gentlemen. They all looked upon the

Tifts as criminals of the deepest dye, and there was some difficulty in

preventing them from being hung. I insisted upon knowing the order

upon which these gentlemen were arrested. After some delay, he pro-

duced two telegraphic dispatches from New Orleans—one from Mr.
SouLE, directing the arrest of the Tifts, without specifying the charge
against him—another from some other person of whom I never heard
before, stating that the Tifts burned the Mississippi. There were a

large number of Navy officers on board the boat who intended to leave

the following morning, among whom were Capt. Whittle and Capt.

Sinclair. I was perfectly conversant with all the orders and circum-
stances connected with the burning of the Mississippi, and I was more-
over satisfied that Capts. Whittle and Sinclair could show that the

Tifts were entirely innocent of the charge. I insisted that the Provost
Marshal should hold an examination into the matter at once. He
stated that he was unable to do so, but would give no reason why. I

enquired what he intended to do with them, and he said he intended
to imprison them until farther orders. I enquired whether there was a

Military Governor in Vicksburg, and was informed that there was. I

went to seen him, and mentioned to him all about these gentlemen

—

my knowledge of their character, and all the circumstances connected
with the Mississippi. He then had them brought before him, and
Capt. Whittle, Capt. Sinclair and Lieut. Fauntleroy appeared as wit-

nesses. It v/as clearly shown by them that these gentlemen had
nothing to do with the burning of the ship. He still insisted on hold-

ing on to them, because he thought there might be some other charges
against them not mentioned in the dispatch. I said I would be respon-

sible for their appearance anywhere. They then made Capt. Sinclair

responsible for their appearing before Gov. Pettus of Mississippi. They
went off that afternoon.

4th. Question. Do you know whether funds called for by the Navy
Department for the naval service in New Orleans were or were not
promptly received there ? If not, state the cause of delay, if you know
it.

Mr. S. I know that the funds were not received promptly. At the

request of the committee of safety of New Orleans, 1 investigated the

matter myself. I went to the office of the navy agent and the oflice

of the paymaster of the station, and got the dates of the requisi-

tions of funds, the dates of the notices in the Navy Department,
notifying them of the payment upon these requisitions, and the dates

wheu they received these funds from the Navy Department. In every
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case ttie answer of the iS'avy Depaitment was within a day or two ol

the time that the requisition should have been received here in due pro-

gress of mail. In many cases there was a delay of from four to six

weeks, and sometimes two months between the date of the notice from
ttte Navy Department and the date of the letter of the treasurer trans-

mitting the drafts upon these requisitions.

Mr. LYONS. You say that in many instances there was a delay of
six weeks and two months sometimes in the transmission of the draft

by the treasurer of the Confederate States, after he had been required

to do so by the Secretary of the Navy. Was that what you mean ?

Mr. S. Yes, sir. My recollection is rather at fault as to the number
of limes it occurred. There was a delay of two months, I think, in

one or two instances, as near as I remember,
Capt. Arther Sinclair was again recalled to answer interrogatories

put by the Secretary of the Navy through the Chair.
1st. Question. Was not the passing of the forts by the enemy un-

expected by the authorities at New Orleans ?

Capt. Sinclair. Yes, sir, I think it was. There was a telegram the
very afternoon before the fall of thecity from Col. Duncan, to the effect

that he felt himself fully able to hold out against the fleet of the enemy,
and 1 judge so moreover from the fact of the treasure not being moved
from the city until the day the enemy passed the forts. It was sent up
on board the St; Phillip.

2d. Qxiestion. You speak of the expediency of having kept the
Mississippi at New Orleans for completion. Did you not expect either

to complete the vessel, or to have her in a manageable condition before

the enemy would reach New Orleans ?

Capt. Sinclair. I certainly hoped to have completed her; and, as 1

mentioned yesterda}^ or the day before, I placed on board some three or
four guns which were there from the station. I requested Mr. Pearce,
the naval constructor, if possible, to iron that ship forward and aft im-
mediately, and to get on her everything to enable her to fight. I was
informed by Mr. Pearce that it was utterly impossible to get the iron in,

inasmuch as the port frames had not arrived. It was my intention to

have made resistance even by the side of the wharf, if the enemy came
upon me before I could get her off.

3d. Question. Was or was not the Mississippi in all respects a new
conception as a vessel of war, and when completed what would have
been her character and efficiency ? •

Capt. Sinclair. She was entireh^- a new conception, and a remark-
ably fine vessel, and very formidable, in my opinion. I am satisfied

that she could have, as 1 before stated, kept that river clear against the

blockade. The vessel, -as I have said, was entirely a new conception.
She was a ship that was most creditable to the country, as far as my
judgment goes.

4th. Question. What effect did the destruction of the Mississippi
produce on Mr. Nelson Tift?

Capt. S. Mr. Nelson Tift wept in my presence very bitterly when
he saw the flames burst from her ports. He was very much afTected,

and, as I said, shed tears when he saw the flames burst forth from her.

5th. Question. You speak of the offers of the committee of safety

at New Orleans to aid in completing the Mississippi. State what the

committee said to you on the subject, and your re])lies ?
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cepted it. I told them they could assist me in a variety of ways. I

requested that they might send on immediately an agent to try and
hurry the guns along, which I heard were at different points along the

road; and that was done. I also suggested to them, as I had no pow-

der there, and doubted whether the Government had any on hand,

that they would endeavor to get me 40 or 50,000 pounds of powder

from Havana, that I watned to get my magazine in good order^ and have

everything ready, so that there would be no delay when the ship was

turned over to me, to bringing her into action. This they promised to

do. I also requested their aid in closing up all the grog shops in the

neighborhood of the vessel. I found that great delay was occasioned

to the work by the men's going out and getting intoxicated. This, the

committee promised to do, but it was never done. I suggested the pro-

priety of placing a guard at the gates leading to the yard, to prevent the

men from going out, unless upon a permit from myself or the Messrs.

Tift, or some one else who might be authorized to give it; but the sug-

gestion was not carried out. The committee, I will say, agreed to

furnish everything that they thought would expedite the completion of

the ship, and I cheerfully availed myself of every offer they made,
liaving that tendency. They sent on an agent for the guns, but it was
too late. I found some of them at Jackson, on my way to Richmond.
Mr. DUPRE. How many guns were there intended for her?

Capt. S. She had a mixed battery, llie original guns intended for

her were used for the Louisiana, she being in advance of the Mis-

sissippi.

Mr. DUPRE. Were there not two 7-inch rifle guns that ybu saw at

Jackson?
Capt. S. I think there were.

6th. Question. Look at these instructions marked "A" and '^'B,"

and say if you received them.

A.—[copy.]

Confederate States, Navy Department, j

Richmond, March 2lst, 1862.
)

Com. A. Sinclair, Norfolk, Vu.

Sir: You will turn over your instructions relative to gun boats, to

Commander Nuse at Wilmington, and proceed at once to New Orleans,

Lind report to Commander Mitchell for the command of the iron-clad

steamer being built there by the Messrs. Tift.

This will, it is expected, prove a very formidable vessel, and every
]jossible exertion must be made to complete her at the earliest moment.
You will at once take such measures in conjunction with Comman-

der Mitchell and tlie Messrs. Tift, as your judgment may approve, for

having her battery, ordnance stores, crew, coal and provisions, <fcc.

ready, so that she may not be detained from active service a day. You
v/ill ploasevadvise me fully, and the Department relies upon your

energy to expedite the work in every possible way.
I am, respectfully, vour obedient servant,

[Signed]
'

S. R. MALLORY,
Xgnqnpi Secretary of the Navy.
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Richmond, A^ml 5th, 1862.

Per Telegraph.

Comnjander A. Sinclair, C. S. N., Netv Oilcans

:

Capt. Whittle is instructed to urge on by night and day, without
sparing men or money, the completion of your ship. From you and
your officers extraordinary exertions are expected. Exert every means
in vour power that loyalty and money can command to get her ready.

[Signed]
^

.S. R. MALLORY.
Secretary of the Navy.

The CHAIR. Did you receive these instructions ?

Capt. Sinclair. I received them, and if 1 am not very much mis-
taken, I received several others to the same effect, and in addition to

that order, which I received to go to New Orleans, 1 received a telegram
informing me that these orders were on the way to Norfolk for me.
There was another matter that I should have mentioned in connection
with the acceptance of the offer of the committee of safety. Mr. Ellis

offered to procure ns men, and assist in getting a crew for me; and I not
only accepted his services gratefully, but I had a gun put upon a plat-

form myself, for the purpose of exercising my men, so that when the
ship was completed, they might be familiar with their duties, and become
efficient all at once.

Comm,odore Hollins was next recalled to answer the following in-

terrogatories put by the Secretary of the Navy through the Chair:
Question. You speak of the ship whicii the Messrs. Tift were build-

ing as the most formidable in the world. Please state your judgment
of their conduct, their zeal, industry, good faith and energy in the con-
struction of this vessel.

Com. HoLLiNS. Well, sir, I speak of them in the very highest terms.
These gentleftien were attentive to their work, morning, noon and night,
1 have seen them in their office after 12 and 1 o'clock at night, attend-
ing to their duties; and, early in the morning, I always saw one of
them on board the vessel. I was very much pleased with their con-
duct. They took a great deal of interest in forwarding the work, and
did so with a proper view to economy, as far as I could see.

Question,. You say that there was at times a scarcity of money, but
that the Navy Department was not to blame for that. Were you not
aware that the cause of the delays attendant upon filling their requisi-
tions was at the treasury, and not at the Navy Department?
Com. HoLLiNs. That was my impression. I did not know posi-

tively that that was the case. There was a general report that they
could not get the notes signed fast enough to supply the Department.

"

Question. You speak of your fleet up the river as the McRae, Liv-
ingston, Maurepas, Gen. Polk and Ivy. Where was the Tuscarora,
Ponchartrain and the Floating Dock, with the Red Rover ?

Com. HoLLiNS. The Tuscarora caught fire going up, and was left

behind. The Floating Dock had gone up to Island No. 10, and there
was blockaded by the enemy. The Red Rover was a boat more for the
men to live on board of than for active service. She belonged to the
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Floating Dock, and was merely used for the accommodation of the men
to live in. She was not armed at all. If I did not state that the Pon-
chartrain was there, it was an accidental omission. '

,

Question. You say that you ordered powder at ^3, and that the

Department revoked the order. From whom did you order it ? Did
you notify the Department or the ordnance office thereof, and when and
by whom was your order revoked?
Com. HoLLiNs. I bought it without informing the Department. I

informed the Department afterwards, however, and the Secretary spoke

of the very high price that I had given for it. I cannot exactly say

that my order was revoked, but such I considered the effect of the dis-

satisfaction expressed by the Department at the price which I paid for

powder. I don't think I had purchased any powder that was not paid

for when the bills were sent to the Department.

Question. When you say they never got powder for less, what do

you mean ?

Com. HoLLiNs. I refer to pOwder that came over from Cuba. The
price to which I refer was $2.50 a pound.

Question. You say that you think the idea of economy was carried

rather to an extreme in being very severe on you for giving a high price

for powder. Was not that powder inspected by Lieut Minor, ordnance
officer, and Was not about 6,000 pounds of it rejected as worthless, the

balance, 8,000 pounds, kept and paid for ?

Com. HoLLiNs. No, sir. That powder I never bought, and I was
not in New Orleans when it was inspected.

Question. You state that you had four boats with nine guns each,

and one with two guns; that you could have brought 20 of tliese guns
to bear ahead, and that these guns were 7-|--inch rifle, and 8-inch smooth
bore guns. Please state what vessels had 9 guns each, how many 7|--

inch rifles you had, and where you got them ?

Com. HoLLiNS. I Avas in error when I said they carried 9 guns each;

the Gen. Polk, the Maurepas, the Livingston and the McRae. The Ivy
carried but two. i do not recollect how many 7-?T-inch rifles I had, or

how many smooth bore. I think all the guns came from the Depart-

ment, with the exception perhaps of one or two of the rifle guns that

we got in New Orleans. I am not positive that there were four of these

vessels that had 9 guns each.

Question. Did the naval operations at New Orleans suffer for the

want of coal?

Com. HoLLiNS. No, sir.

Question. You speak of having seized a quantity of coal, and of its

having been returned by order of the Department. Look at these let-

ters and telegrams, marked ^^A," ''B," ^- C," ^'D"and f^' E," and
say whether or not they were received by you.
"The following are the telegrams and letters referred to :

[A.]

'' RiCHivioND, Oct. 16th, 1861

.

Per Telegraph.

Capt. Geo. N. Hollins, C. S. N., New Orleans:

Employ means to get coal best calculated to get it at lowest price.vand



S9

buy it all. District Attorney says 12 boat loads to be sold on the 24th,
and more afterward ?;.

S. R. MALLORY,
Secretary of the Navij.^'

' ^Ri^cHMoxD, \a .,, Oct. 19th , 186!

.

Per Telegraph.

Capt. HoLLiNS, C. S. N.

:

Take prudent means to obtain all the coal for Naval use.

8. R. MALLORY,
'

Secretary of the Na^vy,'"

" Richmond, Oct. 23d, 1861.
Per Telegraph.

.

Capt. Geo. N. Hollins, Commatiding at New Orleans:

Yours in relation to coal received. Take prudent measures to obtain
all you can for Naval purposes. Did you receive my dispatch of the
16th.

S. R. MALLORY,
Secretary of the Navy.''

The CHAIR. Did you receive these dispatches?

Com. H. I did, sir.

The following is letter •' D," referred to in the question :

.

[D.]

CoNFfiOERATE StATKS NaVY DEPARTMENT, 7

Richmond, November 22d, 1862, 3

Flag Officer George N. Hollins,
Oommandin£ at Neio Orleans:

Sir: Commander John K. Mitchell has been detailed to aid you at

New Orleans, and th« Department expects that you will ,at once adopt
measures to insure that regularity, system, and economy in expendi-
tures which are always essential, but never more urgently defmanded
than at this moment.
Your attention is again called to the request repeatedly niade, as weU

by the Department as by the ordnance officer, to furnish a list of your
guns. I desire to send you a supply of rifled guns, but have not been
able to learn what you have or what yau require.

You were directed by telegram yesterday to purchase no more steamers
without authority from the Department.
Having purchased the " Gros-tete " and " Lizzie Simmonds " with-

o^ttt first obtaining authority, and having proceeded to convert them into

gun vessels, your purchase has been approved; but as aj^ropriations

for this purpose are limited , and expenditures must be kept within them

,
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you will in every instance, report the case to the Department for its ac-

yoii. No inconvenience to the public service can thus arise, so long as

we have the use of the telegraph.

The expenditures in New Orleans far exceed for every object and in

every case all estimates and calculations of the Department. For ex-

ample: You recommended the establishment of a laboratory, and sug-

gested that ^5,000 would be sufficient to establish it, and in my letter

of the 27th of September, you were authorized to ^' arrange your labora-

tory, and proceed to get up your shell, shot, fuzes, and fire-works," and

in the schedule of items submitted by the Navy agent, I find an esti-

mate of Mr. Kennons for ordnance already contracted for of ,'|120,000,

and another for ordnance of ,f26,000, making ^140,000 under this

head alone.

In the accounts for fitting up the ^^Gen. Polk," just presented, I find

that the vessel cost .4^8,000, and the repairs, alterations, <fcc., ^52,459 99;

and the items for the work upon the McRae, included in the statement

accompanying Paymaster Nixon's requisition of the 10th instant,

amounts to considerably over $8,000.

The Department is aware that the prices of all necessaries are greatly

enhanced, and is aware, too, of the difficulties in the way of organizing

an efficient Naval force at New Orleans, but the condition of the public

treasury admonishes us that for these very reasons, unusual care and
circumspection in the expenditures must be observed.

Your attention is directed to the regulations governing Navy agents,

to be found on page 28 of " Instructions for Navy Yards " of the United

States, articles 1 to 13 inclusive, which are adopted by this Department,

and must be observed, as well as aViy other regulations embraced in the

instructions which can be made applicable to the station under your
command, and as it is presumed many of them can be. A copy of

them is herewith enclosed.

The commanding officers of your vessels are generally within one

day's communication, and they must be required to make formal re-

quisitions for all articles, repairs or expenditures, the necessity of which
must be determined, and the amount of which must be controlled by
you.
The steamer Jackson in your report of the 12th instant, is reported to

be in bad condition. It is presumed that this vessel might be discon-

tinued as a gun boat, and to be retained to tow one of your docks.

This would dispense with the purchase of a steamer for this purpose

forP0,000.
The Department hoped ere this to have been able to express its ap-

proval to you of your seizure of coal, but the parties in interest have
brought the matter before the President, and you will be advised of his

decision.

Your proposition to purchase forty coal barges, light-wood, &c., for

fire ships is approved, and you will proceed with all dispatch to arrange

them. Care, I presume, will be necessary to keep them separated to

guard against incendiary traitors.

Your predecessor was authorized to employ a clerk at the rate of

$!900 per annum. The Department was not aware that you had ap-

pointed a secretary. You are entitled to one when afloat, and his salary

is fixed at one thousand dollars (.^1,000) per annum. (See pay table

Unii?d States Register.)
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You will comply wiih the iu8Utictioii.s ol tiie uidjiauce olKctir, tu ibr*

ward statements monthly of all ordnance stores and equipments on
hand, and also all contracted for; and you will make no further con-

tracts witiiout submitting them to the Department for approval.

The appointments of acting masters named in yoKr letter of the 29th
ultimo, are approved, as also the acting gunners. In making acting

appointments in the engineer corps, you will confine yourself to the

grades of third and second assistants, and you will divide the appoint-

ments named between these grades.

I am, respectfully, your obedient servant,

S. R. MALLORY,
Secretary of the Ncfcy.

The CHAIR. Did you receive that letter?

Com. HoLLiNs. I did.

Letter E reads as fdlows

:

[E.J

CoKFEDiiiiATE States ^Xavy DEPARXMiiHT, ^

Riclimond, December 3d, 1 861 . jT

Flag Ofticer George N. Hollins,
Commanding at New Orleans:

Sir: In reply to your several communications in relation to coal, the

Department gives you the following instructions, which, it is believed,

will relieve you from embarrassment upon the subjeot. Ypu are re-

quired to secure an adequate supply of coal for the Navy at New Or-

leans, including vessels and work shops.

You will retain possession of the coal which you seize. If posses-

sion of it has been surrendered, you will act as follows: You will call

upon the holders of coal to sell it to you for the use of the Navy, and if

they agree to let yoit have it at a fair price, you will at once make the

purchase. If they shall refuse to sell it, except at a price which , in

your judgment, is unreasonable and exorbitant, ytou will propose to re-

fer the question of price tw arbitrators mutually chosen, the price then

ascertanied to be paid and received for it. Should they refuse to sell,

or refuse to have the price determined in this manner, you will inform
them that by virtue of the power of the Government to take private

property for its service, and in view of the indispensable wants of the

Naval service, you will take possession of the coal under the authority

of die President, and will proceed at once to do so, and inform the

Department accordingly.

1 am, respectfully, your obedient servant^

S. R. I^L\LLORY,
Secretary of the Navy.

The CHAIR. Did you receive that letter?

Com. Hollins. I did, sir.

Questioti. Is the telegram now shown you, your announcement of

such seizure ?

The following is the telegram referred to;
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''New Orlbaxs, Oct. 2ith.

To Hon. S. R. Malloky, Secretary of ike Navy:

I have seized all the coal afloat—say 800,000 barrels. Send me six

hundred and fifty thousand dollars to pay for it.

GEO. N. HOLLINS."

The (JHAIR. That was your telegraph.

Com. HoLLiNs. Yes, sir.

Question. Is the statement now shown you, dated the 24th January,
your report of coal purchases in New Orleans to that date ?

The following is the statement referred to

:

Commandant's Offick, ^
Naval Station, Neav Orleans, >

January 24, 1862. }
Hon. S. R. Mallorv,

Secretary of the Navy, Richmond, Va.:

Sir: In accordance with the Department's communication of I3th

inst., I to-day place before it a correct statement of the coal transaction,

under the Department's insWctions of the 13th ultimo

:

Barrels.

Amount of coal in New Orleans ... 1 12,827|-
" on its way to New Orleans 34,000
" at Bayou Sara 1.5,026
•' at Baton Rouge -. 26,014
<' on board the Livingston 1,750

Total amount on hand 1 89,617
'

' delivered previously 12,548

1 have paid for the above as follows: 34,479 barrels at $1.25 per bar-

rel, the market price of the article the day of purchase and ever since.

17,000 barrels at $1,05; amounting to :|1 7,850 00
146,327| barrels at il; '' '^ 146,327 25
14,360 barrels at 75c.

;

'' '- ' 10,770 00

177,687]- barrels, at Ji^l74,947 25
Add to this expenses lor towage services, labor and con-

tingences 6,476 00

Total price for 177,687:J barrels f181,423 25, showing an average
price of ,$;1.02} per barrel. At the present market value of coal, the

amount purchased would increase to the sum of $222,108 2.'5. From
these figures it will be made apparent that an amount ot .$40,685 has
been actually saved for the Department.

I am now endeavoring to procure about eigiit thousand barrels,

beached on the banks of the Mississippi, at the rate of .^1 per barrel.

Hoping that the above transaction may meet with the Department's
approval, I remain, very respectfully, your obedient servant,

GEO. N. HOLLINS, Flao- Officer.
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The (JHAlJi. Js that your repojt ?

Com. HoLLiNS. It is, sir. 'd .!<«>:.

Question. Did you not receive the following letters, njarked <':F,"
<' G " and ''• H," portions of which refer to powder?

F.—[copy.]

Confederate States Navy Department. )
Richmond, Decemher ISth, 1861. \

Flag OJicer Geoege N.Ti6i.L.ms, •

Commanding at New Orleans—
Sir: Your letters of the lOth and 12th instants, have been received.

Your explanation of the charge of J|1,000 by the owners of the
'' Alonzo Child " is sufficient, and payment will be made. The De-
partment deplores its inability to give you an ample supply of powder.
Every exertion to obtain it, has been, and is being made, and it Is

hoped that success will speedily attend them.

In the meantime, you will neglect no opportunity to purchase pow-
der. To obtain an article of such prime necessity, the Department is

unwilling to limit you to a price, and fixesupon ^l per pound rather as

an indication of its views than as a limit to your discretion.

The Mobile papers give an account of a cruise of the Florida, in

which she fired eighty times at a Federal gun boat at long range; and
if true, it is to be regretted that the timidity of the enemy should have
caused so great an expenditure of powder to so little purpose.

You have been fully instructed under date of the 13th instant, as to

buying the Manassas, and you will not probably require further in-

structions on the subject. In her attack upon the Richmond, her 9-inch

gun was not fired. Would not a shell fired into her just before the colli-

sion, have been very damaging?
The ordnance oflicer will communicate with you on the subject of

your guns.— I am, respectfully, your obedient servant,

[Signed] S. R. MALLORY,
(Secretary of the Navy.

The CHAIR. Did you receive that letter?

Com. HoLLiNs. I did, sir.

G.

—

[copy.]

CONFKDEUATE StATES NaVY DePARTAJENT, /»

Richmond, January llt/i. 1862. <)

Plug O^/'ce;' George N. HoLLiNS,
Commanding at New Orleans—

Sir : I desire to call your attention to the protracted stay of tlic

Florida at Mobile, where she can render no possible service, and to the
expediency of instructing Lieut. Hays accordingly.
The Secretary of War having agreed to accept the cannon powder

recently carried to New Orleans, at $2 per pound, 'this Department is to

have 10 tons of it at this price, and the agent of the War Department
will bo instructed to turn it over to von.
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You wiU please report aL uuce to the Department, the annament and

Citations of your barges^ and what service they are rendering. The
Livingston I presnme, must be ready, and you will report her condi-

tion also.

You will send such vessels as you can spare lo Colinnbus to aid Gen.

Polk.

Your letters lo the Department are not sufficiently in detail as to your

operations, and you are requested to afford more full information thereof.

So soon as Commander Mitchell's report shall arrive, you will be in-

fo]"med upon the subject of <^onstructing at once two more steamers on

the lake shore.

. A'ery respectfully, 3^Gur obedient servant,

[Signed] S. R. MALLORY,
Secretary of the JSacij.

'j'hc (JHAIR. Did you receive that letter ?

Com. Hollies. I did, sir.

H.

—

[copy.]

COAI'EDERATE StATES NaVY DEPARTMENT, }

Richmond, January 18th, 1862. <j

Flos' Officer Geokue N. Itollin*,

Commanding at NeiD Orleans—
Sill : You were authorized yesterday by telegraph to deliver the re-

ceiving ship 'SSt. Phillip," to Mr. Addison Camraack, of New Orleans.

The following are the terms upon which she is turned over to him,
viz : He is to put her in order for a voyage to Havana, to purchase

a return cargo of 100,000 pounds of powder, and from o to 5,000
stand of arms; to furnish them to the Department at whut they cost

him in Havana— to supply her place with a vessel satistactory to you,

and lo return her in good condition at the end of tlie voyage.

1 am, respectfully, your obedient servant,

[Signed] - S. R. MALLORY,
Secretary of the Nacy.

V. S.—The above arrangement to extend to two other voyages at his

option.

ThcCHAllL Did you receive that letter?

Com. UoLUNs. 1 did.

'J'hc Jill lowing is the telegram referred lo in that letter :

i\.\c\^Mo:^y) , January \.2th) 186*2.

Per Telegram.

Fhty (Jfftcer fjir,oiu>i; A. Hollia';;^,

Commanding at New Orleans :

Take 10 tons of the powder.
[Signed] S. K. MALLORY.

Secretary of the Navy

'I'lie CTlAili. Did you receive that telegram

?

( 'Om . HoLLiNS. I did , sir.



. Qucslio?i. You speak of havjng left your command and gone to

New Orleans at the request of Capt. Whittle. Look, at the letters

marked; '' I," <•' T " and "^ K/' and say if you received tliem'^

L

—

[copy.]

C. S. Navy Department, )
Richmond , Va. , April Sth , 1 SG2. \'

Flag- Officer Gkqugk N. Holltns,
Commanding' Naval Defences, Mississlpi River,

Memphis
f
Tcnn. {To heforwarded.)

Sir :

% c* *, # # #- ?:# # # # #

This vessel is a novelty in her construction, and the Department re-

lies upon you to make her formidable to the enemy. Strike a blow
when and where you can; the harder the better. At this distance f^om
the scene of action, 1 cannot attempt to direct your movements in de-

tail, but having entire confidence in j^'our zeal and professional ability,

I can only enjoin you to watch the enemy, and to assail and destroy

him whenever you can.

1 am, respectively, vour obedient servant,
* [Signed] "

. S. R. MALLORY,
^Secretary of the Nar^y.

The CHAIR. Did you receive that?

Com. HoLLiN?. I did, sir.

v.—[copy.]

Richmond, Ajml lOth, 1862.

Per Telegraph.

Flag Officer George N. Hollin,*^

Memphis, Te?i7i. ( To be forwarded to Fort Pilloiv:)

Dispatch of to-day revoked. Co-operate with the army; harass and
annoy the enemy. Employ your squadron to the best advantage, but
do not go down the river as you propose without overwhelming neces-

sity, and first advising me. Your duty is to do all in your power to

resist the enemy's descent of the river.

[Signed] S. R. MALLORY,
Secretary of the Navy.

[copy.]

RictiMOND, April 10th, 1862.

Flag Officer George N. Hollins,
Foi^t Pillov), Tenn:

I hope the Louisiana will leave New Orleans and join you imme-
diately. She was to have been ready to-day. The ship built by Tift,

called the Mississippi, will join you at the earliest moment. Your pro-

position to quit the enemy and to go to the mouth of the Mississippi,
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cannot be entertained. You must oppose his descent of the river, and

his movement of vessels and troo.ps at every step.

[Signed] S. R. MiiLLORY,
Secretary of the Nwry.

The CHAIR.. Did you receive that?

Com. HoLLixp. I did, sir.

K.

—

[copy.]

Richmond,, Va., April Wtli, 1862.

Per Telegraph.

F/«^ Q^cer George N. HoLLiNs,

Care Capt. Wm. C. Whittle, Command'mg at New Orleans:

Your dispatch received yesterday, proposed to abandon opposition to

the enemy's descent of the river by your fleet, and to carry your fleet

to the mouth of the river. This proposition is totally inadmissible;

every efibrt that nautical skill, invention, and courage can put forth

must be made to oppose the enemy's descent of the river, and at every

hazard.

You inform me that you have gone to New Orleans at the urgent re-

quest of Capt. Whittle. You will therefore send these orders to the

senior in command of your squadron by telegraph. The Louisiana

must ioin your squadron at the earliest practicable moment.
[Signed] 8. R. MALLORY,

Secretary of the Navy.

The CHAIR. Did you receive that ?

Com. HoLLiNS. I did
J
sir.

Question. Look at these dispatches of the 9th and 10th of April,

and say whether you sent them?
'' Fort Pillow, April 9th, 1862.

To S. R. Mallory:

These boats of the enemy are heavy iron gun boats, either one of

which are heavier than all of mine: have passed Island No. 10. 1 see

nothing that I can do against them in a fight. My vessels might ren-

der good service at the mouth of the river. I await your answer.
GEO. N. HOLLINS."

Com. H. I sent that telegram.

'rBATON Rouge, April Uth, 1862.

To Hon. S. R. Mallory, Sec'y of the Navy :

Sir: At the request of Commander Whittle for my immediate

presence in New Orleans, I determined to proceed thence to Mont-

gomery. Fleet is on its way up the river. Will you order mine down
the river? 1 can render effective service below. Commander Pinck-

nev is in charge of the vessels at Fort Pillow.

GEO. N. HOLLLXS, Flag Officer.''

The CHAIR. Did you send ihnt ?

Com. H. I did, sir.
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Question. Did you leave your command near Fort Pillow with or

without the Department's authority ?

Com. H. I left it without the Department's authority.

Question. What supply of powder had you when you went up tho
river in January last ? •

'

Com. H. I could not tell you exactly the quantity. We did a great

deal of fighting, so much so that I felt always a delicacy in attacking
' one of the forts, being fearful of getting out of powder altogether. So
apprehensive was I of running out of powder, that I telegraphed at one
time to the Department, stating that I was short of powder. I received

a reply stating that I would soon be supplied.

The CHAIR. My attention is called to the telegraph here, telling

vou to take ten tons of powder with you. This dispatch is dated

January I2th, 1862.

Com. H. That I believe was before I left New Orleans. We had
not ten tons there at the time; but I got all the powder I could.

Mr.. SEMMES. When you say that, what do you mean?
Com. H. We had not ten tons there for the Navy. We were,

however, expecting a supply there.

Question. You speak of the enemy's vessels' guns in broadside

—

did not the enemy's vessels all have pivot guns to train ahead ?

Com. H. I don't know. I only know that the Richmond had not
a pivot gun . I believe the other sloops of war were similarly circum-
stanced, and had not, I think, any pivot guns.

Question. You say that you told the Secretary if you had been
allowed to do what you proposed, yon would have whipped the enemy's
squadron. Please state what was it you proposed, and when and to

whom you proposed it.

Com. H. 1 never proposed it to anybody. 1 only said that if I had
been permitted to go down, I should have whipped the enemy. I did
not propose it, as 1 have already'said, to anybody. I only mentioned
it in conversation with others. \ said also that I thought the enemy's
vessels came up as it was pretty severely handled. I did, in telegrams

of the 9th and 11th of April, propose to the Secretary to take them
down.
Mr. SEMMES. You had also a conversation, I understood you to

say, with the Secretary, after you came on here.

Com. H. Yes, sir.

Question. If you ever made a proposition to whip the enemy's
squadron, state where and to whom it was made.
Com. H. That question, I believe, I have already answered.
Question. Did you ever make a suggestion or recommendation for

the defence of New Orleans to the Department that was not adopted,
and if so, what was it?

Com. H. No, sir; I never made any that was not adopted, with the
exception of sending the squadron down to the mouth of the river.

On motion of Mr. Dupre, the committee then adjourned until half-

past 9 o'clock on Friday the 19th inst.

13



FRIDAY, Sept. 19, 1862.

The Committee met at half past 9 o'clock.

Present—Messrs. Clay, (Chairman,) Lyons, Maxwell, Poote, Boyce,

Semmes, Peyton and Barksdale.

Lieut. Bjeverly Kennon was called and sworn.

Mr. SEMMES. You were a Lieutenant in the Navy?
Lieut. Kennon. Yes, sir. ,

Mr. SEMMES. When were you assigned to New Orleans ?

Lieut. Kennon. On the 25th of July, 1861.

Mr. SEMMES. What was the duty to which you were assigned ?

Lieut. Kennon. A week after I arrived there, I was assigned to the

ordnance department—that was about the 1st of August.

Mr. SEMMES. What was the condition of things with regard to

the Ordnance at the time you arrived there, and what did you under-

take to do?
Lieut. Kennon. There was nothing there in the way of ordnance.

There was no preparation made for the making or manufacturing of

anything to my knowledge.

Mr. SEMMES. What did you undertake to do?
Lieut. Kennon. I undertook to fit out the ordnance, and I did it.

There was not a cartridge bag furnished to the McRae. I commenced by
making cartridge bags for her, and from that time, I found I had every-

thing to do. I commenced with light ordnance. I had to make the

models for all the sabots, shell and shell-shot, and in fact everything

that is used in a navy ordnance. I also had shells made for muskets and
Mississippi rifles, as well as hand-grenades, filled with gun cotton and

Greek fire. I had also made what are termed liquid shells for rifles and
other guns. These I invented myself, together with the rocketts.

These things they stopped me from making on account of the expense

of getting them up. I don^t know that any of the musket shells were

made after I left New Orleans. I know that some of the hand-grenades,

some of the liquid shells and the primers which I hai made ther e, were

fiirnished to the army. 1 furnished thousands of munitions of

different kinds to the army. Different kinds of shells which I ordered

to be made were also furnished them. These were the shells that I

was subsequently prevented from making. I found when I afterwards

returned to New Orleans, that the only 13-inch shells they had, were

those made by me in August, and used at Fort Jackson. I hlad no as-

sistance at that time, and of course that made the duty doub y onerous

upon me. Everything being scattered throughout the city, T wascom-
j)elled to move constantly about to different points to see that all was
going on well. Sometimes officers would come from the lake for

supplies, and sometimes from the river, and I had to attend to all. The
Government, however, ordered me away, because of the heavy expen-

ditures I had incurred. I. was ordered to a subordinate capacity—that

of second Lieutenant, when my juniors were left in command of other

ships—men who were not even Lieutenants, and that because I had

taken on my own shoulders the responsibility to spend all this money
in New Orleans. I knew if I allowed myself to be tied down by the

rules of the office, I never would have done anything. I told the Com-
modore if he authorized me, I would take the responsibility of doing
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what 1 thought was necessary; and 1 did it. For this, the Secretary

condemned me. When I returned to New Orleans some four months
after I left, they had just cast one gun of the nurpber that I had ordered
some six months previous. One was cast there, and then all was
stopped. The Government became displeased because 1 purchased
block tin at 25 cents, that was afterwards sold at about |5. I also

bought flannel at from 30 to 40 cents a yard, that was sold afterwards

at from $2 to $2.50. I got zinc at about 20 cents for making powder
tanks. This zinc went up afterwards to 68 and 87 cents. I mention
these things to let you see my reason for purchasing so many articles at

that time. At first when I made the, contract for guns, the hire of la-

borers was very much less than it was afterwards.' I had guns made
then for 11 cents a pound. The Government had subsequently to pay
13 cents. The first contract was made in August, soon after I went to

New Orleans.

Mr. SEMMES. When did you leave New Orleans?
Lieut. Kennon. On the 28th day of November I was ordered away

from New Orleans. I got permission however from Com. HoUins to.

remain, because there were a great many bills that I was to see after.

In the meantime I was ordered away by the Secretary, but Commodore
HoUins told me to remain, and I did so. I think I erased about thirty

or thirty-five thousand dollars that had been overcharged in bills. I was
afraid at one time even to take that responsibihty, as I thought the De-
partment would be angry with me. I took the chances, however. On
my return here I thought to explain everything connected with my
operations in New Orleans to Capt. Buchanan and the Secretary of the

Navy; but I was afforded no opportunity to do so. I had but five

minutes to decide whether I would submit to an indignity or resign,

and I did resign. I tested about 35 guns, some of which I mounted
on the lakes, some on the river, and others on the forts; and when I

resigned and returned to New Orleans, Gen, LoveJl placed me, I may
say, in charge of the heavy ordnance. I tested all the heavy colum-
biads, and had before frequently tested, sighted and mounted a number
of other guns. I sighted all the rifle guns in- Fort St. Phillip and Fort
Jackson. These things had not been done Avhen I first commenced
the work in New Orleans. Soon after 1 went there, I went to the Com-
modore and stated to him that it would be a good plan to allow me to

have guns made. I said to him, if you disapprove of them, why we
can immediately suspend further operations. If you approve of them,
it will be so much time saved. He told me to take charge of the matter.

I was subsequently ordered away six times, I believe, but the Commo-
dore kept me there.

Mr. SEMiMES. I heard you were charged with extravagance.
Lieut. Kennon. I consulted with many ladies and gentlemen, and

they advised me, if I should get these things at all, to get them then.
Mr. SEMMES. When was this ?

Lieut. Kennon. In August and September. I purchased at that

time 1,000 yards of flannel, and in a few weeks after I purchased
34,000 yards) the price in the meantime having advanced two or three

cents a yard. The firm of McStea, Value & Co. advised me to pur-

chase all I could get, and I bought a large quantity of them. The only
things, I think, I made a mistake in purchasing, were guns and pistols.
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1 tried to purchase fine weapons, but the Commodore said he did not
feel authorized to pay the price demanded, and made me get very cheap
guns and pistols. 1 did do so, and neither one or the other is worth
much. I was then ordered to get cutlasses. A man offered to make
them at from ^5 to $7; but the Commodore refused to take them, be-

cause he did not feel authorized to pay that price for them. I ihen had
them made of case knives ; but they did not appear to as good advan-
tage as the others would. Everything else gave satisfaction. These
cutlasses we used but for a short time.

Mr. SEMMES. What was the total amount of your expenditure?
Lieut. Kennon. It was between half and one million. If the con-

tracts had been filled, they would not be short of a million. There
were 86 guns of assorted sizes ordered, which were very expensive.

Munitions cost a great deal. Sometimes I got powder for nothing.

Then again it cost me as high as $3 a pound, and sometimes I bought
5t at $2 and ^2.50. I went to men who had it in their stores, and if

they refused to give it at a fair price, 1 would seize upon it. This I did

in some instances.

Mr. SEjMMES. If these things had been purchased at a later period,

what would have been their prpbable value ?

Lieut. K. I don't think you would have gotten them for three mil-

lions of dollars. In the first place you cannot now buy block tin,

which is necessary for the manufacture of brass guns, because you use'

10 parts of tin to 90 parts of copper, and unless the tin is pure block

tiu, yoii cannot make a gun that will be serviceable.

Mr. SEMMES. Did you purchase a large quantity of tin?

Lieut. K. J engaged and purchased enough to make 36 brass

guns. Twelve were ordered, and but one made. Leeds <fc Co. had
the order to make them, and though I had the block tin for that pur-

pose, they had to give them up. . The Government or the State, or both,

bought that block tin afterwards for the making of field pieces for the

service of the State or the Confederate States.

Mr. SEMMES. Were any engagements or purchases made by you
ever rescinded or ordered to be returned ?

Lieut. K. Not to my knowledge. I heard that an order to that

effect had been given, but I cannot say whether or not it was earned
out, I know I bought flann.el enough to last for some time. When I

returned to New Orleans, I saw a bill for 687 yards of flannel, amount-
ing to ;$687, and 1,080 yards, amounting to .'$1,080. I noticed these

two items, because I had a few w«eks previous purchased the same ar-

ticle for from 30 to 40 cents.

Mr. SEMMES. At what period did you return to New Orleans?
Lieut. K. On the 1st of March. I went there to engage in priva-

teering on my own hook. When I returned, I found that the vessel I

intended to get was sold. I had a consultation with Col. Black, a

friend of mine, on the subject. He went to Charleston to purchase a

vessel, and I remained in New Orleans to get a battery, and while
there, I was employed by Gen. Lovell for duty in the ordnance de-

partment. T subsequently went on board the Gov. Moore, which
had been oflered me by tiic Governor of Louisiana. A month afler,

I was a pvisoiiBr.

Mr. SEMMES. Were you in the battle ?
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Lieut.'K. I was, sir, and 1 sunk the only vessel that ^v*ds sunk

—

the Veruna.
Mr. BOYCE. What AAras tlie number of your crew?
Lieut. K. Ninety-three J

and out of that number, I lost 74.

Mr. SEMMES. Suppose Com. HolHn's fleet had been brought
down there to engage the enemy with what force was there, do you
think he would have made any successful resistance?

Lieut. K. I have no doubt he would have whipped them two to one
in that position.

Mr. SEMMES. Explain your views as to how that could be
accomplished ?

Lieut. Kennon here prepared a rough drawing of the position of the

forts and vessels. It will be found marked "A " on the opposite page.

He then went on to explain

—

The two forts are situated on the opposite banks of the river, and
under each fort lay a portion of the Confederate gun boats. The
enemy's vessels attempted to pass between the two forts up the centre

of the river. This they attempted to do, because the forts could not
fire at them without endangering the gun boats on the opposite banks;
which the forts did. In this position, they were exposed both to the

fire of the enemy and to the fire of our own forts. When the enemy
succeeded in passing the forts, they passed our gun boats; two of them
being disabled. There were then but very few small guns left to dis-

pute their passage up to the city. But if our gun boats had been placed

at the head of the reach, the enemy's vessels would then have been
under a cross fire of the forts, and the fire of all our squadron to the

distance of four miles down the river, and four miles up. Then should
any vessel have succeeded in passing our vessels at the head of the

reach, this battery would have commanded the river for four miles up.

But situated as they were, when the enemy reached the point at the head
of the reach, they were entirely out of harm's way, and the way was
open to them to the city. I also recommended to Gen. Duncan, and I

know he got that letter—to fill up all this space with fire rafts and fire

ships, and permit the enfemy, if they choose to do so, to come between
the forts before he opened fire upon them. All these fire ships, with
fire rafts above j,hem, would have driven them out of the river, without
the firing of a gun. But no notice was taken of this suggestion. The
Louisiana at the head of the reach, could of herself, in all probability,

have kept a number of these vessels down because her battery of rifle

guns would have commanded the approach. Another battery of heavy
rifled guns commanded the reach. But lying where she was,
under Fort St. Phillip, with her guns only able to move directly up
and down, and directly across, the enemy were enabled to come up and
pass the forts, without her being able to train her guns so as to bear
properly upon them. In this attitude, the only chance she had of
firing upon the enemy was, when they were actually above Fort Jack-
son. The Louisiana could not fire her battery that was pointing up
the river until the enemy came to the head of the reach, because she
was so situated with feference to our disabled gun boats, that in firing

at the enemy she would have struck them. The battery near the shore

Avas of no use to her. I don't know that she ever used the battery

pointing down the river. The only battery used to my knowledge in
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the light, was the one pointing over on the Fort Jackson side. To
give an idea of the service that ship could have rendered, I will remark:

that the Hartford whilst lying close beside her—in fact almost touching

her, fired a broadside into her with 9-inch shot, and failed to penetrate

her. In addition to the Louisiana, we had 13 other gun boats, eight

or nine of which were fitted out for the express purpose of running into

vessels—in other words, to act as rams. For a short distance on their

bows they were clad with iron, which was thick and strong enough to

strengthen that part of the ship. Now if these vessels had been

placed at the head of the reach, the instant the enemy succeeded in

passing the forts, each one could have selected a ship, and in all pro-

bability, sunk her. But being closely packed together along the side

of the river, they were not only in each other's way, but had not

even room to turn; nor had they space to give them velocity enough to

strike with sufficient force to do any material damage. Attempts to

strike were made in two or three cases, but they failed for want of

space to manoeuvre in. After the enemy passed the forts, there were
about 17 guns left to contend against the force brought against us. To
give you an idea of the awful odds against us, I will state that when I

surrendered, I had sunk one ship, and seven others were firing upon
me—the whole seven mounting 118 guns, a large majority of which,
were 8,9 and 11 -inch.

Mr. SEMMES. I asked you particularly as to what the r^^ult would
have been, if Hollins' fleet had been down there?

Lieut. K. I cannot answer about his fleet, because many of the ves-

sels were fitted out after I left New Orleans. I saw but one of them at

New Orleans, and she had been into a number of fights above, and was
pretty well cut up.

Mr. SEMMES. Which was that?

Lieut. K. The Ivy.

Mr. MAXWELL. I understand all you say then to refer to the ves-

sels there at the time ?

Lieut. K. Yes, sir.

Mr. MAXWELL, I understand you to say that these vessels, if

properly handled in this conflict, would have defeated the enemy any
how?

Lieut. K. I think so.

Mr. SEMMES. What 1 wish to attract your attention to is Hol-

lin's fleet. I desire to know from you whether, if that fleet had been
brought down, the chances of successfully resisting the enemy would
not have been much greater than it was ?

Lieut. K. Why, certainly, sir. I don't see how they could have
come up, as it was, if things were properly managed. We drove seven

of their ve.s.sels down. I furnished an account of the aifair to the Sec-

retary of the Navy, and also to the Governor of Louisiana, We labored

under one great drawback, and that was, that Capt. Mitchell had been

in command there only two or three days. Commodore Hollins had
been there before, but was ordered away. If he had been left in com-
mand, I am satisfied he would have whipped the enemy out of the

river, because he knew how everything was situated there, and Capt.

Mitchell did not.

Mr. SEMMES, How do you know?
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Lieut. K. I wrote to Com. Hollins about it. He met me on Canal
street about the 10th of April, and told me to let him know the condi-

tion of things there. I told him lie ought to send down the Louisiana
as she was, and put her at the head of the reach. I remarked to him
that the ship could be sent there without causing any detention in the

progress of the work. I said that the work then going on upon her had
to be done by candle light in the daytime, and operations upon her
could go on as well if she was sent down, as where she was. I said

that the enemy might not attempt to pass the forts for a month, and by
that time the Louisiana would be finished, and that if they attempted

to pass, they could not hurt her. I expressed to him that the Louisiana,

acting in concert with the forts, would be worth ten times more than
if acting by herself. I remarked that she could not travel by herself,

nor could she act as a ram. The Commodore sent his aid down with
me to see Gen. Duncan, and told me if he felt that the suggestion was
right, to let him know. 1 telegraphed to Captain Whittle for fire rafts,

but never received any reply. I telegraphed to General Lovell for fire

ships, and recommended him to take the old ships lying at New Or-
leans, which would be burnt if the enemy got up there. I remarked
that we might as well take them, and that if chain cables were wanting,
I had enough of them.- I offered to take them from the ship I com-
manded, because I could tie them up to the trees. Those I had were
stout cables, so much so, that it would, in my opinion, take the enemy
one hour to cut them. We could sink the whole of them in that time.
To this telegraph I never received an answer. A short time after some
fire rafts were sent down , and I took that as answer. When the fight

was over, and I was going to New York as a prisoner, I counted 17
fire rafts along side the two banks of the river that had not been fired,

nor moved fi-om their original position. I don't know who had charge
of them. One fire raft was taken down along side the ship of war
Hartford, and it set lier on fire. She was immediately run ashore, and
m that position received 60 or 70 shots, and came very near falling into
our hands. This I got from her own officers while a prisoner on board
of her; and if one fire raft did so much service, I would Hke to know
what 100 of them would do ?

Mr. SEMMES. You speak of having a good many guns cast at

New Orleans?
Lieut: K. I ordered a good many there, but few were cast.

Mr. SEiMMES. You say you tested some of them ?

Lieut. K. I tested 13 at one time—six of them were made by Leeds
<fc Co.; one, a heavy 8-inch, was made by Surgis & Bennett, and six
by Bujac <fe Bennett. The six made by Bujac I had to condemn, be-
cause they would not pass inspection, the interior being filled with
cavities, when a single one will condemn any sun. The cavities on
the exterior should not have exceeded the 10th of an inch, but the
holes inside were much deeper than that. I tried the guns, however,
with a heavy charge, and they stood the test. But there was no telling
when they might burst. Leeds' guns have been in u^e up to this time,
and also the 8-inch columbiads made by Surgis <fe Bennett. Some of
them were mounted on a floating battery, and the last one I tested was
sent to Fort St. Phillip. I don't know how many other guns were
made, because there were some made and tested during my absence.
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There was one that I ordered to be made by Leeds <fc Co., and it

bursted at the first discharge, with only a charge of ten pounds of

powder, which, is nothing more than an ordinary charge for that size

gun. I suppose they must have used very bad iron, or there must
have been some very great defect in their furnaces. After I went to

New Orleans in July 1861, there were different air furnaces fitted up
there for the purpose of making heavy cannon, and one or two of them
were in use when I returned there in March.

Mr. SEMMES. What time in March?
Lieut. K? The 1st day of March.

Mr. SEMMES. How long a lime does it require to manufacture a

gun?
Lieut. K. It takes two or three weeks to make the model. If you

have model and all, you cannot get a gun out of the furnace in less

than 14 days from the time the gun is put into the flask. It has to be

bored in the interior and it has to be turned on the exterior; and tken

you have got to take all the roughing off, and afterwards test it with

powder. And even then it is hardly safe, at least within a month. It

is by no means as good as a gun that has been exposed for some time.

, Mr. SEMMES. Is any gun a month old hardly safe?

Lieut. K. You can fire it, but it is not as good as an old one,

although guns are often made and sent immediately on board a ship.

It is not safe for us to adopt that rule, however, because the casting of

gnns is a new thing with these foundries. I think. Surgis makes the

most reliable guns of any founder in New Orleans. To give you an

idea as to how little they know about a gun, I will remark that they

put the trunnions on in such a way upon a gun which they manufac-

tured some time ago, that the preponderance was in the muzzle instead

of the breech.

Mr. SEMMES. That was when they first commenced?

Lieut. K. Yes, sir; They were casting these guns for the Lafayette

Artillery; but I corrected the error for them.

Mr. SEMMES. When was that.?

Lieut. K. Last October.

Mr. SEMMES. Then, if they had to make the model and make the

o-un how long would it take to make one?

Lieut. K. It would take 23 days to make a model for a heavy 32

pounder. If hurrifed out, the gun would afterwards be made in a

week. But there is a great deal of nice work to be done after it is cast.

There are a great many parts about a gun that must be made separate

and all combined afterwards in the model. In.all, I don't think you

could get a reliable gun out from the time you commence making the

model, taking it afterwards out of the flask,.under six Aveeks. It takes

a number of days to turn a model even for a shell. The balls are re-

quired not to be beyond a certain diameter. The minimum measure

must be the three hundredth part of an incii from the maximum. This

requires some lime to be regulated.

Mr. SEMMES. When you make a model for one gun will that

answer for a battery ?

Lieut. K. Yes, sir; for a thousand.

Mr. SEMMES. Having the model made, it takes about three weeks

to make a gun? *
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Lieut. K. About two or tliree weeks, if you have everytliiiig readyj
but I am sure you cannot get a gun ready under two and a half weeks,
even though the model is already prepared. Then you have got to

have a carriage made, and the cost of the carriage is generally about
twice as much as the cost of the gun. A 10-inch gun is worth about
§900, while a carriage is worth $ 1,800, because there is a great deal

of nice work upon it.

Mr. SEMMES. From what you know of the facilities afforded at

New Orleans for the manufacture of guns, could heavy guns have been
constructed there from the month of December down to the fall of New
Orleans?

Lieut. K. They could, sir. I say so, because.I tested oite that was
}rjade within that period, and that gun was used during "the fight in

Fort St. Phillip. It was a heavy 8-inch columbiad. Between the 20th
of March and the attack upon the f6rts, I tested, had rifled, banded,
mounted and sighted 13 heavy columbiads and rifle guns. 1 mention
that to let you see that they did work as quick there as anywhere else.

Gen. Lovell gave me a battery, but I found it was too small. He then
told me if I could get another battery, I could have it. I had the guns
rifled, brought on board and mounted in 48 hours.

Mr. SEMMES. How did you manage to have them put in opera-

tion so quick?
Lieut. K. I made them work day and night until the guns were

finished.

Mr. SEMMES. Who did t^ie work ?

Lieut. K. Leeds &, Co.
Mr. SEMMES. How many guns had you ?

Lieut. K. Tyv^o for that vessel. I commenced work on the guns on
Monday morning, in the month of October, and I left NeAV Orleans
with the battery on Wednesday, at 3 o'clock. This battery consisted of
one 32pound rifle, and one 8-inch columbiad, with a crew of 66 men.
The Tuscarora went into the fight thoroughly equipped in every re-

spect, and I brought her back to New Orleans on Sunday at 3 o'clock.

She is the strongest gun boat on the Mississippi. I tried very hard to

get a steamer there called the Florida, about 750 tons. She is very fast,

and a very handsome vessel indeed. Com. Hollins said he could not let

me have her. I called upon him two or three times after, but he told

me he could not give her up. " The vessel was afterwards sold to the

merchant service. She ran the blockade with a lot of cotton, and was
afterwards captured.

Mr. BARKSDALE. Did he apply for permission to purchase her
for the Navy Department?

Lieut. K. I don't know, sir.

Mr. SEMMES. What sort of machinery did she have

?

Lieut. K. A directly acting screw of about , 100 horse power. It

was said she could steam from 15 to 17 miles an hour, which is equal
to 13 knots. The price paid for her was $68,000. She was offered to

the Government for $58,000. She was about the same size in all re-

spects as the United States steam sloop Pocahontas. Her hull and en-
gines complete, exclusive of guns, cost $106,000.

Mr. SEMMES. You were appointed to the Navy again by the Pres-
ident?

14
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Liieut. K. 1 was appointed Lieutenant to take ranlc below every
Lieutenant in the Navy. I know many that were placed above me who
I am sure never sailed on board of a square rigged ship. I knew many
who had just graduated in the naval academy in their academical
studies.

Mr. BARKSDxlLE. The President and not the Secretary of the

Navy, makes the appointments ?

Lieut. K. The President makes the appointments, with the advice

and consent of the Senate.

Mr. SEMMES. I would like to know whether the Secretary of the

Navy had any agency in your appointment again ?

Lieut. K. I don'tJknow that he had. I know that Gen. Humphrey
Marshall, A\^io resigned-, could not re-enter the service unless he with-

drew his resignation; and permission was granted him to do so. When
I declined this commission, the Secretary said that I had better take it,

that something might turn up after. I declined it, because I would
Have to serve under officers that did not know their duty. I have since

asked him to allow me to withdraw my resignation, but have received

no answer to the request. I did not ask for this appointment. It was
altogether an offer on the part of the Government.

Mr. SEMMES. I thought, from what you told me, that you had
been restored to your former position.

Lieut. K. A lieutenant's appointment was offered to me, but I did

not take it, because I was assigned rank at the foot of the list of lieu-

tenants. ^
Mr. BARKSDALE. You thought you were badly treated?

Lieut. K. Yes, sir. I was charged with spending money without
orders. Captain Buchanan said that I had better be ordered where I

could do no harm.
Mr. BARKSDALE. What right had Capt. Buchanan to make this

remark ?

Lieut. K. He was in charge of the ofiice of detail. I offered to ex-

plain everything to him, but I was afforded no opportunity to do so.

Mr. BARKSDALE. He is the gentleman who commanded the Mer-
rimac in the fight at Hampton Roads?

Lieut. K. Yes, sir. I went to the Secretary afterwards to request

permission to withdraw my resignation, but he refused to have anything
to do with it.

•

Mr. BARKSDALE. You are not serving then in the Navy ?

Lieut. K. No, sir; I have been serving without rank or pay for

nearly nine months.
Mr. BARKSDALE. Then this b^d treatment Avas not after the en--

gagement at New Orleans 1

Lieut. K. No, sir. This offer of a commission was made to me the

other day. 1 was with Com. Hollins when he had the fight at the

mouth of the river. The Commodore asked the Secretary of the Navy
to allow me to remain at New Orleans, and take charge of the ord-

nance, but the Secretary ordered mc away. I then resigned because I

did not wish to take a second Lieutenancy in the Patrick Henry, when
my junior officers had higher command. When I went to Capt. Bu-
chanan to expiain all that I did, he refused me a hearing. I said to him
that I desired to be tried by court martial so that all the facts Avould be
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developed, and his reply was that I should obey orders. 1 did not obey,
and then I resigned.

Mr. BARKSDALE, He thought you did wrong in purchasing these
articles without orders ?

Lieut. K. Yes, sirw I went out in the lake one night and located a
submarine battery a mile from the shore, in six or seven feet of water;
1 had a vessel placed over it, and immediately upon the arrival of the
JN^ew Orleans train at the lake, I fired the battery with electricity from
the shore, and instantly the vessel was blown up. I made many of
these batteries.

The CHAIR. Was any of them ever used against the enemy?
Lieut. K. I don't know, sir.

Mr. BOYCE. Could they have been used to blow up ships at

the forts ?

Lieut.~ K. Yes, sir. They are large iron shells filled with powder.
I used large copper wire covered with gutta percha, and at the proper
time, caused it to explode with the usual galvanic battery. I saw one
of them prepared in Washington some years ago by my father;, and the
first thing I did Avhen I went to New Orleans, was to make one of^

them. I will here remark that there were two 40 horse power engines
in New Orleans belonging to a man named- Phillip Maguire, which I

wanted the Government to buy, but they declined to do so, because
they were too small. In the English Navy, they have plenty of ves-

sels of 20 horse power.
Mr. BOYCE. What made the Yankees put you in irons?
Lieut. K. They did not put me irons; but they kept me in close

confinement. They said T burned all the wounded men up in my
ship. The facts in the case were these: When I found that I had
to destroy the vessel to prevent her from falling into the hands
of the enemy, I ordered the wounded to be placed in a boat, and
all the men who could, to save themselves by swimming to the
shore and hiding themselves in the marshes: I,remained to set the
ship on fire. After doing so, 1 went on deck with the intention of
leaving her; but found I could not do so. As the wounded had been
left Avith no one to take care of them, I remained and lowered them
into a boat, Eyid got through just in time to be made prisoner. The
wounded were afterwards attended by the Surgeons of the Oneida and
Ereka, and two days after that, they were released on parole. I was
sent to Boston, and kept in close confinement, charged with having
burned these men, without making the feeblest effort to rescue them.
When in Fort Warren, the Secretary of the United States Navy wrote
me a letter, asking me to furnish him the particulars of the destruction
of the vessel with the wounded men. I explained to him what be-
came of the wounded men, but I told him that it would not be proper
under any circumstances, that I should give him the particulars of the
destruction of the ship, as it was a matter that concerned my Govern-
ment, and with which his had nothing whatever to do. He addressed
me as Beverly Kennon, and spoke of Capt. Mitchell, as John Mitchell.
1 told him that as he had studiously denied both Capt. Mitchell and
myself not only our official designation, but what common courtesy
required, I could make no further reply to his letter, without failing in
respect to myself and my Government. I was soon after released fiom
pristyi, and allowed the same privileges as the others.
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Mr. SEMMES. Did you ever visit the Mississippi?

Lieut. K. No, sir; I was so busy in New Orleans that I had not

time to go see her. We would have had 30 vessels in the Mississippi

river if we had taken them last year and fitted them up for service.

The State of Louisiana and the city of New Orleans could .have se-

cured some eight or ten others that had been purchased by merchants;

and could have had them fitted up in such a manner as rams, as would

,

I am sure, render them equal to any vessels the enemy would be able

to send against them. But this was neglected. The city took about

16 or 18, and the State two. The rest ran the blockade, and were cap-

tured by the enemy, or burned at the wharf in New Orleans. The
Government took three or four previous to July of last year, before I

went to New Orleans. I took one when I was there in October last

—

the Tuscarora. I asked Com. Hollins a number of times about these ves-

sels, as every one of them had low pressure marine engines, and some
of them had also new screw propellers. The only steamers left on the

Mississippi, with one or two exceptions, were high pressure western

boats, unsuited in every respect for war purposes, the machinery being

so exposed. Then even if you send a high pressure vessel to sea, she

requires so mpch fuel. You must multiply the quantity of fuel to

keep the steam up that she* throws away.
The, Committee then adjourned until half past 9 o'clock.

SATURDAY, Sept. 20, 1863.

The Committee met at half past 9 o'clock, pursuant to adjournment.

Present—Messrs. Clay, (Chairman,) Peyton, Maxwell, Dupre,

Lyons, Semmes, Boyce, Foote and Barksdale.

The testimony of Lieut. Beverly Kennon rendered on yesterday,

was read over in hearing of the witness—the Secretary of the Navy
being present; whereupon, the hour having arrived, (U o'clock,)

when the House of Representatives was to meet, the Committee ad-

journed, on motion of Mr. Maxwell, until 9 o'clock on Monday.

MONDAY, Sept. 22, 1862.

The Committee met at 9 o'clock, pursuant to adjournment.

Present—Messrs. Clay, (Chairman,) Dupre, Peyton, Boyce, Maxwell,

Semmes, Foote and Barksdale.

The testimony of Mr. James Martin having been read to him by
the Reporter, Mr. Nelson Tift was called in, and duly sworn.

Mr. MAXWELL. Have you been engaged in building a vessel for

the Confederate States?

Mr. Tift. Yes, sir; I was engaged in building the Mississippi. I

am now engaged with my brother in the constmction of the Fingal at

Savannah, for the Confederate Government.
Mr.-MAXWELL. When did you commence work on the Mis-

sissippi? •
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Mr. Tift. We received our inslriictions here on the 5th of Septem-

ber, 1861. We were in this city at that time. We went from here to

onr homes at Albany, Georgia, to arrange some business there, and
from thence to New Orleans, where we arrived on the ISth of Septem-
l)er. We commenced at once making preparations to build the Missis-

sippi. We made contracts for timber, purchased bolt iron—such iron,

at least, as we coul(^ get; selected a place for building the vessel; had a

saw mill and blacksmith's shop, and sheds for the workmen built, as

also a foundation for the vessel. We commenced laying the first

plank on the 14th day of October. Mr. Pearce, the Naval constructor,

got there on the 2Tth of that month.
Mr. MAXWELl^. You proceeded at once to get the materials there,

did yon not?

JMr. Tift. We were making contracts for timber, machinery, (fcc,

and were preparing a place to build and making all'necessary arrange-

ments to go on with the work.^
Mr. MAXWELL. Will yoii give us now, as succinctly as you can,

the history of the .progress of that work, the facilities you had and the

difficulties you encountered in getting material, hands, &c.
Mr. Tift. When we got to New Orleans we found there was no

heavy timber in the city that we could use. There had been but little

building of vessels going on there, and there seemed to be a total cessa-

tion to the supply of large timber, and we at once got into communica-
tion with the principal men who deal in timber at New Orleans.

Mr. MAXWELL. At what time was that?

Mr. Tift. Immediately after our arrival. As soon as we got into

communication with the timber commission merchants there, we found
them all very kind and exhibiting a great deal of interest in what we
were doing. They put us at once in communication with all the lum-
ber men that could be reached—those across the lake as well as those

up the railroad. We sent for these men, made contracts with them,
and had soon lumber coming in from all quarters that we could reach.

Notwithstanding all that, we were delayed in the early part of the

work for want of tiniber. Finding that iron and iron fastenings were
very scarce in New Orleans, we at once went round to all the prin-

cipal houses there, and bought all the iron fastenings they had, and
that we could use, for from 3^ to 5^ cents. That was the first price

we paid for it. On the day that we made these purchases, iron rose,

and continued to rise until we left the place. From the commence-
ment of our visit to New Orleans, we were looking around for me-
chanics and persons who would take contracts for manufacturing
engines.. Leeds & Co. had the largest establishment in the city, and
we sought them among the first. They were very much engaged with
work which they had then on hand. They were executing work for

the Government as well as private contracts, and said they were un-
willing to contract for the completion of our work within any specified

time. Their price for making the machinery, was $65,000, and the
shortest time they would name was four months. On looking around
for other estabhshments, we found the Patterson foundry, which had
about the same capacity as that of Leeds & Co. They promised to

complete all the work they had on hand^ with all possible despatch,

and then devote themselves to our work. Their price was $45,000^
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with a bonus that we oflfered to give them, if they would complete the

contract within the time specified, which was 90 days. We con-

tracted with them at that price, but when we subsequently examined
into the character of the machinery suggested for the vessel, we found
that that for which we had contracted, was not sufficient for her. We
consulted the Confederate States engineers, and the principal men en-

gaged in the workshops of Leeds & Co., as well as Mr. S. Saunders,
who was in charge of the machineiy of the Southern Steamship Com-
pany at New Orleans, and they all agreed that the boiler power was
not sufficient, that it would render the vessel inefficient if the design
then contracted for were adopted. We then got up a plan of the ma-
chinery as it was finally built, which was 16 doubled flued boilers,

in two diiferent sets, 30 feet long each.

Mr. MAXWELL. What time was that ?

Mr. Tift. That was early in -October, a few days before we com-
menced the vessel. There were three 11 feet propellers j the center was
50 feet long, and the other two about 4(/ feet each; the engines were 36
inches in diameter, and 2|- feet stroke. We sent for Mr. Warner, who
is considered one of the best of the chief engineers* of the Navy, and
he approved the plan and all the designs of the machinery. He said

if he had the designing of it in the beginning, he would have made
some little alterations,- but in the main, pronounced them very good.

By the by, I omitted to mention, that when we first commenced, we
had no assistant engineer. We got one of the name of Baugh,
who, as we were subsequently advised, did not understand his pro-

fession.

Mr. DUPRE . Who furnished him ?

Mr. Tift. He was assisting in the Navy Department at New Or-

leans, having been employed by Mr. Loper, who is, I think, first assist-

ant engineer, and now assigned to Charleston . He employed this Baugh
as assistant. Baugh was a man who had been familiar with machinery,

and acting, as I have said, in the capacity of assistant to Mr. Loper,

when he was assigned to us by Com. Hollins, under the mipression

that he was a man perfectly capable of advising us in making and put-

ting up the engines. But we found very soon that he was not, and we
then employed Mr. E. M. Ivens, agent at New Orleans, for the Tredegar
Works in this city. He acted as engineer in charge, the work being

subject to the supervision of a Confederate States engineer, who, as I

said, examined and approved the plans of the machinery. The Pat-

terson foundry had their price increased in a rate corresponding to the

additional work necessary to complete the new designs. Their allowance
was advanced to $65,000, and their time for the completion of the

work, extended to the 31st of January. The increased work, I sup-

posed, was quite equal to the amount of increased pay—that at least

was the judgment of Mr. Warner. The cost of the boiler power was
increasetl some !i^8,000, and there was a double instead of a single set

of furnaces. The foundries were not able to furnish the necessary

men, nor were we able to furnish them, to put this work through at the

time they agreed to do so. We tried every means to get them. We
sent to Richmond and got a propeller moulder sent to us, there being

no mechanic in New Orleans competent to do that work. There was
great deficiency of mechanics of all kinds, especially in the machine
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sliops. There was a good deal of Government work on hand at all the

shops in New Orleans, and they were all pressed for hands. We went
to the military authorities and got some released from military service.

We applied to the committee of safety—in fact, I wrote to them myself,

and advised them to take the responsibility of going to the different

shops and selecting men to complete this machinery. They promised
to do anything they could for us. We not only spoke to them, but
wrote them a letter, to go around to these different shops, and get

from them, such machinists as were needed. They did not do this,

however.
The CHAIR. Did you reserve a copy of the letter to which you

refer ?

Mr. Tift. I did, sir.

The CHAIR. Have you got it with you ?

Mr. Tift, No', sir, but I will furnish a copy.

The CHAIR. You refer to that letter then as part of your testimony ?

Mr. Tift. I do. There were difficulties in the way in every de-

partment of the Vi?-ork, especiall}^ in the machinery department. Wo
had sometimes difficulties in getting laborers, sometimes in getting

ship- carpenters, and great difficulties in getting machinery—we had in

fact difficulties in all departments, notwithstanding that we made
application to every source where we thought what we needed could be
obtained . There were more or less delays in all the departments for want
of materials, notwithstanding that we made contracts as far as possible

for everything necessary in connection with the construction of the

vessel. We were sometimes delayed for timber, though we took all

necessaly precaution in, the way of early contracts, to secure a suffi-

ciency of that material. We brought our timber from across the lakes,

and from up the railroad more than 100 miles. We got some, I think,

from up the river, and in fact, every point from which it could be ob-

tained. In the department of iron, there were also difficulties encoun-
tered. We purchased all the bolt iron we could in New Orleans,
Macon, Atlanta, Mobile, Chattanooga, and in fact every place where we
supposed any could bo found. In the department of iron covering,
we sought all over the country for parties who would undertake to roll

iron for this vessel. W^e made a proposition to Scofield ifc Markham
at Atlanta, to change their rollers and furnish it, which they then de-

clined. We wrote to the Secretary, representing the difficulty to/)btain

the proper iron for covering, and he instructed us to use railroaa iron.

We purchased 280 tons of railroad iron in New Orleans at ^37.50 a ton,

imd some at over ^40. Subsequently I went to«Atlanta at the request
of Scofield & Markham, who then proposed to make our plating.

Knowing the desire of the Secretary to have her covered with plate

iron, and the advantage of that description of iron over railroad iron;

having seen an experiment of it, I took the responsibihty of making a
contract at once with Scofield & Markham at six cents a pound if n©t
drilled, a'hd 6i cents if drilled, for plating the entire vessel; reserving
the right to take 1,000 tons or less, as we might need. I informed my
brother at New Orleans, and the Secretary of the Navy, of the contract,
and they both approved it. The Messrs. Scofield & Markham \vent
to work at once, changed their rolls, and went through very rapidly with
the work; and though we encountered many difficulties in procuring



. 112

trauspoitatioii, tlie last of it was on thecai-s at New Orleans the day the

vessel was burnt. The most important item in the construction of the

vessel, next to the machinery, was the shafting. In order to make the

vessel secure, it was necessary that this should be made of wrought
iron. There were no parties in New Orleans competent to make it.

We ascertained that it could not even be made in Richmond, nor in-

deed in any part of the Confederacy. We sought all over the Con-
federacy for shafting already made, and finally procured her the shaft

of a vessel that had been burnt. We got the Tredegar Works, through

the Secretary of the Navy, Mr. Mallory, to convert it into our centre

shafting, and we supposed we had agreed with Ward & Co., of Nash-

ville, to make the two side or quarter shafts. One piece of each of

these shafts, was eight feet long, and the other 33 feet in length, and

9^ inches in diameter. Ward *Sc Co. proposed to put up an aiv furnace

and hammer to make these shafts, and fixed their price at S3,000. I

telegraphed back to them, and stated that if they worked day and
night to make these shafts, I would give them $500 extra, provided

they delivered them at an earlier date. I also wrote them a letter on
the same subject. After detaining us for some time, they finally wrote

that they could do nothing about the shafting. We told the foundry

men, that in case we found it impossible to get the shafts made else-

Miiere, they should make cast iron shafting, and we would risk them—
it was a risk of course. We then went to Mr. Clark, who, at that time,

was preparing to execute a .contract with the Government for making
Armstrong guns, upon which he received a considerable advance. He
commenced to make a large steam hammer, and to put up furnaces,

for which he constriicted a new building. VVe went to him, as I have

said, and asked him if it was not possible for him so to construct

the hammer and furnaces, as to render them capable of making
our shafting. We agreed, if he did so, to leave the price for

the shafting with him, knowing him to be a reasonable and

lionest man. He finally said he would undertake it, but re-

marked that he had no hammer man. We looked around antl

sent wherever we could in order to get one. Mr. Clark discovered that

a man named Robertson, who was getting some machinery at Leeds

for Chattanooga, was a competent hammerman; he prof^ired his ser-

vices, but he subsequently told Clark that lie would not do the work;

lliat he had been several years learning this branch of business, and.

tliat 1:1 was unwilling to teach clerks in that job what he had been so

long learning. JMr. Clark assured us, however, that the shafting should

be made, that they Avould do the work themselves, if it cost them all

ihey weio worth. They went on as speedily as they could, and having

put Uj) the st';;»m hammer and furnace, they Aveni to work at the shafts

sometime in the latter part of March, We went to Le-ids & Co., and

they agreed to take these shafts as soon at> they were forged, put thcni

i«lo their lathes, and work at them day and night until they were

finished. After the first shaft was forged, Mr. Clark sent it to Leeds.

By the lime that shaft was complete, the second one was forged and

immediately put into the lathe and finished. We put the centre shaft

and propeller on board before the vessel was launched; but it was not

connected with the engines. .Some of the machinery was not com-

pleted at that time. The two side propellers were on the wharf at New
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Orleans when tlie vessel was burnt; and the two side sliafts had been
put on board, I think the last of the side shafts Was put on board on
the 23d of April. Some difficulty had arisen about the launching of
the vessel sometime in April. The committee of safety got together.in

secret session, and from some information which they obtained, I sup-
pose from other parties , they believed that it Avas absolutely necessary
that the vessel should be launched. They were of opinion that she
was in great danger of either sinking, or being blocked up by the mak-
ing of the batture. They got together, as I have said_, and passed reso-

lutions that the vessel ought to be launched. They sent us a notifica-

tion to have her launched within forty-eight hours. We at once got

together Mr. Pearce, the naval constructor, the engineers, Captain Sin-

clair, Capt. Mitchell and Mr. Reynolds, an old architect, who has made
the subject of foundations in New Orleans his study for 20 years past.

We had the batture sounded outside of the vessel, and the foundations

of the vessel examined. W^e had taken soiuidings and the line of the

ground where she stood before the work was commenced, and we now
took soundings again with a view of satisfying ourselves fully as to

whether any such danger as the committee apprehended did really exist.

We found that there was no alteration in the batture outside of her.

We applied to the constructor to know if the vessel had settled in any
way; and his reply was, that she had not. We were assured by Mr.
Keynolds, architect, that the foundations were safe. We applied to the

engineer to know what would be the difference of time in the finishing

of the vessel which launching her at that time would occasion. He
said not less than 10 days, and perhaps 15 days. Capt. Mitehell and
Capt. Sinclau' were present when these opinions were reridered, and
they advised us not to launch the vessel. We then got letters from the

parties to the effect stated. I got the testimony together and forwarded
it to the committee of safety, remarking at the same time that 1 hoped
upon examining the testimony they would be satisfied that in not launch-

ing the vessel, we were doing what was best calculated to promote the

interests of the country. They said in the original notice, that if we
would not launch the vessel within 48 hours, they would publish the

whole proceeding. I requested them not to do so, that the true condi-

tion of the vessel might reach the enemy, and induce them to come
there and destroy her. They did not do so. The vessel was launched
some days after, when it was ascertained that the enemy had com-
menced an attack upon the forts below. Capt. Mitchell and Capt. Sin-

clair wrote to us, advising us to launch the vessel so as to be in read-

iness to tow her up the river to some place of safety. Mr. Pearce, the

constructor, was in favor oflaunching the vessel before she was launched,
and wrote a letter to us to that effect. I suppose that the information
which influenced the committee's action, had probably come fi:om him
and others, who were of the same opinion. We wrote an answer to

Mr. Pearce 's letter to the effect that our instructions had been from the

commencement to keep the vessel in a position to be launched at any
liouT that was necessary, and to launch her whenever he saw there was
any danger of injury to her by being kept on the stocks. But until that

time we instructed him to push the work forward with all possible

energy. The first day we attempted to launch her we did not succeed
in doing so. We had three steamers in attendance upon her; but the

15
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necessary an'angem«nts for launching a vessel of that size had not been

made. It was necessary that strong levers and purchases of different

kinds should be prepared to start a vessel of her weight. That was not

do'ne on the first daj^. We had some jacks, but no levers. We hitched

three steamers on to her, but the lines not being sufficiently strong for

that purpose^ gave way, Mr. Pearce that evening set to work to pre-

pare the usual appliances for launching large vessels, and when the ex-

periment was again made, it proved entirely successful.

There has been something said in regard to the fastening of the ves-

.sel upon tile ways. One of the foremen and two of the workmen went
to examine the vessel on the evening of the day that we attempted to

launch her. In the examination one of the. men finding a hole under

the ways, called out to the foreman to know what it was. He told him
to bore into it.. He did so, and bored out a locust pin which they said

had been driven two or three inches into the other way, and that was
then supposed to be the cause of not launching the vessel the first day
we made the attempt. We got two 14-inch hawsers, also levers and
other purchases, and when, everything was ready, I gave Mr. Pearce

the signal to tighten up his purchase. The steamers were ready at the

head of the wharf to start oft". As soon as Mr. Pearce tightened his

purchase, and within less than a minute she was safely launched. The
steamers did not start at all; but had to tear loose the lines that were

made fast to them, for the purpose of letting the Mississippi go off.

A day or two afterwards I was on board the Mississippi with half a

dozen other gentlemen, some members of the committee of safety being

among tVie- number. We were conversing on the subject of the launch

and the fact of this pin being in the ways. Mr. Pearce, who was pres-

ent^, remarked very promptly that that was all a mistake; that there

was no such thing there. He said he made an examination of the mat-

ter, and that he found all right. Mr. Pearce, said I, what makes you

say so? One of our foremen and two of the men said they would

swear to this fact. I don't care, said he; I have examined it, and I am
satisfied it is not so. I said to him, you should have told me so before,

because I believed from what these men said that it was true. Well,

said he, they were mistaken; for what they said was not true. Mr.

Pearce is here, and I .suppose he will give all that transpired relative to

this matter.

Mr. BOYCE. Suppose a pin was there; what inference do you
draw from that?

Mr. T. I should suppose it was put there by an enemy. That, in

my opinion, would be an inevitable inference.

Mr. MAXWELL. If the j^in was there, would it have helped to

obstmct the launching of the vessel ?

Mr. T. Certainly it would. We went on after the launching with

the completion of the vessel as rapidly as possible. The dock for put-

ting in the propellers was completed on the 23d. The iron was going

on very rapidly. I suppose that two-thirds or at least half of the iron

for the sides and quarters, was put or within two days. This iron as

it was received, was all assorted to its place, and the plates of every sur-

face numbered, so that there was no other delay m putting it on ercept

the handling of it. Tv o entire cour€es were put on longitudinally to

break joints, and then the other course was put up and down, and this
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was called the bolting course. The bolts went in alter all the iron was
put on. We were bolting the iron up to the time the vessel was burnt.

We commenced bolting about the 22d. My opinion is, that the whole
vessel would have been completed within two weeks from the time that

she was burnt. That is my judgment. I know there are others who
differ with me; but I believe my means of knowing is better than that

of others. I had the whole design of the iron that was put on her. I

knew how it was going on, and the time it would take. As I said,

eveiy piece had its place. It was all cut to patterns to fit.

The CHAIR. What efforts did you or your brother make to get the

vessel taken up the river?

Mr. T. We had two vessels engaged before the launching of
the vessel, with a yiew to aid in launching her, and to tow her away
in case it was necessary. These vessels were the Peytona and the St.

Charles.

The CHxilR. Did they come to tow her up ?

Mr. T, Yes, sir. The Peytona was in attendance upon us regu-

larly. We were getting hands from the other side of the river. The
ship yards finding that we could not get the necessary hands, volun-

teered to] let us have hands to aid in finishing the vessel, and tlie

Peytona a part of the time brought these hands back and forwards; she
was in fact all the- time since she was first employed, in attendance on
the Mississippi, ' •

,

The CHAIR. Why did they delay so long in taking her up?
Mr. T. On the 24th, between daylight and sunrise, Com. Whittle

came to my room and told me that the enemy had passed the forts, and
that we must make preparations to get the vessel up the river, or de-

stroy her. He appointed Capt. Sinclair at once to take command of her,

and that gentleman with his officers came to the vessel to make prepa-

rations to carry her ofi\ He ordered these boats to come and tow him
off. At the same time, Ave commenced preparations for carrying on
board all the articles necessary to finish her up the river. We Avorked

.500 or more hands f(jr that purpose, and we succeeded in putting on
board all the tools, the unfinished machinery, 6oc. Towards evening'^

these boats came along side. The first boat that cam.e was the Pey-
tona; she lay along side €or s«me time getting up steam. When all

was ready, she moved ofi' with the Mississippi in tow, but instead of
making any headway, she dropped down stream about a mile. About
this time, the St. Charles came up and took hold on the other side.

They started ahead slowly, and soiTie time after 12 o'clock they got her

back to the wharf where she started from. Capt. Sinclair said he
would not attempt with that force to tow her up the river; that it would
be a failure, and that the enemy would undoubtedly catch her on
the river. About that time. Col. Beggs, one of the committee of
safety, spoke in a loud voice, and said he would have two more boats
there by four in the morning. I was on the deck of the Mississippi,

and Capt. Sinclair on the deck of the Peytona. I called out to the
Captain and told him what Col. Beggs said. He told me to send him on
board. I did so, and they had a private conversation, in which, I sup-
pose, the Colonel repeated the offer. The Captain told him he would
wait for the boats. He did wait until dayhght. Being worn out my**

self for want of sleep, 1 laid down after we weBe towed up to the wharf
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and went to sleep. After daylight, Capt. Sinclair went down with the

Peytona to Julia street, which is some three miles horn where the vessel

was built. After some time, I was waked up, and I discovered that

they were wooding up our own boat. It was found that the other .

boats that were relied upon were not available at that time, the crews

having left them. We had about 2 or 300 negroes that were procured

through the efforts of Capt. Gilmer, of New Orleans. We furnished

the Captain with a steamdr, and he went off, visited the neighboring

plantations and got this' force of negroes, whom we employed at night

Avork. They took these negroes from on board, and distributed them
among the other boats. They then started up the river to the Missis-

sippi, with the expectation of taking hold of her and carrying her up
the river.

Mr. DUPRE. How many boats came up?
Mr. T. I think about four altogether. When we came in sight of

the Jefferson City and of the Mississippi, the first thing 1 saw was the

Mississippi on fire. That was the first intimation I had of any order

to burn her.

Mr. SEMMES. When Avas that?

Mr. T. About 8 o'clock on Thursday morning. Nothing could

have shocked me more than that spectacle.

Mr. BOYCE. If they had the four boats to tow her, could they

have carried her up the river?

Mr. T. I believe they could. I had' believed that two boats were *

sufficient. With regard to the destruction of the Mississippi^ we had
no responsibility. Yv'e knew nothing of the order to fire her, until we
saw her on fire. I believe Capt. Sinclair did the best he could to siive

her.

The CHAIR. Did the other two boats come up?
. Mr. T. I don't think they came immediately. I don't think they

came up until the enemy was in view. That is my impression.

The CHAIR. Did they 'then escape up themselves?

Mr. T. They did, sir. *

Mr. SEMMES. Who was in command of the Mississippi?

Mr. T. It was the province of the Commodore of course to take

charge of all naval affairs there, and he atoiKTc put this A^cssel in charge

of Capt. Sinclair, the officer assigned to her. We were citizens merely

doing everything we could lo save the vessel, and making all necessary

preparations to complete her if she was cari'ied off. We got ahuost

everything on board that was necessary to complete her if she could be

carried to some place of safety. We had made arrangements to have
the other articles sent up by steamer or railroad.

Mr. DUPRE. The Navy Dej)artment did not take th'o control of

tlie boat until Capt. Sinclair was assigned to her by Ca])t. Whittle?

Mr. T. Capt. Sinclair was in New Orleans some tliree weeks befojc.

Mr. DUPRE. 1 want to know whether he did not take cl^arge of

her before Capt. Whittle gave the order to try and remove lier, and in

case of a failure to do so, to destroy her?

Mr. T. No, sir.

Mr. DUPRE. Then, I understand she was under your control up
to the morning of the 24lh.

Mr. Tilt. Yes, sir.
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Mr. DUPlvH. You stated that you secured two bouts some time be-

fore she was launched, for the purpose of launching lier, and of tajiing

lier up the river should it become necessary. Had you secured any
other boats at that time ?

Mr. T. My belief is, that my brother had through Mr. Hyde a

promise of two other boats.

Mr. pUPRE. You made no contract at all for any additional boats ?

Mr. T. No, sir, my brother attended to that.

Mr. DUPRE. ' What time did you leave the city?

Mr. T. We left on the Peytona between 12 and I o'clock. We
left after the enemy was reported off Canal street.

Mr. DUPRE. Was your brother on board with you?
Mr. T. He was, sir.

Mr. DUPRE. Do you know Col. Manning of the Governor's stall?

Mr. T. Yes, sir. I had a slight acquaintance with him iu New
Orleans!

The Committee then adjourned until 9 o'clock to-morrow.

TUESDAY, Sevt. 23, 1SG2.

The Connnittee met at 9 o'clock.

Present— Messrs. Clay, (Chairman,) Maxwell, Dupre, i>oycc, Footc,

Lyons-, Semmes and Barksdale.

Mr. Joseph Pearce was called and duly sworn.
The CHAIR. Have you been in the service of the Naval Depart-

ment of the Confederate States?

Mr. Peafv.ce. Yes, sir. I was in the State's service before this Gov-
ernment came here.

The CHAIR. VVl^at State service?

Mr. Pe'arce. The State of Virginia?

The CHAIR, hi what capacity were you in the Confederate service ?

Mr. Pearce. Acting Naval Constructor.

The CHAIR.- When did you enter that service?

Mr. Pearce. The ITlh of September last, 12 months.
The CHAIR. Where abouts were you engaged at your profession?

Mr. Pearce. Here at this place at that time.

The CHAIR. When did you go to New Orleans'?

Mr. Pearce. 1 arrived there the 27th of September, 1861.
The CHAIR. AVhat were you engaged in there ?

Mr. Pearce. 1 was there superintending the construction of the

Mississippi.

The CHAIR. Had you ample materials of Avood and iron for the
work as it was needed ?

Mr. Pearce. Yes, sir.

The CHAIR. Had you not a sullicient number of workmen for the
purposes needed?

Mr. Pearce. Plenty.

The CHAIR. Was the work jctarded for want of material or of
laborers?
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Mr. Peakck. No, sir. It is the most extraordinary job on record.

The CHAIR. Do j^on mean extraordinary for the rapidity with

which it was executed?
Mr. P. Yes, sir.

The CHAIR. Was there any difficulty encountered in the progress

of the work in respecf'to supplying what was needed in any Avay ?

Mr. P. Not in my department.

The CHAIR. What was your department?
Mr. P. The construction of the hull preparatory to tlie putting on

of the iron.

The CHAIR.. How many hands were employed?
Mr. P. I think I had 600 on her at one time.

The CHAIR. Could more have been employed to advantage?
Mr. P. No, sir. It was discretionary witli me to increase or de-

crease as I thought proper.

The CHAIR. And you did not increase that force ?

Mr. P. Only when I saw it was necessary. I don't know that the

rolls won't show more than this number at particular times. But I em-

jtloycd them as [ thought proper.

The CHAIR. Were you or not ever forced to dismiss hands—or did

any cease to Avork for you for wants of funds?
Mr. P. No, sir. I turned them out of the yard sometime1> when

they did not do as I ihought proper. I oftentimes sent out two or three

at a clii>.

The CHAIR. How near was the vessel to being complete, so for as

your department was concerned?
Mr. P. I considered my department as done. I doubt whether iheic

ever will be a ship of that size in this or any other government finished,

so far as my department was concerned, in as short a time as the Mis-

sissippi was.

The CHAIR. What was the capacity of the vessel?

Mr. P, She was 260 feet long. Her extreme breadth would be 58

feet, and depth of hold 15 feet. I think vessels of the same size, such
for instance as the Colorado and Roanoke, took 15 months in their con-

struction.

Tlie CHAIR. How long did it take to complete the Colorado?

Air. P. Fifteen months.
The CHAIR. Do you know anything about the destruction of the

vessel

?

Mr. P. Yes, sif. I was on board of her when she was destroyed.

Mr. DUPRE. Were there any or many alterations made in the pro-

gress of the construction of the ship kom the original design?

Mr. P. There might have been some; but it was a matter of no
account.

The CHAIR. Do you know anything about the efforts, it any, to

get her up the river?

Mr. 1*. Yes, sir. I was aboard' when the steamer came alongside

to tow the ship up. J believe that the captains of the boats did not do

their duty. I am informed, I don't know it to be a fact, that one of

the vessels that undertook to take us up, had the. Union flag lioisted on

her after the enemy came up.

The CHAIR. If you know anything about the efforts made to get
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her up, in the \ypy of procuring vessels or hands or otherwise, you will

please state it.

Mr. P. I know Ihat they got a steamer alongside of her, and two
or three more were expected. One I know had got there. I was on
hoard the ship at this time. The Messrs. Tift went after 5ther vessels.

One could get no engineer, and the other had no coal, and made besides

a number of excuses at that time. That was the report they brought
back to the ship. I only know that they had these two steamers when
they undertook to tow her up, and failed to do so.

Mr. DUPRE. When did these two steamers get there ?

Mr. P. I think on the night of the 24th of April.

The CHAIR. Did they fail for want of motive power ?

Mr. P. I think so. The Mississippi was very wild indeed. The
water was very high and rapid. It strikes me forcibly that if the cap-

tains of the steamers had had the case at heart as much as others and
myself, perhaps they might have gotten away with the ship. I under-

stood that one of the captains the next day raised the Union flag over
his boat as soon as the enemy appeared. That was the best boat.

Mr. DUPRE. ^ Which boat was that—the Peytona or St. diaries?
Mr. P. The St. Charles. 1 had no confidence in her captain.

Qxiestion by the Secreta?y of the Navy through The Chair. What
inducement was offered to you to go to New Orleans and complete that

ship in the shortest possible time ?

Mr. P. I had been a long time trying to get into the old service as

iiJival constructor. I wanted to try and do something to rise in my
profession. That was as much as I calculated to do. If I completed
that ship, I anticipated that I would have been put at the head of the

profession.

The CHAIR. You don't seem to comprehend the question. The
question was, what inducement did the Navy Department here offer

you to go to New Orleans and complete the vessel?

Mr. P. They ordered me down there to complete the vessel. I went
down there and did the best I could.

Another question by the Secretary, thi^ough The Chair. Were you
told that if you completed the vessel in a short time, jou should bq
made a naval constructor ?

Mr. P. Yes, sir. The Secretary gave me a letter to that effect.

That vessel was built in an extraordinary short time. In 30 days I

made the body and put the floor into her. In 30 days more I had her
three feet high. In 110 days the wood-work was done, and the boilers

in. This extraordinary despatch was owing to her peculiar plan of con-
struction. A vessel upon the plan of the Colorado could not be built,

with all the facilities which could be afforded at the Gosport Navy Yard

,

in less than a year.
• Mr. DUPRE. It was then owing to the peculiar shape of the ship
that this work was executed so rapidly ?

Mr. P. Ybs, sir.

The CHAIR. What facilities had you in New Orleans for building
such a vessel ?

Mr. P. The timber was all in the leaf when we went there. In
New Orleans there are a great many facilities 3 but nothing equal to the
Gosport Navy Yard. There were, I suppose, more facilities there than
we could get anywhere else in the Confederacy.
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Mr. MAXWELL. What do you mean by '' leaf?

Mr. P. In the woods. *

Mr. Nelson Tift was recalled to be examined.
Mr. Tift. You referred on yesterday to a letter which I wrote to

the committee of safety, requesting them to get machinists from other

foundries in the city of IN'ew Orleans, to aid in completing the ma-
chinery for the Mississippi. I now have a copy of the letter, which I

beg leave to submit to the Committee.
The following is the letter referred to:

[copy.]

New Orleans, La., April 3d, 1S62.

To the Hon. Chairman, and
Gentlemeii of the Oomtnitiee of Safety.

We have just now had a conversation with Mr. Kirk, of the Patter-

son foundry, who states that he can,work 30 hands on the machinery
of our ship, which would' facilitate her completion several days. Hav-
ing been tendered youi; co-operation to aid the important object of an
early completion, we now suggest the following plan:

Appoint sub-committees to visit every shop in the city to-day, and
get from proprietors a list of the names and trade of each of their men,
together with statements of the particular work which they are em-
ployed on, whether for the government or otherwise.

These lists will enable you, when they are brought together, to select

and assign to Mr. Kirk tlie number and kind of men which he may be

able to work to advantage.

We doubt not that the patriotic proprietors of the various shops in'

the cit}^, and the. men themselves, will gladly co-operate in your effort

for the few days that the same will be required. .

Very respectfully, your obedient servant,

(Signed) N. & A. F. TIFT,
Age7its N. D. C. S. A.

ViRGiNius Freeman,
Ch. Eng. a S. N.

P. S.—Since writing the above, we have seen Mr. Fowler, 271 Ba-

rona street, who needs a flange turner to facilitate the work he has in

hand.

Mr. Tift. I now beg leave to submit another letter, addressed to

Messrs. Ward & Co., of Nashville, on the subject of shafting. This

letter was referred to in my testimony on yesterday.

New Orleans, Dec. lOih, 1862.

Messrs. Ward <fc Co., Nashvillcy Tenn.

Gentlemen: We received your letter last evening, and telegraphed

you to-day. " Your proposition is accepted; will send drawings. Work
night and day. Will pay extra $500, delivered early in .lanuary."

This was in answer to your proposition—''We might undertake to

make for .1500 each, one shaft by 1st of February, 1862, and one by
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]5th February-—think we could do it sooner than that, but give our-
selves longer time to guard against unforeseen contingences."
We now enclose drawing of shaft, of which we wish you to make

two, as proposed by you, for which we will pay j'-ou $1,500 each, and
we will give you $500 additional, if you will have both shafts ready for

delivery by the 10th day of January. I send this letter and drawing
by Col. Archer Cheatham, who will see you on the subject. The
money will be ready for you on the delivery of the shafts. Should
you succeed in making these shafts promptly and well, you will, doubt-
less, have other orders for large shafting from the Government. Please
write to us fully on receipt of this.

Very respectfully, N. & A. F. TIFT,
Agents Navy Dejoartment C. S.

Mr. MAXWELL. I gathered from your testimony that the principal

dii^culty was in relation to machinery.
Mr. Tift. That was one of the difficulties. We had great difficulty

in regard to shafting. This was properly a part of the machinery, but
was a separate job under this contract. There was no party whom we
could get to make wrought iron shafting.

Mr. MAXWBLL. Why refer to the machinery without including
the shafting. I understood you to say, that all the shops that you ap-

plied to in New Orleans were so over-crowded with work, that you
could not get them to undertake to finish the work within the time that

you wanted it done, except the Patterson foundry.

Mr. Tift. The Patterson foundry agreed to do the work cheaper by
$20,000 than Leeds, and even a month sooner. Leeds named four
months as the least time, but would not be bound to complete it by
that time. He was full of work and the other had but little on hand,
and this they expected to get through in a few days. After that they
promised to devote their whole time to our work, which, however, they
did not do.

Mr. MAXWELL. Did you remonstrate with them?
• Mr. Tift. Yes, sir. They took in without our knowledge some
oil mills, which they said would not interfere with our work—that de-

scription of work being done with tools other than than those employed
in executing the work for us. They then took in the propeller ma-
chinery for the Louisiana, which was being built by Messrs. Fowler &
Murray. They promised them to have that machinery done in three

weeks. They disappointed them as they did us. But in taking in all

this work, they contended that they were not delaying the completion
of our machinery, that they were doing it in a way not to interfere with
our work. This of course was not so.

Mr. MAXWELL. At the time you made this contract with the Pat-

terson Foundry, your belief was, that it could be done by them sooner
than. in any other in the city?

Mr. Tift. I had no doubt of it from the examination that I made
of the capacity of the difierent shops there and the facilities as to

tools, &,c.

Mr. MAXWELL. Have you, in your previous life, had that sort of

experience that would have enabled you to judge of the capacity of

different foundries ?

16
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Mr. Tift. Not a sufficiency to rely upon my own judgment. 1 re-

lied more upon the engineers than upon myself. When the engineers

differed, we took the responsibility of choosing between the disagreeing

parties.

Mr. MAXWELL. Then with reference to the shafting, did you
make any effort to get it made in New Orleans ?

- Mr. Tift. Yes, sir.

Mr. MAXWELL. That effort ceased, because you could find no

one in New Orleans to make wrought iron shafting?

Mr. Tift. Our efforts never ceased. There was no one in the city

of New Orleans, or any part of the Confederate States, so far as we
had learned, that could make this wrought iron shafting. We supposed

it might be made at Norfolk, from an impression that a hammer was
there which had been made at the Tredegar Works, that would have
answered for this work. We learned, however, that it was not in a

situation to be used.

Mr. MAXWELL. You ultimately got the shafting made at New
Orleans?

Mr. Tift. Yes, sir. While in communication with Messrs. Ward
A: Co., of Nashville, we learned that Mr. Clark intended to put up the

fuinaces and hammer to which I have referred. We had at this time

very little hope of getting this work from Nashville. Mr. Warner said

he saw a man from there who discouraged him very much as to the

prospect of getting the shafting from there. He was informed that the

interference of the army with transportation would make it difficult to

get the shafting from Nashville, even though it was finished. This ren-

dered us the more anxious to have the shafting made in New Orleans,

if possible; and we finally succeeded in getting a promise from Clark

to do the shafting for us. He changed the location and original design

of the hammer and furnace, so as to render them capable of completing

our work. He went immediately to work, but he encountered con-

siderable delay, because of constant rain and for want of proper work-

men.
,

Mr. DUPRE. You are speaking of the work of preparation—are

you not?

Mr. T. They experienced difficulties not only in that, but in every

department. Alter all necessary arrangements were made, we agreed

with Mr. Claris to make the shafting, and he did do so.

Mr. MAXWELL. Did you make enquiry at the other establish-

ments in the city to know if they could make it?

Mr. T. Yes, sir. There was no party there prepared to do the

work. They had no air furnaces and»no large steam hammer.
Mr. MAXWELL. Why did you not make the effort to get larger

ones made?
Mr. T. For the reason that there was no party there who would irrr-

dertake it.

Mr. MAXWELL. Did you first apply to Clark

?

Mr. T. No, sir. We first spdce to Leeds, who had the largest es-

tablishment, and the one best adapted, as we supposed, to that kind of

work. We would not have got the. work done at all in New Orleans,

if it had not been for the accident of the contract between Clark and
the Government, who advanced to him a considerable sum ofmoney as

an inducement to manufacture the Armstrong gun.
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Mr. MAXWELL. Then you sent elsewhere for large shafting; be-
cause you found you could not get it at New Orleans ?

Mr. T. YeS) sir. As soon as we learned that we could get Clark
to change his furnace and hamraer to do this work, we agreed with
him, and he worked day and night until he completed the work. Leeds
did the same.
Mr. DUPRE. Did Leeds have anything to do with the shafting ?

Mr. T. He turned the two side shafts. As soon as the first side or
quarter shaft was forged, it was sent according to previous arrange-
ment, directly to Leeds' foundry, and they put their lathe to work, and
worked day -and night at it until it was complete. By this time, the
second shaft was forged, and that being sent to Leeds forthwith, it was
turned without any delay.

Mr. DUPRE. Did not Mr. Leeds offer to put up a hammer, and
was he not willing to undertake the construction of the shafting, pro-

vided you gave him eight or nine months to do it ?

Mr. T. No, sir. There was this circumstance which occurred, as
I was informed by my brother. It occurred while I was attending to

the iron in Atlanta. After we made this arrangement with Clark, there
was a man named Robertson, who was a hammer man, at Leeds' shop,
getting machinery ready to carry to Chattanooga. Clark called upon
him to make these shafts, having himself- no experience in such work.
Robertson, according to the statement made by Mr. Clark, acted in a
very selfish and improper manner. After soliciting him for some time,
he again refused to do the work, saying that he would prefer to do the
work in Leeds' shop. He was in communication with the committee
of safety and my brother, and stated that the work could be done by
altering the hammer and building a furnace and cranes in Leeds'
shop. My brothex told them to go on, and if they could get them ready
sooner than Clark, we would take them. But he remarked that Clark
having agreed to make the shafts, and changed the position of his fur-

nace and hammer with reference to that work, we could not break off"

the contract with him.
Mr. DUPRE. Were you acquainted with New Orleans before you

went there to carry on this work ?

Mr. T. No, sir. I was never there before.

Mr. DUPRE. Who did you apply to, when you went there, tor in-

fonnation concerning the different foundries there ?

Mr, T. I first visited Leeds' foundry, and I brought letters to them.
1 relied chiefly upon their advice in regard to matters in the machinery
department.

Mr. DUPRE. At the time you made the proposal to Mr. Mallory to

build the ship, you made no engagement with any one to furnish the
wood or iron work—you had not, in other words, provided for those
things in advance.

Mr. T. No, Kir. Perhaps it might illustratemy positionby tellingyou
the facts in regard to my connection with this vessel from the beginning.
After the breaking out ofthe war> I looked round to see what I could do to

end it. It seemed to me that our weakest point was on the water, and
that if vessels could be designed by which we could make use of our
ordinary pyie timber, and our ordinary carpenters, instead of ship car-

penters, and that if we could make from tliat material j vessels of War
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equal to those of the enemy, it would be the best service that cnuld be
rendered. I went to work upon that idea, and got up a model of the

Mississippi. I was satisfied myself that it would be as efficient a war
vessel as any in the world. My brother, (Mr. Asa F. Tift, of Florida,)

was at that time with me. He had been elected to the Florida Con-
vention. He had signed the ordinance of secession there, and returned

again to his home. Finding, however, that the Lincoln Government
was going to take possession of the place, he took most of his negroes

with him to my place in Georgia, leaving his other property and his

business behind. I submitted this design to him, and he approved it;

and he and I came to Richmond to offer it to the Government. On our

way, I stopped at Savannah, and saw Com. Tatnall; I also saw in

Charleston, several prominent naval and military officers, and all who
saw the design approved it. When I came here, I submitted it to the

Secretary of the Navy, whereupon, he called together a board of offi-

cers, who examined and approved the design. My brother and myself

then offered our services to the Secretary without compensation, to su-

perintend the building of this vessel. He accepted our services as the

agents of the Department. I have now the correspondence between
him and ourselves.

The CHAIR. Was the model of the Mississippi your own concep-

tion 1

Mr. T. Yes, sir.

Mr. SEMMES. What was there novel in the conception of the

Mississippi ?

Mr. T. It was the adaptation of straight timber to her construction.

The Missisippi was built, with the exception of the four corners con-

necting the ends with the sides, in straight lines.

Mr. LYONS. Is there a model of the vessel here ?

Mr. T. Yes, sir.

Mr. LYONS. I think you had better bring it Iiere ?

[The model was then produced and examined by the Conniiitlee.
j

Mr. T. The main principle in the construction of the Mississippi

is the adaptation of our pine timber to this purpose, in a new and sim-

ple form, combming strength and efficiency, instead of the difficult

form of construction resulting from, the curved frames, crooks and
knees peculiar to the old style of naval architecture.

Mr. FOOTE. Since ships were originally designed, is this the first

lime that that idea of yours has been entertained among men, and
practiced upon?
Mr. T. It is the first of any such design, so far as I know or

believe.

Mr. FOOTE. For the general purpose of ship building, has not

this timber been always used in all ages of the world ?

Mr. T. Yes, sir; but not in that way.
Mr. FOOTE. What other way?
Mr. T. The usual way is to have crooked timber croSs-knees

adapted to the different curves and angles of the ship. The frame of the

ship, composed chiefly of tliis crooked timber combined with straight

timber, is first put up and then covered with plank, leaving interstices

between the frames and between the inside and outsi4e planking.

This kind of ship building requires skilled ship carpenters and timber
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which is difficult to be obtained. The plan of the Mississippi is differ-

ent in many respects. All the surfaces are flat, or in straight lines,

except the four corners which connect the two ends of the ship with the

sides. There is no frame. The work is made solid the required thick-

ness. It is commenced at the bottom, and completed as the work goes
up. But few skilled ship carpenters are required; the greater part of

the work may be done by house carpenters.

Mr. MAXWELL. Ho\y will that flat bottom do in saiUng?
Mr. T. In that form of vessel, I think it will do well. .

Mr. FOOTE. Are you employed now by the Secretary of the Navy to

construct other vessels ?

Mr. T. Yes, sir, at Savannah.
Mr. FOOTE. How many?
Mr. T. One; the Fingal, which my brother and myself are con-

verting into an iron-clad gun boat and ram.

Mr. FOOTE. Have you any general power above that. Have you
any understanding with him as to any general employment for the con-
struction of vessels?

Mr. T. No, sir.
'

Mr. FOOTE. None beyond that contract?

Mr. T. No, sir.

Mr. FOO.TE. No understanding that excludes other individuals

who might make application at the Department for employment of that

kind?
Mr. T. No, sir; on the contrary, Mr. Mallory desired us whenever

we could find any parties that could build ships, to bring them before

him, that he may set them to work, not under onr directions however.
Mr. FOOTE. Was your contract executed within the time required

by the contract?

Mr. T. We had no contract with the Department.
Mr. FOOTE. Was that contract of which you had the superin-

tendence, executed within the time stipulated ?

Mr. T. There was no contract.

Mr. FOOTE. I understand. Was the work executed within the

time allowed ?

Mr. T. There was no agreement that the work should be done by
any particular time. *

The CHAIR. It was conducted under the superintendence of the
Naval constructor of the Department ?

Mr. T. It was conducted under our superintendence as agents of
the Navy Department. Mr Pearce who,was acting Naval constructor,
was in this city when T first came here, and had the reputation of being
an active and efficient constructor. He had not at that time the ]X)si-

tion of constructor in the Navy. I went down to Jamestown Island
sand "jjatnessed the experiment made upon an iron target there, under
the direction of Capt. Brooks, while Capt. Jones was commanding
there. Mr. Pearce went down to superintend the putting of the target
up. I got acquainted with him there, and told him we were engaged
to do this work, and that he was suggested as the man to go with us. I
said I had a conversation wi(h the Secretary of the Navy, and that I

understood him to say, if he would push the work through rapidly, he
would be appointed Naval constructor.



U>(5

Mr. FOOTE. What has been the connection of Mr. Mallory here-

tofore with your brother ? Had you any business coanectiou with liini

at all?

Mr. T. No, sir.

Mr. FOOTE. Was it you or your brother that lived in Florida ?

. Mr. T. I lived there when a boy—went there about the year 1826,

or 1827.

Mr. FOOTE. Your brotlier remained in Florida?

Mr. T. Yes, sir.

Mr. FOOTE. What was his business there ?

Mr. T. He was engaged in different kinds of business. He was at

one time a merchant; he subsequently built warehouses for storing car-

goes of vessels coming to Key West in distress. He was also in tiie

commission business, and also kept a coal depot, from which he fre-

quently furnished cnal to the California and otlier steamers.

Mr. FOOTE. Was he engaged in the wrecking business?
,

Mr. T. He was part owner of several vessels engaged in that

business.

Mr. FOOTE. What connection had Mr. Mallory with your brother

in that business?

Mr. T. None at all.

Mr. FOOTE. Had he any share of the profits in .this wrecking
business in any way?

Mr. T. None that I know of— I don't know that there ever was any
business connections between them.

Mr. FOOTE. He acted as his lawyer for the recovery of damages,
did he not?

Mv. T. Not that I know of.

Mr. FOOTE. Is he connected with either of you by marriage or

otherwise?

Mr. T. No, sir. I knew Mr. Mallory from my boyhood. I also

knew his mother, who was a most excellent woman.
Mr. FOOTE. We have nothing to do with his mother in this mat-

ter. What she- was, or was not, is a matter that does not enter into

this question.

Mr. MAXW'ELL. When did your brother leave Key West ?

Mr. T. 1 think in May, 1861.

Mr. MAXWELL. Do you know what has become of his property?

Mr. T. I do not, sir, nor does he. I suppose his property there

must have been worth about !^lOO,000,*or more. His income from it

was about !|10,000 a year. He has nothing now but his negroes,

which is a veiy small part of his property.

Mr. SEMMF48. When you first commenced the construction of this

vessel, of course you were aware that shafting was necessary, and
that the shafting was an important and essential matter. Wljen did

you first take any steps towards procuring the necessary shafting tor

this boat?

Mr. T. Immediately on our arrival in New Orleans.

Mr. SEMMEy. What has been your occupation. Are you a ship

builder?

Mr. T. I never before gave ray mind to ship building. I settled in

Georgia iu 1829; married and raised a family there; I have been mer-
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chant, an editor, president of a railroad, a legislator, member of the Geor-

gia State Convention, and filled other public positions. Immediately
upon the breaking out of the war, I set about thinking in what manner I

could best promote the success of our cans*, and hit upon this idea. 1

knew nothing as to what could be done, or what resources we had for

the construction of the vessel. I knew but little about our capacity to

supply machinery. I knew that we had plenty of pine, which if

worked into vessels, would contribute materially to our success. I

knew, moreover, that this timber could be worked by ordinary carpen-

ters, who were incompetent to work upon regular ships.

Mr. SEMMES. When you received your instructions to go down
to New Orleans, were not a-ou and your brother both here?

Mr. T. Yes, sir.

Mr. SEMMES. Did Mr. Mallory say anything to you about shaft-

ing—-where it could be procured, and the difficulty of procuring it?

Mr. T. No, sir. I don't think he made any remark further than to

give us authority to do everything we could to forward the vessel.

Mr. SEMMES. When you arrived in New Orleans, you say you
made investigations as to machinery, and everything else connected
with the construction of the boat. Did you ascertain that the shafting

could not be constructed in New Orleans first?

Mr. T. I went to Leeds first, and he told me it was impossible for

him to make the shafting. He was engaged upon some shafting for

the Memphis boats, the material for which consisted of some pieces of
shafting which were procured from some old boats. He said he could
not make the shafting for our boat. Failing to get Leeds to do the work,
we visited all the other establishments in the city, but without success.

Mr. SEMMES. Do you recollect at what time that was ?

Mr. T. About the last of September, or Tst of October.

Mr. SEMMES. Did you know definitely it could not be procured
at that time ?

Mr. T. No, sir. We did not arrive there until the latter part of
September, and we addressed ourselves immediately to the procuring
of all that was necessary to go on w-ith the work, ithe shafting of
course included.

Mr. SEMMES. What I want to ascertain from you is, at what pe-

riod after your investigations, such as you have described, was it that

you came to the conclusion that the shafting could not be procured at

New Orleans, and that it might be obtained elsewhere ?

Mr. T. I don't recollect the particular time. I know that we gave
our attention to that subject, and made every inquiry possible through-
out the city. Mr. Ivens the engineer and myself took a carriage for

two or three different days and went to every place where we had sup-
posed there was a chance of finding a shaft. We exaniined both New
Orleans and Algiers, but failed to procure any.

Mr. SEMMES. Do you recollect whether it was in October, No-
vember, or December, that you definitely ascertained that it was im-
possible to procure this shafting in New Orleans ?

Mr. T. It was not as late as December. We commenced this in-

vestigation-early, and I followed it up in all directions. We were not
confining ourselves to any parflcular place. We wrote to the Messrs.
Wiard ^ Go., of Nashville, on the subject, on seeing an advertisement
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from them in the papers, proposing to furnish articles in the machine
line.

Mr. MAXWELLL. Perhaps by reference to the date of that letter,

you might come at what Mr. Semmrs desires to ascertain ?

Mr. T. I believe it was December 10th.

Mr. MAXWELL. Was that the first effort you made?
Mr. T. No, sir. We sent to Richmond, where we secured one

shaft, and hoped to have the others made, and in fact in every direction

where there was a probability of prociiring any shafting. I got chief

engineer Warner, who was at Columbus, to look out there and see if •

he could find any. For some time the only hope was, that we would
find some such shaft as might be adapted to the vessel, such as was
found here at Richmond. I heard of some stern-wheel boats that were

up the river in Tennessee, and got a gentleman to see whether there

was a boat there that was worn out, that we could get shafting from.

—

This resort proved unavailing.

Mr. SEMMES. Was not this centre shafting an extraordinary

large one?
Mr. T. The length of the centre shafting was not so great, so far as

each piece is concerned, as the side shafting. The longest piece of

the side shafting was 33 feet. The centre shaft was made of two

pieces that were each 20 odd feet long, the whole shaft being 50 feet

long.

Mr. SEMMES. It is more difficult then to construct the side than

the centre shaft, the side pieces being longer ?

Mr. T. Yes, sir.

Mr. MAXWELL. Why then did you not get the centre shaft made

by Clark, as well as the others?
'

Mr. T. We had previously made arrangements for the centre shaft in

Richmond.
Mr. SEMMES. I see from your correspondence, that you expected

to have this vessel ready by the 30th of January.

Mr. T. "We expected from the commencement to do all that we
could do.

Mr. SEMMES. Of course the vessel could not be ready for action

without shafting. When did you first make application to the Navy
Department to have the centre shafts constructed elsewhere than in

New Orleans?

Mr. T. I don't recollect dt v/hat time we sent here to know whether

any shafting could be got here.

Mr. SEMMES. Your letter then will show all on that subject?

Mr. T. Yes, sir.

Mr. SEMMES. Did you send any other telegraphs or letters on

that subject than those written to the Department or any of the Gov-

ernment officers?'

Mr. T. I believe not. Our contract with the Patterson foundry

was, that they should make cast iron shafting, because they would

not agree to procure the wrought iron shafting. We made this contract

with the understanding that if the wrought iron shafting could be ob-

tained, we would pay them extra. So that we put it upon the con-

tractors to get the wrought iron shafting if possible.

Mr. SEMMES. What month was it, October, November, or De-
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cember, tliat you became satisfied that you could not get the necessary
wrought iron shafting constructed in New Orleans, or at the places in
that city where you made inquiries ?

Mr. T. We were continuing our efforts in New Orleans all th«
time. As I said, we hoped to have the good fortune to pick up som6
pieces by a thorough examination. If we succeeded in doing so, we
could have them made in New Orleans without difficulty. There were
many vessels that have been burned, or stranded, or wrecked in the
neighborhood of New Orleans, and we had hoped to find among them
some pieces that would answer. ^

Mr. SEMMES. Certainly you would not have depended for the
completion of this boat upon pieces of shafting picked up here and
there? Would you go looking around all the time, and delay her
completion until you chanced to fall upon such pieces as you thought
would answer, or would you not rather report the matter to the Depart-
ment, and ask them to get it for you elsewhere? Did you make any
such application as this to the Department?

Mr. T. We did not confine our efforts to New Orleans. We did
apply to the Department, and we tried every other place where there
was a prospect of getting any shafting.

The Committee then adjourned until 9 o'clock to-morrow.

WEDNESDAY, Sept. 24*1862.

The Committee met at 9 o'clock.

Present—Messrs. Clay, (Chairman,) Veyton, Dupre, Maxwell,
Semmes, Lyons, Foote and Barksdale.

Mr. Tift was recalled and examined;
Mr. SEMMES. At what period did you beeome satisfied that you

could find centre shafting in Richmond which could be adflpted to

your purpose ?

Mr. Tift. To explain what 1 said yesterday I will now state, the
first application which we made at Richmond was on the 28th of Sep-
tember, 1861. We made application by letter at that time to know if

shafting could be obtained here. We got a reply firom the Secretary,
and also a letter from Major Williami^on, Chief Engineer, stating that
the shafting could not be made at the Norfolk navy yard. He said, in
addition, that he would look around for pieces ofshafting that could be
adapted to our use. The IStter of Mr. Mallory was dated OH the 7th Of
October, ismd that of Major Williamson the 9th of October. We also
received a telegram on this subject from Mr. Jackson, Chief Engineer,
by direction of Mr. Mallory, which is in these words

:

^'The Hon. S. R. Mallory directs me to say there are two shafts here
24 feet 8]^ inches long, 11 inches diameter atone end and 8 at the other.
Send an exact sketchiiOw you wish them finished, thmst-cdllaf and
all.

[Signed] T. A. Jackson/
Chief Engineer Navy D^mtrmnt, O. <S^.

17
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We directed that these shafts should be held for us, so that ifwe could

not do better, we might use them. They were nf\t well adapted to our pur-

pose, and would require a great deal of work to adapt them. The draw-

ing of the centre shaft was sent to Richmond, where it was to be made,

on the 27th of November, 1861, accompanied with a request that it be

completed and forwarded as early as possible. At the same time we
sent drawings of the side shaftings, accompanied with a statement that

we hoped to get them in New Orleans, but requesting that if opportu-

nity should offer to get them in Richmond that wc should be informed

of the fact.

Mr. SEMMES. How near completion was the armor of the Missis-

sippi?

Mr. Tift. Our judgment was that we could have completed the

whole armor in ten days.

Mr. SEMMES. How high up or low down was she clad. In other

words to what extent was she covered with her armor at the time she

was destroyed?

Mr. Tift. The whole of the iron below her gun deck and below

the water was completed, and the upper armor which was cut and fitted

to its place, was being put on. As I said in my testimony on Monday,

the chief labor was in the handhng of it. The upper, or as it is called,

the bolting course, was being laid on and bolted.

Mr. SEMMES. Had the annament of the Mississippi arrived when
she was destroyed.

• Mr. Tift. Part of it had. The 7-inch rifle guns had arrived, and

we met part of her armament, nine guns I think, at Jackson, as we
came away on the 28th of April. These guns went subsequently as I

learned, to Vicksburg and were assisting in the defence of that place.

Mr. SEMMES. Was your brother ever a ship builder?

Mr. Tift. He has had ships built, but is not a builder himself. I

mean he is not a mechanic. He has been part and exchisive owner of

vessels and has been engaged in the capacity of proprietor, I may say,

in the building and repairing of vessels for a number of years. He
is a man who gave a great deal of attention to naval architecture, though

not a practical mechanic.

The CHAIR. Was work ever suspended on the Mississippi?

Mr. Tift. Yes sir, for five days by a strike among the workmen in

New Orleans.

CHAIR. At what time was that?

Mr. Tift. I think from the 6th to the 1 1th of November.

The CHAIR. What wages were given them previously, and what did

they strike for?

Mr. Tift. They were receiving $3 a day, and they struck for .f4.

The CHAIR. Did you give what was demanded?
Mr. Tift. After waiting until the 11th we yielded. In the first place

the mechanics that we got from Richmond did not strike. The others

all went off. We had about 20 from Richmond. The next day after

the strike the other mechanics came up to the yard and forced the Rich-

mond mechanics to quit work. My brother went to the authorities

there in reference to the matter, and I think one or two of the leading

men were imprisoned. They said theywould go with the army or serve

the Government in any other way rather than work for less than they
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demanded. Mr. Hughes and other ship builders were in Ikvorot not
complying with this demand, but to hold off until they should be com-
pelled to work. My brother asked him if there had been any such
strikes there before, and Mr. Hughes replied yes, and that they finally

came to the terms of the shipbuilders. My brother then asked how long
It took to effect that object. He said, 1 think, six weeks. My brother
then said that being the case, that money should not stand in the way
of forwarding the work on the vessel. He agreed to their terms rather

than have the work delayed.

The CHAIR. He then raised the price ?

Mr. Tift. Yes sir, he raised it to $4 a day.
The CHAIR. Did he procure all the labor he needed ?

Mr. Tift. He did sir.

The CHAIR. Was there any delay in the progress of the work for

want of hands ?

Mr. Tift. There were times when we were deficient of hands; at

other times we had plenty.

The CHAIR. Why did it sometimes happen that you had not

enough of workmen?
Mr. T. That was at times when we had the means of wor|cirlg

large forces there. There are times in the building of a vessel when
you could work a large number of hands—while engaged for instance

in the preparation of timber. When you get through with this, you are

confined to a small space and must therefore work fewer men. When you
get through in this department, you enter upon another which may
afford a larger scope for operations. Then it will become necessary to

Increase the number of hands.
The CHAIR. Did you always have as many workmen as could be

employed advantageously upon the hull of the vessel?

Mr. T. -No sir.

The CHAIR. Why was that deficiency ?

Mr. T. Because the hands could not always be obtained at the time

we wanted them.
The CHAHl. Did you ever refuse hands that were tendered to

you ? «
Mr. T. Never when they could be used.

Mr. SEMMES. I have read your correspondence throughout, and in

no solitary letter do you complain of the want of labor, except in the

department of machinery. I would like to know why it is you now
represent this difficulty in regard to labor, while in your whole corres-

pondence, which seems to be very full, I do not recollect seeing a soli-

tary complaint made of the want of labor, except, as I have said, in the

department of machinery, and except by the strike of the workmen?
The time for adjournment having arrived, Mr. Tift was directed to

prepare his answer for to-morrow and then the Committee adjourned.
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THURSDAY, Sept. 25, 1S62.

The Committee met at 9 o'clock.

Present—Messrs. Clay, (Chairman,) Serames, Peyton, Boyce, Dupre,

Maxwell and Lyons.
Mr. Nelson' Tift was recalled to answer the question put to him

on yesterday by Mr. Semmes, which is as follows:

I have read your correspondence throughout, and you do not in a

solitary letter complain of the want of labor, except in the department

of machinery. I would like to know why it is now, you represent

this difficulty in regard to labor, while throughout your whole corres-

pondence, which seems to be very full, I do not recollect a solitary

Complaint made of the want of labor, except, as I have already said, as

to machinery, and except in the instance of the strike by the workmen ?

Mr. Tift. I will state generally, that we did not trouble Mr. Mal-

lory with that subject, because he could not help us in any way. We
•were less troubled for mechanics in the wood work, than in the other

departments. Sometimes we had more than we needed, and dis-

charged the surplus, and sometimes we were deficient for. short periods.

Sometimes they were taken off for military duty, notwithstanding our

eilbrts to prevent it. On this subject,'! find the following note ad-

dressed to us by Constructor Pearce, dated October 29th, 1861

:

"I respectfully request that the men employed on this ship be exempt
from military duly, as I fear I shall lose a large portion of my hands
if they are not exempt from such duty for the time they are engaged on
this work."
On the 24th of April, when every possible exertion was being made

to complete the Mississippi, we found it necessary to appeal to Gen.
Lovett, as follows

:

" Navy Yard, April 2ith, ISG'J.

JAajor General Lovell,
Commanding at New Orleans

:

Tbfi officers of companies are taking from the ship yard our carpen-

ters and laborers, and thus crippling our operations in trying to save the

Mississippi.

Please send an imperative order, with an oflicer to enforce it, that

none of our men shall be taken away for any purpose. We are putting

materials on board, and hope to be able to finish her up the river.

N. & A. F. TIFT,
. Navy Department. '

'

Upon which, Gen. Lovell issued the following order,:

*<No interference will be allowed with the laborers and mechanics on
the ship Mississippi. Col. Gereault will please furnish the necessary
detail to carry out this order.

J. W. LOVELL,
Major General Commanding.^'



1 do not remember all the purticulars, but I remember that on Satur-

day, the 24th of November, all our hands in the ship yard and in tho

machine shops, were called out by order of Gov. Moore, for military

parade. I requested him on the previous day to exempt them, but he

refused, saying he thought it best for all to attend. In November we
hired a skillful mechanic in Georgia to superintend important parts of

the work. I have mentioned the "strike," when all the carpenters

quit work for five days, from the Gth to the 1 1th of November. Mr.

Pearce, the constructor, and about 50 of our best carpenters went to

aid in completing the Louisiana, by request of the authorities, at a

time when we could not spare them, without delaying the completion of

the Mississippi. But, subsequently, when we needed them to com-

plete the remaining wood work, we could not get the men, or hire

others. We then resorted to other ship yards, and got the proprietors

to suspend their work, and send us their hands. We worked Sundays
as well as other days, such men as could be employed, to forward the

work. We unavoidably lost some time by rainy weather.

This is the result of an investigation of my papers last night.

I would like, if it is consistent with the views of the Committee as

to what is right and proper in connection wfth this investigation, to bring

to its attention, as this is a subject which seems to involve the character of

parties connected with it, some of the difficulties that we encountered'

in the progress of this Avork. I i-efer to the interference of the com-
mittee of pnblic safety in New Orleans, and to the course that was pur-

sued towards us when the enemy appeared at New Orleans, and after

we had left that place.

Mr. SEMMES. We have had testimony upon that. matter fully,,

from gentlemen who were with you. Mr. Senac testified fully in re-

gard to it.

The CHAIR. I would suggest that Mr. Tift be permitted to make
any statement in writing in this connection that he may think proper,

and have it appended to his testimony. This course will save tim©.—
If he finds it is necessary for the vindication of himself and his brother

to make a written statement I tliink it would be but just to give bim
that opportunity.

Mr. T. There has been a great deal said about our refusal to launch,

the Mississippi. We were very much annoyed on this subject, and a

great deal of prejudice was gotten up in New Orleans against us by
parties who knew nothing about the work, or who, from bad motives,

were interfering with our business. Some of these were connected,

I believe, with the committee of safety. The major part of the gentle-

men composing that committee, were very high-toned, honorable and
honest men, but there were some among them who were believed to be
enemies to the public good. I have some correspondence here which
took place with the committee, and some with members of the com-
mittee. 1 have also a letter here from Mr. John K. Scott, showing
that one of the members of the committee did what he could in hisway
to prevent the launching of the Mississippi ; while at the same time, he was
making the public believe that we were trying to delay the completion of

the vessel, by not launching her.

Mr. SEMMES. JL>o you know his name?
Mr. T. 1 will give it to you. It will be found in a letter written to

«
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us by Mr. -Scott, which convinces me of his enmity to us and the

cause that we were engaged in promoting. The gentleman's name is

Varnum Sheldon. The letterto which I reter> was read, as I am informed,

before the committee of safety in his presence, and he did not deny
what it stated. Mr. Pearce found it was necessary to examine the

ways, to prevent the possible destruction of the ship, or the stoppage of

her when being launched. It required a sub-marine armor to accom-

plish this, and Mr, Sheldon was the only one in New Orleans that we
knew of, who had this armor. Mr. Scott had previously used this

Uiachinery for sub-marine examinations.

The lelter to v/hich I have just referred, reads as follows :

''New Orleans, JjorzY 20^/i, 1802,

Messrs. N. &, A. V. Tift:

At your request for me to state in writing the conversation I had with

Mr. Varnum Sheldon, with reference to procuring his sub-marine ar-

mor, to enable you to ascertain the condition of tiie ways, and the

foundation around the stern of the Mississippi, and towards the chan-

nel, to render her launching successful beyond a question, I hereby

state that I called on Mr. Sheldon on the 13th inst., and asked him in

your name to let me have his armor for the above special purpose , to

which he replied that he had nothing tor yon. I then told him that

Mr. Pearce and the Messrs. Tift wanted it.- He then replied that Mr.

Pearce could get anything he liad, but that he had nothing for you.—

•

On Wednesday morning following, I met Mr. Sheldon near Gen.

Lovell's office in the Hall, and stated to him that I must have his

armor, as I had not been able to find any other, and repeated the neces-

sity for it. He then stated in reply, that he had sold the armor to

Capt. Whiting. I then called on Capt. Whiting and told him what
Mr. Sheldon had said. Capt. Whiting stated that he had not pur-

chased any armor of Mr. Sheldon, but that he had one of his own-
which you could have with pleasure, or anything else he had, and im-

mediately gave me an order to Capt. Lirk, of the steamer Southerner,

then working at the wreck of the America, 24 miles down the river, and
ottered at the same time to accompany me. 1 then exhibited Capt. Whi-
ting's order to you, when you gave me a note to Capt. Whittle, and the

Commodore endorsed on the back of the note to Capt. Mcintosh to des-

patch a steamer at once and take me to the Southerner. W"e reached her

at 8 o'clock, P. M., the 16th inst., when I procured tlie armor, and re-

turned to the city the same gight at I o'clock.

JOHN K. SCOTT.'^

My. T. That letter, as 1 understand, was read in the presence of

Mr. Sheldon in the comtnittee, and he did not deny the facts which it

set forth ; neither (^ould he give any excuse for his conduct. According

to this letter, he told an absolute falsehood, in stating that he sold t|ie

armor to Capt. Whiting, and this too for the purpose of preventing, as

1 believe, the Mississippi from being launched, at a time that we were

doing everything we could to accomplish that object, and save the ves-

sel. That is one of the parties that has been assailing us. There are

others in a similar condition, but of them, I cannot speak with the

^same certainty that I can of Sheldon.



13.5

The CHAIR. Whatever you wish to say of this letter, say in as

few words as possible, and when you have completed your statement,

hand it to the reporter.

Mr. T. I would ask the Committee to make our report to the Sec-

retary of the Navy, a part of our testimony. That, perhaps, has
touched upon some things that 1 have not referred to before the Com-
mittee. I ask this favor, because of your kind permission to me to

furnish additional particulars in reference to these other matters.

In looking over my correspondence last night, I found a business

letter addressed to me by my brother. It incidentally refers to the

condition of the country at that time, and will give the Committee
some idea as to his position with reference to our cause. He is not

present, and you are not personally acquainted with him, and as there

has been a great deal said, as I understand, both against him and me,
relative to our loyalty to the country, I will state as to his position

and character what 1 believe and think proper to state on this occa-

sion. He has been a citizen of Florida nearly 40 years, and all who
know him will accord to him the character of a good citizen, a true

patriot and an honest man. The letter to which I refer, is dated New
Orleans, February 17th, 1862. It was written to me when I was at

Albany, Georgia, and just after the news of the fall of Fort Donelson
reached New Orleans.

It reads as follows

:

^ New Orleans, Monday, "^

Fehruaryllth, 1862. f
JSlr Dear Brother

:

I have taken Roy to the ship, and aided him in all the measurements,
and he commences at once making the chasses and carriages for the

four rifled guns. I took Geddes along, and tried to engage him to

make the rudder, but he said it was impossible, on account of the large

amount of Government work he had on hand. I shall see Clark
and Leeds, and hope to dispose of that trouble to-moiTow with one of

them. Pearce &- Kindall will hurry the completion of the forward
angles, and the latter says he can get the surfaces perfectly thin; say in

two or three days. 1 send herewith the drawings of the midship sec-

tion you ask for. Have just sent dispatch to Scofield <fc Markham.

—

"We want 180 running feet of 2\ inch square iron to make eight

more port frames. Telegraph if you can get it. Send the plates

ordered for them at once."
I can find no more of that description of iron here. I told Folger

to telegraph his friends, and let me know. I h^ve just received notice

of LeBarron's shipment of 291 bars assorted iron, f 1|, 1|—about nine
tons. We shall probably want more of the small sizes. I will attend
promptly to your other suggestion.
The unwelcome news of the fall of Fort Donelson has just reached

us. The account implies that our loss in men captured or surrendered
must be great, but as I tell our friends here, it is no time to cry or com-
plain, but to come forward to a man, with renewed energies and pluck,
and"act in making increased defences for the city. If the success of
the enemy is complete at Donelson, it is not improbable he may pass
Columbtis at any time and descend the river. The people here under
an organization, can do much in a few days if they will. Those who
hesitate now, should be treated as enemiesi



150

I wish you would talk this subject over with dear little Annie and
her grandma, as well as your own family, that they may be prejMired

for the worst. Do not alarm them, but have them to understand that

we may meet with severe reverses on our coasts and rivers, and there

may be much suffering, but the result will be more glorious to us in the

end.
Give much love to all, and I remain

Your friend and brother,

A. F. TIFT.

JV. Tift, Esq., ^/6a«y, Georgia:

I have your fruit trees nicely packed in a barrel, and will send them,

by express to-day if I can get them off.

I have received railroad receipt for our water t^nks shipped from

Gosport Navy Yard, but no advices of the chains and anchor, capstan

or shaft yet.

A. F. T."
The Committee then adjourned.

FRIDAY, Sept. 16, 1862.

The Committee met at 9 o'clock.

Present—Messrs. Clay, (ChairmanJ) Lyons, Maxwell, Dupre, Pey-

ton, Foote and Barksdale.

Lieut. Bkverly Kennon was recalled, and the following cross inter-

rogatories put to him by the Secretary of the Navy, through the Chair:

\st Que$tio7i. Examine the order shown you marked No. 1, and

say whether you rieceived it.

The following is the order referred to:

<^ C. S. Navy Department, ^
^ Office of Orders and Detail, • >

Richmond, Jw/y 8;/i, 1862. 3

Sir: Proceed to New Orleans, Louisiana, and report to Commander
I^awrence Rousseau for duty forthwith.

Respectfully,

S. BARRON,
Captain in Charge.

By command of Secretary of the Navy.

Lieut. Beverly Kennon, C. S. N., Petersbiirgf Virginia.

Lieut. Kennon. I received that order.

2d Question. Who ordered you to purchase materials and prepare

ordnance stores in New Orleans—what were your orders—were they in

writing, and have you a copy of them ?

LieuL Kennon. I was ordered by Com. HoUins to purchase the

stores in New Orleans. I received a formal order from him to •that

effect. All orders that I gave, I had to sign bills for, and these bills in

every case were approved by Com. Hollins, which I suppose is suffi-

cient proof that 1 did not act entirely on my own authority.
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3d Question. You say there was not a cartridge bag furnished to

*the McRae. Had she not been previously supplied with ordnance
stores, and been ready for sea, and to run the blockade as a cruising
ship, and with cartridges prepared ?

Lieut, Kennon. Yes, sir. In answer to the latter part of the ques-
tion, I will state that the McRae had been fitted out in all respects,

with the exception of receiving a six-pounder brass rifle gun and all

the gear belonging to it. That she received after I reached New Or-
leans. She wanted 100 9-inch cartridge bags afterwards, but there

were none in New Orleans. I had these made myself and taken on
board of her. I mention that circumstance to let you see that provi-

sion had not been made for her further equipment, or that of any other

vessel, to my knowledge.
4tk Question. You say, " I also had shells made for muskets and

Mississippi rifles, as well as hand grenades, filled with gun cotton and
Greek fire. I had also made what are termed liquid shells, for rifle and
other guns. These I invented myself. These things they stopped me
from making, on account of the expense of getting them up." State

to whom you refer by the word theij 9

Lieut. Kennon. The word "they" should properly refer to the

Government itself or its agents. The order emanated from the bureau of

ordnance, I should suppose, I received notice after I left New Or-

leans, that the Government would not take these articles as they were

too expensive, and they were therefore left in the hands of the maker.

I received the notice from Lieut. Minor, and subsequently from , the

maker of them, a Mr. Persh.

5t/i. Question. You say you furnished thousands of munitions of

different kinds to the army—" different kinds of shells which 'I ordered

to be made, were also furnished them. '

' By whose order was this done

;

what reports, written or otherwise, did you make of these transactions,

and to whom were they made? State what shells were thus made by
your order, and furnished to the army, and by whom were you subse-

quently prevented from making them?
Lieut. Kennon. Under the head of "shells," will come sub marine

batteries. I fiirnished 150 to Gen. De Russey, Chief Engineer in Gen.

Polk's army, who came to New Orleans for the purpose of getting

some, and finding that I had some already made. Com. Hollins ordered

me to furnish them, and I did so. bfurnished 10-inch and 13-inch

mortar shells for Fort Jackson and Fort St. Phillip. They were made
at the same foundry at which the army were getting their shells made,
but not having enough of them, the army took as many belonging to the

navy as were necessary. I also supplied the array with 11-inch shells,

shot and grape for the same gun; 32-pounder shells, shot, grape and
canister, and the same for 8 and 9-inch guns. I also supplied the army
with friction and percussion primers. There are none others in the

Confederacy to,my knowledge like them, as the same primer can be

used either with or without a lock. Sometimes I made written reports

of these transactions to Com. Hollins when I had time to do so. But
more generally I made verbal reports, and in furnishing these articles,

if I did not act always by his orders, 1 did with his consent. I was

notified by letter that the expenditures in the ordnance department at

New Orleans were enormous^, and that I should in future expend as

IS
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little mone\^ as possible, and make no more contracts. When Mr.,

Minor was sent to New Orlqans to see why it was, and how it was that

I had spent so much money, he seemed very much astonished, but he for-

got that Richmond and Norfolk had secured from the enemy thousands

of heavy guns, and all sorts of ammunition and ordnance stores, whilst

there was nothing of the liiiid in New Orleans. There were many
vessels fitting out at that time, besides floating batteries, and as I could

have these things made and put on board these ships sooner than 1

conld by waiting to receive them from Richmond or Norfolk, I found it

necessary to make everything in the city. I furnished all these vessels

complete with ordnance, including their fire-works, rockets and every

thing else. I never borrowed from any navy yard, or any arsenal any
thing whatever, except some fuse from the arsenal at Baton Rouge.

After I left New Orleans, an order was given for the equipment of

other vessels belonging to the navy and river defence, and besides this,

the army wanted stores, guns, &c., which they did not have. These

they drew from the navy, and I know that they got thousands of car-

tridge bags, because thpy could not find flannel to make them, or they

had not the time. So that everything I had made, to the best of my
belief, came into play. I was, however, subsequently prevented from

making these purchases by an order from the ordnance department,

which I suppose came from the Secretary of the Navy.

6th Question. You say,^'I found when I afterwards returned to

New Orleans, that the only 13-inch shells they had were, those made
by me in August." State how many of these shells you had made ?

Lieut. Kennon. - I ordered 2,600 or 3,000, intending to have the

mortars made for the shells, as the enemy would attack us in all proba-

bility, botii from above and below, with mortars. I supposed our Gov-

ernment would like to meet them with the same weapons. I don't

know how many were made, but I know that Fort St. Phillip and

Fort Jackson received many of them. I believe all that they used

during the bombardment, or nearly all at any rate, were of that size.

7th Question. For what purpose were they made ?

Lieut. Kennon. To be fired from mortars.

8th Question. Had the navy a gun or mortar m which they could

be used ?

Lieut. Kennon. No, sir.

9/A Question. Did you make any written reports to the naval

ordnance officer at Richmond, or to Capt. Hollins, of your operations

as ordnance officer, and did you keep the Department or Capt. Hollins

advised thereof?

Lieut. Kenncn. I kept Capt. Hollins advised, and as I said before,

when I had the time, I made a written statement, but as a general

thing, I made a verbal one.

lOM Question. You say, ^' I knew if I allowed myself to be tied

down by the rules of the office, I never would have done anything.'*

What office and what rules do you refer to—state fully ?

Lieut. K. The office that I refer to is the ordnance office. I

knew that I should not gel anything whatever without making requisi-

tions, or even triplicates, all of which should receive the signature ofthe

Commodore of the Station, and the Ordnance officer at Richmond, and
had I waited to have these requisitions signed at Richmond, and after-
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wait to get any one article ; and as Ave were very anxious, for many
causes, to have these things as soon as possible, I requested the Com-
modore to permit me to get them then, and cover them all with a requi-

sition afterwards, to which he assented. My reasons for not making a
written report to Commodore Hollins, were, that I had no one to assist

nioin the office. There was no navy yard a;t New Orleans, and the
people were unused to the making of articles of the description needed.

A great deal of my time was taken up in showing them how to make
these things. I had a clerk, it is true, and some runners in the office,

for the purpose of carrying, messages, and small articles of various

kinds. All that expense I paid myself. A portion has been very re-

cently returned to me,
lltk Question. Did Captain HoUins authorize you to violate these

rules, and to take the responsibility to which you refer?

Lieut. K. He did not order or permit me to violate the rules. He
did, however, permit me to procure these articles, because, as I have
stated, he saw it was absolutely necessary, under the circumstances, to

do so.

\2th Question. You say

—

^' At first, when I made the contract for

guns, the hire of laborers was very much less than it was afterwards.

1 had guns made then for 11 cents a pound. The first contract was
made in August," &c. State the number, weight, and calibre of the

guns you had made in New Orleans for the navy ; the number of these

tested by you ; the number rejected and accepted, and the number,
weight, and calibre of those contracted for by you, but Avhich were not

made.
Lieut. K. The number and weight of the guns that I had finished

'was one 32 pounder, rifle, weighing about 12,000 pounds, and one 12
pounder, brass gun, weighing 900 pounds. These were the only two
guns finished by my order, whilst I was there. 1 had ordered fifty 32
pounders, rifles, each to weigh about 12,000 pounds, w^hich were not

finished, Mr. Bujac, of Algiers, finished one of them about the time

that the fight took place at Forts Jackson and St. Philhp. Mr. Leeds
was to make 12 brass guns, 12 pounders each, to weigh 900 pounds,
and he was ordered, if he could get the metal, to increase that number
to 36. These were all the guns that I ordered. I did not test any of

the guns above mentioned. I rejected six 32 pounder guns, 3,300 or

4,200 pounds weight, I forget which, because I did not think they were
worth the powder and shot I would have to use in testing them. Leeds
told me that he did n6t think the- guns were remarkably good, when I

expressed an unwillingness to test them. There were six guns made
by Bujac <fc Co., which were ordered by the Department before 1 went
to New Orleans. They were finished when I was there. I tested all

of them, and while they stood the powder test, they could not bear in-

spection, as their interiors were filled with cavities, when a single one
should condemn any gun. I understood since that the government
took some, if not all, of these guns, with the intention of using them
with reduced charges. That makes 12 guns, so far, rejected, all of

which I tested. There were also 3 heavy 8-inch Columbiads, weigh-
ing from 12 to 14,000 pounds each, made by Bennett & Lurgis, which
1 tested and accepted. Two of them were mounted on the floating
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batteries, and one of them was mounted at Fort St. Phillip. I also

tested, in March last, a rifle gun, 3 inches in diameter, the calibre of

which I do not exactly know. That gun belonged to the army, and when
I went on duty in command of the Governor Moore, I left it in the

hands of the army ordnance. I was asked to test a wrought iron rifle,

but declined doing so. I think that this list embraces all. There '

were 12 rejected in the aggregate, and 4 accepted in the aggregate,

13tk Question. Look at this telegram, and say if you sent it.

The following is the telegram referred to :

" RicuMoi^i), NoVembe)', 186].

To Hon. S. R. Mallory :

It is impossible for me to leave here until the ordnance accounts are

well looked into. My own honor is at stake, and the impositions that

may be practiced, will do no good to the service. I respectfully request

a few davs delay to adjust matters, by authority of Commodore
Hollins.

BEVERLY KENNONV
Lieutenant C. S. N.^^

Lieut. K. I sent either tliat or something very much like it.

I4^/i Question. Look at this telegram '^'^ A, B.," and say whether or

not it was received by Captain Hollins.

The Ibllowing is the telegram referred to :

" Confederate ^States Navy Department, \
Richmond^ November 10th, 1861. >

Flag OJicer Geo. iN. Hollins, New Orleans:

Lieutenant Kennon alleges that his honor and the interests of the

government require a little delay in complying with his orders to report

tor "^^ Patrick Henry." You will judge of this, and grant a week's

delay, if you deem it necessarv.

S.R. MALLORY,
tSecretary of the Auci/."

Lieut. Iv. 1 d<i not know whether or not that telegram was received

by Commodore Hollins, but lie granted me a delay of a week . He
then went up the river, and wrote me a letter by one of his oflicers,

granting me a longer delay, if necessary. Mv reaso)i for asking for

this delay was, 1 found that many articles had been charged that liad

either been receipted for before, or that I had ,not received ; and I ))re-

lerred remaining in New Orleans to check a repetition of this thing,

should it occur. I should think, that by remaining there, 1 detected

errors in accounts to the amount ol", say from $30,000 to JJiiSO/OOO.

Navy agent, Mr. Howell, who is now in Richmond, may recollect this

thing.

15th Question. i-)id you receive any letter, order, or communication
from the Secretary of the Navy, at New Orleans, other than your first

order to the station, and the order relieving you from duty there? If

so, state it or produce it.

Lieut. K. 1 was notified by Commodore Hollins that I had been

ordered to report* at Richmond. T saw two or three telegraphic d is-
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patclies, or letters, I don't know which, that were sent to the Commo-
dore, and shown by him to me. I did not receive any communication
other than those referred to in the interrogatory. The reason why I

•did not receive s^ny, is, that it is customary for all cummunicatiohs to

inferior officers or men, to pass through the hands of the senior com-
manding officer. I

I6th Question. What reason liad you to fear the anger of the De-
partment for erasing $30,000, or $35,000, from over-charged bills?

Lieut. K. I was afraid that they might accuse me of neglect of

duty, and Mr. Mallory seemed to think that I was greatly in error in

doing what I had done ; and knowing that I had done nothing im-

proper thus far, I thought that I could take upon myself the responsi-

bility to remain longer, for the reason that I have already given, fear-

ing more than anything else that the government would be under the

impression that I had been neglectful of my duty in allowing such
large amounts to be charged without my knowledge.
nth Question. You speak of your desire to explain your operations

nt New Orleans to Captain Buchanan and the Secretary of the Navy,
when you came to Richmond. Did you not have several interviews

with the Secretary before you resigned, and did you not then describe

and explain them ? *^

Lieut. K, I never had an interview with the Secretary of the

Navy before I resigned. I called upon him four separate times, at his

room, to see him, but was informed that he was sick, and that I could
not see him. I then went to Captain JJuchanan, who was chief of the

Bureau of Orders and Details, and he ordered me to go on duty on*
board the '^ Patrick Henry." After I resigned, I had one or more in-

terviews with the Secretary of the Navy.
18^/i Question. On what day did you arrive in Riclmiond.
Lieut. K. On the evening of the 5th of December, I think.

19//6 Question. By whom were you limited to five minutes, within
which to decide whether to submit to any indignity or resign ?

Lieut. K. 1 was limited by the rules of the service. I had to obey
the order or resign, one or the other.

20/A Questiofi. Did the indignity to which you refer, consist in or

dering you as a Lieutenant of the " Patrick Henry," under comman-
der Tucker, while other officers, junior to yourself, were commanding
small vessels?

Lieut. K, Yes, sir. Many of these officers i-n command of sniall

vessels, or some of them, at any rate, never have been in the navy,
whilst I had been, atthat time, nearly 10 years.

21st Question. You refer to, and state part of a conversation with
the officer of Order and Detail, then Captain Franklin Buchanan-
state all that conversation, as nearly as you can.

Lieut. K. 1 wished to know of Captain Buchanan, why it was I

was ordered from New Orleans. He gave me no satisfaction wliatever,

before 1 resigned, but after I resigned, when I went to him on the same
subject, he intimated to me that it was on account of my having drank
too much. I told him, if I committed an error that I wished he would
try me by court martial, and punish me as an officer should be pun-
ished, but not punish me by ordering me to the position in which I

would have to serve on board the " Patrick Henry." He declined do-



142

ing so. I told him that I had a petition, which was signed by tiie

Mayor of New Orleans, and the other officers of the city government,

besides many citizens, both strangers and friends to me, requesting that

1 would be left in command of the ordnance. Commodore HolUns had
also made this request on more than one occasion. This is pretty good
proof that I had not been so interfiperate as Captain Buchanan sup-

posed. But whether I have been so or not, I left proof in New Or-

leans sufficient to show him that it did not prevent me from performing

my duty. But I got no satisfaction from him Avhatever. Now 1 saw,

that in all probability, this thing was a "draw back to me, and I then

resolved to give it up altogether, so long as the war lasted. I wrote a

letter to that effect to the Secretary of the Navy, requesting hjm to permit

me to withdraw my resignation, but he refused to do so, and Captain

Buchanan gave me to understand very positively, that he would object

to it. I then left here for New Orleans, and when I received the com-
mand of this vessel I wrote a letter to the Secretary of the Navy, tell-

ing him that sooner or later I would have my commission back,

whether he wished to let me have it or not, or, within a month I would
be in the place of departed spirits. I think that is the language of the

letter. I don't know whether he received it or not.

22rf Qxiestion. You speak of testing 35 guns, some of whicli you
mounted on the lakes, some on the river, and some on the forts. Was
this done for the army or the navy ?

Lieut. K. Fifteen ought to be the number mentioned in the inter-

rogatory. The guns mounted on the river and on the lakes, were for

•the navy ; those on the forts were for the army, and they were tested

and others banded after I resigned. I was then serving in the army
ordnance, at the request of Gen. Lovell.

23rf Question. You say—" 1 was subsequently ordered away six

times, I believe, but the Commodore kept me there." State when and
by whom you were thus ordered, and produce the orders, if you have

them.
-Lieut. K. I was ordered by the Chief of the Bureau of Orders,

who acted on the authority of the Secretaiy of the Navy. *It is Hkely

that the original order was sent in writing. I saw two others that came
by telegraph. 1 cannot produce the orders, because they were not sent

directly to me, but to the commander of the station. I may be in error

as to the number of times, but was often ordered.

'24/A Question. Were these orders from the Secretary or Captain

Buchanan ?

Lieut. K. I forget whether all were from the Bureau of Orders or

not ; but I am quite sure that they were issued by authority of the

Secretary, or his order.

'Z'Hlt Question. State the quantity of powder you got for nothing,

(see evidence,) the quantity you purchased at .*§*d per pound, luid

the quantity you seized—from whom it was taken, and what re-

jK)rt was made of it. When you say that you do not think these

things, if purchased at a later period, could have been gotten for less

than three millions of dollars, to what do you refer?

Lieut. K. The quantity of powder I got for nothing was very small,

about 200 pounds. I forget the quantity I purchased at $3 a pound-
something about 3000 pounds. 1 am not sure that all was delivered.



I seized two kegs of powder, containing about 50 pounds each, because

the price asked was so very high. On its owner agreeing to accept a
reasonable price, such as was paid by the army at that time, $2 50 a

pound, I took the powder and receipted for it. I suppose the bill was
paid by the navy agent, as all bills from the ordnance department went
to Mr. Hall, the navy agent. I am not sure Avhether I made a written

or verbal report of this matter to Commodore Hollins or not. In regard

to the latter part of the question, as to what I refer to when 1 say
that I do not think these things, if purchased at a later period, could
have been gotten for less than three millions of dollars, 1 do not refer

to powder, but 1 do refer to such things as flannel, zinc, copper, block

tin, and various kinds of shells, fire-works, and the general work of
the ordnance department. The hire of laborers increased 25 per cent
whilst I was in the city. It afterwards went up a^ much more. Soon
after I left there, the department was consuming a great deal of iron

and other kinds of metals, which, in some cases, the foundries found
it almost impossible to get at a later period, without paying the most
exorbitant prices for them. The fitting of the ordnance department
then did not embrace guns and ammunition alone. There are com-
passes, spy-glasses, sextants, quadrants, &c., &c. All these kinds of
things were furnished by mc as far as 1 was able to furnish them. I

furnished the launches, anchors, awnings, and all their equipments.
All things necessary for navigation—barometers, thermometers, <fcc.,

came from the ordnance office. 1 found these things comparatively
cheap when I first went to New Orleans—but they, like every thing
else, greatly increased in value. Now, in saying that these things

would have cost two or three millions of dollars, I may have been in

error ; but I know that many of these articles cost, in March last, from
three to six times as much as 1 paid for them the September previous.

26ih Question. When did Lurgis & Co. commence making heavy
guns ?

Lieut. K. They had two heavy guns made before I went to New
Orleans, both of which I tested when there.

21th Question. You say that you declined the commission of Lieu-
tenant for the war because you would have to serve under officers who
did not know their duty. State the officers to whom you refer. Did
you decline in writing ?

Lieut. K. I refer to -nearly every Lieutenant appoihted as such for

the war, for the simple reason that very few of them have been to sea

over six months, and some of them hardly as long as that. I know one
who was in California with me as a banker. He resigned 13 years
ago, being then in the service but a few months, and he is now a
Lieutenant. I would have to serve under him should I accept the
commission offered me.

Mr. SEMMES. What is the name of that officer?

,
Lieut. K. Lieutenant Geo. W. Gift. There are a number of oth€rs

of the class of 1857 who resigned after they graduated at the Naval
Acaden^y. They have seen about six months' sea service. To obtain
the position of passed midshipftian, they would have to go through an
examination in all branches. Next they would be masters, and then
Lieutenants. There are two or. three classes of Lieutenants for the

war, who have seen from 11 months* sea service, to no sea service at all,



either in or out of the navy. I have not declined in writing to accept

this commission. I wrote a letter to the Secretary of the Navy, saying

to him, that if I accepted this commission, I would have to serve under
officers who were very young midshipmen, when I had been a Lieutenant

for some years. I wrote a letter like this to the President. In a letter

to the Secretary of the Navy, I asked him if I could not be allowed to

withdraw my resignation, but I have never received an answer directly

from him. Since then, I told him that I could not receive a commission
that would place me at the foot of the " navy list," as I had already

been on duty 14 years out of 15, and that I have been in the service up to

the time that I resigned from the United States navy. 1 have been on
duty under the Confederate government 16 or 18 months, in addition

to that.

28^/a Questiofi. What is the depth of the ri'/er between Forts Jack-

son and St. Philip ?

Lieut. K. I cannot state positively, but I should think the channel

was about 20, or even 40 fathoms. I never have surveyed or sounded
the river, but I know that, as a general thing, the channel is very deep
between the city and the head of the passes.

29th Question. Whom did you ask to purchase Maguire's 40 horse

power engines ?

Lieut. K. I asked Commodore Hollins.

'SOth Question. Name the steamers at New Orleans which you state

might have been fitted as rams.

Lieut. K. I cannot recollect all their names. The city of New Or-

leans seized the vessels to which I allude, and named one of them
the '^Warrior," one the '^ Stonewall Jackson," one the " Resolute,"

one the " Reliance," one the " Defiance," one the " Gen. Lovell," one
the " Col. Lovell," one the " Gen. Bragg," and one the " Jeff. Thomp-
son .

'
' There were others whose names I cannot now recollect. There

were also the " Gen. Quitman " and the '' Gov. Moore." The steamer
'' Tennessee "was not seized, but was taken.possession of by the enemy,
whom 1 saw using her as a transport.

3\st Question. You refer to the cause of your resignation; look at

these letters and say did you write them? These letters are marked
"C," '«D," "E"and"F."

Lieut. Kennon here examined the letters, and admitted to have writ-

ten them. They read as follows: - .

[0.]

Confederate States of America, ^
Navy Department, >

Richmond, Janu/iry Ith, 1862. 3

To his Excellency Jefferson Davis,
President of the Oonfederate States—

Sir: I respectfully request that you will permit me to withdraw my
resignation. I make this request of you because I feel that I will be
able to do better service in the navy, where I have been for nearly 16
years, for 10 years and three months of which time, I have been
on active and efficient service, than I would be able to perform in any
other capacity, or on any other duty. I have ever been fondly attached
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to, and am now so proud of the profession of my early choice, that I

am anxious to assist and see its efficiency demonstrated by the practical

tests which will soon be brought to bear upon it. I have not enjoyed
a moment's pleasure siace I resigned, nor have I since I was ordered

from New Orleans, and I feel confident that I will never be happy or

contented out of the navy. AU of my family, my naval friends and
the Government employees of my acquaintance have begged and advised

me to make this request of you. Independent of their wishes on the

subject, I have earnestly wished to do so from the day that I lost pos-

session of my better judgment, but have until now hesitated for the

reason that I had resigned. I have the honer to.be,

Your obedient servant,

BEVERLY KENNON,
Late Lieutenant C. »S'. N.

Richmond, V a., Feirworr?/ 23</, 1862.

To His Excellency the President—
Sir: 1 have the honor to address you for the second and last time in

regard to my being reinstated in the navy. In a conversation witn the

Hon. Mr. Mallory a few days since, I was told by him that he had
heard that I was, or had been dissipated, otherwise my resignation

would not have been accepted. If such is the case, I feel sure that my
dissipation has been greatly exaggerated, or Com. Hollins would not

have asked that I should be retained in command of the ordnance

where I had performed my duty with great credit to yourself, and satis-

faction to me. Many of the leading merchants in New Orleans signed

a petition to have me kept there, and I feel confident that had they

thought that my drinking caused me to neglect iny duty there, they

would not have done this. I admit I have often within the last eight

years drank too freely, yet there are few men in either this navy or the

United States navy who ever saw me stagger, or found me unfitted for

duty. I have never caused a difficulty with any one while under the

influence of drink, nor have I ever in that state injured any one as

much as the report from one person has injured me. I resigned because

I thought that injustice had been done me by Gapt. Buchanan. I was
then angry, which made me hasty—both anger and pride got the better

of me, and it was not until all was over that I saw wherein I was wrong,
and ever since I have been upon the stool of repentance for having
done so. As soon as I saw my error and learned why it was that I

was refused the privilege of withdrawing my resignation, I hastened to re-

pair the error, and remove the only obstacle in the way. But one stronger

in influence and power threw obstacles in my way which I could not

lemove, nor will I be able to do so, unless my voice is heard as

well as his. It has been some weeks since I drank a drop of strong

liquors, nor will I do " so, it matters not where I may be, as long
as the war lasts. I voluntarily^ swore that I would not drink

any sort or. description of liquor so long as the war lasts, if my
condWiission should be given me as it was when I resigned, and yet I

have received no answer. Many persons have been pardoned after
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having done all manner of vile things, yet Capt. Buchanan is unwil-

ling to receive even a promise like that of which 1 speak, because " he

never knew one to keep it." Others may have broken their promises,

but I will defy any man to say I have ever brolv^n one of mine. When
1 went to New Orleans I was almost a perfect stranger. Had I just

arrived from Europe, I could hardly have been more so. I found out

with all despatch where I could get the various articles made that an

ordnance department requiredj when 1 drew the models for everything,

(I except nothing;) superintended their making, and finally left in a

fine and healthy state, an ordnance second only to this one in Norfolk.

I had no assistance. Besides attending to its duties, I fitted the batte-

ries of all the steamers on the lakes, the floating batteries on the river,

and all the steamers except three. 1 fitted complete, the launches and
the Tuscarora at the same time, the work on the latter occupying but

two and a half days. A drunken man could not have performed any
one of these duties; and I flatter myself that but few sober men could

have performed them all in the little time that I had. I know I filledmy
position with no discredit to myself. I feel, and shall ever feel proud

of having had it. It was natural that I should feel hurt and wounded
to be ordered as a watch officer, when my juniors were left in command
of various points. The only thin^ that kept life in me, was the fact of

so many friends unknown to me until then, who gave me so many
proofs of their appreciation of my labors. I spent more than what my
pay amounted to, to facilitate all operations, which would have been

much retarded if I had not done so. I know that I have over 200

cousins and one brother in the army who have given up their all in our

cause. My parents have over 40 nephews and great nephews in the

service, and I think that the request of the only outsider might be lis-

tened to, particularly when you consider that I have given up my
whole soul to my profession, and to service on foreign stations. Tlie

prime of my life has been wasted on the water, where for years I have

been far from the comforts of a home, and the society of my family and

friends. Capt. Buchanan's relatives are Northerners. He has come
with us. As to my qualifications, I refer you to all my associates and
acquaintances. I am as good an infantry and artillery soldier as a

sailor, and as good a draughtsman and nautical surveyor as navigator

or observer. I hope you will do me the favor to read this, and I feel

sure that justif'e will be done me. I have the honor to be,

Your obedient servant,

BEVERLY KENNON.

[E.]

Richmond, Februarf/ 23d, 1862.

To His Excellc7icAj the President—
Sir: Pardon me for adding a P. S. to my long letter, but 1 do so to

let you know that I have command of a fine screw steamer, which will

soon leave a Southern port as a privateer. She is the finest vessel in

our waters, and with her heavy battery and large crew, I feel confident

that ere long I will win from you, what I now ask of you. I feel wounded

to know that one has actually refused to listen t,o me in regard to this



juatter. 1, like him, coiideiua u man as much as any ouc; ibr allowing
liimself to be placed below the level of a beast, but at the same. time, I

equally condemn a man who expresses an unwilUngness to allow that
-' beast " to belter his condition, and prove to friend and foe that he is

not as black as he is painted. I have the honor to be,

Very respectfully, your obedient servant,

BEVERLY KENNON,

[F.]

Richmond, Va._, February 12^/t, 1862.

Sir: You told me tliis morning that you would not have received, or

rather accepted my resignation, had I not had the reputation of having*
been drinking too hard. I am very anxious for more than one reason

t6 recover my commission, and as drinking is the only obstacle in the

way, I will remove it, so far as I am concernedT, by pledging myself not

to drink so long as this war lasts. If you will return it to me, I swear
1 will not drink a drop of any kind of liquor, spirituous or malt, so

long as the war lasts. My family and all my many friends would be
happy to have me in the navy a§;ain, and I know you will niever have
cause to regret having granted my wishes.

Very respectfully, your obedient servant,

BEVERLY KE^NNON.
Hon. 8. R. Mallory, Secretary of the Navy, Richmond, Va.

Mr. DUPRE. Did you ever receive any answer to this letter?

Lieut. Kennon. No, sir, except what the Secretary of the Navy
told me. I had no idea of the cause for removing me fi'om New Orleans.

No cause was given until after I resigned, and then I was told the cause
by Capt. Buchanan. I think I should explain that part of the letter in

Avhich I refer to the Captain's family being Northerners. Nine hours
after 1 arrived in Richmond from W^ashington, I was under orders to

the steamer -'Patrick Henry." I left Washington the day previous,

not having waited to ascertain whether or not my resignation which I

sent in was accepted. Capt. Buchanan resigned a few days before I

did, but did not offer his services to the Southern Confederacy for a num-
ber of months afterwards. That is what I referred to when I said his

family were Northerners. I told him that in his office the day after I re-

signed my commission under this Government.
Mr. DUPRE. You say you had received a letter of notice about

your extravagant prices for ordnance stores from the department ?

Lieut. Kennon. No, sir. Com. HoUins sent me a letter which he
received on that subject, and told me to answer it, whether in earnest or

not, I don't know. But I wrote a letter to Richmond to Capt. Minor,
of the ordnance department, asking him to ask the Secretary if he ex-

pected any one to be able to defend a city worth millions of dollars, by
an expenditure of 50 cents.

Mr. MAXWELL. It was suggested on yesterday, that for the pres-

ent, we close with this investigation. Perhaps it would be well for us
to ascertain whether Congress will adjourn on the 30th, before we come
to any definite decision upon that subject.
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After a lew collociuial remarks among the members

—

Mr. FOOTE moved that the Committee meet two weeks in advance

of the next session of Congress, so as to be prepared to report upon the

assembhng of that body.
The hour for the meeting of Congress having arrived, further action

upon this motion was postponed until Monday. The Committee then

adjourned until half past 9 o'clock on Monday, the 29th inst.

MONDAY, Sept. 29, 1862.

The Comniitlee met at half past 9 o'clock.

Present—Messrs. Clay, (Chairman,) Lyons, Boyce, Peyton, Semnjqs,

Maxwell, Barksdale andX)upre.

The CHAIR. We meet here pursuant to adjournment, as I under-

stood it on Friday. I learn that some members of the Committee came
here on Saturday under the impression that we were to meet on. that

day.
" Mr. BOA'^CE. Yes, I was here.

Mr. BARKSDALE. My impression was that we had adjourned

until to-day.

The CHAIR. If there is any witness whom any member of the

Committee would like to examine, he is at liberty to do so. If there is

not, I don't know of any business we can do to-day, and it is now for

the Committee to determine whether we shall undertake any more busi-

ness during the. present session of Congress or not," or adjourn the

Committee, and ask leave of our respective Houses to meet again next

session.

Mr. SEMMES. There is one witness here that I accidentally met
on Saturday, but understanding that there would be no further exami-

nation, 1 gave him no notice to atlend. During the last three or four

days of the session of Congress, we will have night sessions, and this

would necessarily render us unfit to attend here the morning following.

Mr. LYONS. It seems to me that we cannot continue the meeting
of the Committee during the remainder of the session, or indeed any
longer in the manner in which we have been conducting them. If we
are to continue in session, it must be in some other way than we have
been hitherto in the liabit of meeting. It is impossible for me to attend

as I have been doing, otherwise than at a sacrifice of other interests im-

portant to my constituents. This is my district, and a large amount of

department and other business devolves upon me, from which members
from remote districts are exempt. To atlend to this business, I would
have to absent myself either from the sessions of the House or the

Committee. I "propose therefore, that the Committee shall report to

their respective Houses, that we cannot go on any further at this session,

and ask that the Committee be continued over until the next session, or

be permitted to meet at some period during the recess. I suppose

that the Committee might find it agreeable to come here, say 20 or 30

days in advance of the next session, and then we could meet at 10,

and sit until four every day. In that way we could do more business in
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10 days, iliaii we now could in 30. I suppose it would not be disa-

greeable to the Committee to come here at that period. I do not mean
by that proposition that the Committee have leave to sit during the
recess.

Mr. DUPRE. The only objection 1 have to that portion of the state-

ment made. by the gentleman from Virginia, (Mr. Lyons,) about meet-
ing here before the assembling of Congress is, that I should come here
a distance of 1,600 miles, and perhaps not find a majority of the Com-
mittee in attendance.

Mr. BARKSDALE. I suggest that we postpone the consideration

of this matter until a later day of this session. We could meet again
on Wednesday or Thursday, at the option of the Chair, and determine
what we could do.

Mr. SEMMES. Why not determine now ?

Mr. BARKSDALE. Perhaps we might have better means of deci-

ding what was best to be done after we ascertain what transpires during
that interval. However, I am willing that the matter shall now be
decided.

Mr. SEMMES. What I would propose is this, that any 'gentleman
who has witnesses to examine, should file his interrogatories Avith the
Secretary, these interrogatories to be sent by direction of the member
filing them, and then that we meet with the opening of the session.

—

During the first week or 10 days of the session, little or nothing is

done, and we would have a full opportunity to attend daily on the Com-
mittee, and discharge the business with despatch. With this under-
standing, I now move that we adjourn until the first day of the next
session, and that the Chairmen of the respective branches of the Com-
mittee be permitted to ask permission of the two Houses to continue
the Committee until that period.

Mr. BOYCE. Are there any witnesses here now that are necessary

to be examined ?

Mr. SEMMES. No, sir.

Mr. BOYCE . I would propose, if the witnesses are here, thatwe meet
at night. I think it is very important that an investigation of this kind
should be closed. The country is left in doubt as to the condition of

the Navy Department, and this doubt should be removed as soon as

possible.

Mr. LYONS. Before the question on the motion to adjourn is put,

I would suggest if it would not be better for us to adopt a resolution to

carry out the idea of the Senator from Louisiana, (Mr. Semmes,)
authorizing any gentleman to 'file interrogatories here?

Mr. SEMMES. Then 1 offer the following resolution

:

Resolved, That any member of the Committee shall be authorized
during the recess, to take testimony by deposition, filing the interroga-

tories with the Secretary, the testimony to be taken after the said inter-

rogatories are crossed by the Secretary of the Navy, and that the

Secretary be directed to send out the interrogatories and cross interroga-
tories under the direction of the members filing the same.
The CHAIR. Let me suggest whether it would not be proper to

limit this right as to the person taking the testimony ?

Mr. MAXWELL. Let it be taken in legal form.
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Mr. LYONS. You should have it taken before a Notary Pubhc, a

Justice of the Peace, or a Commissioner of the Confederate States.

The question was put on the adoption of the resolution, and it was
decided in the affirmative.

The question then recurred on the motion to adjourn.

Mr. SEMMES. Before that is put, I would remark that we have a

good many documents, particularly the correspondence between the

Department and the Messrs. Tift, which, when you come to make up
your report, it is necessary to cop}^. I will move that the Secretary of

the Navy be requested to furnish to the Committee, at its next meeting,

copies of that correspondence.

The motion was agreed to.

The question was then put on the motion to adjourn until the 1st

day of the next session of Congress, and it was agreed to; and the

Committee accordingly adjourned over to that period.
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SECOND SESSION.

Richmond, January 2l5^, 1863 *

The Committee met at 10 o'clock, A. M.
Present—Messrs. Clay, (Chairman,) Semmes, Foote, Phelan, Max=

well and Boyce.
The CHAIR. I have received a communication from the Secretary

of the Navy, which 1 beg leave to submit.

;63.3

Confederate States of America,
Navy Department,

Richmond, January Wfh, 1863.

Hon. C. C. Clay,
Chairman of Committee of Investigation, ^c.

Sir—In compliance with the following resolution, adopted by the

Committee over which you preside, on the 29th of September last—
^'Resolved, That the Secretary of the Navy be requested to have fur-

nished to the Committee at its next session, copies of all the correspon-

dence on file between the Navy Department and the Messrs. Tift, ia

relation to the construction of the Mississippi,"—I have the honor to

transmit herewith copies of all the correspondence therein referred to.

With much respect, vour obedient servant,

S. R. MALLORY,
Secretary of the Navy,

LETTERS FROM K AND A. F. TIFT,

TO THE

SECRETARY OF THE NAVY.

RICHMOND;, August 2&hf 1861

.

Hon. S. R. Mallory, Secretary of the Navy.

The undersigned having submitted the plan of a war vessel, for the

defence of our harbors and coast, which has been approved by your-

self, and a board of naval officers, to whose judgment you submitted

it, we propose to give to the government the use of the invention, and
to superintend and direct, as your agents, the constructibn and comple-

tion of one or more such vessels,, without pecuniary compensation from

20
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the government for our services, or any other reward than that which

every citizen must feel who can, in any way, contribute to the defence

of our country.

Should you accept this offer, we would ask the appointment by you

of such officers as may be found necessary to co-operate with us in the

early and economical construction of the vessel.

Yerv respectfully, your obedient servants,

NELSON TIFT, of Georgia,

ASA F. TIFT, of Florida.

Charleston, September WtJi, 1S61.

My Dear Sir:

I reached Savannah on Sunday last, and on Monday I visited the

principal machine shops, with a view to get proposals to build the

engines for your gun boats, if not for the New Orleans ship; but could

get only the assurance that the two principal "concerns" would ex-

amine the specifications 1 submitted , and would give me an answer on

my return there to-morrow, when I set out for New Orleans; whatever

that may be, I will transmit to you by mail.

I have made every inquiry here, and am satisfied that you cannot

have built either of the engines wanted, within a reasonable or definite

time. I learn all their shops are engaged in making shot, shell, and
other minor work; enough at least to employ their whole time, I fear.

I would advise you to get proposals from the Tredegar Works, as I

begin to think you will be dependent on them for your gun boat en-

gines at least, though we may be able to procure the boilers for them
in New Orleans, if not the engines. If the former can be found ready

made, it will facilitate the work very much.
I will write you from Savannah, and forward letter for R. L.

M. & Co., as I suggested to you. I hope to be in New Orleans on
Sunday next. Brother N. will' meet me on the way, or soon follow.

' In haste, your friend,

A. F. TIFT.

P. S. May not our government get blankets and other necessaries for

our army, per Europe, by the British steamers running direct to St.

Thomas, Bermuda, or Nassau.
You will see that we could easily get them into the country with

such steamers as we have.

Hon» S. R. Mallory, Richmond, Va.

Savannah, September 12th, 1861.

My Dear Sir :

I promised to write you on a particular subject from here, which I

am obliged to postpone until I reach New Orleans, on account of the

lateness of the hour in which I reached here, and then devoting that

time to visiting engine and machine shops.



A Mr. A. N. Miller, of this place, assured me that lie could build one
<»!' the engines for one of your gun boats, in three months, and a Mr.
H. F. Willink, (a first rate ship builder,) he says, can build one of the
gun boats here in about the same time he requires to build the engine,
or loss. Mr. Miller intimated, at my suggestion, that they both might
contract with you for one gun boat complete, and with the assurance,
1 have advised them both to visit Richmond, taking with them such
evidences of their ability and responsibility to fulfil any contract as

would be satisfactory to you, and they might (I thought) rely upon
your entering into such a contract with them.

1 told him you would hold out a liberal reward for the shortest possi-

ble time in which these boats could be built.

Mr. M. named Mr. Alexander Stetson, and other prominent gentle-

men of this State as references. I was enabled to get off to Havana
(per Charleston) an important letter, making inquiry about powder,
arms, and transportation of the same to our shores—a reply to which I

shall probably receive in two or three weeks. I leave to-night for New
Drleans on a mission of which I hope very soon to send you a favoura-
ble report. If Mrs. M. is with you, remember me kindly to her. Let
us know the result of your experiments (since we left) upon the iron

plates and rail road iron. I wrote you per Charleston, that nothing
could be done there in our line.

Your friend,

A. P. TIFT.
Hon, S. R. Mallory, Secretary of the Navy,

New Orleans, September 2oth, 1861.

We agree to furnish to N. & A. F. Tift, agents for the Navy De-
partment of the Confederate States, on board of a war vessel to be
built by them in the vicinity of N^ew Orleans, complete in every
respect, and of the best material and workmanship, all the machinery
and its appurtenances which they may deem necessary for the complete
arrangement, according to specifications to be furnished by them for a
steam war vessel, with steam on and ready for use.

She will have eleven boilers 32 feet long, 42 inches in diameter, 2
return flews, with-mat drum 24 inches in diameter, steam driver 30
inches in diameter, about 41 feet long, with every thing complete as

they shall specify.

Three engines, 36 inches in diameter, and two foot stroke shelf
valves, three propellers, 11 feet in diameter, with cast (or if wrought
iron can be had, to be paid difference,) iron shafts, and everything
complete in connection therewith, as they shall specify.

Two doctor engines, and two blowers, and pumps, with every thing
complete, as they shall specify, for pumping up boiler bilge and pumps
blown for fires, and one for ventilating the vessel j the chimneys to be
grated with cast fearns and wrought iron bars, as may be specified.

Pipes to be made of copper, sieves for propelling to be of brass, <fcc.,

within 90 days. Said N. & A. F. Tift to pay $45,000, and if complex
ted within the 90 days, to pay. $5,000 extra, as a bonus.
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The sum for the boilers complete, and put ready tor fires aud steam
on the boat, say $20,000. One half of the balance of the $25,000,
say half of $25,000, to be paid as it may be wanted for the purchase of

materials, and payment of hands, as the work progresses. The bills

for material to be furnished to said Tifts, and a pay-roll of hands to be

furnished every Saturday night. All the materials and work on said

machinery, to be held as the property of said agents for the said Navy
Department of the Confederate States, and to be at all times in their

possession and control, as a security against the contingency of loss

by the government. The materials to be purchased and the work com-

menced at once, and to be pushed to completion with all the power and
energy possible. The boilers to be put up complete in the vessel within

40 days. The engines and propellers to be put in the vessel, and
every thing complete within 90 days. The remaining $12,500 to be

paid when complete. The remaining $5,000 to be paid when the

work is done as specified, and within the time specified.

(Signed) JACKSON & CO.

New Orleans, September 2Sth, 1861

.

Hon. S. R. Mallory, Secretary of the Navy

:

We arrived here on the I8th, and have communicated with you as

necessity required, hy telegraph. We have been constantly engaged
every day from morning until night, and when business required it,

until late at night.

Our first objects were to secure contracts lor the completion of the

machinery and the building of the vessel by contract at the earliest

possible time, and for a reasonable compensaiion. Messrs. Leeds, the

largest engine building establishment here, proposed as their lo\vest

price $65,000, and their shortest time four months, to complete the

steam machinery on board the vessel. Other parties whom we con-

sulted, either could not make the machinery on account of other en-

gagements, or would not contract for specific time. The only
estabhshment capable of doing the wo^'k and willing to contract, for 90
days was Messrs. Jackson & Co., of the Patterson Iron Works, with
whom we have made a contract, a copy of which is enclosed, to com-
plete every part of the steam machinery in 90 days for $45,000, with a

bonus of $5,000 if they came within that time. Our next object was
to get a competent engineer, draftsman and machinist, to make the

drawings and specifications, and superintend the construction and put-

ting up in the vessel all the machinery. After much trouble on this

subject we secured the services of Mr, Brough, who was then appointed
by Com. Hollins, first assistant engineer, subject to your approval;
after a fe\y days trial, he was placed under our orders and immediately
Bet to work on the drawings.
We will have drawings ready to start the shops at work on Monday

morning. You will see that according to the contract, we are to ad-

vance money to buy necessary materials, (fcc. This was the only way
in which the contract could be made, and you will observe that all such
purchases are to be made in our name, as agents of the Government,
and to be held in our possession. Under this agreement we purchased
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chinery and other castings. It is getting scarce and going up in price.

The preliminary contract enclosed, will be superceded by a more spe-

cific contract, including details, as soon as we get the necessary infor-

mation from our engineer. We visited the principal ship yards and
invited propositions from the proprietors for the construction of the hull

of the vessel. The first whom we saw, Mr. Hughes, after examining
the specifications, would not make a proposition for construction, but
offered to rent us his yard, and the use in common with him, of a saw
mill at $60 per day; hire to us hands at $1 .75 for common laborers, to

$'S per day for carpenters, and to aid us as he could otherwise. The
next party, Messrs. Hyde & Mackey, proposed to undertake the con-

struction of the hull of the vessel at $125,000, but without being
bound to time. The third party, Messrs. Harram & Co., proposed to

build for $147,000 as soon as they could, but without being bound to

time. They also offered to rent us ground in the yard to build on at

$C0 per month, but without a saw or other conveniences.
All the ship yards are on the West side of the river, opposite to New

Orleans, and most of the timber and other materials and machinery is

obtained on the East side, and transported across the river.

Whilst the above propositions were being prepared and considered,

Ave exercised the utmost dihgence, personally and by messengers, to

ascertain when, and upon what terms, and in what time, we could get'

the lumber and other materials to build for Government. We also

examined the river bank to find a suitable place for building on the

East side of the river, to avoid as far as possible the delay and cost of
transportation. We found such a place as we desired immediately above
the corporate line of this city, and within the corporate line of Jeffer-

son city, the property of Mr. Millandon, a copy of whose letter, in

answer to ours tendering the use of the property for the construction,

of the vessel, we send enclosed. We have accepted this liberal propo-
sition. The ground is about one acre between the continuation of a
paved street, extending from the city of New Orleans, past this place

and the levee, and two or three acres between the levee and river.

—

Mr. Constructor Pearce commenced the preparation for building here
to-day; he arrived with part of his hands yesterday; the tools and three

hands who were unavoidably detained arrived to-day.

We have by authority cut through the levee and connected the
grounds; rented a convenient office near, by at $10 per 'month; pur-
chased a portable steam engine of 12 horse power, and saw mill to be
complete on the ground next week, with appurtenances, for $3,200.

—

,

Will also have a blacksmith's shop, sheds for carpenters, and t<^ be com-
pleted next week. We have purchased about 200 sticks of timber to

begin with at from eight to 18 cents per running foot. We shall have
all the bids for lumber and timber that we can get for 100 miles around
here, on Monday, and close contracts with the best of them. We
have had a great variety of bids for lumber and timber sawed, ranging
iTom $18 to $75 per M.,as per quantity, length and pei^sen, and hewed
from 18 to 25 cents per running foot.

The best bids we have yet had from large and responsible contrac-
tors is $25 per M. for the whole bill sawed, and. 18 cents per miming
toot for hewed, of such lengths as we may want l^x 12 inches square.
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The first delivered in the basin, the other delivered in the yard. We
hope to combine these two bids if we cannot get better ones, so as to

get what we want of each kind.

Paymaster Senac has written to you relative to the difficulty he had
in getting funds on the Treasury draft for $75,000, and he has
also informed you of our desire to have $100,000 more sent here soon.
We learn that the market price of railroad iron here is $40 per ton.

and this, if we cover with it, should be bought immediately, and be
prepared against the time the vessel is in condition to begin its use.

The economy and facility with which we can build and fit this

vessel, will depend in a great degree upon our always being prepared

with money to purchase what may be necessary at the right time, and
•pay all our contracts promptly.

There is no surer way to pecuniary ruin for governments or indi-

viduals, than the discredit and consequent high prices, which are the

sure result of a lack of punctuality or deferred payments.
We regret to learn that the credit of the Government is now sufiering

here from this cause

.

Please ask Mr. William Eugene at the navy yard if Ave can get

wrought iron shafts made there, provided we should need them. There
may be shafts in the yard which could be altered. If they cannot be
made there, can Anderson & Co. make them? We may have to send
you an order for spikes from Anderson; if so, please have it filled

immediately.

Com. Hollins says he can have the guns for this vessel made here

cheaper than they can be made and brought here from Richmond.

—

They ought to be prepared of the best class as soon as possible.

Monday Morning, October 1st.—I learn three hands employed here

on Government work have stopped for want of pay. I have mislaid

Mr. Millandon's letter for the moment, but will send it hereafter. He
gives to the Government the use of the property until the 1st of Feb-
raary next.

Very respectfully, your obedient servants,

N. <fc A. F. TIFT,
Agents Navy Departmerit, C. S. N.

New Orleans, Septanber 2Sth, 1861.

To Hon. S. R. Mallory:
Pearce arrived; machinery engaged; Kirk, contractor for engines,

jNeeds fopmer foreman. Lieut. John H. Dawson, Company E., seventh

(7th) regiment Louisiana, Tudor Hall, Virginia, have been ordered

here on special duty immediately.

N. TIFT & BROTHER.

New Orleans, ^epteinber, 1861.

To Hon. 8. R. Mallory.
Arrived to-day; send Pearce immediately; appearances favorable for

machinery and building; particulars by mail.
TV .V. A P TTPT- Sif nhnrlon Hotel.
rticuiars by man

.

N. «fc A. F. TIFT, *SV. Charles Hotel.



159

New Orleans, October 8th, 1861.

Hon. S. R. Mallory:

Dispatch received; Broiigh will not suit us, as we have employed
Iveiis, agent Tredegar works, to superintend whole machinery and put
in ship.

N. & A. R TIFT.

New Orleans, October 10th, 1861.

Ilo7i. S. R. Mallory;

We must build the ship 20 feet longer, to get space for the two lengths
of boilers which are necessary to give sufficient fire surface. Pearce
as:rees with us that the change is indispensable. Please approve.

N.& A. F.TIFT,

New Orleans, October 9th, 1861.

£lo7i. S. R. Mallory, Richmond, Virginia—
Dear Sir: After a full investigation of the subject, in consultation

with engineers and builders, we find that we cannot get either the grate
surface or the fire surface necessary to make sufficient steam for our en-
gines, from one set of boilers ranged side by side across the vessel.

—

The largest size boiler we can get is 42 inches in diameter, with two
flues . We find it necessary to put in two sets of 8 boilers, each 42 inches
in diameter, .30 feet long, and to lengthen the middle section of the ves-

sel 20 feet. This change Avill give the necessary steam to work the
engines to their full capacity by hard firing; which will be about 1,.500

horse power. To effect this result, the expense will be increased by
the addition of boilers, and furnaces, and materials, and work for the
lengthening the vessel.

But the efficiency of the vessel will be greatly increased by her
greater steaming power, and she can carry two more heavy guns. The
above arrangement of the boilers will allow a line of narrow coal-

bunkers, (say five feet wide,) on each side of the boilers. The annexed
diagram will give you an idea of the arrangement:

GOAL BUNKBnS

%SriOLSHELL.

^ PSOI^/SlONSScC.

66 feet.

30 s ao

COAL BUNKERS

85 feet. 35 66 feet—225 feel.

We have been much disappointed for want of a first rate designer,
engineer and practical machinist, after proving the incapacity of two,
who we believe would have rendered the machinery useless, and the
whole scheme abortive, and doing our best to get others who were com»
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petent und ireliahle, we finally employed Mr. E. M. Ivens the agent

here for the Tredegar works, and carrying on here, to take charge of

the whole matter of machinery, design, draw, superintend the buildmg
awd putting up complete in the vessel, all the machinery and its appur-

tenances and connections. He is also to aid in the designing, drawing,

and superintendence of all the iron work, rudder, gratings, ports, &c
.
, for

which service we agree to give him $2,000, and allow him to employ
such assistant draftsmen as may be necessary to facilitate the work

.

He is now at work on the drawings, with two assistants, and we
have the relief and satisfaction of knowing that what he does will be
done right. We hope you will approve of what we have done. The
foundations for the vessel are nearly completed. We are receiving some
timber. We have enough engaged, and it will come in rapidly next
week. The saw mill is nearly ready for operation. Workshops and
blacksmith's shops going up. The ship yard is fenced in, and all is

going forward as well as could be expected. We have purchased most
of the bolt iron that will be necessary, at 4^ for large, and 5 to 5| for

small English refined. Some common at '6^ cents. These articles

raised in price half a cent the day after we bought them.
We will make a report of financial transactions to Saturday night of

this week, and send by next Monday's mail. Com. Hollins left with
his gMi boats for the lower part of the river yesterday. The ram Ma-
nassas left to join him to-day. Something will be done to-night we
think, in the way of an attack on the enemy's fleet.

Very respectfully, your obedient servants,

N. & A. F. TIFT.

We sent you the following dispatch to-day:

" We must build the ship 20 feet longer, to get space for the two lengths

of boilers which are necessary to give sufficient fire surface. Pearce

agrees with us that the change is indispensable. Please approve.

N. &A. F.TIFT.

New Orleans, October ISth^ 1861.

Hon. S. R. Mallory,
Secretary of the Navy, Richmond, Virginia :

We enclose an advertisement by O. B. Beverly, 0. S. Marshal, of 11

boat loads of coal, which are to be sold on the 24tli inst., by order of

District Court, Louisiana, No. 27. We write now simply to give you
our opinion, that every pound of coal that has been or may hereafter

be seized by the Government authorities here, should be taken and held

for the use of the navy, and for those foundries and shops which will

be doing Government work, when they cannot get coal elsewhere. The
boats contain an average of about 500 tons each, and I think that the

Government has seized about 40 boats, which would make an aggre-

gate of say 20,000 tons. It is estimated that the vessels we are build-

ing will burn 30 to 40 tons in 24 hours.

You will probably have a fleet of gun boats and transports here within

a few months numbering, say 20, which will average a consumption

when in service of say 20 tons per day each, or 400 tons per day for
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the fleet. . In that case you would have in the 40 boat loads, fuel for

only 50 days service, to say nothing of the foundries employed on
Government worji:. A sufficient supply of coal seems to us almost as
important to the efficiency of the navy as powder. Wood, if it could
always be obtained, would be a poor substitute, on account of its com-
parative great bulk and inefficiency to the wants of the service.

Our opinion is, that the interests of the Government require the im-
mediate appropriation of all this coal, to be secured and reserved for

Government uses, and that orders to that effect, from the proper depart-

ment, should be first telegraphed and then despatched by letters to the
proper authorities here.

We suppose that the coal would be appraised either at its value, at

the time of its seizure by the Marshal, or at the time it is taken for

Government uses, to ascertain the amount of the sequestration, or to

protect the rights of any citizen who may claim it, but we can see no
good reason for subjecting the Government to the expense of a sale, or

to the payment of money by the Government into the hg-uds of its own
Marshal, for its own coal, only to receive it back from him minus the

trouble and expense of the transaction.

Monday, October W/j, 1861.

Hon. S. R. Mallory, Secretary of tlw Navy—
Sir: Your letter of the 7th has just been read, and your approval of our

course is gratifying to us.

You seem to have misapprehended our communication in relation to

Mr. Brough. We employed him without knowing him, because he
was in the employ of the Government here under Mr. Loper, first

assistant engineer, and he professed to know all that was necessary to

be known. We took him upon trial. A few days convinced us that

he was not a proper person to entrust with the work, and we told Com.
HoUins so, and telegraphed to you that we did not want him. He was
under our orders from the 28th of September to the 5th of October,

since when we have had no service for hira. We would not advise

his confirmatio^i as first assistant engineer.

We think we can get what spikes we want made here. It is impor-

tant to know immediately about our shafting. I do not believe it can
be made here, I suppose they can make it at the navy yard with the

big hammer. We want 9-inch wrought shafting—cast would be dan-

gerous to the success of the vessel.

We learn that the guns made here are not so good as those made in

Richmond; that they have not stood the ordinary tests; are you informed
on that subject?

Gen. Twiggs told us last evening that the rifled cannon prepared

here were a failure, that the range is less than the smooth bore. If this

is so, and we have no reason to doubt it, as he stated this to be the re-

sult of trial, it is because the rifle iioist is two short and the cut too

deep; so that the shot instead of following the track of the rifling, goes

istraight ont across them, and the depth of the groove gives too much
^' windage."* We saw one of these guns, and remarked the apparently

short twist and deep groove of the rifling, compared with the guns
rifled at the Gosport yard, before we had heard the result of experiments.

Very respectfully, N, & A. F. TIFT«
21
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New Orleans, October 20lh, 1S61.

Hofi. S. R. Mallory:

We must have immediately McPherson, foreman of Gosport navy

yard foundry, to cast our propellers; also a smilL capable of forging

nine (9) inch shafting with a shear hammer, and two (2) good pattern

makers.
N. & A. F. TIFT.

New Orleans, Oclober 22d, 1861.

Hon. S. R. Mallory:

Can use your shafts for our centre shaft; will send drawing of it

to-morrow. Don't fail to send McPherson to mould our propellers, and

the others named if possible. Answer.
N.&A. F.TIFT.

New Orleans, October 29th, 1861.

^o?i. S. R. Mallory,
Secretary of the Navy, Richmond, Virginia—

Sir: We are making tolerable progress in the construction of the

vessel, the machinery and boilers. We have been somewhat delayed

by want of timber. That is, we have not been able to work as many
men as we desired, but we hope to be supplied as fast as we want it

after the coming week. We think that the boilers will be completed

within two weeks, and will not delay the vessel. The engines will

also be done we think in good time. Jackson & Co. who are making
our machinery, intend to put up an air furnace, and think they can make
our shafting under their steam hammer, which weighs 1,000 pounds.

They want to get a man who has had experience in such work. Can
you not send such a man from the navy yard at Norfolk or from Rich-

mond? We have not yet got the drawings of the shaftings, but we
wish you to reserve the shafts you wrote of, to be used as a last resort.

The shafts will be nine (9) inches in diameter. The middle one about

fifty (50) feet, and the side shafts about forty (40) feet long each.

We have some fears that we are not entirely through with our engineer

difficulties. We employed Mr. E. M. Ivens, as we wrote you; he is

agent for the Tredegar works here, and professes to be perfectly familiar

with all the necessary details of design^ drawing, building, and putting

up in the vessel of all the machinery, engines, and their connections

and appurtenances, boilers and furnaces, steam and water con-

nections, shafts and propellers, designs for rudder and connections,

fastenings for iron, dec, all of which. he agreed to design, draw, (being

allowed assistants,) and to superintend for the sum mentioned, $2,000.

This is a large price, for which we expected extraordinary skill and
efficiency, and we believed that the amount would be well expended

by an arrangement with Mr. Ivens, which would secure the highest

perfection in those parts, upon which so much of her value will de-

pend as a war vessel.
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Tiie designs and drawings of the engines are nearly completed, and
tlie work is going on at the shop and foundry. The design seems to
be a good one, but there are parts which we are advised are too light
for the service required.

We have mentioned this to Mr. Ivens, and he has consented to
strengthen the cyhnder heads, though he considers it unnecessary, and
all the parts right.

The weak parts suggested are

—

1st. Piston rods, which are finished 3^ inches diameter, (the engine
is 36 inches diameter, and 30 inches stroke, high pressure.)

2d. Cyhnders, thickness of metal 1^ inches, without ribs around it.

3d . Cylinder heads If inches middle, and 1^ inches in flange, without
ribs or bars across.

4th. Kibs of piston head f inch thick.

5th. Bedplate not provided for castings between which to drop in
the pillow blocks, and the cylinder to be keyed as well as bolted; but
calculated to be smooth on top, and depend entirely on the bolts.

6tli. Main pillow block bolts 2 inches diameter.

7th. Crank pin 5 inches diameter, T inches long.

Sth. Excentric, cast iron, without wrought strap.

The piston rods are finished and of the best quality of iron. Four
of the cylinder heads are cast, and one of them turned, but it will be a
small cost to put the heads aside. All the items firom two to eight in

the above can be strengthened if necessary and made right. Will you
if you please as soon as possible after you get this, consult Messrs. Ander-
son <fc Co. or some other reliable authority and telegraph to us, either

that "^ Ivens is right, or Ivens is wrong, strengthen the parts," or such
other communication as will enable us to act promptly as you may de-

sire? If Mr. Ivens is rightwe shall feel greatly relieved upon this sub-
ject, and will not" interfere with him again, but if he is wrong in any
respect which is important, we beg you to send us if possible, a man
upon whose practical knowledge and judgment we can rely for all that

relates to the machinery and its appurtenances. This department has
caused us more trouble and anxiety than all the rest. Mr. Pearce has
mentioned Mr. James W"arner, chief engineer at the Norfolk navy yard,

as a man of experience. If he is such a man as Mr. Williamson, he
would be a treasure. We intended to have given you a weekly state-

ment of our expenditures, but for several reasons have found it almost
impossible, and determined to give you full monthly statements at the

time when Paymaster Senac makes his monthly returns. The follow-

ing approximate statement in brief will give you an idea of our expen-
ditures for" different purposes in advance of the monthly statements, viz:

Paid for rail road T iron and duties, - . . = ^ 9,610 6^
Advanced on contracts for boilers and machinery, - - 16,429 42
Paid lor steam saw mill complete, 3,690 71
Paid for labor and materials, (nearly,) - - - . 29,730 82
Up to 26th inst. last, $21,269 18, in all, - - - - 51,000 00

We found the above reiil road iron in two lots, for one of which we paid

$37. 50 per ton, and the other the same price, with the duty (15 cents)
added. These lots are new rail road iron and were purchased below the

market price; we do not know of another lot that can be purchased
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here, but there are in " bond " here, as we learn from a statement which
we have obtained from the Custom House, over 20,000 bars of rail road

iron, for 14,000 of which, there is no claimant here, and the whole of

which it is believed belongs mostly to alien enemies. Can we not get

a requisition for such of tids as we may want, and have it valued so

that we shall not need to pay any more money for that article—if we
use it for covering the vessel ?

We have received the report of jthe experiment made by Capt. Jones

commanding at Jamestown , with 8-inch shot and 9-inch shell, on a target

527 yards distant, covered with railroad iron (T) double and locked by
reversal. Capt. Jones is doubtless right in his conclusions; first that

flat iron in three layers Ix 8 inches, is better than rail road iron for

covering batteries ; second, that the rail road iron was not sufficiently

fastened ; and we think the experiment was not a satisfactory test, for

this reason: if instead of five 8-inch spikes in a bar of 12 feet, there

had been 12, or even more, say 24 spikes, and the bars had been well

secured at both ends, we think that the effect of the ball on the iron

would have been circumscribed to a small space.

If the interstice of the rails could be filled with cement, it would
make the cover more solid, and aid in resisting shot. Can we get flat

iron, or shall we at once make preparation for covering with rail road

T iron ?

Verv respectfully, your obedient .servants,

N. & A. F. TIFT.
Agents Navy Department.

Nt:\v iJiiL'E.xsi', November Atk, 1861.

Ho?i. S. R. Mallohv, Secreiari/ of the Navy:

Sir—We submit a rough diagram, showing the cover-face of the

, vessel we are building at an angle of 30° with the horizou, and request

you to advise us by telegraph if we may build it on that angle, or at

36° as contemplated by you before we left Richmond. We have a sec-

tion of it built of boards at the yard by Mr. Pierce, at 30°, with a nine

inch gun in position through the port, which shows the muzzle of the

gun 19 inches beyond the port sill, 21 iuclies on aVertical line from

the iron cover, and the distance from tliis point to the lower edge or

angle of the cover-face is 3 feet 5 inches.

General Lovell and Commodore Hollins, whom we invited to-examine

it, expressed their decided opinion iu. favor of the 30° angle, and that

the projection of the muzzle of the gun beyond the port sill was suffi-

cient, and that the angular projection to the lower edge o^ the cover-

face, 3 feet 5 inches from the point marked (on the diagram) on the

cover, in a vertical line with the muzzle, is not objectionable.

We, however, submit the question to you for your decision, and beg
that you will answer as early as possible by telegraph, as we desire to

get out the timber for that part of the structure at once.

We have just received your telegram, stating that we shall ''have

to use rail road iron—secure it at once." This we will do immediately,

but we had just received a letter from Engineer Williamson, stating

that the Tredegar Works was preparing to roll 3 inch plates, and that

he thought we would be able to get our casing from them.
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Such would be infinitely preferable torail road iron, and if it is pos-

sible to get it within any reasonable time, it would be for your advan-

tage to wait for it.

Everything is going on as well as we could expect, and we hope soon

to make an agreeable report.

We will send the drawing for the centre shaft to-morrow, by mail.

Could not get it ready before.

Your obedient servants,

N. <fc A. P. TIFT.

New ORtEANSj November ilh, 1 86 1.

Hoji. 8 . R. Mallory .

Please procure Mr. Memminger's order on superintendent of the

mint here for .50 crucibles; they cannot be purchased, and are necessary

for our brass work.
N. & A. F. TIFT.

Hon. S. R. Mallory:
New Orleans, November &th, 1861.

Telegraph received. Please order Engineer Warner here at once ^
from Pensacola, to examine drawings and work already done. We
have strengthened the cyUnders and head, and think he will approve

all but the piston rods.

N. & A. F. TIFT.

-New Orleans, November lOih, 1861

.

Hon. S. R. Mallory:

Dispatch received. Send an Engineer familiar with propellers and
propeller machinery. All carpenters here have stopped work, demand-
ing four (4) dollars per day. We await awhile the action of the au-

thorities.

N. <fe A. F. TIFT.
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Neav Orleans, November 12ik, 186i.

Ho7i. S. R. Mallory, Secretary of the Navy :

Sir: We wrote you on the 4th instant, and enclosed a rough diagram

of a section of the "cover face," at an angle of 30° with the horizon,

which showed (with the explanations) the 9 inch gun in position.

We submitted our own views and the opinions of Geneml Lovell and
Commodore Hollins, favouring the adoption of that angle in preference

to that of 36°; of course we leave the question for your determination,

as we will not make any change from the original plan of doubtful ad-

vantage, without your advice or approbation. As we shall soon want
the timber for this angular face or side, be pleased to instruct which
angle to adopt, that we may suffer no unnecessary delay in the work.

All of our carpenters left us, and (strike) for higher wages, following

the example of all the others at the different works, as I advised you
by telegraph. We waited three or four days on the assurance that the

proprietors of yards and docks, the people or the authorities, would
speedily adjust the difficulty; but believing the strike Avas for an in-

definite time, and fearing serious, and perhaps fatal delay, we deter-

mined to advance the wages of the best ship carpenters to four (4)

dollars per day, and the others to rates corresponding to tlieir skill.

We now have a large and superior gang of men, and our work is pro-

gressing satisfactorily.

We are somewhat embarrassed for want of a scientific and practical

engineer—one who understands thoroughly all about propellers and
propeller machinery, and in whom the department can rely to take the

responsibility of the work for this vessel.

We telegraphed for Engineer Warner, as Engineer Williamson in-

formed us that he had had large experience in the construction and
arrangement of this kind of machinery. You telegraphed "Warner
cannot be sent, will send another." If we can have a complete engi-

neer at otice, if only for a few days, to examine the drawings and the

work already completed, it would facilitate us very much, as we have

suspended certain portions of the work (which we feared was not heavy
enough) until we can get reliable and responsible advice.

The arrangement of the bearings, &c., through the vessel for the

shafts to rest upon, is another important question, which, with the

others, could be soon settled by a competent machinist and propeller

engineer.

Chief Engineer Williamson wrote us that we could have (from Gos-

port navy yard) a first rate "loam moulder." I telegraphed him to

send him. We need, (and ought to have,) a smith capable of forgiug

9 inch shafting with a steam hammer. If you can send such a person

with such an engineer as we ask for, and the "loam moulder,^ at once,

it will facilitate our work, and be a great saving of expense and time in

our undertaking, besides relieving us from some portion of our present

trouble and responsibility.

Very respectfully,

N. & A. F. TIFT.

• N. B. We retain the drawing of our centre shaft to submit to the

engineer you will send; wc depend on the shaft you have secured

for us.
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New Orleans^, November 2\st, 1861.

Hon. S^ R. Mallorv, Secretary of the Navy.

Sir: We enclose a drawing furnished by Constructor Pearce, for a
capstan to work on bower chains, which we are satisfied is preferable to
any other in use. Its simplicity, compactness and power, adapt it

especially to the vessel we are building, and request that you will for-

ward the drawing to Constructor Porter, and instruct him to get up one
which will work 1|- and If chains, the sizes we propose to adopt as
most suitable. Mr. Pearce says that Mr. Porter has the pattern of the
capstan made for the Richmond, which can be easily altered to suit our
size chains.

It is very desirable that you cause to be sent at same time with the
capstan, the two bower chains—say 90 fathoms of the above sizes, say
] |- and If inches—the anchors, we think, may be obtained here.
"We are progressing very well with our structure; to-day we will com-

plete the fourth streak of timber all around, and the next week we will
have the sides up to eight feet. We fasten, caulk, paint, and finish
perfectly as we advance. We will write you a general letter to-morrow,
and forward the promised drawing of our centre shaft.

Yerv respectfully,

N. & A. F. TIFT.
N. B.—Having received no advice from you in reference to our pro-

posed change of the angle of the cover face, we have adopted the 30
degrees, in lieu of 36 degrees, per original plan, and hope it will receive
your approbation.

N. &;A.F. T.

New Orleans, November 21th, 1861.
Hon. S. R. Mallory, Secretary of the Navy.

Sir: The amount of expenditures for all purposes up to the 22d inst.,

connected with the vessel which we are building under your orders,
was $78,226 73; including advances on machinery and boilers,

^20,470 04;rail road iron $9,610 69, saw mill, blacksmith's shops, &c.
We have contracted with Scofield <fc Markham, of Atlanta, Georgia, for

rolled iron for the cover, to be punched and cut to the dimensions ordered,
and fitted with bolts for 6^ per pound, and 6 cents per pound for such
as are not to be punched—bolts at i2\ cents per pound, or the actual
cost to them. They can roll first plates 1^ thick, 7| wide, 20 feet long:
2d—2 thick, 7 wide, 10 feet long: 3d—3 thick, 6^ wide, 7 feet long.
We have adopted a plan, which is highly approved by Mr. Pearce, for
the cover. We will send you a sketch of the plan of covering and a
plan of the vessel as she is being built, within two or three days The
vessel and machinery are both being built as fast as we can urge
them forward, and everything now seems to be working well; our
greatest fears now are, that we may not be able to get our shaftins" in
time.

We send you enclosed, a drawing of the centre shaft in two parts,

which you will please have completed, and forward as early as possible.
We send also drawings of the side shafting, which we hope to get here,
but if opportunity should offer to get them there, please let us know.
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Engineer Warner arrived here yesterday, which gave us great satis-

faction. He IS giving his attention to the drawings and work in course

of construction ; we will report fully on this subject soon. Engineer

Freeman had reported to us before the arrival of Mr. Warner. The
propeller moulder sent here by your order, has arrived, and is at work in

the foundry. We have no fears now that our machinery and propellers

will be made otherwise than right and effective. We have adopted 30

degrees for the angle of the cover. Are you having the armament of

18 guns prepared for her?

Can you furnish her with chains, anchors and tanks from the Gos-

port navy yard.
Your obedient servants,

N.& A. F.TIFT.

LIST OF BILLS PAID.
1861.

Sept. 27. Wood & Low, for Jackson & Co Pig iron 4,250 00

Oct. " 4. D. H. Fowler in acc't for Jackson & Co. Cash advanced 2,500 GO
• s! S. Locke, for JackSon & Co Bill sheet iron 1,526 90
«' •«'

J. Mohr'sbill Gunwales 177 70
(I <i L.Hubert Lumber 47 05
«« •« John Fisher Cartage 46 20,
«• •« Amount of pay roll Labor in yard and on ship. 782 23
•« 10. C. H Slocura a Co ^.. Iron 1,168 42
i< i\ Folger&Co Iron 358 11

« 12! W Wells Timber 340 00
•• " Amouni «f pay-r 11 Labor. i> 1,560 13
i< j4, F. New Gunwales 50 00
'• Fisher & Jagrr. Cartage 76 60
<( I' Linden & Mohr Gunwales 67 50
:< « J Sellers Lumber 223 95
« <• J. D. Beiii & Sons Iron and tools 1,036 81
«« 15. John Bode Nails 34 00
«« •« J. O. Finter Nails 4 00
« « John Hughes Rail road iron 8,842 20
<« «< O. J. Noyes Travelling caps 38 95
K ti O.J Noyes Office furniture 72 95
(c (I a' F Tift • • « Expenses 265 06
«« «• N Tift Expenses 268 71

< << J. Brough Services as ass 't engineer. 34 25
•« «« C. II Craling Gunwales 65 25
•« «« J. H. Holdenfc Co Oakum 455 15

«• •« Custom House Duty on rail road iron ..

.

768 49

.. 18. Wm. Wells Timber 1,880 34
<( « C. F. Noyes Travelling expenses 12 80
«• 19. Stark, Stauffert & Co Iron,&c 2,77181
«< <« J, F. Bann Drawing 96 50
« « M. Gets Sundries 39 30

«« 19. IJarbot & Warner, for Jackson & Co... Coal 900 00

«« " Amount of pay-roil Labor 2,704 74

«« a** E. M. Ivens Engine and saw mill 3,690 71

<•
«~ J.R.Pike Lumber 742 92

« " J. D. Bein'sfe Sons, for Jackson & Co. Files, &c 349 16

<« •« Stark. Stauffert & Co., for Jackson & Co. " " 1,098 62

M ««. J. C. HubbeH Belting 197 40
II « F. Dugan, Jr Brick 33 50

i< 23. N. Seller * Lumber 23 80
n ""

P. Kerber Work on iron 40 05

II «« J. E. Hyde &. Co., Jackson & Co Iron,&c 304 74

.1 35, L. Carbo Lumber 237 32
II • W. Reed Tinware „ 16 60
li 26 Jackaon It Co., account Jackton fc Co.. Cash advanced, 1,500 00. 1,500 00

•• •• D. II. Fowler. " " " " " 4,000 00. 4,000 00



3,150 95
119 00



170

After an examination by engineers Warner and Freeman, of the

drawings and designs of machinery made by Mr. E. M. Ivens, and an
examination of the work in progress at the foundry, they advised us
that the general designs were good, that the necessary modifications in

the details of the machinery could be made, and that it would facilitate

the construction, and thus promote the interest of the Government to

continue his services—engineer Freeman proposing to render such assis-

ance as he could.

Believing from the information obtained from Richmond that parts of

our engines were defective, we relieved Mr. Ivens from farther duty,

when Mr. Freeman re]x>rted to us. But acting upon the advice of

Messrs. Warner and Freeman, we continued his services, under a

written contract, allowing him $1,600, instead of $2,000—with a pro-

vision that a Government engineer is to aid him. All are now working
well and harmoniously. They are bolting through the first Sight

streaks, caulking, painting, putting on both decks, and will have the last

of the boilers in next Tuesday. Mr. Pearce thought that two feet thick-

ness of sides would be sufficient, and three feet from the bow to the

quarter. The vessel is admired by all the naval officers and by all who
have seen her.

The wages of carpenters is now $4 per day, and iron materials are

continually rising. Two days ago we bought 150 bars of 1^- inch iron

at 6J c, to-day it is worth 7-|^ c, bolts 15 c. per lb., fcc.

Scofield &. Markhan, of Atlanta, Ga., are now rolling our iron under
the contract, and say they will be able to furnish us with 150 plates

a day.

Our payments for labor and materials and in machinery will now be

large, and we think it would be well to send to Paymaster Senac one
hundred thousand dollars, so that there shall be no lack of funds to

meet our engagements promptly. Our payments since the 22d ult.,

when our last account was made out, have been about fifteen thousand
dollars for materials, and advances on machinery, and we think the

pay-roll which Mr. Senac is setling to-day will amount to about $17,000.
A large number of hands have been discharged to-day, and we hope to

reduce the item of labor nearer to a fair price in future.

We have received from Mr. .Joseph Pearce, constructor, a requisition

for the following articles, viz:

1st. 18 guns, completely equipped for war purposes, with ammu-
nition and everything ready for action.

2d. 14 water tanks, to be 6 feet 6 inches across ship; 5 feet fore and
aft, and 4 feet 6 inches up and down, square corners, and not bevilled

on any side.

3d. One galley, of the size for a first class man of war.
4th. 100 fathoms of chain. If inches, and 100 do. do. 2^ do.
5th. One anchor of 5,000 lbs., and one do. of 3,500 do.
We suppose that you are making the necessary preparations for guns,

and will have them ready in time.

We would suggest that when these articles are all ready, the special

train employed to take them through would be best, as there is great

delay in the ordinary mode of transportation. We hope to have the

ship ready for action by the 1st day of February.
The method for covering with iron is with 3 plates of 1} inches in each
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thick lor Ihe upper angle; two lengtliwisc iiiakiug joaits, and one up
and down covering the whole. The lower angle, one plate lengthwise,
and one up and down, on the sides between the angle single two plates
lengthwise, on the upper deck and the level part fore and aft a single
plate l-t thick, the knuckle forward of cast iron, and the whole secured
as per sketch enclosed. This plan has been adopted after consultation
Avith Mr. Pearce and Mr. Warner, as the best and simplest that can be
made under all the circumstances.
We send you a proposition from Mr. E. M. Ivens and John Clark,

to furnish the machinery for two rams, or gunboats, for $36,000—com-
plete within 45 days.

This proposition was suggested by your advertisement. If you de-
sire it, we can build the rams for you, at our present yard, and thmk
Ave could get them ready by the time the present vessel is done, say the
1st February, according to enclosed sketch.

You will observe by the copy of the proposition enclosed, that they
desire you to telegraph an answer, so that they can make immediate
preparation if you accept.

Very respectfully, your obedient servants,

N. & A. F. TIFT,
Agents Navy Department, C S. AK

Copy of Gunnisoii t^ RaoiWs Projiosals for Building Gun Carriages.

Messrs. N. & A. F. Tift,
Agents for Confederate States.

Gentlemen: We will make the 16 gun carriages for 9 inch shell

guns for your boat, complete, according to drawing, for three hundred
dollars each, delivered—and obhgate ourselves to complete, and deliver
them within three weeks from receipt of order. Will also make the two
larger carriages, at a price in proportion to the above, not now knowing
the dimensions—and deliver them within the same time.

A. N. GUN-NISON,
G. T. RAOUL.

P. S. When making the above estimate, the 4 long bolts to each,
spoken of by Mr. Pearce, were overlooked, but will make them also at

customary price for such bolts

.

A. N. GUNNISON,
G. T. RAOUL.

Copy of E. M, Ivens' and John Clark's Proposal for Building Ma-
chinery and Boilersfor two Steam Rams or Gunboats.

Messrs. N. & A. F. Tift—
Gentlemen: We hereby propose to deliver, and put in successful

operation, within forty-five days from date of contract, machinery, for

the successful working of two steam rams, or gunboats, as follows;

One—to have direct acting, high pressure square engine, 26^ inch
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cylinders, 24 inch btroke, with steam and cut oil' valves, and link mo-
tion, wrought iron shafts, two propellers, each 8 feet diameter. To-
gether with doctor, and fan engine, 4 double flue boilers, 42 in. diame-

ter, 32 feet long, with wrought iron heads, breaching, chimney, (fcc,

making in all a complete and perfect set of propeller's machinery, and
to be in effective operation in forty days from date of contract.

Boat No. 2. To have boilers, doctor engine, (fcc, the same as above,

and with only this difference—that the engine is to be a horizontal,

high pressure engine, of 30 in. diameter, cylinders, and 6 feet stroke,

with propellers geared to revolve 2.V to 3 times to one of engine. To be

of same size as former, (8 feet diameter,) the shafts for this to be of

wrought iron, if they can be procured in time. The entire machinery
to be delivered, and in successful operation, in say forty-five days
from date of contract, for this second boat, provided there is no delay

in getting the I'essel ready for the machinery, in either of these cases,

for the sum of thirty-six thousand dollars, in full for machinery, for

both boats ^36,000, as follows: Twelve thousand dollars when the

boilers are ready for delivery, and twelve thousand dollars when the en-

gines are ready for delivery, and six thousand dollars when the first

boat is ready for steam, and six thousand dollars on completion of the

contract.

E. M. IVENS,
JOHN CLARK.

P. S. The machinery entne Ave have on hand, and can have it ready

for delivery in ten days. The boilers Ave Avill have to buy, and as there

is only a very limited supply here, I would ask you to get Mr. Mallory
to reply by telegraph, if he thinks proper to accept this proposition..

We have secured the preference on some of the boilers for a few days.

Do not fail to reply at the earliest moment.
E. M. I.

New OiiLEA.NS, December 2i5ih, 1861.

Hon. S. R. Mallouy, Secretary of the Navy.

Sir: In our general letter of the 6th inst., Ave made an error in the

size of anchors and chains Avanted, Avhich were 100 fathoms, 2-^ inch
chains, 100 fathoms If inch chain, one anchor 5,000 lbs., and one ditto

3,500 lbs.; in lieu of which please send 2 chains, 90 fathom each, one
If inch, and one l.V inch; 2 bovver anchors, one 4,.500 lbs., and one
3,500 lbs.

Be pleased to advise constructor Porter, as soon as possible, that the

capstan ordered Avill be made to work these two sizes of chain advan-
tageously. It is important that the capstan, chains and anchors, and
water tanks, (as described,) slionld be sent forvvard as soon as possible.

We commence to-day laying down the gun deck, and Avith the large

amount of material already fitted, Ave shall make rapid progress until

the structure is completed.
i( you decide to give us the descretion to build one or tAvo of the gun

boats suggested in a former letter, you may rest assured that Ave can do
it in much less time and cost that they can be built at any other place,

and in our opinion by any other parties.
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We shall have a large amount of material on liaiid alter completing
the present work, which could be used advantageously in a smaller
vessel, besides all the valuable facilities, machinery, shops, &-c. which
belong to the Government.

Paymaster Senac informs us that he has received lately ^100,000, but
has not been advised whether it is for us or not; we presume it is.

Please inform him.
We have a considerable quantity of our rolled iron now on the way

from Atlanta, and think we shall suffer no delay for want of it.

A^ery respectfully,

N. <fc A. F. TIFT.

The writer called on the proprietors of 'the Atlanta Iron Works, and
was informed that they could not now make the *' boiler plate."

A. F. T.

N. B. Please have one shaft completed and sent out as soon as pos-

sible, as we shall be ready for it.

As soon as we can complete a model, will forward it as requested by
you. The promised drawing will go forward in a day or two.

IXew Orleans, January Hth, 18GI.

Hon, yi. K. Mallory, Secretary of Navy.

Siu: We have arranged for two (2) boat and stern guns, and send
fully drawings to-day.

N. ^ A. F. TIFT.

New Orleans, January l^ih, 1862.

Hon. S. R. Mallor\', {Secretary of Navy.

Sir: We have examined the Star of the West. She is in good order,

and is now occupied as a receiving, recruiting, and hospital ship, and
would be valuable as a transport, we would not advise the alteration,

on account of the expense and difRculty of protecting the machinery.

Commodore Hollins, concur in the opinion.

H. ^ A. F. TIFT.

New Orleans, January \Sth, 1862.

Hon. S. R. Mallory, Secretary of Navy.

Sir: Dispatch received; see ours advising against alteration, and com-
mand us. N. & A. F. TIFT.

New Orleans, January 2oth) 1862.

Hon. S. R. Mallory, Secretary of Navy.

Sir: Your letter of the eighteenth (18) received; funds sent Senac
not received; please send immediately. We have made two important
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contracts, and received twenty thousand (^20,000) dollars additional lor

this purchase at once. We write to-day.

N. & A. F. TIFT.

New Orleans, January 29th, 1862.

Ho7i. S. R. Mallory, Secretary of Navy.

Sir: Senac has not received the money—we are much in need of it.

N. & A. F. TIFT.

jNew Orleans, January Wth, 1862.

Hon. S. R. Mallory, Secretary of Navy.

Sir: We had arranged tlie plan of the vessel for a single forward and
one aft, but on the receipt of your letter of the 19th ult., we com-
menced drawings and experiments, which resulted in the adoption of

the two bow, and two stern guns, as you desired; thus making her ca-

pacity twenty guns. This was effected by moving the bow and stern

fires ten feet towards the centre, and moving the quarter guns four feet

in the same direction. Commodore HolUns and Capt. Mitchell think
that there will be room enough to work the guns without difficulty.

In tlie course of our experiments, we found that the ports, which wc
had determined upon, deck to port side 2^—those to top 2^ 2"—would
be too low. We consequently increase the perpendicular heights of
the ports to five feet from deck, viz: 2^ from deck to port sill, and 3^

clear to top of port. The gun carriages should be constructed with
reference to these facts, as we have ordered the iron, and they cannot
be altered without delay and expense. We can give a 10-inch gun on
a carriage 3^ V from deck to centre of trunnion an elevation of about
(9°) nine degrees. We have not heard from you relative to the propo-

sition tbrwarded to make carriages here.

We send you herewith a plan of the vessel, as she will appear when
completed, as nearly as we can.

We have not finished the plan of the .pilot-house, and there may be

minor alterations. The port doors are hung on a bolt, which is drilled

into the upper edge and into the port frame, so that it does not show
outside. The door is to be opened from the inside, with levers fastened

to the door, or by hydraulic jacks, or some equivalent contrivance,
which must be tested by experiments.
The j)lan sent is rather hastily drawn, and does not show all the in-

lerior arrangements, nor the bolts outside, tVsc. The cover and gun
deck are now going up, and the wood work will be in advance of the

machinery. We have been in much trouble about the side shafts. xMr.

'Clark, of this place, has agreed to make them; and we hope will have
them done early in February. The machinery will we think be behind
the time specified, February 1st.

Our expenditures to January 7th, were - .^173,988 40
Balance on hand, - 1,011 60

175,000 00

Amount received by paymaster, 175,000 00



390,325 lbs. of iron plates have been shipped to us by
Schofield ifc Markham, from Atlanta, for which they have
drawn on us for - - - - - ^23,677 67

Also, for iron for boUs, . . . • 5,377 68

$29,055 35
Included in above expenditure, - 5,377 68

Balance due them, - $23,677 67

They wrote that they have erected new drills, which they will work
day and night, and will deliver 20 tons of drilled iron per day.

We doubt whether any vessel has been more generally approved than

the one we are now building for you.
Very respectfully, your obedient servants,

N. & A. F. TIFT.

[Copy.]

New Orleans, January 2ith, 1862.

This agreement entered into this day, between E. M. Ivensand John
Clark of the one part, and N. & A. F. Tift, agents of the Navy De-
partment of the Confederate States of the other part, witnesseth; that

the said Ivens and. Clark, agree to furnish and put up complete, on
board of two steam gun boats, which are to be built by the said N. <fc A.
F. Tift, agents as aforesaid, two sets of steam propeller machinery,
one in each boat complete, with appurtenances and steam on ready for

successful operation, viz: one set of machinery for the first boat, en-
gine, cylinder 26^- in. diameter, 24 inch stroke, direct acting square en-

gine, with two propellers, 8 feet each, shafts of wrought iron, 19^ feet

long, 6 inches diameter, with link motion, cut-off valve and other
appurtenances complete. Cylinder to be covered with felt and wood.
Boilers—four boilers, to be 42 inches diameter, 26 feet long, with two
return flues 15|^ inches diameter, with steam and mud drums, two
safety valves, with all necessary check valves, steam exhaust, blow off,

feed and other necessary pipes, 3 guage cocks to each boiler, and one
steam guage for each boat. Steam pipes to be of copper or wrought
iron, and covered with felt, or some other non-conducting material.

Portable engine and boiler, one for each boat, now selected in E. M.
Ivens' store, of sufficient capacity to drive two fans, and work one
pump for pumping out boilers, for which purposes it is to be arranged
and connected. Doctor engine, to be of sufficient capacity to supply
the boilers readily, and arranged so as to be used for a bilge pump, or
fire engme. Bilge pumps—one bilge pump, to be furnished and to be
worked from the mam or the fore engine, and to be used alternately for
bilge or pumping out boilers, Fans—one four foot fan, to be furnished
for blowing the fires, and one for ventilating the vessel, to be attached
to the portable engine by proper bonds, orother arrangement for working,
and to have such connecting pipes as to take the air from the forward
part of the boat, and pass it from over under the fires, and the other
into the fire or engine room. Furnace, sheet iron work, chimney; (fee.
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The boilers are to be put up in a good and substantial manner, and
well secured, to prevent them from being moved by a shock of the boat

when used as a ram. The fire front, grate bars, sheet iron worli,

breeching, chimney, brick work for furnaces, covering boilers, &c., to

be done in a good and substantial manner, fire room floor. The fire

room floor to be covered with cast iron plates, ^ inch thick, say 5 or

feet wide. Heater—one heater, with necessary connections and pipes

for heating the water fed to the boilers. Exhaust—^the exhaust steam

to be turned into the chimneys, if so ordered by said N. <fc A. F. Tift.

This first set of machinery, with all the necessary appurtenances to

make it effective as a good set of propeller machinery, is to be ready to

put in the boat as soon as notified by said N. & A. F. Tift, that the

boat is ready to receive it, and then to be put in complete within 30

days, unless delayed by said N. &. A. F. Tift.

The second set of machinery for the second boat. Engine, to be a

horizontal engine, 30 inch cylinder—feet stroke and geared, so as to re-

volve the propeller three times to one of the engines, to have poppet

valves and hook motion worked by one executive, with all the neces-

sary appurtenances and connections—to be one propeller instead of two
boilers—to have 4 boilers 30 feet long, 42 in. diameter, with return flues

15^ inches diameter—new boilers. In all other respects this set of pro-

peller machinery to be similar to that described in the first set. Pipes,

connections, portable engine, doctor engine, fans, pumps, furnace,

chimney, (fcc, complete.

This second set of machinery to be put up complete in the second boat

within 30 days, after said N. &- A. F. Tift shall give notice to said

Ivens and Clark that the boat is ready to receive it, unless said Ivens

and Clark shall be delayed by the said N. &. A. F. Tift: and if they

should be delayed in putting in the machinery by said N. tt A. F. Tift,

a reasonable time shall be allowed for such delay.

In consideration of the above stipulations and agreement, the satd N.

A: A. F. Tift, agents as aforesaid, agree or cause to be paid by the Gov-

ernment, the sum of forty-one thousand dollars, as follows, viz: Thir-

teen thousand dollars when the boilers are all finished and ready for

delivery, or within the next two weeks, if the boilers are ready in the

meantime. Thirteen thousand dollars when the engines are complete

and ready for deliveYy, Seven thousand dollars when the machinery

is put in the first boat complete, with steam on ready for successful

operation; and eight thousand dollars when the machinery is put in the

second boat, complete, with steam on and ready for successful

operation.

Signed by
E. M. IVENS,
JAMES CLARK,
N. (fc A. F. TIFT,

Age7its of the Navy Departmejit, C. S.

We have not time this evening to make you a plain copy.
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New Orleans, January 2oi/i, 1862.

Hon. S . R. Mallory, Secretary of the Navy.

Sir: We received your letter of January 18th. We also received a
telegram from Mr. xMinor yesterday, informing us that all the gun car-

riages must be made here, and all the guns, except the four 7-inch rifles,

which you are having made for us. There will be no difficulty about
getting the carriages made. Mr. Ray, who is in charge of Government
hands at the Custom House shops, says h6 can make them for us. AVe
fear we shall have difficulty about getting good guns cast here, but will
do our best, and inform you of the result.

We have not yet heard from the anchors, chains and capstan, which
have been sent from Norfolk. We write to Capt. Buchanan the spaces
allotted to water tanks. We wrote some time' ago the size tanks we
wanted, but we suppose he has other sizes which he wishes to fit to

the space.

The funds which you have ordered to Paymaster Senac, referred to

in your letter, have not been received by him. It is very important that
he should be placed in funds immediately. Our plate iron and bolts from
Atlanta is now coming forward rapidly. We have drawn on Paymas-
ter Senac for about thirty-seven thousand dollars to pay for iron, labor,

hauling, &c., and we have a draft arrived to-day, for plate iron, for fif-

teen thousand and odd dollars, which we must meet in the same way,
and which he must pay from other funds than ours.

You will perceive that the present deficit in our funds to meet pay-
ments to this time, is over fifty thousand dollars. We think it would
be prudent to send two hundred thousand dollars as soon as possible.

It will take the half of it or more to pay for the plate iron, which will

all be ready within a short time.

We have made contract for two complete sets of propeller machinery
for two gun boats, the same as that submitted to you with an increase

of machinery, portable boilers and engines, blowing and ventilating

fans, &.C., the whole complete in operation on board the boats, for

$41,000. We enclose you a copy of the contract—the materials for

such parts of this machinery as the parties will have to purchase, not
having them on hand, viz: sheet iron, one set of boilers, pipes and con-

nections, and have advanced in price since their first offer, and this

with the additional machinery required is the reason for the increased

price. We have also made contract for the timber sufficient for building
two boats, the delivery of which will commence next week. We shall

contract immediately for the bolt iron, and shall be ready to commence,
the construction with all, or nearly all the material on hand, and will

complete them very soon, we think within 60 days.
We shall need within a few days to make the first payment on ma*

chmery $13,000; timber, lumber, bolts, and other materials $15,000,
and we think it would be well for you to place one hundred thousand dol-.

lars in Paymaster Senac 's hands, to be applied as needful for these two
boats.

It is of the first importance to the interest of the Government, in fa-

ciUtating and economising the work, that the money should always be
on hand, to meet every engagement promptly at the time stipulated.

Indeed it would be ruinous to our reputatioii as youragents here, and



ITS

to the interests in our charge, if wo fail to meet engagements punctually.

If the fund for these new contracts cannot be sent here in timr to meet
the first payments due, we hope j^ou will telegraph to Paymaster Senac
to pay to our order Fuch sum as may be necessary for that purpose,

from some other funds in his hands.
We send you a rough sketch of the gun boat designed for the first

set of machinery. This will give only a general idea of the vessels,

which may be varied as circumstances may require. We Avill perfect

the plan within a few days, and will then send you a drawing of it.

We are making efforts which we hope will result in raising and re-

pairing the Confederate steamer " Tuscarora," which Avas burned up
the river. We think it can be done with a comparatively small cost.

Yerv resoectfullv, your obedient servants,

N. vfc A. P. TIFT.

New ORT.EANS, Ja?iuary 29th, 18Q2.

Hon. S. R. Mallory, Secretanj of the Navy—
Sir: On the 25th inst., we telegraphed to you our immediate neces-

sities for money, and wrote you the same day by express, informing you
that the money you advised us of having sent to Paymaster Senac, had
not been received, and that our engagements rendered it necessary that

we should be placed in funds as early as possible.

We advised you also that we had contracted with parties to furhish

two sets of engines and boilers complete for the two other boats we had
undertaken to build, and that we would be obliged to pay on that

account near $20,000 before the 4th of February. We have closed a

contract also for all the timber required for the construction of the two
.boats, and which is already arriving, and must be paid for on delivery

on each railroad train load.

By making all of our transactions for cash, we save to the Gov-
ernment from 25 to 75 per cent; in fact the great bulk of our purchases

would not be made on any other terms. We have overdrawn the

$i5l 75,000 received by Paymaster Senac, for our credit $36,000, which
he has paid us out of funds he held for other accounts, and which we
must of course replace within a short time.

Besides that, and the before mentioned sums, we shall be obliged to

pay on the 1st of the month, (February,) for iron plates, labor and me-
chanics, advances to machinists, bills for iron, and for the new gun
boats, about .^33,000.

• We have received already 616,098 pounds of our iron plating, and
20,000 pounds bolts and nuts for fastening it, whicli cost in Atlanta

$44,504 59, which sum, besides the cost of transportation to this place

is paid for and included in the foregoing estimates. So when we receive

the $100,000 advised of, we shall have left but about !^18,000 after

paying Mr. Senac's advances, and other cash obligations. We would
advise that you send as soon as possible another $100,000, to prevent
a possibility of any delay in our work. We just telegraphed you,
** Senac has not received the money, we are much in need of it.'*

The river is rising rapidly, and beg you to have one shaft for-

warded at once.

Very respectfully, N. & A. F. TIFT.
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Since closing our Icltcr, we are informed by Mr. Scnac, ihat the

draft for iJ^lOO^OOO is received, but as there will be but a small balance

after paying requisitions already made, we hope you will make a

similar remittance at an early day, or authorize Paymaster Senac to pay

any further funds av'^c may need, out of any other he may have.

Respectfully,

N. & A. F. TIFT.

New Orleans, February IQth, 1862.

Hon. S. R. Mallohy, Secreiary of the Navy—
Sir: We have just telegraphed to you thus: " Please send as soon as

possible, the shaft, tanks, capstan, and chains, and anchors," and we
repeat that they should be sent forvv ard at the earliest possible moment;
and to insure their early prompt delivery here, we would advise that a

special agent be sent with them.
If we had the tanks and capstan, we could put them in their places

in. the ship at once. We are ready also for the centre shaft, and could

put it iu this week if we had it. W^e could then go on and put up our

centre engine complete. All the material parts of the three engines

will be torwarded to the ship the last of this, or early next week, when
we will commence laying down the bed plates and cylinders and put-

ting together the parts as they arrive.

The party who engaged to forge the two quarter shafts, is putting up
a furnace and steam hammer, and told us yesterday that he would be
ready to commence the work in two weeks, and would require about

two weeks to forge and finish them

.

In the meantime, the v/ork in the ship is progressing satisfactorily.

The gun deck is nearly completed, and over iOU feet of the gun tier is al-

ready covered in, and the ports cut.

The iron port frames and port doors are under contract, and well ad-

vanced toward completion; and we have about 400 tons of the iron

plating at the ship, drilled and ready for use. We shall probably com-
mence in a few days putting it on frame below the water line, up to

the angle preparatory to launching, in case it should become necessary

before we contemplated.

We annex a statement of our finances, showing that we have over-

drawn the whole amount placed in Paymaster Senac 's hands for out
disbursement .^657 21 . We have paid from that fund , however, as you
Avill perceive, ^13,882 34 on account of our contracts for machinery and
timber for the other two gun boats.

At our request Paymaster Senac has made a further requisition for

^175,000 for the larger vessel, and $100,000 for the two small gun boats,

>vhich we beg that you will honor. We need a considerable amount of

money at once, and while your remittance is in transmit, your authori-

zation by telegraph to Paymaster Senac to advance such monies as we
may require from any other funds, would facilitate very greatly the

Grovernment interests m our charge.

Very respectfully,

N. & A. F. TIFT.



• 180

Statement of receipts and disbursements of money by N. Si* A. F. Tift.

1862. Jan. 1st, amount expended to date, $165,349 51

Feb. " ^- " " " $80,234 28
(< '' pay-roll " '' '' 9,361 57
^•- '^ amount ^'

*'' '•' 6,829 55
96,425 40

1261,774 91

Paid for account of two other gun boats

—

Ivens & Clark, on account machinery, - S 13,000 00

Hammond ifc Co., on account timber, - 882 30
* 13,882 80

$275,657 21

Amount received by Paymaster Senac for our disbursements.

1861. October 10th, - - - - $ 75,000 00

December, _ - - - 100,000 00

January 29th, - - - 100,000 00
275,000 00

Balance overdrawn, $657 21

New Orleans, February 10, 1862,

New Orleans, February lith, 1862.

Hon. S. R. Mallory, Secretary of the Navy—

Sir: We are progressing with our work as fast as possible, and hope

very soon to receive the centre shaft from Richmond; which will ena-

ble us to complete one engine at least, and have it in working order,

before wc are compelled , on account ol the rapidly rising river, to launch

the ship.

"We hope to receive the four ritied guns, capstan, *fcc., at the same

time. The chassees and carriages are being made for the former, and all

the diflicult departments are being constructed to the best advantage.

The lower yard, where the ship is building, is covered with water,

and the river is still rising, but thus far, is no impediment to the work.

We had some fears that the foundation would settle unequally, but it

remains intact, and we hope to complete the work without interruption.

Paymaster Senac received notice of your further remittance after we
had mailed our letter on that subject; the funds will be here in good

time.

We are collecting all of the principal materials for the two other gun

boats, and next week we will commence their construction. Their ma-

chinery is far advanced, and we are determined to make '' short work "

of them.
Very respectfully,

N. & A. F. TIFT.
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New ORt,BAN&, Pcbrimry ISth, l&o2.
Hon. S. il. Mallory—

Sir: Please telegraph when the shaft and other things will start. Will
you send by special train ?

N. &, A. F. TIFT.

New Orleans, February \()th, 1862.

Hon. S. R. Mallory—
Please send us soon as possible, shaft, capstan, tanks, chains and

anchors.

N. «fc A. F. TIFT.

Ne\v Orleans, February 2iih, 1862.

Hon. S. R. Mallory— -

No parties here have received the capstan, or know anything of it;

if you cannot send one soon, we liad better make it here. No intelli-

gence of the shaft, guns, or chains, and anchors.

N. 6c A. F. TIFT.

New Orleans, Murch 6th, 1862.

Hon. S. R. Mallory—
Sir: We must know the sizes of this chain you are to send, before

we can finish capstan; we want If and 1| inch; when may we expect

them and the shafts? Tanks arrived to-day.

N. & A. F. TIFT.

New Orleaks, March 6(h, 1862.

Hoti. S. R. Mallory—

•

Sir: Found capstan and chains after much trouble. Can you send

the anchors ?

N.t^A. F. TIFT.

New Orleans, March lAth, 1862.

Ii07i. S. R. Mallory—
Sir: When may we expect the shaft; we need it now ?

N. & A. F. TIFT.

New Orleans, February 22d, 1862.

Ho?i. S. R. Mallory—
Sir: We received your telegram of the 18th inst. last night, (the

wires having been down for three or four days past.) " Some mistake
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about capstan. Oapt. Hollins reported for tlie one we sent on 28th of

December; enquire about it, and reply at once." We niade this morn-
ing every inquiry of the commandant of the station, and other naval

officers, and constructor Porter, all of whom state jwsitively that it has

not been received here, and that they know nothing about it. When 1

at once sent the following telegram to the office in reply:
'' No parties here have received the capstan^ or know anything of it;

if you cannot send one soon, we had better make it here. No intelli-

gence of the whereabouts of the centre shaft, guns, or chains, and
anchors." It is unfortunate we have not the shatt, as we could put up
one of the engines at once. We hope, however," soon to receive all the

materials which were to be furnished from Richmond and Gosport.

—

The work goes on well and satisfactorily in the absence of the above

important parts of the structure.

Yery respectfully,

N. & A. F. TIFT.

New Orleans, March At/i, 1802..

Hon. S. R. Mallory—
Sir: We received your dispatch of yesterday's date this morning,

stilting that you hold Commodore Hollins' receipt for the two chains

and the capstan, when we commenced a second investigation and ex-

amination, and after much labor we found the capstan stowed away in

the laboratory, one of the chains and part of another on a floating bat-

tery, and the balance, we learned, had been sent up the river to the

"McRae." Commander Mitchell, however, very promptly made all

right, and v/e now have the property in our possession. We telegraph

you to-day if you will send the two bower anchors, one 4,500 lbs., and
small bower 3,500 lbs., as required on the 26th December last, or must
we make out with such as we can find here.

Wo think you can get two good and cotnplele enguies of tlic

three offered me by Ivens &. Clark, with new boilers for them, also con-

nections, sheet iron w^ork, <fcc., complete, and would advise you to au-

thorize us, or other parties, to make the purchase. It is important that

they should do every thing complete, and put steam on the boilers.

Telegraph soon, as they may be sold to other parties.
.

Yery respectfully,

N. & A. F. TIFT.
N. V>. Please '>ive us the earliest information about the shaft.

Ni:w Orleans, March 2ls-i, 1802.

Hon. y. R. Malmuu'—
Sir: Payment was due Murray the 27'th of February, four-sixths

(4-6) then completed. Payment should be made at once. Shaft will

be in time if sent through without interruption. If machinists redeem

their promises ship will be ready for operations in thirty days; every

thing else will.

N. «fc A. F. TIFT.
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Hon. S. R. Mallouy—
Sib: I am going to New Orleans via Mobile. Our iron order will be

completed next week. The iron is delayed at Mobile. Please telegraph

the President's order to Mobile, commanding such rolling stock of the

railroad as may be necessary to take myself and the iron immediately
to New Orleans; otherwise the vessel will be delayed.

N. & A. F. TIFT.

New Orleans, March 22d, 1862.

Hon. S. R. Mallory—
Sir: We can complete the two gun boats in sixty days. Hurry the

shaft with special agent; we cannot launch without it. Imprudent to

put on more casing till launched. While detained we are helping with
men and material to complete the ''Louisiana." Her iron is being
rapidly put oh. Murray says will have steam on in twelve days. Two
parties are making the quarter shafts, but will not wait if can get the

centre shaft, which must come by express. We answered your tele-

trram of the I7th.

New Orleans, Alarch 2Ztl, 1862.

Hon. S. R. Mallory—
Sir: Every thing is being done possible until the shaft arrives; can

it come by special train ?

N. & A. F. TIFT.

New Orleans, March 2Ut, 1862.

Hon. S. R. Mallory, Secretary of the Navy—
Sir: Your two telegrams of the I7'th were received on the following

day, when we transmitted the following dispatch in answer: " Pay-
ment was due Murray the 2Tth of February, four-sixth (4-6) then com-
pleted. Pa^T-ment should be made at once. Shaft will be in time if

sent through without interruption. If machinists redeem their promises
ship will be ready for operation in thirty days ; every thing else will."

Parties have commenced forging our quarter shafts, and we have no
doubt of their completion in good time.

The engines are progressing rapidly, and we believe that the whole
work will be done within the time stated above. We hope you suc-

ceeded in dispatching the centre shaft yesterday, under charge of an
influential officer of the government, with authority to employ any
means to insure its early arrival here. Two of the guns have arrived,

and we are anxiously expecting the others. Our broad-side guns Cap-
tain Mitchell is making every effort to have cast as early as possible,

and we believe they will be ready.
We are delayed vsomewhat by the non-receipt of the balance of the

iron casing from Atlanta; but Mr. N. Tift is giving his undivided at-
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considerable portion of which is already on the way, and we hope will

soon be on the spot.

We have laid nearly all the plating from the ^'knuckle" angle down,
and the balance of the casing we will put on after launching the ship,

which will be done as soon as the shaft yon furnished from Richmond
arrives. Very respectfully,

N. & A. F. TIFT.

New Orleans, March 23d, 18G2.

Hon. S. R. Mallory, Sea'etary of the Navy—
Sir: Your telegram of yesterday stating " the shaft leaves on Mon-

day morning, the 24th, complete," &.c. is just received, and we hasten
to repeat that everything that can be accomplished with men and money
towards the early completion of our ship is being done. We have just

returned from the shops where our machinery is being built, and found
every one doing their best to accomplish that end. It has been impos-

sible to get independent gangs of mechanics to work at night, on ac-

count of the pressing demand upon all of them through the day. We
have tried and will continue our efforts to procure machinists from other

shops to work at night, for in this department alone we need more help.

Still we are assured by the machinist that the engines will be ready as

soon as we can get the shafts.

We telegraphed you yesterday in answer to yours of the 2 1st, re-

ceived yesterday—"can complete the two gun boats in 60 days. Hurry
on shaft with special agent. We cannot launch without it. Impru-
dent to put on more casing till launched. While detained we are help-

ing with men and material to complete the ^Louisiana.' Her iron is

being rapidly put on. Murray says will have steam on in twelve days.

Two parties are making our quarter shafts, but will not wait for them,
if can get the centre shafl, which must come by express."

As the machinery of the '' Louisiana" is second hand, and had only

to be transferred from another steamer and refitted, we have thought

that with our assistance she might be got ready much sooner than she

otherwise could be. We have let Murray have carpenters, laborers,

and valuable materials from our yard, which will hasten very much the

completion of that vessel, without any material detriment to us just

now. If we had our centre shaft we could launch and work our whole
force in all the departments to advantage. We shall, howeii-er, look

confidently for its safe arrival here the last of the week—in which case,

we will require but few days to put every thing in working condition

Mr. Clark is working on the two quarter shafts, in which we think

he will be successful—and the " Safety Committee" here have engaged
Leeds d:. Co. to make duplicates of them, so we will have the use of

the first completed.

The carpenters' and joiners' work on our vessel is about finished;

rooms and spaces for officers and men, magazines, shot, shell, and store

rooms, ready for use; the chains are in the lockers, capstan finished,

tanks in position, dtc. Our iron casing from the <* knuckle" angle

dowA is nearly ready on and fastened, ofi*; but as we are not certain of
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the security of our foundation, and as the ship itself is very heavy,
aside from the great weight of her engines, boilers, and the plating
already on, we deem it imprudent to put on any more of it until the
vessel is safely launched. We can then finish the entire iron casing in
about one week, while -the battery is being secured, and other final
preparations are going on.

Your letter of the 11th was received by us on the 20th inst., and in
reply state, that Commander Mitchell was yesterday ia treaty for the
purchase of the engines alluded to; if he does not secure them, we will
purchase two, (as we suggested in a former letter,) if complete in all

respects as represented.

We learned last week through a secret agent we employed to visit

the country and report any machinery that might be useful to the De-
partment in constructing gun boats, that he had found two elegant pro-
peller engines, with boiler, shafts, connections, &c., complete, one of
which could be purchased at once; and the other, providing we could
furnish a suitable and sufiicient engine to do the work of the plantation.
We i«imedlately purchased one of the engines complete with shaftings,
ifcc^at a price which will not exceed $5,000, and we have dispatched
the agent to negotiate for the other, at any price (in reason) and close it.

We now learn that these were the U. S. St. McLaenas' " engines,
and that their power is between 4 and 500 horses.

If we are successful in getting the second engine, we will build a
first rate man of war, adapted to that power, of which we will advise
you further hereafter.

Mr. Nelson Tift has been at Atlanta the past two weeks superintend-
ing the cutting and fitting our iron casing to patterns, and is now on
his way here urging its early transportation. We are short about 200
tons, most of which we think is on its way by railroad.

We will write you soon with reference to parties here putting up a
rolling mill.

We are collecting our materials for the two gun boats, and we expect
to commence them this week, and complete them within sixty days. We
have had the greatest difficulty in procuring fastenings and every other
description of iron, but now we^ are well provided for the work we have
undertaken.

Very respectfiilly,

N. & A. F. TJFT.

Montgomery, Ala., March 25th, 1862.

Hon. S. R. Mallory, Secretary of the Navy—
Sir: I telegraphed to you from this place to-day, as follows: " I am

going to Mobile and New Orleans. Our iron order will be completed
next week. The iron is detained at Mobile. Please telegraph the Pres-
ident's order to Mobile, to command such rolhng stock of the railroad-,
as may be necessary to take myself and the iron immediately to New
Orleans, otherwise the vessel will be delayed."

I have been some days in Atlanta completing.orders for our iron. It
has been a difiicult and perplexing job, but I think it is all so arranged
now, as to be put on without difficulty. Schofield <fc Markham think r

24
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they can complete the order next week. The bohs will also be

finished. The port doors are completed and shipped.

We have until the past few days been sending iron by the upper line

of railroads. The operations of the army rendered that route impassi-

ble, and we changed the direction, via Mobile. The iron is going for-

ward regularly and without difficulty as far as Mobile, but I learn from

the steamboat men, that it does not go forward from Mobile, and that a

quantity of it lijis accumulated on the wharf there. There are parts of

the first course, or layer of tlie iron detained, and we cannot go on

without the authority to command the cars and engines necessar^r to

forward it. It is therefore indispensable.

I think we can put the iron all on about the time we can get ifall

there; ifwe can arrange to have it come through regularly. I attempted

to go to Mobile by railroad, but the rains rendered the road impassible,

and I have returned to go by the river. When 1 left Atlanta the

railroad agent told me that our shaft liad not passed that place. If it

has been detained on the way, will it not be best to send a special agent

with authority to find that and other articles that are on the route; and
bring them through ? 'i*'

I learned yesterday that several 10-inch Columbiads were being re-

moved from Pensacola. If we fail to get the guns which you have

contracted for in New Orleans, can we not get some of them.

Excuse me for saying in conclusion, that for the sake of our cause

and country, as well as for yourself, I am gratified that the Senate, in

spite of unfounded rumors which were calculated to injure you, had
the good judgment to confirm your nomination to the important posi-

tion which you now hold.

Yery respectfully, your obedient servant,

NELSON TIFT.

[Copy.]

Neav Orleans, April 1st, 1.8fi2.

Mr. Joseph Pierce, Acting N. C, C. S. N.—
Sir: We received your communicntion of the 27th ult., stating that

in your opinion, the ship should be iaunf^hed on account of the fear

which you entertain that she may settle on her ways, and you refer to

the fact that you had 'Uold us this some thirty days previously." It

was early in the month of February that you expressed this opinion to

us. We then instructed you to have everything ready to launch, and
whenever any appearance of injury or danger to the vessel should

occur by settlement or otherwise to launch her immediately, but to keep

her on the ways, and push the completion as rapidly as possible until

that time.

Our reasons for these instructions were, first: That there was then no
appearance of settlement or injury to the vessel.' Second: That every

day which we could work on her on the ways, would save time as well

as money in her completion. We now repeat our former instructions,

keep eveiything ready to lauhch in the shortest possible time. Launch
immediately whenever there is any actual appearance of danger by set-

tlement or otherwise. The rise of the water is a favorable cfrcnm-
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stance. The soundings show a regular grade from the stern of the ship
as follows: 50 feet distance, or about the end of the ways, the depth of
the water is 13 feet; at 100 feet distant loi-feet; at 150 feet distant 14
feet; 200 feet distant 17 feet; 250 feet distant 18 feet water. As a proper
precaution against accident in launching, we wish you to have in I'eadi-

ness two good sized floats, to be properly secured in the quarters. The
centre shaft from Richmond will be here to-morrow. We are gratified

to hear you say to-day^ that in view of this fact, if you had the discre-

tion you would not launch the ship now, but would put in the shaft.

Get that in as soon as possible, so as to be able to control the ship by
steam after she is launched.
The side shafts will be forged and ready for the lathe on to-morroU'-,

and the other next Sunday, and they will probably both be ready to be
put on the ship next week.

Should we be so fortunate us to get them all in before it shall become
necessary to launch, we think it will save a month in the completion of
the ship.

Very respectful! r,

N. vfc A. F. TIFT.

[Copy.]

City of Jefferson, March 21thy 1862.

Sir: In consequence of the accumulation of the immense weight, I

deem it actually necessary to launch the ship. I have told you this

some thirty days ago. The shaft holes can be pluggedup, and the ship
should be launched at once. The interest of the Government demands
it. The water is still rising, and I fear the ship will setde on her ways;
and if this should be the case we will have trouble to get her off. Again,
if she was afloat I would put on the iron, which is not prudent to do
now. The foundation is getting softer every day, and I can see no
reason why she will not settle.

We must use small docks to get in the propellers.

Very respectfully^

JOSEPH PIERCE.
Messrs. N. (fc A. F. Tift.

New Orleans, April 5th, 1862.

Ho7i. S. R. MallorY; Secretary of the Navy—
Sir: Learning that a communic»tion has been forwarded to you,

which emanated from the " Committee of Safety," censuring our
course for not allowing the vessel, which we are building under your
orders to be launched, we think it proper to give you a simple state-
ment of facts relative to this subject.
When we laid the foundation of the vessel we doubted the stability

ol the ground, judging from its appearance, and not only provided a
large surface of blocking to guard against settlement, but ways were
early prepared and the lower part of the vessel finished^ caulked and''
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painted, &c., so that we might launch on the first appearance of dan-

ger, and complete the vessel afloat if necessary.

Some two months ago Mr. Constructor Pierce expressed to us the

opinion that the vessel should be launched. After a careful examina-

tion, we found that everything remained stable and permanent, and
without any appearance of danger. The ways were under the ship

and everything ready to launch. We then instructed him to watch her

carefully, and at the first appearance of danger by settlement or other-

wise, to launch her, but to*push the work as rapidly as possible until

that time. On the 27th of last month Mr. Pierce Avrote to us a letter to

the same eflect. We then made a careful examination of the condition

of the vessel, and of the soundings, and finding no appearance of set-

tlement or injury to the vessel, and the soundings all right, we felt

confident that to launch her then would delay the completion of the

vessel one month. This opinion was expressed by Mr. John Hughes,
fihip-builder, to the committee of safety j we repeated our former in-

structions to Mr. Pierce, a copy of which we send you enclosed, to-

gether with the letter of Mr. Pierce.

On the representations of Mr. Pierce and some other persons to the

committee of safety, that the vessel was endangered by not being

launched—some said by the possibility of the " batture" filUng up
astern, so that she could not, be launched through it, and some that

there was no danger from that source but that the "batture" might
suddenly sink, (fcc, we were called upon by a sub-committee upon the

subject. We gave them a polite reception, and gave them all the infor-

mation they asked, together with our reasons for not launching, until

there should be some actual appearance of necessity for it. They have

reported, we have heard, to the committee of safety; that the vessel

should be immediately launched. We have heard that they applied to

Commodore Whittle and Gen. Lovell for authority to launch her, and
that they referred them to us, as the responsible parties to the Govern-

ment.
The ilivestigations of the committee we learn have been ex parte.

Mr. Pierce, Mr. Murray, and other gentlemen have been called upon
before them to give their opinion as to the launching, and as to our po-

sition and course with regard to it, but they have not asked to hear, us

on the subject.

The result has been a considerable excitement in the community,
and a prejudice in the minds of some who are unacquainted with all

the facts.

Our course under these circumstances has been such as we hope will

meet your approbation. Our object has been to gain time without en-

dangering the vessel. We have pursued what we believed to be our
duty to the Government and the coiintry, without regard to personal

considerations. We are devoting all our time to the work, and going
steadily and quietly forward in the accomplishment of our undertalfing.

The ironing from the "knuckle" below is nearly completed. The
stern shaft arrived from Richmond the night of the 3d, and is now in

the shop to be coupled and fitted to the propeller, which will probably

require three or four days. One of the quarter shafts will be forged to-

day, and go intO;Messrs. Leeds' shop, and will be finished next week.

The other quarter shaft will be done we think, so that they will all be

in the ship in two weeks.
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The sheet iron work arid machinei:y ai'e gohig on as last as we can
urge them, and we hope to have the vessel ready by the 1st of May.
Knowing your desire to get the *' Louisiana" ready as soon as possi-

ble, we have done all that we could without interfering with our special

duties, to aid them. We have furnished men and materials when ne-

cessary. Mr. Constructor Pierce lias given most of his time to the
" Louisiana" for the past two weeks, and we think they expect to have
her ready for service within a week.

Capt. Sinclair arrived here on the 3d, and is much pleased with the

vessel.

Should you receive communications from any parties containing
charges against us, you will do us a favor by sending us a copy.

Permit us to call your especial attention to the substance of the letter

to Mr. Pierce. The sounding referred to was also made by us in pres-

ence of Commodore Whittle and Capt. Mitchell.

Very respectfully,

N. & A. F. TIFT,
ArretifsN.D., a S.A.

Nt^w OB.I.EAJHS, April 9tk,lS62,

Hon. S. R. Mallory, Secretary of the Navy—
Sir: We received on the 7th inst. your letter of the 31st ult., with

the enclosed drawings and specifications for a gun boat, but which we
have not had time to examine on account of the great pressure already
upon us, but we will give it our earliest leisure.

Our vessel is progressing as fast as possible, as all the means at our
command are constantly employed to hasten the early completion of the

work. We have offered the party under contract to put up the ma-
chinery complete in the boat, a bonus of $5,000, if he will have steam
on and ready for trial on the 25th inst., which he accepted, and avssured

us eveiything would be ready. We then offered him $500 per day for

every day he should gain on the completion of the machinery in ad-

vance of the above date. We now feel quite confident that we- shall

have no farther trouble in that department.
We have already written to Commodore Whittle that the ship will be

ready for her guns on the 23d, and that she willlje ready for service on
the 1st of next month.
The shaft you sent us is now in the lathe to fit the cuplings and pro-

pellers on, and we hope to have it in position in 4 or 5 days. One of
the quarter shafts is at Leeds & Co., and will be ready about the same
time; and the third and last shaft is already half forged, and we expect
to have it ready in*9 or 10 days, when we shall launch the vessel, (if

there should be no apparent necessity before.) In the meantime we are
assorting and numbering the plating preparatory to putting the balance
of it on in the shortest possible time—say about 12 or 14 days from this.

Your experience in fitting out the Virginia will give you some idea of
the thousand difficulties which we have been obhged to overcome to

complete the work We have undertaken. We have not the time nor the
desire to recite them now, but enough that we have employed every
talent and energy, and feel confident that in a few days more we Will
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give you a vessel that will be in all respects efficienl, and will redeem

the fullest expectations of your department.

In consequence of Mr. Pierce's absence for the past two or three

weeks from our work with a large portion of our men to the " Louisi-

ana," we have not been able to commence the other two boats, but we
have a large quantity of material on hand and in the ship, which will

enable us to complete them Ave think in sixty days from the time we
commence—say from the 20th inst.

The machinery is mostly done, so that we shall sulfer no delay on

that account.

We have been obliged to drive piles in from 2 to 6 feet water for the

foundations for the two boats, which has taken a considerable time, but

is now completed. We will advise you particularly as the work pro-

gresses.

Oar iron plating has not all reached here yet, but we expect it every

moment. The Avrought iron port frames are now being riveted to the

plates, and when done, we shall commence at once the finishing stroke

of putting on the iron

.

Very respectfully,

N. & A. F. TIFT.

N. B. Capt. Sinclair arrived some days ago, and expresses himseli

much pleased with his ship.

New Orleans, April I7th, 1862.

Hon. 8. R. Mallory, Secretary cf the Navy—
Sir: We are doing all that we can for the early completion of the

" Mississippi." The after part of the centre shaft has been put in and
the fitting on of the propeller this evening. One of the side shafts

came to the yard finished to-day, the other is in Leeds' shop, and will

be completed in the course of three or four days.

Our iron is coming forward rapidly, and we learn by telegraph that

the last^of it will leave Mobile for this place on Saturday.

The work on the machineiy is now being carried on by extra Ibrcc

in the ship and at the shops. The port frames are being put in, the

iron is all assorted to its place as it arrives. The port doors are fitted

and hinged. The chimney, gratings and ventilating openings, whicii

are to serve for sharp-shooters, are nearly completed; also the pilot and
wheel-house, and most of the interior arrangements. We think that

we can complete the ironing of her by the last of the moutli, thougl.

we may find difficulties which we do not now anticipate, which may
delay us beyond ihat time. We did not intend to launch until the shafL

and propellers were all in, unless there should be danger of iujury to

the vessel from soltlomont or otherwise; but Oapt. Mitchell and Capt.

.•Sinclair, have given us their opinion that the enemy may pass the Forts

below and cause the destruction of the vessel, unless we have her in

position to be towed up the river, and for this reason advise the launch-

ing. Confiding in their judgment on that subject, we have determined

to launch to-morrow.

We have a large force at work on a dock that Avill cover all the pro-
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pellers and out-board machinery that will be useful now, and in the

future, in case it should be necesJIry to repair machinery.
The propeller which we have in, will give us control of the vessel;

and we have engaged two steamers to guard against accident now, and
to tow her off if it should be necessary. We shall be doubtless, some-
what delayed by the launching, but we will make the delay as little as

possible.

We have been greatly troubled in several departments of our work,
and have labored hard to overcome the difficulties which have been
presented. We will not trouble you with details—we have succeeded
as well as we could, though not so well as we have desired. We hope
still to have the vessel ready for service by the last of the month. She
will be ready to receive her guns next week. When shall we get them?
The chassees and carriages we learn will be ready.

April IS. We wrote the above last evening. We lend by Commo-
dore Hollins, who will leave to-morrow morning. We did not get the

vessel off the ways to-day. The preparations for starting her were not

sufficient. We will have her off in the morning. We have made ar-

rangements to-day to distribute the machinery in different shops, and
hopa to have it finished next week. Will telegraph to you whenever
anything important transpires relative to the Mississippi.

Very respectfully,

N. (fc A. F. TIFT.

Hon, S. R. Mallory,
Secretary of the Navy, Richmond, Virginia.

The destruction of the C. S. Steamer "Mississippi," at New Orleans

by the G. S. Naval authorities, has defeated the purpose for which
we have been laboring—the preparation of a war vessel which would
give supremacy to the C. S. Navy in the Gulf^fMexico, and in making
this final report oi our proceedings, we tljink it proper to give a brief

statement of our connection with this vessel.

The object of the peculiar design and structure of the '^Mississippi"

was to strengthen the weakest point of our defences by making availa-

ble our pine forests, and other means at our command, for the construc-

tion of war vessels, which should be equal to any in the world. When
the plan had been approved by yourself, and a board of naval officers,

to whom you submitted it, we tendered the invention to the Govern-
ment, and our personal services to your department for the building of
such a vessel without compensation.
Our services were accepted, and on the 5th September, in Richmond,

we received your instructions to build the vessel in New Ofleans, giving
us such discretion as was necessary, and appointing a paymaster, and
acting naval constructor to aid us.

We arrived at New Orleans on the 18th of September, and immedi-
ately commenced for the work. After a thorough investigation, we
found it impossible to get a contractor for the wood work, who would
be bound to any specified time on account of procuring materials and
men. There was no timber in New Orleans suitable. There was but
a small assortment of bolt iron in the city, and the great mass of the
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mechanics had enlisted in the army. We could not rent a ship-yard

which was suited to our purpose, ffilaey were all too small, inconve-
nient, and being opposite to Npyv L)rleans involved the delay and
expense of transporting materials acrossthe river. We selected a piece

of ground above the city, the property of Mr. Mallondon, which was
suited to our purpose. Here we made the best ship-yard in New Or-

leans, put up a saw-mill, blacksmith shops, sheds for the workmen, &c.
We made large contracts for timber with all the responsible parties

we could procure it from by water or railroad, within a hundred miles

of the city. We purchased all the suitable iron fastenings which we
could get. We made a contract with Messrs. Jackson &- Co. of the

Patterson foundry for the machinery, to be completed in three (3)

months, at ^45,000, and a bonus of ^5,000, if completed within the

time. The only competitor was Messrs. Leeds & Co., whose price

was $65,000, and who were unwiUing to be bound to complete it in

four "months time. We could not contract for the necessary wrought
iron shafting.

Acting Constructor Pierce arrived from Richmond with twenty car-

penters on the 28th September. Other men were employed as fast as

\Ve could procure them. The preparation of the ship-yard and the

foundation for the vessel were completed; the timber for which we had
contracted began to arrive, and the vessel was commenced on the 14th

of October.

We found from a careful investigation, with the advice and assistance

of engineers, that the power of the machinery first designed was not

sufficient to give the necessary speed for an efficient vessel for the pur-

poses intended. On the 4th of October we employed E. M. Ivens to

superintend the designs, drawing, and construction of machinery, and
putting it up in the ship. The designs were then agreed upon, and

drawings were furnished according to the annexed list: Subsequently

Chief Engineer Warner, whom you sent to us by our request, approved

the plan of the machinery, and aided in the adjustment of the contract.

The power of the machinery was increased about fifty per cent, and
the price was fixed at $65,000, and a boims of $5,000, if it should be

completed on board the vessel within the time agreed upon, the Sl.st

.Tanuary, 1862.

There was not a furnace and hammer in the Confederacy capable of

making our shafting, and the only shaft which could be found suitable

was the one you secured and had altered for us in Richmond. We en-

gaged Messrs. Wood & Co., of Nashville, to put up a furnace and ham-
mer, to make the other two shafts; but after considerable delay, they

informed us that they could not make them. Mr. John Clarke, who
had taken a large contract for making the Armstrong gun for the Gov-

ernment,*was^reparing to build furnaces, and put up a large hammer
for that purpose. We induced him to so change the plans of his fur-

nace and hammer as to make our shafting, and to work day and night

until they weie done. A hammer-man could not be procured, and Mr.

Clarke, without previous experience in that department, undertook to

make them himself, and succeeded. As soon as forged, they were put

in the. shop of Messrs. Leeds A:. Co., who continued the work on them

day and night until they were completed. We found that there was

but one^establisjjr^ent ill ^li^ Confederacy that could roll plate iron
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not aid us on account of previous engagements.

We tried to induce other establishments to prepare for and undertake
it, without success, and we commenced preparations to cover with rail-

road iron, but receiving a letter from Messrs. Scofield &- Markham, of
Atlanta, Ga., stating that they would consider our proposition to change
their rolls and make iron plating, one of us went to Atlanta, and on the
14th day of November made a contract for plates to be made and drilled,

and bolts to be made for the entire covering of the vessel.

This required about one thousand tons of iron plating, and one hun-
dred and sixty thousand pounds of bolts.

All these leading arrangements were made as early as possible, and
with unceasing efforts and unflagging zeal, we supervised and pressed

forward the work in every department. It Avould be impossible to con-

vey a correct idea of the labor performed, and the difficulties encoun-
tered during the whole progress of the work. Our nights were chiefly

devoted to details of new designs, adapted to this new plan of vessel,

and our days to the procurement of men and materials, and the direc-

tion and superintendence of the work.
In the department of wood work, or building the vessel, we had

great difliculty in the procurement of both mechanics and materials.

Notwithstanding the large contracts we had made for timber^ we were

sometimes, from causes beyond our control, short of the kinds we
wanted. After purchasing all the suitable iron for fastening in New
Orleans, we purchased in Macon, Ga., Atlanta, Chattanooga, Nash-

ville, Mobile and other places. Our workmen finding their services in

great demand " struck" for higher wages; and after some delay we were

obliged to comply with their demands, or stop the work. A horde of

speculators were at all times on the track of the Government, monopo-

lizing and increasing the price of all necessary materials.

In the machinery department we did all Ave could to forward the

work, by efforts to procure hands, the release of men from military

duty, the offer of rewards to extraordinary exertion, the ofl'er to pay

extra for any extra expense that might be caused by making extra time,

the division of work into other shops when it could be done to facili-

tate its completion, by co-operating with the proposed efforts of the

"committee of safety" to procure hands, the purchase of auxiliary

engines, and other articles, which could be procured elsewhere, and

thus aid the contractors to fulfil their engagements. Under the autho-

rity of your instructions to spare '^ neither money or men to complete

the vessel," we made a written proposition to Messrs. Jackson & Co.,

to give them a bonus of $5,000 if they would complete the machinery

with steam on according to their contract by the 25th of April, and

$500 a day for every day short of that time. They were confident of

their ability to complete the work within that time, and extraordinary

efforts were made to do so, but they did not succeed in their undertak-

ing, or realize our hopes and expectations. The iron casing made by
Messrs. Scofield &- Markham, of Atlanta, was at times delayed for want
of coal, and for want of their workmen, who had volunteered in the

army. When these deficiences were supplied they fulfilled their con-

tract in the most prompt aud satisfactory manner. We had much trouble

in the transportation of this iron, on account of the necessary move'
25
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ments of the army and army supplies. We first received it by way of

Memphis and the river, then via Grand Junction by the railroad, and

after the occupation of that line by Gen. Johnston, we received via

Mobile, Montgomery and Jackson. The Etowa Ga. Works were de-

layed in making a part of the bolt iron ordered for the casing, for want
of hands who had left them for the army.

On the 19th of April the " Mississippi" was launched. The iron

below the surface of the gun-deck was put on before launching the

vessel. The remaining iron was being rapidly put on, and would have

been completed within ten days. The furnace work was completed, the

machinery was all on board, and would have been completed in two
weeks. The wood work was nearly done. If New Orleans could

have been held two weeks longer the ship would have been completed,

ready for action, the time occupied in her construction being a little less

than seven months. According to the testimony of all naval officers and
seafaring men who saw her, the " Mississippi," was the strongest and
would have been the most formidable war vessel that has ever been

built.

On the 24th of April we were informed by Commodore Whittle that

the enemy had passed the Forts below the city, and that immediate
preparation must be made to save the vessel, or to destroy her. Capt.

Sinclair of the C. S. Navy, and his officers were placed in charge.

Their efforts to save her have been the subject of a court of enquiry,

and have been approved. We did all that we could to aid them, and
had made all the necessary arrangements for the completion of the

vessel, in case they had succeeded in towing her up the river. She
was burned by order of Capt. Sinclair, to keep her from falling into the

hands of the enemy, on the morning of the 25th of April. We were on
board of the steamer ^' Peytona" at the time, and we knew nothing of

the order to burn her until we saw her on fire. It is impossible to de-

scribe our feelings. We had devoted months of labor and care to her
construction, and our hearts were set upon her success, and the pros-

pects of good service which she would do for our country. Our sole

consolation was, that we had faithfully, and according to the best of our
abihty, peribrmed our duty.

We left the city in the " Peytona," in company with Capt. Sinclair

and his officers. Paymaster Senac and others, between 12 and 1 o'clock
on the 25th, and arrived at Vicksburg on the 27th. Here we were ar-

rested and taken before the Military Governor, Col. Autry, on the
autliority of a telegram from P. Soule, one of the Provost Marshals ol"

New Orleans, charging us with the burning of the vessel which we
fiad built, Commodore Whittle, Capt. Sinclair, and his officers, those
who had given, and those who had executed the order for the destruc-
tion of the " Mississippi." Paymaster Senac and others were present
and testified to the facts, a copy of which testimony is appended to this

report. Notwithstanding the unequivocal testimony of all the witnesses
to our innocence, the Governor thought proper to send us in custody to

Gov. Pettus, at Jackson, Mississippi. We arrived at Jackson on the

28th, when Gov. Pettus, after examining the testimony, sent us to

Richmond, where we reported to you. The course of Mr. Soule is in-

explicable to us, except upon the ground of hostility to us as the agents

of the Govcrnraent, and the course of Gov. Autry and Gov. Pettus, we
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believe was influenced by false statements, privately made by pretended
friends, but real enemies of the Government, who made them doubt our
innocence, notwithstanding the unanimous testimony to the facts.

We desire here to record our gratitude for the disinterested friendship
and moral courage exhibited by Paymaster Senac on the occasion of
our arrest. He met the excitement of the crowd, and the insolence of
the officer who arrested us. with the spirit of a brave man and a true
friend. We desire also to thank you sir, for the kindness and confi-
dence which you have manifested since our connection with your de-
partment; you gave us all the discretion necessary, and every facility

which you could for the early completion of the ^' Mississippi;" and
we will add that notwithstanding the difficulties which we encountered,
no vessel of equal magnitude and power has ever before been built in
the same time, in this or any other country.

We append to this report the proceedings of a meeting of the citizens

of Albany, Ga., held on our return to that place; also a letter to the
Charleston Mercury, in answer to misstatements which were published
in that paper.

With your permission we will also append the copy of a letter from
Paymaster Senac, with Avhich you furnished us, and a copy of your
own letter to us, written after your investigation of our conduct. Be-
sides the "Mississippi," we had designed two smaller steamers to be
constructed on the same plan, had contracted and partly paid for the
machinery, which was already constructed, and for considerable part of
the materials, and were to have built them, under your directions, as
soon as the <^ Mississippi" was completed. We hoped to have had
these two auxiliary vessels completed within sixty days from the time
of their commencement.
We desired to append as a part of this report, a statement of the ex-

penditures made for the '^Mississippi;" also for the two additional

vessels we were preparing to const^'uet, and the amount of valuable
materials on hand, but as important data necessary to an accurate state-

ment of the expenditures were left in Albany, Ga., intending to have
made our report from that place, at some leisure time, we are obliged to

omit for the present that portion of the report; but as it will be for-

warded to you at an early day, we ask that it may be attached as a part

of the original report.

We will send you at our earliest leisure drawings, and a description

of the "^Mississippi," which may be of future use to the Govemment.
Very respectfully, your obedient servants,

N. «fc A. P. TIFT.
Savannah, Ga., Aug. %Wi, 1862.
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LETTERS FROM THE SECRETARY OP TH£ NAVY,

TO MESSRS. N. & A. F. TIFT.

(376)

Nelson Tift and Asa Tift, Esqrs.,

Richmond, Fa.—

Gentlemen: Your letter of the 26th inst. has been received. If I

understand its purport correctly, you propose to give to the govern-

ment of the Confederate States the use of your invention of tlie v/ar

ship, which has been examined and approved; to proceed at once to

construct one vessel or more of this character, with all possible dispatch,

at such places as the department may designate; to give your joint time

and attention to the work without reward or compensation for your ser-

vices; and to act throughout, not as contractors, but as the agents of

this department; undertaking to make no money, and to receive none
directly or indirectly, out of such agency, but td find your reward in

the gratuitous rendition of your services to the country.

Such being my understanding of your proposition, 1 accept your offer

with the conviction that an efficient ship, to drive off a blockading fleet,

can be constructed on your plan for less money, and in a shorter time

than upon any plan hitherto devised, and that in her construction your

services, thus patriotically tendered, will be miportant to the speedy and
economical completion of the work.

I will at once detail officers of the Navy to aid you to supervise ex-

penditures, procure materials, and generally to aid you in executing

your designs. •

For many reasons the vessel must be constructed at New Orleans,

and from its peculiar structure it would seem that its completion should

not be delayed beyond the 15th of December next.

The specifications and estimates of the ships to be built have been

carefully examined and adopted, and herewith 1 hand you the instruc-

tions of the department on the subject.

I am respesectfully, your obedient servant,

S. R. MALLORY, Secretary of the Naiy.
Confederate States Navy Department, }

Richmond, Aug. 28th, 1861., 3

(392)
Confederate States Navy Department, \

Richmond, September 5th, 1861. V

Nelson Tift and Aba F. Tift, Richmo7id, Va.—
Gentlemen: You are entering upon the duty of constructing a war

ship upon the plans and specifications, which have, after mature deliber-
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ation, with the aid of the judgments of the engineer and constructor

of the navy, been determined upon; and I desire in order that you may
rightly understand your duties and responsibilities, to place several mat-
ters pertaining to them before you.

First—You will regard yourselves not as contractors, for you are to

receive neither commission nor reward, directly or indirectly, for all

your labors and responsibilities, but, as the agents of thisdeparment, to

construct this vessel; and you are at liberty to proceed in such manner
as your judgment may direct as best for the public interest.

Second—You will not regard yourselves as confined rigidly to the

specifications, but will feel at liberty, should you dfeem it necessary to

render the vessel more efficient, to vary them for such purpose and no
other; adhering generally to the specifications, and reporting all devia-

tions promptly to the department for its approval.

Third—A constructor and Engineer of the C. S. Navy, will be as-

signed to aid you in carrying out your views.

Fourth—A Paymaster will be detailed to pay all accounts for con-
struction. These accounts, when approved by you in duplicate, will

be presented to the Paymaster, who will pay them.
Fifth—In your engagements with builders it may be well to offer a

premium for early completion, and to provide for failure to complete
within a specified time.

Sixth—You will keep an account of your personal expenses, incurred
in and about the work, which Avill be paid by the Paymaster.

Seventh—An account of the progress of the work, and expenditures
made, Avill be rendered weekly; and you will be authorized to employ
a competent clerk at the rate of ^1 ,000 per annum, to aid your labors.

The department trusts to your patriotism, judgment and discretion,

to produce the ship designed in the shortest time, at the lowest price,

and to act in the premises generally as if you were building fov your-

selves, and had to pay the money out of your own pockets.

I am respectfully, your obedient servant,

S. R. MALLORY, Secretary of the Navy.

(409) [Per Telegraph.]

Richmond, Sept. \^th, 1861.

Asa F. Tift, Esq., St. Charles Hotel) Neiv Orleans—
Pierce leaves on twenty-first instant with twenty ship-carpenters.

S. R. MALLORY, Secntary of the Navy.

(454
Richmond, Oct. 6th, 1861.

Asa F. Tift, Esq., St. Charles Hotel, New Orleans—
Yours received. Retain Brough, and advise Hollins.

S. R. MALLORY, Secretary of the Navy.
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(458)

Confederate States Navy Department, )

Richmond, Oct. 7th, 1861. j"

Messrs. A. F. &. N. Tift, Navi/ Department,

New Orleans—
Gentlemen; Your very satisfactory report was received yesterday.

Your course throughout is approved, and you are urged to give all pos-

sible dispatch to your work.
Your employment of Mr. Brough is confirmed. It would have been

better for you to have employed him by the day or month, at a regular

stipend, instead of engaging him as an engineer.

Some embarrassment and delay of the Treasury Department in meet-
ing our requisitions upon it at New Orleans, is inevitable, and results

solely from the difficulty of printing Treasury notes as rapidly as public

expenditures require, and the department from this cause is several

millions behind hand at this time.

If you will candidly advise contractors of this state of things, and of

the further fact, that facilities for printing and preparing them are daily

increasing, and that we cannot expect to be more than a week behind
hand at any time, I am sure their patienee will keep pace with their

patriotism.

Paymaster Senac's warrants have doubtless all been paid by this

time, and I suggest that your most pressing demands might always be
paid first, such as wages of operatives, &c.
The enquiries as to shafting are being made, and you will be advised

accordingly.

Send your order for spikes if you desire, but if you can get what you
want in New Orleans it would be better.

I am respectfully, your obedient servant,

S. R. MALLORY, Secretary of the Navy.

Capt. Ho] I ins has been authorized to have the guns for your vessel

constructed in New Orleans. The two for the bow and stern, will

be of the heaviest character, rifled.

S. K. M.

<467) Richmond, Oct. \2th, 1861.

A. F. Tift, St. Cfuirlcs Hotel, N. Orleans-^

Increased length approved.

S. R. MALLORY, Secretary of the Navy.

(513) [Per Telegraph.]

Richmond, Nov. 2d, 1861.

Messrs. N. & A. F. Tift,
St. Charles Hotel, New Orleans—

You will have to use railroad iron; take steps to secure it.

S. R. MALLORY, Secretary of the Navy.



(519) [Per Telegraph.] ,<^4^

Richmond, Nov. 5tk, 1861.

A. F. & N. Tift, St. Charles Hotel, N. Orleans—

Authority goes by telegram to collector to give you th» crucibles.

S. R. M.ALLOKY, Secretanjofthe Navij.

[Per Telegram.]

RicHDioiyD, Nov. 5th, 1861.

A. F. <fc N. TiPT, St. Charles Hotel, N. Orleans—

Warren cannot be sent—will send another.

S. R. MALLORY, Secretary of fhe Navy.

(545) Richmond, Abv. 2l5^, 1861.

A. F. & N. Tift, St. Charles Hotel, N. Orleans—

Place the. roof at the angle you deem best. Warner is on his way
to you. Send the plan to make your shafts; make all possible dispatch.

S. R. MALLORY, Secretary of the Navy,

I
Confederate States, Navy Department,

Richmond, Dec, 20th, 1861.

' Messrs. N. <fc A. F. Tift, New Orleans—
Gentlemen: It is the judgment of the naval constructor, and of

many judicious naval officers, that the ejfficacy of the vessel being

built by you, will be much increased by sloping the ends of the cover-

ing or casemate like the sides, a sketch of which is annexed. In this

opinion I entirely coincide and deem it important.

The advantages are, that while the power of the vessel as a ram
would in nowise be lessened, she would be able to light two guns for-

ward and two aft, ranging directly .ahead and astern, an advantage of

the first moment in chasing or retreating from an enemy. Room will

be made also for cutling the anchors, and aft for carrying boats when
not in action, when they can be towed.

Less iron, less work, and less time will be required in her construc-

tion—the last a consideration of the first moment.
I am, respectfully, your obedient servant?

S. R. MALLORY, Secretary qf the Navy.
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(108)

Confederate States Navy Department, 1
Richmond, January ISth, 1868. 3

A. F. &. N. Tift, Neiv Orleans—
Gentlemen: Your letter of the 10th mstant, together with the draw-

ings of your ship, reached riie yesterday, and I am gratified to learn

that the important woric in your charge is progressing so well. The
four heavy rifled guns, cast expressly for your vessel, weighing each

thirteen thousand pounds, are being fitted at the Norfolk yard, and will

be forwarded with carriages complete as soon as finished.

A few days will determine whether other gun carriages can be made
here, or must be made there. The centre shaft is still in the hands of

machinists, and will be forwarded as early as possible.

The anchors, chains and capstan, left Norfolk some time since, and

the tanks will be sent, so soon as you shall inform us of the space they

are to occupy, and upon which subject the ordnance officer has written

to you.
Paymaster Senac, I trust is by this time in funds to pay your expen-

diture as they have been ordered to him.
You will please state distinctly the size and character of gun-

boats which you propose to build. Your letter states your ability to

construct one or two, but no reference is made to size. Can you not con-

struct a large vessel clad with iron, like the one you are now building,

or similar? It would be well to furnish me with your views as dis-

tinctly as possible.

Very respectfully,

S. R. MALLORY, Secretary of the Navy.

(81) [Per Telegram.]

Richmond, Jan. —, 1862.

A. F. <fc ^. Tift, St. Charles Hotel, N. Orleans-

Will you undertake to alter the Star of the West as you suggest, and

how long will it take ? Answer at once.

S. R. MALLORY, Secretary of the Navy.

. (97) [Per Telegraph.]

Richmond, Jan. 15th, 1862.

Messrs. A. F. & N. Tift,
St. Charles Hotely New Orleans—

Has not the Star of the West a walking beam—and if so, how would

you protect it ? Can you take hold and make the alterations you sug-

gest ? Answer at one*. The (wo gun boats are approved, and you

will go ahead.
S. R. MALLORY, Secretary of the Navy.
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(207) [Per Telegram.]

Richmond, February 19/A, 1862,

A. F. (fc N. Tift, St. Charles Hotel, N. Orleans-

Some mistake about capstan. Capt. Hollins receipted for the one we
sent on the 28th December. Enquire about it> and reply at once.

S. R. MALLORY, Secretary of the Navy.

(220) [Per Telegraph.]

Richmond, Feb. 23c?, 1862.

Messrs. A . F. & N. Tift,
St. Charles Hotel, New Orleans—

Hollins receipted for capstan. If not, then make another at once.
Shaft will go as early as possible.

S. R. MALLORY, Secretary of the Navy.

(228) [Per Telegraph.]

Richmond, March 1st, 1862.

Messrs. N. &. A. F. Tift,
St. Charles Hotel, New Orleans—

On the 28th December last the capstan and chains were delivered to
Capt. Hollins, and we have his receipt for the same.

S. R. MALLORY, Secretary of the Navy.

(320) [Per Telegraph.]

Richmond, March 15th, 1862.

A. F. «fc N. Tift, St. Charles Hotel, N. Orleans—

The Tredegar Works have disappointed us terribly. The sha.ft is

not ready, and although promised from day to day, may not be ready
for a week. If you can supply its place do so immediately—work
night and day to get vour ship done, without regard to expense.

S. R. MALLORY, Secretary of the Navy,

[294] Richmond, March 11th, 1862.

A. F. & N. Tift, Esqs., New Orleans—
Gentlemen: Your letter of the 4th instant has just been received, in-

forming me of the recovery of the capstan and chains. Purchase the
anchors you require in !^ew Orleans, if possible. You will immedi-
ately consult with Commander Mitchell as to the purchase of the two
engines of Messrs. Ivens & Clark, he having been instructed in rela-

tion to them. If these engines can be usefully employed to propel iron
clad war vessels, we want them, and you will secure them, if Comman-
der Mitchell has not already done so—and in purchasing them provi-
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sion must be made to pay a portion of the price in bonds, say one-third,

or one-half.

If you can purchase and use these engines, as suggested, you will

please advise me as to your ability to commence vessels for them, to be
iron covered at once.

I am advised that John Clark & Co. will put up a rolling mill to roll

plates for armmg ships, if an advance of ten thousand dollars be made;
and as this has been authorized, I trust the work may be established.

You will please urge on the completion of the ship you are building

with all despatch. Can you not induce night and Sunday work ?

The Errickson's contest with the Virginia, (late Merrimac,) showed
the former to great advantage. She is diamond shaped, with some sixty

feet beam, and a revolving casemate with two two hundred pound
guns, is placed amidships, leaving about ten feet on each side. The
Virginia's success has been very great. Can we take the hull of any
good vessel in New Orleans, and place one of these engines in it, to

which I have referred, and make a serviceable iron clad vessel ?/

Cannot a sharp barge or large schooner be thus changed ?

Very respectfully, your obedient servant,

S. R. MALLORY, Secretary of the Navy.

(325) [Per Telegraph.]

Richmond, March 17th, 1862.

A. F. <fc N. Tift, St, Charles Hotel, New Orleans—
The shaft will leave in two days. Can I do anything to expedite

your ship? Work day and night if possible. How near is she done?

S. R. MALLORY, Secretary of the Navy.

(344) [Per Telegraph.]

Richmond, March 20th, 1862.

A. F. (fc N. TiPT, St. Charles Hotel, New Orleans—

Nothing from you. Please advise me of progress, and push on your
ship and gun boats day and night. Shaft leaves here in two days.

Advise me fully.

S. R. MALLORY, Secretary of the Navy.

(353) [Per Telegraph.]

Richmond, March 22d, 1862.

A. F. <k N. Tift, St. Charles Hotel, New Orleans—

The shaft leaves on Monday morning, the 24th, complete; a beauti-

ful piece of work. Strain every nerve to finish ship. Expend money
tb'ehcourage mechanics if essential to speedy completion. Work day

ahd'htght. "
'^^' " '

S. R. MALLORY, Secretary of the Navy.
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(430) • [Per Telegraph.]

Richmond, April 3d, 1862.

A. F. <fc N. Tift, St. Charles Hotel, New Orleans-

Has the shaft arrived, and is it all right?

S. R. MALLORY, Secretary of the Navy.

(445) [Per Telegraph.]

Richmond, April Bth, 1862.

A. F. (fc N. Tift, St. Charles Hotel, New Orleans—
Your ship is called the Mississippi. I write by mail. Spare neither

men nor money to complete her at the earliest moment. Cannot you
hire night gangs for triple wages?

S. R. MALLORY, Secretary of the Navy.

(16) [By Telegraph.]

Richmond, April lOih, 1862.

A. F. &, N. Tift, St. Charles Hotel, New Orleans—
Enemy's boats have passed Island Ten. Work day and night with

all the force you can command to get the Mississippi ready; spare
neither men nor money.

S. R. MALLORY, Secretary of the Navy.

(22)
Richmond, April 11th, J 862.

A. F. &, N. Tift, St. Oharles Hotel, New Orleans—

What is the condition of your ship? When will you launch? and
when will she be ready for action?

S. R. MALLORY, Secretary of the Navy.

Confederate States Navy DEPAkTMEkT, >
Richmond, April 11th, 1862. y

Messrs. A. F. (fc N. Tift, New Orleans—
Gentlemen: Your letter of the 5th instant has been received. Youf

course with regard to the launching of the Mississippi is approved by
the Department, and you will exercise your best judgment as to the pro-

per time when it should be done, with a view to her early completion.
It is of vital importance that she should be ready for service at the

earliest practicable moment, and I rely upon you to pitsh on the Work
day and night, sparing neither men nor money.

1 am respectfully,

S. R. MALLORY, Secretary of the Navy.
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Confederate States Navv Department, 7
Richmond, May 2ith, 1862. 5

Asa F. Tift &- Col. Nelson Tift, Richmond—
Gentlemen : Deeply regretting the overwhelming necessity which

seemed to dictate the destruction of the vessel constructed by you, as

the agents of this department, you have the thanks of the department

for the patriotic and untiring zeal, energy and industry displayed by you
throughout the work.

I am respectfully,

S. R. MALLORY, Secretary of the Navy.

The CHAIR. 1 have also received copies of depositions taken upon
cross interrogatories propounded, which were handed to me by Judge
DupRE. They are from Gov. Moore, of Louisiana, and Col. T. 0. Man-
ning, of the same State.

After some conversation among members in respect to the hour of

meeting, which was fixed at 4 P. M., tomorrow evening,

—

Mr. FOOTE called for the reading of the dociynents above referred

to, which the Chairman read as follows:

Interrogatories propounded to Thos. O. Moore, Governor of the State

of Louisiana, and answers to the same.

To Governor Moore.

1. State the part taken by you as Governjar of the State of Louisiana,

in urging the completion of the gun boat Mississippi, and whether you

offered at any time to aid either the Naval Constructor or the Messrs,

Tift, and the nature of the proffered aid.

Gov. M. My first active interposition, of which any record is kept,

was on the 26th February, 1862. Several weeks prior to that date I

had been aware that the work on the ram Mississippi was not being

prosecuted with the vigor and energy that our danger seemed to rae to

require. Many merchants and business men of New Orleans, and par-

ticularly the Committee of Public Safety, had spoken to me of the slow

progress of the work, but I had refrained from any interference, except

verbal expressions of my- dissatisfaction to the Commanding General,

(Lovell) who in turn assured me he had nothing to do with the work.

At length the excuse was given for this torturing want of vigor, that the

work could not proceed faster for want of funds. The Navy Department

had not paid its obligations, and in consequence had lost credit. 1

therefore (.elegraphed the Treasury Department as follows:

" New Orleans, Feb. 2Uh^ 1862.

C. G. Memminger, Secretary Treasury, Richmond—
The Navy Department here owes nearly a million. Its credit is

stopped. If you wish I will place two milliohs of dollars on account

of the war tax, to the credit of the government, so that the debts can

be paid and the works continued.

(Signed) THU. O. MOORE, Governor.'*
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The following answer was received by telegrapli:

'' Richmond, Mwchlsl, 1862.

Gov. T. O. Moore—
AH the Navy requisitions on the Treasury have been passed, and

the treasury has sufficient notes to pay tliem. Thanks to you for your
offer.

(Signed) C. G. MEMMINGER, Secretary Treasury.''

1 offered to the Tifts to increase the hands at work on the ram. I

repeatedly informed Mr. Tift that I would gladly furnish him every aid

in my power in advancing the work, and suggested on several occasions

an increase of force as indispensable to her early completion. I did

this also to the naval commandant of the post. I did not make such
offer to the naval constructor, because when he was remonstrated with
he answered that he could not interfere with the Tifts, since they had
charge of the work. The nature of the aid 1 proffered was everything

—

money, workmen, and whatever the resources of Louisiana and the

unflagging generosity of its citizens had to give.

2. Did the workmen and carpenters engaged to build the boat ever

refuse to work? If so, do you know the cause ?

Gov. M. I was informed the workmen and carpeuteri< refused to

work because they were not promptly paid; this I do not know of my
OAvn knowledge.

3. Did you ever visit the boat ? At what time and for what purpose?

Gov. M, I visited the boat several times, once or twice previous to

the date of my telegram to the Secretary of the Treasury, and oftener

afterwards. My object was to ascertain by personal observation the

progress of the work.
4. Did you have any correspondence with Mr. Mallory or with the

Secretary of the Treasury in regard to the building of said boat? If

so flirnisli copies of your correspondence.

Go\^ M. I had no correspondence with Secretaiy Mallory on the

subject. My only correspondence with the Secretary of the Treasury
is already given.

5. Before leaving New Orleans Avere any orders given by you in re-

lation to the Mississippi? ^To whom given and the nature of the orders ?

Gov. M . I gave no orders before leaving New Orleans in relation to the

ram Mississippi . I could not give any concerning a work wholly beyond
my control. I received a telegram from Gen. Beauregard, the day of the

passage of the forts, concerning the disposition to be made of the ram, and
the coin in the vaults of the banks, which I directed my aid-de-camp,

Col. Manning, to communicate to the parties having them in charge.

The telegram of Gen. Beauregard was necessarily only suggestive, as

neither he or myself had any right to order the naval authorities.

6. State all you know about the condition of the raft at the forts;

at what time it gave way. When was the second ohstruction placed

in the 'river? and when did that give way?
Gov, M. When the first raft was completed, which was in August or

September, 1861, I thought it as strong as it was possible to be made.
It Avas built wholly at the expense of the State of Louisiana, and at the

suggestion of her authorities^ and its cost was ^ . 1 considered it
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of such vital importance that I did not hesitate toexpend this amount,
though wholly without warrant from the legislature. Nothing could
have broken that raft but the extraordinary flood of the Mississippi,

which rose to such a height in February, 1862, that it swept every ob-

struction away. It did not, however, entirely destroy it, and Gen.
Lovell very soon brought it back to its moorings, and strengthened it as

fully as human labor and ingenuity could. But the waters continued to

rise, and the mass of drift wood collected above it, and pressing upon
it, finally broke it loose, and the tremendous current drove it in the

gulf. Another obstmction was then placed there by Gen. Lovell, con-

sisting of old hulks connected by chains, which gave way in a storm,

two weeks or more before the bombardment opened.
7. If you knov/ anything concerning the causes of the delay in the

constniction and completion of the Mississippi, state them fully, in the

same manner as if you were specially interrogated thereupon.

Gov. M. One of the causes of the delay in completing the Mississippi

was the insufficient number of hands employed. I had long been sen-

sible of this, but there was no officer of the government who seemed to

feel authorized to interpose. I learned in April the excuse given was, that

they could not be obtained, and I instantly addressed a letter to the

ship-builders, of which the following is an extract: Its date is April

I5th—" The great importance of having at once completed the steam
ram Mississippi, induces me to call on you to render Mr. Tift, the

builder, all the assistance that can be advantageously employed for that

purpose. It may be that the ship, completed and fitted in fifteen days,

as we hope will be done, maybe worth to us as much, and perhaps, more
than 50,000 soldiers, as it is believed she could clear the river of the

whole U. S. Nai'y." A large addition of workmen was instantly made,
the ship-builders furnishing as many men as the Tifts were willing to

receive. The exact number, and other details, can be given by Mr.
Hughes, one of the largest ship- builders. My object in urging a great

increase of workmen was to enable them to form relays, and keep the

work going on night and day, without any intermission.

Another cause of the delay was a failure of the Tifts to compreliend

the fact that the city was in danger, although the apprehensions of the

passage of the forts by the enemy had arisen almost to terror after the

second obstructions had given way below the forts. I did not know,
until after the city had fallen, that even if the wood work had been
completed, the means were not at hand to put her in fighting condi-

tion. I was subsequently informed that at the time the city fell, the

platfs for the ram were being manufactured at Atlanta, and her guns
were scattered along the railroad from Weldon to Jackson, which latter

place they did not reach until weeks afterward.



Interrogatories by the Secretary of the Nayi/, and 4ns}oers to the same.

To Gp.VEJlJfOE IVIpORK.

1. Please state whether you received the letter dated Septfetnber l|Stbj

1862, a copy of which is annexed.

(Copy.)

Confederate ^tat-e^ of America, )

JiUchnaond, SepiepiJber 18th, 1S6^.
)

His Excellency T. O. Moore,
Governor of Louisiana—

Sir: Several large and ?inal) navy vessels are being ponstructed on
the Mississippi, and others will at pnpe be cpminenced.
Many pf the mechanics usually employed at New Orleans and on

the river are no^ serying in the ran^s of the army, and as their services

would be fi^r more important to the public interests Avhen emplpyed
upon these vessels, I respectfully suggest to you the import9,nce oif

facilitating so far as you can the disch^irge, or the granting of fur-

Ipp^jhs to such as niay be willing to work upon t^hem.

1 have the hoRor tp bp, very respectfully,

Your bedien t servant,

(Sigfied) S. :RL. MALLORY,
Secretary of the Navy.

Gov. M. I do not recollect, and have not my files to refer to, as they
are at Alexandria. I am here, (Opelousas,) attending the sitting of
the Legislature.

2. Did not the Messrs. Tift call upon you to aid them to have men
released from military duty to work on the Mississippi ?

Gov. M. Yes; and every man requested by them to be released from
military duty was promptly exempted.

, 3, Did they not do this on several occasions?
Gov. M. No; because it was perfectly understood that the very fact

of employment on the ram was sufficient to procure an immediate ex-
emption from me. The only form that I required was a certificate of
the Tifts, that the persons were thus employed. They were often ex-
empted by scores on the Tifts producing a list of names whom they
wished exempted.

4. Did they ever refuse to accept from you any aid which they could
make available in the completion of the ship; if so, state what aid, and
when it was ?

Gov. M. No, not unqualifiedly; but they said they had enough
hands at first, when in my judgment they could have made them
available, nor did they yield to my importunate suggestions for the in-
crease of workmen, until public clamor portended violence.

5. When the ship-carpenters of New Orleans struck for higher
wages and stopped work, and conapplled the carpenters, whom the
Messrs. Tifts had procured from Richmond, by threats and the exhibi-
tion of force also, tp stop work pn the. Mississippi, ^id not the Messrs.
Tifts appeal to yau for prptection for \hm men, t^j; they m_ghx continue
work on the Mississippi T
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Gov. M. Yes; and on the 22d March, 1862, by reference to the
Order Book of tlie Major-General, a detail of men was ordered to report
to Mr. Tift for the purpose of protecting his men, and my Adjutant
General tells me they did so.

6. If you state that the completion of the Mississippi was delayed
from any cause/ state from your own knowledge such causes in detail,

and whether it was in the power of the Messrs. Tift to have avoided
them; and if so, in what manner?
Gov. M. 1 will state this circumstance to show whether in the judg-

ment of the Tifts themselves , it was in their power to have avoided the

delay. They stated in the middle of April that they would have the ram
done in three weeks—by the 10th of May at farthest, and consequently
according to their declaration only a fortnight's work was wanting for her
completion, when the city fell. If they had then accepted the increase

of force when I offered it in February and March, this fortnight's work
would have been done. It is quite impossible for me to state in detail

the causes of the delay. I can state, however, it was in the power of

the Tifts to have avoided all causes of delay—for from the moment that

it was known that this ram was in progress of construction, both au-

thorities and citizens vied in their zeal for her rapid progress. Nothing
could have been asked for that would not have been granted. Inter-

rogate the Tifts, and they cannot truthfully say they ever asked for

anything that was not promptly given. The inefficiency of the Navy
Department even would have been rendered harmless in New Orleans

upon the Tifts applying for what was necessary to the State and city

authorities. Not only the authorities, but combinations of citizens

made earnest expression of their wishes. The Committee of Public

Safety, nn (organization of the citizens, most prominent in business and
social position, made for the purpose of acting as auxiliary to the au-

thorities, addressed a memorial to the President on the condition of the

Navy Department in New Orleans, which they requested me to forward

by a specinl messenger to Richmond. I did so, and addressed to his

Excellency a letter, with the memorial of the committee, of which this

is the concluding paragraph.

—

^' I cannot suppose that your Excellency

has been fully apprised of the evils which the memorial presents to

your attention and consideration, and 1 most earnestly recommend it to

you. Your Excellency will no doubt appreciate the necessity for im-

mediate action to preserve not only the dignity and credit of the Navy
Department, but also to provide such defences as we are in absolute and
immediate need of; citizens as well as the incorporated banks are generous

in their support of the Government, and I haVeno fears that their gen
erosjty will be abused.

I am, &c.,
THO. O. MOORE, Oovernor.''

The date of this letter is the same as my telegram to the Secretary of

the Treasury, viz: February 26th, 1862—and it will be observed that

they relate to the whole conduct and management of the Navy De-

partment in New Orleans, the inefficiency and apathy of which was
too painful and perilous to permit of any longer silence. A few days

afterwards, (March 5th,) the Committee of Public Safety again called

on me about the naval defences, when I gave them a copy of Mr.

Meoiminger's telegram. I have no copv of the memorial. If pro-
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ducedj it will show that long anterior to 26th of February the conduct
of the Navy Department was the subject of serious apprehension to the
citizens, as well as the authorities, who were thus instigated by their
fears to address the President on the subject.

If it were possible I would give in detail my efforts to provoke some
interference with a view of hastening the work on the ram. I can only
make a general statement, viz: that after repeated conversations with
Gen. Lovell, and on being told by him that he had no right to give
orders concerning the ram, I urged Commodore Whittle to interfere, and
I was subsequently told, but I cannot now say whether by Commodore
Whittle or not, that he had proceeded to give orders to ensure the more
vigorous prosecution of the work, when the Tifts produced an order
from the Secretary of the Navy, forbidding any naval officer from inter-

fering with them in any manner whatever. The Secretary of the Navy
best knows whether such a paper was ever signed by him.

In reply to the last part of the interrogatory, I will say that the best
manner, and a very efficient one of avoiding or surmounting any and
all causes of delay, would have been to reveal the causes to the State

and city authorities—to have asked for everything that was needed, and
the delay would not have continued long, for great as was my own
anxiety about this ship, the zeal of the citizens outstripped my own, and
no obstacle would have been insurmountable to their combined wealth
and energy.

7. What was your opinion and that of the military authorities

charged with the defences of New Orleans, as to the power of the
enemy to capture it when they did ?

Gov. M. I never doubted tlie enemy's fleet would pass the forts if the
river were without obstruction. I expressed that opinion to the Govern-
ment so early as the 31st of May, 1861. Hence my determination to

construct a substantial raft. So long as the raft held firm I was buoyant
with hope, and I know such v/as the opinion of Gen. Lovell. When
the last raft was sundered I felt the danger had increased a thousand
fold. 1 might here copy certain of my dispatches to the Government
and the Commander of the Forts, as illustrating my opinion of the

possibility of the city's fall. Let it be sufficient to mention that I wrote
to the officers of State to prepare the archives of the State for removal
from Baton Rouge, in apprehension of the passage of the Forts. I do
not wish to convey the impression that I expected the fall of the city.

Who would not have hoped, even against hope, that the great city of
our country had been rendered safe, when upon its preservation hung
almost the destiny of our cause—when its loss was certainly to retard

our advent into the family of nations ?

8. What was the public sentiment in New Orleans, derived from the

conduct and reports of the military authorities charged with its defence,

as to the ability of the enemy's ships to pass the Forts when they did?
Gov. M. There is no doubt the passage of the Forts took the public

bysurprise. The bombardment had continued several days. The first two
or three days the whole city was in a state of feverish excitement. The
tension of the public mind was painful, but as each rnorning's telegranai

reported the continuance of the fierce contest, without perceptible ad-

vantage to the enemy, the citizens relapsed into a feeling of security,

t'his was increased by the telegram from Gen. Duncan, exhorting the

27
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people not to give way to panic. It was to allay the '^public senti-

ment" of distrust and to prevent a panic that his dispatch was pub-

lished, and it succeeded.

9. Was not a telegram from Gen. Duncan, Commanding Officer of

the Forts below New Orleans, published in the New Orleans papers a

day or two before the enemy's vessels passed the Forts, stating in con-

fident terms his ability to prevent the enemy's vessels from passing the

Forts, and assuring the citizens of the safety of New Orleans against

the attack of the enemy's fleet.

Gov. M. The telegram was very confident in its tone. It contained

some such expression as this

—

*' we can hold out as long as they can,"

and he redeemed his pledge, for he held out until they ceased firing.

The Forts were in our possession when Farragut was in front of the city.

Fearing,however,that Duncan's confidence was in some degree assumed,

I dispatched him to telegraph me the exact condition of things, and
specially whether the Navy, now the only thing left to delay or prevent

the steamers passing, was rendering him any assistance. He answered

in the negative.

10. Was the treasure moved from the banks of New Orleans, or were

there other indications of a general apprehension of the fall of the city

- at the time it fell ?

Gov. M. No; but the bank officers gave very decided indications of

apprehensions for the safety of the city. It was on this account they

addressed a petition to the President, for permission to pay out their coin.

They said they were prohibited from paying coin by Government—that

their coin was in danger, and they insisted either that Government should

permit them to pay it out, or assume the responsibility of retaining it.

The President refused permission, but the anxiety of the banks became
80 great that about the 10th or 12th of April they commenced paying

coin in spite of the President's prohibition; and continued it until the

fall of the city. There were no indications of a general apprehension

of the fate of the city. The apprehensions were confined to the au-

thorities and the business men; the general public felt very secure after

the first two or three days.

11. Can you state the value of the property destroyed—embracing
cotton, sugar, steamboats, &.c., in consequence of the appearance of

the enemy before the city, and which might have been removed by
river or railway, if the authorities or people had known that the enemy's
vessels would have passed the Forts when they did. State an approxi-

mation to the value as nearly as you can.

Gov. M. I cannot state the value of the property destroyed, but there

was no intention to remove tlie cotton and sugar in any event. If the
" authorities had known the enemy's vessels would pass the Forts when
they did," a fact by the way quite beyond their knowledge, unless they

had been in secret communication with the enemy, they would not

even then have removed the cotton and sugar. It would have taken

more transportation than could be had. I did, however, give orders a

week before the fall, for all the cotton to be hauled to convenient places

for burning, so that when it became necessary to apply the torch, it

might be done without danger of conflagration to the city. There were

12,000 bales destroyed. The quantity of sugar was less considerable,

about There were no steamboats destroyed. What particular
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course would have been pursued hud the enemy informed us of Iheir

intention to pass the Forts when they did, and had webeUeved in their

power to effectuate their intentions, I cannot say; but while we all

hoped for a successful resistance below, we had been long fearing wh»t
finally occurred.

THO. O. MOORE.
Sworn to and subscribed before me this 2d January, 1863.

E. D. ESTILETTE, /. P.

Interrogatories ^^^opounded to Col. T. C. Manning, by the Co?mnitiee,

and Answers to the same.

To CoL. T. C. Manning.

1

.

Were you in the city of New Orlearns preceding its fall ? and
how long had you been there before ?

Col. M. I was in New Orleans preceding its fall; and had been
there, with brief intervals, since 25th May, 1861

.

2. What position was assigned to you in the Governor's office, or in

the executive department?
Col. M. I was, and am, aid-de-camp to the Governor.
3. When did you leave the city ?

Col. M. On the 24th April, 1862, at 8 P. M.
4. Were any orders given to you by Thos. O. Moore, in relation to

the gun boat Mississippi?

Col. M. No orders were given, but the Governor had received a
telegram from Gen. Beauregard, of which this is a copy :

Corinth, 24^/t April, 1862.

Send here all the troops not required in the State, and burn ram and
gun boats not finished. Send to Fort Pillow those that are finished.

Banks must send their specie to Atlanta.

(Signed) G. T. BEAUREGARD.

The Governor directed me to carry this telegram to the banks. On iny
way I saw Mr. Tift (the one whom I suppose to be the elder) on Canal
street and alighting from my cab, inquired what he proposed to do with
the ram. •

" Tow her up the river," was his answer.
'' Do you consider it practicable ?"

" She is very heavy, but with enough steamboats I hope to accom-
plish it."

'<^ How many steamers have you ready?"
c^Two."
^' If they should prove insufficient have you any more at command?"
^' No, but I should hope to get them for that purpose."
" If all your efforts fail, what then?"
'^ I shall burn her."
I then exhibited to him the telegram, and left him on my way to the

l)anks.
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5. Did you meet in New Orleans, before your departure,, eitheir of

the Messrs. Tift? If so, state the conversation which took place be- >

t.veen you in relation to the Mivssissippi.

Col. M. I saw the Tifts at the Mississippi the afternoon and evening

of the 17th April, and had a long conversation with them. They in-

formed me of their purpose to launch her the following day, and invited

the Governor and his suite to be present. They preferred, they said, not

to launch her until a week later, but public feehng had become so much
excited, they said that they had determined to launch her sooner than

their own judgment approved. They, or rather, he, whom I took to be

the elder, went fully into detail about the difficulties encountered by him
in building his ship. I inquired when she would be finished. He an-

swered, in two weeks, three, at farthest. I remarked that was a short

time in which to do the vast amount of work necessary to her comple-

tion, and reminded him that I had seen one of her screws a few min-

utes before on the ground in the yard; that her plates were not on, her

guns not mounted, &c. He said it could all be done in that time.

"Are you quite certain," then I asked, " that she will be ready for a

fight by 10th of May." " I have not a doubt of it," was his answer.

I said to him it was unfortunate that double labor, and double money
had not been expended, if that were necessary to accomplish the work
in half the time; I said we expect every morning a telegram Irom
the forts announcing the opening of the bombardment; that they had
been practicing since Sunday, (13th,) and if the forts could hold out

until the ram was finished, all might be well. The following morning
the bombardment opened.

Mr. Tift's conversation was apologetic in its tone, or rather, explana-

tory of the delays of his work.
6. If you know any thing concerning the causes of the delay in the

construction and completion of the Mississippi, state them fully, in the

same manner as if you were specially interrogated thereupon.

Col. M. I know nothing of the causes of that delay, except that the

Tifts failed to avail themselves of the numerous offers of assistance made
by the Governor, and by the committee of public safety. There was no
time when all the authoritius would not have eagerly furnished the

Tifts with anything they might have wanted for the ram. They evi-

dently thought they had abundance of time, and were incredulous of

any immediate attack likely to prove successful.

Interrogatories propounded by iJte Secretary of the Navy to Col. T. C.
Manning, and Answers to the same.

1. If you state that you had a conversation with either of the Messrs.

Tift in relation to the Mississippi, state with which of them, and at

what time and place.

Col. M. I have stated—the elder, by appearance; the time, 1 7th April.

The conversation opened while standing hj the side of the Mississippi,

under her bows. It lasted through a long walk from the ship-yard to the

St. Charles. We walked in order to converse on the subject of the ram

without interruption.
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2. If you state that the completion of the Mississippi was delayed
from any cause, state, from your own knowledge, such causes, in de-

tail; and whether it was in the power of the Messrs. Tift to have avoid-

ed them; and if so, in what manner?
"'; Col. M. I believe the Tifts could have avoided all causes of delay with-

in the power of the authorities of the State and city to remove. They
were confident of their ability to complete her by the 10th of May. Had
they on the 1st of January, when they had already been over two
months at work on her, asked for double the number of hands, or for

any other access of labor, energy or money, she could certainly have
been finished in half the time^—about the 1st of March. They never
appreciated the danger of the city. Six gun boats and two large steam-

ships were at the head of the passes on the 21st of March, the advance
of the formidable fleet. These had increased to 43 by the 3d of April,

about which time the raft was broken, the chains connecting the hulks
being severed.

The city was never considered safe after that, although it cannot be
said we expected its capture. The Tifts appeared to yield in their

.

launch of the ram to what they deemed unnecessary panic and cause-
less clamor. Like many others higher in authority than themselves,
they did not beheve it possible for the enemy's fleet to pass the forts.

Hence their confident sense of security, which was a serious cause of
delay.

THO. C. MANNING.

Sworn to and subscribed before me on this, the 30th day of Decem-
ber, A. D., 1862.

R. M. KILPATRICK,
Clerk Wi Dist. Court,

At the close of the 'reading of these documents the Committee ad-

journed, to meet again to-morrow evening, at 4 o'clock.

JANUARY 22, 1863.

The Committee met and agreed to assemble on alternate days, to wit:
Tuesdays, Thursdays and Saturdays, whereupon they adjourned until
Tuesday next, the 27th inst.

FRIDAY, Jan. 23, 1863.

The Committee met at 10, A. M.
Present—Messrs. Semmes and Dupre, who, in pursuance of an un-

derstandmg on yesterday, proceeded, in the absence of a quorum, to
examine Major-General Mansfield Lovell.
Mr. SEMMES. General, the first important point to which our at-

tention has been directed in this investigation > has been the character of
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the rafts constructed at the forts, when the first raft was swept away, and
replaced with a second, and whether the second raft was rendered suffi.

ciently formidable to obstruct the passage of the forts by the enemy's
vessels ?

Gen. LovELL. My plan of operations was, to place a complete

obstruction in the river, concentrating upon it the heaviest lire that I

could bring to bear. The point selected for this obstruction, was mider

the fire of the two forts.

Mr. SEMMES. How far distant from the forts, was this obstruction ?

Gen. LovELL About two or three hundred yards. The idea was,

as I have said, to place the obstruction under the fire of the two forts,

so as to detain the enemy's vessels a sufficient length of time to give

the greatest possible effect to our fire. Another circumstance which
made the selection of this point for the construction of this raft desira-

ble was, that the character of the soil on the lower Mississippi being

alluvial, was incapable of supporting heavy batteries; and I knew of no
place where heavy fortifications could be put up until the ground Avas

thoroughly piled. This process would necessarily involve great delay

and expense, and I was therefore forced to construct earthworks, which
are no account against ships of war. In my judgment, there were two
ways by which to defend New Orleans. One was the obstruction of

the river under the forts. The other by iron-clad vessels. The first

mode I undertook. I had constructed a raft of cypress logs, 60 feet in

length, and 2^ in diameter at the butt. These were placed side by side

longitudinally, leaving about two or three feet of an opening for a

water way. These logs were connected together by two heavy chain

cables, one running about three or four feet from the butt-end of the

logs; the other being probably the same distance from the other end.

—

Mortices were cut into these logs, so as to admit of the passage of the

cable through them; and thus were strung together two immense lines

of logs of sufficient strength, in my opinion, to obstruct the passage of

the enemy's vessels for a time sufficient to enable our guns to operate

upon them Avdth effect. The chains were all under water, and were
fastened on either side to the shore. In addition to this fastening, I pro-

cured from all parts ofthe Confederacy, a numberof heavy anchors weigh-
ing from 1200 to 4,000 pounds, and anchored the raft at intervals of

every few yards all the way across the river. The larger anchors were
put singly; the smaller were backed, as the sailors say. At one end,

the Fort St. Phillip side, the raft was fastened to heavy stumps of trees.

On the other side, the chain was fastened to a ''grab capstan," which
enabled uy to slacken it down so as to allow our vessels to pass up and
down the river as mav be'necessary, and then to draw it to at pleasure.

Mr. SEMMES. When was this raft completed ?

Gci). LovELL. In November, 1861. I was about to say, that I got

more anchors and put them on the raft, so as to give it more strength,

but owing to the great depth of water at that point—being, I believe,

130 feet, I found great difficulty in procuring a sufficient quantity of

chains to answer my purpose. Those which I had were 2^ inch

cables brought from the navy yard at Pensacola. I considered the raft,

when completed, a perfect obstruction to the passage of the river. I

had concentrated upon it the fire of about 80 guns, mostly 24's, 32's

and 42's, all however; smootl. bore guus. I subsequently got two
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rifled 32's, and I think I had four or five 8-inch cokimbiads. In
that position of things, I think that everything was done that could be
done in the way of guns and obstruction. My expectation was to

hold the enemy in check until the other means of defence could be got
ready. I presumed I would be able to do that, although I was
informed by persons familiar with the Mississippi, that it would be
utterly impossible to keep these obstructions in the river throughout the
spring rises, for the reason, as they stated to me, when the strong
spring currents came down, any substance like an anchor, placed in
the bottom of the river, was very soon cut loose by the current. They
predicted that my anchors would cut loose from their holds, the bottom
being sand, and without sufficient tenacity to enable them to resist the
current. The prediction was fulfilled, for while this obstruction held
its position throughout December, January, and I think until the latter

part of February, or the early part of March, it finally gave way under
the pressure of the current, as well as of the immense accumulation of
drift which is carried down the river at that season. On the Fort St.

Phillip side of the river, the raft, to the extent of about three-quarters

of a mile, with the cables and anchors, gave way, causing the raft to

drift down a little way until the anchors caught again. But the whole
thing went off in that way little by httle.

Mr. SEMMES. Why did you not catch it and bring it back?
Gen. LovELL. I sent all the vessels I could get to pull it up, but

they were unable to do so, I had it cut in sections; but only a few
sections near the shore were secured. I sent down Col. Higgins and
Capt. Jackson, of New Orleans, in whose skill to manage such an
affair, I had great confidence, but they succeeded only to the extent I

have just mentioned.
Mr. DUPRE. Were these all the guns you had—I mean those you

have just mentioned ?

Gen. LovELL. Yes, sir, all the smooth bore guns. I subsequently
got two 7-incli rifle guns, but when the Louisiana was complete, to the ex-

tent at least that she was made available for action, one of these was
returned. I got two 10-inch columbiads from Mobile. I borrowed
from the navy two 7-inch rifled guns, but as I said, one was taken
back.

Mr. DUPRE. Was there not an attempt subsequently made to throw
obstructions in the way of old boats, across the river?

Gen. LovELL. When I found I could not carry back the first ob-
struction. Col. Higgins brought back two sections of the raft, which
were again placed in position across the river to the extent that they
were available. To fill up the gaps, I procured fifteen or sixteen old
vessels, which 1 had anchored and fastened together by small chains.

Mr. SEMMES. When was this ?

Gen. LovELL. In March. That was the best that could be done
under the circumstances.

Mr. DUPRE. When was that carried away ?

Gen. LovBLL. When the firing commenced. I thought on that day
the Mississippi and Louisiana would be finished in a week, and that
they would then be able to take the place of. this obstruction. I don't
believe there is any power on earth that could hold that river obstructed.
If there is any means by which it could be done, it would be by the
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construction of a boon to gather the drift as it came down, and throw
it off. I endeavored to procure the chains and anchors necessary to

construct one of the character, which, in my opinion, would be availa-

ble, but failed. I had then a boon made of logs, but could get nothing
to anchor it with. As I have said, the second raft was made out of
portions of the first, filling up the gaps with old ships. A great many
ropes W€re trailed to the sterns of these ships, in order to get into the

flanges of the propellers of the enemy, and thus entangle them. That
was put up in March. After the firing commenced, a great storm arose,

which broke away some fire rafts lying some distance above, and in-

tended to be let loose on the enemy's vessels in case they passed the

forts. These rafts were carried down by the current, and coming in

contact with the second raft which we had constructed, broke it away.
An attempt was made to replace it, but it could not be done, it being

under the enemy's fire. That is the history of the obstruction.

Mr. SEMMES. You say this second obstruction was cut away
after the firing commenced?
Gen. LovELL. Yes, sir.

Mr. SEMMES. How long was that before the enemy passed the

forts ?

Gen. L. About a week.
Mr. SEMMES. Was it known in the city that this raft gave way?
Gen. L. I suppose so. 1 know there were naval officers down there to

whom the fact was known, and inasmuch as they had easy access to the

city, I take it that they made it known there. Gen. Huger and other offi-

cers were down there with some vessels, and they had a full opportunity,

as I snppose of knowing the fact of this obstruction being carried away,
and of communicating it to the city. The Louisiana went down I think

on Sunday, and this I think occurred on Friday night. Capt. Mitchell

was also down. I know that Beverly Kennon told me yesterday that the

Renshaw went through the opening on Saturday or Sunday. I will

remark, that the second obstruction was by no means as formidable as

the first.

M.T. SEMMES. Did you or not report this condition of things to the

War Department ?

Gen. L. I made no report of the breaking of the second raft. That
was part and parcel of the action. I wrote to the War Department early

in March, when 1 was directed to send some vessels up the river to

assist in the defence of Island No. 10. This was after the raft defence

failed me. I stated in that communication to the Secretary, that the

breaking of the raft compelled me to countermand that order, to the

extent of sending only one-half of the vessels up. This was approved by
the Department. The Louisiana was subsequently ordered up the river,

and to this we all objected. 1 protested against this course in writing,

to the Secretary of War, Mi». Randolph, and requested him to enter my
protest with the Secretary of the Navy. Gov. Moore and myself held a
consultation on this subject, and he agreed with me as to the propriety of

retaming the Louisiana, if possible, for the defence of the city. She
was not sent up as you are aware. I also telegraphed to the. War De-

partment, asking that the Secretary would use his influence with the

Secretary of the Navy to have Commodore Hollins sent down with h!"'

vessels, but without effect.
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Mr. SEMJVIES. Did yon have any confidence in preventing the
enemy from passing the forts without these obstructions?
Gen. L. None whatever. I made up my mind for several yeafs

past, that batteries on shore cannot prevent the passage of abroad, opeli,
straight river by steamships of war. That, I think, is admitted by
almost all military men. At Sebastopol the Russians with 800 guns
bearing upon the harbor, in casemated forts, found it necessary when
these forts were threatened, to place obstructions in the entrance to the
harbor, thus admitting that it is utterly impossible for guns to prevent
the passage of ships of war. There are numerous instances which
could be referred to in support of this theory. One is the passage of
the narrow channel of the Dardainelles by English wooden ships of
war within range of powerful batteries. We have seen recently that
the enemy's ships have passed up and down by Vicksburg with per-
fect impunity, or at least suffering but httle damage.
Mr. DUPRE. It became evident then, that after this first obstruct

tion was gone, the war ships of the enemy would pass the forts ?

Gen. L. I believe it is pretty generally admitted by all military and
naval officers, that vessels of v/ar will pass by batteries, especially in
smooth water. A vessel with her machinery below water, may have
100 shots put through her, as we put through the Hartford, without
suffering any material damage. She is struck over the vulnerable point
and cannot suffer much. The water line protects her machinery, so
that the only way of sinking a vessel is, by concentrating upon her a
large fire of shells, which being fired into her, shatters her sides to an
extent too damaging to admit of immediate repair. Solid shot can
avail nothing against vessels of war. Take a 42 pound ball and fire it

against the side of a live-oak ship, and after it passes through, a hole
scarcely large enough to put your finger through will be loft. This
hole is instantly plugged, and even should it leak a little, the water soon
swells the wood and staunches the leak. But throw a small shell into

the side of a ship, and you will mnke such a rent as cannot in the heat
of an action, and the disadvantages of such a position, as she would
then be placed in, by possibility be repaired. My opinion is, that if

you take the float of 20 steam vessels that attempted to pass these forts

—

of course they take all the advantages of night—the chances are that 18
out of 20 would go by.

Mr. SEMMES. Did you consider the second obstruction sufficient

to resist the passage of a ship ?

Gen. L. 1 did not. I thought it would be a cause of delay to them
to keep them ujider the fire of the batteries a sufficient length of time
to enable us to inflict serious injury upon them.
Mr. SEMMES. What did you rely upon after the first raft was car-

ried away, for the defence of the city ?

Gen. L. Nothing but the guns.
Mr. DUPRE. And the ships which were to be finished?
Gen. L, I expected them every day. In the first place I expected

them to be finished about the loth of January, but they were not
finished even when the city had fallen

.

Mr. SEMMES. Did you expect to detain the vessels there merely
by the raft ?

Gen. L. I supposed that the raft could be kept there until March, and
28
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in the meantime that these vessels would be finished. Had either one of

these vessels been finished the enemy never could have passed up; be-

cause four of their vessels, the Hartford, the Brooklyn, the Pensacola,

and the Richmond, being first class vessels, of heavy draft, could only

have passed over the bar by taking out their guns; and such vessels as

the Louisiana or Mississippi being ready, could in the meantime operate

upon them with destructive effect. They could not in my opinion pass

up at all. Had we had a single iron clad vessel carrying three or four

heavyguns, anchored within range of the bar, these heavy vessels never

could have come up.

Mr. SEMMES. When the second raft was constructed, you merely

relied upon it as a temporary expedient?

Gen. L. Yes. I thought I would patch it up until these vessels were

finished. I was first told they would be finished on the 15th of Jan-

uary; then again .two or three weeks subsequently, and finally was led

to believe they would be done about the middle of February, I believe.

Mr. SEMMES. You did not expect that your obstructions would
resist the spring currents ?

Gen. L. I was told by men of experience in the strength of these

currents that they could not.

Mr. DUPRE. Do you know anything of the preparations made by
the Tifts or the Navy Department for saving the Mississippi in case the

enemy passed the forts?

Gen. L. I do not. All I know is, that before the enemy passed the

Ibrts, I was so well satisfied that if their fleet made a dash, when the

second raft broke, they would come up, that I ordered four large vessels

to be engaged to take away supplies and stores. • 1 likewise sent out of

the city a considerable quantity of commissary and quartermaster

stores in advance. Now, if the naval officers who were there, were of

the same opinion that 1 am, they ought, it seems to me, to have taken

the precaution to have four large steamers to take her away. These four

steamers were engaged by my orders before the forts were passed. Sub-

sequently Capt. Smclair came to me and said, he had been trying to

get steamers to tow away the Mississippi. He mentioned two that he

was to get, but that they were engaged in my service. He said he had
been everywhere in search of steamers, but failed to get any. 1 said

let him have two, and they were accordingly given. 1 gave orders to

Col. Loveil before the passage of the forts, to have four or five large

steamers engaged to take off the powder mill, the stores, &g. Wc
brought off all the machinery of the rifle factory, all the stores, and
several guns, a good quantity of commissary and quartermaster stores,

and would have brought more had we not given the ©ther two steamers

to tow off the Mississippi. I had the trains engaged night and day for

several days before the enemy came up to the city, taking away com-
missary and quartermasters stores, Confederate as well as State. I was
myself in the city four or five days after the passage of the forts by the

enemy. I do not pretend to say whether the Mississippi could have

been got away or not, but if all these officers were of opinion that these

forts could be passed, I think some steps ought to have been taken in

d.ue time to secure her safety. If the committee will refer to my letters

to the War Department, they will see precisely what I did say to the

officers themselves.
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Mr. SEMMES. Did not Gen. Duncan telegraph to the city authori-

ties at New Orleans that it was useless to entertain apprehensions of the

passage of the forts a day or two before they were passed?
Gen. L. He telegraphed some encouraging dispatch. Gen. Duncan

always entertained a different opinion from what I did. He was opposed
to any obstruction of the river at all, relying altogether upon the forts as

being sufficient to stop the enemy's advance to the city. This was his

opinion in the beginning; but I am satisfied it underwent some modifi-

cation afterwards. From the remarks he made, I understood him to

entertain the opinion that the forts were sufficient. I think that Gen.
Duncan had undue confidence in the ability of forts to stop steam-
ships of war. That was his opinion, as I have said, in the beginning;
bnt it underwent some change shortly before the attack was made.

Mr. SEMMES. Do you know anything of the causes which de-

layed the completion of the Mississippi ?

Gen L. Not of my own knowledge. I know only what Tift told

me, which was, that it was the delay of some of the contractors to fur-

nish some of the metallic work of the vessel. I urged him to push the

work along, and Commodore Whittle urged him also. He gave me to

understand that he was not subject to be interfered with or controlled

in any manner or shape by any officers of the army or navy; that he
was sent there by the Secretary of the Navy, to be governed solely by
him. I went to look at the ship, with the understanding, however,
that I had nothing to do with her. Tift told me that she would be
completed about the 15th of January. I went afterwards about the early

part of February, and again , I believe, about the middle of February.
Capt. Sinclair said she would not be ready in six weeks from the time

of the fall of the city.

I will state that I could not succeed in getting chains and anchors,

which I very much needed, besides munitions of war, of various kinds,

and I set to work in New Orleans and had reverbatory furnaces built.

They were about being finished at Leed's foundry and one at another

foundry when the city was taken.

Mr. SEMMES. Why did you not set to work to have these things

built long before that?

Gen. L. I presumed that guns could be had elsewhere, and I had
no very large amount of funds at my disposal to pay for all that was
necessary. I went to work early; but you will remember that it takes

a long time to get work of that kind done. It took us three times as

long to do anything in New Orleans at that time as it would in ordinary
times. Labor was very scarce there then.

Mr. SEMMES. Could the city be defended by forts along the river,

combined with obstructions at intervals?

Gen. L. You cAild not make obstructions. Thehigh water would,

have driven them all out. It was one sea of water from Fort St.

Phillip, for miles around, and up to the city; the surrounding country
was several feet under water. At and below New Orleans, for some
distance, the river is a considerable height above the level of the land,
probably from six to ten feet, and if batteries had been put up the ene-

my's shells, by breaking the levy, would cause the overflow of the

whole country. Even the quarantine grounds had to be abandoned,
the water being two feet above the surface of the ground. The whole
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country, in short, was under water, and consequently, no opportunity

existed to prepare defences.

Mr. DUPRE. How many of the enemy's boats came up before tlie

city?

Gen. L. Thirteen.

Mr. DUPRE. Thirteen ships with guns on board ?

Gen. L. Yes sir—four frigates, the Harr.f^rd, the Brooklyn, the

Pensacola and the Richmond. Tiiey curried each 25 or 28 guns—1 04 in

all on board the four vessels.

Mr. DUPRE. I suppose the balance of the fleet had as many more ?

Gen. L. About that. There were in all about 150 guns of very

heavy calibre.

Mr, DUPRE. After these vessels came up, do you suppose, if the

city had not been surrendered, they had the power to destroy it ?

Gen. L. Yes sir, they could have burned the city. They burned every

thing combustible in Fort St. Phillip soon after the firing commenced. I

don't believe, however, they would have bombarded it. The reasons

which I gave to thecitizens for abandoning the city, were not the military

reasons which governed me. My miUtary reason was, that the city is

so near an island that the neck of land by which the railroad enters the

city forms the only outlet from it by land, so that the enemy could, in

consequence of the close approach of the river to the lake, the two be-

ing divided by the neck of land above mentioned, by placing a single

frigate at a point commanding this outlet, cut off all ingr(?ss and egress

to and from the city, and thus starve it out.

Holding the water, and holding tliris outlet, they had the city com-
pletely at their mercy, and could starve it out. I consider the po-

sition of New Orleans utterly indefensible against a power that holds

the water, and the troops there could very easily be compelled to sur-

render by starvation.

Mr. SEMMES. So that if you had 50,000 troops you would be no
better off?

Gen. L. Certainly not. I don't think the War Department could

help me in the least. As I said in the first instance, there were only
two means of defending the city—one by obstructing the river, the

other, by iron-clad vessels. These were not ready, and why I know
not. If we were given back New Orleans to-morrow we would have
to give it up again unless we could control the waters.

Mr. SEMMES. How many troops did you have there when the

enemy passed the forts ?

Gen. L. I had a regiment without arms on Thursday; and, I think,

the day the forts were passed Gov. Moore let them have arms. I had
none myself. The regiment was only in process of organization, and
tlierefore not armed. I bad besides that, about 2,8(t0 militia belonging
to the city, called out by Gov. Moore, of which about 1,200 had mus-
kets, and the balance all sorts of weapons.

Mr. DUPRE. Thomas' regiment and King's battalion wore there?

Gen. L. I don't call them troops—they were merely in process of or-

ganization. I had this regiment there, and some of Milles' men, but

they had no weapons. Gov. Moore, however, at the last moment let

them have some. In my opinion it would not have made any difference

to have had additional men there, as infantry would have been utterly
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unable to contend against vessels-of-war armed with 11-inch guns, and
those heavy rifle guns. Infantry would only have been valuable

against a land attack, which was not made.
JVlr. DUPRE. Were you furnished by the War Department with all

the guns ordered ? Did you make requisitions upon the government
for any arms that were not furnished ?

Gen. L. Certainly I did. I made requisitions, as eveiy officer does
for all he wants. I think the government did all in its power.

Mr. SEMMES. Were many steamboats lying about the city at the

time the enemy passed the forts, that could be used for towing the Mis-

sissippi up the river ?

Gen. L. There were several, but they had no wood and no crews.

If engaged before hand, they might have been ready. I will state that

there was great scarcity of wood, and even a difficulty in obtaining

crews. Whether that vessel could have been carried away or not 1 am
not prepared to say.

Mr. SEMMES. Suppose Commodore Hollins' fleet had come down
there, as you requested, do you think he could have prevented the ene-

my's vessels from passing the forts?

Gen. L. 1 think if Commodore Hollins had been there with all his

vessels, and taken charge of the defences afloat, it is quite possible the

result would have been different. I think if the vessels had been there

to act in concert with the forts, we would have had a very different re-

sult from that which has taken place. There was a want of concert
between the forces ashore and those afloat, as will be seen by reference

to the correspondence between Gen. Duncan and Capt. Mitchell.

Mr. SEMMES. 1 see that in the report of Gen. Duncan, and the
correspondence alluded to, there was a difference of opinion as to the
place which should have been occupied by the Louisiana in the en-
gagement down there.

Gen. L. Yes, sir.

Mr. SEMMES. Will you state your opinion upon that subject?
Gen. L. My. opinion has been expressed in my report, and it is this,

that the Louisiana should have been placed in the position below the

raft, indicated by Gen. Duncan and myself,

Mr. SEMMES. Could she have been placed there in her then con-
dition?

Gen. L. I don't know. ; I think she should have been placed there

if she could.

The hour of 12 having arrived, the Committee adjourned.

TUESDAY, Jan. 27, 1863.

The Committee met at 10 o'clock.

Present—Messrs. Clay, (Chairman,) Phelan, Dupre. Maxwell, Foote
and Lyons.

Dr. Dfnwiddie B. Phillips having been sworn, testified as follows:
Mr. FOOTE. Are you a Surgeon in the navy ?

Dr. Phillips. I am, sir.
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Mr. FOOTE. What part of the service do you belong to nuwV?

Dr. Phillips. lam at present attached to the Contederate steamer

Richmond.
Mr. FOOTE. Do you know anything ni regard to a letter written

by Flag-officer Buchanan, or any person, by his direction, to the Sec-

retary of the Navy, in regard to the necessity of obstructing the navi-

nation of the James river at Richmond, and if so, state?

Dr. Phillips. Shortly afrer the battle of the 8th and 9th of March,

in Hampton Roads—probably on the 12th of the month, Flag-officer

Buchanan delivered a letter to me, which was written by him, or at

his dictation by Lieut. Ap. Catesby Jones. He read the letter to" me,

and desired me to hand it to the Secretary of the Navy, and at the

same time enlarge upon the views therin expressed. In that letter he

urged the immediate obstruction of James river, stating that it was im-

possible for the Virginia to prevent the enemy's gun boats from ascend-

ing it to Richmond, her draft of water being too great to follow them, and

also stating that the Monitor could pass aU the fortifications of the river.

I came immediately up to Richmond and delivered the letter to Mr. Mal-

lory. I told him at the same time the purport of it so far as related to

the obstructions. Another clause in the letter related to the work that

was going on on board the vessel; and Com. Buchanan requested that

he and the officers of the ship might be consulted in reference to the

proper mode of improving the defences of the ship. Mr. Mallory read

the letter, and said that he saw no occasion for any further conversation

upon the subject, that the letter was plain enough in itself.

Mr. FOOTE. How long after that was it that the Yirginia v/as

destroyed ?

Dr. Phillips. She was destroyed on the 12th of May, at 5 o'clock

in the morning.

Mr. FOOTE. Had any obstructions been placed in the river at that

time?
Dr. Phillips. T can only speak from general report. I heard on

arriving here the 13th of May, that there were none.

Mr. FOOTE. Do you know anything about the intended sailing of

the Nashville to Europe with Messrs. Slidell and Mason?
Dr. Phillips. I was ordered to accompany them on board the vessel

.

Lieut. Pegram was commanding.
Mr. FOOTE. Do you know anything about Lieut. Pegram on

that occasion making application to the Secretary of the Navy for per-

mission to remove the light v/ork from the deck, so as to allow her to

be armed for defence ?

Dr. Phillips. I understood he had made such an application, and

that it was refused. Capt. Pegram, however, is here, and can state all

the facts of his own knowledge. All that I can tell you on that sub-

ject, is what I heard from him.

Mr. FOOTE. Do you know anything personally of another appli-

cation being made at another time?

Dr. Phillips. Nothing personally. Nothing except what 1 have

heard.

This closed Dr. Phillip's testimony.

The CHAIR. Here are two letters which have been referred to by

Capt. Whittle in his testimony before the Committee at its former ses^
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sion. One of these letters is addressed to Capt. Buchanan, and bears

date, "York river, Sept. 24th, 1861." The other is addressed to

Capt. S. Barron, from the same point, and bears date, ''May 11th,
1862."

[These will be found embraced in Capt. Whittle's testimony before

the Committee at its first session in September, 186"^.]

Com. French Forrest was next called, and being duly sworn,
testified as follows:

Mr. FOOTE. Where were you for a month or two before the navy
yard at Norfolk was destroyed ?

Com. Forrest. I was in command of the navy yard at that place,

and of the station.

Mr. FOOTE. What was your opinion of the possibility of defend-

ing the navy yard against the enemy, and of the necessity or absence
of a necessity of destroying it at that time?
Com. FoRREBT. My opinion was, sir, that it could have been de-

fended,-and that there was no necessity for its destruction.

Mr. FOOTE. Did you have any conference with the Secretary of
the Navy on the subject ?

Com, Forrest. I had.
Mr. FOOTE. State the particulars thereof?
Com. Forrest. Shortly after my arrival here from the navy yard,

from which 1 had been detached, I understood that it was the intention of
the Government to withdraw the troops under Gen. Huger, for the protec-

tion of Richmond, and that the navy yard and public buildings were
to be destroyed. Upon learning this, I had a conference with the
Secretary of the Navy. I stated to him that I did not see any neces-
sity for such a proceeding, and that if he would allow me to return,

1 could assure him that I would protect the yard and Norfolk from any
attack that the enemy might make. He asked me particularly in what
manner I could do it. I explained to hini that I had 1100 employees
at the navy yard, good and true men, that they had been exercised at

great guns and small arms v/eekly for several months, and that there
were guns mounted in what is called Forrest entrenchments, in lunette

—four in all, containing each three or four guns of 4100 weight, 32-
pounders, and that I did not apprehend anything disastrous from Burn-
side's force; that by placing the steamer Virginia in a proper position, I

thought she might very well protect the harbor, and even if Gen. Hu-
ger's army was taken away, I thought the citizens would all turn out
to man the batteries. To this he replied, they would starve us out. I

informed him that they could not very well do that for some time to come,
that we had 400 barrels of pork, and 400 barrels of beef stowed in the
yard; that the forage there had been collected for three months for the
cattle. To this he replied, that it had been determined upon as a mili-
tary necessity, and must be carried out.

Mr. FOOTE. That was the whole of the conversation ?

Com. Forrest. Yes, sir.

Mr. FOOTE. What was the value of the navy yard ? What do
you conjecture the amount of the injury tp. be which we suffered from
the destruction of the navy yard ?

Com. Forrest. There is a piinied schedule takea by a coinmis-
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sioner appointed by the Governor of the State of Virginia, which could
be had from the Secretary of State of the Commonwealth. In that

schedule itmentions the value of the public propertj^ to be $6,500,000, or

thereabouts.

Mr. FOOTE. Does that include the navy yard itself, as well as

every other thing ?

Com. Forrest. It includes all.

Mr. FOOTE. Of what nature was the property accumulated there?

Com. F. There was not much accumulation of property beyond
what was taken from the enemy, and mentioned in the schedule.

Mr. FOOTE. What amount of material for building ships was
there when the yard was destroyed ?

Com. FOOTE. I do not know; but it was very large. There was a
very large amount of seasoned timber and planking for ships.

Mr. FOOTE. Can you form any conjecture as to how many gun
boats could be constructed out of the iron and timber there ?

Com. F. I could not. But we left a very fine new ship of war, the

Plymouth, which was sunk by the enemy before evacuating the navy
yard, and subsequently raised by us. She was a beautiful ship, with

masts, yards, (fcc. fully complete. It was intended to bring her up here.

Mr. FOOTE. Do you think there was suffictent material^ to con-

struct 30 or 40 gun boats destroyed there ?

Com. F. I could not tell; but there was a great deal of timber. I

was there constructing boats, and had four under way. Tvvo'^of these,

the Hampton and the Nansemond, were brought up here. There
were only two destroyed.

Mr. FOOTE. Do you know when any obstructions were first

thrown into the river here, in order to impede the navigation of the

James river?

Com. F. Well, sir, about the time that I came here; perhaps the

month of April or May. I don't think, however, it was as late at that.

1 don't know the exact time; but it was shortly after my arrival here.

Mr. FOOTE. I should like for you to be particular on that subject?

Com. F. I cannot exactly particularise the time.

Mr. FOOTE. If you have any memorandum which would guide

you in defining the exact time, I should like you to refer to it?

Com. F. I have none that 1 am aware of. 1 do not know the exact

time.

Mr. FOOTE. You stated the opinion you expressed to the Secre-

tary of the Navy at the time of the destruction of the navy yard.

—

Will you state whether you have since been confirmed in the correct-

ness of that opinion, or whether you have had any reason to change it ?

Com. F. I have never had any reason to change it, and have so

expressed myself since on many occasions.

Mr. DUPRE. What time did you take command of the navy yard?
Com. F. I captured the yard, and remained there untilordered here.

Mr. DUPRE. What period was that?

Com. F. Just after the secession of Virginia—I think the 21st of

April.

Mr. DUPRE. How long did you remain in command until de-

tached here?

Com. F. I remained nearly 12 months.
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The CHAIR. Do you mean from April, 1861, until April, 1862.
Com. F. Yes, sir, I think it was April the 21st or 22d, 1861,

that I first took command.
Mv. DUPRE. You speak of the accumulation of a large amount of

ship building materials at the navy yard. Were these materials there
from the time you first went there, until you left?

Com. F. Yes, sir, most of them were. The exact quantity vre

had, I do not recollect; We had some ship timber which was pur-
chased to keep up the supply.

Mr. DUPRE. You speak of two boats that were sent up here, and
two that you say were on the stocks in progress of construction.

—

Could any more vessels have been built during the period that you
were there ?

Com. F. No, sir; we had all the mechanics we possibly could get,

fitting out the Merrimac, and engaged on the gun boats.

Mr. DUPRE. Then you could not procure any more mechanics
than those employed on the ships you have spoken of?

Com. F. No sir. We could procure some mechanics, but not of a
class to suit. The Secretary of the Navy wrote to me to get all the

mechanics possible so as to complete the work at the very earliest

peiiod.

M. DUPRE. After you were apprised of the determination of the

Government to destroy the navy yard, were there any means by
which much%f this valuable timber could be saved ?

Com. F. No sir. The only way to save it was to postpone the de-

struction of the navy yard. The hurried manner in which General

Huger left there, and the information communicated to the enemy by
a man sent down for a gun, of our purpose to evacuate the place, led

them to make an immediate attack, thus rendering any efibrt to save

the property in the navy yard entirely useless.

The CHAIR. Was that man a Southerner or Yankee ?

Com. F. He was a Yankee.
The CHAIR. I understood you to say, that in response to your

statement to the Secretary of the Navy, that yon thought you eould

hold the navy yard and defend Norfolk, he said that the destruction of

the navy yard was a military necessity ?

Com. F. Yes, sir.

The CHAIR. Do you know at whose instance it was destroyed as

a military necessity ?

Com. F. That I can only answer in one way; and that is, that I

endeavored to find out by whose authority it was done, and failed to

do. so.

The CHAIR. Who v/as the chief commander at the post there?

Com. F. I left Capt. Sidney Smith Lee iu charge there.

The CHAIR. Was he not subject to some o'tber commander—Gen.
Huger for instance ?

Com. F. No sir.

The CHAIR. Who had charge of the obstructions of the river

—

the

military or navy department ?

Com. F. Both conjointly. 1 sent down several vessels myself to

blockade the river, and I think Gen. Huger sent some also; and it was
very effectually done—there being left an opening and purchase to

29
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enable'the Virginia to get in or out. I refer to the obstruction of the Eliz-

abeth river.

The CHAIR, i was alluding to the James river.

Com. F. That was very much under the direction of the War De-

partment.

The CHAIR. You say the Elizabeth river was very effectually

protected?

Cora. F. Yes^ sir; with the exception of a passage, which could

be filled up at any moment.
Mr. MAXWELL. About this conference with the Secretary of the

tiaxy you speak of, do you remember how long that was before the de-

struction of the navy yard ?

Com. F. I think about three or four days.

Mr. MAXWELL. It was after the Secretary of the Navy and Sec-

retary of War visited the navy yard ?

Com. F. Yes, sir; it was after that.

Mr. DUPRE. Did the Secretary of the Navy visit Norfolk while it

was under your command ?

Com. F. No sir.

Mr. LYONS, who was absent at the first part of the Commodore's
testimony, said that inasmuch as he had had some consultation with
the Commodore on the subject of the defence of the navy yard, he would
ask him the question, whether or not with the means of defence at his

command there, he would have been able to defend it? ^
Com. F. Yes, sir. I still am firmly convinced that had I been per-

mitted to go there, I could have protected it. Indeed that was the

general sentiment of those who were there.

Mr. LYONS. I would ask you whether Norfolk or the navy yard
was surrendered by order of the Secretary of the Navy or not, as far

as you know ?

Com. F. I do not believe it was. I am inclined to believe from the

conversations I had with him, that he thought my argument a good

one; but I understood him to say that as it was considered a military

necessity, he had no particular control over the matter. I observed that

he hesitated a good while as to what course he should take,

Mr. LYONS. I believe, Mr. Chairman, we are authorized to send

for persons and papers.

The CHAIR. Yes, sir.

Mr. LYONS. If that be so, I will offer the following resolution:

Resolved, That the Secretary of War be requested to furnish the

Committee with copies of all letters, telegrams and orders touching the

defence of New Orleans, which are recorded in his office.

The resolution was adopted, and the Committee then adjourned until

10 o'clock on Thursday, the 29th inst.

THURSDAY, Jan. 29, 1863.

The Committee assembled at 10 o'clock. Present—Messrs Clay,

(Chairman,) Maxwell, Dupre, Barksdale, Lyons and Foote.

The CHAIR. Gentlemen, a resolution was left here by Mr. Semraes,

which he requested me to submit for your consideration. It reads;
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Resolved, Tliat the Secretary of War be reqiiusted to farnish the

Committee with copies of all of Major-GeneralLo veil's letters and tele-

grams to the Department in reference to the defence of New Orleans,

from the 15th of February to the 2Sth of April, 1862.

The resolution was agreed to.

Capt. Robert B. Peqram was then duly sworn, and testified as

follows:

Mr. FOOTE. What position do you occupy in the navy?
Capt. Pegram. Commander for the war.

Mr. FOOTE. Have you charge of any'^particular vessel?

Capt. P. Yes, sir; the Richmond.
Mr. FOOTE. What vessel did you formerly command?
Capt. P. The Nashville.

IVlr. FOOTE. Had you anything to do with the command of the

vessel that was intended to take Mr. Mason and Mr. Slidell to Europe ?

Capt. P. Yes, sir; the Nashville was expressly fitted up to take

them; but after the blockade squadron was increased in Charleston,

they thought it safer to go in another vessel drawing less water, and
they decided to go in a vessel called the Theodore, to Nassau, I believe.

Mr. FOOTE. At the time the Nashville was fitting out for that pur-

pose, did yon make any particular application to the Secretary of the

Navy to remove the light work on the vessel, with a view to have her

armed for defence?
Capt. P. No sfr. 1 made such an application to Commodore In-

gram, who was then commanding officer of the station, but it was not

acted upon. 1 made application to the .Secretary of the Navy before I

wentto take command of the vessel to allow me to take some guns,

and he immediately applied to Commodore Ingram to know whether

the vessel could bear these guiis. The Commodore replied that she

could, and I accordingly got them transferred to Charleston, tor the

purpose of putting them on board the vessel. On their reaching there,

however, it was found that she could not mount these guns, her decks,

which were made of two inch plank, being too weak, unless the altera-

tions suggested by me to Commodore Ingram were made. I do not

know what action he took upon the subject. All I know is, that I made
the suggestion, and it was not acted upon. I borrowed two small

guns, six pounders, from the Governor of South Carolina, and with

these I went across.

Mr. FOOTE. Was the Nashville afterwards put in commission?

Capt. P. She was in commission as soon as I arrived there.

Mr. FOOTE. Was any further application made with regard to

supplying this armament?
Capt. P. No sir; so far as I am concerned.

Mr. FOOTE. What effect did that have upon the movements of the

vessel ? Was it the cause of her detention anywhere ?

Capt. P. I should not have remained a moment for armament after

the vessel was ready, if I could have gone to sea. It was never con-

templated to arm her as a man-of-war to cruise. '

\

Mr. FOOTE. You were kept in confinement within your own port

by the presence of Federal vesselsforwantof armament, were you not?

Capt. P. No sir, not a moment. As soon as the tide and state of
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the moon, and vessel's draft of water suited to get under way, I started.

It was not contemplated to fit out this vessel as a ship of waj, but to

fit her merely to carry these gentlemen, Messrs. Mason and Slidell to

Europe. When they declined to go, I carried ant the rest of my in-

structions, namely, to carry letters to Europe. I took it on my own
responsibility to destroy the two vessels which I did destroy without

any special order or instruction. If I could have properly fitted out

and armed the vessel in Europe, I should have turned her into a

cruiser; but the British authorities would not allow me to do so. They
kept aguard constantly on the vessel to see that no alteration was made,
in the way of strengthening^her for warlike purposes, f could make
the necessary preparations to render her seaworthy, but no more.

Mr. DUPRE. How many trips did you make to Europe?
Capt. P. Only one.

Mr. DUPRE. How long were you in Liverpool ?

Capt. P. I did not go to Liverpool at all, I went to Southampton.
Mr. DUPRE. How long were you there?

Capt. P. I went there in September, and left, I believe, the 6t,h ol

February.
Mr. DUPRE. Did you go to London ?

Capt. P. I did, sir. I had despatches for Capt, Biiikick and Lieut.

North, and deUvered them—at least, to Mr. North. 1 delivered Bul-

lock's despatches at Bermuda where I met him. I offered a passage

to Mr. Yancey to return home, in conformity to ray instructions.

Mr. DUPRE. Could you have purchased at that time, in England,

any vessels, if you had the money?
Capt. P. I don't believe you could take au armed vessel at ihat

time from any port in England, if i( was known tliat she was to go

into the Confederate service.

Mr. DUPRE. The question is, if you had the money at that time

could you fit out a vessel and take her from there ?

Capt. P. It should be done secretly, if at all. Indeed, that is a

question that could hardly admit of an answer. It is a mere matter of

experiment. I know that the government takes all the precaution pos-

sible, and the question depended cfs to whicli was the smartest—yon oi-

the government.
Mr. MAXWELL. Could you not purchase a vessel ?

Capt. P. No, sir, you could not purchase a vessel from the govern-

ment. The only way to contract for a vessel within British ,}urisdic-

tion is, to .say to the parties—you take her to a certain place and I will

purchase her at a certain rate.

Mr. MAXWELL. You don't mean to say that you could Iiave

bought a war vessel already fitted out ?

Capt. P. Not with the consent or authority of the British Government.
T think it is possible to purchase vessels of this character after they have
gone beyond the jurisdiction of the government, as is done in the

case of vessels engaged in smuggling.
I will mention one fact iji the case of the Nashville that did not occur

to me when I gave in my testimony in reference to her. Shortly after

I arrived at Southampton a very wealthy firm of that city, Isaacs,

Campbell &. Co., sent me a letter offering me all the money that I needed

to fit out the '••essel. I did not, however, a-^ail myself of the offer.
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That letter is now on file in the navy department, and can be seen by
the Commitree if they desire.

Mr. FOOTE. Were you fully acquainted with the condition of the

navy yard at Norfolk at the time of its surrender?

Capt. P. I had not been there on duty from the time I lett to go to

Europe until its destruction. I knew its condition thoroughly before.

Mr. FOOTE. Do you know of any material change that took place

there from the time of your knowledge of its condition up to the period

of its destruction ?

Capt. P. No, sir.

Mr. FOOTE. From your general knowledge of the condition of

the navy yard tit Norfolk, what would you say of the practicability of

defending it with 1,100 employees, familiar with guns and small arms,

and such aid as could be brought from Norfolk, under such a man as

Commodore Forrest, putting the Virginia in proper position?

Capt. P. If the fortifications outside were M'^ell manned, I have no
doubt, with the aid just mentioned, the navy yard could be effectually

defended. The fortifications extended around Norfolk a distance of 8

miles. Pig's Point battery is about 10 miles from Norfolk, and Sewell's

Point about 10 ; and then there were some 7 or 8 other batteries extend-

ing from Sewell's Point.up to Norfolk. These Avere, the Craney Island

battery, Lambert's Point, Bush Bluff, tv/o at Pinner's Point, Fort Nelson
and Fort Norfolk, all water batteries, besides the land batteries between
kSewell's Point and N^>¥fe}]k j also strong land batteries defending the

Portsmouth side, l^t would require from seven to ten thousand men to

man these batteries, and with that force I am satisfied the navy yard
would be secure against, any attack. If the enemy took the batteries

around the navy yard, it inevitably would fall by a land attack; but

with 1,100 men stationed at the navy yard to co-operate with the force

v/hich 1 have just mentioned, and the Virginia placed, in proper posi-

tion, I am satisfied Norfolk and the navy yard could have been saved.

There were some 30 or 4.0 guns at Sewell's Point, about 18 at Craney
Island, and -at Pig's Point some 1(5 or IS, in connection with the bat-

teries defending the Nansemond river.

Mr. BARKSDALE. I would ask permission to read the following

letters from Gen. Joseph E. Johnston to Commodore Tatnall, as entirely

pertinent to this inquiry. ,

Leave having been granted

—

Mr. BARKSDALE read the following letters :

Headq'rs, Lee's House, April 2Slh, 1S6"2.

Sir : I intended to v/riteto you by Captaiii,Norris yesterday, and give

you sucluinformation as I can of the condition of affairs here, but was
prevented by a press of business which could not be postponed, and
therefore desired the captain to give you an oral account.

Tiie enem}'' is adhering closely to his cautious policy. The prepara-

tions for opening fire upon Yorktown seem to be nearly completed. His
great superiority in artillery will probably enable him to dismount our
guns very soon. When York river is thus opened to him, he will

probably turn this army by sending his own up that river. Our scouts

report that he has at Ship Point, his harbor, two hundred and fifty
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transports, of which a third ure steamers, and live kuiiard. batteaux.
Sn^h a move would compel us to abandon the Peninsula.

Is it not possible that the vessels of war of the Confederate States,

now in Hampton Roads, will join in the attack upon our batteries ?

This would leave James river unthreatened for the time.

Would it be easily practicable for the Virginia to pass Fort Monroe
to assist us? The destruction of a large number of his transports

would disconcert the enemy, at least. This is a professional question,
in which I have no opinion, having no knowledge.
The abandonment of the Peninsula will, of course, involve the loss

of all our batteries on the north shore of James river. The effect of
this upon our holding Norfolk, and our ships, you will readily perceive.

Captain Tucker's command covers our right flank. 1 am much
pleased with his intelligence and zeal.

Most respectfully.

Your obedient servant,

J. E. JOHNSTON, General.
Flag Officer T.^tnall.

A letter frotn General J. E. Johnston, dated May 1st, 1862, as

follows :

Headqr's, Lee's House, May Yst, 1862.

Sir : Finding it necessary to abandon this position, and regarding
the evacuation of Norfolk as a consequence of that measure, I have di-

rected Major General Htiger to withdraw his troops from the place, and
remove to Richmond.

1 have also desired Captain Lee to abandon the navy yard, and re-

port to the Secretary of the Navy, in Richmond, after saving as much
as possible of the public property, and destroying, if practicable, what
he cannot save.

I beg that the Virginia may cover these operations, and by holding
Hampton Ro'ads, prevent the enemy from Norfolk, from James river.

You will further oblige me by permitting the vessels under the com-
mand of Captain Tucker to continue to observe this and the upper por-

tion of the river. They can, if pressed, place themselves withni the

obstructions near Richmond.
The disposal of the Virginia, after she has performed all the service

that can be required of her, can be trusted more safely to no one than
to5''ourself. 'J'he enemy will never have possession of her.

Most respectfully,

• Your obedient servant,

J. E. JOHNSTON, General.

P. S.— After writing so far, f had the honor to receive your letter of

yesterday. Your opinion on the subject to which it relates is conclu-

sive to nie.

Most respectfully,

J. E. J.

These letters were ordered to be placed upon the record. The Com-
mittee then adjourned till Saturday, the 3 1st inst.



231

Capt. Pegeam, upon his evidence being read to him the day follow-

ing its rendition, desired to make the following addition thereto :

Whilst in Southampton a board of experienced ship captains, at uiy
request, examined the vessel, and decided that she was not in a condi-
tion to cross the ocean at that inclement season of the year, owing to

her great weakness. They entered a written remonstrance with the

Admiralty jgigainst the vessel being forced to sea at thatseasori. Letters

to this effect may be found on file in the department. Mr. Yancey is

acquainted with all the circumstances of the case in regard to the ves-

sel's weakness, and I believe was influenced h)'- his knowledge of that

fact from taking a return passage in her.

SATURDAY, Jan. 31, 1863.

The Committee met at 10 o'clock. Present, Messrs. Clay, (Chairman)
Semmes, Boyce, Barksdale, Dupre and Lyons. Mr. Foote was
present, but was granted leave of absence.

Capt. Sidney Smith Lee having been duly sworn, testified as fol-

lows :

Mr. BARKSDALE. Did you succeed Commodore Forrest in com-
mand of the navy yard at Norfolk ?

Capt. Lee. I did, sir.

Mr. BARKSDALE. Under whose control was the Virginia after

Com. Forrest left?

Capt. Lee. Under my control, as far as the repairs and equipment
went.
Mr. BARKSDALE. After the Virginia was damaged in the fight

at Hampton Roads under whose control were the repairs?

Capt. Lee. Under my control ?

Mr. BARKSDALE. What was the extent of the damage done to

her ?

Capt. Lee. She was not severely damaged at all. I mean to say
by that, she was not materially injured—she was still fit for service.

Mr. BARKSDALE. State whether the navy department used pro-

per exertions in forwarding the work upon the vessel.

Capt. L. Every exertion possible was made to forward the work.
Our orders were to work day and night, and spare no expense in carrying
the work through. I obeyed these orders strictly, having kept the men
constantly at work. I don't mean to say we worked every night, but
at night when it was necessary, and on Sundays as it was deemed ad-
vantageous.

Mr. BARKSDALE. The order was to spare no expense upon the
ship, and to keep at work day and night upon her ?

Capt. L. Yes, sir.

Mr. LYONS. Will you be good enough to state, if it be within your
knowledge, by whose order Norfolk was surrendered to the enemy, and
what was the condition of its defences at that time ?

Capt. L. To answer that question correctly, I must begin by say-
ing, that we were preparing for evacuation ten or twelve days before it

took place. Gen. Johnston wrote once or twice to Gen. Huger and
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myself to prepare for evacuation if it should become necessary, remark-
ing that he was fearful that the abandonment of the Peninsula would
necessitate the evacuation of the navy yard. Subsequently, Gen. John-
ston wrote to us directing the final evacuation, and in conformity with
that order and the order of Gen. Huger, the evacuation did take place.

Gen. Huger, in his last letter, stated that a large force had landed on
the Peninsula, that he had no force to receive them, and tiiat we
must evacuate.

Mr. LYONS. What was the capacity of Norfolk and the navy yard,

at that time, to resist an attack?

Capt. L. We all considered it very strong. The defences around
it were very perfect while the Merrimac was available to act in co-op-

eration with them. We considered ourselves very strong and safe from

the water and Norfolk defences.

Mr. LYONS. Did Gen. Huger remonstrate against the evacuation?

Capt. L. I think he did.

Mr, LYONS. Could Norfolk and the navy yard, in your opinion,

have been held if Gen. Huger's force had remained there?

Capt. L. We so thought. We felt ourselves strong enough to hold

them. The only danger we felt was from the land side. We were
apprehensive of the enemy's coming in behind us from Suffolk, or

West Point, but we felt ourselves strong enough to defend the river and
the Norfolk side.

The CHAIR. Had the navy department, so far as you know, any-

thing to do with obstructing the James river?

Capt. L. I knew nothing of the matter uiuil I arrived here and

took command.
The CHAIR. When did you take command ?

Capt. L. The 15th of May.
The CHAIR. Do you know whether the work on these obstruc-

tions was commenced previously or not ?

Capt. L. It was commenced previously.

Mr. Maxwell offered the following resolution, which was odopted :

Resolved, That the Secretary of the Treasury be requested to fur-

nish the Committee the original telegram to him from Gov. Moore, of

La., in relation to the deficiency of funds in New Orleans for naval

purposes, referred to in the testimony of said Gov. Moore, and if the

copy be furnished, to have also furnished a copy of any endorsement

of the original by the Secretary of the Navy.

W. E. M. TiDBALL was next sworn.

The CHAIR. The Secretary of the Navy has requested me to pro-

pound in his behalf to you these questions: 1st—State if you can pre-

cisely, at what time the iiavy department was called upon by the Com-
nianding General, I.ce, to aid the officers of the army to obstruct the

James river.

Mr. TiDBALL. I think it was on the 8th day of May, 1862. [Mr.

T.. referred to a book containing a record of the matter, and found the

date tQ be as given in his evidence.] He also read the following orders:
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Special Orders.
Richmond, 8th May, 1862.

Commander E. Farmnd, C S. Navy, having been assigned to the
charge of the battery at Drewry's Bhifl', he will take command of the
artillery companies at that place, and all troops of the army.

R.E. LEE, General.

OONFEDERATE StATES NaVY DEPARTMENT^ ">

Richmond, May Sth, 1862. y
Commander E. Parrand, C. S. N.—
Sir: As the senior officer on the spot, you will take command of the

force at Drewry's Bluff, and make the best arrangement in your power
to resist the enemy.
Three of the enemy's gun boats, one of their iron-clad, are in the

.Tames river, and they may be at Drewry's Bluff to-morrow morning;
ammunition for your battery is being sent to you to-night, and two
companies of artillery will also be sent. Sink the Jamestown, and any
other of our gun boats that you may deem proper to close the river.

The enemy must not be permitted to pass, and your energy and
•ability are rehed on to prevent them.

Very respectfully, your obedient servant,

S. R. MALLORY, Secretary of the Navy.

Confederate States Nav^ Department, 7
Richmond, Sth May, 1862. j"

Commander E. Farrand, C. S. N.—
Sir: In addition to the orders of this date, I have to say that it is re-

ported to me that the iron-clad gun boat of the enemy is the only one
of the three that has passed our battery at Day's Point, and that you
will keep in view the chance of capturing her by boarding, or otherwise.

She can probably be carried by boarding, and if you think so, there

must be a pass through your obstructions, to enable our vessels to get

at her. I throw out this suggestion for your consideration.

Very respectfully, your obedient servant,

S. R. MALLORY, Secretary of the Navy,

2d Questvm. State fully the action of the Secretary of the Navy
when this call was made, and produce the records of such action if you
can?
Mr. TiDBALL. A telegraphic dispatch from Ci,ty Point was sent to

the Secretary of the Navy on the evening of the Sth of May, stating

that three of the enemy's gun boats had passed the battery. The Sec-
retaiy sent me with this dispatch to Gen. Lee. The General soon after

came to the navy department, and asked if we had any officers we
could put under his charge to aid in obstructing the river. The order

which I have just read was given, and all the navy officers that were
in the city available, were ordered there also; Com'r. Farrand to com-
mand. The officers and crews of the Patrick Henry and Jamestown
were put under his command on the 9th and 10th of May, and on the

arrival of the officers and crews of the Virginia on the 12th of May,
they were also ordered under his command.
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The following is a copy of the order of the 9th of May, issued by
the Secretary of the Navy:

Confederate States Navy Department, 7

Richmond, May 9ih, 1862. j

Co?nmandcr E. Farrand, C. S. N.,

In charge of James River Defences, Drewryh- Bluff—
Sir: You must lose not a moment of time in adopting and perfecting

measures to prevent the enemy's vessels from passing the river. Thi •

duty is committed to the navy, and you will estabhsh your batteries,

magazines and defences, with all possible energy, working day and
night, if you have men enough, until completed.

I will send a medical officer to each vessel, and the vessels may serve,

I suggest, as quarters for the batteries that are manned by their crews.

1 am having some cover faces for guns made of heavy timber and
iron, like the roof of the Virginia, and will send them to you. I sug-

gest that you assign the erection of batteries to officers, and charge

them with the duty of erecting and commanding them.

Commanders Page and Tucker, can thus render important service.

I am, respectfully, your obedient servant,

S. R. MALLORY, Secretary of the Navy.

These were the orders which were given at that time.

Maj. A. L. Rives was next sworn.

Mr. MAXWELL. What is your position in the public service ?

Maj. Rives. Major of Engineers in the Provisional army.

Mr. MAXWELL. Were t/'ou assigned to the duty, and in charge

of the work of obstructing the James river, and if so, by whose order,

and when ?

Maj. Rives. I was acting chief of the bureau at that time, and con-

sequently, not immediately in charge. I planned and visited frequently

the works while in progress. The immediate engineer in charge there

was Lieut. T. D. Mason. I was ordered to cause the construction of

obstructions by Gen. Lee, late in February.

Mr. MAXWELL. Did the engineer department continue in charge

of its labors upon these obstructions, and up to what time?

Maj. Rives. They continued in charge of the obstructions up to

about the 1st of May.
The CHAIR. Of last year?

Maj. Rives. Yes, sir.

The CHAIR. Who had charge of the obstructions of the river pre-

vious to that?

Maj . Rives . No one. There were no obstructions in existence pre-

viously. The gToiind was crossed sectioned, and piles sent for on the

9th of March. Cribs for obstructions were commenced about the 15th.

i3etween the 20th and 25th of March, pile-driving was commenced
there, and at that time Lieut. C. T. Mason was in charge. The unsat-

isfactory progress of obstructions was altogether due to an unprece-

dented spring season of almost continual freshets.

The Committee then adjourned until Tuesday, the 3d inst.



2:55

TUESDAY, Feb. 3d, 1863.

The Committee met at 10 o'clock. Present—Messrs. Foote, who
acted as temporary Chairman in the absence of Mr. Clay—Lyons,
Semmes, Barksdale and Boyce. Mr. Maxwell appeared, but was
excused from serving.

Major Wm. B. Williamson being sworn, testified as follows:

Mr. SEMMES. What position do you occupy under the Govern-
ment?

Major W". Engineer in chief of the navy.

Mr. SEMMES. Will you please state when the shaft of the Mis-

sissippi was put under construction at the Tredegar Works?
Major W. On the 5th of January, 1862.

Mr. SEMMES. By whom was it put under construction? Who
had. the superintendence of it?

Major W. It was put there by order of the Secretary of the Navy.
I had the order to superintend its construction. The drawing came to

me from New Orleans, and I directed the work to be done.

Mr. SEMMES. Whose duty was it to see after the expeditious com-
pletion of the work ?

Major W. It was my duty and that of my assistants;

Mr. SEMMES. Do you know when the work on this shaft was
actually commenced ?

Major W. The shafts which went to make up the shaft for the Mis-

sissippi were the shafts of the Glen Cove, ^nd were purchased six

months before the work upon them commenced, which was the 5th of

January, 1862. Some preparations were being made before that to

carry on the work.
Mr. SEMMES. Do you kno\\4^ whether they worked steadily upon

them or not?
Major W. Yes, sir; night and day, and even on Sundays. It was

with great difficulty we got the proprietors to undertake the work at all.

It took them three months to prepare before they commenced the work.
They had to build cranes, furnaces, and a railroad car to transport the

shaft, which necessarily required considerable labor and expense. The
Secretary himself took very great interest in the matter, having visited

the Tredegar Works every morning to see that the work on the shaft

was rapidly progressing. I was very busy on the Merrimac at that

period, and spent half of my time in Norfolk.

Mr. SEMMES. Do I understand you to say that the work wa>
actually commenced on the 5th of January, or that they commenced
preparing the means for that purpose?

Major W. They commenced the work on that day. In the midst

of it, the blacksmiths struck for high wages and left for three weeks.
The shafts were shipped on the 26th of March, as soon as finished.

Mr. SEMMES. You say the work was actually commenced on
these shafts on the 5th of January ?

Major W. Yes sir.
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Mr. SEMMES. Wlieti did tliey first commence the necessary pre-

parations to execute this '.vork ?

Major W. Probably iwo or three months before that. This work
was to he done by the Cv^ntractors at New Orleans, and the order to have
it done here was quite unexpected. The contractors went to work
and got the shaft half completed, but failed t» carry it out. These
shafts were 12 inches in diameter, and they had to be turned down to

nine inches, and then welded.

Mr. SEMMES. When did you receive the drawing for the construc-

tion of this shaft ?

Major W. About two months before the work was commenced. As
soon as the drawing was received, we went to work with the furnaces..

Mr. SEMMES. Do you know whether tbat shaft could be con-

structed at any other point of the Confederacy ?

Major W". It could at the Gosport navy yard. I regretted afterwards

that we did not construct it there. I am satisfied it could be done there

in much less time than at the Tredegar Works. We had a steam ham-
mer there, which would have materially'- facilitated the work.

Mr. LYOlXS. Please to state whether from anything that Came
under your observation, you discovered any negligence or indifference

as to the prompt performance of the work on the part of the Secretary

of the Navy.
Major W. No sir. He took more interest in that vessel than he took

in all the other vessels built in ,lhe country. I felt at that time more
interest in the Merrimac than I did in the Mississippi, but he pressed

me to attend to the work on tliis shaft.

The communications from Gen. Lovell to the War Department pie-

vious to the fall of Ne\\^ Orleans, called for a few days ago by a resolu-

tion of the committee were here submitted, and read as follows:—These
communications were also called for by the House of Representatives.

and by them furnished to the Committee.

*

CORRESPONDENCE BETWEEN THE WAR DEPARTMENT
AND GENERAL LOVELL

Relating to the Defences of New Orleans. Submitted in response to a

Resolution of the House of Representatives, passed third February

y

1863.

MESSAGE OE THE PRESH^ENT.

Richmond, Va., March 11, 1863.

To the House of Representatives—
In response to your resolution of the third ult., I herewith transmit

for your information a copy of my correspondence, together with that of

the Secretaries of War and of the Navy, with the Governor of Louisi-

ana and with Major General Lovell, during thu period beginning Goto-
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ber 25, 1861, and ending with the date of tlie capture of the city of

New Orleans, in reference to the defences of that city.

JEFFERSON DAVIS.

COMMUNICATION FROM THE SECRETARY OJb' WAR.

Confederate States of America, "1

Wa'r Department, \-

Richinond, Ya., Feh. 27, 1863.3

To the President of the Confederates States—
Sir : I have the honor to submit, under a resohition of the House

of Reprentatives, copies of the .correspondence between Major General
Lovell and the War Department in reference to the defence of New
Orleans, from the 25th October, 1861, to the date of the surrender of
that city.; also, copies of the correspondence on file in this department,
between the President and Secretary of War and the Governor of Lou-
isiana, on the same subject. A cop3r of General Lovell 's report has
been, already, submitted to Congress. It is believed that all the cor-

respondence, pertinent to the subject, is embraced in the volume now
placed before yon.

Very respectfully, your obedient servant,

JAMES A. SEDDON, Secretary of War.

, [Copy.]

C. S. A., ExECUTivn; Departmel\t,
\

Richmond, Va., Fe6. 4, 1863.3

To the Hon Secretary of War—
Sir : I am directed by the President to forward for 3'^our attention

and the proper action, the following resohition of the House of Repre-
sentatives of the 3d instant :

'' Resolved hy the House of Representatives, That the President be
requested to -furnish this body, if not incompatible with the public in-

terests, with copies of the correspondence between Major General
Lovell and the War Department, "in reference to the defences of New
Orleans, from the 25th October, 1861, to the date of the surrender of
that city ; also, copies of all correspondence between t'je President or

Secretaries of War and Navy and the Governor of Louisiana, on the
satne subject."

Your obedient servant,

(Signed) BURTON N. HARRISON,
Private Secretary.
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Confederate States of America,
Navy Department,

Richmond, Va., Feh. 9, 1863.

7V<e President—
Sir : In response to the following resokition adopted by the House

of Representatives, on the third instant

:

•

^^ Resolved by the House of Representatives, That the President be

requested to furnish this body, if not incompatible with the public

interests, with copies of the correspondence between Major General

Lovell and the War Department, in reference to the defences of New
Orleans, from the 35th October, 1861, to the date of the surrender of

that city ; also, copies of all correspondence between the President or

Secretaries of War and Navy and the Governor of Louisiana, on the

same subject."

I have the honor to state that this department had no correspondence

with the Governor of Louisiana in reference to the defences of New
Orleans, from the 25th of October, 1861, to the date of the surrender

of that city.

I transmit, however, copy of a letter addressed to the Governor of

Louisiana, on the 18th of September, 1861, by the department, to

which no reply was received.

With much respect, your obedient servant,

S. R. MALLORY, Secretary of the Navy.

CORRESPONDENCE.

^ '^" '^ Richmond, Va., Oc^o^crl7^/f, 1861.

Qen. M. Lovell—

Sir : 1 am induced by the impression made on the mind of the Sec-

retary of War, in a conversation which you had with him just before

your departure, to write to you on the subject of your relations to the

officers of the navy. When you mentioned the subject to me, I sup-

posed you rcierred to the case provided for in the 61st and 62d Ar-

ticles of War, as enacted by the Congress of the Confederate States.

Therefore it was that I read and commented on those articles, par-

ticularly the 62d. The fleet maintained at the port of New Orleans

and its vicinity is not a part of your conmiand ;
and the purposes tor

which it is sent there, or removed from there, are communicated m or-

ders and letters of a department with wliich you have no direct com-

munication. It must, therefore, be obvious to you that you could not

assume command of these officers and vessels coming within the limits

of your geographical department, but not placed on duty with you,

without serious detriment to discipline and probable injiiry to the pub-

lic service.



' To promote harmony, to secure co-operation and increase the power
for public defence, it will often be desirable that each arm should know
the objects and means of the other ; to this end, it is hoped that there

will be unrestrained intercourse and cordial fraternization.

Yery respectfully, yours,

(Signed) JEFFERSON DAVIS.
A true copy.

G. W. CusTis Lee, A. D. C.

(No. 2.) Headquarters Department No. 1,")

New Orleans, Oc^. 18^^1861. f
Ho7i. J. p. Benjamin, Acting Secretary of War—

Sir : As this city, the first in importance in the Confederacy has
been greatly drained of arms, ammunition, medical stores, clothing

and supplies for other points, I would respectfully suggest that the
heads of bureau be requested to order nothing further of that de-

scription to be forwarded from here until we have provided ourselves
with a fair supply for the force required for the defence of this city.

Anything that, in my judgment, could be spared, I would readily send
forward, but it will require great exertions to put ourselves in a proper
state of defence, and nothing should be divided from that purpose un-
til the object is attained.

The actual state of preparation I shall not put on paper.

When companies or regiments, enlisted for twelve months, have
been in service under State authority for a portion of the time and
are then transferred to the Confederate service, persistent objection is

made in some instances to being mustered for a longer period than
the balance of the original twelve months. Most of these have fully
nine months to serve, and as the fate of New Orleans for this season,
must be settled within that time, 1 shall not stand upon that point, un-
less you direct me by telegraph to do so.

I am greatly in need of two things, viz : an assistant adjutant gen-
eral, acquainted with the details of office matters, forms, &.C., who can
instruct the volunteers and keep the records in such shape that claims
may be settled at some indefinite future period ; and some saltpetre for
the manufacture of powder.

While the first would greatly facilitate matters here, it is not indis-
pensable—the latter is.

We are daily expecting funds, without which we cannot get on a
great while.

Respectfully, your obedient servant,

M. LOVELL,
Major General Commanding.

(No. 3.) New Orleans, Oc^o6er 23, 1861.

Hon, J. P. Benjamin—
Is it impossible to give us powder or saltpetre, in quantity, imme-

diately ?

M. LOYELL.
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(No. 4.) Richmond, Oc^o6er 23, 1861. '

Gen. M. Lovell, New Orleans—
We calculate that we have sent in powder and saltpetre to New Or-

leans, within the last month, the equivalent of five hundred barrels

of powder, to be added to the stock previously on hand. We can
spare no more at present without urgent necessity. Telegraph me
what your whole supply is.

J. P. BENJAMIN,
Acting Secretary of War.

.MERICA, "^

entNo.l, Y
L 25, 1861.

3

(No. 5.) Confederate States of America,
Headquarters, Department

New Orleans, Oct.

Hon. J. P. Benjamin, Acting Secretary of War—
Dear Sir : I have received your telegram relative to the amount of

powder and saltpetre sent to this point, within- the past month ; but
think it hardly advisable to make known our deficiency through the

telegraph office.

Your dispatch says that " the equivalent of five hundred barrels of

powder has been sent here within a month." I find no correct re-

turns of ordnance and ordnance stores from the various posts; but

have sent a circular calling for them, and am getting them in. I

know that the acting ordnance officer has several invoices of pow-
der, which have not yet come to hand. Admit, however, that we
have five hundred barrels. We have now at the various forts and
approaches, two hundred and ten guns in position, and about one
hundred more that we shall soon have in place

;
giving, in all, three

hundred and ten guns, of the calibre of a twenty-four pounder, and
upwards. The average charge, large and small, will be eight pounds
for each gun, or two thousand four hundred and eighty pounds for a

single piece. Five hundred barrels contain fifty thousand pounds,

which would give us twenty rounds per gun—not more than enough
for an hour's fight. But the powder received from Memphis was
quite worthless ; more than thirty barrels invoiced to us have not

arrived, and we loaned Com. IloUins the powder with which he made
his attack upon the vessels above the passes, a few days since. We
have therefore, less than twenty rounds per gun. I am hurrying into

operation two mills which will give us six or eight thousand barrels

per day, if we can get saltpetre ; and have sent an agent to contract for

working some of the idle saltpetre caves in the adjoining States. Of
sulpher and charcoal we have a supply.

The want of powder is our only glaring deficiency. I do not allow

an ounce to be bilrnt unnecessarily, and am straining every nerve to

add to our supply.

If I can get saltpetre, and the enemy will give us a lew weeks, which
I think he will do, we shall be pretty well prepared to defeat him.

With one hundred rounds per gun, I should feel pretty safe.

Respectfully, your obedient servant,

M. LOVELL,
Major General Commanding.
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(No. 6.) New Orleans, October 26, 1861.

Hon. J. P. Benjamin:

Your dispatch about powder received; will answer fully by mail.
M. LOVELL.

(No. 7.) 0. S. A., War Department, )

Richmond, Oct. 29, 1861. y
Sir: Your letter of the 18th instant was not received till yesterday,

28th. I telegraphed you to-day that we have no power to receive
troops for less than twelve months. But where troops offer themselves
specially for local defence, they may be accepted in any proportion and
for any term, as they a:re a mere improved militia, not entitled to pay or
subsistence except during actual service. See act of 21st August, No.
229, of 3d session.

I cannot restrain the heads of bureau from purchasing or forwarding
supplies from New Orleans. This interference with commerce exceeds
my power, except in case of extreme urgency. I much prefer that you
should make requisition for everything in the way of supply that you.
need, and have your purchases made in New Orleans; and thus it is

easy to prevent the removal from the city of what is required for its de-
fence, without infringing on the rights of any one.

I anxiously await your letter about the supply of powder and saltpe-

tre. I cannot conceive what has become of the quantity recently sent
to New Orleans, say within the last six weeks. I hope your demand
for supply was based on erroneous information from persons who did
not know the facts.

I have ordered a young officer, said to be of high merit, as an engi-

neer, to- report to you, (1st Lieut. Cunningham,) just appointed in ar-

tillery, with a view to assign him to engineer corps, if he proves as

competent as represented.

J am much gratified to learn, from different sources, that you have
succeeded in inspiring general confidence in New Orleans, thereby
justifying the confidence reposed by the Government in yourself.

Your obedient servant,

J. P. BENJAMIN,
Acting Secretary of War,

Maj. Gen. M, Lovell, Nevj Orleans.

)
(No. 8.) Confederate States op America,

• Headquarters Department No. 1,

New Orleans, Zlst October, 1861.

His Excellency President Davis —
Dear Sir: The works for the defence of this city are progressing

rapidly, and I think in a couple of weeks we can defeat any force that
shall attempt invasion, if we can provide ourselves with powder. I
have now one mill in operation which will turn out twelve hundred
pounds per day, another which can make fifteen hundred, and in two
weeks hope to have a third in full blast, which will make three thou-

31
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sand or three thousand five hundred pounds per day. I have your

dispatch about saltpetre, and am looking for it daily, but we ought to

have to-day fifty tons of cannon powder on hand, besides what we can

make. My letter to Mr. Benjamin, of the 25th instant, will give you

an idea of what we require to serve our guns. 1 think we can fix the

raft between forts Jackson and St. Phillip, so as to make a complete ob-

struction under the fire of those works. I send you enclosed a sketch

of the works and raft, the dotted black lines above the latter, running

diagonally to St. Phillip, represent an arrangement which I propose to

shed the drift over towards the opening in the raft on the Fort Jackson

shore.

With your permission I will urge strongly upon you the appointment

of Col. J. K. Duncan as a brigadier general; he is worth a dozen of

Ruggles, and has rendered most efficient service with a zeal, untiring

industry and ability which entitle him to your high consideraion. Had
he more rank he could be of great assistance to me in organizing and
giving directions, and I can assure you that help would not be unac-

ceptable, as I have to keep driving all day, and frequently the larger

part of the night. If you have serious objections I will not press it,

but the public service would be advanced by giving him rank enough

to direct, and if necessary order, the colonels of volunteer regiments in

this department, who require a great deal of dry-nu7'sing . Gen. Bragg

consents to the removal of Major Lovell to service here. 1 have two

armed boats which he could use to material advantage on the coast of

Mississippi, where 1 am sorry to say are many disaffected persons who
will communicate with the enemy at every opportunity

.

I receive every assistance here, except from some of the speculators,

who endeavor to secure materials that the Government must have.

The first operation I can fix upon them I shall publish their names to

the community.
I am inclined to think that the attack on this coast will be on Mobile

from East Pascagoula by land, with a strong demonstration by water

Is that city defended by intrenchments on the land side ?

Respectfully, your obedient servant,

(Signed) M. LOVELT..

(No. 9.) New Orleans, Nov. 4, 1S61.

Hon. J. P. Benjamlv:

Will the Secretary of the Treasury allow us to use the marine hospi-

tal for military purposes ? Shall I recognize foreign consuls?

M. LOVELL.

(No. 10.) Richmond, Nov. A, 186L

General M. Lovell, New Orleans: ^

Foreign consuls are recognized by our Government in all commercial

matters. What kind of military use do you propose to make of the

marine hospital ? Answer, and I will apply to Secretary of the Treas-
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ury. I ordered ten tons of aaltpetre sent to yon by express from Au-
gusta arsenal.

J. P. BENJAMIN,
Acti?ig Secretary of War.

(No. 11.) Richmond, Nov. Qth, 1861.

General M., Lovell, Naw Orleans:

, Secretary of Treasury says you may have hospital if the collector has
not made a diflerenl disposal of it by contract. See Hatch and show
him this dispatch.

(Signed) J. P. BENJAMIN,
Acting Secretary of War.

(No, 12.) Confederate States of America, )

Headquarters Department No. 1, >

New Orleans, Nov. 8, 1861.
)

Hon. J. P. Benjamin, Secretary of War—
Dear Sik: Governor Moore has just handed me your dispatch of to-

day relative to saltpetre.

The amount therein (24 tons,) will all have been received when the

10 tons, now on their way from Augusta, shall arrive. The acting

ordnance officer, Captain Rawie, informs me that he has not yet ac-

knowledged the receipt of the 14 tons already received, because he has
had no invoices with the greater part of it, and does not know from
Avhom it came.
The only invoice we have ifrom Augusta, is that for 10 tons, now on

the way. Every pound we have on hand is being made up into pow-
der, but a good deal of it is so mixed with foreign matter that it does
not give more than pound for ponnd of powder. But when all made
up, it will only make about 50,000 lbs., which, when distributed, will

give us about 20 rounds per gun, as fully explained in my letter to you
of 25th ultimo.

We have a battery of light artillery here, raised by order of General
Twiggs, composed of Confederate recruits under Capt. Higgins, with a
compliment of four horses to each gun and caisson. He applies to me
for a farrier, which I consider necessary and a judicious economy, but
find no legal authority for employing one. I am satisfied that a good
farrier would more than pay for himself, especially here where the price

of horses is so high. Will you authorize his employment?
1 have been requested to ask your attention to the case of Dr. S.

Burke, now on duty at Fort Jackson. He was the surgeon on duty
with the Louisiana regiment of artillery, when it was mustered into the

Confederate service on 1st June, but, by some oversight on the part of
the mustering officer, he was not transferred. He nevertheless remained
at his post on severe duty from that time up to 21st September, when he
received his commission. This he hesitates to accept as he thereby
loses nearly four months rank and pay, and one of his juniors take

precedence of him. He asks that his appointment may date 1st June^
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the day of transfer of the regmient which he has been serving since its

entry into service. His zeal and attention to duty are highly spoken
of by his commander, Col. Duncan, who intercedes for him in this act

of justice.

1 have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of your printed circular

of instructions, as also of your letter of 29th ult. I have to thank you
for the expression of confidence therein contained, and shall do my
utmost to prove that the administration has made no mistake in my
case. We are progressing rapidly towards a good state of defence.

The interior line of works will soon be complete and the guns mounted. .

I have increased the armament of forts Pike and Macomb by four forty-

two's each, and have sent 12 to Col. Duncan for the forts below. I

think we shall make a complete obstruction of the raft, (see the sketch

I sent the President,) and if we stop the enemy's ships we can hammer
him to pieces, {if the powder holds out.)

I have sent 1,000 men to Berwick's Bay, and have called for foiu'

Companies of mounted men, (local defence men,) from St. Mary's
parish, mainly to show themselves occasionally among the negroes.

Respectfully, your obedient servant,

M. LOVEl.L,
Major- Ge7ieral Commanding.

[copy of dispatch above referred to,]

'' Richmond, Nov. 8, lS6l.

<f Gov. Thomas O. Moore, Neio Orleans:

*^ It is impossible for me to comprehend what has become of the salt-

petre sent to New Orleans.
<^ I have sent twenty-four tons, and cannot learn that one pound has

been received, or one pound of powder made. On the 26tli September

three tons were sent by freiglit train. On the 27th September one ton

was sent by express. On the 1st October three tons were sent by ex-

press. On the 2d October seven tons were sent by express. On 2d

November ten tons were sent by express. All this was sent from Au-
gusta, and I cannot get the acknowledguient that one pound was ever

received; you now say you have not one ounce.
" This mystery must be explained before I can send any more.

*• (Signed) J. P. BENJAMIN,
" Acting Secretary of War."'

(No. 13.) C. S. A. War Department, }

Richmond, Nov. 17, ISOL jT

Major General^. Lovell, New Orleans—
Dear Sir: I have your letter of the 8th instant, and am happy to

learn that the saltpetre has been received in New Orleans. 1 beg your

special attention to the manufacture, as from imperfect refining of the

saltpetre, much of the powder made at different points absorbs moisture

so rapidly as quickly to become worthless. Our supply of powder,

aind of material for its manufacture is so small, that it would be really

a calamnity to exhaust our material, and find the powder valueless.

I received your former letter in regard to tlic (quantity of powder ru-
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quired in your department^ and am anxiously awaiting the promised
report of the ordnance stores ou hand, for there was of course quite a
quantity of powder on hand before the saltpetre Avas sent. I beg you
will have made for me as early as possible^ a complete official return of
all "ordnance and ordnance stores " in your department, as it is im-
possible for me to introduce regularity into the administration of this

department without such returns. I always feel a supicion when they
are not furnished, that makes me reluctant to respond to requisitions.

1 have also learned to regard v/ith great distrust the statements of
manufacturers of what they are going to make. A statement of the
actual results of one week's work in the powder mills in New Orleans
would be far more satisfactory than any number of assurances of pro-

spective efficiency. I se(i no objection to your employing a farrier if

necessary for your company of light artillery. The law, hoAvever^
does not permit the enlisting of such an artificer to any other than
cavalry companies.

In regard to "Dr. Burke's case, 1 beg you to inform him that many
such cases exist, but I cannot remedy them until 1 get authority from
Congress, which 1 am now about to ask, and hope to obtain.

As some additions have been made to my printed circular, I send you
another copy as amended.

I am much gratified to hear of your rapid progress in perfecting the
defences of New Orleans, and especially from different friends of your
success in inspiring confidence amongst our people.

Your obedient servant,

J. P. BENJAMIN,
Acting Secretary of War.

(No. 14.) Confederate States ok America, "^

Headquarters Depart^nent No. \. y-

New Orleans, La., Nov. 19, 1861. )

Hon. J. P. Benjamin, Secretary of War—
Dear Sir: Since my last communication, we have steadily pro-

gressed in our preparations for defence; six tons of powd.er have been
made and distributed to the various works in due proportion. I have
increased the armanent of Fort Pike by four 42-pounders, Fort Ma-
comb with five 42's and one 8-inch shell gun. Fort Livingston with one
8-inch columbiad, and Forts Jackson and St. Phillip with six 42-poun-
ders each. The raft in the river between the last named forts has been
fiu'ther secured by four anchors, of 300 pounds each, and fastened by
heavy chains to either shore, and I think will stop a fleet under the
close fire of more than 100 heavy guns, (with Com. Hollins assistance
about 150.) Feeling satisfied that ships under steam can pass forts

in an open channel, I am taking prompt measures to obstruct the pas-
sage at Forts Pike and Macomb, at Berwicks Bay, and in the Missis-
sippi above the city, at a point where I shall concentrate the fire of 50
guns of heavy calibre. 1 have ordered the marine hospital to be fitted

up for army use, by the Quartermaster. On inquiry, I found that we
could not rent a hospital for less tlian $3,000 per annum, and it Avould
9pst half as much more to fit it up. Besides this, we have three or four
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buildings for ordnance stores. The sum of these rents laid out on the

hospital will enable it to answer all purposes^ and the improvements
will belong to the government. Nothing will be lost in rent.

We shall have in operation in a few days three powder mills, two of

Avhich are private property, and one belongs to the city. They will

turn out more than three tons per day. The pov/der is proved and re-

jected if much under range. We will want all the saltpetre that can be
liad; as we will be able to work up about three tons a day. Permit me
to call your attention to the necessity of a telegraph line between Meri-

dian and Mobile, also between Meridian and Montgomery. The line

hence to Mobile runs along the coast, and can be cut at any time by a

force from the enemy's fleet, to say nothing of the largely disaffected

population on the Southern coast of Mississippi. . I enclose you a letter

received from Mr. Donglas on this subject. It requires inmiediate

attention.

Gen. Pillow telegraphed me to send him five thousand men to Co-

lumbus. This I declined, as I have no more than are necessary for the

defence of New Orleans and its approaches. If the river had been ob-

structed above so as to prevent a fleet from passing down, I might have
felt justified in giving him some assistance; but I should have attaclied

more weight to the call, if it had come from Gen. Johnston.

1 regret that I cannot have some columbiads and mortars in addition

to my present armament.
Some of the detached companies transferred from the State service

under Gen. Twiggs orders, have become much reduced and disorga-

nized by bad management and poor officers, and I. should v/ish to have,

power to disband some and consolidate others, so as to make the force

more effective; also authority (under your sanction,) to discharge men
in certain cases of hardship,/amily afiliction or where they are required

for important work: as for instance, some cases of widows' only sons,

or where parents have died since entry into service or when they are

required in foundries or workshops where government work is being

done. I should exercise such authority very sparingly, and only in

cases where I feel satisfied you would approve.

Col. Preston, who was to join my staff, has gone to South Carolina.

Am I not entitled to two officers in thevldjatant and Inspector General's

Department, one Lieutenant-Colonel and one Major?
i have received the a[)pointmentsor Majors Pal pey and Lanier. Gen.

lluggles has been sick since his arrival here, which has devolved all

the inspection of troops upon me from Berwick to Mississippi city. I

was in hopes that the President would act on my request in relation to

Col. Duncan.
Matters, however, by dint of incessant attention are progressing

favorable, and I hope soon to be able to report myself as beyond the

chances of an attack.

Has your attention been called to the fact tliat the enemy can land

near East Pascagou la, and march 24 miles over a good road into Mo-
bile? 1 understand that there are no entrenched lines on the land side

around that city, but can hardly think it possible that it has not been

done. If so, it is an easy road from Ship Island to Mobile.

RcspectAiUy, your obedient servant,

M. LOVELl.; Major Gcuarul, C. ;S\ A,
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(No. 15.) New Orleans, Nov. 20, 1861.

Hon. J. P. Benjamin—
Do vou want any more sulphur .seized for the government.

M. LOVELL.

(No. 16.) Richmond, Nov. 25, 1861.

Geu. M. LovELL, Neto Orleans—

I think it best to avoid seizure whenever possible. If you can buy the

sulphur at a price not exceeding ,f200 per ton, I prefer that to

seizing it. Buy all the nitric and sulphuric acid you can find at any
reasonable price. If extortion is attempted, seize it and have it valued.

J. P. BENJAMIN,
Secretary of War,

(No. IT.) New Orleans, Nov. 27, 1861.

Hon. J. P. Benjamin:

I have sent the thirteenth (13tli Louisiana and third (3d) Mississippi

regiments— sixteen hundred men to Columbus.
M. LOVELL.

(No. 18.) Confederate States of America,
^

Headquarters Department No. 1, V

New Orleans, La., bth Dec, 1861. )

Hon. J. P. Benjamin, Secretary of War—
Sir: 1 avail myself of Col. Davis' trip to Richmond, to ser;id you a

map and description Avhich will give you some definite idea of the ex-
isting condition of affairs in this department.
Commencing at Calcasin Bay, we have one company with two 24-

pounders, which are now being put up, and will prevent foraging par-
ties from reaching the cattle-grazing prairies around the head of that lake.
At Grand Chanine there is a company of militia that I am furnishing
with one six pounder gun. In, St. Mary's parish there are two compa-
nies of infantry and one battery (at Frankhn.) I have also mustered
one company of cavalry

^^
for' local defence.''^ These troops are also

intended for moral effect in that densely slave populated section.
. Passing east to Atchapaloga Bay, 1 have placed there a regiment of
1,000 men, less two companies at Frankhn, having one company each
at Forts Berwick and Chene, at each of which forts are mounted one
32-pounder rifled gun and four 24-pounders. I have thus strengthened
this point, because the railroad which supplies us with Texas cattle,
here approaches very near to the coast, and is accessible with eight feet
of water. I have also ordered the main channel of the Atchapaloga to
be filled, by sinking live-oak trees, leaving open an intricate channel
eighty feet wide for the entrance of vessels running the blockade. Flats
loaded with live-oak will be kept in readiness to sink in this channel at
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a moment's warning. Rafts are also being prepared to obstruct the

bayous under the guns of Forts Berwick and Chene.

We can support this point in four hours by the Opelousas road by
troops from the city. There is no navigable bayou until we reach

Grand Caillon, on which I have a work with two 32-pounders and two
full companies. The other bayous are unnavigable except Lafourche,

on which I liave also located a work with two 32's and two companies

of men. These works extend from swamp to swamp on either side of

the bayous.

At Fort Livingston are four companies (about 300 men,) with one

rifled 32, one 8-inch columbiad, seven 24's and two flank howitzers

(24's) with four 112-pounders on the land side. Should this work be

passed, all the inlets converge at the Little Temple^where a work is

just finished, where I shall put two 32's and a hundred men.
On the Mississippi, Forts Jackson and St. Phillip are in good order,

and garrisoned by ten companies, nearly 1,000 men. They are armed
as follows :

Fort Jackson.—Six 42-pounders, twenty-six 24-pounders, two 32-

pounder rifles, sixteen 32-pounders, three S-inch columbiads, one 10-

inch columbiad, one ten and two S-inch mortars, with two 48 and ten

24-pounder howitzers.

Fort St. Phillip.—Six forty-two pounders, nine thirty-two pounders,

twenty-two twenty-four pounders, four eight inch columbiads, one eight

and one ten inch mortar, and three field guns. Between the forts the

river is completely obstructed by a raft of logs securely chained to both

banks and held by fifteen large anchors, weighing from two thousand

five hundred to four thousand pounds each, and laid in twenty-five

fathoms of water, with sixty fathoms of strong chain. This raft is a

complete obstruction, and has an enfilading fire from Fort Jackson and
a direct fire from St. Philhp.

On the lake Borgue side, we have, first, a work one mile back from

Pruelorsville with six guns, (two 32's and four 24's,) with one hundred
men. They can be reinforced from the city by the Mexican Gulf rail-

road. I have contracted for a telegraph line from here to the work, to

be paid for by the city.

At Tower Duprue there is one large company, with five twenty-four

pounders. The adjoining bayou has been obstructed by piles. At
Battery Bienveau I have one hundred men with ten 24-pounders.

Fort Macomb is garrisoned by three companies, (250 men,) and armed
with four 42's, one eight inch columbiad, twenty-one 24-pounders and

flour flank howitzers, (24's.) The live-oak grove which grew within

three hundred yards of the Ibrt, and offered a secure approach for the

enemy, I have had felled at a cost of $1,000, of which the State paid

half and the city half

Fort Pike has a garrison of three hundred and fifty men and the fol-

lowing armament : Four forty-two pounders, one nine inch and one

eight inch gun; two thirty-two pound rifled guns; twenty twenty-

four pounders, and five twenty-four pound flank howitzers. 1 have

'

had logs cut and chains and anchors bought to obstruct the channel,

both at forts Macomb and Pike. I have, also, contracted to shoal the

mouths of West and East Pearl river to four feet, by sinking obstruc-

tions.
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I keep a regiment and a field battery in advance at Bay St. Louis and
Pass Christian, and have made a depot of fifteen thousand rations at
Ganesville, in case they are driven back, suddenly, from the coast, by
a large force of the enemy.
The foregoing comprises the exterior line, with which I am in com-

munication, by telegraph, to Berwick's Bay, Fort Jackson, Fort Ma-
comb and Fort Pike. Instructors have been sent to the various forts

requiring it, and the garrisons are all quite proficient in the drill of the
sea-coast gun.
The interior line, as you will observe on the map, composes, with the

intervening swamps, a complete, continuous line around the city, inclu-

ding Algiers within its limits. It is almost entirely finished. Ten
thirty-two pounders are mounted on the line below the barracks at its

junction with the river, and ten forty-two pounders will soon be up on
the opposite side, giving a cross fire of twenty guns at thkt point. The
lines extend to the swamp on each side, and have flanking arrange-

ments for thirty-two pound carronades to sweep the whole point. Their
development is eight and a half feet, with a wide ditch which is filled

with water. On the Gentilley Ridge the same kind of work, with four

guns; on the Ponchartrain railroad, five gunsj the eanal, four guns;
the bayou St. John, four, and the Jefferson railroad, two guns; all with
flanking arrangements for infantry. The guns of these small works
will all be mounted within ten days.

Above the city the line extends from the swamp to the river, with
flanking arrangements for artillery, and terminates at the river with a
powerful battery of fourteen forty-two pounders. At this point Major
Lovell is building an obstruction under the fire of this battery, which I

think will prevent any vessel from passing down the river.

On the Algiers' side the line is just behind the Barataua canal, and
runs from the river to the swamp. It is all complete except the battery

on the river, where it is intended to mount ten thirty-two pounders.
The whole should be mounted in two weeks, when New Orleans will

be a citadel.

The exterior Ime is manned by about four thousand five hundred
men, and have about three thousand five hundred for the interior line,

besides about six thousand well armed volunteers in the city who are

uniformed and drilled. With fifteen thousand men 1 can defend the

city against any force that can be brought, unless we are attacked on all

sides at once- I have, also, had two sham parapets made in the city,

and some guns mounted as schools of pfactice for the volunteers. In
enumerating the troops, I do not reckon two regiments (one thousand
six hundred men) that I sent up to Columbus last week, to General
Polk's aid.

The two powder mills are in running order, one at the barracks and
one at the old marine hospital. Major Rains came down last week, and
after a full inspection, reports that they can easily turn out two tons of
powder per day, and I am making acontract with responsible parties here
for two hundred tons of saltpetre; sulphur and charcoal we have in abun-
dance. The new marine hospital is being fitted up at a small cost, one-
half for a hospital and the other for a laboratory and store rooms for mu-
nitions of war, implements, arms, etc. With a sufiiciency of powder, I

should consider myself in a position to hold New Orleans for an indefi-

nite length of time. The only point then for consideration would be
32
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provisions. lam endeavoring, silently, through other parties, to induce
holders to lay in not less than sixty thousand barrels of flour, of which
the city consumes about eight hundred per diem. This, with beef
cattle from Texas and from Mississippi, via Mardville, would enable us

to stand a siege of two or three months, if it should be necessary.

I have thus endeavored to give you a rough sketch of the progress

that has been made in the work assigned me by the administration.

There are a thousand minor matters which have taken up a good deal

of time and given much trouble, but the heaviest part of the work is

done. The amount of labor involved has been more than I anticipated,

as matters were in a much worse condition than I could have supposed
possible; but 1 have no hesitation in saying that I regard New Orleans

at present as strong enough to withstand any attack that is hkely to be
made.

Res'pectfully vour obedient servant,

M. LOVELL,
Major- General commanding Department No. 1

,

(No. 19.) Confederate States of America,^
War Dejoartnient, \

Richmond^ Dec. 7, 1861. )

Maj. Gen. M. Lovell,
Commanding Department, Headquarters, N. Orleans—

Sir: I respectfully enclose you, for your attention, a copy of a letter

recently received by the President from Samuel A. Cartwright, of New
Orleans. The subject is referred to you for consideration and for such
action as you may deem proper.

I am, respectfiilly sir, your obedient servant,

(Signed)
'

J. P. BENJAMIN,
Secretary of War.

(No. 20.) Confederate States of America,
^

Headquarters Department No. \, \

New Orleans, La., Dec. 10, 1861.

)

General S. Cooper,
AdjH and Insp. GenH C. S. Army—

Sir: When I assumed command in this department I found that a num-
ber of independent companies, originally mustered into the State service,
had been transferred to the Confederate service at the request of General
Twiggs.
Some of these companies had very poor officers, and in many cases the

ranks were filled, in part, with men totally unfit for military service

;

and the sifting out of these companies has, in some instances, reduced
them below the number required.

What I desire to know is, whether in companies, thus reduced, and
when the officers are manifestly incompetent, I cannot have the autho-
rity to break them up, or to transfer the good men, and let the officers

be turned over again to the State authorities.

-f-.:-.-.-^
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1 could thus add much to the efficiency of the service, while materi

ally diminishing the expense in getting rid of inefficient and supernu-

merary officers.

Respectfully, your obedient servant,

(Signed) M. LOYELL,
Major- General coinmanding Department.

(No. 21/) Confederate States op America, ~^

Headquarters Department No. 1, >
New Orleans. La., Dec. 10, 1861.

3

Gen. S, Cooper, Adjutant and Inspector General—
Sir: After great delay and many blunders, I have su-cceeded in

getting up a return of the troops in my department for the month of

October. It is not as accurate as it should be, but will give you an

approximate idea of the force here. I have sent the 13th Louisiana

and 3d Mississippi regiments to. Columbus, at the earnest instance of

the generals in command there, but have called upon Governor Moore
lor two regiments to replace them, which I have ordered to be mustered.

I do not know whether this exceeds my authority or not ; if it does,

])lease give me the necessary orders, as I want all the men I can arm.

The November returns shall not be delayed so long.

Respectfully, your obedient servant,

(Signed) M. LOVELL,
Maj. Gen' I Com'g DepH.

(No. 22.) Richmond, December 12, 1861.

Gen. M. Lovell, Nero Orleans—
The Governor of Kentucky has sent a commission asking our aid to

seize the property of the banks of Kentucky that may be found in New
Orleans. Congress is now deliberating on the proper measures. In

the meantime you are instructed to seize and hold, till the pleasure of

Congress is known, all the property, funds and assets belonging to the

different banks,of Kentucky that can be found in New Orleans, whether

deposited in any of our banks or in the hands of agents of the banks

of Kentucky.
J. P. BENJAJMIN,

Secretary of War.

}
(No. 23.) Confederate States of America,

War Department,
Richmond, December 12, 1^1.

Major General M. Lovell,

Com'g DepH, ^'c, Headquarters New Orleans—
Sir : 1 have read your endorsement of the 29th ult. on the letter of

Major Lovell, now on duty under your Command, asking that he may
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be appointed lieutenant colonel in the provisional army and ordered to

continue on duty with you. I have already informed Maj. Lovell that

such appointment is impossible. The law does not authorize appoint-

ments in the provisional army other than staff appointments, except to

command troops actually in service.

I am, respectfully,

Your obedient servant,

(Signed) J. P. BENJAMIN,
Secretary of War.

(No. 24.) Confederate States of Amkrica, ^
Headquarters Department No. 1 , S-

New Orleans, La., Ut/i Dec, 1.861 . )

Hon.i. P. Benjamin, Secretari/ of War—
Sir : I have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of yours of

the 7th instant, enclosing a letter from Dr. Cartwright to the President,

relative to the Mexican Gulf railroad.

I am not aware that the government, or the parties who claim to

have purchased the road, have any intention of using the iron for ship-

building purposes, nor cl,o I believe that any such purpose exists. Had
any plan of that railroad been laid beibre me, I should have weighed
the respective advantages to the government of using the iron on the

road or on the ships, and decided accordingly. I am well satisfied

that the whole scheme is to make a grand speculation for private pur-

poses, either by selling the iron in this market, or by forcing the road

upon the goverment at an exorbitant price.

1 have a work at Proctersville, across the railroad, mounting six

thirty-two pounders, and manned by one hundred men, distant from

the city twenty-seven miles, which covers the valuable plantations

along the left bank of the river. To reinforce this work rapidly 1

have constructed a switch froni the Pontc'hartrain to the Mexican Gulf
road, at a cost of one thousand six hundred dollars, and am putting

up telegraph lines between the city and Proctersville, which will ena-

ble me tu receive early notice, and by using the rolling stock of the

Pontchartrain road to send down four thousand men in four hours. It

is this arrangement that I do not wish to be interfered with by what 1

consider a "^rail speculation." The ojdy order I have giv^en in the

case is to say that the road shall not be torn up so as to prevent the

passage of troops. I have told them they may take up the present rail,

and put down the T rail, but they decline. Of one thing I am sure,

the government has no prospective benefit in what the company pro-

pose to do.

To avoid, liowever, the exercise of military authority, if possible, 1

sought ^^ther means of obtainmg the end in view, by ordinary process

of law. Learning that the State has mortgages upon the road, I con-

sulted witii the attorney general, who is now taking the necessary steps

to prevent, by an injunction, any damages being done to it, so as to

preserve it intact /or the better security of the claims that the State has

upon it. I consider it, therefore, hardly necessary to discuss the pro-



priety of military interference as long as the matter is, or forthwith will

be, with the civil authorities, but have merely mentioned the foregoing

facts to give you the correct data in the premises.

Respectfully, your obedient servant,

(Signed) M. LOYELL,
Major General Commanding.

No. 25.) C. S. A. War Department, \

Richmond, 18if/i jDec, 1861. j
Major General hi. Lovell,

Oomnianding Department^ etc., New Oi'leans—
k5ik : In compliance with request addressed to this department by \\\%

Hon. Secretary of the Navy, you are instructed to do all in your power,
consistently with the exigencies of the military service in your depart-

ment, towards supplying Flag OiRcer Hollins, C, S. N., with cannon
powder, upon his requisition therefor.

I am, respectfully, your obedient servant,

J. P. BENJAMIN,
Secretary of War.

(No. 26.) C. S. A. War Department, ~\

Richmond, 2'Sd Dec, 1861. ^
Major General M. Lovell, NeiD Orleans—
Sir : I have the honor to acknowledge receipt of your two letters of

the 10th and one of the 16th instant.

1st. I entirely approve your forwarding the thirteenth Louisiana and
third Mississippi regiments to the aid of our commanders in Kentucky.
While I do not feel at liberty, under present circumstances, to order

unconditionally any troops to be sent from your department, I shall be

most happy to learn that you can spare any for the aid of the generals

in Kentucky, who are sadly out-numbered ; of course it is useless to

call out any troops that you cannot arm, unless they are willing to en-

list for the war, in which event the government is willing to pay the

expense of holding them in camps of instructions until armed. We
want all the men that will enlist for the war ; and we want all armed
men that will enlist for twelve months. I only require that yon keep

your returns up to date, so that I may at all times be advised of the

entire resources at command of the government in your department.

2d. In relation to your question about the power to break up and re-

organize companies so as to get rid of incompetent officers, I have to

say, that under the aTMs of Congress company officers are always
elective, and this right of the men must be kept steadily in view and
always respected. Now you have done well to sift out the men unable
to do duty, and discharge them from the service. The companies thus

reduced below the standard number may be disbanded at your pleasure

if not filled up by other able men. We have no right to assign them
to commanders whom they have not elected, but we Iiave a rights with
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tlieir consent, to consolidate them into new companies, and have new
elections of officers. The best plan, it seems to me, is to get the men to

agree to form new companies and re-enlist. On getting their agree-

ment, muster the old companies out of service, and new companies
into service at the same time, and let the latter elect their new officers.

A¥ith your advice and influence they could readily be induced to elect

competent officers. But the whole matter must be managed- by con-

cert with the men, and not by exercise of authority, for we have none.

3d. On the subject of the iron of the Mexican Gulf railroad, I will

write jow again in a day or two. Mr. Gordon is here, and. it is possi-

ble an arrangement may be made advantageous to the govermnent and
satisfactory to the company.

4th. I have now to ask your attention to the subject of the coast de-

fence of Mississippi. The interception of your communication with that

portion of your department has caused us to take into serious consider-

ation the formation of a ne.\\T district, extending from the mouth of

Pearl river to East Pascagoula, and detaching it from your command,
as it must be almost impracticable for you to give it any personal attention,

[n the meantime, however, our concern lias been awakened by news
that there is considerable connnunication kept up between our coast

and the enemy, by small traders running with sloops and schooners

out of the different streams that empty into the Mississippi sound, and
supplying the enemy at Ship Island and the Chandeliers, with all the

intelligence they can gather, as well as the daily papers of New Or-

leans.

I enclose you for examination and reflection a paper on this subject

prepared by Hon. C. J. McRae, who is intimately acquainted with the

whole coast, and on which the President has written an endorsement,

that l.also recommend to your attention. We must, as far as possible,

protect our people against marauders, and the proclamation issued by
the Yankee General, as contained in the papers, is so open an invita-

tion to the slaves to revolt, that they ought, in my opinion, at once to

be removed out of the reach of the incendiary gang who are not simply

ovw enemies, bui the enemies of the hutnan race. If you think you
cannot communicate with the Southern coast of Missisippi with suffi-

cient facility to supervise efficiently defensive measures, you will be

good enough so to inform me at once, and we must Uy to find a com-
mander for it as a separate district. Please inform me how the powder
factory is getting on, and what quantity of powder you have. Maj.

Raines tells me that the mills thus far arc not making over l,o()0 pounds
a day. althougii capable of making twice that quantity.

I am, your obedient servajit,

J. P. BENJAlMIN,
Secretary of War.

•

(No. 27.

j

Confederate States of America,
^

Headquarters, Department No. 1 . >
Now Orleans, La., Dec. 24, ISGl. )

IJon. J. V. Hknjamin, Hecretary of War—
Sir: 1 have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of your letter ol

ISth instant, relative to furnishing Com. Hollins with cannon powder.
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I have made it a point, without instructions, to aid him to the extent
of my ability, and he has already been furnished by us with nearly
four tons of powder.

I have collected materials at great trouble and expense, and urged to

completion a large mill for making powder, for the purpose of supply-
ing my own wants, and they are yet far from being in a satisfactory

condition. 1 have already tnrned over to the navy more powder than,
injustice to the army, I should have done, and it will require more
than I have on hand to give a half allowance to the guns I have
mounted. If I can be supplied with saltpetre in large quantities I can
easily furnish Capt. Hollins and myself, or if he will procure the salt-

petre I will have it worked up. As matters now stand, he cannot rely

upon me for a pound; I must supply myself first, and I feel satisfied

that you will endorse my action, when you are made acquainted with
all the circumstances.

I beg leave to ask your attention to my recommendation in reference

to Col. Duncan. There are nearly 5,000 men in the works on the ex-

terior line, without any competent brigade commander, who should be
a thorough artillerist and understand well the nature of the coast. It

is utterly impossible for me to visit these works while keeping up the

affairs of the department in this city.

Respectfully, your obedient servant,

M. LOVELL,
Major General Commanding.

(No. 28.) Confederate States of America, _ ~)

Headquarters, De'partment No.\. >
New Orleans, La., Dec. 25, 1861. )

Hon. J. P. Ben^jamin, Secretary of War^-

Sir: I have received your letter, stating that Maj. Loveil could not

be put on duty here with rank of field officer, except to coinmand
troops. I was led into mistake in the matter by having in mind the

case of Col. Duncan.
I cannot spare Maj. Lovell whose services in obstructing the chan-

nels have proved invaluable, and the objection as to command can be
easily obviated.

There are, in this department on duty, twenty-one separate compa-
nies of volunteers, who cause as much office detail at department head-
quarters as 21 regiments would do. With your permission I Avill orga-

nize these troops into regiments and battalions and assign field officers

to them.
I can thus place Maj. Lovell on duty here with troops as a field offi-

cer and his position with Gen. Bragg's army can be filled by another
officer. Shall I thus assign him ?

I have mustered in regiments in place of the troops that I sent to

Gen. Johnston, and have called upon Gov. Moore for an additional

regiment to man the guns on the interior line. If, in this, I have been
in error, please let me know. In conversation with the President be-

fore leaving Ricliraond, I understood him to say that I could call for such
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troops as the case might require, taking care not to create more expense

for maintaining men than was absokitely necessary.

As the enemy is congregating at Ship Island I shall organize the

forces here as rapidly as possible

.

The Governor, at my request, has ordered all the independent volun-

teer companies to form into regiments and elect their field officers,

which will give about 6,000 pretty well armed men in the city subject

to call.

Do they bring their general officers, when called into service? A
militia law has also been draughted and presented, which I think will

make about one-third of the militia available at short notice.

Respectfully, your obedient servant,

M. LOVELL,
Major General Commanding.

(No. 29.) New Orleans, Dec, 27, 1861

.

Hon. J. P. Benjamin, Secretary of War—
I have made into good powder all the saltpetre sent, can you spare

any more ?

M. LOVELL.

(No. 30.) Confederate States of America, ^
Headquarters Department No. 1 . >-

New Orleans, La., Dec. 29, 186L >

Hon. J. P. Benjamin, Secretary of War—
Sir: At 12 o'clock last night Hobart <fc Foster's powder mill, in the

old marine hospital exploded. One cargo of powder (4,000 pounds)
was in the drying room, and another of the same amount was in the

cylinders, all of which was lost. I had taken out 4,000 pounds the

same day. The mill was turning out this amount daily. The mill

that I brought over from Handsboro will be put up in 20 days, and this,

together with the city mill will enable us to turn out 2,500 or 3,000 pounds
daily. Hobart & Foster will proceed immediately to rebuild their mill,

and I shall drive it through with all the means at my control, and hope
to have it in operation again in six weeks.
The total amount of saltpetre invoiced to this point since the middle

of last September is 82,506 pounds gross, of which only 62,000 ever

came to hand. The weight of the casks and sacks is to be deducted,
besides which some of it was very impure. Hobart & Foster had three

days supply on hand at the time of the explosion (10,000 pounds,)
which was not injured.

The enemy has now at Ship Island 22 vessels large and small, and
is landing troops in large numbers. They have been sounding and
staking out the channels leading towards the Rigolets and Chef Men-
tone pass, but I think this is only a blind, to draw our attention from
Mobile, which 1 think is their object of attack. They cannot take New
Orleans by a land attack with any force they can bring to bear.
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I should much like to jiave for an inspector general an ofllcer ot
knowledge and experience. I am almost entirely deficient in the way
of officers. Gen, fluggles and Col. Duncan are the only two serving
with troops who can render me aid. No other department is so defi-
cient, and certainly none is more important.

Respectfully, your obedient servant,

(Signed) M. LOVELL,
Major General Commanding.

(No. 31.) Richmond, Jan. I, 1862.

Gen. M. Lovell, New Orleans—
Can give you no more saltpetre, but expect large supply very soon.

Send me return of you entire stock of ammunition.
•

J. P. BENJAMIN,
Secretary of War.

(No. 33.) C. S. A. War Department, \
Richmond, .Ian. 5, 1862. y"

Major General Lovell, ISeiD Orleans—
Sir: Your letters of the 24th and 25th ultimo, have been receive^.

I. My request in relation to the powder asked for by Com. Hollins
was of course subordinate to your discretion, but I am anxious to ac-

commodate the navy on all proper occasions^ and-to keep up cordial

relations in all branches of the service.

II. I will call the President's attention again to your recommendation
in favor of Col. Duncan.

III. Your suggestion as to organization of independent companies
into regiments and battalions is entirely approved. I had no idea that

the condition of your forces was such as you represent. We never

permit an accumulation of independent companies. We consult their

wishes, however, in throwing them together, and you are requested

with this view to organize two regiments out of these 21 companies,
and to send to this department a return of the organization with muster
rolls, and a recommendation for appointment of field oflicers. In this

way provision can be made for Maj. Lovell within your department.

IV. Your muster in of other regiments in place of those sent to Ken-
tucky is approved. Indeed, until further orders, you are authorized to

receive and muster into Confederate service, all companies, battalions

or regiments that tender themselves for the war or three years. But
bear in mind that we will accept no men for a less term, unless they
arm themselves at their own expense. In this event you may accept

them for not less than twelve months.
v. The militia, when out as such, bring their generals with them.
VI. I hope soon to hear of your having been able to do something

to check the enemy and encourage our people on the sea coast of Mis-
sissippi, though, of course, I cannot and do not expect you to weaken
your command in New Orleans for the purpose of punishing marauders
on the coast. If you could get up a sraaUlocal organizatioti, however,

33
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with a flying battery, equipped with good^ reliable horses, for rapid

movement, so as to prevent the landing of small parties of plunderers,

it would have a happy eifect, and give pleasure and confidence to our

people in Southern Mississippi.

Your obedient servant,
' J. P. BENJAMIN,

Secretary of War.

p. s.—You may, perhaps, not have heard that your appointment has

been confirmed by Congrees. Your commission will be sent as soon as

we can get time to issue any commissions.

}
(No. 34.) Confederate Statj^s of America,

Headquarters Departinent No. 1

New Orleans, Jem. 7, 1862

Hon. J. P. Benjamin, Secretary of War—

Sir : After reading the letter of Mr. McRae, relative to the use of
launches on the coast of Mississippi Sound, I suggested to Commodore
Hollins to make some arrangements with that purpose in view. No-
thing has been done, nor is it likely that anything will be done by the

navy department there, unless under orders from Richmond. You will

recollect our conversation the evening before I left Richmond, in which
you took a diiferent view from myself. I felt satisfied that if the pro-

tection of the navigable streams running up into the country, was re-

moved from my control, it would, in all probability, not be properly

arranged in connection with the land defences, while the general com-
manding the department would be considered by the people at large,

as responsible for inroads into the territory of his command. This is

just what has happened.
I should have had light draught armed vessels or launches at numer-

ous points along the coast, had I not kept in view your expressed wish
that all clashing (even in appearance) should be avoided between the

two arms of service. I have now on Lake Borgue a larger armed
force than the navy has, but it is kept up under the name of supplying
our posts on the sound, it being necessary that the vessels should be

armed for their own protection. I hope that, in connection with Mr.
Mallory, you may be able to devise some plan by which either the entire

matter may be placed under my control, or the naval officer in com-
mand may have orders to afford such aid as I may officially require of

him. The blame of want of protection will rest upon me in any event,

and I should, therefore, have some power to say what should be done.

Respectfully, your obedient servant,

(Signed) M. LOVELL,
Major General Commanding.
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(No. 35.) Richmond, January 6, 1862.

Major General Lovell, ISeio Orleans—

•

1 have taken all. the powder by Vanderbilt. Arrange with owners
for bringing it all to New Orleans, except five tons of cannon powder,
and one ton of rifle powder ordered to Galveston.

J. P. BENJAMIN,
Secretary of War.

\

(No. 36.) Confederate States op America,
War Department,

Richmond, January 6, 1862.

Major General M. Lovell, Neio Orleans—
Sir : Your letters of 24th and 29th instants, are received. I have

to announce to you that the President has authorized the appointment
of Colonel Duncan as Brigadier General, and his nomination will be
sent to Congress to-morrow.
The President desires that you assign General Trimble to the com-

mand of the district stretching from the Rigolet to Pascagoula/ and
confide to him the defence of that part of your department, furnishing

him one or two light batteries, Avell equipped for active movement, and
such number of troops as may be sufficient for checking marauding
parties that may attempt plunder.

It is not, of course, expected that he can resist an army, but you can
furnish him with sufficient force to encourage and inspirit the people on
the sea shore, cut off communication of evil disposed persons with the

enemy and check boating parties attempting to carry on predatory war-

fare.

I am sorry to hear of the destruction of the powder mill with its

contents, as we have not a pound to spare. You will please be good
enough to send me, at once, a statement by which I can discover which
of the saltpetre shipments have failed to reach you, as you seem to be^

short at least twenty thousand pounds by your letter of 29th. I will

see if I can send you a good inspecting officer. I think Major Pickett

is disposable, and the only one we have, at present, not in active and
important service.

I have taken all the powder, said to be forty-five tons, just arrived by
the Vanderbilt, and telegraphed you to that effect. ' Please have it in-

spected, so as to be sure that we are not paying such an enormous price

as two dollars per pound for damaged powder, and aid the owners in

having.it all brought for distribution to New Orleans, except five tons

of cannon, and one of rifle powder, which I desire sent to Galveston.

Your obedient servant,

J. P. BENJAMIN,
Secretary of War.
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(No. 3T.) Confederate States op America^ "^

Headquarters Department No. 1 , >
New Orleans, La., January 8, 1862. j)

Hon. J. P. Benjamin, Secretary of War—
Sir : Some six weeks since, at the urgent call of an officer in Ken-

tucky, and believing that I would be safe from attack until January,
I sent two regiments to Columbus, with the distinct understanding on
my part, and so expressed, both to Generals Johnston and Polk,, that

when the enemy appeared here they should be returned. General Polk
now, in answer to my call, telegraphs me that he has asked you to send
me other troops, and you have consented. 1 hope that this is not so.

The troops I sent him are natives of this part of the country, and can-

not be replaced by others. The third Mississippi regiment is composed
largely of the fishermen, oystermen and sailors of Bay St. Louis,

Biloxi, Ocean Springs, etc., and are well acquainted with all the inlets,

bayous and soundings of that intricate and difficult coast, and can be of

more service there than any other body of men. I have, therefore,

written to General Polk to insist that the third Mississippi^ regiment, at

alleve7its,s\\d\\ be sent down. Ttiey can as well be replaced there as

here by fresh troops; but none can supply their place to me on the Mis-

sissippi coast. Tile regiment was raised particularly for that service,

about half of them being amphibious, and I shall want to put a number
of them in boats. The countrj^ troops v/ill not answer my purpose.

I beg, therefore, that even if you permit General Polk to retain the

thirteenth Louisiana, you will telegraph him to send me the third Missis-

sippi regiment immediately.

He does me great injustice by leaving me till this late hour under the

impression that when I wanted these two reghuents they should be re-

turned, and I have so written him.
Respectfully, your obedient servant,

(Signed) M. LOVELL,
Major General ComviandiiiQ-.

(No. 39.) New Orleans, January 13, 1862.

Hon. J. P. Benjamin—
A party will contract to deliver here seventy-five tons powder, if we

advance the money, undei- bonds, satisfactory to me, at eighty-four

(84) cents per pound, specie, or one dollar and fourteen cents in Confed-
erate notes ; if approved, notify and enable me to raise the money.

M. LOVELL.

(No. 40.) RrciiMOND, January 14, 1862.

Gen. M. liOVKLi., Ncio (fri.mns—
,

You will impress, immediateiy, for public service, the fourteen ships

hereafter named : The MexicO; the Texas, the Orizaba; the Charles
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Morgan, the Florida, the Arizona, the Jewess, the Atlantic, the Hous-
ton, the Magnolia, the Matagorda, the W. H. Webb, the Anglo Saxon
and the Anglo Norman. You will please have them valued by disin-

terested parties, of the highest character.

The recent sale of the Tennessee will afford a good opportunity for

testing their true value.

(Signed) J. P. BENJAMIN,
Seci'etary of Wa?\

Operator :

I want an answer from your operator in New Orleans, when he deliv-

ers this.

(Signed) J. P. B.

(No. 41.) Executive Office, Jackson, Jan. 14, 1862.

Hon. J. P. Benjamin, Secretary of War—
Sir : Enclosed I send you a letter from Major General M. Lovell on

the subject of the return of the third regiment Mississippi volunteers,

and respectfully join in his request, that you order their return, for rea-

sons given in former letters.

Respectfully,

(Signed) JOHN J. PETTUS.

The enclosure referred to is General Lovell 's letter of January 8,
1862.

(No 42.) New Orleans, January 15, 1862.

Hon. J. P. Benjamin:

Fourteen vessels taken. The Atlantic is small and poor. Shall I

take the Galveston in her place ?

M. LOVELL.

(No. 43.) Richmond, Jan. 15, 1862.

Gen. M. Lovell, Neio Orleans

:

Will take the powder if delivered at an early day. Will let you know
tomorrow whether we will send you specie or notes.

(Signed) J. p. BENJAMIN,
Secretary of War.

(No. 44.) Richmond, Jan. 16, 1862.

Gen. Mansfield Lovell, New Orleans:

One hundred and ninety-five thousand dollars (.$195,000,) will be
placed to your credit to-morrow in Treasury notes, for completing the
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contract for the seventy-five tons of powder. Make the contract for

delivery as soon as possible, and let it be all cannon powder.
(Signed) J. P. BENJAMIN,

Secretary of War.

(No. 45.) 0. S. A. War Department,
)

Richmond, Jan. 19, 1862. (

Maj. Gen. M. Lovell, Neio Orleans—
Sir: A few days ago I sent you a telegram, requesting the seizure,

for account of the Government, of fourteen steamships, and received

your reply informing me that the request had been complied with.

These instructions were sent you in consequence of the passage by
Congress of two laws Nos. 344 and 350, herewith forwarded, providing

one million of dollars for application to floating defences for the Western

rivers, to be expended at the discretion of the President, by the Secre-

tary of War, or Secretary of the Navy, as he shall direct, and author-

izing a corps of not more than 6,000 men to be raised for temporary

and special service on the Western waters

.

The terms of the acts will at once suggest to you that the force in-

tended IS a peculiar one. It is not to be part of the navy, for it is in-

tended for service on the rivers, and will be composed of the steamboat

men of the Western waters.

It will be subject to the general command of the military chief of the

department where it may be ordered to operate, but the boats will be

commanded by steamboat captains, manned by steamboat crews, who
will be armed with such weapons as the captains may choosej and the

boats will be fitted out as the respective captains may desire. The iii-

tention and design are to strengthen the vessels with iron casing at the

bows, and to use them at high speed to run down or run over and sink,

if possible, the gun boats and mortar rafts, prepared by the enemy for

attack at our river defences. These gui\ boats and mortar rafts have

been so far protected by iron plates and by their peculiar construction as

to offer, in the jndgment of the President and of Congress, but small

chance of our being able to arrest their descent of the river by shot or

shell, while, at the same time, their weight, their nnweildy construc-

tion and their slow movement, together with the fact that they show
very litde surface above the water line, render them peculiarly liable to

the mode of attack devised by the enterprising captains who have un-

dertaken to effect their destruction by running them down, if provided

with swift and heavy steamers, so strengthened and protected at the

bows as to allow them to rush on the descending boats, without being

sunk by the first fire.

Captains Montgomery and Townsend have been selected by the Pres-

ident as two of those who are to connnand these boats. Twelve other

captains will be found by them and reconnncnded to the President for

appointment. Each captain will ship his own crew fit up his own boat

and get ready within the shortest possible delay. It is not proposed to

rely on cannon, which these men are not skilled in using, nor on fire-

arms. The men will be armed with cutlasses. On each boat, how-

ever, there will be one heavy gun to be used in case the stern of any

of the gun boats should be exposed to fire, for they aie entirely unpro-
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tected behind, and if attempting to escape by flight, would be very vul-

nerable by shot from a pursuing vessel.

I give you these details as furnishing a mere outline of the general
plan, to be worked out by the brave and energetic men who have un-
dertaken it. Prompt and vigorous preparation is indispensable. The
department relies confidently on your co-operation in rendering effective

this plan, which may perhaps not only be of vast importance for the
peculiar service now hoped for on the upper Mississippi, but may prove
very formidable aids to your future operations in the lower part of the
valley.

I shall at once place to your credit three hundred thousand dollars, to

be expended for the purpose of preparing and out-fitting these vessels

as rapidly as possible, and shall renew the remittances as far as required
while the appropriation will permit. It is expected that you will allow
a very wide latitude to the captains in the preparation of these vessels,

^merely exercising such general supervision as to prevent the throwing
away of money in purely chimerical experiments, and in checking any
profligate expenditure.

Your chief quartermaster can keep the accounts so as to relieve you
of the' responsibility of a disbursing officer, and you can discharge
yourself any money liability by simply taking his receipt as your voucher
for turning over this money.
To a commander of your intelligence and capacity it is deemed suffi-

cient thus generally to sketch the outline of a scheme of defence, with-
out attempting to lay down any minute rules or details for carrying out
what is necessarily a novel experiment; yet, one from which much is

hoped by the Government.
This letter will be delivered to you by Captain Townsend in person,

he being one of the two already elected by the President for the com-
mand of boats.

I am, your obedient servant,

J. P. BENJAMIN,
Secretary of War.

4
(No. 46.) Cqnfederate States op America,

Headquarters Department, No. I,

New Orleans, La., Jan. 13, 1S62

Hon. J. P. Benjamin, Secretary of War, Richmond—
Sir: I have the honor to state in reply to your telegram, that the

amount of powder in this department, in round numbers of pounds, is
as follows:

At Forts Jackson and St. PhiUip 55 qoo pounds
"

^^^--i •
.*.*.'.'.*.'

11,600 '^
" Macomb .., 6 900 u
" Proctorville j^q

Bie^venu '/.*'.'.*...*.';.';
2,200

Tower Dupres ... 5qq
Fort Livingston .....*;;*.';:.'.*.*:.'.*

4,500
Grand Caillon. X 350
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Fort Berwick 1 ,100 «
" Chene 1,100 "
'^ Guyon or Bayou Lafourche • 1,000 '^

Culcasien Pass 850 "
In magazine in and around New Orleans 30,000 "

Total 116,750 pounds.

The quarterly returns are coming in slowly, and when received will

enable me to report exactly the quantity ofpowder on hand; but I have
caused the above estimate to be made out carefully, and am convinced
that it will not vary materially from the aggregate of the official returns.

Considering New Orleans to be in condition to resist an attack, I am
turning my attention particularly to the coast of Mississippi. I had re-

ceived no notice of the assignment of General Trimble to my command.
If the third Mississippi regiment which was raised mainly on that coast
be returned to me from Columbus, I can easily provide him with a force

sufficient to prevent communication with the enemy and repel predatory

parties. The water communication between here and the eastern por-

tion of this department being somewhat precarious, I have organized
trains for supplying the troops, to be located in that section by land. I

have ordered an accurate reconnoissance and topographical map to be
made of the country between the Jackson railroad and Mississippi city,

which will enable me to select the most defensible positions for General

Trimble's command, to hold the enemy in check should he attempt to

push up to the Jackson railroad. Meanwhile, I have in hand a well

organized moveable columri, (Gen. Ruggles' brigade,) of about 5,000

men, including artillery, which I can throw over Lake Pontchartrain at

a few hours' notice, to operate against his column should he be foolish

enough to attempt such a flank movement.
If, however, he should attempt to land at Pascagoula, and strike for

Mobile, I could move Trimble's brigade, reinforced by Ruggles', against

his base of operations at Pascagoula, and thus perhaps compel an aban-

donment of the attack. These movements will, of course, depend
upon my ability to transport troops and supplies through that section of

country by land.

I shall probably have on that coast two batteries of four guns each,

and two mounted companies—all from this city; and if the naval de-

partment will give me half a dozen launches to place in Biloxi Bay, Bay
St. Louis, and Pearl river, I think we can obtain all necessary results on
that coast. We cannot, of course, prevent an army from landing under
cover of their gun boats.

Respectfully, your obedient servant,

(Signed) M. LOVELL,
Major General Commanding.

(No. 47.) Confederate States of America, "l

Headquarters Department No. 1 . >
New Orleans, 15th Jan., 1861. }

Hon. J. P. Benjamin, Secretary of War—
Sir: I have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of your two letters

of 5th and 6th instants.
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I sent you on the 5th December^ by Col. J, Davis^ aid to the Presi-
dent^ a map with a desriptive letter giving a summary of the defences
of the department, as arranged at that date. I hope it reached you
safely, as it has important information. In my letter of the 13th inst.,

the powder in this department was placed in round numbers at 115,000
pounds. A considerable quantity of this is not cannon powder, and
by reference to the letter of the 5th ultimo, you will see that there are
more than 300 heavy guns in this department, scattered from Calcasien
to Pearl river. I mention this in reference to the distribution of the
powder by the Vanderbilt.

There is not a single ten-inch gun in this department. I can have
some cast here in a few days, provided machinery can be had to bore
them. The Belleville foundry has two lathes large enough to bore 12
inches, but the foundrj^ is shut up, and the parties will neither sell, hire

nor lend the lathes, hoping to compel the government to purchase the
works. In case I foil to negotiate for them, shall I take them, appraise
and pay for them?
Through Mr. Dunn and other sources, I have collected (by purchase

mainly) about 900 small arms, half of which are double barrelled shot
•guns. After perfecting as far as possible the arming of the '^war"
men, 1 should propose to exchange the shot guns for some miserable
muskets and carbines in the hands of twelvemonths troops. It would
look badly to go ihto action with poor guns while better ones were in

our possession, merely because the men were not enlisted for the war.
Besides, the '^' war " men generally are an inferior class of shots, while
the twelve months men are nearly all well skilled in the use of arms,
and should be entrusted v^^ith the best weapons. The rifles that I have
collected have been cut off to equal lengths and bored out to the calibre

of the old United States rifle, (fifty-fourth of an inch.)

It was reported yesterday that Lieut. Foster of the United States

navy had been in the city as a spy some days since. Should I arrest a

Federal officer under such circumstances, is he to be punished with
death? I ask, having in view Tyler's case, of our army, who was ar-

rested in Cincinnati last summer, but has never been tried as a spy.

When our large powder mill blew up we got to work upon the ma-
chinery of the mill that I ordered to be removed from Handsboro, and
yesterday a charge was put in. This mill turned out on its old site

about 12 or 1500 pounds per day. The city mill has had a 20 horse

power engine placed in \t, which will increase its capacity considerably.

I sent Mr. Thomas B . Lee, of this city, agent to Texas, to bring over

the Vanderbilt powder, as soon as I got your dispatch.

Feeling satisfied some time since that letters were being sent to the

United States, conveying intelligence, by the private expresses carrying

mails, w'a Havana and Mexico, I ordered all such letters to be exam-
ined, and appointed Messrs. Greenwood andBenochi, two gentlemen of

high standing here, as an examining committee.
In addition to the defences stated in my letter of 5th ultimo, we are

now erecting eight small batteries at Manshac, and on the lake shore,

where the Jackson railroad skirts the water, so as to prevent the inter-

ruption of that line of communication by the enemy. These batteries

are for two guns each—16 in all*.

Maj. Rains took on a proposition from me about the steamer Ten-
34 •
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nessee. He telegraphed that you approved the plan, but I have had
no official authority to guarantee half the value of the ship, or to raise

funds for the purchase of our half of the return cargo.

I am engaged in organizing the independent companies into two regi-

ments, and will send on the names of the officers in a few days. It is

difficult to find good officers Avho will take the positions for the short

time (six months) that these troops will have to serve.

Respectfully, your obedient servant,

(Signed) M. LOVELL,
^

Major General Commandmg.

(No. 48.) Confederate States of America, "^

Headquarters, Department No, 1, >
New Orleans, La., Jan. 16, 1862.3

Hon. J. P. Benjamin, Secretary of War, Richmond—
Sir: On the 21st December, 1861, I caused the 20th regiment Lou-

isiana volunteers. Col. Reichard, commanding, to be mustered in for

local defence within the limits of the State of Louisiana, and immedi-
ately afterwards called it into service and assigned it to the brigade of

Brigadier General Ruggles. This regiment is composed entirely Qf

companies which were for some months in the service of the State of

Louisiana. Something over one-half of the men are for the war, the

rest for the unexpired term of their State enlistment, averaging 1st

September.
Although I gave no grounds for the conviction, those of the regiment

who took service for the war, appear to have done so under the convic-

tion that they would thereby become entitled to the $50 bounty, which
is offered by act of Congress to such as enlist for the war. The ques-

tion has arisen whether they are really entitled to this bounty money
who have enlisted for service only within the limits of Louisiana, or at

the utmost within this military department No. 1, and I have the honor
to request your decision upon the question.

Respectfully, your obedient servant,

(Signed) M. LOVELL,
Major- General Commanding.

(No. 49.) Confederate States of America,
^

Headquarters Department No. 1, v

New Orleans, La., Jan. 16, 1862.
^

Hon. J. P. Benjamin, Secretary of War—
Sift: In compliance Avlth your telegram, I took possession yesterday

of the following steamers, viz: Mexico, Texas, Orizaba, Charles Mor-
gan, Florida, Arizona, William Heines, Atlantic, Austin, Magnolia,
Maiagordu, William H. Webb, A?iglo' Saxo7i, and Anglo Norman, 14
in all. Capt. Huger, of the navy, who accompanied the party that

took possession of the ships, thinks the Atlantic will hardly answer as
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a war vessel, and I telegraphed yesterday to know whether I should
substitute the Galveston for her. After the ships were seized, 1 asked
Com. Hollins to take charge of them until further orders. In this con,
nection permit me to call attention to Capt. Higgins who lately resigned
with a view of fitting out some of those vessels for war purposes, under
State authority. This seizure puts an end to his business. He is an
officer of the old navy, of experience, skill and high reputation as a
bold and efficient officer. His services would be of great value in as-
sisting to fit out a fleet here, and in fighting it afterwards.

I see various reports about the occupation of Biloxi by the enemy.
This is a mistake; some 60 men landed there last week, remained for a
few hours, doing no damage, and returned to the fleet. They have no
footing on the main shore as yet.

We have here about 500 prisoners of war, who are a serious nui-
sance. Is there a prospect of exchanging them?

Respectfully, sir, your obedient servant,

(Signed) M. LOVELL,
Major General Commanding.

(No. 50.) [Telegram.]

New Orleans, Jan. 21, 1862.

To Gen. S. Cooper, Rickmond—
is Gen. Trimble ordered here; if so, when will he come?

(Signed) M. LOVELL.

[Answer.]

No order transferring Gen. Trimble.
(Signed) S. COOPER,

Adjutant and Inspector General.

(No. 5L) Confederate States of America,
War Department

Richmond, Jan. 24, 186262. 3

(rew.M. LovELL, Commanding ISeiD Orleans—
Sir: Your letter of the 16th instant is received. In reply you are

informed that no troops who are enlisted for special or local service

only, are entitled to the privileges of the late act of Congress, in regard
to bounty, etc., unless they re-enlist, unconditionally, for three years or

the war.

Respectfully,

J. P. BENJAMIN,
Secretary of War.

P. S. By '^ unconditionally" I mean for any service to which they
may be ordered.
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(No. 52.) C. S. A. War Department, ")

Richmond, Jan. 21, 1862. |

Sir: The overwhehiiing pressure of business in this department
causes some'unavoidable delay in correspondence.

I now acknowledge receipt of your letters of 13th, IStli, 16th and
17th instants.

I. Your letter of the 13th disclosed to me the fact, that, by some un-

accountable hallucination, I used the name of Gen. Trimble instead pf

that of Gen. Ruggles in my letter of 6th instant.

My intention was to say that the President desired you to place Gen.
Ruggles in command of the Mississippi coast, and I congratulate my-
self that this strange error of mine has not produced any disastrous

result.

k I have read in the same letter, with great interest, your plans for the

defence of your department, and am rejoiced to find that your vigi-

lance leaves no exposed point without protection.

Your powder returns show less supply than I had hoped, but still

sufficient, I think, to relieve us of apprehension till some of the sup-

phes daily expected ^hall reach us from some quarter.

II. You are authorized to use your own discretion in relaiion to the

planing machine and lathe in the Belleville Iron Works. If the owners
are unwilling to part with them by sale or. hire, they mast be impressed,

if necessary, for the public service, and on impressment you should
give the owners the choice whether the impressment shall be by hire or

purchase. If the owners wish, however, to use these machines them-
selves, I do not think the impressment would be justifiable.

III. The map and letter by Col. Davis, were dulj^ received, and 1

thought I had acknowledged the receipt some time since.'

IV. In relation to the distribution of arms "between "war men" and
^'twelve months' men," although as a general rule we desire the best

arms given to the former, we do not intend to preclude you from the

exercise of a sound discretion in any exceptional cases such as you
suggest.

V. If you arrest a Federal officer as a spy, he is to be put to death
without the slightest hesitation, in accordance with the articles of war.

Tyler's case, to which you refer, was not that of a spy ; he did not go
to a city threatened with attack, nor for any hostile purpose ; he went
simply to see and bring away his wife, and it Avould have been a bar-

barous outrage to have considered or treated him as a spy.

VI. I have instructed Gen. Josepli E. .Johnston to open negotiations

with McClellan, by flag of truce, for general exchange of prisoners.

As soon as I know the result, 1 will try to relieve you of your pris-

oners.

VII. I have organized the (wo regiments, and made the nominations
as proposed in your letter of I7th inst.

Vlli. A certain Captain W. F. McLean, who commanded a com-
pany called the Ben McUulloch rangers in the Wise Legion, was sub-

jected to grave charges by Gen. Wise, but managed by some means to

get a sick leave of sixty days, from 2d instant, without the knowledge
of his general. You are instructed to order hiin to come back instantly,
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and submit to his trial. You may allow hiin to resign if he prefers to

do so. He is now in New Orleans.

I am, your obedient servant,

J. P. BENJAMIN,
Secretary of Wm\

Maj. Gen, M. Lovell, New Orleans, La.

(No. 53.) New Orleans, 2Qth January, 1862.

Hon. J. P. Benjamin, Secretary of War—
Sir : I have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of your " unoffi-

cial" of the 12th instant, and this evening, by Captain Montgomery,
your note of the 13th. I fear I have gone almost too far with the

Tennessee matter to withdraw. On 1 7th December Major Rains wrote
me that the plan proposed was acceptable to the President and yourself,

and I authorized the parties to go to work at once, notifying you by
telegraph, also, by letter. The Tennessee was bought for one hundred
thousand dollars, of which we are to guarantee one-half in case of cap-

ture. Saltpetre in Europe is ten cents per pound—here forty cents,

and in case she brought us only one hundred tons, we should save not

less than sixty thousand dollars. But by the terms of the proposed
agreement we are to have half of her storage on the return voyage,
which, in case of. success^ will nett us a large amount. If it is impos-
sible to obtain the necessaiy credit abroad, I may be able to make ar-

rangements with parties here to make the purchases, we to pay them at

such a rate, as in case of success, to reimburse the fifty thousand dol-

lars, which we risk by way of guarantee. I enclose you a copy of a
letter received from Major Rains to-night, which confirms me in my
favorable view of the proposed plan. Please telegraph me on receipt

of this, and say whether I shall make the best terms I can, taking it

for granted that it will be impossible to obtain the necessary credits

abroad.

The party Avho offered to bring in seventy-five tons of powder, if we
advance the money, under bonds, offers E. Ganthein <fc Co., of New
Orleans, as bondsmen. I objected to the security, but he says their

status is well known to you and to the President, and wished me to

advise with ^i^ou.

Mr. Lee, whom I sent to Texas for the Yanderbilt powder, reports

that Gen. Hebert had taken half of it without examination. Acting
under orders from me, he examined one hundred and thirty-five boxes
of the remainder, rejecting thirty boxes, as being ''some wet, some
damp, and others lumpy." When he gets through with half, he will,

go to General Hebert to carry out your instructions with reference to

the balance of the cargo. Thepart that passed inspection was shipped
to me on the 13th instant, from Beaumont, Texas, via New Iberia.

I was in Mississippi sound yesterday, made a close reconnoissance
of the enemy's fleet, and found twenty-four vessels at the island. Two
of their steamers got under way and drove us back to Pass Christian,

Poloxi is not, and never has been, occupied by the enemy. They
capie ashore with sixty men, staid for a few hours and left. The re-
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ports about outrages and communications with the enemy are grossly-

exaggerated. With the third Mississippi regiment and a few launches

I can do all that we propose, i. e., prevent marauding parties from landing,

negroes from escaping, or any communication with the enemy. Governor
Pettus, under authority from Richmond, is mustering in, 'and sending
here, some companies rather poorly armed and equipped. I shall have
to complete them Trom|the government stores in such manner as to make
them effective. 1 have sent one of my staff to Jackson to endeavor to

make such arrangements with the Governor as will conduce to some
more systematic concert of action. Some of the State organizations

allow more officers to a company than the Confederate law permits,

and where the companies are first mustered into the State service and
then transferred, we are compelled to drop one or more of the officers.

1 had much rather send an officer from here to muster in the companies,

as it saves trouble in the end. If I do not need the one hundred and
ninety-five thousand dollars placed to my credit, I will advise you at

once. I have to thank you for your prompt and considerate atten-

tion and assistance in my duties here. It gives me unbounded satis-

faction.

Respectfully, your obedient servant,

(Signed) M. LOVELL.
Major General C. S. A.

Inclosure in the foregoing.

Nashville, Tenn., /«ww«ry 17, J862.

My Dear L.: I feel very anxious about a certain matter. The
amounts received now are less than what they were two months since.

It is absolutely necessary that we should receive supplies from other

sources, and I trust the arrangements to that eftect will be speedily put

into operation. I am in a better position to know the situation of the

Confederacy in the matter in question than any other person, and you

will understand me when I urge the absolute necessity of increasing

our store. It is in vain for one portion of the country to be placed in

a secure state of defence and broad openings left at the places. The
safety of each part depends at last on the the- security of the Avhole.

You may feel entirely safe from successful attack, but other vital points

have not your resources, and their necessities must be looked after with-

out delay. The Secretary gave me full powers to make and authorize

any contract 1 might deem necessary in my department, but I have

seen no prospect so promising, wherever 1 have been, as the one we
spoke of. I trust you will liring your energy to assist in the matter.

It is more vital to the country than anything else at this period.

The "certain matter" rcl'erred to in the beginning of the above ex-

tract, was the proposed plan for obtaining saltpetre, which 1 submitted

to you through xMajor Rains in December.
(Signed) M. L.
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(No. 54.) ' Confederate States of America,
Headquarters, Department No. \

New Orleans, 22dJan., 1862.

Hon. J. P. Benjamin, Secretary of War—
Sir: The party who proposes to deliver powder here at one dollar

and fourteen cents per pound, in ca§e we will advance the money, has

furnished as his bondsmen the house of Charles Kock & Co., of New
Orleans, who will bnid themselves to refund the money if the powder
is not delivered in sixty days. The security is ample, as they have an
abundance of real estate in this city and State. I have agreed, there-

fore, to advance two-thirds the value of the powder, viz : $125,000;

the balance to be paid on the delivery of the seventy-seven and a half

tons, if the powder passes inspection. Will you send the money here

to me, or shall I draw upon Richmond for it; if so, upon whom ?

Please let me have your answer by telegraph.

Respectfully, your most obedient servant,

(Signed) M. LOVELL,
Major- General Commanditig.

(No. 55.) Confederate States op America, ^
Headquarters Department No. 1, >
New Orleans. La., Jan. 28, 1862.3

Ho7i. J. p. Benjamin, Secretary of War—
Sir : I have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of your letter of

the 19th instant, by Captaip Townsend, relative to the plan for floating

defences on the western waters.

The fourteen vessels named in you,r telegram, were seized and ap-

praised by a board consisting of Messrs. Bogart, Stephenson, Frost, Grin-
nei, Milliken and the naval constructor Porter. Several of the vessels
were costly and could be replaced by others equally well adapted to the
contemplated service at much less expense. I have, therefore, caused
those changes to be made reducing the value of the seizures from $900,-
000 to $620,000, and the ships we have are as good, or better for what
we want than those named. The parties owning these ships are anx-
ious to be paid at once, as in some instances agreements had been made
for their sale. Are these appraised values to be paid out of the appro-
priation of one million, made by act of 9th January, 1862, or is that
money to be expended for altering, fitting up, payment and subsistence
of officers and men? If the latter, how shall I pay the owners, who
are clamorous for their money ? If the former, one million dollars is

noi enough. The fourteen vessels named in your telegram would
alone have cost nearly that sum. I think it advisable that the captains
should recommend to the President some competent person to have
general control of the fleet, in fitting it out and making general rules
and orders for its control and management. Fourteen Mississippi river
captains and pilots will never agree about anything after they once get
under way. Moreover, as each ship will carry one gun, there will
be some necessary arrangements for munitions of war, signals, (fcc.
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They have already got to work on some of the ships, I will send
you a list of their names, with valuations, as soon as I receive the offi-

cial report of the appraisers.

I sent Mr. Lee to Texas for the Vanderbilt powder. Gen. Hebert,
acting, as he says, under necessity, had taken half the powder, and,
taking into consideration all the circumstances—of their distance, their

want of local means and other facilities, I think it is about as well that

he has done so. The other half is en route for this point and will ar-

rive in a week or ten days. Some forty boxes are wet, but these can
be worked over at our mills.

The securities proposed by Mr. Angoman (Charles Kock & Co.)
have withdrawn their names, as they consider it impossible for him to

bring in the seventy-five tons of powder. The steamer Calhoun, on
her way here from Havana, with fifty thousand pounds powder, four

hundred bags of coifee, &c., was abandoned last week, near the mouth
of the river, most unnecessarily and timidly, and fell into the hands of

the enemy. She will prove a great pest on the coast, as she is very
fast, and of light draught. Her crew tried to set her on fire, but in

their fright and haste, they failed to do so effectually. It was an un-
fortunate piece of business.

I sent Gen. Johnston, after the defeat of Crittenden, two hundred
thousand cartridges, four hundred double barreled shot guns and six-

teen tons of lead, as he telegraphed me he was out of that article. I

will also send up to him the five Mississippi companies that Governor
Pettus sent me for coast defence, when it was understood that General

Polk had declined to send back the 3d Mississippi regiment, as soon as

1 can have them put through the measles, a process which they are now
undergoing, one-half of them now being sick.

In your letter of the 6th instant, you indicated particularly the duties

which it was proposed to assign to Gen. Trimble, but he has never

made his appearance here as yet. The nature of the proposed duty re-

quires a young and active man, but I will gladly receive any assistance

that you can spare. General Cooper telegraphs, in reply to my ques-

tion, that no order has been issued transferring General Trimble to this

department. There must be some mistake about it.

I beg that you will advise me at your early convenience as to the

time and means of paying for the steamers seized here, as the parties

annoy me considerably.

Respectfully, your obedient servant,

(Signed) M. LOVELL,
Major General Commandmg

.

(No. 56.) Richmond, Jan. 28, 1862.

Gen. M. Lovell, New Orleans

:

Your letter of 20th received. Make the best arrangements you can

for the Tennessee. It is impossible to put credits abroad, but we can

make any proper advances on this/side.

(Signed) J. P. BENJAMIN,
Secretary of War.
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(No. 57.) New Orleans, Jan. 30, IS62.

Hon. J. P. Benjamin:

Can the navy department give up any cutlasses and pistols for river

flotilla
J

if so, how many?
M. LOVELL.

(No. 58.) Richmond, Jan. 30, 1862.

Gen. M. Lovell, New Orleans

:

Remittance of one hundred and ninety-five thousand dollars is now
on way to you to pay for powder. I write to-day.

(Signed)
, J. P. BENJAMIN,

Secretary of War.

}
(No. 59.) Confederate States op America,

War Department,
Richmond, January 30, 1862.

Maj. Gen. M. Lovell, New Orleans—
Sir: I have your letters of 20th and 22d instant.

I sent you a dispatch in relation to the Tennessee, and now repeat

the authority to make the best bargain you can with the owners for

sharing in the adventure, so that we may have half of the return ton-

nage for saltpetre. Let me, however, caution you on one point. If

they have all the profits of an outward cargo of cotton, we ought not
to be expected to bear any of the risk of going out; if we take half of
the risk, we must have half the profits. If we are to share only in the

return cargo, we must only share the return risk.

Your proposal of Charles Kock & Co., for sureties for the contract

of powder, is quite satisfactory. Before getting your letter, I had drawn
in your favor for one hundred and ninety-five thousand dollars to cover

cost of seventy-five tons of powder, and the money must now be in

your hands. As, however, your advance is only one hundred and
twenty-five thousand dollars, you will have a surplus of seventy thou-

sand dollars, most of which you will require' for settlement for powder
per Vanderbilt

I got a letter from Mr. Sumner, proposing to receive in part payment
of the powder per Vanderbilt, one hundred and twenty thousand dol-

lars in eight per cent, bonds. This suits us much better than issuing

Treasury notes. I accordingly drew a warrant on Treasury, in your
fevor, for one hundred and twenty-seven thousand five hundred dol-

lars, of which one hundred and twenty thousand dollars in eight per
cent, bonds, and seven thousand five hundred dollars in treasury notes.

In settling with the owners of the Vanderbilt power, therefore, you will

give them the bonds and the balance only in treasury notes.

Your obedient servant,

J. P. BENJAMIN,
Secretary of War.
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(No. 60.) Confederate States of America,
^

Headquarters Department No.\, >

New Orleans, La., Fe^.. 1,1862.)

Ho7i. J. p. Benjamin, Secretary of War^

Sir: I received a telegram from you yesterday, stating that one hun-

dred and ninety-five thousand dollars was now on the way here for me

to pay for powder. The fact that this is the exact amount placed to my
credit already, in answer to my request for money to carry out the ar-

rangement with the steamer Tennessee, for arms, and powder, induces

me to write and say, that I have already entered into the arrangement

with the Tennessee, and that this sum is not available to pay for the

powder by the Vanderbilt. It may be that the coincidence is acciden-

tal, but I think-it safest to a'dvise you. 1 will send on a copy of my
agreement with owners of Tennessee in a few days, by which you will

see that we get two hundred thousand dollars in Havre, by depositing

one hundred thousand here, and insuring half the ship, fifty thousand

dollars, in case of capture. On the return cargo we take the risk of

first cost and half the value of ship in case of capture, the powder to be

delivered at one hundred per cent., and the arms at fifty per cent, above

invoice price. As a money transaction, I have calculated that it results

in our favor largely more than in risk.

Respectfully your obedient servant,

(Signed) M. LOVELL,
Major General Commanding.

(No. 61.) Confederate States of America,
^

Headquarters Departm,ent No. \, %

New Orleans, La., 4th Feb., 1862.)

Hon. J. P. Benjamin, Secretary of War~

Sir: On the 30th ultimo your telegram stated ^' one hundred and

ninety-five thousand dollars was on its way to me to pay for powder."

When the drafts arrived, one was for one hundred and twenty thousand

dollars, and the other for seven thousand five hundred dollars, instead

of seventy-five thousand dollars, the sum necessary to make up the

total stated by you. I have no doubt that it was the intention to make

it the latter sum, as the estimated value of the cargo of the Vanderbilt

was more than one hundred and eighty thousand dollars, which, with

the transportation to this point, would bring it up to the sum named

by you.

As General Hebert has taken half of the powder, I shall not pay for

the whole until I hear from him what part of his half was damaged.

In the part received by me there were forty boxes more or less damaged.

The draft for one hundred and twenty thousand dollars was drawn

upon the Treasurer at Richmond, and Mr. Guivot will not, of course,

pay it here. I return it to Mr. Elmore to-day.

Respectfully, your obedient servant,

(Signed) M. LOVELL,
Major General Conwnariding.
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(No. 62.) , Co>JFEDERATK StATES OF AMERICA, 1
Headquarters, Department No. 1. C
New Orleans, La., ^th Feb., 1862. )

/7o??. J. P. Ben.tamin, i^ecretary of War—
Sir: I have the honor to acknowledge receipt of your letters of 27th

and 30th ultmio.

With regard to General Ruggles' assignment to the duty of carina
for the Mississippi coast, I think it would be exceedingly unadvisable.
His services in organizing a brigade of five regiments as a moveable
force to any point of the department, are more valuable than they would
be on the coast. Neither his age norhisrank are exactly in conformity
with out-post duty, in command of two regiments. He wouldfeel mor-
tified, 1 am sure, at such an assignment. I can manage matters better

by leaving them as at present. With ten thousand nien in this depart-

ment, and a long extent of coast to guard, I would recommend the ap-
pointment of a brigadier general from Mississippi for duty on that part
of the line. I have but two liere, while in the department of Mobile,
(General Bragg's,) I learn there are not less than five or six officers of
that grade.

II. I have just received the first instalment of powder by Vanderbilt,
and on testing it I found it much belov/ range. In justice to the ser-

vice it should be worked over again. I will probably reject it; certainly

at two dollars per pound.
III. The Federal prisoners, four hundred and ninety-three in num-

ber, will leave to-day for Salisbury, North Carolina, pursuant to tele-

graphic order from General Cooper.

lY. I look daily for appointments of officers in the new regiments.
Major Lo veil's resignation has been accepted, but not his new appoint-

ment. As he is constantly on important duty, giving orders, &.C., it is

a little awkward, but he continues at work. At the written request of
Captains Montgomery and Townsend, 1 have placed him in charge of
the ordnance and disbursements of their expedition.

V. After careful search and enquiry, we can find nothing of Captain
W. F. McLean, alluded to in your letter of 27th January. When
found J will act as advised by you.

VI. Your impressions about the arrangement with steamer Tennessee
are not quite correct. We take no risk on the cotton at all, but guaran-
tee fifty thousand dollars on the ship in case of capture on outward
voyage; and in case she arrives in Havre, (the chances of which are

largely in our favor,) we receive fifty thousand dollars in the , shape of
exchange, as the parties buy for us there two hundred thousand dollars

worth of arms and munitions. We thus risk the loss of fifty thousand
dollars for the certain receipt of that amount in case of success, as it

would cost us that sum to get a credit of two hundred thousand dollars

in France. On the return we take a risk of fifty thousand dollars on
the ship and two hundred thousand dollars on the cargo; but the prices,

if delivered, are so arranged that in case of success we should save
more than three hundred thousand dollars on*present prices of arms and
powder-

VII. I had no knowledge of the arrangement with Mr. Sumner
about the bonds, and therefore got the draft for $120,000 cashed here.
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No bonds came to me, nothing but two drafts, one for |7,500 on assist

ant treasurer here, the other for $120,000 on treasurer at Richmond.—
There must have been a mistake on his part in carrying out your views.

Respectfully, your obedient servant,

(Signed) M. LOVELL,
Major General Commanding.

(No. 63.) [Telegram.]

New Orleans, Feb. 7, 1862.

To Generals. Cooper—
Is appointment of F. S. Ruggles as brigade commissary confirmed?

M. LOVELL.

(No. 64.) C. S. A. War Department, >

Richmond, Feb. S, 1862. j"

Sir: The President desires that, as soon as possible, on receipt

of this letter, you dispatch 5,000 men to Columbus to reinforce that

point sorely threatened by larq:ely superior forces. The menacing
aspect of aflairs in Kentucky has induced the withdrawal from points,

not in immediate danger, of every man that can be spared, to prevent

the enemy from penetrating into Tennessee or passing Columbus. A
draft has been made on Gen. Bragg; four regiments have been ordered

from Virginia, together with several batteries, and with the number
now required from your command, we hope to stem the tide until the

new levies called out from the State shall be in condition to take the

field.

New Orleans is to be defended from above by defeating the enemy at

Columbus; the forces now withdrawn from you are for the defence of

your own command, and the exigencies of the public defence allow us

no alternative.

Your obedient servant,

.T. P. BENJAMIN,
Secretary of War.

Major General M.. l-ovELr,, vVew; Orleans—

(No. 65.) Richmond, Feb. 9, 1802.

Major General M. Lovei.l, New Orleans—
I have written you to-day by President's direction to send immedi-

ately 5,000 of your best equipped men to Columbus, to reinforce Gen.

Beauregard

.

J. P. BENJAMIN,
Secretary of War.
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(J^o. 66.) * New Orleans, Feb. 11, 1862.

JEZbw. J. P. Benjamin—
Please send appointment of field officers; their services are needed

for the two regiments.

M. LOVBLL.

(No. 67.) Headquarters Department No. 1,^
New Orleans, Feb. 12, 1862. f

Hon. J. P. Benjamin, Secretary of War—
Sir: I received, yesterday, your dispatch directing me to send 5,000

men to Cohimbus. I have already sent one, the (13th,) and shall

move five more regiments in two days, (Ruggles' entire brigade,) with
a field battery. I shall order Gen. Ruggles to go on, in command of

them, and shall go to work at once to endeavor to organize a force for

the defence of the interior lines from the volunteers and militia of this

city and State. Unfortunately the legislature passed a law at its late

session re-organizing the whole militia, which has to be done at a very
inconvenient moment, but I am in hopes that most of the volunteers

will elect their company and field officers on the instant, so that we
shall soon have a force on hand. I regret the necessity of sending
away my only force, at this particular juncture, and feel sure that it

will create a great panic here, but will do my best to restore confidence

by a show of strength.

You have never sent me. any orders about the distribution of the

Vanderbilt's powder. Gen. Hebert has one-half; and a part of the re-

mainder arrived here lately. On proof, it was found to lack 15 per

cent, of saltpetre, but I can work it all over in 12 days and make it

into good powder. We shall have abofit 40,000 pounds. I gave Com.
HolUns 3,500 pounds^ of my own stock to go up the river; and Gen.
Bragg has sent to me for some of that by the Vanderbilt. I shall make
it go as far as I can.

Respectfully, your obedient servant,

M. LOVELL,
Major General Commanding.

P. S.—I borrowed from the navy two launches armed with one gun
each, which I manned with crews from the 3d Mississippi regiment,
and stationed, one in Bay St. Louis and one in Biloxi Bay. The Sec-
retary of the Navy requires that they be returned to Mobile, whence
they came. Such accessories are very necessary on that coast, and I

should like to have authority to use any funds that may be in my hands
to construct two more to re^ilace those I have.

1 can get no assistance from the navy, as they have.no funds.



(No. 6S.) IlEAoauARTEBs Drpartment No. 1; )

Neyfr Orleans, Feb. IB, 1S62.
\

Hon. J. P. Benjamin, Secretary of War, Richmond—
Sir: I have at last found Capt. W. F. McLean, Ben McCuUoch

Rangers, whom I stated in a former letter that I had been unable to

find, and according to your instructions I have ordered him to proceed
immediately lo Richmond and report to the Adjutant General. He
would not accept your permission to resign. There are 500 blankets

remaining here which were not issued to the prisoners of war when the

other articles sent by the United States government were distributed.

I had ordered a supply of blankets, comforts, etc., to be given the

prisoners before the receipt of the clothing from the North, and there-

fore withheld the issue of these blankets. I have now to request that

you will instruct me whether I shall turn these blankets over to the quar-

termaster to replace those 1 ordered to be issued, or forward them to

Salisbury, N. C, whither the prisoners have been removed.
The " Victoria" propeller schooner has run into Barratannia Bay,

with some powder and a small quantity of arras, but I have not yet

been able to learn the exact amount.
Very respectfully, your obedient servant,

M. LOVELL,
Major General Commanding.

(No. 69.) Richmond, Feb. 16, 1862.

MaJ. Gen. M. Lovell, Neio Orleans—
Send every musket received by the Victoria at once to Grand Junc-

tion, subject to orders of Gen. A. S. Johnston. Send an agent with

them to force them forward by express. Inform Gen. Johnston of what
you have done, uud of the kind of arms, and such details as will ena-

ble him to prepare ammunition for them in advance. Inform me of

what you do, and of the number of arms sent. >

J. P. BENJAMIN, Secretary of War.

(No. 70.) Richmond, Feb. 16, 1862.

General M. IjOVell, New Orleans—

Your letter of 6th received. Your course in relation to Gen. Rug-
gles is approved. If you have not s&nt the troops to Columbus as

advised by my dispatch, let them stop at Memphis, and send telegram

.so informing Gen. A. S. Johnston. The great line of attack by the

Cumberland river may make it necessary to send the troops Eastward
from Memphis, instead of sending them to Columbus.

J. P. BK,\.IAMT!V, Secretary of War.

(No. 71.; New dRLKANs, Feb. 21, 1862.

Hon. J. P. Benjamin—
The Victoria has one hundred and fifty (150) guns, and twenty

thousand (20,000) pounds powd(3r. What price shall I pay.

M. LOVELL.
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(No. 72.) New Orleans, f\b. 21, 1862.

J. P. Benjamin :

There are but one hunc!red and fifty (150) guns, and twenty thou-
sand (20,000) pounds powder on yictoria. Have sent four (4) regi-

ments to Corintli,

M. LOVELL.

(No. 73.) New Orleans, Feb. 21, 1862.

J. P. Benjamin :

Who fixes the rates of pay of men for Montgomery's expedition?
Shall I give a month's advance?

M. LOVELL.

(No. 74.) New Orleans, Feb. 21, 1862.

Hon. J. P. Benjamin :

Steamer Miramon has arrived with twenty thousand (20,000 pounds
powder, and four hundred (400) guns.

M. LOVELL.

(No. 75.) Richmond, Feb. 23, 1862.

Gen. M. Loveli., New Orleans:

Seize all the powder on the Victoria and Miramon, paying for it two
dollars per pound, if of full proof, and making a rateable deduction if

not proof. Send twenty thousand pounds of cannon powder here by
special agent, with instructions to force it through without an hour's

delay.
J. P. BENJAMIN,

Secretary of War.

(No. 76.) Confederate States of America,"^
War Department, V

Richmond, February 23, 1862. ^

Maj. Gen. M. Lovell, New Orleans—
Sir: I am in arrears with my correspondence, but the pressure on

this department is so intense that I cannot always be punctual. I have
your letters of 28th ultimo, and 16th and 12th instant. I await your
returns of the li«t and appraisement of the steamers prepared for defence

of Mississippi river. I will then take immediate measures for payment.
Pray let me know immediately on receipt of this, (and by telegraph,

if necessary,) when the boats will be ready, and if they have full

crews, and their armament. Also the names of commanders, &c.
The change you have made in regard to Gen. Ruggles is fnWy ap-

proved. The order for the defence of the Mississippi coast was issued

against my judgment, but the urgency of the members from that State
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on the President was so great that it was not politic to refuse at the time

to gratify their wish. Events have shown how unreasonable was their

demand, and we must dismiss all idea of sc|ittering our force in defence

of unimportant points, and concentrate them at vital lines.

3,. The appointments of the officers in the new regiments are all

complete, but the number submitted to Congress and confirmed at the

last session was so great, that I am not yet able to send them all . They
are aonfirmed, however, and you can assign to them their commands.

4. 1 am ^eiy much pleased with your arrangement about the Ten-
nessee, and hope she has got out safely.

5. You are authorized to use any funds in your hands for the con-,

struction of two launches to replace those borrowed from the navy for

guarding the Mississippi coast.

6. I dispatchod to-day to impress all powder by Miramon and Victo-

ria. I don't want you to let an ounce of powder, or any arms or mu-
nitions of war escape you at any time. They are a matter of life and
death to us, and scarcely any price is too much to pay till our people

are armed, although, of course, I desire to save every dollar we can.

I enclose you a letter to Gen. Hebert, which you will please forward

by special express. I leave it open that you may understand the policy

of the Government.
Your obedient servant,

J. P. BENJAMIN,
Secretary of War.

l

(No. 77.) CONFKDERATE StATES OF AMERICA,
War Department,

Richmond, February 24, 1862.

Maj. Gen. M. Lovell, New Orleans—
Sir: Your suggestions in regard to the mode of supplying newly

mustered regiments, with surgeons and assistant surgeons during the

period before actual appointment, are approved as regards the temporary

arrangement. But it must not be forgotten that the surgeons and assist-

ant surgeons then appointed must still submit to the regular examina-

tion by the medical board, as appointed by the Surgeon General. The
preliminary examination, which you propose to institute, ever proper in

itself, cannot, of courscj replace the official examination required by law.

Respectfully,

J. P. BENJAMIN,
Secretary of War.

(No. 78.) Confederate States of America,
^

War Department, V

Richmond, February 26, 1862. j

Major General M. Lovell,
Oommanding at New Orleans , La.—

Sir: Your letter of the 15th instant, has been received. The blan-

kets remaining on hand which were sent by the United States Govern-
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ment, and were not issued to the prisoners of war, should be turned
over to the quartermaster at New Orleans.

Respectfully,

J. P. BENJAMIN,
Secretary of War.

(No. 79.) New Orleans, Feb. 26, 1862.

J . P. Benjamin :

Please delay confirmation of captain of river expedition until you
hear from here.

M. LOYELL.

(No. 80.) New Orleans, Feb. 26, 1862.

Hon. J. P. Benjamin:

What arrangements to pay for vessels for river defences. Parties
want money badly on account of losses in running blockade.

M. LOVELL.

(No. 81.) Headquarters Department, No. 1, J

New Orleans, 21th Feb., 1862. f
Hon. J. P. Benjamin, Secretary of War :

I have the honor to report that since my last letter I have sent for-

ward to Tennessee, Ruggles' brigade of four regiments, with a battery

of six field guns, also a new company of artillery, (Yaiden's,) with six

guns and their harness and equipments. Yesterday the fourth Lou-
isiana, and to-day the seventh Mississippi moved to the same" destina-

tion. The twentieth Louisiana regiment was mustered for State ser-

vice, but not wishing to remain behind, eight -companies have re-or-

ganized for the war, and I shall send that regiment on in a few days.

This will make a total of eight regiments and two batteries from the

department, besides a quantity of shot guns (five hundred) and a mil-

lion of cartridges. People are beginning to complain that I have
stripped the department so completely, but I have called upon Governor
Moore for ten thousand volunteers and militia for State service. Raw
troops with doubled barreled shot guns are amply sufficient to hold our
entrenchments against such troops as the enemy can send to attack

them. Besides I regard Butler's Ship Island expedition as a harmless
^menace so far as New Orleans is concerned. A black republican dy-
nasty Avill never give an old Breckinridge democrat like Butler command
of any expedition which they had any idea would result in such a glo-

rious success as the capture of New Orleans. He will not have ten.

thousand men for a demonstration by land upon any of the gulf cities.

II. Bowling Green has been turned by the Cumberland river, as I

predicted, in the plan which I submitted to you early in October,
although at that time they had no such men there as Buell and Halleck
to command such an operation.

36
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III. I transmitted to you in January a letter of Capt. Buchel, in

reference to a draft that he had drawn in Texas, for supplies to subsist

troops, and asked your instructions; since then the draft was presented,

and I paid it m specie, out of the funds in my hands. Had it been

protested, our troops on the Rio Grande could not have received pro-

visions. I hope it meets your approval.

IV. The river defence expedition is progressing favorably, but con-

siderable dissatisfaction has been expressed here at some of the ap-

pointments made by Montgomerj?- and Townsend. The matter will

be put before you by some citizens of this place. I have disbursed

about half of the three hundred thousand dollars placed to my credit on
that appropriation, and large amounts are due. I trust that there will

be no delay, from want of funds, to keep the works from being driven

forward with all dispatch. Time is an important element at this junc-

ture.

V. In view of the constant demands, from all points, upon me for

munitions, repairs of arms, etc., and the defenceless condition of our

workshops and machinery at Nashville and Baton Rouge, I ordered

preparations at the new marine hospital to be made for carrying on all

such operations on a considerable scale, and directed an estimate for

funds to be made by Captain Lambert, which was returned by Colonel

Gorgas, with the remark that '^ he did not contemplate having a labor-

atory here." The necessities of the public service, in my judgment,
demand all and much more than I have done, to keep pace with the re-

quisitions daily made. I have fifteen gunsmiths at work putting in

order the old weapons of all kinds collected from the country, and am
preparing ammunition and implements for artillery, which I cannot get

elsewhere ; indeed , I have furnished Generals Johnston and Polk with

large supplies, and hope that nothing will be permitted to interfere with

operations so necessary to our salvation. If I cannot get the funds

from Ricbmond, I musfr throw myself upon the generosity of the peo-

ple of the city. The work must go on unless you order it to be sus-

pended. Knowing the immense pressure upon your time, and trusting

that you had confidence in my judgment, I have assumed a good deal

of responsibility and gone on with matters which. 1 conceived to be im-

portant for the public good, without referring every trifle to you for con-

sideration. If you wish me to pursue a different course, please indicate

your view. Whatever has been done has been upon principles of a

sound and wise economy, and has thus far produced beneficial results.

VI. The Tennessee has been unable, as yet, to get out of the river.

The Magnolia, Florida, Whitmoreand Vanderbilt got to sea last week,
but one of them (supposed to be the Magnolia) has been captured and
taken to Ship Island. The powder by the Victoria turns out to be
musket powder, although it seems to be of good quality. That by the

Miramon, which came in at the Grand Caillon, has not yet reached the

city. As soon as I work over twenty thousand pounds of the Vander-

bilt powder, I will dispatch it to Richmond as ordered by you in a tel-

egram.
VII. Some of the parties who met with heavy losses on the Calhoun,

J. L. Day and Magnolia, owned several of the boats seized by us for

Montgomery's fleet, and are very anxious in their straitened circum-

stances to be paid for the vessels that we took. Can funds be placed
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at my disposal for that purpose ? The total value of the steamers seized

is about six hundred thousand dollars. I will enclose a schedule of

the appraisements with the remark that some of the owners have pro-

tested that the amounts allowed are not a fair price. Those objected

to I had re-appraised, and the board adhered to its first decision. No
more should be allowed.

VIII. I turned over to the navy ten forty-two pounders, to arm their

two gun boats for lake service, and hope that they will get them out

pretty soon. But whether from want of funds, or lack of systematic

expenditures, the credit of that branch of the public service here is so

bad that it is almost impossible for them to get anything done. A few
days since I wanted a crew for a boat to work on the lower rafts, but

could not get a man until they were satisfied that it was not intended for

service in the naval department. This is a serious embarassment to

them in their work.
IX. With some funds that I got from the city, 1 bought, and am fit-

ting up as launches, with one light gun each, twelve luggers, for a

coast guard, to watch the enemy and prevent communication with the

shore.

X. I am a good deal delayed by the want of competent officers to

assist me in the laborious details of this department. We want an ord-

nance- oflicer here badly. Many things are necessarily kept back by
having Major Smith perform the duties of engineer and ordnance offi-

cer, either one of which would tax a competent man to the utmost. It is

neither justice to him nor to the service to make him responsible for

such an immense and varied amount of detailed work.

With much respect, your obedient servant,

M. LOVELL.
Major General Comrnanding

.

(No. 82.) New Orleans, March 5, 1862.

Hon. J. P. Benjamin :

Vanderbilt powder had to be re-worked. Victoria powder was all

musket, and Miramon powder not arrived. Shall I send musket pow-

der ?

M. LOVELL.

(No. 83.) Richmond, March 5, 1862.

Gen. M. Lovei.l., Neio Orleans—
Your dispatch of the 5th received. Send ten thousand (10,000)

pounds of musket powder, and ten thousand pounds of cannon pow-
der, with an agent to force it on by express.

J. P. BENJAMIN,
Secretary of War*
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(No. 84.) Confederate States of America, )

Headquarters Department No. 1, >

New Orleans, La., March 6, 1862.
)

Hon. J. P. Benjamin, Secretary of War—
Sir : I have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of your letters of

the 23d, 24th and 26th ult., which reached me yesterday.

I. The river expedition is progressing well. Seven of the boats

will be ready, except the gun, on Saturday, the 8th, and the remainder

in a week from that time. We are working under many disadvantages,

but no time is being lost. I shall be out of funds for that purpose in a

few days.

The appraisement of the ships was forwarded in my letter of 27th

ult.

II. I received your telegram directing 20,000 pounds cannon powder

to be sent to Richmond. All the powder th«rt came in the Vanderbilt,

Victoria and Miramon is small grained, not cannon powder, and that

by the first and last of those vessels, requires to be re-worked with an

addition of. 15 per cent, of saltpetre. This department is being com-

pletely drained of everything, and I trust that the arrival of the Nash-

ville will enable you to leave here all the powder that we have on hand.

We have filled requisitions for arms, men and munitions until New
Orleans is about defenceless. In return we get nothing. Mobile and
Pensacola, even Galveston, are defended by 10-inch Columbiads, while

this city has nothing above an 8-inch, and but few of them. The for-

tified line about the city is complete, but I have taken 10 of the guns

for the navy and sixteen for the vessels that we are fitting up for the

river expedition. My reliance to defend these lines will be upon mili-

tia, with doubled barreled guns and thirty-two pound carronades. If,

now, you take the powder from me, we shall be in no condition to re-

sist. The only thing to provide, is a sufficiency of powder, to enable

us to resist a prolonged attack by ships and mortar boats upon two

points. Forts Pike and Macomb, and Forts Jackson and St. Phillip. If

the first are passed, we still have a land defence to make; if the last, a

fleet can proceed at once to the city.

III. I shall send up this week the Crescent regiment, the 20th regi-

ment, two batteries of artillery, four companies Mississippi volunteers,

besides several separate companies, which will make eight regiments,

four batteries of field artillery, and several companies, armed, equipped,

and provided with a good supply of ammunition.
I cannot organize the militia loft here without the assistance of a gen-

eral officer of experience and detailed knowledge. The circumstances of

the case render it imperative.

You will see, by the letter accompanying this, that I have urged

upon the President the appointment of Major Smith as the proper per-

son to fill that position. His engineer duties are drawing towards a

condition which will enable him to be of great service in command of

troops. Ue knows the whole country from personal observation, and,

moreover, is fairly entitled, from his great and faithful labors, to be put

more nearly on a par with his class-mates at the military academy, all
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of whom are in high position—mostly general officers. He is wilhng
to act as the engineer officer of the department, in connection with
a command in the Hne. My desire is to place him in charge of the

troops intended for the defences of the interior lines, which, as an en-

gineer, he has constructed, and as ordnance officer, armed and pro-

vided. His appointment would be acknowledged by the community
here as a just tribute to faithful merit and valuable services rendered.

They feel much indebted to him for their present condition of defence.

Major Smith is a class-mate of Smith, Van Dorn, Longstreet, Ander-
son, McLaws, D. H. Hill, A. P. Stewart, myself and others, high in

rank. He alone, one of the first in the field, has been left in a position

of inferior rank.

The absence of General Ruggles demands a brigadier here, and
there is every reason, public, as well as private, that Major Smith
should receive the appointment. 1 hope you will urge it upon the

President and let me know by telegraph his answer. I want the ser-

vices of a general officer at once.

IV. Several persons here are refusing to take Confederate notes.

They .don't come under mihtary supervision, or I would put an end to

it in short order. What do you think should be done? I am almost
daily urged by prominent citizens to declare martial law here. It

would, however, only remedy a few evils, while causing much incon-

venience. I think that every desirable end could be attained by a mil-

itary police and a registry of all comers. 1 would like to have your
views about the propriety of having martial law here. Thus far I have
steadily declined to do so.

V. After the disasters in Tennessee, and when I became satisfied

that Columbus could not be held, I ordered all the .stores on hand at

Baton Rouge to be sent here, as that city could be taken and all the

public property there destroyed by half a dozen gunboats at a dash.

Meanwhile I am enlarging the laboratory and arsenal here, so as to

be prepared, in some small measure, in case the Baton Rouge works
should be destroyed. It does not seem to meet with the approval of

Col. Gorgas, who regards it rather with the eye of the head of a bureau
than as a military commander.
Meanwhile I must go ahead with preparations which I consider to be

of vital importance until you put a stop to it. I have at the marine
hospital a steam engine and a large number of hands employed in re-

pairing arms, making ammunition, (fcc, &c., and had it not been for

this we never could have forwarded eight regiments and four batteries

to aid them in Tennessee, for nothing of any description has been sent

here, except some saltpetre.

VI. I am hunting all over the Confederacy to procure saltpetre to re-

work the powder lately arrived from Cuba. They are sending it from
Memphis to Augusta. I have, however, sent an agent to Texas to get

some that I heard was at Houston; and there is a lot of six thousand
pounds en route here from Georgia. Until I get some the powder must
remain in statu quo.

VII. Permit me again to urge upon you the necessity for sending
here an officer of ordnance, to attend to the numerous requisitions con-

stantly made upon this department from all quarters. Much delay and
difficulty has arisen from the want of such a person here. This duty
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has been performed by Maj. Smith in addition to his other duties; but
by this arrangement injustice is done both to him and to the pubUc
service.

VIII. I am somewhat fearful that a httle too much latitude has been
given to the steamboat captains and pilots in charge of the river expe-

dition. If the current of opinion here should set against them, they

will be unable to get crews, and I would recommend a responsible head
to the expedition when it is ready to move, otherwise there will be dis-

cussion, confusion and consequent inaction.

IX. The Calhoun runs up the river below the forts, and we have
nothing to keep her back. I hope the Secretary of the Navy will

keep at least one vessel here to prevent the enemy from making recon-

noissances under our very guns.

X. I allow no arms or powder arriving to escape me, but have no
need to '^impress," as I will not give a permit to go out until I have
the promise of the refusal of the cargo. The arrangement works
smoothly.

Respectfully, your obedient servant,

M. LOVELL,
Major General Commanding.

(No. 85.) New Orleans, March 1, 1862.

Hon. J. P. Benjamin—
In case of evacuation of points now fortified, please order ten inch

guns and mortars here.

M. LOVELL.

(No. 86.) Confederate States of America,
Headquarters Department No. 1

New Orleans, La., March 9, 1862.]
Hon. J . P. Benjamin, Secreiari/ of War—

Sir: In obedience to your orders I have sent forward to Tennessee,

besides the 13th Louisiana already detached, the following regiments,

viz: the I6th, 17th, 18th, 19th and 4th Louisiana, and the 7th Mis-

sissippi regiments. The 20th will leave on Tuesday; Gibson's and
Vaiden's field batteries have also gone forward.

In addition. Gov. Mnoro has sent the Crescent regiment and 5th com-
pany Washington Artillery, and the Orleans Guard battery, with throe

companies of that battalion will go in a few days, all nominally for 90

days, but there is every reason to believe that once in the field, they

will remain. These troops have all been fitted out completely b)/" the

State; I have only rurnislicd ammunition, subsistence and transporta-

•tion. One or two independent companies will probably join Beauregard

in the same manner.
The four Mississippi companies of Hardcastle's battalion which were

here, I have ordered to join their own corps now with Gen. A. S.

.Tohnston.
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You will thus perceive that this department has been completely

stripped of every organized body of troops. To replace them, I have
called upon Gov. Moore for 10,000 volunteers and militia for the de-

fence of the lines about New Orleans, which call I hope will meet with
the approval of the government.

Persons are found here who assert that I am sending away all troops

so that the city mayfall an easy prey to the enemy.
All requisition for ammunition have been filled until I have none left,

except what is in the hands of troops. Neither have I funds placed at

my disposal to create supplies in place of those sent off.

If the enemy intends an attack here, he will make it soon, and I

trust no further calls will be made until we are placed in a defensible

condition.

Respectfully, your obedient servant,

M. LOVELL.
Major General Commanding.

, 1862.

3

(No. 87.) Confederate States of Americ
Headquarters Department No
New Orleans, La., March 10,

Hon. J. P. Benjamin, Secretary of War—
, Sir: The steamer Tennessee has been unable to get out of the river

so far. When she went down to make the attempt, it was understood
that she would be assistant to the extent of calling off the attention of
the blocka^ers, by one of our gun boats. These, however, have all

been ordered up the river, and she still remains at the lower forts.

Since the river expedition (Montgomery's,) was set on foot, circum-
stances have so materially changed as to require, in my judgment, at

least a temporary change in the programme. The evacuation of Co-
lumbus puts an end to any attack upon the enemies fleet at Cairo.

—

Still I should have sent the whole number (14) up as soon as they were
ready, notwithstanding the Secretary of the Navy had ordered every
gun afloat up the river, had not the heavy drift and current broken up,
in a great measure, the river obstructions at Fort JackSon. Under
these circumstances, with the enemy's fleet collecting, and beginning
to enter the mouths of the river with boldness, and having an open
passage to New Orleans, if the batteries below are passed, 1 have writ-

ten to Gen. Polk that I could put no guns on the boats of the expedi-

tion, and that until 1 could replace some obstructions in the river I

should feel compelled to keep here six of the steamers. The fleet

threatening us below is much more formidable than that above, and I

object strongly to sending every armed vessel away from New Or-
leans at this time. This city has been already too much weakened by
the detachments of all kinds. Loud complaints are made on all hands;
and until we are placed in security below, I do not think it advisable
to draw anything further from this point, except the eight ships
strengthened and prepared for their guns, which can be furnished above
as well as here.

Respectfully, your obedient servant,

(Signed) M. LOVELL,
Major General Commanding.
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(No. 88.) New Orleans, March 11, 1862.

Hon. J. P. Benjamin—
Quartermaster, commissary, river defence, engineer and medical funds

exhausted. Time is important, can't move rapidly without money.
M. LOVELL.

(No. 89.) Confederate States op America, 1

War Department, >

Richmond, March 12, 1862. )

Gen. M. Lovell, New Orleans—
Sir: I have your letter of 27th ult., together with its enclosures. I

have also received several communications in relation to the command
of the river steamer defences, and both the President and myself have

felt much embarassed by them. The expedition was planned and got-

ten lip by Captain Montgomery and Townsend, recommended by the

whole Missouri delegation, and Gen. Polk, and the objections made to

them, now appear to us of the most vague and inconclusive character.

The President has great confidence in Capt. T. C. Lathers, and if

he can be induced to go as commander of the expedition, you are re-

quested to put him in command of the whole, Capt. Montgomery sec-'

ond, Capt. Townsend third, and the remainder in such order as may
be fixed by Capt. Montgomery.
The list of Captains recommended by Montgomery and Townsend,

is as follows, viz:

January 15, Captain John A. vStevenson.

26, Isaac Hooper.

27, Burdett l*aris.

28, John H. Burke.*

29, James Beverly Smith.

30, James C. Delancy.

31, Joseph Davis McCoy.
February 1, William H. H. Leonard.*

<f 2, James Henry Hurt.
" 3, George Willholland PhiUips.
<< 4, William W. Lamb.
<< 5, Joseph A. Sturtevant.*

The three against whose names crosses have been placed, are said by
some of the citizens of New Orleans to be unreliable. If you could re-

place them (the last especially) by some Captains acceptable to our peo-

ple, with the consent of Montgomery and Townsend it wonld be well.

I do not, myself, find sufficient reason for distrusting the parties, but

public opinion ought to be satisfied if possible.

In relation to these three parties you will use your own discretion.

—

The expedition ought to go as promptly as possible; subject to the

orders of Gen. Beauregard, as regards the service required of it, (but

of courseVithout any interference in their organization,) and the rela-

tive rank of each officer settled in a general order which you are hereby
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authorized and requested to issue to them in conformity with the fore-

going instructions.

I have sent you 1300,000 on account of the expenses of this expedi-
tion, and will send you further remittances very piomptly. As soon as
I can get one moment, I will answer the rest of your letter, but I con-
clude by saying that your whole conduct of your department justifies

the confidence reposed in you, and that 1 have not yet found a single
act of yours which I disapprove in the smallest degree.

Your obedient servant,

J. P. BENJAMIN,
Secretary of War.

P. S.—If Captain Lather's won't go, then give the command to

Montgomery.
If you can get Captain Holmes to take charge of one of the boats I

would be gratified. He is an excellent officer.

The expedition is in no event to be put under control of officers of
the navy.

(No. 90.) Confederate States op America,"^
War Department, >

Richmond, March 22, 1863. )
Maj . Gen. M. Lovell, New Orleans—

Sir: Before turning over the affairs of this department to my succes-

sor, I am anxious to give you full replies to your letters of 6th, 9th and
10th instants, as well as those remaining unanswered in your letter of
27th ultimo.

I. I send you a remittance of three hundred and fifty thousand dol

lars, which will enable you to pay sixty per cent, oi the value of the

fourteen steamers seized for the public use. I applied to Congress for a

.further appropriation of half a million of dollars, which will, it is hoped,
suffice to complete all payments for these vessels.

II. I have seen Col. Gorgas on the subject of the works at the marine
hospital. Your action in this matter is fully approved, and nothing is

more gratifying than the zeal and activity you have so intelligently

applied to remedying the deficiency under which we labor in the con-

duct of this war. Exercise your discretion in concentrating all our re-

sources for the public defence, and feel assured of executive support and
approval.

III. The nomination of Col. Smith as Brigadier General, was sent
to the Senate more than a week ago, but from some cause it has not yet
been confirmed. I shall inquire into the difficulty immediately.

IV. No more calls will be made on you for any supplies.

Your assistance to the army in Tennessee has beien most timely and
valuable, and exceeded what I had hoped. I informed you by tele-

graph this morning that I had ordered forty-four thousand pounds pow-
der from Columbus to you. This is part of the cargo of the Florida,
which brought sixty-four thousand pounds. The remaining twenty
thousand pounds have been sent to Mobile, so that the whole cargo
goes to the gulf; my main purpose in sending it was to enable you to

supply the new iron clad steamers just about to be completed.
37
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Prom the recent experiment of the Virginia, and what I hear of (lie

steamers at New Orleans, I feel confident that if even one of them can

be got ready before you are attacked, she will disperse and destroy any
fleet the enemy can gather in the river, above or below. The naval

officers say that Tift's steamer is far superior to the Virginia, and the

Virginia's performances were more extraordinary than the printed re-

ports exhibit. If she had only drawn five feet less water, she would
certainly have captured the Minnesota. She is in perfect order and will

soon make another dash_, and our officers are confident of taking or

sinking the Monitor.

V. We have received from the Gladiator and Economist, altogether,

one hmidred and ninety thousand,pounds powder. The Florida's I

send to New Orleans and Mobile. A large quantity ofpowder , nearly one

hundred thousand pounds, was lost ih our disasters at Forts Henry and
Donelson, and the evacuation of Nashville. If, with the powder from

the Florida you are still short, I must try and have part of that received

from England forwarded to you; but I hope this will not be necessary.

We have contracts out for several thousand tons of saltpetre, and ought

now very soon to receive one or two cargoes. This would put us on
our legs completely.

There is salpetre in Mexico, and Mr. Oliver came here to make con-

tracts with me, but I could do nothing with him.
He wanted large advances and to bind himself to nothmg. He was

so fearful of responsibilities that it was impossible to agree on anything.

See his agents, Messrs. Avendain Brothers, in New Orleans. They
may, perhaps, procure you promptly a saltpetre supply.

VI. I ought .to have mentioned in regard to powder by Florida, that

the parties telegraphed that they require for it two dollars a pound cash,

delivered in Marianjia, Florida, the department to take the risk and ex-

pense of getting it to Columbus. I consider this extortionate, in view
of the fact that they had called on the Government for help to save it

and get it to Columbus. I ordered Gen. Pemberton to impress it at

that rate. I advise you of these facts for information. The parties

complain that they have only received |5l20,OOOon account of the poAV-

der per " Vanderbilt." Pray settle up with them for that cargo.

VII. Your call on Governor Moore for troops, to replace those sent to

Tennesse, is approved.

VIII. In view of the great extent to which you have been weakened
by sending aid up the river, you are right in retaining some of the

steamboat fleet below. I hope, however, that the iron clad boats will

soon be under way and relieve you from all fear of a river attack.

Your obedient servant,

J. P. BENJAMIN,
Secretary of War,

(No. 91.) New Orleans, March 22, 1862.

Hon. J. P. Benjamin:

Please order General Jones, at Mobile, to send me some ten (10) inch

columbiads and sea coast mortars, promptly.

M. LOVELL.

\.
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(No. 92.) New Orleans; March 22, 1862.

Ho7i. J. p. Benjamin, Secretary of War—
Seven vessels of enemy inside of mouth of river. All naval ships at

Memphis. 1 will have to retain six (6) of Monlgoniery's fleet for ser-

vice below.

M. LOVELl..

(No. 93.) Richmond, March 23, 1862.

Major General Lovell, New Orleans—

v

I have ordered forty-four thousand pounds of cannon powder sent to

you from Columbus, to enable you to supply gun boats. Have also

sent orders for heavy guns, as requested in your dispatch of yesterday.

J. P. BENJAMIN,
Acting Secretary of War.

Note.—On the 24th of March, 1862, Hon. G. W. Randolph entered

on the duties of the office of Secretary of War.

RICA, ^
It No.X. Y
3/i22, 1862. V

(No. 94.) Confederate States op Ameri
Headquarters Department
New Orleans, La., March

Hon. J. P. Ben.tamin, Secretary of War—
Sir: I have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of your letter of

the 12th relative to Montgomery's expedition. The evacuation of Co-

lumbus overturns his original intentions of destroying the enemy's fleet

at Cairo, and, in my judgment, they can now be used only as assist-

ants to the land and naval forces in defending our own positions. The
people of New Orleans thought it strange that all the vessels of the

navy should be sent up the river, and were disposed to find fault with

sending, in addition, fourteen steamers, leaving this city without a sin-

gle vessel for protection against the enemy, Avho was coll«cting heavy
fleets near the mouth of the river. Within the past few days they have

h2d thirteen ships near the mouth, and have succeeded in towing in-

side several large steamers, which, in my opinion, only await the arrival

of the mortar fleet to attempt to come up the river to New Orleans, and

operate as a diversion for the column descending from Cairo. Under
these circumstances I shall retain here six of Montgomery's ships to

assist in repeUing any attack upon the forts below.
At my request Governor Moore is also fitting up, with bulkheads of

cotton, two vessels, which will give us eight here. This will be of

material service and will quiet the people, who think that they have
been too much neglected. In guns of large calibre we are greatly de-

ficient, as I have mentioned before. It was to be hoped that in the

evacuation of Pensacola, some ten-inch columbiads would be sent here,

but I have only succeeded in getting one, and that by sending a perse-

vering officer after it.

I enclose you two orders on the subject of martial law. Affairs here
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have reached a crisis (which Mr. Yancey will explain to the President)

and it became necessary for some one to seize the helm with a strong

hand, or we should have had trouble, perhaps bloodshed, between men
who were all friendly to the cause. A city composed of such hetero-

genious elements as this, with an excitable population, who are easily

ledi into excesses, is difficult to govern, as there are so many interests

to consult, each jealous of the other. This rendered the appointment
of provost marshals a matter of great difficulty, more especially as [

knew that there were large and influential associations in existence,

whose leaders were desirous to take control. The universal approval of

my appointments throughout the city, and the satisfaction and quiet, so

apparent to all, leads me to infer that the difficulty has been entirely

solved, and everything seems to have settled back into its proper chan-

nel. We shall encourage our friends, root out our enemies, guard the

public interests, and keep the speculators well in hand. No movement
has been made since martial law was proclaimed that has not been re-

ceived with approval by the people at large. T feel sure that the ad-

mmistration and our cause have been saved from a terrible embarrass-

ment here in New Orleans.

We are called upon here from all quarters to furnish everything

—

powder, food, equipments and ordnance stores of all kinds, and it is

utterly impossible to make any estimate which will suit the require-

ments of the bureaux. We must have money here in large quantities,

for we know not what urgent requisition may come upon us by tele-

graph af a moment's notice. Bragg telegraphed to-day for five hundred
thousand pounds hard bread, yet the estimate of my commissary, ap-

proved by me, has been returned from Richmond, for details of what
Ave would require. Such red tape will kill us. We had to borrow

money to keep troops from suffering. This point being recognized as a

great source of supply, I hope you will see the importance of placing

large amounts of money here for all the bureaux— commissary ,.ordnance,
quartermaster and medical purveyors. It is utterly impossible to fore-

see what we will require. Money will have to be borrowed to keep our

troops in Tennessee from wanting bread. This certauily could not

have been foreseen by the assistant commissary of this department.

I thank you very warmly for the confidence expressed in the last

paragraph of your letter, and trust that nothing will occur to abate it.

My position here is one of labor and difficulty, without much chance
for gloiy, but I shall do my duty as 1 understand it without ''partiality,

favor or affection."

Respectfully, your obedient servant,

M. LOVELL,
Major General Commanding.

(No. 95.) New Orleans, March 29, 1862.

Hon. J. P. Benjamin—
I cannot get heavy guns from Mobile. The enemy is in large force

at the mouth of the river. Please order coinmandins' officers at Mobile
to send immediately.

't5

M, LOVELL.
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(No. 96.) RicHMONB, March 29,] 862.

General M. Lovell, New Orleans—
What guns do you mean ? Guns in batteries, or guns on their way

to yon ?

(Signed) G. W. RANDOLPH,
Secretary of War.

(No. 97.) New Orleans, MarcA 31, 1862.

Hon. G. W. Randolph—
A part of the ten (10) inch cohinibiads and sea coast mortars wliich

were at Pensaeola. New Orleans has only one of the former and none
of the latter.

M. LOVELL

(No 98.) New Orleans, Apiil 3, 1S62.

General George Randolph—
The seizure of Governor Moore's guns by the War Department leaves

me in a precarious condition. We sent off all our men, relying upon
those guns to arm others. Please order them here.

M. LOYELL.

(No. 99.) New Orleans, April 4, 1862.

General Cooper—
Is Colonel Smith appointed brigadier general? His instant services

are required. Where is the powder to be sent from Columbus?
M. LOVELL.

[answer to the last telegram.]

(No. 100.) . Richmond, yl/)nY 4, 1862.

To General M. Lovell—
Colonel Martin L. Smith has been nominated brigadier general, but

not yet confirmed. Colonel Gorgas will telegraph you to-day respect-

ing the powder.
'

• (Signed) S. COOPER,
Adjutant and Inspector General.

(No. 101.) RiCHM0Ni%4^n7 4, 1862.

Gen. LovELL, Neiv Orleans— - »

I have already ordered Colonel T. M. Jones, at Pensaeola, and re-

quested Governor Milton, of Florida, to hold the arms subject to Gov-
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ernor Moore's order, and have notified him of the fact. I have also

endeavored to get coUimbiads and sea coast mortars for you from Pen-

sacola, but find that all have been sent to Mobile that could be spared.

G. W. RANDOLPH,
Seci'ctary of War.

:s 01'^ America, ^
FFar Department, >
nond, Apriir, 1862.)

(No. 102.) Confederate States oi^ America,
Wa)

~

Richnionc

Major General M. Lovell,
Commanding, c^'c. New Orleans, La.—

Sir: You are authorized to permit the removal of the iron from the

Mexican Gulf railroad, if the government have the right to it, or to

save it from the enemy.
Very respectfully,

GECfRGE W. RANDOLPH,
Secretary of War.

(No. 103.)
^

New Orleans, ^jofo 9, 1862.

General G. W. Randolph— j('

Can some small arms be sent here? We have sent all to Corinth

with tBoops, and now require two thousand.

M. LOVELL.

(No. 104.) New Ori.eans, April 10, 1862.

General G. W. Randolph—
Can you possibly order here four or five thousand small arms? I

have sent all my troops to Corinth, but have several unarmed war regi-

ments.

M- LOVELL.

(No. 105.) Richmond, April 10, 1862.

Major General M. Lovell, New Orleatis—
Are the cotton-lined boats ready, and where are they?

G. W.. RANDOLPH,
Secretary of War.

(No. 106.) New Orleans, April 11, 1862.

General Randolph, Secretary of War—
With forty (40) vessels in the lower river, please protest in my name

against sending the Louisiana up the river; if she must go, let her
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*

leave two (2) seven (7) inch rifles now at Fort Jackson. She has one

(1) on board besides other heavy guns-all she can use in the upper
river to advantage. We have not now as many guns of heavy calibre

as at Mobile.

M. LOVEliL.

' (No. lOT.) Richmond, 4/)n7 11, 1862.

General JVL. Lovell, N&w Orleans—

We have just had a call for arms from Corinth which we cannot
supply, but hope soon to be able to do so, and to send you some. Did
you receive my telegram yesterday, asking where the cotton -lined

boats are.

G. W. RANDOLPH,
Secretary of War.

(No. 108.) New Orleans, April 11, 1862.

Gen. Randolph, Secretary of War—
Five cotton boats have gone up, three more will go to-night. The

other six are to go below. Four being ready.

M. LOVELL.

(No. 109.) Richmond, ^p«7 11, 1862.

Maj. Gen. Lovell, New Orleans—
The Louisiana was ordered up the river to meet three iron-clad boats

which have succeeded in passing Island Number Ten, and her presence

there is deemed very important to the defence of New Orleans. The
guns were iiitended expressly for her, and the Secretary of the Navy
is unwilling to give them up.

You have not answered my two telegrams asking where the cotton-

lined boats were.

G. W. RANDOLPH,
, Secretary of War.

(No. 110.) New Orleans, April \5, 1862.
Gen. Randolph—
The enemy is preparing for a formidable attack on the forts below,

he shelled them a httle for past two days; no harm done. Twenty-
seven vessels in sight from forts,

M. LOYELL,
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(No. 111.) Confederate States op^America,
Headquarters Department, No. 1

New Orleans, La., AprillS, 186262.)

Gen. G. W. Randolph, Secretary of War—
Sir: T beg leave to report that the funds for the river defence fleet

Avhich were sent me, are nearly exhausted. The enormous price of

every kind of» materials has made the preparations very expensive, in

addition to which the river pilots, (Montgomery and Townsend,) who .

are the head of the fleet, are men of limited ideas, no system and no
administrative capacity whatever. I very much Jfear, too, that their

powers of execution will prove much less than has been anticipated.

—

In short, unless some competent person of education, system and brains

is put over each division of this fleet, it Avill, in my judgment, prove

an utter failure. No code of laws or penalties has been established,

and it is diflicult to decide how deserters from the fleet are to be tried

and punished. There is little or no disciphne or subordination—too

much "steamboat" and too little of the "man-of-war" to be very

efffective. The expenses of fitting up, provisioning, coaHng and paying
advances so far on the 14 ships, are about .$800,000. I have received

$950,000, but have paid nothing as yet towards the $563,000, at which
sum the vessels seized were appraised. The original appropriation was
one nnllion. Capt. Montgomery informs me that half a million more
has been voted, if so, it should be sent on at once, so as to pay ofl" the

liabilities on the vessels. I trust that the results to be derived from this

fleet, will compensate for the outlay; but unless some good head is put

in charge of it, I fear such will not be the case. The expenses for out-

fit, payment for ships and month's wages, will consume one and a half

millions. It is due, however, to Montgomery to say, that for every-

thing he has been compelled to pay nearly three hundred per cent, over

current peace prices. Eight of these vessels are up the river, and four

below, the remaining two will go below in a few days.

I telegraphed Gen. Beauregard some time since about fortifying at

Vicksburg, although we have no guns to put up there; but in case we
fall back from the Corintii and Memphis line, we might ftiake a fair

stand on a line running from Vicksburg-, through Jackson and Meri-

dian. I have no officers of engmeers to send there, but think the sub-

ject of importance.

The enemy has forty vessels just below Fort Jackson, and has been

firing occasionally for two d^ys past. I think they will locate their mor-

tar ships, shell the forts for several days or weeks, and then try to dash

by with their steamers. They have four ships of the class of the Hart-

ford, and twelve or fifteen gun boats, besides twenty-one mortar

schooners. If we can manage to obstruct the river so as to retain

them thirty minutes under our fire, 1 think we can cripple the fleet.

We have several regiments here which have enlisted for the war, but

are entirely destitute of small arms, I having sent all I had to Corinth

with Ruggles's brigade.

Heavy requisitions entirely unforeseen, are constantly made on this

department for supplies of all kinds, and when they come are generally

very urgent. To meet such calls, large amounts of funds should be

kept here, either in the hands of the different disbursing officers, or
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placed at my disposition. It is too late after the requisition is received
to make estimates; neither can we give details in advance.

I received a telegram from the President that the Secretary of War
had, in answer to my dispatches about the necessity of martial law, in
some of the adjoining parishes, written me fully on the subject. I
have not received his letter. The good citizens in many of the neigh-
boring parishes are sending petitions constantly to have martial law ex-
tended over there. It should be done in order to make it effective in
those parishes where it exists. Please inform me on this point, as

also how are the expenses of Provost Marshals to be paid hereabouts.
Respectfully, your obedient servant,

M. LOVELI,,
Major- General Commanding Department,

(No. 112.) New Orleans, AprillQ, 1862.

G. W". Randolph—
My commissary, Maj. Lanier, is out of funds. Cannot use bonds.

Heavy demands made on him. He can get no answer' from commis-
sary general.

M. LOVELL.

(No. 113.) New Orleans, 4/)n7 22, 1862.

Gen. Randolph—
In case city should be occupied, should cotton and tobacco belonging

to foreigners be destroyed? 1 require funds for river defence fleet im-

mediately , or cannot keep it up.

M. LOVELL.

(No. 114.) Confederate States of America,
Headquarters Department No. 1,

New Orleans, La., April 11, 1862«i
Gen. G. W. Randolph, Secretary of War—

Sir: The occupation of Tennessee by the enemy, the low water m
Red river, the interruption of the railroads at Decatur, and the want
of communication by rail with Texas, all combined, have brought
aoout a scarcity of provisions here. Mr. E. Solomon goes hence to Rich-

mond as special agent, to endeavor to remedy this evil, if possible. I

beg that you will cause all necessary orders to be given to facilitate his

mission, as you will perceive at once, it is one of vital importance. He
takes letters from Governor Moore and several of our most prominent
citizens.

Very respectfully your obedient servant,

(Signed) M. LOVELL,
Major General Commanding.

38
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(No. 115.) [Telegram.]
J

To Gen. S. Cooper— New Orleans, April 23, 1862.

Bombardment continues with unabated vigor, now five days and
nights. We still hold out with four casualties, but Fort Jackson much
cut up. Want more powder if it can be had.

M. LOVELL.

(No. 116.) Richmond, April 25, 1862.

Maj. Gen. M. Lovell, Neiv Orleans—
It has been determined to burn all the cotton and tobacco, whether

foreigner our own, to prevent it from falling into the hands of the

enemy.
You will therefore destroy it all, if necessary, to prevent them from

getting it.

G. W. RANDOLPH,
Secretary of War.

(No. IIT.) Camp Moore, May 1, 1862.

Gen. Randolph, Secretary of War—
Have received no instructions about destruction of cotton. Shall I

destroy all that can be reached by the enemy, leaving each planter a

portion for supplies; if so, what per centage shall be left ? Shall I burn
the barracks and arsenal at Baton Rouge ?

M. LOVELL.

(No. 118.) Camp Moore, May 2, 1862.

Gen. Randolph—
Butler occupied New Orleans to-day. Cannot enroll men there.

—

What is to be done about destroying cotton?

M. LOVELL,

(No. 119.) Richmond, May 2, 1862.

Gen. M. Lovell—
The following dispatch was sent to you on the 25th ultimo:

A. T. BLEDSOE,
Assistant Secretary of War.

" It has been determined to burn all the cotton and tobacco, whether
foreign or our own, to prevent it from falling into the hands of the

enemy.
You will therefore destroy it all, if necessary to prevent them from

getting it.

(Signed

)

« G. W. RANDOLPH,
Secretary of War."
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(No. I'-^O.) Richmond, May 3, 18G2.

Major Gen. Lovell, Camp Moore^ via Mobile—
This is the third telegram which has been sent you about burning

cotton, the last two copies from the first. It is this:. It has been deter-

mined to burn all the cotton and tobacco, whether foreign or our own,
to prevent it from falling into the hands of the enemy.
You will, therefore, destroy it all, if necessary, to prevent them from

getting it. Acknowledge receipt of this at once.

G. W. RANDOLPH,
Secretary of War.

(No. 121.) Camp Moore, May 4., 1862.

Gen. Randolph—
Dispatch about cotton received. Immediate steps taken to carry out

the instructions yesterday. Want copy of law to organize guerrilla

parties with authority to act. This is the only available force in the

swamps of Louisiana.

M. LOVELL.

(No. 122.) Richmond, May 6, 1862.

Maj. Gen. M. Lovell, Camp Moore^ La.—
I see no reason for the destruction of the barracks and arsenal at

Baton Rouge. You will, therefore, preserve them, unless, in your
opinion, there is some urgent reason for their destrnction.

G. W. RANDOLPH,
Secretary of War.

(No. 123.) Richmond, May 21, 1862.

Major General M. Lovell, Camp Moore—
1 am informed that you do not consider yourself instructed as to the

destruction of the cotton on the Mississippi, and to avoid misconcep-
tion or mistake, I now instruct you to destroy cotton, tobacco, military

and naval stores, or other property, of any kind whatever, which may
aid the enemy in the prosecution of the war, whenever and wherever,
in your judgment, it is necessary to prevent such property from falling

into the hands of the enemy.
G. W. RANDOLPH,

Secretary of War.

(No. 124.) VicKSBURG, May 22, 1862.

Gen. G. W. Randolph, Secretary of War—
You were misinformed. I have already given full instructions for

destruction of the property named.
M. LOVBLL.
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(No. 125.) Richmond, Jan.2Sth, 1862.

Major General M. Lovell^ Camp Moore—
Claims are presented for the steamships Mexico and Orizata. Are

they a part of the river defence fleet? If so, we will apply the balance
of the appropriation to the payment of the bills. There will still be a

balance of thirty odd thousand dollars due. Have you funds to pay it?

G. W. RANDOLPH,
Secretary of War.

(No. 126.) Richmond, May 31, 1862.

Maj. Gen. Lovell, Camp Moore—
,

A claim against the government for repairs on the gun boat, Gen.
Lovell in favor of John McLean, certified by two captains, B. Paris

and James B. Smith, and by W. S. Lovell, lieutanant colonel and dis-

bursing oflicer, has been presented. It obviously blends charges for

work on different boats. Accounts so inaccurately certified cannot be
allowed. Can you certify to the amount. It is $814 37.

G. W. RANDOLPH,
Secretary of War.

(No. 127.) Richmond, June\, 1862.

General M. Lovell, Camp Moore—
The sum of two hundred and thirteen thousand dollars is to your

credit on the books of the C. S. Treasurer. Authorize, by telegraph,

one hundred thousand dollars to be deposited to the credit of the ap-

propriation, for the defence of the Mississippi river, and the claims here

can be paid. Direct your telegram to the C. S. Treasurer.

G. W. RANDOLPH,
Secretary of War.

(No. 128.) Richmond, June 5, 1862.

Major General Lovell, Jacksoti, Miss.—
You will send a flag of truce to General Butler and inform him that

you have heard that he has put prominent citizens of New Orleans to

labor with ball and chain. Say to him that we shall retaliate, if such
be the fact, but will wait for a contradiction if he thinks fit to make it.

GEO. W. RANDOLPH,
Secretary of War.

(No. 129.) Richmond, .Tune 6, 1862.

Maj. Gen. Lovell, .lacksoti, Miss.—
' When you send the flag of truce to General Butler, for the purpose

indicated in my telegram of yesterday, you will also enquire of him if



the statement purporting to come from citizens of New Orleans, that he
had appropriated, for the use of his army, a portion of the provisions

allowed to pass through our lines for the citizens of New Orleans, be
true.

G. W. RANDOLPH,
Secretary of War,

(No. 130.) Richmond, June 9th, 1862.

MaJ. Gen. M. Lovell, Jackson, Miss.—
I am informed that General Smith has ordered Captain W. H. John-

son, of Colonel Starke's regiment, stationed on the Big Black river, to

burn all the cotton in his reach, whether liable to fall into the enemy's
hands or not. This order, if issued, is illegal, and must be counter-

manded.
G. W.RANDOLPH,

<fj
Secretary of War.

(No. 131.) C. S. A. War Department, 1

Richmond, June \Oth, 1862.

3

Major General M. Lovell,
Camp Moore, Tangipola, La.—

General: Your attention is respectfully called to the annexed copy of
a letter received from a person in Louisiana, in regard to the evacuation

of the forts at Grand Caillon, and you are requested to report to this de-

partment the facts of the case.

Very Respectfully, your obedient servant,

G. W. RANDOLPH,
Secretary of War,

[Note.—The letter referred to in the above was that of Governor
Moore to the President, of date May 21st, 1862, which see, with the

endorsement thereon, in the correspondence between Governor Moore
and the War Department, p. — ,]

(No, 132.) Confederate States of America, ^
Headquarters Department No. 1, v

Jackson, Miss., \^th June, 1862. 3
Gen. G. W. Randolph,

Secretary of War, Richmond, Va.—
General: Tn reply to your letter of the 10th instant, requesting the

reasons hr evacuating Fort Gtuitman, on the Bayou Grand Caillon,
I have to state that it was a litde earth work, with two smooth bore
thirty-two pounders, established by me to prevent ingress for maraud-
ing parties by the enemy, in small vessels, through the Caillon and
other inlets, into the northern parishes of Louisiana. -*^' '^
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The fall of New Orleans laid open the route to those parishes, and as

the troops stationed in the fort were supplied from the city, and were at

any moment liable to be taken in rear and captured by way of the Ope-
lousas railroad, which was in the enemy's hands, I ordered the guns to

be spiked, and the garrison (a small company of twelve months volun-

teers) to bring away their small arms, the ammunition and the stores,

and to rejoin me at Camp Moore, The enemy did not go down, it is

true, for some days, but they could have gone at any hour and any day,

and taken the men with their arms, which I was anxious to preserve.

The order I gave was not obeyed. Instead of joining me at Camp
Moore, the men mutinied and disbanded, and both officers and men re-

turned to New Orleans. It would be well, as your correspondent sug-

gests, to punish the officers, but, as they are now in New Orleans, such

a step is impracticable.

A glance at the map, which I sent to the department some months
ago, will show that after the city fell, the little works on the coast must
be abandoned, being altogether unnecessary.

The report of the cargo of the vessel and Jier capture, as ui all other

instances, is grossly exaggerated.

Some few citizens fired upon two or three Federals, in retahation; a

nu mber of them were taken prisoners and threatened with death if they

did not produce the parties who had committed the act, but the penalty

was not inflicted.

I had no force to protect the people in that district of country, but
sent an officer to raise a partizan corps for that purpose, yet the promi-

nent citizens earnestly entreated that the corps should not he raised there,

unle ss I could send a large body of troops to protect them from the

additional outrages to which they would be subject from the Yankees
for having raised such a corps. Having no large force to send, and ob-

jec tions being raised to a small one, I countermanded the order.

The fact is, that that part of the country is inhabited by two classes

of people—the rich, fearful of their property and not anxious to resist

unless supported by an army in every parish—and the poor miserable

mixed breed, commonly called Dagos or Acadians, in whom there is

not the slightest dependence to be placed. I gave authority to several

persons to raise partizans there, but they met with no success. When
I urged that the bridges over the railroad be destroyed, a parish delega-

tion entreated that it be not done, as it would bring down upon them
Yankee vengeance; they would only consent to assist, on condition

that I. should send a large body of troops there. Moreover, if the rail-

road had been deslrnyed, the stage of water was such that free access

could have been had to Thibodeaiix through bayou Lafourche. 1

therefore concluded, at the request of many of the most influential citi-

zens, to delay operations until thesubsiding water should have deprived

the enemy of the means of entering the interior at pleasure.

Had a contrary course been pursued, the whole country would have
been devastated without a possibility of preventing it. Nine olU of

every ten persons from that part of the country warmly approved of my
decision.

I trust that the department will not give ear to the many false and
absurd rumors that are set afloat by persons who think that there should

be an army stationed on every plantation for its protection.



303

I am satisfied that our present condition is to be attributed, in a great

measure, to the fact that we have followed this plan too much already,

dispersing instead of concentrating our troops, and thus rendering them
an easy prey to the enemy

.

Very respectfully, your obedient servant,

M. LOVELL,
Major' General Commanding.

(No, 133.) RicHAiOND, June 21, 1862.

General M. Lovell, Jackson, Miss.—
The arms sent to Jackson , were, by direction of the President, placed

at the disposal of Governor Pettus. It is hoped that there will be no
difference aljput the disposition proper to be made of them.

G. W.-'RANDOLPH,
Secretary of War.

CORRESPONDENCE BETWEEN THE PRESIDENT, WAR
DEPARTMENT AND GOV. T. O. MOORE,

Relating to the Defences of New Orleans. Submitted in response to a,

Resolution of the House of Representatives, passed 'id Feb., 1863.

CORRESPONDENCE.

Governor Moore to President Davis,

(No. 1.) Headquarters Louisiana Militia, ^
,N6W Orleans, Sept. 20, 1861. \

Hon. Jefferson Davis,
President Confederate States—

Dear Sir : I am now endeavoring to organize the militia of my
State, in order that we may be in some state of preparation for an attack.

The generals, and some of their subordinates, at a recent meeting to

concert measures to this end, adopted the following resolution, which,
at their request, I forward to you :

<f Resolved, That the Governor of this State be requested respectfully
to write immediately to the President of the Confederate States, and
ask his excellency to appoint and send to New Orleans two competent
superior officers, one of the corps of engineers and one of the artillery,

to form with General Twiggs a board of defence."
Without sanctioning the request contained in the last part of the res-

olution, concerning the board of defence, which appears to me not con-
sonant to military usage or propriety, I have already represented to you
the necessity of having an officer here, who, with youth, energy and
military ability, would infuse some activity in our preparations and some
confidence in our people, I hope, ere this, General Van Dorn has ac-



304

quainted you with my views, which, from motives of delicacy, I pre-

ferred to deliver to him verbally in a confidential conversation.

The generals of my militia have designated the corps from which the

officers to be sent here should be selected. I leave that to your good
judgment, asking only that this city, the most important to be preserved

of any in the Confederacy, and our coast, the most exposed of all the

States, be no longer neglected.

I am, very respectfnlly, your obedient servant,

(Signed) THOMAS O. MOORE.

Governor Moore to Secretary of War.

(No. 2.) New Orleans, Sept. 22, 1861.

J. P. Benjamin,
Acting Secretary of War, Richmond, Va.—

Dear Sir: Some time since Capt. W. W. Breazeale sent me his res-

ignation to be forwarded to the Secretary of War, on account of ill •

health, but he has recovered his health and desires to withdraw it. If it

has not been accepted please return it to him at Natchitoches. He be-

longs to the third regiment (Col. Hebert) of Louisiana Volunteers in

Missouri, and a high-toned, gallant gentleman, and participated in the

battle of Oak Mills with distinction.

I am looking anxiously for the officers you promised to send us. A
gentleman by the name of Smith, I believe from New York, is much
desired here, or Capt. Boggs at Pensacola. I have felt considerable

anxiety (but never have mentioned it, except to Moise,) about assist-

anc here when it should be required. You are now in a situation not

to send oflf a man from Virginia, Kentucky or Missouri. What should

we do in Louisiana if we should be attacked by even thirty thousand

men ? when all are gone and arms too ? Our fortifications are very

backward. ' We have but one engineer here, (Major Smith,) and he is

not an active one according to my judgment. I am not satisfied with

our situation

—

not at all; and should we be attacked by any strong

force, I am fearful of the result.

My arms have all been given out, and all gone. We could get the

men, but would be of no use.

I sent to Cuba for guns long since, and made a failure. I, have now
one thousand eight hundred there, if I could get them, besides I

have sent a considerable amount to another point, bat whether I shall

ever get them or not I do not know, and as for our reliance on the as-

sistance of any volunteers now in those States where hostilities exist,

whether from our State or others, it is very poor. It is high time ample

provision was made for the reception of our enemies. If they cannot

raise soldiers rapidly, they can, it is said, raise any number of sailors

and marines. Dr. Mackei writes from Nashville (just arrived there from

the North) that gigantic measures are being adopted at the North for a

move on Louisiana, and no secret in the matter, and that he believes it

will be made soon. Now, my dear sir, do at once what may be neces-

sary for our State. I cant't say any more, as my office is JUlled mth
talkers.
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I am anxious for saltpetre. I am alarmed to death for want of pow-
der. Aid us in these materials, as we could fight but a short time with
present supply.

By the very earnest solicitations of General Polk, General Twiggs
has consented to send the third regiment to him, so you can, if agree-
able, leave the fourth here, but if it remains across the lake it would
do no good for the defence of the city.

General Dahlgreen is over the lake with fifteen hundred or two thou-
sand men. Is that force not sufficient? I desire to write you relative

to the gentleman above, and may do so. If I do not another will.

Yours, very truly,

(Signed) THOMAS O. MOORE.

(No. 3.) New Orleans, September 22d, 1861.

J. P. Benjamin, Richmond—
Letters 16th received. Thirteenth regiment ordered to Columbus.

Can't the fourth remain ? Send officers at once. I dispatched you for

saltpetre. None yet received

.

(Signed) T. O. MOORE.

(No. 4.) Richmond, <Sie/)#emier 23rf, 1861.

Governor 1l. O. Moore, New Orleans—
I shall not move the fourth regiment from Louisana without the most

urgent necessity. Shall send one or two brigadier generals to New
Orleans this week. Two tons of saltpetre were ordered from Augusta
to New Orleans on the 19th instant.

(Signed) J.P.BENJAMIN,
Acting Secretary of War.

(No. 5.) New Orleans, September 25, 1861.

J. P. Benjamin, Richmond—
General Twiggs requests me to seize all the pork in city—about two

thousand five hundred barrels. Shall I do it?

(Signed) T. O. MOORE.

(No. 6.) Richmond, September 25th, 1861.

Governor T. O. Moore, Neiv Orleans—
I know no necessity for seizing the pork. Do you see any need of

it?
^

(Signed) J. p. BENJAMIN,
Acting Secretary of War.

39
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(No. 7.) Richmond, September 25th, 1861.

Governor T. O. Moore, Neio Orleans—
I have ordered one hundred barrels of cannon powder sent to you

from Nashville, and ten more tons of saltpetre from Augusta.

(Signed) J. P. BENJAMIN,
Acting Secretary of War

(No. 8.) Richmond, Ya., September 26, 1861.

Gov. Thos. O. Moore, of Louisiana—
Sir: Yours of the 20th instant, containing a copy of a resolution

which you informed me was adopted by the generals and some of the

subordinates of the militia of Louisiana has been received. 1 concur

in your objection to a proposition for a " board of defence;" and in re-

lation to the other point, would say, that long since one of the best offi-

cers in the engineer corps, and of superior rank. Major M. L. Smith,

was sent to Louisiana to perform the duties of chief engineer there. If

from any cause he has been found incompetent, I regret that the evi-

dence was not laid before me so that he might have been removed.

General Yan Dorn has not communicated to me the views which

you intrusted to him to be orally delivered; but from various sources

I have learned that General Twiggs has proven unequal to his com-

mand. As in his selection I yielded much to the solicitation of the

people of New Orleans, I think they should sooner have informed me
'
of the mistake they had made. Your own recent letter was the first

information received by me. I have, however, directed Mansfield

Lovell, who is no doubt known to you by reputation, to be appointed

a brigadier general, and assigned to duty in connection ^vlth the de-

fences of New Orleans and the adjacent coast. It is some weeks since

I met a committee from your city, charged with propositions for the

defences of New Orleans, and had hoped the needfiil works for defence

were under construction and repair. In the meantime I have endeavored

to provide the necessary armament and munitions.

Should your worst apprehensions be realized—which I cannot bring

myself to believe, when I remember how much has been done for the

defence of New Orleans since 1815, both in the construction of works

and facilities for transportation—I hope a discriminating public will ac-

quit this government of having neglected the defences of your coast,

and approaches to New Orleans.

I am, very respectfully, your obedient servant,

(Signed) JEFFERSON DAYIS.
A true copy:

Burton N. Harrison, Private Secretary.

(No. 9.) New Orleans, »Sejt7^cwi6er 27;A, 1861

.

J . P Benjamin, Richmond—
No pork here except amount mentioned. What are we to do for our

volunteers here? Answer.
(Signed) T.O.MOORE.
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J. P. BENJAMIN; Richmond—
JMy guns are gone—are all distributed ? Can any be had? 1 tele-

graphed you about pork I seized. Answer.
(Signed) T. O. MOORE.

(No. 11.) New Orleans^ September 2^th, 1861.

J. P. BENjAftiiN; Richmond—
I seized pork against your advice. Will release if not wanted

Generals not arrived. Have not arms for volunteers in camp. Hav
you any? What am I to do? Answer.

(Signed) T. O. MOORE.

Governor Moore to Secretary of War.

(No. 12.) New Orleans, September 29, 186L
.Hon. J. P. Benjamin—
My Dear Sir: I have about three thousand j&ve hundred men ir^

camp, organized into companies, and three regiments formed, including
the thirteenth, Colonel Gibsons, and have not arms for them all. I am
now sorry that 1 ever sent off so many, as they, with the volunteers

who took them off are so occupied, I fear I shall not get them back
when needed. It seems that all will be wanted that are in Virginia,

Tennessee, Kentucky and Missouri, where thej^ are, if so, we are here
certainly in rather an unpleasant situation, foi" if we could raise the
men we could not arm them. Our fortifications have progressed slowly,

it having rained almost every day since they were commenced, but
now we are getting on more rapidly, the weather improved, and more
force put on the works. We are mucK in need of engineers and other
officers; as I before wrote you, I see the necessity for them daily. Gen-
eral Twiggs' age precludes the possibility of his doing the laboi»neces-

sary to a command of the magnitude and importance of this, and an
officer here should be able to visit and inspect every place. Even were
I possessed of the military qualifications, with my present oflicial duties

I could do nothing in that way. The raft was placed across the river

at the forts on yesterday I think; it was all ready, and the engineer went
down to place it three days since, so I trust nothing can pass the forts.

We have not heard of the fleet that has left with the twenty thou-
sand men, but I have no doubt, and that is the impression generally,
that it is destined to other points besides Brunswick. We can be greatly
harassed here on our entire coast, and no doubt will be, and I am
kept constantly distressed at the incompetency, as I consider, of our
commander. If anything is to be done here you m^ust send us offijcers

and more arms. The fourth regiment, I trust, will not be sent off, but,

that it will be brought over. Cannot General Dahlgreen take care of

the lake coast ? 1 fear he is not the man that should be there.
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I am now waiting lor the saltpetre; as I am informed the mill is

ready, but everything by rail moves so slow! so slow! I have had
Major Ramsey to dispatch the whole Ime to forward it as fast as possi-

ble. The amount of powder here is very small, compared to what is

necessary, and a knowledge of that fact keeps up a constant excitement

among our people.

I, notwithstanding your advice to the contrary, seized the pork in

the city, and telegraphed you, (but have had no reply,) and shall hold

it unless requested by you to act otherwise, as I see no way to feed our

troops without it, but hope you do, as your advice was to that effect.

Write me fully on that point.

Is the government doing anything to clothe and shoe our troops? I

do not learn that it is. I have sent a suit of clothes and under clothes,

blankets and shoes to our regiment in Missouri, and blankets for our

entire force in Virginia, and clothing for the first and second regiments,

with shoes also for the wholeforce, but provision ought to be made for

another pair of shoes, as some of those I sent, I fear, will not last very

well, but they were the best to be had.

Have arrangements been made by government for arms in Europe?
certainly arms ought to have been procured before this. I have about

one thousand six hundred in Havana, and have one hundred and fifty

thousand dollars in England to purchase more; the only trouble is to

get them here. Can't Mr. Slidell, who leaves soon, give some aid and'

advice in the matter? he knows the parties acting for me. I expect

something done, indeed, everything that is necessary for, us, for I have
tried to do so for the Confederacy. I hardly know what I have written,

I am so constantly troubled by visitors on business.

Yours, trnly

(Signed) THOS. O. MOORE.

Dr. Stone visits Richmond on business generally, relative to our

situation here, and can give j'^ou a great deal of information as to our

wants, etc.

(No .,13.) Richmond, ^ept. 30, 1861.

Gov, Thos. O. Moohe, New Orleans—
I can conceive no possible reason for seizing pork, and cannot ap-

prove it. There is an abundance of food in our country, and private

rights ought not be invaded, except in cases of necessity for public

defence.

(Signed) J. P. BPJNJAMIN,
Acting Secretary of War.

(No. 14.) Richmond, Sept. 30, 1861.

Gov. Thos. O. Moork, Neiv Orleans—
Your several dispatches about arms and Generals received. Pray

have a little patience. I am doing the best I can with the means at my
disposal, and you don't allow mc time to concert the arrangements
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iiecessaiy to satisfy you. In two or three days I will inform you fully
of what is to be done.

(Signed) J. P. BENJAMIN,
Acting Seci'etary of War.

Secretary of War to Gov. Moore.

(No. 15.) "Confederate States of America,)
War Department, \

Richmond, Oc^oier 13, 1861. )

To Gov. Tiios. O. Moore, New Orleans—
My Dear Sir: I snatch a moment this (Sunday) evening to answer

your favor of 29th ultimo. .

Matters have been so changed since the date of that letter that it is

scarcely necessary to do more than say, that I have used every effort in
my power to put in such a position as shall allay all fears relative to the
defences of New Orleans.

Major General Mansfield Lovell, a brilliant, energetic and accom-
])lished officer, has been assigned to the command of your department.
Powder, saltpetre and cannon have been forwarded, and will be still

further supplied as fast as they can be possibly spared, and the recent
gallant dash of Gapt. HoUins at the blockading fleet, must have in-

fused new life and spirit into our people.

The government is fast providing, to the extent of its ability, shoes
and clothing for our troops, and is greatly relieved in this herculean
task by the patriotic and generous aid of just such Governors of States
as our own " Tom Moore,"

T am sure you will be persuaded that nothing I can do shall be left

undone for the defence of Louisiana, whilst you would not wish, I am
equally sure, that 1 should neglect the defences of other points of im-
portance in order to concentrate all our resources in New Orleans alone.

Yours, very truly,

(Signed) J. P. BENJAMIN.

(No, 16.) New Orleans, Oct. 14, 1861

Hon. J. P. Benjamin, Secretary of War, Richmond—
We want muskets without delay. Send us some.

(Signed) T.O.MOORE.

\No. IT.) Richmond, OcM6, 1861,

Gov. Thos. O. Moore, New Orleans—
Will send you the very first muskets that 1 can dispose of.

(Signed) J. P. BENJAMIN,
Acting Secretary of War,
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(No. IS.) New Orleans, Oc^. 23, 1861.

Hon. J . P. Benjamin, Secretary of War, Richmond—
Harris G. Pearson, of '^ Orleans Southerns," 5th Louisiana regi-

ment, Col. Hunt, at Williamsburg, is wanted here to drill " Crescent "

artillery. Can he be spared ? Answer.
(Signed) T. O. BIOORE.

(No. 19.) Richmond, Oc/. 26, 1861.

Gov. T. O. MooRE, A^ei^? Orleans, La.—
I have sent two fine artillery officers to Louisiana within a week.

—

Cannot take anybody from the Peninsula of Virginia at present. Will

continue to send good officers as fast as I can get them.
(Signed) J. P. BENJAMIN,

Acting Secretary of War.

(No. 20.) New Orleans, Nov. S, 1861.

Hon. J. P. Benjamin, Secretary of War, Richmond—
Mill here now ready. Can make three thousand (3,000) pounds

powder per day, hut without an ounce of saltpetre. Can't you send
it from Memphis ?

(Signed) T. O. MOORE.

(No. 21.) Richmond, ISov. 8, 1861.

Gov. Thos. O. Moore, New Orleans—
It is impossible for me to comprehend what has become of the salt-

petre sent to New Orleans. I have sent twenty-four tons, and cannot
learn that one pound has been received, or one pound of powder made.
On the 26th September, three tons were sent by freight; on 27th Sep-

tember, one ton was sent by express; on the 1st October, three tons

were sent by express; on 2d October, seven tons were sent by express;

on 2d November, ten tons were sent by express. All this was sent

from Augusta, and I cannot get the acknowledgment that one pound
was ever received, and you now say you have not one ounce. This
mystery must be explained before I can send any more.

(Signed) J. P. BENJAMIN,
Acting Secretary of War.

(!ov. MooRi: TO Secretary of War.

(No. 22.) New Orleans, i>ec. 2, 186L

J. P. Benjamin, Acting Secretary of War—
My Dear Sir: I desire to introduce to you Capt. John A. Stephen-

son. Capt. S. is a commission merchant of New Orleans of high
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standing. He constructed and built the Manassas. He is a man of

large river experience, having for many years had command of steam-
boats on the Mississippi. Great confidence is felt by our community
in his skill, energy and ability, so much so that they are ready to ad-
vance the means to build, under his superintendence, another " ram."
This, however, they will not do without some assurance that the gov-
ernment will not take the boat out of the possession and control of
Capt. S. The fact is, that while great confidence is felt here in Com.
Hollins as a naval officer, our people are convinced that he is led astray
in his judgment of individuals, as he has no just means .of forming
a correct estimate of their character and ability. It is no disparagement
to his ability as an officer to say this much of him, and it is said in the
best and friendliest spirit. We all hope you will aid in carrying out
the wishes of our people, and do all in your power to further the object

in view. Capt. Stevenson will communicate freely with you. You
can rely upon him.

Very truly yours,
(Signed) THOS. O. MOORE.

(No. 23.) New Orleans, Jan. 1, 1862.

Hon. J. P. Benjamin:

Dear Sir: I must earnestly request the 13th Louisiana regiment,
as well as the third (3d) Mississippi, be ordered back to New Orleans.
The wretchedly armed green troops sent here from Mississippi cannot
supply the place of Gibson's regiment armed by me. We are here en-
titled to that regiment, and I should have urged that they should not
have been permitted to leave, if the implied promise of Gen. Polk had
not been given that they would have been returned when needed.

—

They are needed.

Yours, very truly,

(Signed) THOS. O. MOORE.

Governor Moore to Secretary op War.

(No. 24.) New Orleans, Jan. 31, 1862.

To tJie Hon. J. P. Benjamin,
Secretary of War, Richmond, Va.—

Sir : 1 have in Havana some eighteen hundred and odd Enfield and
Brunswick rifles; on board the Gladiator at Nassau about five hundred;
and about eight hundred at Cardenas, if the Stephen Hart that left

Liverpool early in November for that port, has arrived. You have a
valuable cargo of arms, etc., on the Gladiator at Nassau, and arms at
Cardenas, for which Mr. Heyliger was sent. The difficulty thus far in
getting these arms to the Confederate States has proven insuperable. In
order to obtain them, as they are so greatly needed , I am willing to in-
cur a heavy risk to get those belonging to this State, if you will join in
the adventure, and the risk in proportion to the amount of arms, etc.,
which you have at the places referred to. I propose to take up a fast
steamer, we have many here, send her out with or without cotton as
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you prefer, and bring home the arms. 1 will take care that she is pro-

perly officered, with competent river and coast pilots on board. There
are a number of steamers here that can out-run anything in the navy of
the United States, and I feel great confidence in the success of the en-
terprise.

If you will share in the risk on the terms proposed, telegraph imme-
diately.

Very respectfully, your obedient servant,

THO. O. MOORE, Governor.

(No. 25.) New Orleans, Feb. 15, 1862.

J. P. Benjamin, Richmond—
The new militia law, like the old, requires all residents to do miUtary

duty. The French, English, Spanish, and other foreign consuls pro-

test against it, their respective nationalties being ordered outside the

limits of the city. I do not wish to do anything that will conflict with
the police* of the Government; therefore, how shall I treat these con-

suls—how respond to their protest ? Answer immediately.

(Signed) T. O. MOORE.

* So written in the telegpam. Doubtle«s " policy " was intended.

(No. 26.) Richmond, Feb. 16, 1862.

Gov. Thos. O. Moore, New Orleans—
Foreign residents are bound to do duty in defence of the city, which

is their home. But the President does not deem it politic to insist on
their serving outside of the city defences.

J. P. BENJAMIN,
Secretary of War.

(No. 27.) C. S. A. War Department, 7
Richmond, Feb. 24, 1862. j"

His Excellency Thos. O. Moore,
Neu) Orleans, Louisiana-^

Sir: I must apologise to you for my delay in replying to your letter

of the 31st ultimo, but amidst the immense pressure of business on this

department such omissions are sometimes unavoidable.

I can now only inform you that before the receipt of your letter ar-

rangements had been made for all the arms of the Confederate Govern-

ment in the West Indies.

Respectfully,

(Signed) J. P. BENJAMIN,
Secretary of War,
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(No. 28.) New Orleans, Feb. 26, 1862,

Ho7i. J. p. Benjamin, Richmond—
Raising war troops is extremely difficult and slow. If Beauregard's

need of reinforcements be as great as we here consider it, and you will
accept volunteers for that special service for a few months, I can send
him relief immediatelv. Answer quickly and state shortest time.

(Signed)
'

T. O. MOORE, Governor.

(No. 29.) Richmond, March 1 , 1862.

Gov. Thos. O. Moore, New Orleans—
You may accept all armed men that will go to reinforce Gen. Beaure-

gard for a term of six months, under the law for local defence and spe-

cial service.

(Signed) J. P. BENJAMIN,
Secretary of War,

(No. 30.) Executive Office, ")

New Orleans, Feb. 26, 1862. f
To his Excellency Jefferson Davis,

President of the Confederate States, Richmond—
Sir: This letter will be delivered to you by Mr. William Henderson,

a citizen of this place, and a gentleman of probity, integrity and excel-

lent standing. I have deputed him as a special messenger to place in

your hands a memorial from the executive sub-committee of a " com-
mittee of safety," appointed by the city council to render such aid as

they may be able to the State and Confederate authorities in this de-

partment. I refer you to the memorial itself for its design, and to Mr.
Henderson for any explanations you may desire, not embodied in the

memorial.
I cannot suppose that your excellency has been fully apprised of the

evils which the memorial presents to your at ention and consideration,

and I most earnestly recommend it to you. Your excellency will no
doubt appreciate th? necessity for immediate action to preserve not only

the dignity and credit of the navy department, but also to provide such
defences as we are in absolute and immediate need of.

Citizens as well as the incorporated banks of the city are generous in

their support of the Government, and I have no fears that this generosity

will be abused.

I am, sir, with great respect, your obedient servant,

(Signed) THOS. O. MOORE,
Governor of Louisiana.

A true copy :

Burton N. Harrison, Private Secretary,

40
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(No. 31.) New Orleans, Feb. 26, 1862.

To his Excellency The President

Of the Confederate States of America—

Sir: In the present disturbed condition of our country it has been

deemed expedient by our city council to appoint a committee of some

sixty persons to be styled the " Committee of Safety."

The object of said committee is to aid and co-operate with the State

and Government authorities in rendering this department as complete

and effectual as possible. The committee is composed of gentlemen of

standing and influence, and have appointed the undersigned, their

executive committee, who are not insensible of the labors and re-

sponsibilities placed upon them. They feel that your excellency will

not be offended at their desire to co-operate with the constitutional au-

thorities in this our struggle for liberty and independence.

They find, from investigation, that the naval department at this sta-

tion as far as finances are concerned, is in a most deplorable condition,

retarding by this course the manufacture of all kinds for that depart-

ment; also, preventing the enlisting of men for that branch of the public

service.
, , ,,,,. , ,

The undersit'ned committee have been led to believe that your excel-

lency could no? be aware of the extent to which the naval department

at this station has been reduced.
, , , ,

They therefore beg leave respectfully to represent some of the bad

effects which will naturally and certainly follow in case this defect is

not promptly remedied by placing an adequate amount of funds

at the disposal of that department to hquidate its present indebtedness,

and provide for future contingencies.

The present outstanding indebtedness, (judgmg from facts placed be-

fore this committee,) cannot be less than six or eight hundred thousand

dollars. A large portion of this is owing to the foundries for shells,

fuse, <fcc., to the machine shops, to draymen, &c., (fcc. Many of the

bills have been approved by the proper officers, and still no means pro-

vided for their payment, although some of them have stood over for four

or six months. It has come to the positive knowledge of this committee

that some of these establishments, (so much needed in the present

emergency,) have given notice that, for want of the requisite means,

they are forced to decline any further orders from the Government.

It has also come to the knowledge of this committee that private citi-

zens have repeatedly been forced to raise funds for this department in

order to prevent the mechanics in the employ of the Government from

stopping work. Indeed, so low has the credit of that particular depart-

ment sunk, that draymen, whose bills are yet unpaid, have refused to

do further work.

Your excellency will doubtless agree with the committee that this is

a deplorable state of things. The committee have been careful to in-

vestigate the facts so as not to place before your excellency anything

which cannot be substantiated.

For months and months a sign has been hanging over the paymas-

ter's office of that department "no funds." The committee feel confi-

dent that, unless the proper remedy is at once applied, workmen can-

not longer be had.
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Tlie committee most respectfully submit this statement of lacts to

your consideration, and for the interest of our common cause, and the
safety of our city, would respectfully request that you would give our
citizens, through this committee, some assurance that the present state

of affairs in that department will be changed for the better.

(Signed) S. L. JAMES,
S. O. NELSON,
J. P. HARRISON,
R. O. CUMMINGS,
T. GREENFIELD.

A true copy:
Burton N. Harrison, Private Secretary.

Endorsed by the President:
'' Secretary of the Navy for prompt attention and report.

(Signed; "JEFFERSON DAVIS."

J62. )

(No .32.) Confederate States of America
,

War Department,
Richmond, March 8, 1862.

To the President—
Sir: For your information I have the honor to make the following

statement in reference to the communication of the committee of safety

of New Orleans, submitted to me this day.
The credit of the government has doubtless suffered in New Orleans

from the failure of the treasury to meet the requisitions of the depart-

ment, and this has been a constant source of embarrassment to the de-

partment, and of annoyance to its creditors and disbursing agents in

that city.

I have repeatedly brought the subject to the attention of the Secretary

of the Treasury, and invoked* prompt payment, though I have felt that

with his limited power to produce treasury notes, and under the rule

adopted giving priorty to certain disbursements for the array, he was
powerless to correct the evil. Here is my last letter to him upon the

subject. (Letter to the Secretary of the Treasury, dated February
22d, 1862.) The requisitions of this department, upon the treasury for

money to meet payments in New Orleans, have usually been made im-
mediately upon hearing from its disbursmg officers the amount required,

and always, I think, within twenty-four hours thereafter j but the delay

of the treasury in paying them, has been from twenty-five to forty days.

In some cases the Treasury Department has, after long delay, instead

of sending notes, for which our creditors were waiting, sent drafts for

Confederate bonds, payable in Richmond, and which drafts were use-

less to our agents and creditors there, and which, therefore, had to be
returned to Richmond for payment, and then sent to New Orleans, thus
still further protracting payment.

This has been a source of great embarrassment to this department,
and complaint of its creditors. In one of these cases a requisition for

$42,000 was dated December 24th, 1861, payable to navy agent, Wm.
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B. Howellj on the Gtli February, 1S62, he received a draft, one half in

notes and one half in bonds, at Richmond. His letter of advice was
received February 15th, and on the 17th of February I called upon the*

treasurer for the requisition, forty-eight days afterwards.

When the department draws its requisition in favor of its creditors,

upon an existing appropriation, its duty and its power are aUke ex-

hausted, and though the department has endured the embarrassment
consequent upon these delays, and which it had not the poworto avert;

it has felt that the condition of the treasury rendered them inevitable,

and that the responsibility for them was with that department. Our
agents are instructed to make all contracts they can payable partly in

bonds, and they do so, and in such cases our requisition calls for the

amount of bonds to be sent; but the treasury, as you will see by the

Secretary's letter, deems it proper to send bonds, when not required,

and when we cannot use them, and embarrassment to the department
and losses to creditors inevitably follow. Our agents, from the nature

of their disbursement, can dispose of bonds only to a very Umited
extent.

The following telegram from our navy agent, and the treasury com-
ments thereon,* will thus show the character of these .transactions:

"Telegram." "Ordnance money received; one-half in drafts on Rich-
mond, payable in bonds which cannot use. Shall I pay fi-)r what stores

received as advised you in ray letter of Feb. Sth. Answer of Secre-

tary. 1 return you the telegram of navy agent Howell; if you will ex-

amine the acts of Congress, 5^ou will find that a large amount of the

means furnished by Congress to pay tiie expenditures consists of bonds;
these must be distributed among these expenditures lor which alone

they can be used, and I see no remedy but to require your agents to

make their contracts accordingly. It is not possible to supply the

means, except in the form provided by Congress, and if the agents, in-

stead of complaining, would set themselves to aid the government by
disposing of the bonds, there would be no difficulty."

Similar cases are constantly occurring, and this day I am notified by
telegram, that upon a requisition to pay a -debt due in notes, drawn by
me one month ago, one-third of the amount was sent to New Orleans
in bonds, which, of course, the creditors decline to receive.

Embarrassment to creditors has also arisen in New Orleans from the
following circumstances : Captain HoUins, without the knowledge or

authority of the department, without acqainting it with his actions,

and when no appropriation existed for meeting the payment, made
contracts for ordnatice and ordnance stores amounting to about .^500,000.
The amount of these contracts was, for a long time, unknown to the
department, and information of their extent was first acquired through
the contractors themselves. The navy agent and an officer sent spe-

cially for the purpose, were instructed to ascertain their amount, and
an estimate was submitted to Congress, and an appropriation obtained
to pay them at the earliest possible moment thereafter, and on the very
day J received the act of Congress, I made a requisition for the fimds,
and they have been placed in New Orleans to meet all demands which
have come to hand.
The statement of the committee of safety, as to the amount of in-

debtedness is totally incorrect. No such amount as from .|>600,000 to
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$800,000 has been outstanding, and if the treasury dej)artuient has
sent to the disbursing agents of this department, the money for its re-

quisition of the 1st of March for |)300,000, they have funds in hand
more than sufficient to meet every cent due by the department, and of
Avhich.it has any knowledge.

I annex copies of my letters to the treasury department, and hcrc-

Avith return the communication of the committee of safety.

I am, respectfully, your obedient servant,

S. R. MALLORY,
Secretary of the Navy.

A copy of the foregoing report Avas forAvarded to the '^committee of

safety," by the President's direction, by his Private Secretary, as soon
as received.

BURTON N. HARRISON,
Private Secretary.

Richmond, Ya., March 6, 1863.

(No. 33.) Neav Orleans, March 4, 1862.

J. P. Benjamin, Richmond—
Am rapidly organizing troops under Beauregard's call for ninety day

men, dated February twenty-eighth, in accordance Avith act twenty-
first August. TheyAvilljI have no doubt, re-enlist. Bid the Nash-
ville bring arms for me ? If so, pray order them forward at once, as

the troops going away Avill leave so iew arms behind that we shall have
a panic, I fear.

(Signed) THOS. O. MOORE, Governor. .

(No. 34.) Richmond, March 6, 1862.

Governor T. O. Mooiie, New Orleans—
The Nashville brought na arm.s.

(.Signed)
^

J. P. BENJAMIN,
Secretary of War.

(No. 3.5.) Neav Orleans, JMa/rch 6, 1862.

J. P. Benjamin, Secretary of War, Richmond-—
On the second (2) of February G. T. Raoiil offerej^ to build certain

gun carriages at five hundred and fifty dollars each. Offer accepted by
Colonel Gorgas on fifteenth. Letter received two daj^s ago. Price of
iron so much advanced that he cannot build under six hundred and
fifty. Shall he build at that price? The longer the delay the higher
Avill be the price of iron. If the proposition be accepted forward draw-
ings immediately. Answer.

(Signed) T. O. MOORE.
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(No, 30.) Richmond, March 12, 1862.

Governor Thos. O. Moore, Neto Orleans—
If you want the gun carriages in New Orleans, you may take what

you want from G. T. Raoul at six hundred and fifty dollars, as you
suggest, but we do not want any here at that price.

(Signed) J.P.BENJAMIN,
Secretary of War.

[Telegram.]

(No. 37.) Richmond, Va., March 13, 1862.

Governor Thomas O. Moore, New Orleatis, La.—
You are requested to proclaim martial law in my name over the

Parishes of Orleans, Jefferson, St. Bernard and Plaquemines.
(Signed) JEFFERSON DAVIS.

A true copy:

Burton N. Harrison, Private Secretary.

(No. 38.) New Orleans, March 22, 1862.

J. P. Benjamin, Richmond—
Steamships which left England about first (1st) February, must be

in Nassau now. I have a supply of arms on her, so have you. Tele-

graph inunediately if you intend to send for the cargo. If you do not,

1 will send for my share.

(Signed) THOS. O. MOORE, Governor.

(No. 39.) Richmond, March 22, 1862.

Gov. T. O. Moore, New Orleans-

Am making arrangements to get a cargo from Nassau. I will act for

the State of Louisiana in the same manner as for the Confederate

States, if you authorize me.
(Signed) J.P.BENJAMIN,

Acting Secretary of War.

(No. 40.) New Orleans, April 1, 1862.

President Davis, Richmond—
I purchased, eight months ago, eighteen hundred and eighty (1880)

rifles, and thirty thousand (30,000) cartridges, and have just suc-

ceeded, alter infinite trouble, and over sixty thousand (60,000) dollars

of outlay, in having them landed on the Florida coast. They were at

once seized by Gov. Milton, and I telegraphed they must be sent to me.
I have received liis reply, in which he coolly informs me he has taken

onp half (.^,) and your Secretary of War the other. This unpardona-
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ble arid unparalleled outrage is nothing less than robbery, and just as

bad. I cannot use Louisiana's money to buy arms when they are to

be seized by the first free-booter that meets them. I have given out

all the arms I had, expecting that these would be in the hands of my
own troops. Now that thirty-seven sail of the enemy are in the river,

in God's name, in the name of my State, I ask you to order them to be

sent to me immediately.

(Signed) THOMAS O. MOORE,

(No. 41.) New Orleans, April I, 1862,

J. P. Benjamin, Richmond—
Please see the dispatch sent the President to-day, and urge the for-

warding of Louisiana arms to me.
(Signed) THOMAS O. MOORE.

(No. 42.) Richmond, April 2, 1862.

Gov. MooRE, New Orleans—
I wag not aware that the arms in the hands of Gov. Milton belonged

to the State of Louisiana. One half of them sent to Pensacola have
been ordered to be placed subject to your order, and I have requested

Gov. Milton to make the same disposition of the remainder. He took

them, supposing that they were arms given him by Mr. Benjamin,
when, in fact, they were part of a different cargo. I did not know,
until Mr. Benjamin informed me of it, that the arms held by Gov.
Milton were a part of the cargo of the Florida. Col. T. M. Jones,

commanding at Pensacola, will communicate to you the arrival of the

arms at that place.

(Signed) G. W. RANDOLPH,
Secretary of War.

[Telegram.]

(No. 43.) New Orleans, April A, 1862.

President Davis—
Can you get guns and ammunition that came by Florida? Is it pos-'

sible they were seized by the Secretary of War ?

(Signed) THOMAS O. MOORE,
Governor.

[Telegram.]

(No. 44.) Richmond, April 5, 1862.

Govt T. O. Moore, New Orleansj La.—
* * * The mistake of Governor of Florida has been cor-

rected, and arms are reported to be ea route to you.
(^Signed) JEPFKRSQN DAVIS.

A true copy:

Burton N; Harrison, Private Secretary,
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[Telegram.]

(No. 45.) Richmond, April 10, 1862.

To the Governors of Mississippi, Louisiana, South Carolina, Georgia
and Alabama—

Gen. Beauregard must have reinforcements to meet the vast accumu-
lation of the enemy before him. The necessity is imminent; the case

of vital importance. Send forward to Corinth all the armed men you
can furnish.

(Signed) JEFFERSON DAVIS.

[Telegram.]

(No. 46.) New Orleans, April 11, 1862.

Jefferson Davis—
Can troops be armed if I send them ? 1 have no arms here except

those Gen. Lovell thinks we should keep -those just received from

Pensacola.
(Signed) THOS. O. MOORE.

[Telegram.]

(No. 47.) Richmond, April. U, 1862.

Governor T. O. Moore—
No arms to furnish. You will not fail to appreciate the necessity

which caused the application to you. If you could spare armed troops

for a few weeks, they might then be returned to you.

(Signed) JEFFERSON DAVIS.
A true copy:

Burton N. Harbison, Private Secretary.

(No. 48.) New Orleans, April 11, 1862.

G. W. Randolph, Secretary of War, Richmond-

Gov. Milton will not forward my guns. John Leeds, my agent, has

been waiting at Columbus, Ga., one week. Order them sent, f am
greatly annoyed.

(Signed) THOMAS O. MOORE,
Governor of Louisiana.

(No. 49.) Richmond, Jjt?n7 14, 1862.

Gffv. Moore, New Orleans—
1 have telegraphed to Gov. Milton to deliver the arms to your agent

on his exhibiting his authority from you, and identifying the arms as

the property of Louisiana. If, however, the arms were originally taken
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by the agents of the Governor of Florida, and "not by our own, we
have no control over them. Under the circumstances of the landing,
it was impossible to distribute the cargo at the time.

(Signed) G. W. RANDOLPH,
Secretary of War.

[Telegram.]

(No. 50.) New Orleans, April 17, 1862.

President Davis—
Forts bombarded an hour and a half yesterday. Gen. Duncan tele-

graphs none of our guns will reach them. Com. Whittle has orders
from ' Secretary Navy to send the Louisiana to Tennessee. Duncan
and Higgins both telegraph she is absolutely a necessity at the forts for
the safety of New Orleans, and that it is suicidal to send her elsewhere.
With the enemy's plan of attack our safety may depend upon her
timely arrival there. I earnestly beg her destination may be changed,
and protest against her being sent up the river. Excitement among
the people great on the subject.

(Signed) THOMAS O. MOORE.
Governor of Louisiana

.

[Telegram.]

(No. 51.) Richmond, April 17, 1862.

Gov. T. O. Moore—
A dispatch was sent yesterday to General Lovell on the subject of the

attack on the Forts below. His answer was required in connection with
the question proposed by you.
The wooden vessels are below; the iron gun boats are above." The

forts should destroy the former if they attempt to ascend.

The Louisiana may be indispensable to check the descent of the iron
boats. The purpose is to defend the city and valley; the only question
is as to the best mode of effecting the object. Military men must de-
cide; and to-day their discretionary power has been enlarged.

(Signed) JEFFERSON DAVIS.
A true copy :

Burton N. Harrison, Private Secretary.

[Telegram.]

(No. 52.) New Orleans, April 2^, 1862.

Jefferson Davis, President—
Enemy's ships passed the forts this morning, after several days' bom-

bardment.
(Signed) THOS. O. MOORE,

41
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(No. 53.) Richmond, Ya., April 2i, 1862.

6^027. T. O. Moore—
^ # # # # # # Yonr dispatch in relation to enemy's ships,

this day received. I am in hopes that, while the forts divide the fleet,

the Louisiana will not lose the opportunity. Tn painful anxiety wait

further intelligence.

(Signed) JEFFERSOxN DAYIS.

A true copy:

Burton N. Harrison, Private Secretary.

Governor Moore to the President.

(No. 54.) Opelousas, May 21 , 1862.

Preside?2i Davis :

Dear Sir: Orders have already been issued by my Adjutant General

for the enrollment of conscripts, and notice has been given that the two

camps will be at Monroe and this place, but as I have already informed

vou, there will be no tents or provisions at either of them until you

send them. Should any conscripts reach the camps before these things

are provided, they will have to return home. I am stripped of every

thing I have—guns, munitions, forces, and commissary stores.

I must express my great regret that martial law could not be declared

in the parishes indicated to you; if it had been done, and the Provost

Marshals appointed by you, much, very much, serious trouble would

have been avoided. It was not to be expected that I would ever again

consent to the proclamation of martial law by Gen. Lovell, after the ur-

c^ent and persistent complaints I made to you of the action of his Pro-

vost Marshals which received his silent acquiescence, if not his open

approval. A part of my State is now in possession of our ruthless

enemy the remainder is a prey to internal dissension and the perils of

demoralization produced by the disorganized condition of the Confed-

erate forces, while there is not a Confederate officer in the whole of the

State, except a single parish (St. Helena) bordering the State line. I

have sent more than thirty thousand men into the field, every one fully

armed and equipped, besides emptying the arsenal I seized for the

benefit of neighboring States, with my own have clothed them since

they have been there, have given all the arms I bought to Confederate

troops, and have now, in this our calamity, not an officer to advise with

or a man to execute an order. I beg that a general may be assigned to

whatever department Louisiana may be placed in very soon.

A steamer, (name not known,) reached Grand Caillon on the night

of the 7th with three hundred and fifty thousand pounds powder and

four thousand five hundred rifles. The Federals, duly informed of it

by telegraph, which has not been cut from Terrebonne to New Orleans,

came by Opelousas railroad, which has not been interrupted, and took

possession of her on night of the 8th. A party of determined citizens

started on the lOth to recapture her. Eight hundred Federals were
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sent out from New Orleans and secured her, aud have sent lier to the
city. They have taken with them sixteen citizens, four of Avhom they
threaten to hang, declaring they are not prisoners of war, but persons
taken in rebellion si?ice the authority of the Union has been restored.

The fort at Grand Caillon had been evacuated on the 27th April by
order of General Lovell—the guns spiked, and the powder thrown into
the bayou. Eleven days after, the enemy made their first appearance
there, Thj|is the manner m which all bur forts (of course I do not
include Jaclson and St. Phillip) were evacuated. There was not a
Yankee near one of them until more than a week after the powder was
all destroyed, and the interior of fort burned—ample time was had to

have saved the o-uns as well as powder, etc. If, for these acts, some of

the officers are not cashiered or shot, we need not expect either a brave
or a disciplined army. The navy emulated this conduct of the army

—

the fleet in Pontchartraui beingrun up the bayous and scuttled or burnt.
It is absolutely necessary that some steps should be taken to stop the

incursions of the enemy in the lower part of the State. The only means
I now have is to organize bands of Partisan Rangers. If I wait for

captains to apply through General Lovell to Secretary of War the delays
will be ruinous, and I therefore have given to-day authority to Captain
Goode to raise a company of rangers for operation in Terrebonne. I

shall grant similar privileges to such others as circumstances rnay sug-
gest, and shall report all of them to Secretary of War, who I hope, will

confirm these authorizations.

I am, very respectfully, etc.,

(Signed) THOS. 0. MOORE,
Governor,

Upon this letter, the following endorsement was made by the Presi-

dent :

" Secretary of War for special attention. Call on General Lovell for

report as to fort at Grand Caillon.

J. D."

(No. 55.) C. S. A. War Department,
I

• Richmond, Jufie 10, 1862. ^
Major General M. Lovell,

Camp Moore, Tangipola, Louisiana—
General: Your attention is respectfully called to the annexed copy

of a letter received from a person in Louisiana, in regard to the evacua-

tion of the forts at Grand Caillon, and you are requested to report to this

department the facts of the case.

Very respectfully, your obedient servant,

(Signed) GEO. W. RANDOLPH,
Secretary of War.

[The enclosure was a paragraph from the foregoing letter of Governor
Moore.]
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Gen. Lovell to the Secretary of Wab.

(No. 56.) Confederate States of America,
^

Headquarters Department No. \, S-

Jackson, Miss., \Wi June, 1862. 3

Gen. G. W. Randolph,
Secretary of War,. Richmond, Va.— .^.

General: In reply to your letter of the 10th instant, requesting the

reasons fjr evacuating Fort Quitman, on the Bayou Grand Caillon,

I have to state that it was a little earth work, with two smooth bore

thirty-two pounders, established by me to prevent ingress for maraud-

ing purposes by the enemy, in small vessels, through the Caillon and
other inlets, into the southern parishes of Louisiana.

The fall of New Orleans laid open the route to those parishes, and as

the troops stationed in the fort were supplied from the city, and were at

any moment liable to be taken in rear and captured by way of the Ope-

lousas railroad, which was in the enemy's hands, I ordered the guns to

be spiked, and the garrison (a small company of twelve months volun-

teers) to bring away their small arras, the ammunition and the stores,

and to rejoin me at Camp Moore. The enemy did not go down, it is

true, for some days, but they could have gone at any hour and any day,

and taken the men with their arms, which I was anxious to preserve.

The order I gave was not obeyed. Instead of joining me at Camp
Moore, the men mutinied and disbanded, and both officers and men re-

turned to New Orleans. It would be well, as your correspondent sug-

gests, to punish the officers, but, as they are now in New Orleans, such

a step is impracticable.

A glance at the map, which I sent to the department some months
ago, will show that after the city fell, the little works on the coast must
be abandoned, being altogether unnecessary.

The report of the cargo of the vessel and her capture, as m all other

instances, is grossly exaggerated.

Some i'e.\v citizens fired upon two or three Federals, in retaliation; a

number of them were taken prisoners and threatened with death if they

did not produce the parties who had committed the act, but the penalty

was not inflicted.

I had no force to protect the people in that district of country^ but
sent an officer to raise a partizan corps for that purpose, yet the promi-
netit citize?is eaimestlij entreated that the corps should not be raised there,

unless I could send a large body of troops to protect them from the

additional outrages to which they would be subject from the Yankees
for having raised such a corjis. Haying no large force to send, and ob-

jections being raised to a small one, 1 countermanded the order.

The fact is, that that part of the country is inhabited by two classes

of people—the rich, fearful of their property and not anxious to resist

unless supported by an army in every parish—and the poor miserable

mixed breed, commonly called Dagos or Aeadians, in whom there is

not the sligluest dependence to be placed. I gave authority to several

persons to raise partizans there, but they met with no success. When
I urged that the bridges over the railroad be destroyed, a parish delega-

tion entreated that it be not done, as it would bring down upon them
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Yankee vengeance; they would only consent to assist, on condition

that I should send a large body of troops there. Moreover, if the rail-

road had been destroyed, the stage of water was such that free access

could have been had to Thibodeaux through bayou Lafourche. 1

therefore concluded, at the request of many of the most influential citi-

zens, to delay operations until the subsiding water should have deprived
the enemy of the means of entering the interior at pleasure.

Had a contrary course been pursued, the whole country would have
been devastated without a possibility of preventing it. Nine out of

every ten persons from that part of the country warmly approved of my
decision.

I trust that the department will not give ear to the many false and
absurd rmnors that are set afloat by persons who think there should be
an army stationed on every plantation for its protection.

I am satisfied that our present condition is to be attributed, in a great

measure, to the fact that we have followed this plan too much already,

dispersing instead of concentrating our troops, and thus rendering them
an easy prey to the enemy.

Very respectfully, your obedient servant,

(Signed) M. LOYELL,
Major General Commanding.

Upon this letter the following endorsements were made, viz:

Bv The Secretary of War :

" Respectfully submitted to the President for his information.

''G. W. RANDOLPH,
" Secretary of War.''''

Bv The President :

'^'Read—it might be vi^ell to furnish the complainant with a copy of

this reply. The abandonment of the fort was a necessary consecjuence

of the fall of New Orleans and the subsequent events. Whether it was
possible to save the armament for use elsewhere, was a question which
the commanding general, of course, duly considered. As he established

the post under, the discretionary power conferred on him, the applica-

tion of his remark about the error of dispersion is not perceived.

''J. D."

The C/ommittee then adjourned until Thursday next, the 5th inst.

, THURSDAY, Feb. 5th, 1863.

The ConuTuttee met at 10 o'clock. Present, Messrs. Foote, (acting

Chairman,) Lyons, Semmes, Maxwell and Barksdale.

Gen. George W. Randolph having been duly sworn, testified as

follows:
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The following questions were put on belialf of the Secretary ol the

Navy:
1st. By whose order was Norfolk abandoned, and what was the rea-

son for the order?

Gen. Randolph. It was abandoned by order of Gen. Johnston.

The reason for the order was, that it was considered untenable after

the Peninsula was evacuated.

2d Question. Did you visit the navy yard a lew days previous to

its abandonment in company with the Secretary of the Navy, and if so,

what was the purpose and what the results of your joint visit?

Gen. Randolph. Perhaps, by stating fully the circumstances, I can

make my answer more intelligible.

Before Gen. Johnston Avent to the Peninsula a council of war was
held, at which Gen. Longstreet, Gen. Smith, Gen. Lee, the President

and Secretary oi War were present. It was then agreed that it would
be impossible to defend Norfolk if the Peninsula was evacuated. One
great object in defending the Peninsula, which was considered very in-

defensible, was the hope that Norfolk and the navy yard might be

saved. So soon as Gen. Johnston telegraphed that he intended to fall

back it was thought advisable that the Secretary of War and the Secre-

tary of the Navy should go at once to Norfolk to make preparations for

the evacuation of the place, and for saving such stoies and munitions

as could be sent off. I think 1 suggested to the President that it would
be better for Mr. Mallory and myself to go down there. He assented,

and we went off next morning to Norfolk. We were not aware at that

time that an order had been issued for its evacuation. A few hours

after we arrived in Norfolk an officer from Gen. Johnston's army made
his appearance, with an order for Gen, Huger to evacuate Norfolk im-

mediately—1 thmk it was the day the army fell back from Yorktown,
which, I believe, was on the 3d of May, As that would have involved

heavy losses in stores, munitions and arms, 1 took the responsibility of

giving Gen. Huger a written order to delay the evacuation until lie

could remove such stores, munitions and arms as could be carried off.

That letter was afterwards published.

Mr. MAXWELL. Do you refer to that as part of your testimony?

Gen. R. I do. Mr. Mallory way with me and gave similar instructions

to the commandant of the navy yard. I instructed Gen. Huger, and Mr.

Mallory instructed the commandant, lo act in concert as much as possi-

ble, and to use every exertion in getting off what was most valuable.

The evacuation was delayed for about a week. We visited the navy
yard on that occasion, and during the visit Mr. Mallory gave instrucUons

for the evacuation of the yard, which instructions were afterwards car-

ried out by Capt. Lee, The principal object of our visit to Norfolk

was, to save as much public property as possible, as we supposed that

it would necessarily be evacuated.

Mr. SEMMES. Were you the Secretary of War at that time?

Gen. R. 1 was.

Mr. LYONS. Will you stale, if you please, whether, in your opin-

ion, Norfolk could or could not have been held if the army which was
there at the time of its surrender had been continued there, and the Vir-

ginia (or Merrimac) had not been destroyed.

Gen. R. I think the army at Norfolk would inevitably have been
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captured if it had remained there, whether the Virginia was destroyed

or not.

Mr. FOOTE. What number of troops were there at the time"^

Gen. R. Not more than 15,000.

The Dismal Swamp and Nansemond river lie within three miles of
each other. Norfolk is east of them. The Northern army could have
crossed the James river above the point at which the Virginia would
have been forced to stop in ascending it, and by coming to Suffolk,

situated at the entrance of the defile between the Dismal Swamp
and the Nansemond river, and having command of the Nansemond
river, could have easily cut off the retreat of the Norfolk army. In the
the council of war, of which 1 have spoken, in my answer to the former
question, 1 don't think there was any difference of opinion as to the

necessity of evacuating Norfolk if the Peninsula was evacuated. The
enemy could have landed on James river within twenty miles of Suf-
folk, and marching across, intercepted Gen. Huger's line of retreat at

that point. It would also have been an easy thing for the enemy to

ascend the Chowan river from Albemarle sound, and to land twent^''-

two miles from Suffolk, on the southwest, and thus, a column coming
from the southwest and one from the north, could have effected a junc-
tion at Suffolk and cut off" the retreat of our army.

IMr. LYONS. Could this movement have been accomplished if our
army, which was on the Peninsula, had been in ppsition to attack the
enemy^ when about to cross the river, and Gen. Huger's army so handled
as to co-operate with it on the other side ?

Gen. R. As long as our army remained as low down on the Penin-
sula as the line of Warwick river, and held possession of Miller's Island
Point, the James river was closed to the enemy, and they could not
have ascended the river for the purpose of cuttmg off Gen. Huger.
But when the army evacuated the line of Warwick river, and fell back
to the Chickahominy, they left open a long reach of James river, which
the enemy could have used for the purpose of crossing and intercepting

Gen. Huger's retreat. I think that the Virginia could not have ascended
James river more than four or five miles with her armament. So
soon as the Northern army came higher up the Peninsula than the Vir-

ginia could ascend James river, it was competent for them to throw
pontoon bridges across the river, and cut off Gen. Huger's retreat.

Mr. FOOTE. In your testimony you speak of the probability of the
line of retreat being intercepted, and Gen. Huger's chances of retreat

being extinguished. The question I wish to ask is this—without at-

tempting a retreat, could not 15,000 men, within the entrenchments of
Norfolk, with all the guns, large and 'small, then available have been
able to defend themselves, with the aid of the Merrimac placed in proper
position, against any force that the enemy could bring against them ?

Gen. R. I think not. The defences on the land side were by no
means good.

Mr. FOOTE. How far did the Roanoke disaster contribute to the
necessity of evacuating Norfolk?

Gen. R. By giving the enemy the power to attack it from the south
as well as the north,

Mr. FOOTB. You think that the Roanoke disaster materially dam-
aged the position of our army in Norfolk ?
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Gen. R. Yes, sir, but without that Norfolk would have been un-
tenable after the Peninsula was evacuated. The enemy, by coming
from the rear, and closing the pass at Suffolk, could have starved out
the army at Norfolk.

Mr. FOOTE. The -immense earthworks along the Peninsula for

the obstruction of the enemy, would seem to have been based on the

idea, that no necessity would arise for the evacuation of the Peninsula?
Gen. R. It was determined to hold the Peninsula as long as it could

be done with safety to the ai-my.

Mr. FOOTE. The discovery of that necessity—I mean the neces-

sity of evacuating-^was made after the army fell back?
Gen. R. No, sir; when the council of war met, it was supposed

that if the enemy assaulted our army at the Warwick river line, we
should defeat them, but that if, instead of assaulting, they made regu-

lar approaches to either flank of the line, and took advantage of their

great superiority of heavy artillery, the probability would be, that one
flank, or both, of the army would be uncovered, and thus the enemy,
ascending York and James river in transports, could turn the flank of

the army and compel it to retreat. Gen. Johnston thought that if the

enemy made regular approaches to Yorktown or Mulberry Island Point,

and took advantage^ of their heavy artillery, the reduction of those

posts would be a mere question of time. That was precisely what they

did. They made regular approaches, mounted the largest size guns,

such as we could not compete with, and made the position of Yorktown
untenable. Nearly all of our heavy r^fle guns burst during the siege.

The remainder of the heavy guns were in the water batteries, and
were necessarily kept there to keep the shipping out. That left the

land defences insufiiciently supplied with heavy artillery, and rendered

the capture of the place a mere question of lime. I think we bursted

five rifle guns—four, I know.
Mr. MAXWELL. Where were they manufactured ?

Gen. R. At the Tredegar Works.

Mr. Maxwell ofl'ered the following resolution, which was adopted:

Resolved, That the Secretary of the Navy be requested to furnish

the Committee with copies of letters written by him to the President,

Secretary of the Treasury, navy agent Howell and others, on the sub-

ject of delays of the Treasury Department in complying with requisi-

tions of the navy department, with such letters to him from the Secre-

tary of the Treasury as relate to the subject.

The Committee then adjourned until Saturday next, the 7th instant.

SATURDAY, Feb. 7, 1863.

The Committee met at 10 o'clock.

Present—Messrs. Clay, (Chairman,) Foote, SemmeSj Maxwell, Du-
pre, Lyons and Barksdale.

The Hon. C. M. Conrad being duly sworn, testified as follows :
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Mr. DUPRE. You are chairman of the committee on naval affairs;

state all you know in connection with the defences of New Orleans.
Mr. Conrad. I have been chairman of the committee on naval

affairs since the commencement of the first Congress.

Mr. DUPRE. Will you state what transpired between you and the
Secretary of the Navy in relation to the defences of New Orleans; what
conversation took place; what suggestions were made by you, and how
they were met ?

Mr. Conrad. Well, sir, during the greater part of the war, from its

commencement to this time, I have been almost constantly absent from
New Orleans, and consequently, had very little personal knowledge
of what transpired there. I will state, however, that on the adjourn-

ment of Congress before the fall of New Orleans in the fall of 1861,
I went there, and had some opportunity of judging of the progress of
the means of defence. Any further information 1 have is derived from
intercourse with the Secretary at this place. I begin then by stating

that I was surprised to see that no naval preparations whatever were
made or being made up to the time that Congress first met in this city

in July, 1861, so far as I was aware, or were known to the citizens

of New Orleans, more especially as I perceived by the public papers
that preparations were being made by the enemy to construct a numer-
ous fleet of iron-clad gun boats at St. Louis, in order to make a de-

scent upon New Orleans. Shortly after my arrival here, I called on
Mr. Mallory and showed him a slip taken from the New York Herald,
or some other Northern paper, containing an account and description

of this armada that was about being constructed. I asked him if he
was aware of it. He said he was, and showed me a New York paper
containing a wood cut or engraving of one of the largest of these ves-

sels—-I think the Benton. I asked him no ftirther questions. Al-

though no reference had been made to the subject in his report of 1861,
nevertheless, I supposed from this fact that he was preparing to make
some recommendation to Congress on the subject. This matter formed
the subject of conversation in the committee, and it was determined to

await the action of the Secretary of the Navy. I waited some time,

and finding that no recommendation was made, and no intimation

given to me personally by. Mr. Mallory, that he intended making any
recommendation on the subject, 1 felt it my duty as the representative

of New Orleans, to call the attention of Congress to the matter—which
I did. A resolution was proposed I think by some one of the com-
mittee, probably by myself, calling upon the President for information

respecting the naval preparations for the defence of the Mississippi river.

Some time after, as the representative of the city of New Orleans, I

introduced a bill which subsequendy passed into a law. That
law is to be found on page 54 of the acts of the 3d session of the Pro-
visional Congress, and is entitled, *^an act to provide for the defence
of the Mississippi river." Subsequently another gentleman—I think
Mr. Currin, of Tennessee, introduced a bill for the construction of one
or more gun boats for service in the upper Mississippi, which was
passed into a law. It was after the passage of these bills that the iron-

clad gun boats were commenced on the Mississippi river. When I

went to New Orleans after the adjournment of Congress, I found that

but little progress had been made on one of the boats, which I think
42
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was afterwards called the Mississippi. After my return to this city to

meet the next session of Congress, I received from several of my con-

stituents, letters complaining in the strongest terms of the delay, and in

their opinion, of the extraordinary tardiness in building these boats.

—

I called on several occasions upon Mr. Mallory, and read these letters

to him, stating at the same time, that they came from intelligent gen

tlemen, and persons for whose character, fidelity and good judgment,

I could vouch. They mentioned that there were not as many work-

men employed as could be obtained, and that they did not work as assidu-

ously as they might; that there was unnecessary delay ni procuring

materials—all expressing the greatest apprehension and alarm that these

vessels which constituted at that time the sole prote'ction of New Or-

leans against an attack by gun boats from above, would not be completed

in time to arrest the danger. They also complained that the wages

of the workmen employed by the navy department, were not punctu-

ally paid; that very frequently for Aveeks at a time they could not re-

ceive their pay, and that in consequence, great dissatisfaction existed

among them, and many of them refused to work for the navy depart-

ment, preferring to obtain employment from private persons who paid

them punctually. I called Mr. Mallory's attention particularly to this

last grievance, and his answer was that the Secretary of the Treasury

did not comply wpth his requisition. On one occasion I was much
excited on this subject, and 1 told him very bluntly that I knew of no

object of more importance to which the money of the government could

be applied than the floating defences upon which New Orleans relied

for its protection, and that if I was Secretary of the Navy, and the

money was in the Treasury, I would get it out, or resign my position.

To which he made no reply. This evil, however, was not remedied,

for I continued stiil to receive letters on the same subject, and subse-

quently it reached such a height, that a deputation was sent here for

the purpose of seeing the President, and urging upon him the neces-

sity of more energetic measures for completing these vessels. I recol-

lect Mr. Wm. Henderson, a highly respectable merchant of New Or-

leans, and who had been very energetic in all measures appertaining to

the defence of the city, and very liberal with his money, was a mem-
ber of this deputation. He waited on me, and at his request, I intro-

duced him to the President. At the first visit he was not at leisure to

see him. The next time he called, he had an interview with the Presi-

dent, at which 1 was not present, but the result was, as I was told by

Mr. Henderson, that the President seemed very much excited at this

intelligence, and sent for the Secretary of the Navy. He told Mr.

Henderson that the money hereafter should be punctually paid. He
informed me afterwards that it was so, and also told me that part of the

business for which he was sent here by the authorities of the city, was

to urge on the completion of a shaft for one of these gun boats, which

to the surprise of every body, he said in New Orleans, was being made
here; that the boat had been waiting for it for several weeks, and that

he was surprised when he got here to find that it was finished, but

that no steps had been taken to send it on. He told me before he left

here, that measures had been taken to forward the shaft immediately.

Mr. SEMMES. If you can recollect the time that Henderson came

here, please state it ?
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Mr. Conrad. I cannot recollect.

Mr. SEMMES. Was it before or after the lull of Fort Donelson ?

Mr. Conrad. It occurred subsequent to the 22d ofFebruary. lomitted
to state in its proper place, that so impressed was I with the necessity ofvery
prompt and rapid measures for the completion of these gun boats, and
with the tardiness with which the work was progressing, that I. imme-
diately upon my arrival here in November, 1861, called on Mr. Mal-
lory and informed him that there was great delay in the progress of the
work; that it was getting on very slow; that in my opinion these ves-

sels would not be completed in time to repel an attack by the enemy,
which I anticipated would take place in January, when the Mississippi

river usually rises, particularly if I recollect aright, the gun boats of
the enemy were to be finished in December. I urged upon him to

adopt the most energetic measures for the early completion of these

boats; that every day was precious. I recommended to him that orders

be giveu that the men should work on Sundays, and if possible, at

night. Mr. Mallory did not seem to participate in my apprehensions
on this subject. He seemed lo treat it very lightly, and thought, I

have no doubt, that I was unnecessarily nervous on the subject. He
suggested difficulties about the men working at night, and said that to

order them to work on Sundays would shock the religious sensibilities

of the country. I told him that so far as my city was concerned, I

could assure him they entertained no such scruples, that the enemy
did not hesitate to attack us on Sunday, and I did not think that any
sensible man in my city would blame the government for preparing to

defend it on Sunday. There the conversation closed. I am not
aware that any such order was given from that time up to the capture

of the city. The complaints about the tardiness with which the work
on these vessels was progressing, increased. There was scarcely a

mail that did not bring me a letter on the subject, and 1 again on one
or two occasions, brought the subject to the notice of Mr. Mallory.

—

Before that, I felt it my duty, as it was reported the President was re-

organizing his cabinet, to publicly express my[opinion as the represen-

tative of the city of New Orleans, and as chairman of the committee on
naval afiairs, of the mal-administration of the navy department. This
I did shortly after the commencement of the present Congress. I will

add further that at a later period, the conviction in New Orleans that

there was neglect and unnecessary delay and want of intelligence and
energy in the naval preparations of that city, became so universal, that a
public meeting was held to adopt measures to protect themselves. At
that meeting, the committee of public safety, as it was termed, was formed,
composed of about fifty of the most respectable, wealthy and intelli-

gent citizens of the place, for the purpose of adopting and aiding in the
execution of measures for the defence of the city. 1 received from the
President of that committee, a memorial to Congress complaining of
the general inefficiency and want of energy of the officers of the gov-
ernment, and urging that Congress should take the defences of the
country in its own hands. As this riiemorial contained some statements,
which, under the circumstances, I did not think it prudent to make
public, and as the remedy which the memorial prayed for was not such
as Congress could constitutionally apply, 1 did not present it. I in-

formed the President of the committee of safety my reason for so doingj



332

but I believe a similar one, if I mistake not, was presented by one of the

Senators from the State.

Mr. SEMMES. You can refer to that memorial as part of your tes-

imony.
Mr. C. Yes sir, 1 do so.

Mr. SEMMES. Who first suggested the bu'lding of iron clad ves-

sels for the defence of our rivers ?

Mr. C. The first suggestion that I know of came from Mr. John G.
Stevens on the projector of the ram Manassas.
Mr. SEMMES. Can you tell us anything about the removal of the

Arkansas from Memphis down to the Yazoo river at the time the enemy
were threatening that city?—.At whose instance it was done?
Mr. C. W"ell,^ir, I was aware that these two gun boats that were

being built at Memphis, under the resolution of 'Mr. Currin, for the

protection of the upper Mississippi, were being constructed at Memphis.
I had frequent interviews with Mr. Mallory upon the subject of urging

on the work and inquiring how it was progressing. When the fortifi-

cations at Columbus were taken, not knowing whether we would be

able to make defences at any lower point on the Mississippi, it occurred

to me that Memphis might be taken, and consequently these two boats

would be captured by the enemy, or destroyed by us to prevent their

capture. I 1 went to Mr. Mallory, when this idea occurred to me, and
asked him whether he did not think this danger was to be apprehended.

He said yes, it was. I asked him if he had taken any measure to pre-

vent it. He said he had not. Well then, said I, do you not think that

you had better send them down to the Yazoo river, where we may pro-

bably be able to make a stand and construct some works for protection,

or to Vicksburg where we might erect batteries ? Mr. Mallory said he
thought so. *He rung his bell and directed his Secretary to telegraph

to Capt. Whittle, who was superintending the construction of these

boats, to take them down to Yazoo, if Memphis should be threatened.

The dispatch \vas sent while I was in the office. One of them was
not far enough advanced to be launched,, and was subsequently de-

stroyed by our forces to prevent their falling into the hands of the

enemy.
Mr. DUPRE. When did the conveisalion leferred to take place?

Mr. C. It was subsequent to the capture of either Columbus or

Island No. 10. I think it was immediately after the fall of Fort Colum-
bus. I will add, that when I learned that the enemy's fleet were bom-
barding the forts at New Orleans, entertaining no doubt whatever that

they would pass the forts, and having frequently expressed that opinion,

I felt anxious as to the fate ol" the Mississippi, which I understood was
nearly completed, and was a formidable vessel, and it occurred to me that

Mr. Mallory might omit to send her up to the Yazoo in the same man-
ner as he omitted to send .the other down. But I suspected it was
hardly probable that he would neglect such a precaution. I left this

city before the fall of Ncav Orleans, and when I arrived at Mobile I met
Commander Pegram whom I asked whether the Mississippi had been
saved. He said no; she had been destroyed. I would have given the

same advice with regard to her as 1 did with regard to the vessels at

Memphis, but after the public expression of my opinion as to his com-
petency, all personal intercourse between Mr. Mallory and myself had
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ceased. Besides, I hardly thought it probable he would omit so obvious
a precaution in regard to the Mississippi, after he had taken it in regard

to the boats at Memphis.
Mr. SEMMES. Were you in New Orleans in the fall of 1861 ?

Mr. C. I was there from early in October to early in November.
Mr. SEMMES. Did you not visit the Mississippi yourself?

Mr. C. Yes sir.

Mr. SEMMES. When was your last visit there before you left?

Mr. C. I think it was about a week or ten days.

Mr, SEMMES. What was her state of forwardness then, do you
recollect ?

Mr. C. Very little—her keel was laid.

Mr. SEMMES. Did there appear to be great activity in pushing for-

,ward the work ?

Mr. C. I think when I was there it was Sunday, and the superin-

tendent knowing who I was, took me into his office and explained the

plan to me. I think on that day there were no workmen employed. I

saw no one there except the superintendent and the guard.

Mr. SEMMES. Were you never there on a week day ?

Mr. C. I don't think 1 was. I saw the superintendent on week
days but I did not go to the place. If I did, I have no recollection

of it.

Mr. SEMMES. If you know any other facts within your knowledge
which would tend to inform the Committee as to the proper administra-

tion of the naval department, please stat^ them.

Mr. ^C. I have had, as Chairman of the Committee on Naval
Affairs, my attention called to the affairs of the navy department. I

have had a good deal of intercourse and a good many conversations with

the Secretary of the Navy, and from a very early period I was im-

pressed with the conviction that there was a want of intelligence, and
especially ofenergy, promptitude and forethought in the administration of

that department. I cannot of course recall all the circumstances

—

some of them I can recall.

Mr. SEMMES. Please state them
Mr. C. The first occasion on which this idea of a want of proper

energy in that department occurred to me was at Montgomery. It be-

came necessary to send an agent to Europe for the purchase of arms
and munitions of war, and also, I think, to make arrangements for the

building of some vessels there. Mr. Mallory informed me who the

agent was. It was a young officer in his department, and then on duty
in his department. The matter was very urgent, as this was in the

month of May, and up to that time no measures had been taken either

to build vessels or purchase arms; and I urged upon Mr. Mallory the

propriety of the expedition. Some time elapsed—perhaps several

weeks—when I met the officer, who I understood was to go, and ex-

pressed some surprise at seeing him there. I told him I had supposed
he was nearly across the Atlantic at that time. He told me he was
awaiting instructions from Mr. Mallory.

The next occasion on which I thought he showed a want of

energy and intelligence^ or both was on this occasion. A Mr.

Stevenson, a respectable merchant of New Orleans, came to Mont-
gomery with a plan for building an iron plated ram. I was not
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acquai4ited with hiiii personally j but he came to me as Chairman of

the Committee on Naval Affairs, and stated the object of his visit; that

he had submitted his plan to the navy department, that Mr. Mallory

had it several weeks under consideration, but he could get no posi-

tive answer either way, that he was tired of this delay, that he thought

whatever might be done ought to be done promptly, and asked me if I

could not in some way expedite his business. I told hiiii'that I would
speak to the Secretary, and did so. I told him he was a respectable

citizen of New Orleans, and had been a long time connected witli

steamboats, and that I thought it probable that his plan was worthy of

consideration ; that from what I saw of it, it impressed me favorably,

and that at all events I should like his proposition to be disposed of as

rapidly as possible. He waited some time, however, and came to me
again and stated he saw plainly that the Secretary did not intend to do'

anything, and that he would go home and abandon the project. I told him
that I thought he was wrong, and that it occurred to me that Congress
might do something in the matter; and after conversation with him I

introduced a bill. No. 170 of the acts of the 2d session, which is to be

found on page 85, and which gives 20 percent, of the value of any
vessel of war of the enemy that may be destroyed by our privateers.

Under this law the ram Manassas was built at New Orleans by private

subscription.

The Committee then adjourned until Tuesday next 10th inst., when
Mr. Conrad will again appear .;to complete his testimony.

TUESDAY, Feb. 10th, 1863,

The Committee met at 10 o'clock. Present, Messrs. Clay, (Chair-

man,) Maxwell, Semmes, Dupre, Foote, Barksdale and Lyons.
Hon. C. M. Conrad resumed his testimony as follows:

The success of the experiment of iron plated rams induced Commo-
dore Hollins 10 retain possession of the Manassas as part of his fleet,

and afterwards to recommend the purchase of her by the government.
Mr. Mallory for a long time hesitated about making this purchase, in

the meantime, the vessel continuing in the possession of the govern-

ment. Finally, the patience of the owners became exhausted, and the

president of the company wrote to me requesting me to see the Secretary,

and say to him that he must either purchase or return her to the owners.
In conversation with Mr. Mallory on this subject, he expressed his en-

tire disbelief in iron plated rams, and stated that they were not a new
invention, as they were as old as the Greeks and Romans, and that the

English had tried them long ago, and ultimately abandoned them. I

replied that the power of iron plated rams consisted in the combination
of steam power with iron armour, and that the Greeks and Romans
were not accjuainted with steam as a motive power, and the probability

is, that the English had not tried rams Avith iron plates. Some time

after this the Manassas was purchased. How the JVlerrimac came to be

constructed -with a ram, I never understood; it was probably owing to

the constructor or to Lieut. Brooke, who was an ingenious officer in the

department. That is all 1 have to say on that subject. I want to go
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back and make a few additional statements with regard to the defences
of New Orleans.

I have always understood that the only vessel that was built, other-

wise than by contract, at that time, was the Mississippi, by the Tifts.

I thought, and still think, that the naval department showed great want
of judgment in sending these individuals, strangers in New Orleans,
to build a vessel there. There were in that city several large ship
building establishments, conducted by intelligent, enterprising men,
with ample means, with the advantage of a large stock of materiab on
hand, with numerous corps of mechanics and workmen, and with es-

tablished agencies and connections to enable them to procure anything
that might be needed in the construction of vessels. It is very evi-

dent, in view of these facts, that these men had very great advantages
in the rapid completion of a vessel, over parties who had to create all

their resources and make an establishment for themselves.

The Messrs. Tift commenced their work at a point where there was
not even a shop to contain their own plans, and not a single facility of

any kind for the building of a vessel. The consequence of all this

must inevitably have been, a great deal of delay, even if there had been
no want of activity or energy on the part o^the superintendent. I

have no doubt that a great deal of delay did rSilt from this fact. One
of the Tifts told me when I saw him in New Orleans, that he was then
waiting, and had been waiting for ten or twelve days, for lumber. If

I mistake not, he undertook to build the vessel by the 1st of January,

.

which was the time that the Mississippi river usually rises. In the Sec-
retary's report of the 27th of February, 1862, he uses this expession

—

^'There are now being constructed at New Orleans, two large and
formidable iron-plated steamships, of about 1,400 tons each, designed
for the carrying of twenty of the heaviest guns. One of these, the
Louisiana, has been launched, and is nearly completed, and the other,

it is believed, will be completed in six weeks."
Capt. Mitchell states in his report of the naval battle of New Orleans,

which the Committee have access to, that on the day of the attack the

Louisiana was not yet completed; and the Mississippi, I am informed,
was not within several weeks of her completion. This was on the
24th of April, consequently nearly two months after the date of this

report to Congress.

I will now submit the memorial of the committee of safety of New
Orleans to which I referred in my testimony on Saturday last;

To the Senate and House of Representatives of the Confederate States

of America,

The Committee of Public Safety of the city of New Orleans, con-
sisting of the following named citizens, to wit: Wm. Freret, M. Mus-
son. Dr. G. W. Campbell, Chs. Cavaroe, Wm. Henderson, James P.
Freret, Chs. Derbiguy, R. M. Davis, Riviere Gardere, A. D. Kelly, P.
S. Wiltz, W. C. C. Claiborne, Gustave Leroy^ Valcour Labarre, Jules
Cassard, Jno. Pemberton, Jno. Goodrich, Jno. M. Back,T. C. Twichell,
Geo. C. Lawrason, Dr. D. W. Brickell, Jno. A. Stevenson, Robt.
Conway, H. T. Lousdale, J. N. Marks, Gerard Stith, Dr. O. Robin,
John B. Leefe, H, Beebe, h. E. Forstall, V. Sheldon, S, L. James,
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Dr. E. Macpherson, Judge T, H. Kennedy, W. A. Violett, S. P. De
Labarre, Sam'l Jamison, Jno, R. Shaw, Dr. B. H. Moss. R. C. Oum-
mings, Capt. P. Marcy, Fk. Durrive, P. E, Bonford, Wm. M.Perkins,
Thompson Greenfield, Gabl. de Feriet, A. de Lassus, S. O. Nelson,

Moses Greenwood, Wilhelmus Bogart, John Youenes, J. P. Harrison,

Fergus Gardere, M. Gordon, jr., Jno. M. Huger, P. N. Wood, L. F.

Generes, E. J. McCall, Benj. Buisson, Jno. Communy, L. H.Pilie, A.

S. Phelps, J. A. D'Heinecourt, Louis Surgi, James Beggs, Jules Benit,

James Davis, J. H. Huckins, beg leave most respectfully to submit to

your honorable bodies, that they were organized with the sanction and
under the authority of the common council of the said city, from the

body of the citizens, for the object indicated by their title. The crea-

tion of a body in whom the people could repose their confidence, that

eagerly sought a resting place, seemed necessary to alleviate the deep

feeling of insecurity and consequent uneasiness that pervaded the whole
community. That sense of insecurity sprung naturally, nay, necessa-

rily, from two causes nearly allied—the languor of the general action,

of government in the conduct of the war, and the inertness, the death

like lethargy in almost all the branches of the, public service here, in

the face of hostile exertiwis and activity unparalleled in all history, and

embracing New Orleans as a chief prize.

The Committee have been engaged in their work now upwards of a

month. A narrative of their acts would be tedious, perhaps, unneces-

sary; suffice it to say, they have done all they were permitted to do to

aid the government officials and agents, and to stimulate to a show of

life and activity such of them as seemed least to appreciate the mo-

mentous pressure of surrounding events. The committee feel that they,

and similar bodies formed in other States, could render effectual services

to the Confederacy if they were in a position not to be altogether ig-

nored or defied by such agents.

They, therefore, most respectfully, but most earnestly, entreat your

honorable bodies to appoint from among yourselves a "permanent com-

mittee on the conduct of the war," to co-operate with the President

and his cabinet, and with the committees of public safety at the various

points of the Confederacy. The members of the committee which now
respectfully addresses you are citizens of this place—not strangers de-

void of sympathy with our people, sent here to work by the year or by

the job for pay—their families and possessions are here. Besides their

common interest in the holy cause that links all true patriots together,

they have special local interests and affections that are guarantees for

their devotion and singleness of purpose in the laborious task they have

voluntarily taken on themselves. They believe that the bare knowledge

that channels of communication exist between the President and heads

of departments and the remotest points of the Confederacy, through

the medium of such a committee as they implore you to appoint, ever

ready at the right place to plead the cause of the country, will, of itself,

often prevent delinquences and infuse new life and vigor into every

branch of the service. At all events a mass of reliable information,

not otherwise obtainable, may be secured to the government, by which

It may be enabled to apply promptly a corrective wherever a corrective

is needed, and which may, and it is hoj)ed will, prove serviceable in

many other important respects.
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If the committee have trespassed beyond the strict line of propriety
in making this appeal, your own tried devotion to the country will ex-
cuse an error springing from no other source in them. Every man,
woman and child owes his mite to the common cause. Their bitter

experience in their yet brief career as a committee of public safety, has
impressed them with a solemn conviction that they could not better

discharge a religious duty than by commending this, in their opinion,
most vital matter to your honorable bodies' serious consideration.

M. MUSSON, Chairman pro tern.

Geo. C. Lawrason, Secretary.

New Orleans, 2^th March, 1862.

The Committee will perceive on reading that document, that the
statements of want of energy and activity in the preparations there, are

general and not specific in their character. As I had left New Orleans
shortly after the appointment of Gen. Lovell to his command at that

place, and was not informed as to the state of public opinion in regard
to his management, I thought it possible that these statements might
refer to him, in whole or in part, as well as to the naval preparations,

and accordingly telegraphed either the president or secretary of the

committee of safety, requesting of them to inform me whether they
meant these statements to apply to Gen. Lovell. The answer was that

they did not. I deem it an act of justice to Gen. L. to make that ex-

planation.

1 will mention another instance, as I conceive, of the want of busi-

ness capacity in Mr. Mallory. 1 refer to an incident that occurred in

this city last spring.

In his first message to the permanent Congress the President alluded

to the difficulties which the government had to encounter in the crea-

tion of a navy, and after having stated that these difficulties would ne-

cessarily have retarded the preparation of a naval force, he used the

words ''even if Congress had made the requisite appropriations." My
attention was called to this paragraph by a member of the Provisional

Congress, and he inquired of me whether the Provisional Congress had
failed in any instance to make any appropriation required by the Presi-

dent or naval department for the navy. I stated that I was positive, as

far as my recollection went, that Congress had never failed to appro-

priate every dollar required or estimated for the navy. On consultmg
several members of the Provisional Congress, they all concurred with

me in this belief, and it was thought due to that Congress, and partic-

ularly to the naval committee, of which I was chairman, to correct

what might be considered an erroneous statement. I doubted, myself,

whether the President peally did mean to intimate that Congress had
failed to make the appropriations demanded, but supposed that he sim-

ply meant, that the means of the government were not sufficient to ac-

complish all that was necessary. I so stated, but as the passage was
equivocal, I determined to bring it before the attention of Congress, and
accordingly did so in a few remarks, in which I stated substantially,

that if the President did, in this passage, mc-an to intimate that Con-
gress had failed to make all the appropriations demanded by the govern-

ment for the navy, the statement was erroneous. These comments of

mine on the passage referred to, having been reported in the public pa-

43



pers, I received, a day or two after, the following letter from Mr. Mal-

lory:

Hoii. Mr. Conrad :

My Dear Sir: Permit me to say a word upon the point raised by you

upon the message yesterday, which I have this moment read, and which
I think will be sufficient to explain the reference to appropriations for

the naval service.

On the 10th of May last Congress passed two acts appropriating three

millions of dollars for certain purposes, to be expended by the navy de-

partment; but as the ground was taken by the treasury that estimates

had not been made, and that money could not be drawn under them,

the estimates for these amounts were sent to you, as Chairman of the

Naval Committee, on the 16th of May. When you brought them to

the attention of Congress you may remember the opposition offered by

the Treasury Department, and the appeal made to you and to the House
against them, and that you consented to withdraw them, the money
not having been provided to meet them.

T was not present, but I remember your relation of the subject to me.

The consequence was that we did not reahze any of the money under

bills 116 and 117, until some five months after their passage.

This briefly, 1 think, will explain the reference in the message.

In every other instance Congress responded promptly to all our esti-

mates, and your Committee failed in no instance to obtain an appropria-

tion.

1 am, very truly yours,

S. R. MALLORY,
Feb. 27, '02. Secretanj of the Navy.

On receipt of this letter—my own recollection of facts not concurring

with that of the Secretary—I repaired to the navy department in order

to see whether the statements contained in it were correct. There, I had
a conversation either with himself or the chief clerk, or both, which
satisfied me that the statements in it were erroneous, and that the

amounts referred to in his letter had been appropriated. Under this im-

pression I took no further notice of his letter, and would not have done

so, had I not received a second note from him, requesting me to bring

the matter again before Congress, in order to correct the statement in

my previous remarks. I did bring the matter before Congress on the

5th day of March, 1862, in a h\Y remarks in which I reiterated the

statement made by me on the previous occasion, read the above letter of

Mr. Mallory to me, and showed that it did not sustain the position con-

tained in the President's message—that Congress had failed to make
" the required appropriation," but the reverse. My remarks were re-

ported in the Whig next day.

And on the same morning passing by the Treasury Department I was
called by Mr. Memminger, who remarked to me good humoredly, " how
is this—lam told you attacked me on yesterday," or words to that

effect. I said "no—not at all—that I was aware of." I am told,

" said he, you said that 1 refused to pay the appropriation made for the

navy." 1 told him he was mistaken, I made no such charge, that the

charge was made by his colleague, the Secretary of the Navy. He was

surprised at that, and remarked that it was impossible. " Well/' said
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I, " you will see it in the papers of this morning." He asked me into

his office, and immediately rung his bell and called for the paper, and
there found the letter of Mr. Mallory. He expressed great astonishment
that Mr. Mallory should make any such statement, " for," said he, '^1

never have refused to pay one dollar of that appropriation; and if I

mistake not, a portion of it has already been paid." He called for his

Assistant Secretary, Mr. Clayton, and asked hmi to bring him the book
containing the entries relating to that appropriation. Mr. Clayton pro-

duced the book, from which it appeared that several sums had been
drawn from the appropriation by Mr. Mallory, and remitted to Europe

—

the first of them I think the day a;fter, or a few days after the appropria-

tion was made. Mr. Memminger and myself both agreed that it was
an extraordinary mistake. I thought that was another instance of ex-

traordinary inefficiency in regard to the business of that department.

Another fact connected with the management of the navy department
is this, in nearly all of his reports to the President, Mr. Mallory has

alluded to the difficulty experienced by the department in procuring

supplies of coal, iron and mechanics. InJiis report of the 16th of No-
vemher, 1861, he says—"The production of iron within the Confed-
erate States having been greatly reduced by the withdrawal of operatives

there employed, its price has steadily advanced. The iron which could

be had in this market in January last at $25 per ton, now commands
|47 50."

He then proceeds to show the steps taken b^' the department to sup-

ply this deficiency.

In several communications to the Naval Committee he had recom-
mended the passage of laws to encourage the production of iron; and
in the report of the 27th of February he had also spoken in strong terms

of the difficulty of procuring mechanics. He says—'^'^AU efforts at

construction, whether by contractors or by the department, have been
crippled by the want of mechanics."
To supply this defect, measures have been taken to detail them from

the service. In fact laws have been passed for that purpose.

Some time in March, 1862, a resolution had been passed by the

House, in these terms :

''Resolved, That the Committee on Naval Affairs be instructed to in-

quire into the expediency of establishing a naval depot at or near the

city of New Orleans,"
This matter was brought before the Committee, and they thought that

it was probable the Secretary might take action upon it without any
legislation. But I was directed to enclose the resolution to him for his

information, which I did, accompanied with the following note :

" Ho)i. S. E. Mallory—
Sir: I enclose you a resolution adopted by the House of Representa-

tives, directing the Committee on Naval Affairs to inquire into the ex*

pediency of establishing a naval depot in New Orleans.

1 am instructed by -the Committee to request the department to com-
municate to you its views on this subject.

Very respectfully,

C. M. CONRAD, CJiairman:'
Richmond, March llth, 1862.
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To that I received the following answer :

[Copy.]

Navy Department C. S., }
Richmond, March 13; 1862. 5"

,Hon. C. M. Conrad, Chairman of the

Committee of Naval Affairs, House of Representatives—
Sir: Your letter of the llth inst., enclosing the resolution of the

House of Representatives as to the expediency of establishing a naval

depot at New Orleans, and asking in behalf of your Committee the

views of this department, has been received.

If by a "naval depot" a deposit for naval stores, and a place for col-

lecting and training seamen is meant, I deem it expedient that such a

depot should be established in New Orleans.

"We are now purchasing and storing supplies, and shipping men
there, but I think that much more will be required.

Our brief experience dictates the wisdom and expediency of estab-

lishing at New Orleans such engine, boiler and machine shops, rolling-

mills and foundries, embracing air and cupalo furnaces, as will enable us

to do much, particularly \n forging and casting, that no private establish-

ment has the power of- doing.

Efficiency and economy in our naval expenditures will be both ad-

vanced by such an establishment at New 'Orleans for the manufacture

of engines, boilers, ordnance and ordnance stores, plates for iron clad

vessels, tSbc.

I have the honor to be,

Very respectfully, your obedient servant,

S. R. MALLORY,
Secretary of the Nacy.

This letter was laid before the Committee, and they were all sur-

prised at it, because they were aware that there were large foundry

establishments in New Orleans already, and they supposed from Mr.
Mallory's previous reports and communications with them, verbal and
written on this subject, that it would be impossible to supply the iron

and coal, as also to procure mechanics for such a large establishment as

he had recommended. With a view to procure information on this sub-

ject, I was directed to address him a letter setting forth the doubts en-

tertained by the Committee, which I did in the following letter

:

[Copy.J

Richmond, Va., March \o, 1802.

Hon. S. R. Mallouv, Secretary of the Naoy—
Sir: I am directed by the Committee on Naval Affairs, to request

that you furnish it with the Ibllowing intbrmation :

1st. What will be the probal)le cost of an establishment such as that

referred to in your note of the 13th inst., for the manufacture of steam

engines, iron plates for plating vessels, cannon, &c., &.c. ?

2d. What are the probabilities of the Government being able to pro-

cure a sufficient number of workmen to carry on such a manufactory?
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3d. Whether it would be practicable, at least during the war, to pro-
cure the iron necessary for supplying the material of such a manu-
factory?

Very respectfully, your obedient servant,

C. M. CONRAD, Chairmmi.

To this I received the answer of the Secretary, as follows :

Confederate States Navt Department, 1
Richmond, March \8t/i, 1862. ]'

Hon. C. M. Conrad,
Ohairman of the Committee of Naval Affairs,

House of Representatives— '

Sik: Your communication of the 15th instant has been received.

In reply to the first interrogatory—" what will be the probable cost of
an establishment such as that'referred to in your note of the 13th inst.,

•for the manufacture of steam engines, iron plates for plating vessels,-

cannon, &c., (fcc," 1 liave the honor to state, that the cost of a rolling

mill capable of turning out thirty to fifty tons of iron plates of proper
dimensions for plating vessels, and from four to six tons of boiler plate

every twenty-four hours, would, at the. present prices of labor and
materials, be about $275,000.
The cost of a furnace capable of turning out twenty finished pieces

of heavy ordnance per week, would not exceed $80,000 j and the cost

of a machine shop for making marine engines for heavy ships and
smaller work, would be about $500,000. This would be exclusive
of the cost of the ground, of which, about two acres would be
necessary.

To the second' interrogatory—^<^what are the probabihties of the
government being able to procure a sufficient number of workmen to

carry cm such a manufactory?" I do not doubt that a sufficient force

of experts to develop the full power of such an establishment could be
organized. Other similar estabhshments, however, would suffer neces-
sarily by the withdrawal of these experts until the deficiency could be
supplied from England, or elsewhere. The array could furnish a large

number of suitable mechanics.
hi reply to the third interrogatory—'' Whether it would be practica-

ble, at least, during the War, to produce the iron necessary for sup-
plying the materials of such an establishment?"
But little iron is being produced in the Confederacy. Yirglnia has

been regarded as a large producer of iron, and at present, 1 can hear of
but two furnaces in blast, though the prices paid are exorbitant.

Congress could doubtless stimulate its production by legislation, and
in this way, afford a supply to the establishment in question. Coal
would be as important as iron to such a work, and at present, there is

not coal or iron enough in the Confederacy, outside of similar work-
shops, to employ such an establishment three months.

1 have the honor to be,

Very respectfully, your obedient servant,

S. R. MALLORY,
Secretary of the Navy.

After the receipt of this letter, the coiimiittee unanimously voted not
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to adopt his suggestion in this matter. In conformity with this action

of the committee I addressed to him the tbllovving letter:

Richmond, March 26, 18(32.

Hon. S. R. Mallory—
Sir: In view of the difficulty of procuring an adequate supply of work-

men and materials, as mentioned in your note of the 18th inst., the

committee on naval affairs have determined not to adopt your sugges-

tion of establishing a government foundry for the making of steam

engines, <fcc., at New Orleans at the present time.

As regards a " naval depot " merely, the committee see no objection

to such an establishment, except the imminent danger at this moment
of a descent upon New Orleans by the enemy's gun boats, and the

consequent capture and destruction of all public property at that place;

a danger very much increased by the backward state of the "floating

defences " authorized to be constructed for the defence of that city,

against these very gun boats.

"Of the extent of this danger, you are more competent to decide than

the committee.

If you deem the establishment of such a depot at all urgent, and that

legislation is necessary to effect the object, (which I do not myself

perceive,) you will please inform me, and I will introduce a bill for the

purpose.

Very respectfullv,

C. M. CONRAD.

I never heard from him afterwards on this subject. I will state

another fact connected with the management of the navy department.

Com. Maury had recommended in a communication to the Yirginia

Convention, the construction of a number—100 I think—of small

gun boats, of from two to four guns each, for the defence of the waters

of Virginia, and that body had referred it to Congress through one

of its representatives. Congress adopted the suggestion, and ordered

the building of a number of small gun boats. The construction of

these boatshad been commenced, and four or five were, I think, in

process of construction, but Mr. Mallory, in various conversations that

I had with him, as chairman of the committee on naval affairs, referred

to the delay and difliculty attending the construction of these vessels,-

owing to the difficulty of procuring materials— iron, wood, and steam

engines. He had even sent out an agent for the purpose of purchasing

or impressing such locomotive engines as might be thought adapted to

the jjutpose; and every exertion was made to ])rocure mechanics, but

.still only a small number of the vessels could be commenced. Matters

were in this situation wlien the nffair of the Merrimac took place; and

it occurred to the committee, as I presume it did to every body else,

that this experu)ient fully established the efficacy of iron-plated rams,

and the inability of wooden vessels, however formidable, to contend

with them; conse(|uently, that it was the policy of this governmejit, in

the scarcity of workmen and materials, to confine themselves to the

construction of this description of vessels, at least, within the limits of

the Confederacy. VVc all expected, for some time, a communication

from the Secretary of the Navy on this subject, with the suggestion



34a

that he might be authorized to continue the construction of the wooden
gun boats. P-t /ifter waiting for some time, and no suggestion being
made by tue ct^'cretary to that effect, the committee unanimously
determined that they would act upon the subject; and I was instructed
to bring in a bill directing the President to discontinue the construction
of the small gun boats above mentioned. Such a bill was brought in,

and unanimously passed by the House, and afterwards became a law.'

Mr. Ma] lory being informed of this result, expressed his gratification

at it, but assigned no reason for not suggesting it himself.

Mr. BARKSDALE. Did that bill pass the Senate ?

Mr. Conrad. Yes, sir.

Mr. BARKSDALE. I now move that the Secretary of the Navy
be authorized to have summoned such witnesses as he may desire.

The motion was agreed to.

The Committee then adjourned until Saturday next, the 14th inst.

SATURDAY, Feb. 14, 1863.

The Committee met at 10 o'clock.

Present—Messrs. Foote, Peyton, Phelan and Barksdale.

The Secretary of the Navy not having any interrogatories prepared

to put to the Hon. C. M. Conrad, the Committee adjourned to meet
again on Tuesday next, the 16th inst.

TUESDAY^ Fep. 17, 1863.

The Committee met at 10 o'clock.

Present—Messrs. Maxwell, (acting temporary Chairman,) Semmes,
Peyton and Barksdale.

The following documents were received from the Secretary of the

Navy in response to the resolution of Mr. Maxwell, of the 6th inst.,

and ordered to be put upon record:

[F.]

Confederate States Navy Department, )

Richmond, January llth, 1862. ^

Hon. C. G. Memminger, Secretary of the Treasury—
Sir: I am informed by Paymaster Senac, C. S. Navy, one of the

disbursing officers of this department, at New Orleans, that he finds

great difficulty in making change to pay bills for labor and material, and
that the banks have withdrawn their notes from circulation, and decline

to furnish disbursing agents with even small amounts once a month. .

He suggests that if he were supplied with treasury notes of the de-

nomination of five and ten dollars for a portion of his requisitions for

funds, he would be saved much inconvenience and annoyance, and I
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have the honor to request that you will be pleased lo direct that he be
so supplied.

I am, respectfuUv; your obedient servant,

S. R. MALLORY,
Secretary of the Navy.

[G—Copy.]
C. S. Treasury Department,"/

Richmond, Jan. 14, 1862. 3

Hon. S. R. Mallory, Secretary of the Navy—
Sir: Yoitr letter of the 11th, requesting that a portion of Paymaster

Senac's requisitions be paid in five dollar and ten dollar notes, has been
received.

I have been endeavoring for some days to relieve this difficulty,

which seriously embarrasses us in other respects, but our means of

printing are so limited and the demands for money are so large that we
cannpt yet make the issue sufficient to relie\''e the embarrassment of

which you complain.

Respectfully,

(Signed) C. G. MEMMINGER,
Secretary of the Treasury.

[H.]

Confederate Stater Navy Department,^
Richmond, Jan. 15th, 1862. 3

Ho7t. C. G. Memminger, Secretary of the Treasury—
Sir: Your letter of the 14th instant, explaining your inabihtj to fur-

nish small notes to the disbursing agents of this department 'in New
Orleans, has been received, and I recognize and appreciate all the diffi-

culties in the way of complying with my suggestion.

An army disbursing agent at New Orleans has been furnished with

a large amount in small treasury notes, $100,000, as is there stated,

while none is supplied to this department.

This greatly embarrasses most of them, and inconveniences arising

from it are daily brought to my notice.

I am, respectfully, your obedient servant,

S. R. MALLORY,
Secreta7'y of the Navy.

[I and J.]

Hon. Secretary of the Treasury—

Dear Sir: I desire that the requisition of this department, No. 161,
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January 10th, for ^100,000, in favor of Paymaster Senac, may be paid
as early as practicable, and to take precedence of others of this depart-
ment.

Respectfully, your obedient servant,

22d January, 1862.

S. R. MALLORY,
Secretary of the Navy.

[K.]

C. S. Treasury Department, ">

Richmond, Jan. 23, 1862.

3

Hon. S. R. Mallory, Secretary of Navy—
Sir: 1 have the honor to inform you that all your requisitions have

been answered up to the 30th of December last, also, $100,000 to F.
Senac, II th January.

Respectfully,

(Signed) C. G. MEMMINGER,
Secretary of the Treasury.

[L.]

Confederate States Navy Department, ">

Richmond, Jan. 22d, 1862. 5

W. W. Cane, Esq., New Orleans—
Sir: Your letter of the 15th inst. has been received. I presume the

amount of your bills has been included in the requisition of Mr. Howell,
navy agent, which have not been complied with by the Treasury De-
partment. The delay is caused for the want of treasury notes, which
cannot be printed and signed fast enough to meet all the demands on
the treasury at this time, and fn consequence of preference given to

requisitions for food and clothing for the army.
I am, respectfully, your obedient servant,

S. R. MALLORY,
Secretary of the Navy.

[M.]

Confederate States Navy Department, \
Richmond, Jan. 23d, 1862. f

Ho7i. Mr. Memminger, Secretary of the Treasury—
Dear Sir: Our requisition. No. 141, drawn Dec. 24th, in favor of

Payinaster Nixon, at New Orleans, for $61,000, being much of it for

pay due the navy, is greatly needed; and I have to request that the
amount be transmitted, if possible, and if the whole or a portion could

44
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be in fives, tens and twenties they would greatly facilitate the labors of
our agents.

Very respectfully, your obedient servant,

S. R. MALLORY,
Secretary of the Navy.

[N.]

Confederate States Navy Department, )
Richmond, Feb. 17th, 1862. j"

Hon. Sec. JVeasury—
Sir: I hand you herewith a copyof Mr. Howell's letter, from which you

will see the great delay incurred in receiving money on our requisitions

by the practice of transmitting to our agents at New Orleans drafts on the

treasury at Richmond, and I will be pleased to be informed of the means
to be adopted to place these funds in his hands.

The course he suggests is an expensive one, and one that the appro-

priation ought not, I think, to be charged with.

Yery respectfully, your obedient servant,

S. R. MALLORY,
Secretary of the Navy.

Richmond, Feb. 18, 1862.

Dear Sir: This department has an arrangement with the express

company for transmitting bonds and treasury notes, and whenever de-

sired forwards the same to the assistant treasurers or depositories for

delivery to the disbursing officers. Whenever a requisition is made in

favor of your disbursing officer at New Orleans, the treasury, upon re-

ceiving the warrant of the Secretary of the Treasury, forwards treasury

notes to New Orleans to pay the same. Where the warrant is payable

in bonds delay is unavoidable. The bonds cannot be prepared in suffi-

cient quantities to place a stock in the hands of all the depositories.

The disbursing officer, therefore, on being notified that he has certain

bonds to his credit, issues his check on the treasurer for such bonds as

he requires, and they are issued and delivered to the holder of the

check.
Very truly yours,

(Signed) C. G. MEMMINGER,
Secretary of the Trcasuinf.

Hon. 8. R. Mallory, Sec. Navy.

Arj
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[P.]

Confederate States Navy Department,)
Richmond, Feb. 22d, 1862. y

Hon. C. G. Memminger, Secretary of the Treasury—

Sir: Enclosed herewith you will receive copy of a telegram received

from navy agent, Wm. B. Howell, at New Orleans.

The operations of this department are much embarrassed, and the

credit of the government damaged by the delays incurred in placing

funds in New Orleans to meet expenditures.

The requisition to which Mr. Howell refers, was made on the 29th

ultimo, to pay existing liabilities, and on the 17th inst. he received, it

seems, half the amount in bills, and a draft, payable in Richmond, and
in bonds for the other half, which, to him, is, for the present, useless.

Our agents endeavor to stipulate in all contracts for part payment in

bonds, and I suggest that no bonds be sent upon the requisitions

of the department unless specially asked for on their face; and if you
can send them the money instead of the drafts upon Richmond, which
they cannot negotiate at New Orleans without loss, and which entail a

delay of two weeks in realizing the funds, our operations would be

greatly facilitated.

I am, respectfully, your obedient servant,

S. R. MALLORY,
Secretary of the Navy.

Treasury Department, March \, 1862.

My Dear Sir: 1 have just received the enclosed telegram. Of
course, we cannot accept payment for such a purpose, as it imputes dis-

credit. But if you have any payments to make which are impeded by
being payable in bonds, I will telegraph that they will be paid in treas-

ury notes, if you desire it.

Very truly yours,

(Signed) 0. G. MEMMINGER,
Hon. S. R. Mallory.

Confederate States Navy Department, )

Richmond, March 8th, 1862. ]

To the President—

•

Sir: For your information, I have the honor to make the following
statement in reference to the communication of the Committee of Safety
of New Orleans, submitted to me this day:
The credit of the Government has doubtless suffered in New Orleans,

^ from the failure of the treasury to meet the requisitions of this depart-

ment; and this has been a constant source of embarrassment to the de-

partment, and of annoyance to its creditors, and disbursing agents in.

that city.
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I have repeatedly brought the subject to the attention of the Secretary

of the Treasury, and invoked prompt payment, though 1 have felt, that

with his limited power to produce treasury notes, and under the rule

adopted giving priority to certain disbursements for the army, he was
powerless to correct the evil.

Here is my last letter to him upon the subject. (See letter of the

22d of February, 1862.)

The requisitions of this department upon the treasury for money to

meet payments in New Orleans, have usually been made immediately
upon hearing from its disbursing officers the amount required, and
always, I think, within twenty-four hours thereafter; but the delay of

the treasury in paying them has been from twenty-five to forty days.

In some cases the treasury department has, after long delay, instead

of sending notes, for which our creditors were waiting, sent drafts for

Confederate bonds, payable in Richmond; and which drafts were use-

less to our agent and creditors there, and which therefore had to be re-

turned to Richmond for payment, and then sent to New Orleans, thus

still farther protracting payment.
This has been a source of great embarrassment to this department,

and complaint of its creditors.

In one of these cases a requisition for $42,000 was dated December
24th, 1861, payable to navy agent, W. B. Howell; on the 6th of Feb-
ruary, 1862, he received a draft, one-half in notes, and one-half in

bonds at Richmond. His letter of advice was received February 15th

;

and on the ITth of February I called upon the treasury for the requisi-

tion, forty-eight days afterwards.

When the department draws its requisition in favor of its creditors,

upon an existing appropriation, its duty and its power are aUke ex-

hausted, and though the department has endured the embarrassment
consequent upon these delays, and which it had not the power to avert,

it has felt that the condition of the treasury rendered them inevita"ble,

and that the responsibility for them was with that department.

Our agents are instructed to make all contracts, whenever they can,

payable partly in bonds, and they do so, and in such cases our requisi-

tions call for the amount of bonds to be sent; but the treasury as you
will see by the Secretary's letter, deems it proper to send bonds when
not required, and when we caimotuse them, and embarrassment to the

department, and losses to creditors inevitably follow.

Our agents from the nature of their disbursements can dispose of

bonds only to a very limited extent.

The following telegram from our navy agents, and the treasury com-

ments thereon, will thus show the character of these transactions.
'' Telegram," " ordnance money received, one-half (^) in draft on Rich-

mond, payable in bonds, which cannot use; shall I pay for what stores

received, as I advised you ui my letter of February 8th?"
Answer of Secretary. '^ 1 return you the telegram of navy agent,"

Howell. If you will examine the acts of Congress, "you will find

that a large amount of the means provided by Congress to pay the ex-

penditures consists of bonds; these must be distributed among the ex-

penditures for which alone they can be used, and 1 see no remedy, but

to require your agents to make their contracts accordingly. It is not

possible to supply the means, excefi>t in the form provided by Congress;
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and if the agents, instead of complaining, would set themselves to aid

the Government by disposing of the bonds, there would be no difliculty."

Similar cases are constantly occurring; and this day, I am notified by
telegram, that upon a requisition to pay a debt, due in notes drawn by
me, one month ago, one-third of the amount was sent to New Orleans
in bonds, which of course the creditors decline to receive.

Embarrassment to creditors has also arisen in New Orleans, from the

following circumstances: Capt. Hollins, without the knowledge or au-

thority of the department, without acquainting it with his actions, and
when no appropriation existed for meeting the payment, made contracts

for ordnance and ordnance stores, amounting to about ,$500,000.^ The
amount of these contracts was for a long- time unknown to the depart-

ment, and information of their extent was first acquired through the

contractors themselves.

The navy agent, and an officer, sent specially for the purpose, were
instructed to ascertain therr amount, and an estimate was submitted to

Congress, and an appropriation obtained to pay them at the earliest pos-

sible moment thereafter; and on the very day I received the act of Con-
gress 1 made requisition for the funds, and they hcive been placed in

New Orleans, to meet all demands which have come to hand.

The statement of the committee of safety as to the amount of in-

debtedness, is totally incorrect. No such amount as from $600,000 to

to $800,000 has been outstanding;, and if the treasury department has

sent to the disbursing agents of this department, the .money for its re-

quisition of the 1st of March for ^-pSOOjOOO, they have funds in hand
more than sufficient to meet every cent due by the department, and of

which it has any knowledge.
I annex copies of my letters to the treasury department, and herewith

return the communication of the committee of safety.

I am; respectfully, your obedient servant,

S. K. MALLORY,
Secrelar?j of the Navy.

Confederate Statss Navy Department,
Richmond, March IWi, 1862.

Wm. B. Howell, Navy Agent, Neto Orleans—
Sir: This department has recently drawn requisitions upon the treas-

ury in your favor for the aggregate amount of, say one million three

hundred and eighty-six thousand dollars since the twentieth of Jan-

uary, and I am informed by the Secretary of the Treasury that he has

forwarded the amount up to first of January, or all, less three hundred
and seventy thousand dollars.

Five hundred thousand dollars had been sent to yoci on the 2d of

January and the Istof March, intwo piyments, on account of ordnance.

Tiie delays of the treasury in sending to you the money, as you
have called for it to meet the public expenditures, have had, as yon
have correctly stated, an evil influeace upon our credit in yoar city. 1

trust, however, that you have the means of paying every debt due by

this department; and that anticipating delays at the treasury, you will

make requisitions sufficiently in advance.
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You will be careful to provide as far as possible for the payment, or

part payments in bonds of all contracts; where you can do so. Bonds
form a large part of the means of paying the pubUc creditors.

You will please advise me of all outstanding debts against the depart-

ment.
T am, respectfully, your obedient servant,

S. R. MALLORY,
Secretary of the Navy.

Confederate States Navy Department,
|

Richmond, March 24th, 1862.
\

Hon. C. G. Memminger,
Secretary of the Treasury—

Sir: Enclosed I hand you the dispatch of Mr. Howell, navy agent

at New Orleans, dated at New Orleans this day. From this it appears

that the funds for the rec[uisition- drawn by me in January last, have
not yet been paid

.

The party to whom this money is in part due, has also telegraphed

his demand.
I hope it will be in your power to supply the money.

I am, respectfully, vour obedient servant,

S. R. MALLORY,
Secretary of the Navy.

Confederate States Navy Department, 7
Richmond, March 2ith, 1862. ^

Hon. C. G. Memminger,
Secretary of the Treasu?'y—

Sir: 1 transmit herewith copies of the dispatches of Paymaster

Nixon and Mr. A. 1^. Davis, upon the subject of funds, due the latter

by this department. The requisition for the funds was made on the 7th

of January last, and did not call for bonds; this department having in-

formed the treasury that it would call for bonds specifically whenever
tliey could be used.

I hope it will be convenient for you to transmit the notes.

I have the honor to be,

Very respectfully, your obedient servant,

S. R. MALLORY,
Secretary of the Navy.

Confederate States of America,^
Treasury Department, >

Richmond, March 25th, 1862. )
Hon. S. U. Mallory, Secretary of the Navy—

Sir: I have received your letter of the 24th inst., transmitting copies



351

of dispatches of Paymaster J. W. Nixon and Mr. A. L. Davis, upon
the subject of funds, due the latter by the navy department.
By reference to my report to Congress of the 14th inst., a copy of

which I transmitted to you on yesterday, you will perceive that to meet
the appropriations made by the Congress of the Provisional Govern-
ment, that Congress made provision by authorizing, among other
means, the issue of $100,000,000 in bonds, $66,000,000 of which re-

main to be issued, and are the only means to that amount provided to

meet the appropriations. If I cannot succeed in issuing this sixty-six
million dollars in bonds, there must be a deficiency to that amount in
meeting the appropriations made by the Provisional Congress. You
will therefore understand and I trust appreciate the necessity of putting
into the hands of disbursing officers, part in bonds and part in treasury
notes, which I have been compelled to do heretofore, and which will be
equally imperative hereafter.

E-espectfully,

(Signed) C. G. MEMMINGER,
Secretary of the Treasury.

Confederate States Navy Department, ">

Richmond, March 28th, 1862. j"

Hoti. C. G. Mbmmingee, Secretai^y of the Treasury—
I have received your letter of the 25th inst., in relation to paying the

requisitions of this department in bonds.
I think that the following simple statement will clearly exhibit the

evils which must result from the course you propose, and the difficulties

which it must create in the administration of the affairs of the depart-

ment.
Our disbursing agents at New Orleans, as you have been heretofore

advised, provide, in accordance with my instructions, whenever they
can, in all contracts and purchases, that payment shall be made partly

in Confederate bonds; to meet which contracts, I call upon the treasury

specially for the amount of bonds stipulated for. In many instances

they cannot thus contract, but are compelled to pay in treasury notes,

or fail in providing for the naval service.

Having informed you that when we require bonds I would call for

them, and that in all other cases we require treasury notes, you insist

that you will pay our requisitions in bonds, whether we can use them
or not, or in other words, that our contracts in New Orleans must be
paid, not according to the stipulations of our disbursing agents, and the

rights of our citizens, but as you may dictate.

The result is, that hundreds of poor mechanics and small contractors

go unpaid for months, and the doors of our agents, who are faithful

and competent men, are daily beset by complaining creditors, and the

credit of this department is impaired, and the public service injured.

These agents, after waiting from twenty-five to fifty days to receive

treasury notes, for which requisition has been duly made, receive drafts

payable in bonds in Richmond, and which drafts, useless to them in

New Orleans, have to be sent back here.



352

I perceive from your statement, that with the means at your control,

you feel compelled to pursue this course, and 1 do not question its cor-

rectness, my design being only to exhibit the evils and inconveniences

which result from it,

I am, respectfully, your obedient servant,

S. R. MALLORY,
Secretary of the Navy.

Confederate States of America,
Treasury Department,

Richmond, Aprils, 1862.\
Hon. S. R. Mallory, Secretary of the Navy—

Sir: Several of the requisitions which have come in from your de-

partment, together with your last letter on the subject of treasury notes,

seem to imply that you are not aware of the impediments which pre-

vent this department from paying out treasury notes.
^

Congress has provided no means to pay appropriations but treasury

notes and bonds. At the date of my last report, of which a copy was
sent you, the relative proportions of these means were two hundred
and thirty one millions of treasury bonds and stock, to fifty milUons of
treasury notes—that is, about four and a half times as many bonds as

treasury notes—for the appropriations anticipated and made up to 1st

December next.

You will perceive, therefore, that it does not depend upon my will

whether requisitions shall be paid in treasury notes. A stern necessity

compels the bonds to be used wherever purchases are to be made, or,

in fact, where any payment is to be made, otherwise than for absolute

cash demands. 1 have constantly had in view the fact that you require

cash for pay and for mechanics' wages, and you will find that whenever
your requisitions include such items, they are always supplied with a suffi-

cient supply of treasury notes to pay these demands. But when the

requisitions are for coal or ordnance, or such supplies as can be pur-

chased, it becomes necessary to resort to the other means, and in those

cases I have supplied bonds to your disbursing officers, just as I am
obliged to do to those in the war department, but in far less proportions;

for while the war department has used upwards of eleven millions of

bonds, yours has used less than one million.

1 trust, therefore, you will see the necessity in the same light that I

do, and will aid this department in using the means furnished by Con-
gress, by urging upon your disbursing officers the duty of making pur-

chases, at least in part, with bonds, to the utmost extent of their power.

With much respect, your obedient servant,

(Signed) C. G. MEMMINGER,
Secretary of the Treasury.
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/ Confederate States Navy Department, 7
Richmond, April 1th, 1862. \

Hon. C. G. Memminger, Secretary of the Treasury—
Sir: I enclose you copies of the telegrams just received from New

Orleans, which illustrate the evil results to the interests of the govern-
ment by the refusal of the Treasury Department to issue treasury notes
to pay debts, the payment of which, in notes, was specially contracted
for.

The steamer in question could only be bought for notes. She was
required for the pubhc service, and purchased by our disbursing agent
for notes, and, in accordance with his contract, treasury notes are re-

quired to pay for her, the parties from whom she was purchased refusing
bonds on any terms. The requisition for funds to pay for this steamer
was made on the 7th of January last, payable in treasuiy notes, and
you sent bonds instead of notes for part of it; and the parties have thus
been kept out of their money for three months.

In the case of Mr. Payne the requisition was made in January or
February, and he has not yet received his money, which, 1 presume,
from his dispatch, has resulted from the loss of the mail.

I have the honor to request, that the treasury notes may be supplied
in the first case, and the draft to pay Mr. Payne be remitted.

I am, respectfully, your obedient servant,

S. R. MALLORY,
Secretary of the Navy.

Confederate States Navy Department, 7
Richmond, Jjon7 7;/i, 1862. j"

Hon. C. G. Memminger, Secretary of the Treasury—
Sir: Your letter of the 4th inst. has been received.

I am aware, of course, that in meeting the requisitions of this de-

partment you are compelled to pay in bonds and notes, but the general
character of its expenditures do not admit of the use of bonds to any
great extent, and they must be paid in notes, or not paid at all.

A small proportion only, of bonds to notes, not more, generally, than
one-fifth, can be paid out. This is what I have so frequently and so

earnestly urged, and I have done so from the conviction that the credit

of the department, and its ability to build and equip vessels, and to

conduct its operations generally, have been crippled by the practice of
the Treasury Department, in sending to our disbursing ofRcers bonds,
which they could not use, and to pay debts for which notes were spe-

cially required in the place of the requisitions.

Your suggestion that I should-'' urge upon your (my) disbursing
officers the duty of making purchases, at least m part, of bonds" has,
of course, been anticipated. Such instructions have been, and are

frequently, urged but the point is, that the great mass of our expendi-
tures will not admit of being paid in bonds, as may be seen at a
glance.

45



You say, that while the war department has used upwards of eleven

millions of bonds this department has used less than one million. I

know not, without reference to our files, what the proportion is, but

assuming your statement to be accurate, it shows that while the war
department has used of bonds one cent in every 13 and 9-10 of a cent,

this department has used one cent in every T and 6-10 of a cent, of its

expenditures, or nearly twice the amount of the war department, in

proportion to its expenditures, and this, too, notwithstanding the ex-

penditures of this department do not admit of the use of bonds to the

extent of those of the war department.

1 can but again observe, that the agents of this department must

necessarily make a large portion of their purchases for notes; parties

holding the articles, the labor and materials we require, refuse bonds,

and will sell only for notes , and if the treasury continues to issue to

them bonds, which they cannot use, in lieu of the notes which Ihey

contract to pay, the debts of the department remain unpaid, its credit

fails, the price of every article it attempts to purchase is at once raised

,

and its operations are crippled.

I am, respectfully, your obedient servant,

S. R. MALLORY,
Secretary of the Navy.

The following questions were put to the Hon. C. M. Conrad by the

Chair, in behalf of the Secretary of the Navy :

1st Question. Had you not, as Chairman of the Committee on Naval

Aifairs, had ample means and opportunity of learning the action of the

department on naval affairs, and the measures it was pursuing generally?

Mr. CoNBAD. No, sir. I had very little opportunity of knowing
what the measures of the department generally were, except so far as

they were connected with legislation. I had very little leisure; except

during the sessions of Congress I was not here; and when here I had not

thought it proper to investigate or inquire into the general action of the

department. I was in the habit of inquiring into its action with refer-

ence to the defences of New Orleans, but seldom in regard to any other

matter.

2d Question. Did you ever seek from the Secretary any information

as to its action, which he refuset;! or omitted to furnish ? If so, state

the facts.

Mr. Conrad. I don't recollect the Secretary ever refusing to give

me any information I sought to obtain.

Zd Question. You say that you were not aware that any naval pre-

parations were made, or were being made up to the meeting of Congress

in 1861 . Were you not then aware that the navy department had agents

abroad, instructed to buyer build iron-plated ships, and did you not see

the instructions ?

Mr. Conrad. I have not stated, or certainly did not mean to state,

that no preparations were being made, or had been made up to the

meeting of Congress in 1861. What I said or meant to say was, that

up to that time no naval preparations had been made for the defence of

New Orleans or the Mississippi river. I have stated that as early as

May, 1861, an agent was dispatched to Europe to superintend the pur-

chase or construction of vessels, and the purchase of arms and nava
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supplies—1 think I stated that'll! my testimony—other steps had been
probably taken before that time.

Uh Questioji. Were you not aware that CommanderRaphael Semmes
had been seilt from Montgomery to New York to purchase steamers for

war vessels in'March, 1861, and did you not see his instructions?

Mr. Conrad, I have an indistinct recollection that about the period

mentioned, Commander Semmes was sent some where to the North
with a view to obtain vessels, but T do not recollect ever having seen his

instructions.

5ih Question. Were you not aware that Lieut. North was also sent

from Montgomery to the Northern States to purchase steam^s for war
vessels in March, 1861 ? and did you not see his instructions 7

Mr. Conrad. No, sir. I have no recollection of any navy agent
having been sent to the Northern States by the department, nor do I

remember of any instructions given at the time referred to.

^th Question. Were you not aware that the department sent from
Montgomery an agent to Canada to purchase propeller ships in May,
1861 ? and did you not see the instructions ?

Mr. Conrad. I am not aware of it, and do not recollect hearing of

it, but it is very probable that an agent was sent. My want of any
knowledge in the matter is owing to the fact that I was not generally in

the habit of inquiring into the particulars of the navy department, and
I do not recollect ever having seen instructions of the department to

any officer at any time, or on any subject.

1th Question. Were you not aware that the department from Mont-
gomery sent a board of officers to New Orleans on the 17th of March,
1861, with instructions to purchase and fit out steamers for war vessels?

Mr. Conrad. I recollect that at one time a board of officers were
sent to make arrangements at New Orleans for the purchase of vessels,

but have no recollection of the time.

Sth Question. Were you not aware that the d^artment, immedi-
ately upon its organization, entered upon the completion of the Fulton
at Pensacola ?

Mr. Conrad. I have no recollection on the subject.

Wi Question. Were you not aware of the contracts made at Mont-
gomery in April, 1861, with Leeds & Co., of New Orleans, and with
J. R. Anderson & Co., of Richmond, to make guns for New Orleans?

Mr. Conrad. No, sir. I recollect at one time in the course of that

spring or summer being in Mr. Leeds' foundry, and Mr. Leeds, one of
the brothers, telling me that he had obtained, or was endeavoring to

obtain an order to make cannon for the government, and telling me that

he had already made one or two small pieces for individuals, but I do
not think that at that time he had any such order, nor did he speak of
having contracts particularly for guns for the defence of New Orleans.

He spoke of a contract for guns generally. I recollect that he made a
gun under the order of the military commandant of New Orleans, and
that that gun had been tested and burst in the test. But he stated that

the bursting was the result of the ignorance of the officer by whom the

trial was made, as the gun had been- so placed as not to have any room
for recoil. He wds fearful that this unfair trial might prejudice him, as

it may be supposed, that either his iron was not suitable, or that he had
not understood the art of casting guns. He was satisfied himself that
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he would make good gaiis, and stated that he was at that thne at work
in making guns for individuals. I am satisfied that this was later than
May, 1861; because it was after my return from Montgomery. I do not

recollect having heard anything on this subject from the nav}^ depart-

ment.
10th Question. Were you not av/are of the examination made of

vessels generally by the board of officers sent there from Montgomery,
with the view of converting iheni into war vessels, and did you not see

their reports ?

Mr. Conrad. No, sir.

llth Questio7i. Were you not aware of the department's purchase of

vessels, arid fitting them out as war vessels in IMew Orleans, and espe-

cially of the purchase of the Habanna and the Marquis of Habanna ?

Mr. Conrad. I recollect having been spoken toby a gentleman from
Mobile or New Orleans, I forget which, who obtained an introduc-

tion to me from some one, in regard to the purchase of the two vessels

referred to. He said that the navy department had desired to purchase

them; that he offered them for what he considered a very reasonable

price, and that the Secretary of the Navy declined to pnrchase, the price

too high, and he expressed a wish that I would speak to the Secretary

to induce him to make the purchase: 1 think I did speak to him, but

do not recollect what his answer was. 1 know that the vessels were
afterwards purchased, as they were altered in New Orleans,

12t/i Question. You refer to the proposition of the owners of the

Manassas to sell her to the Government, and thereupon you say that i/i

conversation with Mr. Mallory upon this i^ubject, he expressed his entire

disbelief in iron clad rams—that the English had tried them long ago,

and abandoned thera, &c. Look at this letter of the 8th of May, 1861,

upon iron clad steamers, marked A, and say whether you received it;

and say whether or not Congress did not, upon receiving it, pass two
days afterwards an act in accordance with its recommendations ?

The following is the letter :

A.~-[Copy.]

CoXPfiDERATE StATES OV AmERICA,!
Navy Department, >

ti Montgomeiy, May 8th, 1861,
)

Hon. C. M. Conrad, Chairman Naval Committee—
Sir: I desire to submit for your consideration the following facts and

suggestions

:

The inequality between the batteries of ships and guns placed in

regular or temporary military works on land hasfrequently been demon-
strated, and long been acknowledged; and the leading minds of Eng-
land and France during the last few years have been actively employed
in what was regarded as impracticable, the establishment of an equation
between ships and forts.

Much speculation, numerous ingenious devices, and extensive expe-

riments, cautionsly and thoroughly conducted, are before us as the re-

sults in part of these attempts; and without delaying your attention

with these, I will briefly cite a few leading facts, which may be re-

garded as having been satisfactorily established, and which have driven
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the navy departments of England and France into active rivalry in tiie

construction of iron armed ships.

The resistance of iron plates fixed upon an unyielding surface to tiie

direct action of heavy ordnance v/as first fairly tested by Mr. Stevens of

New York^ in 1S45, and the results of his experiments proved that

wrought iron plates one inch thick, thus supported could not be pene-

trated or injured by shells, and that the same iron six inches thick re-

sisted all shot, and at every distance. Upon these data he commenced,
but never completed under the patronage of the U. S, the constrnctiou

of an iron floating battery for harbor defence.

His views and labors attracted much attention at that day ni France
and England, and in France particularly, they originated careful and
detailed experiments. In 1853—54, France launched six iron-plated

vessels; and though rude, and unfit for the duties of war ships, they

proved to be formidable batteries. In October, 1855, one year after,

Britain's crack line of battle-ships were so roughly handled and
repulsed before Fort Constantine, without injury to the fort. Tliree of

these batteries anchored within 800 yards of the strong position of

Kintrum; which mounted 51 guns and 12 mortars, and reduced it in

about forty minutes. Mr. Russell, the London Times' correspondent,

who witnessed the affair, thus describes it:

"The floating batteries of the French opened with a magnificent

crash at 9.30, A. M., and one in particular distinguished itself for the

regularity, precision and weight of its fire throughout the day. The
Russians replied with alacrity, and tlie batteries must have, been put to

a severe test, for the .water was splashed into pillars, by shot all over

them. The success of the experiment, (iron-cased batteries,) is com-
plete. They were anchored only 800 yards from the Russian batteries.

The shot of the enemy at that short range, had no effect upon them\

the balls hopped back off their sides, without leaving any impression,

save such as a pistol ball makes on the target in a shooting gallery.

—

The shot could be heard' distinctly striking the sides of ^Xxq battery

with a sharp smack, and then could be seen flying back, splashing the

water at various angles, according to the direction they took, till they

dropped exhausted. On one battery the dints of 63 balls are visible

against the plates of one side, not counting the marks of others which
have glanced along the decks, or struck the edges of the bulwarks; yet

all the damage that has been done to that vessel, is the starting of three

rivets."

In 1857, France determined upon the construction of 10 ironclad

ships, vessels that should not only possess, in a superior degree, the

speed and sea-worthy qualities of the finest vessels afloat, bat upon
whose impenetrable armor, the missiles. of naval warfare siiould fall as

harmless as a distaff upon a coat of mail.

The first of this class of ships was launched, and made her first

cruise last summer; and her extraordinary qualities have attracted the

attention of the naval world.

This ship, the " Gloire," is 250 feet long, by only 21 feet beam, and
carries 38 rifled 50 pounders, her sides are constructed of iron, (or as it

is alleged of steel,) 5.1 inches thick, and her ends of plates varying
from 5.1 to 2.5.

A deck of wood and iron 18 inches 'thick, is thrown over her
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guns, forming a perfect casemate throughout her length. The steering

gear and capstan's port are placed in an iron redoubt on the upper declc;

which is proof against the heaviest ordnance. Her engine is of 900
horse power, her speed 12| knots, and greater than that of the fastest

vessel of Britain. She is of course perfectly invulnerable to shell and
hot shot, the two most destructive elements of naval warfare, and while

rifled cannon may destroy wooden ships at 5,000 yards, they are harm-
less against her at a greater distance than 400.

The success of the " Gloire " has stimulated the naval energies of

France, and the other nine vessels were to have been completed and
launched about the 1st of May, 1861. The power of such a fleet car-

rying 300 rifled 50-pounders can hardly be estimated; but it seems to
,

be admitted, that there is no sea castle, fortress, or defensive work in

the British channel, that it could not demolish with comparative impu-

nity. Eight-inch solid shot cannot penetrate their sides at a greater

distance than 200 yards, while at double this distance, their guns are

capable of breaching and levelling the heaviest walls of granite known
to England's channel defences.

To meet this terrific power, it is already suggested that iron-cased

forts, and artillery of 15, 20, and even 30 inches bore must be supplied,

and this very suggestion admits the present superiority of ships over

torts.

In addition to these ships, the French Minister of Marine has ordered

the constmction of 100 gun boats plated with iron.

England has been slow, but not idle, and is preparing to meet these

formidable structures of France. Her experiments must be carefully

made, and though her builders are yet uncertain, as to whether the

French ships are plated with steel or iron, they have demonstrated the

sufliciency of wrought iron.

In 1859, the Admiralty ordered the construction of four iron-clad ves-

sels. Sir Richard Armstrong, the inventor of the celebrated gun, and
whose opinions on such subjects are recognized wherever known, as

authority, tells the late Secretary of War, Gen. Peel, ''that if we can

produce iron-cased vessels attaining anything like the same speed, and

as sea-worthy as ordinary men-of-war, no other vessels will have the

slightest chance against them." The imitations in the construction,

character and capacities of ships from their earliest use, have kept pace

with those in every other device of the genius of man; and though the

" Glorie " is at this moment the leading war ship of the sea, and equal

in power to an entire fleet of wooden vessels, plans have been already

subiriitted to the British Governmetit for a far superior vessel at an

equal cost.

Tlie Admiralty's call upon the genius of Gngland in 1859, was re-

sponded to by thousands of naval constructors, bringing to the govern-_

ment a vast amount of information. Of all the plans submitted, that of

Capt. Courtney Coles, of the Royal iiavy, has met with the most

general approbation.

The cost of the "Glorie" cannot probably be estimated, as the

French Government uniformly conceals, as far as practicable, all infor-

mation upon their naval progress; but from the best information from

reliable English sources, the cost in England of a frigate carrying a

battery of six rifled 80-pounder Armstrong guns would not, when

ready for sea, exceed
(-ii; 1 ,800,000} eighteen hundred thousand dollars.
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This certainly seems to be a very large price to pay for a six gun ship,
when we remember that the finest wooden screw frigates that float,

carrying forty guns of the heaviest calibre, cost but half this amount.
But no comparison of their relative values can be instituted, inasmuch
as the most formidable wooden frigate would be powerless in a
contest with such a ship; and the employment of iron-clad ships
by one naval power, must compel every other to have them, without
regard to cost, or to occupy a position of known or admitted inferiority

upon the sea.

But it might be safely assumed, that even upon the basis of expen-
diture, the iron vessel would, at the end of five years active service,
be cheaper, all other considerations being discarded, than the wooden
frigate, as her crew would consist of but one fourth of the number,
and the expenses incident to the crew be proportionally less in the
former, than in the latter; and to this we may fairly add the further
consideration, that the wooden frigate entails upon the country the ob-
ligation to pension for death and disabilities among a crew of 600 men
in a highly destructible ship, whereas, the iron-clad while nearly
indestructible herself, would afford almost immunity to her crew of
about 150 men.
These facts are presented for your consideration. I regard the posses-

sion of an iron-armored ship, as a matter of the first necessity. Such
a vessel at this time could traverse the entire coast of the United States
prevent all blockades, and encounter, with a fair prospect, of success,
their entire navy.

If to cope with them upon the sea, we follow their example, and
build wooden ships, we shall have to construct several at one time, for

one or two ships would fall an easy prey to her comparatively numer-
ous steam frigates. But inequality of numbers may be compensated
by invulnerability, and thus not only does economy, but naval success
dictate the wisdom and expediency of fighting with iron against wood
without regard to first cost.

Naval engagements between wooden frigates as they are now built
and armed, will prove to be the forlorn hopes of the sea, simply contests
in which the question, not of victory, but who shall go to the bottom
first is to be solved.

Should the committee deem it expedient to begin at once the con-
struction of such a ship, not a moment should be lost.

An agent of the department will leave for England in a day or two,
charged with the duty of purchasing vessels, and by him the first step
in the measure may be taken.

Very respectfully, your obedient servant,

S. R. MALLORY,
Secretary of the Navy.

Mr. CoNKAD. I received the letter referred to, and thinking the sug-
gestion contained in it important, 1 brought it to the immediate atten-
tion of Congress. It was referred to our committee, and the committee
directed me to report a bill authorizing the purchase or construction in
Europe of one or two iron-plated vessels, which bill was reported, and
afterwards became a law. But I do not think that this letter said any-
thing about rams-—it referred solely to iron-plated vessels, in regard to
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which, I did not know that Mr. Mallory expressed any opinion. He
spoke of rams only.

iWi Question. Were not the Warrior and Glorie, to which the Sec-

retary called the special attention of Congress, iron-clad rams?
Mr. GoNRAD. 1 have no knowledge on that subject.

lAth Question. At the time to Avhich you refer for Mr. Mallory's

disbelief in iron-clad rams, was he not having the Merrimac cut down
and converted into an ironclad ram with inclined sides, and was she

not the first vessel ever constructed upon this plan in this Confederacy?

Mr. Conrad. I do not know at what time the Merrimac was com-

menced, nor at what time it was determined to make her a ram. I did

not hear of her being a ram until long after I had heard that she was
being covered with iron, and was somewhat surprised when 1 did hear

it, owing to the opinion I heard Mr. Mallory express with reference

to rams. This was some time after Mr. Stevenson recommended iron-

plated rams.

15th Question. Did you read the report dated the 18th of July, of

the Secretary of the Navy, submitted to Congress when it commenced
in July, 1861. ? Was not the follov/ing passage in that report ?

" The frigate Merrimac has been raised and docked at an expense of

$6,000, and the necessary repairs to hull and machitiery to place her in

her former condition, is estimated by experts at $450,000. The ves-

sel would then be in the river, and by the blockade of the enemy's
fleets and batteries-, rendered eotnparatively useless. It has therefore

been determined to shield her completely wiih three inch iron placed at

such angles as to render her ball- proof, to complete her at the earliest

moment, to arm her with the heaviest ordnance, and to send her at

once against the enemy's fleet. It is believed that thus prepared, she

will be able to contend successfully against the heaviest of the enemy's
ships, and to drive them from Hampton Roads and the ports of Vir-

ginia. The cost of this work is estimated by the constructor and
engineer in charge at $172,523, and as time is of the first consequence

in this enterprise, I have not hesitated to commence the work, and to

ask Congress for the necessary appropriation."

Mr. Conrad. Of course I have read every report made by the Sec-

retary of the Navy to Congress. I do not recollect the precise dates of

any of these reports, nor do I recollect the particular passage referred

to. Not having the report v/ith me, I cannot state whether or not it

was in it. But at all events the report will show.

I6th Question. . Did you not receive from the Secretary the follow-

ing letter?

Confederate States Navy Department,")
Richmond, Jubj 30th, 1863. y

Hon. C. M. Conrad,
Chairman of the Committee of Naval Affairs,

Richmond, Va.—
Sir: Herewith 1 hand you a plan for preparing immediate means afloat

to oppose the descent of the enemy's boats upon New Orleans, together

with the letter addressed to me by the Experts, to whom I submitted

it, viz: Captains Ingraham and Hoilins, Lieutenant Brook, of the navy,

and Constructor Pierce.
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I advise its adoption as the readiest, best, and most economical.
I also enclose you a printed slip, showing the character of the enemy's

boats to be delivered at Cairo.

The sum of $800,000 would probably cover the cost of this design,
and if the tugs were purchased they could be sold upon the terpiina-
tion of their service.

Very respectfully;, your obedient servant,

(Signed) S. R. MALLORY,
Secretary of the Navy.

Mr. C. As regards the letter referred to, I have no precise recollec-
tion of it. I recollect that a short time after 1 had taken action in this
matter in Congress, I did receive a letter from Mr. Mallory upon the
same subject. It is probable this is the letter referred to.

17th Question. Was not a special estimate of $800,000, for the
floating defences of New Orleans, submitted with this letter?

Mr. C. I have no recollection of it otherwise than as stated in the
letter. It was the practice of the Secretary to send in estimates when
he made a recommendation, and as that sum was appropriated that year
for that purpose, I presume it was enclosed in that letter.

ISth Question. Did you receive the following letter from the Sec-
retary

"
1

C. S. Navy Department, ^
Richmond, July^Qth, 1861.

3

Hon. C. M. Conrad,
Chairman of Committee of Naval Affairs,

Richmond, Va.—
Sir: Herewith I hand you the propositions of Ed. Gantherin & Co.,

of New Orleans, to construct in France, and deliver to the Government
of the Confederate States, ships-of-war.

I have, together with Captains Barron and Ingraham, carefully exam-
ined them, and for reasons, having reference alone to the character of the
enemy's vessels, I would invite your attention, and that of your com-
mittee, only to the class of two thousand tons; and should it be deemed
expedient to provide for the purchase of these, they should be con-
structed about four hundred tons larger.

The terms are about sixty per cent, higher than such vessels have
heretofore cost the U. S. Navy, but if the exigencies of the times, and
the risks to be incurred by the contractors, be regarded, this will not be
deemed extravagant.

I have the honor to be,

Very respectfully, your obedient servant,
(Signed) S. R. MALLORY,

Secretary of the Navy.

Mr. C. I have no recollection of the letter referred to. It is possi-
ble that this letter might have been sent to me. 1 recollect having had
some conversation with the Secretary in reference to some one in New
Orleans who proposed to construct or purchase vessels, but I do not

46
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recollect the name referred to, nor have I any recollection of this par-

ticular letter.

19th Question. Were you not aware that from Montgomery the de-

partment had sent an agent throughout the Confederacy to find rolling

mills, and means to produce iron-plates for building armed plated

vessels? »

Mr. C. No, sir, I have no knowledge on the subject.

20th Questio7i. Can you state what vessels were then at New Or-

leans, and on the Mississippi river, prepared for action, under Capt.

Hollins' command, at the time of your visit to New Orleans in October

and November, 1861?
Mr. C. I have no recollection of any other vessels that were pre-

pared for action at the time referred to, except two or three small tugs- —
the names of which I cannot recollect—carrying one or two guns.

There was a large floating battery, constructed from a floating dock,

which was in course of preparation. She was not, however, ready for

action when I last saw her, having only about one-half of hei- armor
on board. In common with every one else, T was struck with the

slowness with which the preparations on her progressed. Possibly that

might have been unavoidable. I "would state that the iron-plated ram
Manassas was then built, but she was then the property of the com-
pany that bnilt her.

At this stage of the examination the Committee adjourned until

Thursday next, the 19th lust., at 10 o'clock.

THURSDAY, Feb. 19, 1S63.

The Committee met at 10 o'clock. Present, Messrs. Maxwell, (act-

ing Chairman,) Peyton, Barksdale, Boyce, Dnpre and Semmes.
The cross interrogatories on behalf of the Secretary to the Hon.

C. M. Conrad, were resumed as follows:

21st. Question. Can you state what vessels and floating batteries

were then being prepared for service^by construction, alteration or

otherwise ?

Mr. C. I have no knowledge, or, at least, no recollection of any
vessels which were at that time being built or altered by the Navy De-
partment, except the two iron-plated vessels at New Orleans, and two

at Memphis; the Habanna and Marquis de Habanna were undergoing

alterations, and the floating battery already mentioned.

22(1 Questimi. Were you not aware that the Department had sent,

and was sending, large numbers of heavy guns to New Orleans, and
that it was manufacturing shot and .shell, and ordnance stores generally

for and sending them there ?

Mr. C. I know nothing about the manufacturing of shot and shell,

or the sending of them there. 1 know that some heavy guns had been

sent there to place on the floating battery already mentioned. That is

all I know on this subject. I know this simply from the fact that I saw
them on board the vessel and on the levy, preparatory to being put

on board. This is all I know on this subject. I recollect that the

preceding summer a committee of the city council of New Orleans
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had been sent here for the purpose of procuring a supply of ar-

tillery for the land defences of New Orleans. We came on together,

and 1 introduced them to the President and Secretary of War, and, I

think, also the Secretary of the Navy, as the principal portion of the
guns were to be supplied by the navy department, from the ordnance
taken at Norfolk* The government complied to some extent, though
not to the entire extent, with this requisition, and a number of guns
were sent to New Orleans, principally, as I understood, supplied by the
navy department, but not designed for vessels, but for land defences.

There was a great deal of delay in despatching these guns, and I

recollect that the aid-de-camp of General Twiggs, a very intelligent offi-

cer. Col. Higgins, came on here to expedite them. I introduced him
to the Secretary of the Navy, who,J think, gave him a letter for the
commandant at the navy yard at Norfolk to procure the gunsj and Col.

Higgins afterwards wrote me that they, or some of them, had been
despatched. This is all 1 can recollect on this subject.

23c? Question. Did you read the Secretary's report dated November
the 20th, 1861, submitted to Congress when it convened in November,
and if so, were not these passages in that report?

^'Iron- Clad War Steamers.

'' An appropriation for
.f2,000,000 was made at the second session of

Congress, per act No. 117, approved May 10th, 1861, to purchase or con-
struct in France or England, one or more iron-clad vessels-of-war for

the navy, aiid Lieut. James H. North, an officerof high standing in the
service, was at once sent abroad to procure them if possible.

"He has found it impracticable to purchase such vessels as we re-

quire, and the department has commenced the construction of iron-clad

vessels in our own country, and has stimulated the supplies of coal and
iron for this purpose.

Iron-clad steamships capable of resisting the crushing weight of pro-

jectiles from heavy ordnance, must, at an early day, constitute the prin-
cipal part of the fighting vessels of all naval powers, and the Con-
federate States, when relieved from the present urgent demands for

army supplies, may rapidly construct, from the abundant material within
their own limits, a formidable iro7i navy, a beginning of which has
already been made.
" To secure iron for the covering, construction and ordnance of na-

val vessels, the department has contracted with Joseph R. Anderson tt

Co. and Messrs. Deane for a supply of all classss of iron, including ord-
nance and projectiles, required for the public service.

Mr. Conrad. I, of course, read the report of November, 1861, but
not having it now before me, and not having access to it at this mo-
ment, I recollect no particular passages contained in it. The report can
speak for itself.

2Uh Question. Was not a special estimate of $500,000 for the de-
fences of the Mississippi river submitted in that report?

Mr. Conrad. The report will speak for itself.

25th Question. Were there any other means in the Confederacy of
rolling iron plates for ships than those employed by the Secretary ?

Mr. Conrad. I have no knowledge on the subject. I will say that
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the means of obtaining rolling iron plates were limited, and that I was
informed by the Secretary, either by his reports or in conversations,

that there was difficulty in obtaining them.
2^th Question. Did he not organize the rolling mill at Atlanta?

Mr. Conrad. I have no recollection on that subject.

21th Question. You say that you brought the subject of the enemy's
construction of iron clad vessels at St. Louis to the Secretary's notice,

and that he thereupon showed you a Northern paper referring to them,
with a wood cut print of one of them. Did not the Secretary then tell

you that he had sent mechanics to work on these vessels, to ascertain

their true character ?

Mr. Conrad. I recollect the Secretary's telling me that at that time

he was endeavoring to ascertain more particularly their plan or build. I

do not recollect that he mentioned the means he adopted for that

purpose.

2Sth Question. Did not the Secretary call your attention to these

ships in the letter before referred to, of July 30th, 1861 ?

Mr. Conrad. That letter has been produced and speaks for itself.

I will state, however, in addition to that matter, that since it was men-
tioned the other day, I am reminded that this letter was written after the

conversation referred to, and one or two other conversations on the same
subject. That it was also received by me after a resolution had been
introduced in the House by myself, 1 think, or some other member of

the Committee, calUng the attention of the President to this subject. 1

found among my papers ^a message from the President to Congress,

dated on the same day with the letter to me above referred to, which I

now produce to the Committee. It is dated July the 30th, and reads

as follows :

Richmond, July SO^A, 1861.

Hon. Howell Cobb,
President of Confederate Congress, C. S. A.—

Sir: I have the honor to acknowledge the resolution of enquiry of

this date, in relation to hostile preparations for descent of the river Mis-

sissippi, and whether preparations for defence against such threatened

attack have been made, with advice as to the mode of adopting a plan

for that purpose; and in reply have to state, that the only information I

have in relation to the described preparations for descent is derived from
public newspapers and rumors ; they had, however, such stamp of
credibility as to induce to measures to repel the attack if attempted.

Estimates have been prepared by the Secretaiy of the Navy for means
described in the accompanying report, and which, in conjunction with
the land batteries constructed, and others devised, will, it is hoped, be

adequate for the needful protection.

JEFFERSON DAVIS.

Mr. C, (continuing.) This letter is dated the 30th of July; but
from the endorsement of Congress upon it, appears to have been re-

ceived on the 31st. There is also another message from the President

to Congress, enclosing resolutions from the Legislature of Tennessee,
on the same subject, which was sent to Congress on the same day. It

reads as follows

:
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Executive Department, )

Richmond; July 31, 1861. j"

Hon. Howell Cobb, President of the Congress—
Sir: I herewith transmit to the Congress a joint resolution of the

Legislature of the State of Tennessee, ia relation to the defence of the
Mississippi Valley.

JEFFERSON DAVIS.

Joint Resolution on River Defences.

Whereas, the defence of the Mississippi Valley against the enemies of
the South is of vital importance, and believing that any available means
should be adopted to prevent a hostile descent of the Mississippi

:

Be it therefore resolved by the General Assembly, That we respect-

fully ask of the Confederate States that an appropriation of not less than
two hundred and fifty thousand dollars be made, to be used in prepar-

ing floating defences for said river, at as early a day as practicable.

Resolved further , That the Governor be requested to forward a copy
of this resolution to the President of tlie Confederate States, and ask
that the same be laid before the Provisional Congress at its next meeting.

(Signed) W. C. WHITTHORNE,
Speaker of the House of Representatives.

(Signed) B. L. STOVALL,
Speaker of the Senate.

Adopted June 24th, 1861.

A true copy

:

J. E. R. Ray, Secretary of State.

29th Question. You refer to delay in constructing the Mississippi by
the Messrs. Tift, and say that one of them told you in New Orleans

that he had been waiting ten days for timber. Were you aware that

the timber of which the ship was built could not be had in New Or-

leans, but had to be cut from distant forests expressly for the vessel?

Mr. Conrad. 1 know nothing on this subject, except whatl learned

from Mr. Tift, which was that he did not have the timber at the time,

and that he was waiting for it. I think it probable that a large portion

of it, at least, might have been found at the time in the extensive ship-

yards in New Orleans, particularly as I was informed by the proprietors

of one of them, that a great deal of the delay attending the building of

these ships would have been avoided' if they had been built at one of

the established ship-yards of the city.

30th Question. Have you any personal knowledge of the dimensions

or tonnage of the ship, the quantity of timber consumed in her con-

struction, and how it had to be obtained, the number of men employed,
the work necessary to be done—whether they worked nights or Sun-
days, and tlie time employed in her construction? If so, state your
personal knowledge as precisely as you can.

Mr. Conrad. 1 have no knowledge of the dimensions or tonnage of

the ship, or of the quantity of timber consumed in her construction, or

how it is to be obtained; or of the number of men employed, or of the
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work necessary to be done; bat I do know that they did not at the thiie

referred to, work at night or Sundays, because it was a matter of sur-

prise and complaint among the citizens that they did not work at night

and on Sundays, and that on my arrival here I suggested, as I have

stated to the Secretary, that an order should be issued that the men
should work on nights and Sundays, and he assigned as a reason for not

o-iving such an order, that it would shock the religious sensibilities of

the people. I have no knowledge of the time employed in their con-

struction, except that the contract was made some time I think in Au-

gust, 1861, and that she was not finished on the 25th of April, 1SG2,

when she was destroyed.

3lst Question. Do you know of even a single instance from the

commencement to the end of the work on the Mississippi, in which any

man refused to work on account of any failure to pay him^ or from an

apprehension that he would not be paid ?
,

_

Mr, Conrad. I have no means of information on that subject,

knowing none of the workmen, and having no opportunity for conver-

sino- with any of them. But I was informed by respectable gentlemen

that it was quite a common thing at that time to see a notice stuck up

at the office where the payments of the navy department were made,

that there were no fnnds on hand, or something to that effect, and that

in consequence of this want of punctuality in the government, there

was difhcully in procuring workmen, and that, as I have already stated,

a deputation was sent on here to make remonstrances to the government

on that subject.

d2d Question. Do you know the quantity of iron required for her

armour, of the difficulties of preparing it, and how it was obtained ?

Mr. Conrad. I don't know anything of the quantity of iron required

for her construction. I do know that Mr. Mallory stated in his reports that

there had been a difficulty, as I have already said, in obtaining the iron

for naval construction generally. I understood that the iron for this

particular vessel was obtained at Atlanta, Ga. I have been told also,

that at a shght cost, rolling-mills ixight have been established at other

foundries. Whether this be correct or not; I do not know.

33(1 Question. Do you personally know or can you state upon any

reliable authority, from the beginning to the end of the work on the

ship Mississippi, that there was a single instance of failure to meet and

pay every bill against her punchially ?

Mr. Conrad. I have no knowledge upon this subject, and could

have none except from hearsay. 1 will add here, however, that it was

a matter of surprise and remark that the Tifts were supplied with funds

when the contractors and employees for the navy department could not

obtain tlicm. The remarks I have made about the want of punctuality

in paying the workmen of the navy department, were therefore not in-

tended to apply to the Mississippi, but to the other work of the depart-

ment in New Orleans, particularly the Louisiana, that was being built

at the same time under contract.

3Ath Question. Do you know of a single case in* ship-building

throughout all time, in which an equal amount of labor and skill in the

construction of a vessel has been performed in the time consumed in

building the Mississippi? If so, state the case.

Mr. Conrad. I have no knowledge whatever in regard to ship-

building. I therefore cannot answer the question.
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3oth Question. You said you recommended that worlc should go on
on Sundays, and that the Secretary thought it would shock the reli-

gious sensibihties of the people, &c. Was not the work on the Mis-
sissippi carried on on Sundays and at night, whenever night work could
be advantageously used ?

Mr. Conrad. I understood that at a later period than the one I have
referred to, and long after the above conversation with Mr. Mallory took
place, the city authorities at New Orleans adopted measures to have
the work proceed at night and on Sundays; but this took place, I be-
lieve, but a short time before the capture of the city, and when the
public had become very much alarmed and indignant at the slow pro-
gress of the work on these vessels.

36^^ Question Was no't the work on the Yirginia at Norfolk, and
the Richmond at Richmo^, and the Atlanta at Sava^mah, conducted
on Sundays as well as week days, and were not night gangs organized
for work, whenever they could be advantageously used ?

Mr. Conrad, I know nothing on the subject. I will add, if it be
true that they did work on nights and Sundays, it is very extraordinary
that this plan was resorted to so late in New Orleans.

2:1th Question. You say that you called on the Secretary in Novem-
ber, 1861, and told him there was great delay in the progress of the
work on the Mississippi at New Orleans, (fcc, and that you suggested
the most energetic action;, &c. Did you suggest to the Secretary any
means of expediting the work, and if so, state them ?

Mr. Conrad. I have already stated that I suggested the working
on Sundays and at night; also that I suggested the propriety of more
prompt payments of the workmen. I also told him that it was the
opinion generally—though I had no personal knowledge on the sub-
ject—that the work was not pushed on with the energy and prompti-
tude that the emergency required. I have no recollection of any other
suggestion.

38^/z Question. Have you any knowledge of John Hughes &. Co.,
of New Orleans, and if so, what was their standing as shipbuilders?

Mr. Conrad. I know there is a ship building concern of that name
in New Orleans, of long and I believe respectable standing.

39^/i Question. You refer to a highly respectable merchant, of New
Orleans, Mr. Wm. Henderson, who was a member of a deputation from
New Orleans? Where is Mr. Henderson now? State, if you can,
where he is to be found ?

Mr. Conrad. Mr. Henderson, when I last heard from him, was in
New Orleans. I presume he is there now. He is a man advanced in

years, in bad health, and not fit for military service.

AQth Question. You refer to the surprise of " every body " in Nqw
Orleans, that the shaft of the Mississippi was being made at Richmond.
Do you know how many shafts the Mississippi had ?

Mr. Conrad. 1 do not.

^\st Question. Could the shaft have been made in New Orleans ?

Mr. Conrad. I was told that all that was requisite for that purpose
was the erection of a trip-hammer, and that that could have been
erected at small cost and little delay. I have no personal knowledge on
this subject however.

42c? Question. Would the Secretary have been justified in relying
upon New Orleans for this shaft?
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Mr. Conrad. I have no knowledge on the subject, except as stated

in the foregoing answers.
43rf Question. Would he have been justified in attempting to

make it any where but where he did ?

Mr. Conrad, I think if it be true that it might have been made in

New Orleans by putting up a trip-hammer, that that trip-hammer might
have been made, and the shaft ready before the vessel was ready to re-

ceive it; and in that event, he would not have been justified in making
it any where else, in consequence of the delay and uncertainty of

transportation. But on this subject, I have no personal knowledge
whatever.
Mth Question. Do you know how the shaft was made ?

Mr. Conrad. I have no knowledge howit was made.
A5th Questioji. Have you any personal knowledge on the subject ?

Mr. Conrad. • I have not.

46^/i Question. You refer to the 100 " small gun boats " or " floating

gun carriages " which Congress ordered to be built upon the plan and
recommendation of Com'r. M. F. Maury. Was the Secretary not called

upon by you, as chairman of the naval committee, to furnish an esti-

mate for these vessels? And did you not address the following letter

to the Secretary of the Navy:

Committee on Naval Affairs, 7
December Wi,lS^l. S

Hon. S. R. Mallory, Secretary of the Navy—
Sir: The enclosed communication fi-orri Com'r. Maury to the Vir-

ginia Convention, was presented by one of the Delegates from that

State to Congress, and was by the latter referred to this committee.

I am directed by it to request that you will, at your earliest conveni-

ence, cause an estimate to be prepared of the cost of 100 vessels of the

description and size recommended by Com'r. Maury, and to transmit

the same to this committee.

The committee would also be glad to receive any remarks or sug-

gestions you may deem proper to make in regard to the plan proposed

by Com'r. Maury.
Very respectfully,

(Signed) C. M. CONRAD, Chairman.

Mr. Conrad. I have no recollection of the particular letter referred

to; but I do recollect that the committee had Com'r. Maury's plan under
consideration when it was referred to it by Congress, and that I was
directed to submit it to the consideration of the navy department, for such
suggestions as it might make; and it is very probable this is the letter

which I addressed to him on that subject.

Xlth Question. Were you aware that the Secretary, on learning of

the passage of the resolution of the House, without awaiting the action

of the Senate, addressed the following letter to the President:

C. S. Navy Department, 7
Richmond, March 29M, 1862. j"

The President—
Sir: 1 have the honor to call your attention to the following resolu-

tion among others, adopted by the House of Representatives on the

17th instant:
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" Resolved, That in the opinion of this House, it is of the utmost
importance that this government should construct, with the least pos-
sible delay, as many small iron-clad rams as practicable, and particu-
larly one or more at each of our seaports.

'' That if the building of iron-plated vessels is seriously retarded by
the building or preparing to build, the gun boats authorized by the act,
entitled. An act to authorize the President to cause to be constructed a
certain number of gun boats, approved December 24th, 1861, the
President is authorized to suspend wholly, or in part, the execution of
said act."

This resolution indicates that the appropriation of $2,000,000 appro-
priated for the gun boats referred to, be expended upon building iron-clad
vessels; and I suggest for your consideration the expediency of com-
pleting those vessels, already commenced, according to the original
design; but of making iron-clad gun boats of the others as far as the ap-
propriation will allow.

Fifteen of these boats have been commenced—these vessels cannot
advantageously be plated— but will be serviceable as originally designed.

With much respect, your obedient servant,

(Signed) S. K. MALLORY,
Secretary of the Navy.

Mr. Conrad. I am not aware of any such letter.

48^/i Question. You refer to certain circumstances resulting in a
statement made by you to Congress, and say that your recollection was
different from that of the Secretary as exhibited in a note to you, which
you also give, and that Mr. Memminger concurred with you, <fcc.

—

State whether you did not receive from the Secretary, the following let-

ter of July 31, 1861, upon this subject, and caUing your special atten-
tion to the action of the Treasury upon the act of May 10th, 1861:

Confederate States Navy Department, 7
Richmond, /?% 3 L9i?, 1861. 5

Hon. C. M. CoNEAD,
Ohairman of the Committee of Naval Afairs,

Richmond, Va.—
Sir: Please obtain authority to transfer |^600,000 of the appropriation

of ,f1,100,000, made by act No. 89, to the debit of the appropriation of
|1,D00,000 made by Act. No. 116. My report explains the reason,
arid I give a further explanation in my letter to you of this date.

Very respectfully, your obedient servant,

(Signed) ' S. R. MALLORY,
Secretary of the Navy.

Mt: Conrad. I did not say that the Secretary of the Treasury con-
curred with me in anything, but simply that he expressed surprise in
reading Mr. Mallory's letter, in which it was stated that the Treasury
department had declined paying the appropriation for the building of ves-
mls abroad. As to the letter referred to in the question, it is impossible
mat I could recollect it after such a lapse of time. It is possible, how-
ever, that such a letter was received by me. I have an indistinct
recollectidn thaton some occasion Mr. Mallory asked that a law should

47
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be passed, authorizing the transfer of one appropriation to another, but

do not recollect the particular item to which the law was to refer.

i:9t/i Question. Did you receive the following letter of31st July, 1861

:

'•' GoNFEDEllVTE StATES NaVV DEPARTMENT,^
Richmond, Juli/ ?Asi, 1861. f

Hon. C. M. Conrad,
Chairman of the Committee of Naval Afairs—

Sir: Act No. 89, approved March 15, 1861, appropriated ''= for the

probable cost of ten ste.\ni gun boats for coast defences of Confederate

States, to be built or purchased , as may be most convenient, $1,100,000,"

and act No. 116, approved Ma^'- 10th, 1861, appropriated "to send an

agent abroad to purchase vessels and arms," ,^1,000,000.

The last appropriation the Secretary of the Treasury could not pro-

vide for, and the funds required to be sent abroad to purchase vessels,

$600,000 had to be taken from the first appropriation.

I have called upon the Treasury department to transfer this $000,000
to the debit of the last appropriation, and the Secretary thinks that the

action of Congress is necessary under act No. 124. I supposed, that

as these branches of expenditure Avere identical, and not '^^ diflerent

branchess " in the words of the law, no such action was necessary.

—

But as the case is a simple one, you will please consider it as early as

practicable, as the money is needed.

With much respect, your obedient servant,

(Signed) S.K. MALLORY,
Secretary of the Navy.^^

Mr, Conrad. I recollect having received a letter on this subject

from the Secretary, and I presume this is the one referred to. I will

here state that the committee has no clerk, and that no regular record

of us proceedings have therefore been kept. A large portion of the papers

. were deposited with the Provisional Congress, and deposited with the

clerk at the end of that Congress.

50^/i Question. Was not the following passage in the rsport of the

Secretary of J uly 18, 1861

:

"The two acts of Congress, Nos. 116 and 117, approved on the

10th day of May last, authorized the expenditure of three millions of

dollars for certain objects, including the purchase of an iron clad or

armored war ship; but no money was supplied in the general estimates

to meet these expenditures, and the operations of the department in the*

purchase, construction,-equipment, &-c., of vessels, has been circum-

scribed to and confined to the sum of one million one hundred thou-

sand dollars, appropriated by the act of 15th March, 1861. Of this

sum I placed .$600,000 at once in England, and dispatched agents

abroad to purchase gun boats; and the balance $500,000, only, has

been available to purchase and equip vessels for coast defence.
" With this sum, there has been purchased the following steamers :

Sumter, McRea, Jackson, Lady Davis, Savannah, Sampson and Reso-

lute, and the balance on hand from this appropriation is $140,000." ||.

Mr. Conrad. I have not the report before me, and do not recollect

the passage referred to. 1 will add, that if there was such a passage in

the report it was incorrect; as it appears by the books of the treasury
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that the nioiiey appropi'iated by these acts was paid on the order of the
department, and some of it before the date of the report referred to.

51*/ Question. State the time, as nearly'- as you can, v/hen you sug-
g-ested to the Secretary the removal of the Arkansas to the Yazoo river
for completion.

Mr. Conrad. 1 cannot fix the time with any more precision than 1

have done, in stating that it was either at the time when the intelligence
led us to suppose that the fortifications at Columbus would be taken, or
immediately after the intelligence reached here that it had been, eva-
cuated.

52fl? Question. Was it not generally supposed in New Orleans that
an attack on the city was more imminent from above than from be-
low it?

* Mr. CoNRAo. Many people apprehended more danger from above;
but others, among whom I was one, had no confidence whatever in the
ability of the forts to prevent the passage of steamers. That was the
oy)inion of Gen. Beauregard, of Commodore Rosseau, Commodore In-
graham, Commodore Tatnall and Commander Semmes, who at the first

meeting of the Provisional Congress, were summoned to Montgomery
by the Naval Committeej and who gave their opinions in writing, that

if a small number of steamers, 8 or 10, were to attempt to pass the
fi)rts, even with a complete armament, a great number, if not all, would
do so with safety, unless means were adopted to retard them. This
was the opinion of Major Chase, formerly of the engineer corps, who
concurred in this report—and the report was laid before the President im-
mediately after his inauguration. Many, however, perhaps the greater

number, looked with most apprehension to the iron plated steamers,

which, it was known, were being prepared at St. Louis for a descent on
New Orleans. •

53fl? Question. You sdcv that while you were at Montgomery it be-

came necessary to sindan agent abroad to purchase arms and munitions
of war, and also to make arrangements for the building of some ves-

sels there. State who was to send this agent, who the agent was, and
when he left the Confederate States on his mission, as nearly as you
can.

Mr. Conrad. I thought I had stated that the agent was sent by the

navy department. I think it was Lieut. North. I think he must have
left the Confederate States some time during the latter part of May.

oith Question. You say you urged upon the vSecretary the propriety

of expedition in sending an agent abroad. State, as nearly as you can,

what delay occurred to induce you so to urge.

Mr. Conrad. I cannot state the delay; all that 1 recollect on the

subject is, that after I had known that an officer of the department had •

been selected by Mr. Mallory to go on this mission, and when I sup-

posed he had already departed, I accidentally met him in the navy de-

partment, and expressed my surprise that he was still there, and" he gave
the answer I have already mentioned. I was impatient that the agent

should go abroad, because that great delay had occurred already in

procuring arms and military and naval supplies from Europe.
ooth Question. Did not the navy department, in anticipation of the

authority of Congress, have its instructions ready before such authority

was given, and did not the Secretary of the Navy deliver his instruc-
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tioiis to purchase arms^ inuiiitloiis of war, ttc, to whicli j^ou refer, and

to buy or build vessels, to the agent selected for this purpose, and start

him upon his mission the day after the authority of Congress was
given ?

Mr. Conrad. I know nothing of the instructions. All that I know
is, that the agent referred to did not leave Montgomery until some time

after the passage of the law. What the Secretary means by authority

given, I do not know.
The Committee then adjourned until to-morrow at 10 o'clock.

FRIDAY, Feb, 20, 1863. ,

The Committee met at 10 o'clock.

Present—Messrs, Semmes and Peyton.
Mr. E. C. Murray having been s.worn, the following questions Avere

put to him by Mr, Semmes, on behalf of the Secretary of the Navy :

1st Question. Were you the contractor for the construction of tiie

iron clad vessel Louisiana?
Mr. Murray. Yes, sir.

2c? Question. . State when yon commenced the construction of the

vessel and where ?

Mr. Murray. About the loth of October, 1861, at l:^e\v Orleans.

^d Question. State your arrangements for timber for her construc-

tion, where it was obtained, and the quantity used.

Mr. Murray, I made arrangements for timber before I left Rich-
motid with Mr. McRae. By the time I got to New Orleans the Florida

coast was cut off by the blockade. I then made contracts at Lake Pon-
chartrain with W. VY. Gary and the New Orleans and .lackson railroad

at New Orleans also. The quantity used was about 1,700,000 feet.

^th Question. State your arrangements for the engines, boilers, &/C.,

with whom you contracted, the time occupied in their construction,

&.C.

Mr. M. I bought the steamer Ingomar, and transferred her ma-
chinery to the Louisiana. I contracted with McClane to make the

transfer, and contracted with Kirk to build me tvvo propellers and two
propeller engines. Not being able to get them any where else, 1 applied

to Leeds to construct them, but he would not touch them. They were
engaged in removing the machinery from the Ingomar to the Louisiana
about two months, and about the same time building her propeller

machinery.
5th Question. State your arrangements for the iron for plating the

vessel, how it was obtained, and how muclf was used ?

Mr. M. I bought about 500 tons of railroad iron that was sequestered
by the government at Algiers, I bought this from a man, I think
named Wadley, who was president of the Vicksburg and Shreveport
road. This iron was purchased for that road, and Commodore Hol-
lins, I believe, told me it belonged to alien enemies, and that 1 would
have no trouble in getting it, I bought 500 tons, at fGS a ton, and
used it upon the vessel, and about .'JO or 40 tons were left.
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6(h Question. State wliether the iiiechanicy and others employed ou
the vessel worked on Sundays ?

Mr. M. They did about two-thirds of the time. This was partly

at my instance and partly at the instance of the Secretary of the Navy.
Mr. SEMMES, What time was it at the instance of the Secretary

,of the Navj ?

Mr. M. I think about February; though I was repeatedly urged by
the Secretary to use all diligence in forwarding the work. At some-
times there was no advantage in working on Sundays. The lumber was
being discharged on Sunday to enable the men to commence work on
Mondays; and in that way we gained some advantage in the waj of
time.

7ih Question. State whether you were at any time offered by the

authorities or people of New Orleans, the committee of safety, or the

Governor of Louisiana any assistance of any kind to build the vessel;

and if any, what assistance?

Mr. M. I have never received any assistance from the Gov^ernor.

The committee of safety freqnently offered me any assistance that they
could render; but they could do notliing more than Icould do, except

in getting the iron for me, which they assisted in doing. After I suc-

ceeded in getting the iron referred to, it was not decided to whom it be-

longed. It was decided to give the money for it to Commander
Mitchell, I believe. I applied to Governor Moore and Gen. Lovell and
Capt. Mitchell for it, but could not get it from them. I complained
about the matter to some of the committee of safety—Mr. Davis, 1 be-

lieve. I told them the iron was there, and that I was ready to pay for

it, but could not get it. They told me go and take it, and they would
back me up with 2,000 muskets, if necessary. Mr. Wadley came to

me, hearing T was about to take the iron, and I remarked to him that T

was acting under the authority of the vigilance committee in demand-
ing it, and Mr. W. told me to take it. That was about all the assistance

the committee gave me. • They offered me assistance frequently, and I

recollect remarking to them at one time that Kirk "^vas slow with the

machinery, and requested of them to urge him on. I got exemptions
for the men I had employed, and will say that the committee were
ready at all times to give me any assistance I needed.

Sth Question. State whether at any time you were offered any as-

sistance by the general commanding the military forces; and if any,
what assistance?

Mr. M. None at all. Gen. Lovell was in command, and I do not

remember speaking to him but once. That was when my machinery
was behind hand, and my engineers were arrested for parade. I spoke
to him to have them returned and exempted from drill, which was done.
He gave the orders for their exemption, but they were, nevertheless, at

tlifferent times afterwards, interfered with by the captains of the different

companies.
Wi Question. Was the work upon the vessel at any time interrupted

during its construction; and if so, from what cause—state the circum-
stances fully? What course did the Tifts adopt to get mechanics when
the men struck for higher wages ?

Mr. M. The first interruption I had was about two or- three weeks
after I commenced the vessel. There was a general strike among all
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tlie ship-carpenters for higher wages, and- my men were compelled to

knock ofF work and join in the strike. I asked my men to remain at

work, and"! woiiki abide by whatever result followed; that if the wages
was increased as a result of the strike to !$4 or $5 a day, I would pay
it. They kept on at work after this assurance was given. The next

day 40 of the strikers came up and threatened to throw the tools in the

river if my men did not knock off. They staid about the river, and
the procession increased before long to six or seven hundred. We had
to knock off for about four or five days. This was the first interrup-

tion. There was also some detention on the l,ake side; the schooners

having had to lay up. I was also detained for iron, ray supplies from
Cumberland river iron works through W. Folger & Co., having been

cut off". I made a contract with him to supply me, but he was una-

ble to execute it, because of the presence of the enemy at that point.

I had to go up and down and buy fence rails. 1 sent off" to Baton
Rouge for that purpose and was detained two weeks after I was ready

to put on the railroad iron before I could get it. I was promised it by
Commodore Hollins, but it was after two weeks detention that I suc-

ceeded in getting it. As I have already said, I applied to Gen. Lovell,

Gov. Moore and Capt. Mitchell, to procure it for me, but without suc-

cess. Gov. Moore said the Legislature ought to give it, but no steps

were taken to that end. The safety committee ultimately gave it to

me. ^

The Tifts took about the same course in regard to getting mechanics
after the strike that I did. Their men had to knock off" in the same
manner that mine had. After this the strikers held a meeting at Al-

giers, and Mr. Tift sent Mr. Pearce,the naval constructor over to it, and
he proposed to them to give the wages they were demanding if ihcy

would come to work. He got probably 200 of the best men that were
there; and immediately after he had done this, I got the balance of the

men 1 needed by paying the same wages.

10^/i CluesHoii. Were the mechanics and others employed by you
ever stopped from work because they were not paid ?

Mr. M. Never, sir. I paid them every Saturday night regularly.

llt/t Question, Did any delay arise from default on the part of the

iiuvy department to make payments under your contracts as they be-

came due?
Mr. M. ]No, sir. There was no delay. I was once considerably in

advance of my payment by the department, but 1 got the money I

wanted from individual sources, and some aid from the banks.
\2lk Quesiion. State fully the causes of the delay in completing the

vessel within the contracted time.

Mr. M. The causes 1 have already stated. In addition to these I

would state, that a detention of four or five days was caused after we«
were getting along very well, because of an alteration made at the in-

siunee of Capt. Mcintosh in the port holes. After the fight of the

Merrimac in Hampton Roads, the port holes, it was ascertained, were
better on the oval principle than as they were originally shaped in the

Louisiana. This caused a detention of four or five days in addition lo

the detention caused by tht; ditliculty in getting iron, wood, ifcc, ti»

which I have already referred. The greatest detention was caused by
the men striking, military parades, and the onl'stnient of many of the

men in the armv.
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Mr. SEMMES. Did the men strike more than once'
Mr. M. No, sir.

I2l/i Question. What eiforts did you make to obtain mpciianics to
w-ork upon the vessel, and were you successful ?

Mr. M. I made every effort that a man could make to get all the me-
chanics in the country not otherwise engaged. I made applications for
exemptions and succeeded. I got some men from Memphis, and some
from the Tifts on two occasions. One of those occasions was when
the river was rising as 1 was prepared to launch. I got at that time 50
or 60 men frani them to finish up. This was, I think, about the last

30 days before the fall of New Orleans.

lAtk Question. Did you receive any assistance from Messrs. Tift —
.and if so, state the circumstances ?

Mr. JM. I received assistance in the way of men as I have already
stated. I got at different times some iron from them that 1 could not
get elsewhere. The first assistance I received from them was about the
20th of March; and from that until about the 20th of April they as-
sisted me betimes. I borrowed some materials from them, and returned
them again when my supplies were received. We rendered mutual
assistance in fact, for I lent them whatever I had, and they needed, and
in that way helped each other along.

15th Question. Were you not repeatedly urged by the department to
complete the Louisiana in the shortest possible time—and did you not
make every effort to do so?

Mr. M. I was so urged, and made every effort that was possible to

be made. Capt. Mitchell, who was then in charge of the station re-

marked to me, that he was directed by the Secretary to urge me on with
the completion of the vessel. He came to me and said if I did not go
on more rapidly, he would take the vessel in charge and get her along
himself. I told him to take her in charge, and that I would assist him in
every way in my power if he could get along faster.

16if/i Question. Are you a practical ship-builder? state your expe-
rience in this respect, and how many vessels have you built, and who
endorsed you as such to the navy department ?

Mr. M. I have been a practical ship-builder for the last 20 years, and
have been contracting for the building of ship'* for the last 18 years. I

have built about 120 boats—steamers and sailing vessels. 1 was en-
dorsed to the department by Gen. Polk and Col. De Russey. That
was my first endorsement. My second endorsement was by Judo-e
Campbell, of Paducah, and Judge Hopkins, of Alabama. I went to

Montgomery and submitted a plan of a vessel to the department last

April twelve months. I furnished the plan of the Merrimac, though by
some jerimy diddling it is attributed to Lieut. Brooke. Judge Camp-
bell gave me a letter of introduction to Judge Hopkins, and from him 1
received a letter of introduction to Mr. Mallory. After that when it

became certain that the Federals were building vessels on the Ohio,
Gen. Polk, knowing the necessity of building boats on our side, solicited

me to come and build boats of some kind to meet those on the Ohio
river. That was the extent of my endorsement.

V7th Question. Do you know anything of the construction of the
Mississippi? If so, state your opinion of the manner in which the
work was conducted in her construction?
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Mr. M. There was but a single fence between the two yards in

which the Mississippi and Louisiana were constructed—and we were

continually back and forward from one yard to another. 1 think the

vessel was commenced about three weeks before I commenced mine,

and was not quite finished at the time of the fall of the city. She was
worked up as fast as it was possible to work her. 1 think the vessel

was built in less time than any vessel of her tonnage, character, and

requiring the same amount of work and materials, on this continent.

That vessel required no less than two million feet of lumber, and I sup-

pose about 1,000 tons of iron, including the false woi'ks, block ways,

<fcc. I do not think that amount of materials was ever put together on

this continent within the time occupied in her construction. 1 know
many of our naval vessels requiring much less materials than was em-

ployed in the Mississippi, that took about six or twelve months in their

construction. She was built with rapidity, and had at all times as

many men at work upon her as could work to advantage. She had in

fact many times more men at work upon her than could conveniently

work. They worked on nights and Sundays upon her as I did upon

the Louisiana, at least for a large portion of the time.

Mr. SEMMES. Was it reasonable to expect the completion of such

a vessel under six months '!

Mr. M. No, sir. If there had been no other vessel building

except the Louisiana and Mississippi, we could finish them a little

sooner than we did. If there was no blockade to prevent lumber from

coming in, and all the iron to be obtained that was necessary, and no

interruptions to the men, I could complete my vessel in six weeks less

time, and I suppose the Tifts could have done the same, or perhaps in

less time. They plated her with roll plates, and of course there was

considerable time lost in getting it.

ISth Question. State whether, in your opinion, the work on the

Mississippi was prosecuted with energy, zeal and ability?

Mr. M. I think it was. I think the work was prosecuted with as

much zeal and ability as possible. There was some httle alteration made

in the vessel in the course of her construction, a matter not to be won-

dered at, because she was entirely a new idea. She was the first iron

plated vessel built in the Confederacy except the Merrimac, and some

alterations were necessary to be macle.

l9//i Question. State whether, in your opinion, all the mechanical

and other appliances afforded in the city of New Orleans within reach

of the builders, were not used to the best advantage in the construction

of the Louisiana and Mississippi ?

Mr. M. I had all the appliances possible for me to get. 1 think the

Tifts had the same. 1 know they put up saw mills for cutting lumber,

drills for drilling iron bolt. They had Leeds, McCann and Kirk to

work for them, and T had the same firms to work for me. J always found

one or other of the Tifts at these fiDundries to get his work done; and

as our work was similar, I used to be under the impression that the

work I saw there was intended for me, but I found it was the Tifts.

20th Question. Do you know John Hughes & Co., ship-builders at

New Orleans ? What is their standing as builders ?

Mr. M. I have known John Hughes & Co. for 18 years. His

standing always has been that of a good builder. He has been building

and repairing vessels in New Orleans for 18 years to my knowledge.
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2lsi Question. Were they constructing the gun boat Livingston at

New Orleans whilst you were constructing the Louisiana ? If so, state

the time consumed by them in her construction as near as you can ?

Mr. M. The Livingston was launched when 1 commenced the
Louisiana, She was finished, I think, about six weeks before I

finished the Louisiana. How long she had been on the stocks before I

went to New Orleans, I cannot state; but from the fact that she was
launched when I went there, she must have been on the stocks about
three months before. I think they were finishing her about eight

months,
22d Question. State the difference between the Louisiana and Liv-

ington in size, material, and labor of construction?

Mr. M, TheLivingston was only 180 feet long and 40 feet beam. The
Louisiana was 264 feet long and 62 feet beam. The Louisiana had a
heavy shield and house in her, the Livingston had none. The Liv-

ngston required for her construction from 200 to 250 thousand feet of

umber; the Louisiana about 1.700,000, The Livingston was not iron

shielded, theXiOuisiana was. The labor to construct the Livingston
would be about one to four of that required for the Louisiana, ' The
Louisiana would take about four times as long to work her as the Liv-

ingston would,
2'3d Question. How did the work in the construction of the Louis-

iana and Mississippi compare with other ship building generally at

New Orleans ?

Mr. M, I think it was about the quickest work ever done there.

There were two boats built—one by John Hughes 6& Co,, on the

Bayou St, John, and the other by Sidney D. Porter, as naval construc-

tors. These boats Avere called the Bienville and theCarondolet. They
were partly in frame when I went to New Orleans. They would com-
pare with the Louisiana as about one to four. They are about the same
size of the Livingston—they are longer, not as wide,

Mr* SEMMES. Was there not gTeat pressure brought to bear upon
yourself and the Tifts by public sentiment, to use every possible energy

to complete these vessels ?

Mr. M. Yes, sir.

Mr. SEMMES. The other vessels were of minor importance?

Mr. M. The Bienville and the Carondolet were regarded as of most

importance next to the xMississippi and Louisiana. These two were

considered the most formidable of anj next to them. A suggestion was
made by the committee of safety to urge the work on the Mississippi

and Louisiana along. These were the only parties that said anything
,

to me on the subject of urging on the work. They offered me every

assistance, as I have already said, but there was no assistance they

could render, except in the instance to which I have referred—that of

procuring the iron for me.
Mr. SEMMES, Did you ever work at night on this vessel?

Mr. M. Yes, sir,

Mr. SEMMES. When did you commence working at night ?

Mr. M. About 20 or 40 days before the completion of the vessel.

That was the only time that we could work at night to advantage. We
had at that time the shield on, and could therefore keep lights for the

men to work by.
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Mr. SEMMES. When did you commence working on Sunday?
Mr. M. About four weeks after the commencement of the vessel.

Mr. SEMMES. Did they work on Sundays on the Mississippi?

Mr. M. Yes, sir.

Mr. SEMMES. When did they commence to work on her on

Sundays ?

Mr. M. About two Sundays after I did.

Mr. SEMMES. Did you submit any proposition to Leeds & Co.

for the construction of the machinery for your vessel?

Mr. M. I did, sir. 1 went there for the purpose of getting them to

construct my propeller machinery, which Avas the part I wanted. The
other part 1 was to furnish under my contract in second hand machin-

ery, to be obtained from some steamer. I found, however, that Leeds

»!t Co. were overtaxed with work, and could not undertake the con-

struction of the machinery for me.

Mr. SEMMES. At what time was this ?

Mr. M. About the 1st of February or the middle of January.

Mr. SEMMES. Is not Leeds & Co.'s foundry the largest in New
Orleans—and are they not considered the wealthiest men in that busi-

ness there ?

Mr. M. 1 think so. They have most facilities to do work; but they

were overtaxed with work at that time, doing government work, and it

was impossible for them to take my work in hand.

Mr. SEMMES. How many shafts had tlie Louisiana ?

Mr. M. Four, and four engines.

Mr. SEMMES. What was the size of the sliafts?

Mr. M. The size of the two main shafts Vv'-as 13 inclies diameter,-

and about 24 feet long.

Mr. SEMMES. Who made them?

Mr. M. They were built by Ptoach 6o Long, of Louisville, Kentucky.

These were the ones transferred from the Ingomar. T'he oth§r two

were built by Kirk of New Orleans. The two propeller shafts were

wrought iron, 6|^ inch diameter, and about 18 or 19 feet long.

Mr. SEMMES. Had you any difiiculty in getting shafts constructed

in New Orleans?

Mr. M. I had some. I don't know that I had any difiiculty in re-

gard to the two built by Kirk, from the fact that I got two wrought iron

shafts there. After I heard they belonged to Kirk, he had a tilt ham-
mer constructed, by which means he succeeded in drawing them out

and adapting them to my purpose. The only difficulty 1 had was to

get him to get along with the work.

Mr. SEMMES. When were these shafts com])leted and delivered to

you?
Mr. M. They were put in the vessel about a day or two before she

went down to the forts. They were delivered to me about the 19th or

20th of April, but were not put in the vessel until a day or two before

she went down.
Mr. SEMMES. Were there no facilities at Lieeds &. Co., or any

other foundry to make shafts ?

Mr. M. Not at that time.

Mr. SEMMES. At what time do you mean ?

Mr. M. At the time 1 got my shafts. There was no tilt hammer
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there at tiic time, Clark put up one afterwards, and he forged thj two
main shafts. That was about six weeks or two months before the fall

of New Orleans.

Mr. SEMMES. So that before Clark erected his hammer, there was
no means in New Orleans to construct new shafts for either of these
vessels ?

Mr.' M. For my vessel there was. Her shafts were smaller than
tliose used lor the Mississippi. There was a tilt hammer that was
sufficient to make the shafts for the Louisiana, but none of sufficient

capacity to make shafts for the Mississippi. There was no iron, more-
over, available for shafting for these vessels, other than the two shafts I

found belonging to Kirk.

Mr. SEMMES. Were you down to the forts ?

Mr. M. 1 was there the nioht of the 24th of April.

Mr. SEMMES. On what vessel?

Mr. M. On the transport Illinois, to carry some supplies—and just

as we were about landing the attack commenced.
Mr. SEMMES. .Were yon captured?
.Mr. M. No, sirj we came back to the city. We had no guns to

light with, and the vessel was moreover very frail.

Mr. SEMMES. When did you leave the city?

Mr. M, The following Monday—the 2Sth of April. We crossed

over the Lake to Madison.
Mr. SEMMES. i3id you see the destruction of the Mississippi?

Mr. M. No, sir. I was down the levy, on Canal street, when she
was destroyed, setting fire to cotton and molasses. The last thing we
did was to set fire to the Wm. Morrison, to prevent her falUng into the

hands of the enemy, which she would have done had we not destroyed

lier.

Mr. SEMMES. How many steamboats left the city to go itp the

liver after you came from the forts?

Mr. M. I think half a dozen. Capt. Leatham went up with the

Natchez. The Fail City, the Potomac, the Q,uitman, and I think a

number of others, whose names I do not remember, also went up.

Mr. SEMMES. What did they carry off?

Mr. M. A good many ladies, some officers, and some ordnance

stores. The Fall City left the morning the Federals got there, about

10 o'clock, with nothing on board.

Mr. SEMMES. Was she a large and powerful steamer?

Mr. M. She was a vessel capable of carrying 1,200 tons up the

river, with large and powerful machinery. That vessel could have

carried immense quantities of supplies—and I remarked at the time

that it was strange that a vessel of her capacity and power should, go off

with nothing on board of her. ' The owners of the Wm. Morrison even

failed to take her away, and we seeing that she was certain to fall into

the hands of the enemy, if not destroyed, set fire to her. Eight or nine

of us went on board in presence of the^aptain and set her on fire-

Mr. SEMMES. Was she ready to go?
Mr. M. She had no steam up, and we could not get up steam in

time to get away.
Mr. SEMMES. Were her engineers on board?

Mr. M. Her engineers were there. I know that one of them was

there, and I wanted him to try and get her off, but it was too late»
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Mr. SEMMES. Was the Morrison a large and powerful boat ?

Mr. M. Yes, sir; very large.

Mr. SEMMES. The Natchez is a very large vessel, is she not ?

Mr. M. One of the best boats on the river as to power and speed . The
Quitman was also one of the best and most powerful boats on the river.

I was surprised they did not take hold of the Mississippi and tow her

up. There is no doubt of the abiUty of these boats to bring her up the

river if they undertook it. I know when the Mississippi M^as launched

she drifted down the river; and the Peytona, an ordinary boat, with far

less power than either the Natchez or Q,uitman, brought her back. If

these two vessels took hold of her, they could have carried her up the

river more rapidly than the enemy could have pursued them.

The Committee then adjourned to meet to-morrow, Saturday, at

10 o'clock.

SATURDAY, Feb. 21, 1S63.

The Committee met at 10 o'clock.

Present—Messrs. Sommes, (acting Chairman,) Maxwell, Peyton,

Dupre and Poote.

Mr. Asa F. Tift being duly sworn, the following questions were put

to him by Mr. Sem.mes, on behalf of the Secretary of the Navy.
1st Question. State your name, you business, position and residence

at the beginning of secession and of the war, and your connection with

the Mississippi.

Mr. Tift. My name is Asa F. Tift—I was a merchant in Key West
for 30 odd years—1 was a member of the Florida Convention; voted

for the ordinance of secession, and exerted myself to render that vote

unanimous. After the ratification of the Constitution of the Confede-

rate States by that body, I tendered my services, in connection with my
brother, without compensation, to construct the Mississippi.

2d Question. Were you aware of any active interposition of Gover-

iwr Moore, or other State authorities, on or about the 2inh of February,

1862, with reference to yourselves or the Mississippi, which you were

constructing?

Mr. Tift. No, sir.

od Question. Did Governor Moore communicate with you, or you
with him, with reference to the payment of hands ?

Mr. Tift. Never to my knowledge.
Ath Question. Was the construction of the Mississippi ever delayed

for want of money to pay workmen, or to pay for materials, or for any
purpose ?

Mr. Tift. No, sir; not that I recollect of.

5tli Questio)i. Were your workmen and bills fjr materials punctually

paid?
Mr. Tift. Tiiey were. On our arrival in New Orleans my brother

and myself determined (o pay every Saturday night, and continued to do

so for several weeks, until we tbund some of the workmen express a wish

to have their money every two weeks, and the paymaster thought it was
more for the interest and safety of the government that they should be
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so paid; so that on the 15th and Ist of each mouth we conbiJorcd the

money due, and on the 18th and 3d we paid it ont.

6;/i Question. Did the naval constructor Pierce ever require work-
men or materials, which you failed to furnish him, when they could
possibly be found ?

Mr. Tift. Never, sir. I am certain that whenever he made a re-

quisition he was furnished when possible.

Ith Question. Did you ever fail or refuse to accept workmen, or any
proffered aid from the Governor, the committee of public safety, or the
citizens, which could be used to forward the completion of the Missis-

sippi ?

Mr. T. Never, that I recollect of. Two members of the committee,
Mr. Davis and Mr. Marks, visited our yard, and the former stated that

they came as a sub-committee to examine the ship-yards, and to offer

any money or other aid that was necessary to promote, the public in-

terest. We stated we v/ere not in want of money and wood workmen,
that we had all the laborers and carpenters necessary; but tliat we
wanted some one to aid us in advancing the work on the ntachinery.

That was about the \bsA, of February.

StJt Question. Were there any "resources of Louisiana " wliich

you could have made available for the earlier completion of the ship'.''

Mr. Tift. None that we were aware of.

^th Question. What means were there in New Orleans for making
heavy wrought shafting, or rolling iron plating, or making round and
square iron, such as this ship required ?

M.r. Tri''T. There were no means that we knew of. We called on
iiCeds & Co., and talked to them in connection with making the whole
shafting. They said they could not do it, being then engaged making
the shafting, of pieces of shafting which they had on hand, for the two
boats at Memphis. We had several interv^iews with them on that sub-

ject, and they invariably dechned to undertake the work. There was
no establishment in New Orleans or Louisiana that could make the

shaft for the Mississippi. We wrote to the Secretary of the Navy to see

if he would get the proprietors of the Tredegar Works to undertake its

construction.

10//i Question. Where was the iron plating for the Mississippi on
the 24th of April, 1862 ?

Mr. T. I think about one-third of it at least was already laid upon
the shield of the vessel. A large portion of it was on the wharf ready
to go on. The last train load of our iron was lying at the depot at the

Jackson railroad on the 24th of April, 1862.

ll//i Question. State, if you know, where the guns of the Missis-

sippi were on the 21th of April, 1862 ?

Mr. T. Some of the guns intended for the Missi.ssippi arrived some
weeks before the fall of the city. They were loaned to Fort .lackson

and the Louisiana. The balance of the guns were at Jackson, Miss.,

on the 28th of April.

12^/i Question. What aid did you receive from tlie authorities and
committee of safety of New Orleans in the construction of the Missis-

sippi—what communications passed between you on this subject, and
when ?

Mr. T. I am not aware that we received any aid from the autliori-
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of tlie 15lli and I6th of April, and as I said a ivhilu- ago, two meiubers

of the committee of safety came to our yard and made a tender of ser-

A'ices, when we requested them to urge on the machinery. Col. Beggs
went to Mobile and I think to Atlanta to assist in getting forward the

iron plating, and in that respect rendered good service. I learn that one
of the committee of safety came on to Richmond to urge on the shaft

tliat was being made here; but of that we had no formal notice. I

would add that we received communications from Gov. Moore, dated

1.5th and 16th of April, stating that Messrs. Ilarrem & Hughes would
furnish all the hands we wanted. These were the only communica-
tions that I recollect to have transpired between Gov. Moore and our-

selves.

Mr. SEMMES. Were the hands furnished ?

Mr. T. They were, sir. I will state that Capt. Mitchell, command-
ing officer of the station of New Orleans, requested us to allow as many
of our men as we could possibly spare to go to work on the Louisiana,

because it was important she should be finished at the earliest possible

period. From 50 to LOO of our men were at v/ork upon the Louisiana

at this time.

Mr. SBMMES. Were there any communications except those to

which yon allude ?

Mr. T. Yes, sir; from the committee of safety offering their aid.

I remember seeing a letter signed by my brother and the chief engineer

of the station, addressed to the committee of safety, proposing means

by which men could be raised to aid Kirk in forwarding the work

at his foundry. That was the first written communication I think we
had with the committee.

The next was from the secretary of the committee of safety, requiring

ns to launch the vessel.

The following is the correspondence referred to :

CosLuiTTEE oi^ Public Safety, }

New Orleans, jipril ^th, 1862. JT

(ir:NTLiiMi-:A;: 1 am requested by the committee to hand you the en-

closed co'py of the report of the sui)-committee on the subject of launch-

ing tlie steam ram, now building at Jetlerson City, as well as a copy of

the correspondence on that subject between the chairman of this com-

mittee and Commandant Whittle, C. S. Navy, and to request that you

will l-.uinch the ram as recommended by the subcommittee within

forty-eight hours, or in default thereof, I am farther requested to state,

that the report and correspondence will be published in the newspapers

of this city for ihn information of the public.

Moping that your desire to do all in your power for the defence of our

common country, will induce y<»u to consent to the views of the practi-

cal ship-builders of our city, as expressed in their report, and that you

will at once take immediate steps for the launching of said vessel.

I remain, with high respect, your obedient servant,

GEO. C. LAWRASON, Sec'y.

Messrs. 'I'lKT, New Orleans.
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New Orleans^ March 'Sist, 1862.

The special committee appointed to examine and report upon the
condition of the steam ram now building at Jefferson CitV;, beg Jeave
to make the following report:

Agreeable to the form of the resolution under which your committee
acted, we solicited, and were assisted by those old, experienced and
well known ship builders of this city, viz: Messrs. John Hughes, Jas.
Martin and Francois Yallette, and after a most thorough examination
of her position, and after a long and courteous interview with the
Messrs. Tift, who claim to be, and are, we believe, the acknowledged
projectors of the ram, and v/ho answered all the questions put to them
by your committee in the most courteous manner, and seemed most
anxious to forward the completion of the ram in the shortest time pos-
sible, we find they are much opposed to having her launched until her
shafts are in, an^ nearly completed. The reasons which they assio-n
for this are, that the ram can be completed in a shorter time and at much
less expense to the government, and further in their opinion, there is no
danger of her straining, and there will be no difficulty in launching,
although she might be a month or two longer. These gentlemen are
no doubt sincere in their belief. Your committee attribute the great
mistake under which, in their opinion, the Messrs. Tift labor, to the
want of practical knowledge of such vessels, and also to the want of
experience of the action of water on the banks and battures of the
Mississippi river. Your committee think their reasoning of no force or
effect, and can see no reasonable objections to the immediate launching
of the ram as soon as the mailing is finished under the guard, and
which can be done in two or three days at farthest. Your committee
could assign many reasons why the ram should be launched as soon as
possible, but they will mention only two, considering them sufficient.
The first is, they consider her position a dangerous one, her foundation
being entirely submerged by the rise of the river. At her stern there is
from 8 to 10 feet of water, with the current running against her. She
is supposed to weigh now about 2,000 tons, and it will require
about 1,000 tons more to complete her. Now it must be clear to the
mind of any one that the more weight placed on the same base, the
more liable the superstructure is to settle, and more particularly when
that base is entirely covered with water. Secondly, the battures on the
banks of our river is liable to cave in -suddenly, or the Current might •

wash out the blocks from under the ram, whilst, if it did not destroy
her, would injure her most seriously

j;
or a bar might form on the out-

side of her, which would not only add greatly to the difficulty of
launching her, but miglit prevent it from being done at all until after
the river should have fallen. All who are acquainted with the nature
of the batture of the Mississippi, its hability to cave in, or accumulate
will, we feel confident, agree with your committee, that the safety of a
vessel so valuable to the Confederacy, and of so much importance in
defending the city at the present time, should not be hazarded a moment
longer than is necessary. All the work to be done in completino- the
ram, except the nailing under the guard, as mentioned previously^ can
be done afloat as well as where she now lies, and with equal if not
greater dispatch. Two small docks will have to be built in order to ad-
just braces to support the outer journals of the quarter shafts. These
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two docks, and one for the stern should be built and kept in good order,

to repair any damage to the propellers in case of accident, as there is

no dock in this section of country capable of lifting the ram. In con-

clusion, your committee would recommend the immediate launching of
the said ram.

All of which is respectfully submitted.

(Signed) N. SHELDON,
PETER MARCY,
F. VALLETTE,
JAMES MARTIN
JOHN HUGHES.

Committee of Public Safety, ^
New Orleans, April 2, 1862. j

Sir: I have the honor to hand enclosed a copy of resolutions adopted

by this committee at its meeting last evening, on the important subject

of launching the steam ram now building at Jefferson City. Permit me
to add, sir, that I hope, should you agree with the report of p'ractical

ship-builders, which has been laid before you, by order of this commit-
tee, that yon will order at once the launching of said ram, which can

be finished as well in the water as out of it, and which the risk of her

destruction by sinking of the batture renders so imperative.

With high respect, your obedient servant,

(Signed) WILLIAM FRERET,
Chairman.

Cominandant W. C. Whittle, C. S. Navy.

Committee of Public Safety, ^
New Orleans, April 1, 1862. 3

Resolved, That in the opinion of this committee, based upon evi-

dence obtained and laid before Commandant Whittle, the steam rarn

now building at .Jefferson City should at once bo launched.

Resolved, That this committee urge upon Commandant Whittle to

take the responsibility of ordering the launching of said ram forthwith.

A true extract from the minutes.
GEORGE C. LAWRASON,

Seci^etary.

Commandant's Office, Naval Station, ^
New Orleans, April 2, 1862.

5

Str: I have had the honor to receive a communication from the com-

mittee of public safety, of this date, from you as its chairman.

With every disposition to gratify the committee in any matter coming
within the range of my duty, which may contribute to the security of

the city of New Orleans in particular, or the public interest in general,

yet as the navy department has given me no authority whatever in the
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^matter to which my attention has been called, but lias invested the

Messrs. Tift with absokite and entire control over the subject, I must
beg leave respectfully to decline to act in the manner they suggest.

I have the honor to be,

Yerv respectfuilv, your obedient servant,

WM. C. WHITTLE, Cmnmandani.
William FhereTj Esq., Chairman

Committee of Public Safety, JSeiv Orleans.

New Orleans, April 7th, 1862.

7'o the Committee of Public Safety, Nero Orleans—
Gentlemen: We received your communication of the 5th. instant,

enclosing the report of your sub-committee on the subject of launching

the vessel which we are constructing for the navy department, and the

correspondence between your committee and Commandant Whittle.

You request that we shall launch the vessel within forty-eight hours,

or in default thereof, you state that the report and .correspondence will

be published in the newspapers for the information of the public.

Giving your committee full credit for the most patriotic intentions,

and a desire to do all that you can for the public interest, and believing

that you have been acting without a full knowledge of all the facts that

are necessary to a right conclusion, we have devoted so much of our

time as could be spared from our duties to the government to lay before

you the reasons and facts upon which our action with reference to the

question of launching is formed.

1st. We enclose a copy of our letter of instructions to Mr. Construc-

tor Pierce, showing that the vessel is to be launched. at the first appear-

ance of danger.

2d. The letters of Messrs. E. M. Ivens, .Tohn Clarke and John
Hughes, showing that the launching now will cause several days delay

in completion,

3d. The letter of S. E. Reynolds, Esq., architect, showing that the

foundation of the vessel is perfectly stable and safe.

4th. The opinion of Capt. Mitchell, C. S. Navy, and Capt. Sinclair,

of the C. S. Navy, who has been assigned to the command of this

ship, that she ought not to be launched until the shafts and propellers

are put in their places.

We trust, gentlemen, that this evidence will satisfy you, that we are

pursuing the course which is best calculated to secure the early comple-

tion of the vessel committed to our care and discretion by the govern-

ment; but if not, pardon us for suggesting that such a publication as

you propose might fall into the hands of the enemy, and furnish them
a stjmulant to destroy the vessel before she could be completed.

We do not desire to screen ourselves from responsibility, or from the

investigation of our conduct in the service of the public. We shall

perform our duties faithfully according to the best of our ability, and
shall be happy to have your aid and co-operation in the important work
in which we are engaged.

Very respectfully, your obedient servant,

N. & A. F. TIFT, Agents, N. D.
- 49
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New Oeleaxs, .'ljtJr/7 1, 1862.

Mr. Joseph Pierce, Acting N. C, C. *S'. Navy—
Sib: We have received your communication of the 2Tth ult., stating

that in your opinion the ship should be launched on account of the fear

which you entertain that s^ie may settle on her ways, and you refer to

the fact that you ''had told us this some thirty days" previously. It

was early in "the month of February that you expressed this opinion to

us. We then instructed you to have every thing ready to launch; and

whenever any appearance of injury or danger to the vessel should oc-

cur, by settlement or otherwise, to launch her immediately, but to keep

her on the wavs and push the completion as rapidly as possible until

that time.

Our reasons for tliese instructions were, first, that there was no ap-

pearance of settlement or injury to the vessel. Second, that every

day which we could work on her on the ways would save time as well

as'money in her completion. We now repeat our former instructions,

keep everything ready to launch in the shortest possible time—launch im-

mediately whenever there is an actual appearance ofdanger by settlement

or otherwise. The rise of the water is a itivorable circumstance; the

soundings show a-regular grade from the stern of the ship, as follows :

50 feet distance, or about the end of the waJ^s the depth of water is 13

feet; at 100 feet distant IS.Lfeet; at 150 fee't distant 14 fJ^et; 200 feet

distant 17 feet; 250 feet distant 18 feet water. As a proper precaution

against accident in launching, we wish you to have in readiness two

good sized floats, to be propeily ser-ured on the quarters. The centre shaft

from Richmond will be here to-rnorrov.^. We are gratified to hear you
«ay to-day, that in view of this fact, if you had the discretion you would
not launch the ship now, but would put in the shaft. Get that in as

soon as possible, so as to be able to control the ship by steam after she

is launched. The side shafts will be forged, and ready for the lathe

—

one to-morrow and the other next Sunday— and they will probably both

be ready to be put in the ship next week. Should we be so fortunate

as to get them all in before it shall become necessary to launch, we
think it will save a month in the coVnpletion of the sliip.

Very respectfully,

(Signe/ij N. ^ A. F. TIFT,
Agents N. D.

New Orleans, April 1th, 1862.

Mesi^rs. N. & A. F. Tift,
Agents N. D., C. S. A.~

Yours of this morning is duly received. I in reply have no hesita-

tion whatever in saying that you will save at least ten, or probably as

much as fifteen days by putting the shafts, propellers, and quarter en-

gine hangers on before launching the vessel, and particularly so, as we
expect in the morning to commence putting in this work.

Truly yours,

E. M. IVENS,
Chief Engineer.
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New Orleans, April 7th, 1862.

N. &, A. F. Tift—
Gentlemen: I am well acquainted with the nature of the batture,

and the foundations under the ship you are building opposite the city of

JefFerson, and unhesitatingly say that there is not the last danger from
settlement while the ship stands in its present position. The batture

has been gradually forming in that locality for some years, and should
any danger arise from the foundation of a bar in front, it will be easily

detected by frequent soundings.

Your most obedient servant,

J. E. REYNOLDS, Architect.

New Orleans, April 7th, 1862.

Gentlemen: In reply to yours of this date, we would state that we
deem it inexpedient to launch the '^ Mississippi" until her shafts and
propellers are in place, and we anticipate no evil results from her re-

maining the necessary time longer on her ways for this purpose.

A. SINCLAIR, Com'd C. S. Navy.
JNO. K. MITCHELL, Cont'd C. S. Navy.

3dessrs. N. & A. F. Tift,

Agents N. />., C. S. A.

New Orleans, April 7th, 1862.

N. & A. F. Tift—
Gentlemen: Your note of to-day has been received. My opinion is,

that you will save two weeks time by putting in the sidp bearings,

shafts, propellers, and other machinery in her present position, instead

of launching her, and putting them in by means of docks.

Yours respectfully,

JOHN HUGHES,
Machinist and Engineer.

That letter was dated the 5th of April, and our reply the 7th of April*

I received a note from the committee of safety addressed to " Nelson

Tift," from an impression that that was my name, inviting me to attend

a meeting of the committee at 7 in the evening. I attended the meet-

ing, and was asked several questions by the committee as to the pro-

gress of the vessel and the machinery. I stated that our machinery was

behind time
J
that Mr. Kirk had made several promises, but failed to

fulfil them. While I was talking, Mr. Kirk came in, and I repeated

again what I stated in reference to him. I remarked that in my opinion

it would take weeks yet to have the machinery completed, and sonie

one thereupon asked him how long it would take to complete it. His

reply was, ten days.
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At this stage of the examination Mr. Foote offered the following
resolution, which was adopted :

Resolved, That the Secretary of the Navy be requested to lay before

this committee all the contracts made by his department with persons

either in this country or abroad, for the building of gun boats, iron-clad

steamers, or other war vessels, with such explanations as he may choose
to give touching the same.

13^/i Question. What were your instructions from the Secretary of

the Navy as to the speedy completion of the vessel?

Mr. Tift. They were urgent to spare neither money nor men to

complete her. We received repeated communications from the Secre-

tary in the shape of letters and telegraphs, urging us to get the ship

finished at the earliest possible period. He afforded us I believe every
facility in his power.

14:th Question. What means, other than those you employed, could
you have used and completed the ship earlier?

Mr. Tift. There were none other. We worked Sundays and
nights whenever we could do so advantageously, and resorted to every
possible means to obtain facilities to forward the work. I think some-
times we had really more men than we could work to advantage.

Sometimes we were short in the wood department, and then we would
resort to every means to procure as many as we needed.

15th Question. Have you a copy of a telegram published in the New
Orleans Delta, of April 23d, 1852, purporting to be from Gen. Duncan
to Gen. Lovell, relative to the bombardment of the forts? If so, fur-

nish a copy.

Mr. Tift. Yes, sir, I have. This is it. I think I saw it first in

the rotunda of the St. Charles hotel, at New Orleans. I refer to the

second dispatch of the 23d of April.

The folloAving are copies of the two

:

Copij of a dispatch from Gen. Dmican to Gen. Lovell, dated New Or-

leans, April 'ii2d,lS^2.

I have to report this morning as previously that the bombardment is

still going on furiously. They have kept it up furiously by reliefs of

their divisions. One of their three masted gun boats painted grey came
above the point this morning, but was struck and retired. We are hope-

ful and in good spirits, and I cannot speak in too high praise of all the

officers and men. I have no further casualties to report. Let the peo-

ple have faith and fortitude, and we will not disgrace them.

(Signed) J. K. DUNCAN, Brig. Gen.

[Cqpi/ of a second dispatchfro?ii Gen. Duncan to Gen. Lovell.]

New Orleans, April 23d, 1862.

A heavy, continued bo~mbardmcnt has kept up all night, and is still pro-

gressing. There have been no further casualties except two men slightly

wounded. God is certainly protecting us. We are still cheerful, and
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have an abiding confidence in our ultimate success. We are making
repairs as best we can. Our best guns are still ii^ working order. Most
of them have been disabled at times. The health of the troops con-

tinues good.

25,000 thirteen inch shells have been fired by the enemy, thousands
of which fell in the fort. Thej must soon exhaust themselves j if not,

we can stand as long as they can.

(Signed) Brig. Gen. J. K. DUNCAN,
Cojii'g Fort Jackson.

Mr. DUPRE. Was not these despatches pubhshed in the papers?

Mr. Tift. Yes, sir. I copied them from the «*Richmond Dis-

patch."
16^/i Ciuestion. Why was one of the shafts of the Mississippi made

in Richmond? and why was it not made in New Orleans?

Mr. Tift. Because it could not be made at New Orleans or any
other place in the Confederate States that we knew of. We treated

with parlies at Nashville, who promised to make our shafting and to

put up some steam hammers for that purpose. After some time, however,

they sent us a telegraphic dispatch stating that they could not do the work.

We communicated with Mr. Williamson, at the Gosport navy yard, to

ascertain if he would make the shaft, but he said not. We then wrote

to the Secretary on the subject, and he had the work done in Rich-

mond. He obtained the shafts which were on board the Glen Covey
and had them, as I was informed, fitted for our centre shaft.

nth (Question. What was the general impression in New Orleans

as to the quarter from which the enemy's ships would attack it, whether -

from above or below ?

Mr. Tift. At the time we reached there in September I don't

think there was any apprehension of the fall of the city. I don't recol-

lect hearing any expression of fear there at that time; business was go-

ing on there as usual. At the period of the fall' of Fort Donelson and
Fort McHenry, there was a great deal of apprehension felt. I recollect

meeting Mr. Davis, of the bank, after the fall of Fort Donelson, and he

seemed to be a good deal excited. He remarked, you are too late with

your vessel, the enemy will be down in a few days. I think that was
the prevailing opinion there up to the time of the bombardment. It

was believed that a simultaneous attack would be made from above

and below. I think the opinion prevailed from the time of the fall of

these forts up to the time of the bombardment, that the attack would
come from above and below.

ISth Question. What preparations were made, and what efforts

were used to tow the ship up the river when the forts fell ? and what
was the cause of the failure?

Mr. Tift. When the day upon which the vessel was to be launched

was determined upon—the 18th of April—we chartered, on the I7th,

two steamers, the Peytona and the St. Charles, a tow boat. We char-

tered these to assist in starting the vessel on the ways, with a vifew to

launching. We continued them under charter until we reached Vicks-

burg. As soon as we received intelligence from Commodore Whittle

that the enemy's ships had dashed by the forts,we commenced making
arrangements to save the vessel. It was decided that my brothQr> Mr.
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N. Tift, should go to the yard and keep down the excitement so as to

afford us an opportunity to complete our arrangements. I saw Mr.

Hyde and chartered at once the Fall City and the Edward J. Gale to

wood up and to be at our yard before sun down. 1 told Mr. Hyde the

importance of this; that the loss of the vessel might depend upon the

failure of these vessels to get to the yard. He said, give yourself no

uneasiness about the matter, it will be attended to. I then went to the

yard to assist in making preparations, and remained there until 12 or 1

o'clock, when it occurred to me that there might be some obstacle to

the coming of the boats which I could remove. I met Mr. Hyde again ,^

and, after some remarks by me, on the great importance of having the

vessels at the yard in time, he assured me again that all would be right.

1 then returned to the ship and labored until after dark, making all

necessary preparations in advance of the steamers' coming. The ves-

sels, however, did not come, and the officers were getting impatient.

1 will state that Commodore Whittle, on the morning of the 24th, gave

orders to Capt. Sinclair to take command of the vessel, and he did so.

We remained there and labored as hard as we could during the night.

Capt. Sinclair thought we had better start with the vessel we had.

We did start, and the vessel was drifted down by the current in the

direction of Canal street, from one to two miles. About this time the St.

Charles hove in sight, and came up and made fast to the vessel. We
went on slowly, and the Captain said it was no use to try to get along

without more power to tow her, and she was accordingly made fast to

the' yard wharf. About daylight we took the Peytona and started down
and found the other vessels that were chartered lying side by side, and

on asking them why they failed to come up, they said their crews de-

serted them, and were unable to get hands to wood their vessels. We
wooded up these vessels with our own force, and started back to take

the vessel in tow. As we turned an intervening point we saw smoke

issuing from her ports. I asked Capt. Sinclair what was the cause of this,

and his reply was, that he gave orders, under certain contingences, to

put the match to her; the sis:nal was two reports of a gun. The spec-

tacle was the cause of great surprise to us. The reason given was,

that the vessel could not possibly be saved. We then went above the

Mississippi a short distance, on the opposite side of the river, and re-

mained there until about 12 or 1, and then went up the river to Vicks-

burg.

Mr. SEMMES. Do you recollect the names of these vessels re-

ferred to ?

Mr. Tift. My impression, as I stated, is, that one was the Fall

City, the other the Edward J. Gale, besides the two vessels we had un-

der charter since the 1 7th.

Mr. SEMMES. The two you are not positive about were large,

powerful vessels, were they not?

Mr. Tift. Yes, sir.

I9th Question. Was there a strike for more wages by workmen in

IVcw Orleans while you were building the ship? If so, describe it, and
the course adopted by you towards workmen of the ship.

Mr. Tift. There was a strike there of all the men in all the ship

yards in-and about New Orleans. The first intimation 1 had of the

strike was, in making my usual visit to the yard, I found that all the
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men knocked ofl' except the twenty from Richmond . I went immediately
to Algiers, and sought out the principal men in this organization. I

did everything I -could to induce them to resume their work. 1 told

them the importance of their doing so, and asked them if there was
any complaint or disagreement with us or the government. They said

no, hut that the wages were insufficient, and that they had determined
not to work any longer unless they got $4 a day. 1 went immediately
to Mr. Hughes, who was a leading man there, and asked what he pro-

posed to do. He urged me not to interpose, remarking that he could
force tliese men back without the increase of wages asked tor. I asked
him how long it would take to do it. He said that about two years be-

fore there was such a strike as this and that the employers refused

to allow them the increase demanded. They, moreover, assisted each
other by exchanging men betimes, and finally brought back the strikers.

I asked him how long it took to accomplish that. He said six weeks.
1 said I will give you a reasonable time to effect this, but we cannot
wait longer thai] two or three days. He still asked me to wait longer,

but I declined to do so longer than Saturday. In the meantime two of
the ringleaders were imprisoned as traitors. I found that tiiey were de-
termined not to work, that they would take the field rather than work
for less than $4, and, at last, believing that the strike would be inter-

miuahle, I talked with Gen. Lovell on the subject, and he approved'my
proposition to allow the work to go on, and that he would do whatever
f suggested. He gave me a note to the Provost Marshall, VVm. J^'er-

rett. I coni'ersed with him upon the subject for some tims, and he
went down to the guard house v/ith me. J went in alone and conversed
with these men. They were determined not to work without the in-

creased pay. ] made terms with them to get them liberated, provided
they would work faithfully. They agreed to do so, and were liberated.

The next morning I sent up for the constructor and told him to select

500 of the best mechanics in the city. Commodore Hollins, who was
governed by the advice of Mr. Hughes, requested us to act tor him as
we acted ibr ourselves. This was very strongly opposed by Mr.
Hughes and others at ISew Orleans. 1 doubt if some such course had
not been pursued if the work would not have been delayed for several
weeks longer.

20fh Question. Did the^workon the Mississippi progress on Sundays
or at night?

Mr. Tift. It progressed on Sundays whenever we thought it could
be advanced. Our woodwork was in advance ot everything else.

We first commenced v/orking our blacksmiths at night. I don't thujk
we worked on our wood work during Sundays in the early stage of the
work. For months before the city fell we worked Sundays and nights.
The great objection to working at night was the difficulty of getting
the men to consent to work. If we had a relay of hands portions of
the work could goon day and night, without intermission; but not
liaving them, the men could not stand the fatigue of day and night
work. I applied to the committee of safety to get the men, but they
could not be had. We hired from Pursglove some hands, and took them
down to Kirk. Kirk refused to receive all, and took only two or three
of the best machinists, which he said were all that were adapted to his
work. D^tetmitled to avail ourselves of every aid, we employed his
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whole force, and himself as special superintendent of it. They aided

in putting up the machinery in the ship.

2lst Question. Where, and how were the materials for the con-

struction of the ship obtained ?

Mr. T[PT. We purchased all the iron fastenings suitable to the con-

struction of the ship, in New Orleans. We afterwards purchased all

we could find in Mobile, Chattanooga, Macon and Atlanta, and we
had some iron rolled at the Etanwa iron works, Georgia. The timber

we got from abroad. There were millions of feet around the basin, but

not one single piece that we could work on the vessel. The timber

we procured from Ponchatonta Simimit, and various other places on

the lake and railroad, some at a distance of upwards of TOO miles.

—

The plating was procured from Atlanta. We bad to contract with par-

ties there, and hold out inducements for them to change their rolls and

machinery, which occupid some weeks.

22d Question. Have you any means of knowing the opinion enter-

tained by Gov. Moore after the fall of the city, of the defence made of

New Orleans, and the character of the ofFicers and men to whom it

was committed.

Mr. Tift. I have no other means of knowing than from a procla-

mation which was Issued by Gov. Moore at Baton Rouge, on the 25th

of April, 1S62. We have a copy of it, which we got on our Avay up,

the closing paragraph of which, reads as follows:

''The officers and soldiers to whom was committed the defence ot

New Orleans, deserve your thanks. Major General Loveli, who has com-
mand of this department, Brig. Gen. Duncan, who had charge of Forts

Jackson and St. Phillip, and all officers and men under their command,
have behaved with conspicuous gallantry. They merit your confi-

dence, and will continue to receive it.

(Signed) THOS. O. xMOORE,
Governor.'*^

Mr. Tift, (continuing.) In connection with the interrogatory, as

to whether 1 received any communications from the authorities of New
Orleans, or the committee of safety, I am reminded that I called at

Gov. Moore's office several times with reference to our men being taken

away by the militia officers to drill. I will remark, that upon mak-
ing complaint to the Governor of the delay consequent upon this

draft of the men, he relieved them from militia duty. Notwithstand-

ing the Governor's order, the police officers would come and march the

men off again, and finally 1 followed some of our men that had been
arrested after said order, to some court, and had an mterview with the

presiding officer on the subject. He ordered the men back to their

work.

Mr. SEMMES. You say that notwithstanding the order of the Gov-
ernor, you were interrupted by this i)iterference. How often did that

occur?
Mr. Tift. Frequently. Sometimes the men would be detained a

day in the week; on this last occasion they were detained three or four

hours.

Mr. SEMMES. As far as I know, there was every effort made by

the officers and everybody else, to prevent any interruption to the work.
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Mr. Tift. I said so, but they sometimes came and took off the men.
Mr. SEMMES. I think from what I saw, there is a tendency to

exaggerate these interniptioijs.
'

Mr. Tift. As I said, when the Governor was spoken to on the sub-

.ect, he made every effort to get the men returned, and to prevent any
Interference with them. I will state here, that on the occasion of the
^™rst visit of the sub-committee of safety to our yard, in addition to the

onversation already referred to, I urged upon them the importance of
*^dding to their committee to superintend the mechanical department of
ahe work, a practical machinist to aid in getting hands, and otherwise

tto push forward the machinery. They did appoint Mr. V. Sheldon,
as I understood, for that duty, but he did not devote sufficient time in

the shops, or furnish the aid we expected. While we were preparing

to launch t^e vessel, we had occasion to send to Mr. Sheldon for his'

sub-marine armor to examine the ways and their foundations outside

the stern of the vessel. He first said that he had nothing for the Tifts,

but that Mr. Pierce, the constmctor, could get anything he had. On
being applied to again by Mr. Scott, who was to use the armor,

stated that he sold his armor to Mr. Whiting. We then sent to

Mr. Whiting for the use of it, informing him of what Mr. Sheldon
had said to Mr. Scott, and he replied that he had not purchased

any armor of Mr. Sheldon, but that he had one of his own, 24
miles down the river, which we could have with pleasure, or

anything else. Deeming this armor of great importance to the safe

launching of the vessel, we procured a steamer from the commander of

the station, and despatched Mr. Scott for the armor with Avhich he re-

turned on the night of the 16th of April. Among the citizens of New
Orleans who rendered us important service in their several departments,

were Messrs. Pike, Wells, Poteveunt, and others in the lumber and
timber, departments; Messrs. Stark, Stauffer & Co., Beirn & Sons,

Slocomb & Co., and others in the iron department; Messrs. Leeds &
Co., John Clark, D. H. Fowler, and some others in the machinist

department. There were many other citizens in New Orleans who
exhibited a desire to aid us in forwarding the work, to whom we feel

grateful for their kind offices.

The Committee then adjourned until Tuesday next, the 24th inst.

TUESDAY, Feb. 24, 1863.

The Committee met at 10 o'clock.

Present—Messrs. Semmes, (acting temporary Chairman,) Maxwell,

Barksdale, Lyons, Peyton and Dupre.

Mr. John F. Tanner having been duly sworn, the following ques-

tions were put to him by Mr. Semmes, on behalf of the Secretary of

the Navy:
1st Question. State your name, residence and business ?

Mr. Tanner. My name is John F. Tanner. I reside in this city,

and am one of the partners in the concern of Joseph R. Anderson &
Co., the proprietors of the Tredegar iron works.

2d Question. Do you know anything about the manufacture of a

50
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shaft at the Tredegar worksj Richmond, ior the ship Mississippi? If

so, state'your knowledge?
Mr. Tanner. We received an old shaft about the 29th of January,

1862, which required to be placed in a condition to be put in a vessel

at New Orleans ; the Mississippi, as I understood at that time. We
commenced work immediately on the shaft on the receipt of the above,

and prosecuted it day and night until it was completed, and when
completed, it was promptly shipped by the navy department.

3d Question. Was the work on this shaft prosecuted on Sundays,

as well as week days, and if so, by whose order?

Mr. Tanner. It was prosecuted on Sundays, nights and every day
from the receipt of the shaft until its departure, by order of the Sec-

retary of the Navy.
Atk Question. What interest did the Secretary of the Navy evince

in the manufacture of this shaft, and what were his orders about its

completion ?

Mr. Tanner. '^J'lie Secretary evinced great anxiety about its com-
pletion, from the time it was received, until it was completed. He was
at the v/orks nearly every day making inquiries about the progress of

the shaft, and came there even on Sundays. He. always expressed

a desire that the work should be pressed night and day without regard

to cost.

5th Question. Did you desire any aid or assistance of any kind
from any of the authorities or people of Louisiana, or their agent, on
or about the completion of this shaft?

Mr. Tanner. I did not, to my knowledge. I know that some gen-

tlemen from New Orleans would make inquiry betimes about the pro-

gress of the shaft, but the inquiry made no impression on my mind.
Mr. SEMMES. You say you" received an old shaft about the 29tli

of January, 1862, at the works, and that tliereupon you commenced
work upon it.

Mr. Tanneh. Yes, sir, the old shaft was purchased down the river'

here. It was about this kind of weather at the time we were informed

that the shaft v/as down there, and while there was no obligation upon
us to take it in charge at that point, we did so. There was great delay in

detaching it, and getting it up to the works, owing to there being large

centres on it, which had to be taken off; still we did everything we
could have done to have it removed to the works; we did in fact

more than the navy department could have done, or any others we
know of. We sent down teams to carry it up, having become some-
what restless about it. The only delay we had before commencing
work upon it, after we were informed of the shaft being there, and its

being intended for this purpose, was in getting it oui of the works.
This took five or six days." We were delayed but one or two Sundays
during the progress of the work upon the shaft, because of the

water being withdrawn from the canal by the James River and
Kanawha Canal Company to take out some boats that were sunk.
These were the only Sundays on which we did not work.

Mr. SEMMES. When was the shaft completed?
Mr. Tanner. About the 22d of March. I think andthere was then

no delay in shipping it. To give you an evidence of the assiduity

with wlxich we worked on the shaft, I will state, that from the time we
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receii^ed it, to its completion, there only intervened about 45 working
days, and within that period, we worked about 75 days upon it.

Every night we worked, is computed as time and a half, and ever^j-

Sunday as double time. So that in about 4.5 days we made about 75
days.

Mr. SEMMBS. What was the cause of this shaft requiring such an
amount of work?

Mr. Tannbr. Because our estabhshment was not adapted to this

kind of work. It should be operated upon by a heavy hammer, and
we had no such hammer in use. In past times articles of this kind
were procured from the North, and in the absence of the necessary fa-

cility in the matter of a hammer we had to weld and splice the shaft by
hand, which was a very heavy job. We had 50 men working at it at

a time, whereas if we had a suitable hammer, we would not require
more than ten at a time. We had not, moreover, room enough to work
upon a shaft of that size, and our preparations generally were unsuited
to th« task.

Mr. SEMMES. So that the cause of its taking so long a time to be
completed was, that you had not the proper machinery.
Mr. Tanner. Yes, sir. It was not to be found in the Confederate

States. There was a hammer at Norfolk which we expected sometime
before, but of course after the evacuation of that city there was no
chance of it. We had a heavy hammer for some five or six years, but
we never got such work as would need its use. All jobs of that char-
acter were sent to New York, Troy, or some other Northern establish-

ment.

Commander George Minor having been next duly sworn, ttie fol-

lowing questions were put to him by Mr. Semmes on behalf of the Sec-
retary of the Navy.

1st Question. State your position in the navy, your duties, and how
long you have been performing them.
Commander Minor. Commander in the navy. My duty is Chief

of Bureau of Ordnance and Hydrography. 1 have been performing
this duty since 1861 under the Confederate States Government.
2d Question. State the number of guns sent by the navy department

to New Orleans, and when sent.

Commander Minor. I will submit the following as my answer to

that question:

lAst of Guns sent to New Orleans, La., from July 1st, 1861, to faU

of the place,

1861.

Sept. 3—27 32 pd. carronades.
u 6_53 32 pd. of 61 cwt.
« 6—43 32 pd. of 70 cwt.
" 6—2 8-inch of 90 cwt.
« 17—18 8-inch guns, (12 of 63 cwt., and 6 of 55 cwt., rifled.)
« 17—2 32 pds. of 57 cwt., rifled and banded.
'< 21—2 32 pds. of 67 cwt.
« 27—2 33 pds. of 57 cwt., rifled and banded.
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Oct. 3—2 32 pds. of 57 cwt., do. do.

" 11-.1 32 pd. of 57 cwt., do. do.
a 10—6 32 pds. of 61 cwt.

1862.

Mar. and
April 3 7-inch rifled, Brooke's pattern, 14,000 lbs.

3 32 pds. do. do. do. 9,000 lbs.

6 32 pds. of 57 cwt., rifled.

4 32 pds. of 57 cwt., smooth bore.

8 32 pds. of 61 cwt., do. do.

8 9-inch Dahlgreen guns, 9,000 lbs.

4 8-inch guns of 63 cwt.

2 8-inch army Golumbiads, 9,240'and 9,460 lbs.

1 32 pd. do. rifled gun, 9,500 lbs.

197 guns in all.

The following Guns was sant to New Orlemis from Navy Yard, Nor-

folk, previous to July 1st, 1861

.

May, 1861—8 8-inch guns of 63 cwt.

13 32 pd. of 47 cwt.

2 9-inch Dahlgreen guns.

23 guns.

3rf Question. Who appointed Lieut. Kennou to ordnance duty in

New Orleans ?

Commander M. I presume he was appointed by Commodor*
Hollins.

Aih Question. Why was he removed from ordnance duty?
Commander M. I cannot inform you.

bth Question. State your efforts, if any, under the orders of the

Secretary of the Navy, to have ordnance manufactured in New Orlems.
Commander M. Orders were sent to Commodore HoUins from <teie

to time to use every exertion to Jiave ordnance and ordntnce stdfe*

manufactured at New Orleans for the defence of the Mississippi rir^r;

to establish a laboratory on an economical scale, and to manufacture
powder. In compliance with these orders. Commodore Hollins con-
tracted with the principal factories of New Orleans to cast both iron and
bronze guns. The department made contracts for nit;j:e. Powder was
manufactured on a small scale, and also ordnance and ordnance stores.

6ih Questioti. Who caused to be made, and upon what authority,

musket shells in New Orleans for naval service ?

Commander M. Lieut. Kennon, by authority of Commodore
Hollins.

1th Question. How many of these shells were made, and how many
were ordered ?

Commander M. I do not know how many were made—one hun-
dred thousand were ordered. We have got 39,000 of them on hand
now. The 100,000 were contracted for at 15 cents a piece, making an
aggregate for the whole number of $16,000.
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8//t Ciuestion. Of what use were they to t}ie naval service ?

Commander M. They were no use to the naval service. They were
a dangerous projectile. In ramming down the rammer, the shell fre-

quently exploded.
^th Question. What was their cost, and what their value ?

Commander M. They cost 15 cents a piece. The value they pos-

sessed was merely that of the lead they were made of, and the fulmi-

nate of mercury that was in them.
XOth Question. What became of them ?

Commander M. Thirty-nine thousand of them are now at the naval

laboratory at Atlanta, Ga. We never heard what became of the balance

of them. Many of them, I presume, were lost in New Orleans at the

fall of the city.

Xith Question. Would you as an ordnance oiRcer authorize their

use in the navy ?

Commander M. No, sir.

12th Question. By whom, and upon whose authority was a large

debt contracted in New Orleans for ordnance and ordnance stores,

without your knowledge or that of the Secretary of the Navy ?

Commander M. By authority of Commodore Hollins.

XZth Question. What was the amount of this debt when a know-
ledge of it first reached you and the Secretary ?

Commander M. .$491,152.

\Uh Question. What measures did you adopt to ascertain this debt,

and to pay it ?

Commander M. The department was immediately called upon to

make application to Congress for an appropriation sufficient to pay the

amount due, and to continue the ordnance works at New Orleans.

They asked for $850,000, which Congress gave.

The measures taken to ascertain the debt were these: an officer was
sent by the department to New Orleans for that purpose, and to take an
inventory of all the ordnance on hand. I have the reports of that offi-

cer, which I beg leave to submit. As will be seen, one is dated De-
cember 2d, 1861, one December 3d, 1861, and the other December 17th,

1861.

[Copy.]

Naval Laboratory, ^
New Orleans, La., Dec. 2, 1861. j'

Hon. S. R. Mallory, Secretary of the Navy—
Sir: In obedience to your order of the 19th ult., I submit the fol-

lowing report " in detail of the laboratory as I found it."

A laboratory for the supply of ordnance stores for the vessels fitting

out at this station has been established, is now doing efficient work, and
is conducted with well regulated discipline. Lieut. Beverly Kennon
had the direction of it for sometime, when he was succeeded by Lieut.

Eggleston, who on being detached to accompany the squadron, trans-

ferred the charge of the establishment, by order of Flag Officer Hollins,

to Mr. W. A. Robins, who has been appointed an Acting Master by the

Flag Officer, subject to the decision of the department.

Mr. Robins is assisted by Acting Gunners McComb and Merrifield^
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and employs sixty-nine hands—men, women and boys. Requisitions,
as' far as they can be supplied, are filled with dispatch, and the whole
Avork goes on with commendable regularity.

Mr. H. D. Lassinot is the pyrotechnist, and is paid $2 50 per diem.
The best male hands are paid $1 50, the others $1; the women 75 cts.,

and the boys 50 cts. per diem.
Under Mr. Lassinot's directions, rockets, signal lights, port-fires and

friction primers are prepared. He also superintends the making of fuses.

Under Mr. Merrifield's directions, shells are stropped, filled, fused
and boxed.
Mr. McComb is at present engaged in attending to the ordnance

equipment of the floating battery "Memphis"—but as this gives him
very little to do, and as there seems to be some dissatisfaction at being
associated with Mr. Robins, I suggest that he be ordered to more active

duty elsewhere.

Under Mr. Melleur's direction, cartridges and cylinders are prepared;

and he also assists Mr. Robins in receiving stores from the various

foundries.

Under Mr. Cooper's direction, wads, tackles, breechings, and rope

work generally is prepared.

Bullets are moulded in the laboratory, cartridges and cylinders are

prepared by the females—in employing whom the preference is given to

the wives and daughters of sailors.

The laboratory buildings are rented at ,f1,500 per annum. They
comprise two houses at the corner of Elysean Fields and Old Levee
streets, convenient to the river and close' to the government wharf, but

in other respects are badly situated, being in a crowded ^neighborhood,

where very serious consequences might result from an accidental ex-

plosion .

The watchmen are included among the sixty-nine employees. They
guard the premises by night and day, and are paid $1 50 per diem.

On assuming charge, I issued an order that no purchases be made by
any officer of the establishment except by my authority, and then

through the navy agent, with the commanding officer's approval, a step

which I know to be right in order to check a mode of expenditure open
to so much evil.

Finding that more force was employed than was absolutely neces-

sary, I have to day discharged five men, eleven women and three boys.

The order for shell boxes, which is a very large one, and at an exor-

bitant price, I have directed to be revoked, and hereafter they will be

made in the laboratory, at a cost of 45 cents each, instead of $1, which
has heretofore been paid.

Lieut. Kennon has collected a large amount of stores, and deserves

credit for his energy in doing so, but from what I can ascertain the

prices charged by those who have furnished them is very high, and, in

some instances, not only exorbitant, but out of all proportion.

I enclose an inventory of stores on hand.
Mr. Robins is an acUve, energetic officer, and well calculated to con-

duct the laboratory on an economical scale, and with proper regulations)

to maintain good discipline.

I am, respectfully, your obedient servant,

(Signed) R. D. MINOR, Lt. C. S, Navy.
F. B. KenskaW, Senior Officer.
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[Copy.]

Naval Ordnance Office, )
New Orleans, La., J9<?c. 3, 1861. f

Capt. D. N. Ingraham,
Ghief Bureau Ordnance and Hydrography—

Sir: I enclose you a list of the gun boats and floating batteries, to-

gether with a statement of the sums now due and becoming due, for

work done and yet to be completed for the ordnance department of this

station.

In ordfer that justice may be done the government, the ordnance of-

fice here should be organized by the appointment of an experienced

officer to take charge of it, assisted by two others, to attend to the in-

spection and details. It is an impossibility for one oflicer to attend to

the whole of it, and unless our material is inspected and subjected to

the proper test, we will be fighting our enemies on very unequal terms.

There is work enough for the undivided attention of at least three

officers, and the sooner th«y begin their labours, the better will it be for

the pecuniary and other interests of the service.

1 am, respectfully,

(Signed)' R. D. MINOR,
,
Lt. C. S. Nopy.

[Copy.]

Command ant's< Office, Naval Station,)
New Orleans, Z)(?ce/;j6er IT, IS61, 5

Memorandum of Work ordered and in progi'ess,

LEEDS & CO.

Are making 20 rifled 32-pounders, 12 6-pounder, bronze rifled guns,
shot, shells, rifled shiot, grape, and some incidental repairs, &c., &c.
Bill about SI 13.660 00.

M. T. BUJAC
Is makmg 30 rifled 32-pnunders, shot, shells and spherical case shot.

Bill about $41,600 00.

JOHN ARxMSTRONG
Is making gun carriage's, shot, shells, grape and canister. Bill about
$32,880 00.

BENNETT ^, LURGIS
Are making 12 brass navy 6-pounder rifled guns, shot, shells, srane
and canister. Bill about $90,000.

PHILIP McGUlRE^
Is making shot, shells, canister and bullets. Bill about $14,000,
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G. CRONEN
Is making shot, shells and grape. Bill about ,$20,000.

MULLIKIN & LESTER
Are making gun carriages, and field carriages for small navy guns.

Bill about $428,00.

.T. S. SIMONDS
Ts making shell strops, magazine and battle lanterns. Bill about

5^5,000.

Mr. JOHN ROY, at Custom House,

Is making chassis and gun carriages, amount due on machine shop,
* work of hands employed by day, about |20,000.

R. S. DERRIKSON
Is making 200 single barrel pistols at ^12 50 each. Bill about $2,500.

*

WM. SMITH
Has been making gun tackle and stropping blocks. Bill about $10,000.

JAMES POWERS & CO.

Hav^e an order for the hauling of ordnance and ordnance stores at $5
per gun within, and $10 without the city limits; they have also an or-

der for mounting guns on board the boats and batteries, at $9 for each

gun, including the hauling to the vessel.

Mr. DUHAMEL
Has supplied spirit-levels and quadrants. Bill about ,1385.

J. W. ASHBY
Has supplied rope, junk and seizing stuff. Bill about ,$6,964.

. WM. LOW
Has been making shell boxes at 1^1 each, division tubs, A:c. Bill about

$7,000.

Mr. SWANN
Has been supplying friction primers. Bill about $150.

M. D. LAGAN
Is making powder tanks of 4 sizes, at $24, 25, 28 and 30. Bill about

$8,000.

.JOHN M. LANE
Is making three gun carriages at .$300. Bill about $900.

Mr. ROSENFIELD
Is making 100,000 explosive bullets at 15 cents each. Bill about

$15,000.
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Lieut. Minor has, in many instances, found tlie prices charged for

suppUes to be not only extravagant and exorbitant, but really out of all

proportion, and has ordered the discontinuance of their delivery, even
if the order has not been entirely filled.

Commandant's Office, Naval Station, )

New Orleans, Dec. I7ih, 1.861. 3

Duefor Ordnance, Oi^dnance Siores and Ordjiance Works.

B Avegno , $812 00
M J Bujac 136 86
J Bowin. 48 50
A Barbot 70 00
Cashmock & Ogden 17 37
Cartero 631 80
Duhamel .395 00
De Montrone & Gallot 161 44
R S Derickson 300 00
Geo Falson 1 ,052 50
Fassoux.. 285 00
Gerrick 651 00
DH Holmes 325 63
Hagerty & Bro 2,595 00
Jackson & Co 1,050 00
D Kennedy A 17 50
F S M'Cookey 20 00
McCana& Harrell 350 00
R, J Patterson & Co 700 00
.T Peterson & Co 90 00
Reynolds & Reese 386 40
G Rose 350 00
S Staffer & Co • 39 70^

Sapinot 61 50
Thompson -. 503 70
L Weiss...". 165 61
Spillman 1,105 92
Opeloussas R R Co 5,636 56
Baird 246 50
B Lewi* & Co , 162 00
Bein & Co 1,147 98
Brady& Co 284 69
Casbergne &. Co 14 25 i

G Shakespeare & Co 31 20
Hobart & Foster 1,250 00
H A Gerrick 469 00

Gregor 6,186 00
George King 3,006 35
Larousini & Co 569 00
Carr& Harrell 349 14
M McMalun 18 00
Carr & Harrell 819 44

965 08
McStae, Value & Co 1U5 00
Warnnick 205 00
J B Pruyne 191 18
S Staffer & Co 193 08
M Kelly & Co., see note (4) 2,166 58
GKing. - '*' " (2) 550 00
Stark, Staffer & Co 398 85
Harris&Co... 1,089 90
Dyer 1,034 00
Brady & Co 878 70
Thomson , 19? 81|

51
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Shaw 309 05«

RamSc Co 1.322 31

GB Sanborn 1,168 50

MeStae, Value & Co , 4,156 29

GWGregor 126 00

Davoren & West 29 00
«• •« 62 94

Bloomfield & Steal 9 00

J RDyer, (4 mess chests) 90 00

H AGarrick 1,162 00

J G Jimines 260 75

50 battle lanterns, price unknown.

Spearing & Bro 1,890 00

P Rosenfield & Co 705 00

Warfield 144 00

Derickson • • 60 00

M D Logan, (sec note) 1,047 00

A Barbot 33 00

P McGime, (see note) 20 00

Wm Noble 1,010 00

H H Hamel 588 00

Lanch 9 42

Folga& Co (6 bowie knives)..

D DLigon 5 00

MrsMcKoy 9 56

Geo King (3) 129 00
«« «• 4 double Sabots 32 00
«« '« 4 " " 64 00

3 sheep skins.

Total i- • •• •> •* !»51 ,774 59 i

Amount due, and becoming due for Ordnance and Ordnance Storfu in

New Orleans.

Leeds A: Co , .'^US.eeO

Bennett & Lurges '. 90,000

John Armstrong 32,000

MuUiken & Lester 42,800

Philip McGuire 14,000

George Croner 75,000

M. D. Logan 8,000

Meekins, Kelly & Co 3,500

William Low 7,000

James Powers & Co 3,000 '

J. S. Simonds 3,000

K. S. Derricksou 2,500

A. Avegno 812

M. Bryan 41,600

J. Bonnin 48

A. Barbot 70
Cushmock &. Odgeii 17

Carter 631

Duhamel 395
DeMontrose <fc Gallot 161

George Folsom 1,052
—— Fayssoux 286

Gerricke 651

D.H.Holmes 325
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Huggeiiy *fc Brotlier 3,595

Jackson «fc Co 1,050

D. Kennedy 1'''

T. L. McConkey 20

McCann & Howell 350

R. T. Patterson «fc Co 700

Reynolds & Ruse 386

George Rose ^ ?750

S. Staffer & Co 39

Lassinot ' ^^

L. Weiss 165

Spillman 1^05

Opelousas Railroad , ^'^.^

Baird 24b

B. Lervis A: Go 163

Bein & Co '^M[
Brady <fc Co 284

Casbergne & Co *^
G, Shakespeare & Co 31

Hobart & Foster 1 j*fO

H. A. Gericke ^^6 9

Gregor...... 6,186

George King 0,500

N. Larousini & Co ^69

McCann & Howell 349

M. cMahan 1°

McCann «fc Howell °l^

McCann <fc Howell ' ^05

McStea, Valur & Co 105

Warwick fO.^

J.B. Prague l^i

Stark, Staffer & Co ll%
Stark, Staffer & Co ^^11
Harris & Co 1^^°^

Dyer 1.034

Brady «fc Co °^°

Thompson.
. , J^^— Shaw ,

309

Run <fc Co }^%i
G. B. Sanborn \y]^°
McStea, Valur & Co ; ^Ag^
G. W. Gregor 1^^
Davoren & West. ..„ ^H
Davoren & West ^ ^
Bloomfield & Steel - ^
S.R.Dyer... ^^
H. A. Gericke l^o^

J.S.Gormans 260

Spearing & Co 1^°^^
Paerseh, Rosenfield & Co {Vj
Mrs. Warfield ^ 1^
K.S.Demckson.... «.,,...

^

D
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A.Baibot 33
William Noble.... 1,010

H. H. Harrell 688

Lanet ^

T. D. Ligon 5

Folger & Co 36

Mrs. McKay 9

Amount Total |490,862

These sums are for work done and ordered, but not yet completed.

There may be some smaller debts not included in this list, amounting
to some seven or eight thousand dollars, making our whole indebted-

ness about $500,000.
I have been at considerable trouble to get the different amounts; and

in many instances, I find the prices charged not only exhorbitant, but

altogether out of proportion.

Respectfully, your obedient servant,

(Signed) R. D. MINOR,
Lieutenant C. S. Navy.

Capt. D. N. Ingraham, Chief of Bureau of
Ordnance and Hydrography, Richmond, Va.

loth Questmi. Did you adopt measures to ascertain and pay it as

soon as you heard of its existence ?

Commander M. I did , sir.

16th Questiofi. Did Lieut. Kennon, while thus doing ordnance
duty, keep you advised, or the department advised, of naval ordnance
transactions in New Orleans?
Commander M. No, sir.

17th Question. Was it the duty of the ordnance officer to have
kept you so advised ?

Commander M. Yes, through his commanding officer.

18th Question. Were the duties of ordnance officer in New Orleans
executed according to law and regulation ?

Commander M. I think they werie not.

Mr. SEMMES. Will you state the ^reason why fhey were not exe-
cuted according to law and regulation ?

Commander M. The expenditures exceeded the amoimt appropriated
by Congress. That is the reason why they were illegal, and no regular
returns having been made to the officer of ordnance arid hydrography,

,
prove that they did Hot comply with the regulations.

l^th Question. Were the debts for ordnance and ordnance stores

contracted with a due regard to economy and the wants of the service ?

Commander M. As it turned out, they were contracted with a due
regard to economy, but at the time they were purchased, we thought
the prices paid were enormous . The articles purchased,, however, so
enhanced in price as to render them cheap subsequently. The wants
of the service at New Orleans at that time did riot require the large

amount of purchases then made.
20tk Question. Were the accounts and vouchers of ordtizlrice trans-
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actions regularly and formally kept with a view to strict accountability

and the best interests of the country ?

Commander M, Not to my knowledge.

2lst Question. Did Lieut. Kennon, as ordnance officer, furnish you
as his chief with accounts, reports or vouchers for the expenditure qf

the large sum you have mentioned ?

Cormmander M. No, sir.

Mr. SEMMES. Did he furnish Commodore HolUns?
. Cbnimander M. If he did the Commodore did not send them to the

bureau; it is his duty do so.

22d Question. Was it his duty to have done so?

Commander M. It was the duty of \A&\i. Kennon to have fur-

nished them through Commodore Hollins, whose du.y it was to have

transmitted them to my office.

23c? Question. What efforts Were made by you, under the direction

of the Secretary of the Navy, to protect the public interests in and
about ordnance expenditures in New Orleans, and to ascertain and pay

them ?

Commander M. Lieut. Minor was sent to New Orleans to make
examinations and report An inventory of all stores on hand was
taken, and orders issued that no purchases were to be made by an/
officer of the laboratory or other stores, except by authority, and then

through the iiavy agent, with the commanding officer's approval. The
returns were required to be regularly made to the officer of ordnance

and hydrography; and the commanding officer was instructed to pay
no bills unless authorized by him. An officer from Richmoad was sent

to take charge of the ordnance at New Orleans, with instructions for his

government. The commandant was instructed as to the approval of

bills, and to furnish the office of ordnance with full returns, which or-

ders Avere afterwards executed. The returns then becarre regular.

Mr. SEMMES. You say ia youi answer to question 19, that the

debt contracted for ordnance stores was not contracted with a view to

the wants of the service then at New Orleans? Did the wants of the

service afterwards require them?
Commander M. Yes, sir.

Mr. SEMMES. ^Were they used for that purpose ?

Commander M. They have been, and are now being used. 1 mean
all that we saved.

The Committee then adjourned to meet at 10 o'clock on Thursday,
the 26th inst. . j

THURSDAY, Feb. 26th; 1863.

The Committee met at 10 o'clock. •

Present—Messrs. Semnies, (acting Chairman;) Lyons, Maxwell,
Peyton and Barksdale.

Mr. John T. Shirley having been duly sworn, the following ques-

tions were put to him by Mr. Semmes, on behalf of the Secretary of

the Navy

:

Isi Question. State your name and residence. .^,
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Mr. Shirley. John T, Shirley—my residence is Memphis^ Ten-
nessee.

2c? Question. State your connection with the construction of the

iron clad rams Arkansas 'and Tennessee, at Memphis.
Mr. Shirley. I was the projector and builder of these vessels, so

far as I was permitted to continue the work.
3c? Question. What efforts did you make to obtain timber, machin-

ery, iron for armor, and mechanics ? State fully.

Mr. Shirley. Well, sir, I re-built two saw mills, and extended

them so that I could be able to saw long timber, and repaired the ma-

chinery. I brought timber for the deck frame, or the deck plank—all

the pine timber—104 miles by railroad. The oak timber I brought from

five different mills—one of them some ten or twelve miles off—one

about five miles off, two about three miles off, and one immediately on

the ground where I was building. I made all efforts in the power of

man, I think, under the circumstances, to complete the vessel in the

earliest possible time. The iron I obtained by purchase partly at Mem-
phis and partly on the other side of the river in Arkansas. This was
for the shield, and was altogether railroad iron. The bolt and spike

iron I had rolled down on the Cumberland river. The first lot was
seized by some parties at Nashville, supposed to be by Lieut. Brown.
He, however, says it was not seized through him, that he got other

iron; but my agent, whom I sent there to procure and transport this

iron, said it was seized by him. It was taken to be put in some gun
boats at Nashvilfe that were to have their guns altered. I had the iron

rolled again with some difficulty. The balance of the iron necessary I

had to pick up in lots of from 50 to 100 pounds, all over the country.

I sent to different places to find it. I sent to New Orleans, St. Louis,

Mobile and Nashville for ship-carpenters, at considerable expense, with

very little success. I applied to every commanding general for details

of men, which were refused. Gen. Polk, I think, detailed six or eight

men, when I wanted 100. He persistently refused to detail any more,

notwithstanding the Secretary of the Navy wrote to him two different

letters on the subject—one of which was presented by me, or by Mr.
Waggner, who had been sent out there.

Mr. MAXWELL. Have you got a copy of that letter ?

Mr. Shirley. I have it at home—not knowing the purpose for

which the Secretary of the Navy sent for me, I did not bring it with

me. It can, however, be found on file in the department.

Mr. MAXWELL. You refer to that then as part of your testimony?
Mr. Shirley. 1 do. I sent Mr. Waggner with this letter, and he

delivered it in person to Gen. Polk, or to his adjutant, but he was com-
pelled to come away without a reply. I then sent by Ool. Haynes
another very urgent letter, together with a copy of the letter of the Sec-

retary of the Navy, which were both returned under cover to me at

Memphis, without any sort of reply. I sent also a list of 30 odd car-

penters in the army, whose localities I became acquainted with, so that

there could be no difficulty in sending them, but without effect. I am
satisfied that Gen. Polk desired the completion of the vessels, because

he recommended the building of them ; but for some cause or other, he
would not detail the men. I brought in fact a ^letter from him to Mr.

Mallory, recommending^ the plan of the vessels, and expressing a desire

for their construction-
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Ath Question. Did you apply to the commaading general for a detail
of mechanics—^and if so, what was the result?

Mr. Shirley. I have already ^stated that I did so, and the resuU.
5th Question. Were your efforts to complete the vessels delayed by

any failure of the navy department to supply funds according to con-
tract?

Mr. S. No, sir. I had great difficulty to supply some $34,000 of
funds myself, before I was entitled to money according to the stipula-

tions of the contract, but the Secretary supplied funds very promptly,
and sometimes in advance.

6/A Question. Did the Secretary of the Navy, to guard against any
delay, make advances of money to you before it was due, upon your
application ?

Mr. S. Yes, sir; he (Kd advance more money than the stipulations

of the contract required at that time, as I have already said, in order to

obtain mijterials readily.

7//i Question. What efforts did the Secretary make to aid you to get
mechanics ?

Mr. S. 1 have already stated that he wrote these, pressing letter to

Gen. Polk.

Sth Question. Did you not carry a letter from him to General Polk,
then commanding at Columbus, and which letter was read to you,
urging a detail of mechanics lor you, and showing the importance of an
early completion of the vessel ?

Mr. S. Yes, sir.

Wi Question. Were you not repeatedly urged by the Secretary of
the Navy to complete the vessels at the earliest possible moment.
Mr. S. I was, sir.

UVA Question. Were any vessels of war ever before built at

Memphis ?

Mr. S. Never.

ilth Question. Was your work prosecuted with all possible energy,
and did you emploj'^ every available means to complete the vessels?

Mr. S. Yes, sir. I have the reputation of having rather more
energy than most men in that country, and I certainly exercised it to

the fullest extent, but we had great obstacles thrown in our way by the
operations of the army; but of course it was not designed to retard us,

the obstacles being, doubtless, unavoidable.

\2th Question. Within what time did you contract to complete the

vessels ? • .'^^

Mr. S. Four months.
Vith Question. How far was this time exceeded ?

Mr. S. I think something over three months—which was the result

of causes never apprehended, wheA I entered upon their construction.

1 had to move the vessel to Yazoo City, where she was nearly com-
pleted, when the naval officers moved her to Greenwood, on the Yazoo
river. That was done in obedience to a dispatch from Gov. Pettus, of
Miss., to Commander McBlair, stating the enemy's vessels were coming
up the river. This course was very disastrous, as it resulted in the loss

of a barge laden with 400 bars of drilled railroad iron, each bar having
six holes drilled through it. It took several weeks afterwards to repair

that injury, inasmuch as the steam machinery constructed at Memphis
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for that purpose was taken down, and had again to be constructed

—

and then before it was used it was again taken down, and finally we
had to take it almost by force. I had men drilling on the balance of the

iron when Memphis was taken. We never got it all, and the vessel was
rather badly finished, because of this accident.

lAth Question. By whom were you presented to the Secretary of the

Navy, and endorsed as a fit and suitable person to build vessels at

Memphis ?

Mr. S. By Mr. Currin, the member from Memphis, which is my
district; by Mr. Wright and Atkins, of Tennessee, Johnson, of Arkan-
sas, and perhaps one or two others. I had also a letter from Gen. Polk
to the Secretary, recommending me as a suitable person to build these

vessels, and recommendmg the plan of them.

Mr. SEMMES. When was the Arkansas removed from Memphis to

the Yazoo river?

Mr. Shirley. I have not the exact date now in my memory—it

was probably in March. It was some lour weeks perhaps before Mem-
phis fell, but after New Orleans had fallen, for they thought the

enemy's fleet were coming up the river, and it was this that led to her
removal.

Mr. SEMMES. You must be mistaken, for New Orleans did not

fall until April.

Mr. Shirley. It was April then, I am satisfied, because I had to

take some chances of getting into the Yazoo river with some iron and
copper work.

Mr. SEMMES. When did yon commence the building of he Ar-
kansas?

Mr. Shirley, In October, I think. By reference to the contract it

could be ascertained. As I said, I was not aware of the nature of my
business here when telegraphed for by the Secretary, and consequently

did not charge my memory in reference to dates, or bring MMth me any
documents which could direct me.

Mr. SEMMES. Do you recollect how soon after the contract was
executed you commenced work?

Mr. S. I think ten days.

Mr. SEMMES. Did you commence the Tennessee simultaneously

with the Arkansas ?

Mr. S. Yes, sir. •

' Mr. SEMMES. Were both included in the same contract?

Mr. S. Yes, sir.

• Mr. SEMMES. How far completed was the Tennessee when she
was destroyed ?

Mr. S. Her frame was completed and they were planking her. All

ihe material was on the ground, anjl just out ready to be put together,

except two lots of lumber at the Memphis and Charleston railroad de-

pot; this was deck plank, <Scc.

Mr. SEMMES. You say all the material was on the ground. Do
you include in that the iron for her?

Mr. S. No, sir, not for her. The iron for her was on the opposite

side of the river, contracted for, but not paid for—nor delivered. I

only paid for the iron for the Arkansas.

Mr, SEMMES. The Tennessee, then, was destroyed on the stocks?
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Mr. S. Yes, sir.

Mr. SEMMES. When did you say she was destroyed?
Mr. S. The evening before the fall of Memphis, by authority of the

provost marshal.

Mr. SEMMES. How far completed was tha Arkansas when she
was removed from Memphis ?

Mr, S. Her wood work was entirely complete, with the exception
of finishing up the cabin. The iron was on the hull nearly up to the
main deck; the machinery was all on board, and we were completing
it at Yazoo City.

Mr. SEMMES. How many men did you have at work on the Ar-

kansas ?

Mr. S. I had, at various times, from 20 to 120. I could not get any
military power to detail men, and [ had to keep those in my employ by
advancing their wages whenever they demanded it. I frequently ap-

plied for this detail, but could not get it until a few days before the ves-

sel was removed.
Mr. SEMMES. By whose orders was the vessel removed from

Memphis?
Mr. S. By order of the Secretary of the Navy.
Mr. MAXWELL. Did you employ all the ship-carpenters you could

get?
Mr. S. Yes, sir; and notonly ship-carpenters, but house-carpenters,

and, in fact, every man I could get that could do anything in forward-

ing the completion of the vessel. There were plenty in the army,
whose regiments 1 named, but 1 could not get them.

Mr. MAXWELL. Did you confine your efforts to procure men to

Memphis and the other cities you named—New Orleans, St.

Louis, &c. ?

Mr. S. No, sir. I sent even to Charleston and Mobile. 1 obtained

some from Richmond, and three or four from Baltimore.

Commander John M. Brooke having been next sworn, the follow-

ing questions were put to him by Mr. Semmes on behalf of the Secre-

tary of the Navy:
isi Question. Do you know anything about the origin of the iron-

clad ram Virginia? If so, state all you know.
Commander Brooke. Yes, sir; 1 know of her origin, because 1 was

concerned in originating the ship. The Secretary and myself had con-

versed upon the subject of protecting ships with u'on-cladding very fre-

quently, and at last 1 proposed to him a plan. That was about early

in June, 1861, just after the Secretary came here from Montgomery.
He approved of the plan, and I asked him to send to Norfolk for some
practical ship-builder, to draw out a plan in detail. He sent for one,

and one of the employees of the yard, whose position then I did not

know, except that I knew he was not a regular constructor then, was
sent up. He said he knew nothing' of drafting, and although he ap-

proved of the general plan, he could not make the drawing. This
was what I wanted done chiefly. He was here a few days, and com-
plained of being made sick by the water, and was therefore permitted

to return to Norfolk. I then determined to go on with the drawing

myself, but asked the Secretary to send for the naval constructor at Nor-

52
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folk, and naval engineer, so that they might be consulted in relation to

the vessel. They came up, and this constructor brought with him a

model. I should have said that the name of the constructor was J. L.

Porter. This model is now one of the models in the Secretary's room.

It consisted of a shield and hull, the extremities of the hull terminating

with a shield , forming a sort of box or scow upon which the shield was

supported. The Secretary directed the constructor, chief engineer Wil-

Uamson and myself to meet him at my office here. We met there, and

this model was examined by us all, and the form of the shield was ap-

proved. It was considered a good shield, and, for ordinary purposes,

a good boat for harbor defence. The Secretary then called the atten-

tion of Mr. Porter and Mr. Williamson to the drawing, giving a general

idea of the vessel I proposed. The difference between the model and

my drawing consisted in the one I proposed having the ends prolonged

and shaped like those of any fast vessel, and in order to protect them

from the enemy they were to be submerged two feet under water, so

that nothing was to be seen afloat but the shield itself. The object of

having these parts of the vessel submerged was to gain speed and to

have buoyancy without exposing the hull, and to avoid increasing the

draft of water. Mr. Porter and Mr. Williamson, after looking at the

drawing, approved of it, and the Secretary directed us to get up a ves-

sel on that plan. Mr. Porter's shield and the one I proposed were al-

most identical—Mr. Porter being a draftsman, immediately drew a plan

of such a vessel of comparatively light draft. I think she was to draw

something over eight feet of water. Mr. Williamson and myself went

to look for engines. We went to the Tredegar works and inquired there,

but there were no suitable engines to be had. Mr. Porter completed

the draft, and it is now in my office. Mr. Williamson subsequently stated

that the engines of theMerrimac could be repaired, and made available,

but that they could not be used well in any other vessel unless she had

equal draft of water, or nearly equal. Mr. Williamson proposed to put

the shield on the Merriniac. Mr. Porter and myself thought the draft

too great, hut were, nevertheless, of opinion that it was the best thing

that could be done with our means; and Mr. Porter was ordered by the

Secretary to' Norfolk to make a plan of the vessel, in accordance willi

the plan v/hich we had approved, and which I mentioned before as

having been submitted to the Secretary. Mr. P. did so. He sent up

drawings which were of the same general description as those he made
before in accordance with my suggestion. Mr. Porter was directed to

perform all the duties of constructor in connection with the alteration of

this ship, Mr. Williamson was directed to attend to the engines, and I

was directed to attend to having iron prepared in Richmond for her; and

the work was then prosecuted with all the energy possible, in my opin-

ion. It was a difficult matter to get iron from Richmond to Norfolk,

there being over 700 tons of iron sent down in the course of her con-

struction.

After the vessel was launched Mr. Porter stated to me that he had

accidentally omitted in his calculation some weights which were on

board the ship, in consequence of which she did not draw as much
water when launched as he anticipated. I suppose that is about all

that is required in connection with that ship. The Secretary was con-

stantly urging on the parties at the yard to hasten the construction of
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the vessel. He was of the opinion that vessels of that description
would be the most efficient and the most formidable in the world for
the purpose for which she was intended.

Mr. MAXWELL. Was it a part of the original plan that she should
have a ram ?

Commander Brooke. It was embodied in the original planj we al-

ways intended that she should be a ram. All iron-clad vessels are
built as rams. Putting a beak on a vessel depends altogether upon the
opinion of persons. The stem of a strong vessel serves as a cutter or
beak without being at all prolonged in advance of the ship proper.
2d Question. Do you know what were the views of the Secretary

of the Navy then and subsequently, as to iron-clad rams ? If so , state

them, and state how you know them, and also, what his course was
with the Jamestown and Patrick Henry, the first vessels of the navy
in Virginia.

Commaader Brooke. In converastions with the Secretary I always
have been under the impression that, for purposes of coast defence, he
conceived that iron-clad rams were the best vessels. I infer that from
the fact that in speaking of them he always regarded them as the best
for this purpose; and he caused iron-plating to be applied to the first

vessels which were on James river—the Patrick Henry and Jamestown.
This he did to protect their engines, <fcc.

Mr. MAXWELL. About what time was that?
Commander B. I do not recollect the dates very well. The records

in the office will show. A long beak was to have been cast for the
Patrick Henry or JamestOAvn, but it was laid aside because the foimdry
was required to have guns cast, and the construction of this would in-

terfere seriously with the casting of ordnance, <fcc. The vessel was of
such a structure as to have rendered it hazardous to approach a vessel

armed with heavy guns, such as she would have been likely to encoun-
ter in Hampton Roads.

3c? Question. Were his views in favor of iron-clad rams over wooden
vessels, and particularly his views of converting the Merrimac into an
iron-clad ram, opposed by leading officers of the navy?
Commander B. Yes, sir. The Secretary, as 1 say, has always been

in favor of rams and iron-clad vessels. I believe that Commander
Maury was opposed to the construction of iron-clad vessels, such as

the Merrimac, preferring small wooden gun boats.

Mr. SEMMES. Were these opposed by any one else but Comman-
der Maury?
Commander B. 1 do not remember, but I know that so little was

known by our people generally, officers included, about iron-clads, that

very few people were willing to express an opinion until the experiment
had been made.

Ath Question. Do you know anything of the means adopted by the
Secretary, as to division of labor, <fcc., to expedite the completion of
the Merrimac ? If so, state them.
Commander B. Yes, sir. I have stated in answer to one of the

other questions, that Mr. Porter was ordered to perform the duties

usually performed by a naval constructpr j Mr. Williamson to attend to

the engines, and myself to attend to the preparation of iron. When
the ship was approaching completion, Lieut. Catesby Jones was ordered
to Norfolk, to put her battery in order at the earliest moment.
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5tk Question. Do you know anything of the tests and experiments

made incident and necessary to her successful completion? If so, state

them.
Commander B. Yes, sir. I was directed by the Secretary to

fire at iron-plating with the guns at Jamestown Island. We constructed

first a target from a plan proposed for the Merrimac's shield. The
wood was about twenty-four inches thick; the iron three inches thick,

consisting of one-inch plates three deep; the surface target was inclined

at an angle of about thirty degrees with the horizon.- At a distance of

about three hundred yards, eight-inch solid shot,- with a charge of ten

pounds of powder, penetrated the iron, and entered five inches into the

wood; and this was the case with several shots—some seven or eight.

It was then thought proper to increase the thickness to four inches.

A new target was constructed, of which, the plates were two inches

thick, forming two layers. Eight-inch shot, with ten pound charges,

and nine-inch shells, weighing about seventy pounds, with ten pound
charges, were fired against the target. The outer plates were shat-

tered ; the inner were cracked, but the wood was not visible through

the cracks in the plating. The original plan contemplated the first

plating described, but this experiment indicated the necessity of increas-

ing the thickness to four inches—which was done. The eleven-inch

shot of the Monitor would have penetrated the shield of the first de-

scription, 1 think, very readily; but it did not penetrate the four-inch

shield in the battle. These were the experiments. I miglit mention in

that connection, that I was assisted in making this expernnent by
Lieut. Catesby Jones, who is perfectly conversant with everything that

relates to ordnance:

6th Question. Do you know of anything of the novelties and diffi-

culties of her construction, how they were overcome, both as to her

hull and her armament? If so, state them.
Commander B. The novelty of the hull consisted in submerging

the ends; but no experiment could be made to determine how it would
succeed. Four of the guns were rifles, made at the Tredegar works in

Richmond, under my direction, and by drawnigs furnished by me.
The remainder of her battery were nine-inch Dahlgreen shell guns.
The rifle guns were intended to throw bolts as well as shells, but
owing to the fact that the enemy had no iron-clad afloat at the time

she first went out, and there being a great pressure upon the works for

projectiles of other kinds proper to use against wooden vessels, she
was not furnished with bolts. If she had been, the experiment made
here with guns of the same calibre show, that the turret of the Monitor
would have been penetrated by them. Everything connected with the

ship, except the old hull, was novel, so far as practical application was
concerned, and the difficulties were overcome as they presented them-
selves, by consultation, reflection and study.

1th Question. State the course of the Secretary of the Navy as to

improvements of naval ordnance and projectiles, and to what it has led.

Commander B. The Secretary has stimulated improvements to a
very great extent. I have at different times presented plans and models
of guns to him, and he has generally approved of them. We now
have guns as powerful, in my opinion, as any in the world, of the same
class, and there are probably not more than one or two guns in the
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world more powerful, if as powerful, as the one on board the Rich-
mond. We broke eight inches of iron with that gun on yesterday.
The eight inches of iron were composed of four layers of plates, each
plate two inches thick and eight inches wide, and about eight feet in
length. The layers of plates were placed alternately vertical and hori-

zontal, and were bolted to twenty-two inches of timber backing, the
whole supported in rear by clay abutting against Urewry's Bluff. It

was in a ditch, so that the top of the target came np on a level with the
ground, and then the ditch was filled up in the rear, making it a solid

mass. The charge of this gun was twenty-five pounds of powder.
The gun is a rifle, and the bolt was of wrought iron, and w'-eighed one
hundred and forty pounds. It broke three layers of plates, so that
pieces came out, and broke the remaining plates, and pushed it firmly
in the wood, so that the fibres of the wood were projecting in cracks.
It is my opinion, if the clay had not been there, the shot would have
broken entirely through the iron and wood. That target was about
two hundred yards off. The Secretary has always been ready to ex-
amine plans proposed, experiments, &c., and whenever there was a
chance of success, has given them such encouragement as was in his

power.
Mr, SEMMES. When was the Virginia commenced?
Commander B. The order was given to construct a vessel on that

plan on or about the 23d of June, 1861.

Mr. SEMMES. When was she completed ?

Commander B. She was completed within a day or two of the time
she went out, which was in March.

Mr. SEMMES. When you spoke of the Gloire or the Warrior as

an iron-clad vessel, although it has the capacity of running down a
vessel opposed to it, do you speak of them to convey the idea of ram,
in the meaning of the word ram?
Commander B. I should call the Gloire a ram, but her battery is

so heavy that it predominates—I should think her more of an iron-

clad ship; but generally speaking, I should consider an iron-clad to be
a ram. I consider the Gloire a ram.

Mr. SEMMES. An iron-clad vessel is necessarily a ram, but can you
use the term '^ram" to vessels of the class I have indicated; does it

not convey the idea that a ram is constructed with a peculiar view of
destroying other vessels by butting up against them, rather than by
armament ?

Commander B, Yes, sir. When I speak of a ram particularly,

then I should regard it as doubtful, whether she had armament or not;

but when I speak of iron-clad vessels, I intend to convey the idea that

they are also rams, but carrying armament.
Mr. SEMMES. When these conversations were held with the Sec-

retary of the Navy, they were held here at Richmond ?

Commander B. Yes, sir.

Mr. SEMMES. When these plans were submitted to him in the
manner stated, was the predominating idea that of constructing an iron

clad vessel, or one peculiarly for ramming purposes ?

Commander B. For both—to act as ram and battery. Any strong

ship can run another down whether she has a break or not, and the

greater the weight and strength of the vessel, the greater the momen-
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turn. If a man spoke to me of a ram, I should infer that she had only

a strong cut-water. I should not take it for granted that she had a

beak. There are some persons who think that it is necessary for a

vessel to have a beak in order to run another vessel down and sink her.

Such is not the case—the stronger and heavier vessel, the advantages of

collision being equal, will run the other down whether she has a beak

or not. In the accidents which have happened demonstrating the

power of ships to run each other down, the damage has been done by
the stem or cut-water.

Mr. SEMMES. The Merrimac had a beak put upon her—had she

not?
Commander B . Yes, she had a piece of cast iron ; but it was left,

they say, in the Cumberland.
Mr. SEMMES. When was it determined in the course of her con-

struction to put this upon her ? It was not a part of the original plan ?

Commander B. It was not determined to put it on in that particular

form. It was supposed that the projection beyond the shield submerged
would be sufficient as a beakj but Mr. Porter decided to put on the

iron beak which she earned.

Mr. SEMMES. When was that ?

Commander B. The vessel was pretty well advanced when the

beak was put on. The shield was up.

I will state in connection with the subject of bolts as pertaining to the

light between the Merrimac and Monitor, that when the Merrimac sub-

sequently, under the command of Flag Officer Tatnall, challenged the

Monitor to come out from under the protection of Port Monroe into

deeper water, the Merrimac had a supply of wrought and cast iron bolts.

The Committee then adjourned to meet again at 10 o'clock on Satur-

day next, the 28th inst.

SATURDAY, Feb. 28, 1863.

The Committee met at 10 o'clock.

Present—Messrs. Clay, (Chairman,) Dupre, Maxwell and Barksdale.

Mr. John Ray having been duly sworn, the following questions were
put to him by the Chair, on behalf of the Secretary of the Navy.

Is; Question. State your length of residence in New Orleans, and
your business ?

Mr, Ray. My length of residence in New Orleans is since 1842.

My business when I came there was that of architect. I have been in

the employ of the government since June, 1849, in the building of the

Custom House, and for the last six years since the building was going
on, architect under Gen. Beauregard, then Mayor Beauregard. When
the State went out of the Union, the building was of course stopped,

and I was employed sometime after by Ex-Governor Hebart, in the

manufacture of gun-carriages for the army, and subsequently by Com-
modore Rosseau of the navy. I was fully conversant with what was
going on with regard to the defence of New Orleans from that down.
2d Question. Have you any knowledge of the construction of the

ship Mississippi by the Messrs. Tift in New Orleans ? If so, state

your means of information and of judging thereof.
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Mr. Ray. A telegraphic dispatch came to Commodore HolUns, in-

quiring what such engines as those required for the Mississippi could be
constructed for. I was then in the employ of Commodore HoUins, and
was sent around to the various foundries in the city to ascertain what
they would cost, and to get estimates for the same. I succeeded only
in^'getting two—one from Leeds & Co., the other from Kirk. These
estimates were forwarded by Commodore Hollins to the department,
and amounted in one instance to $30,000, and I think in the other to

$65,000. I speak altogether from memory. Sometime afterwards the

Messrs. Tift came to New Orleans, and were introduced to me by Com-
modore Hollins. They hired a carriage, and we went together around
to the various foundries. I gave them the information they most needed,
and being strangers there, 1 took occasion to tell them the character of

the various houses that they were likely to be connected with. In short

I gave them all the information I could.

My means of judging of the construction of the Mississippi was, that

the Messrs: Tift submitted the plan to me for my opinion, which I gave.

I was opposed to it, so far as the capacity of the boilers was concerned;
but this difficulty they removed upon my producing proof that that was
a serious defect.

3d Question. Do you know anything of the difficulties in New Or-

leans in the way of constructing such a vessel as the Mississippi when
the Tifts began their work, and how they proceeded to surmount them ?

Jf so, state fully your knowledge.
Mr. Ray. Yes, sir. There is very great difficulty in constructing

such a vessel. A vessel on the plan of the Mississippi was never con-

structed there before, and everything was unfavorable to these gentle-

men when they came there. 1 myself got up a plan of a vessel, not

similar, but of the same character; but 1 failed to do what they did, al-

though I had been 20 years in New Orleans. They proceeded to sur-

mount the difficulties in their way by asking me to accompany them to

the different manufacturers and introduce them. I told them when
they came there, that they would find it difficult according to my judg-
ment, to secure men in New Orleans of sufficient experience to carry on
that Vv'ork. I was astonished at the rapidity with which they went on
with the work, notwithstanding all they had to contend witli. There
was no man in New Orleans who was more conversant with the state

of things there in regard to contracts and work of this character than I

was, having executed government contracts frequently; and I ahvays
found great difficulty in getting work done there. 1 found that contrac-

tors would rarely fulfill their contracts, and would almost invariably

disappoint in the matter of time. This they were compelled to do in a

great measure for want of proper facilities.

Atli Question. How was the work on the ship prosecuted ? State

how you were impressed by the general course of these gentlemen.
State your knowledge and judgment fully of their energy, zeal and
ability in this work.
Mr. Ray. It was prosecuted with rapidity, in my judgment—with

astonishing rapidity, I might say. I thought they were astonishingly
successful in this work. Their energy was very satisfactory, so far as

I could judge, and their success such as to have excited in me a some-
what jealous feeUng. They found out, by some means, that I had
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some material which could not be found elsewhere, and by their energy

and tact they managed to get it, through the Commodore, though I in-

tended to retain it for my own use. It was material for the helm or

rudder which could be had no where else. Their abihty, not being

mechanics, was of the first order, and their constructor, Mr. Pierce,

was, 1 might say, a remarkable man. In fact, if we had done as well

for ourselves as they did, we never would, in my opinion, have lost

iVew Orleans. They worked with all the zeal and energy possible.

Mr. DUPRE. You speak of two engines that you said you had

succeeded in getting estimates for. Were these engines ever made for

the Mississippi and put in her ?

Mr. Ray. They were made and partly put in. •

Mr. DUPRE. They were procured in the city, though not put up?

Mr. Ray. Yes, sir, they were, and most of them were put in before

the Mississippi was destroyed.

Mr. DUPRE. In referring to the embarrassments encountered by

the Tifts you speak of the difficulty of procuring machinery, timber,

(fcc. Were not these materials to be found in the city?

Mr. Ray. Not readily. The timber, for instance, had to be brought

from across the lake, or down the railroad j most of it, I think, came

across the lake.

Mr. DUPRE. Then, if I understand the purport of your whole

evidence, it resolves itself into this—that in view of the embarrass-

ments that these gentlemen met with in the city for the building of

such a boat as the Mississippi, you believe that the boat was completed,

to the extent that she was completed at the time of the fall of New
Orleans, astonishingly rapid?

Mr. Ray. That is my opinion, and that instead of censure these

gentlemen deserve praise from the citizens of New Orleans.

Mr. Edward M. Tjdball having been next sworn, the following

questions were put to him by the Ciiatr, on behalf of the Secretary of

the Navy:
1st Question. State what position you hold in the navy department,

and how long you have held it.

Mr. TiDBALL. Chief clerk of the departn:ient. I have held it since

the 13th of March, 1861.

2d Question. Do you know when the the agents of the navy de-

j)artment were sent abroad by the Secretary under secret acts Nos. 11(3

and 117, approved May 10th, 1801 ? i( so, state.

Mr. Tiuhall. Yes, sir. One agent was sent the day after the ap-

proval of bill No. 116, and the orders of the other were dated tlie 17lh

of May, seven days after tlic passage of the bill, and he left the Con-

federate States, I think, about the 25th.

'Sd Question. How long alter authorized by law, did the Secretary

send his agents abroad to purchase vessels and supplies, under act No.

116?
Mr. TiDBALL. The next day. The instructions to the officer were

prepared the day before the bill passed, and the day after—the 11th of

May — he left the city.

Ath Question. How long after authorized by law did the Secretary

send his agent, under act No. 117?
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Mr. TiDBALL. His instructions were prepared on the 17th of May,
and he left the Confederate States on the 25th of May.

5th Question. State the action of the department in sending agents

to the North and to Canada, to procure vessels for the navy, and the

dates, and what was the result.

Mr. TiDBALL. There was an officer in New York on the secret ser-

vice of the government at the time. The first order given to him was
on the 13th of March, 1861, to examine and ascertain whether ves-

sels could be purchased there suitable for war-vessels, or to be converted

into war-vessels, and if he found any, he was authorized to procure

them. On the 19th of March an officer was sent from Montgomery in

connection with an acomplished engineer, to examine the steamers in.

New York, Philadelphia and Baltimore, with a view to purchase any
that could be found suitable for war-vessels, either for cruising or for

coast defence. These gentlemen came back and reported that they had
examined all the steamers at these points, and that they found but one
vessel suitable for war purposes, and that was the steamer Caroline, of

Philadelphia. On the 13th of April they were ordered to return north

with a view to purchase the Caroline, and also to proceed to Canada
and examine the steamer Peerless, as well as two steamers at Mystic,

Connecticut. They were prevented from pursuing their journey
farther than Baltimore, owing to the disturbances which broke out there

on the 19th of April, and accordingly returned.

On the 3d of May an agent was sent to Canada to examine all the

steamers that he could find there, as well as in Boston and New York.

He returned to Montgomery about the 5th or 6th of June, and tele-

graphed to the Secretary to this point, stating that he found that all the

available steamers at these places were purchased or chartered by the

Northern Government.
6th Question. Produce the official instructions to Captain Rous-

seau, then in command at New Orleans, in relation to purchasing,

building and fitting out vessels-of-war, from the 15th of March to the

1st of August, 1861.

Mr. T. On the I7th of March, 1861, he was directed to inquire

whether vessels susceptible of being prepared and promptly and properly

armed and fitted for coast defence could be purchased in New Orleans,

and at what cost. His attention was directed to two steamers in par-

ticular. In this service, two other officers. Commander Farrand and
Lieut. Chapman, were associated with him. That was th» first order to

him. They reported that none of these vessels could be made suitable

for war vessels. [Mr. T. exhibited the reports as he proceeded.] The
Secretary then directed them to examine the Habanna and Marquis de
Habanna. They did so, and these vessels were afterwards purchased,

the former being subsequently called the Sumter and the latter the

McRae.
On the 27th of March instructions were given to him, and specifica-

tions furnished for building vessels. On the 22d of April he was or-

dered to examine the propeller Florida. He did so, and having reported

favorably, she was afterwards purchased and fitted up on the lakes.

On the first of May his attention was directed to the examination of the

steamer offered for sale by HolUngsworth & Co., of Wilmington. He
did so, but the vessel did not arrive at New Orleans, though he re-

53 ^
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ported she was on the way. The Starof the West, which Was captured

at Texas, was handed over to him, and he was directed to use her as

a receiving ship, inasmuch as she was not adapted to war purposes.

On the 4th of May he was instructed to inquire whether wrought

iron plates of any given thickness, from 2^ to 5 inches, could be fur-

nished by any of the iron works at New Orleans. He reported that

none could be rolled of that size and thickness.

On the 7th of May he was instructed to examine the steamer Mira-

mon. He did so, but reported against her.

On the 9th of May he was instructed to purchase and fit out a fast

tug, capable of carrying one heavy gun. He purchased the steamer

Yankee, afterwards called the Jackson, and fitted her out.

On the 18th of June he was instructed to complete the McRae and

the Jackson as rapidly as possible and send them to communicate with

Gen. Pillow, at Columbus, and then return to New Orleans.

On the 17th of June he was telegraphed to propose to Messrs. Harris

&, Morgan to take one or two of their steamers at a price to be deter-

mined by three appraisers. These gentlemen declined to consent to an

appraisement, and no further action was had in the matter. He was

also instructed to fit out the cutter Pickens.

On the 2d of July he was directed to furnish to the person to be

designated b}'- the Hon. C. M. Conrad, a 9-inch gun and ammunition

for the Manassas.

On the 9th of July he was ordered by telegraph to arm and officer

such steamers as Governor Moore and General Twiggs might turn over

to him. None were turned over, however.

On the 10th of July he was ordered to purchase and fit out the

steamer Pamlico on the lake, for lake service.

On the same day he was ordered to build two gun boats, one in Mo-

bile and one in New Orleans. Plans and specifications for these boats

were forwarded to him, but by direction of the Secretary, at the sugges-

tion of Capt. Rousseau, they were both built at Mobile.

On the same day he was authorized to contract with John Hughes «fc

Co. for the vessel described in their offer to the department.

On the 13th of July he was authorized to fit out the schooner Wm.
B. King for service at St. James' Parish.

On the 16th of July he was authorized to build six barges, and at

the same time was informed that that was important and that he

must urge on the construction of the vessels at the earliest moment
possible.

On the 31st of July Commodore Rousseau was relieved and Commo-
dore Hollins ordered to take charge.

7th Question. Look at page 142, Officers' Letter Book No. 1, and

state whether the original of this letter was sent to Capt. Ingraham,

and state in substance his report. Read the letter.

The letter is as follows:
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Confederate States op America, ^
Navy Department, >

Montgomery, May 20ih^ 1861. )

Captain Duncan N. Ingraham, C. S. N.,

Montgomeryp Ala.—
« Sir: Upon the receipt of this order you will proceed to ascertain the

practicability of obtaining wrought iron plates of from two to three

inches in thickness.

The "Tennessee iron works" have, I am informed, rolling mills for

heavy work. They are on the Cumberland river, in Stewarts' county,
Tennessee.

Daniel Hillman <fc Co. have a rolling mill on the Cumberland, in

Kentucky, some forty miles below the former works, and there is said to

be a rolling mill at or near Atlanta, Georgia.

These plates would require to be made uniformly, and punched.
You will ascertain as early as practicable, whether the plates of this

thickness can be furnished, and their form, dimension, weight, and
price per pound must be stated, together with the best means of for-

warding them to New Orleans.

I am, respectfully, your obedient servant,

S. R. MALLORY,
Secretary of the Navy. -

Captain Ingraham reported that he had visited the rolling mills in

Tennessee, and was informed by Messrs. Hillman <fc Co., the owners
of one establishment, tha,t they would not undertake to roll iron for the

Confederates Statos in the then condition of the country in which the

mills were located; and by Messrs. Woods & Co., the owners of the

other establishment, that they were not prepared to roll such heavy
work under any circumstances.

He then visited the mills at Atlanta, Georgia, and was informed by
the owners that they could not roll such iron as it would involve an en-

tire change in their mill, which they declined to make at that time.

Afterwards, in November, 1861, I think, they did change their mill,

and have been rolling iron for plating vessels ever since.

8/A Question. Look at page 198, miscellaneous record, book No. 1,

and state whether the original of the letter dated 8th May, 1861, was
sent to the chairman of the committee of naval affairs.

Mr. T. Yes, sir, it was sent to him. It relates to iron-clad

steamers.

[This letter is embraced in Mr. Conrad's testimony.]
9tli Question. Look at pages 332 and 333, misceUaneous record^

book No. 1, dated July 31st, 1861, and state whether the originals of
those two letters were written and sent to the chairman of the naval
committee.
Mr. T. They were.
10th Question. Do you know anything of the transaction between

the Navy and Treasury Departments, referred to in the letters of July
,30th and 31st> 1861^ of the Secretary of the Navy to the Hon. Mr.
Gonrad> chairman of the committee of R^aval affairs, and also in his lui-

official note to Mr. Conrad, of .JM[arch —, 1863? If so, istate it.
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Mr. T. Yes sir. I will state my recollection of it, which lias been
somewhat refreshed by an examination of the records.

The day after the passage of the two secret acts, Nos. 116 and 117,

funds were required for the agent to be sent to Europe. I took these

two acts to the Secretary of the Treasury, drawing a requisition for

$600,000 of the fund appropriated, to be placed to the credit of one of

the agents in England. The Secretary of the Treasury stated that It

could not be done, and assigned as a reason why it could not, that the

appropriation did not bring money into his treasury; that no pstimate

had been submitted to him; that no provision had been made for it,

and that, therefore, he could not supply the funds . Afterwards, du-

ring the day, at his suggestion, a requisition was drawn under another

appropriation, to supply this fund, and the funds were supplied and the

agent despatched with |600,000.
On the 30th of July the Secretary of the Treasury was requested to

charge that amount to its proper appropriation, other funds being re-

quired to be sent abroad; and he replied that as Congress was in session,

some action was necessary; and hence the two letters of the Secre-

tary of the Navy, of the 31st of July, to Mr. Conrad, explaining the

matter and asking that Congress would take action with reference to it.

No action was had, however, Mr. Conrad not seeming to think that any
was necessary. After the adjournment of Congress the President au-

thorized the transfer to be made, under the act authorizing him to do
so. The estimaes were submitted by him afterwards to the Congress
that met subsequently, viz: in July, 1861, and provisions were made
for the money. We then had funds enough, but it was some time be-

fore they were made available—two or three months, perhaps. 1 recol-

lect this transaction, because Mr. Memminger insisted that estimates

were not furnished, and that he should have them. I then prepared
estimates for the three millions, got them approved by the President,

and had them sent to Congress and to the Secretary. I will mention one
thing in this connection—that while the agent that was sent abroad un-
der the act No. 117 was in Savannah, waiting for a vessel to be off, the

Secretary of the Navy, on the 21st of May, sent him the following des-

patch: ^'Appropriation not available; bill failed for present; make all

inquiries and estimates; ascertain price of building, but do not con-

tract without further advices from me."
Mr. Conrad came to the department, and as well as I recollect, we

made the estimates after the bills had passed, and sent them to Con-
gress, and also to the Secretary of the Treasury, in order that provision
might be? made for them before Congress adjourned. They were under
consideration, and Mr. Conrad stated to the Secretary of the IVavy that

the bills had failed, that Mr. Memminger opposed it, and that Congress
did not feel disposed to pass the appropriation at that time. That was,
as well as I can recollect, the substance of the conversation, and hence
this dispatch to the agent, of MaySlst, 1861.

llih Questioti. Look at page 330, miscellaneous record book. No.
1, date July, 1861, and state whether the original of that letter was
written and sent to the Chairman of the committee of naval affairs.

Mr. T. Yes, sn, it was, and an estimate sent with it for $800,000,
which was appropriated. It was intended to prepare floating defences
for New Orleans and the Mississippi river.
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12th Question. Look at page 407, miscellaneous record book, No.

2, dated March 29, 1862, and state whether the original of that letter

was written and sent to the President.

Mr. T. Yes, sir, it was.

13^^ Question. Look at page 3, miscellaneous record book, No. 2,

dated December 16th, 1861, and state whether the original of that let-

ter was written and sent to the chairman of the naval committee.

Mr. T. Yes, sir, it was.. That letter related to the report of the

board of officers on the plan of Commander Maury for one hyndred
gun boats.

\^th Question. Look at page 38, miscellaneous record book, No. 2,

dated December 24th, 1861, and state whether the original of that let-

ter was written and sent to Gen. Polk, and by whom. «

Mj. T. Yes, sir, it was. This is a letter to Gen. Polk, dated De-
cember 24th, 1861, then in command at Columbus. It was sent to

the General by Mr. Shirley, asking a detail of mechanics to enable him
to complete the gun boats Arkansas and Tennessee.

Confederate States Navy Department, )

Richmond, j9ecem6er24^/«, 1861. \

Major- General L. Polk,
Commanding forces at Columbus, Ky.—

Sir: The completion of the iron-clad gun boat at Memphis, by Mr.
Shirley, is regarded as highly important to the defences of the Mis-
sissippi.

One of them at Columbus, would have enabled you to complete the

annihilation of the enemy.
Had I not supposed that every facility for obtaining carpenters from

the army near Memphis would have been extended to the enterprise, I

would not have felt authorized to have commenced their construction

then, as it was evident that ruinous delays must ensue, ^f deprived of
the opportunity of obtaining mechanics in this way.
These vessels will be armed with very heavy guns, and will be iron-

clad, and with such aid as mechanics under your command can afford,

they may be completed, 1 am assured, in sixty days.

May I ask, therefore, that you will extend to this department the
necessary aid. The men may be furloughed for this special service,

and the highest current wages will be paid them.
The department to induce the construction of the boats, has. to be

in advance to Mr. Shirley, and the government may be said to be ex-

clusively interested in their speedy completion.

I have also to ask, that if practicable, a guard be assigned to protect

these vessels. Though Mr. Shirley stands in the light of a contractor,

he seems to have been guided also by patriotism, and an unselfish de-

sire to do all in his power to serve us, and has undertaken to construct
the vessels at our own estimates.

Unless mechanics could be obtained from the forces under your com-
mand, the completion of these vesels will be a matter of uncertainty,
and the government will lose their services, and sustain all the pecu-
niary loss.

I am, respectfully, your obedient servant,

S. R. MALLORY,
Secreiary of the Navy.
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[This letter was referred to by Mr. Shirley in his testimony before
the Committee on Thursday, the 26th instant.]

15ih Question. Look at page 79, miscellaneous record book, No. 2,
dated January 12th, 1862, and state whether the original of that letter

was written and sent to Gen. Polk, and read the extract lelating to de-
tail of mechanics to work on gun boafs at Memphis.

Mr. T. The original of this letter was sent to Gen. Polk. The ex-
tract referred to reads—

" Mr. Shirley, who is constructing the iron-clad gun boats at Mem-
phis, will fail in completing them within the stipulated time, entirely

irom the difficulty of obtaining workmen, and 1 beg leave to repeat my
suggestion that carpenters detailed from your forces for the purpose, on
furlough or otherwise, as is done here, would enable us to have the

use of these vessels at an early day; whereas, without their aid* it is

impossible to say when they can be finished."

16th Question. Look at page 96, miscellaneous letter book, No. 2,

and state whether the original of that letter was sent to the President,

and read the extract relating to details of mechanics to work on gun boats

at Memphis.
Mr. T. This letter is dated January 15th, and the original of it was

sent to the President. It relates to the detail of mechanics generally

from the army. The following is the extract referred to in the

interrogatory:

" The two iron-clad ships being built at (Memphis, *and which would
be worth many regiments in defending the river, progress very slowly

from the difficulty of procuring workmen. Gen. Polk, in command
there, having declined to permit the contractor to have any from his

forces.

" I have the honor to ask therefore, that such measures may be adopted

as will secure to this department the services of such shipwrights, car-

penters and joiners in the army, as may be willing to work for it in

the construction of vessels."

17th Question. Read the letter addressed to Gen. Lovell, on page
121 of said letter book, and state whether the original of this letter was
sent to him. Read the letter.

Mr. T. It was sent to him, and he never made any reply to it.

The letter reads as follows:

Confederate States Navy Department,")
Richmond, January 23o?, 1862. 3

General Mansfield Lovell, C. S. A.,

Commanding at New Orleans—
Mv Dear General: The manufacture of heavy ordnance being sus-

pended here for the present, and the wants of the army having ex-

hausted our stock of cannon at Norfolk, we must encounter, I fear,

serious delay in arming our gun boats at New Orleans without your aid.

1 sent to New Orleans from Norfolk, one hundred and twenty heavy
guns, and I hope that some of them can be assigned to these vessels.

Tke Livingston you will find to be, I think, a superior steamer, capa-

ble of doing capital service, as will also be the two steamers on the lake
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shore; and the two iron-clad ships are expected to raise the blockade of

the river. Such vessels, in cheerful concert with your efforts, will

prove invaluable, and if it be possible for you to spare them some
heavy guns, I trust you will do so.

Lieut. Minor, who goes to New Orleans on special duty, will deliver

this note, and receive your views upon the subject.

Very respectfully, your obedient servant,

S. R. MALLORY,
Secretary of the Navy.

ISth Question. Read the letter on page 267 of said letter book, ad-

dressed to the President^ and state whether the original of this letter

was sent. Read the letter.

Mr. T. The letter reads as follows:

CONFEDKRATE StATES NaVY DEPARTMENT, ^
Richmond, March 4ih, 1862. y

To THE President—
Sir: In response to the resolution of the House of Representatives,

passed on the 3d instant, " that the President be requested to commu-
nicate to this body, at the earliest practicable moment, what additional

means in money, men, arms and the munitions of war, are in his

judgment, necessary, or may be within the present year, for the public

service, including military operations on land and water," I have the

honor to say that fifty light draft and powerful steam propellers, plated

with five-inch hard iron, armed and equipped for service in our own
waters, four iron or steel-clad single deck, ten gun frigates of about

two thousand tons, and ten clipper propellers with superior marine en-

gines, both classes of ships designed for deep sea cruising, three thou-

sand tons of first-class boiler plate iron, and one thousand tons of rod,

bolt and bar iron, are means which this department could immediately

employ with incalculable advantage to the best interests of the country.

Under the head of arms and munitions of war, this department could

immediately employ with equal advantage two thousand pieces of

heavy ordnance, ranging in calibre from six to eleven inches, and in

weight from six thousand to fourteen thousand pounds, two thousand
tons of cannon powder, one thousand tons of musket powder, for filling

projectiles and pyrotechny, four thousand navy rifles, and four thousand
navy revolvers, and four thousand navy cutlasses, with their equip-

ments and ammunition.
We could use with equal advantage, three thousand instructed sea-

men, and four thonsand ordinary seamen and landsmen, and two
thousand first rate mechanics. The means and munitions of war.

cannot be obtained within the Confederacy, and the extent to which
they may be supplied from abroad, I cannot determine.

If five millions of dollars were immediately placed in Europe, pru-

dent agents might possibly obtain such means to a certain extent.

I am, respectfully, your obedient servant,

S.R. MALLORY,
Secretary of the Navy.

19th Question. Have you any knowledge of any deficiency of

funds in New Orleans to pay liabilities of the navy department on
account of ordnance? If so state it, and state how it arose, •
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Mr. T. In the latter part of October or 1st of November, 1861, com-
plaints came from New Orleans as to the non-payrnent of bills for ord-

nance. The Secretary directed Capt. Minor to send an officer there to

examine into the matter and make a report. Lieut. Minor was sent,

and he ascertained that Capt. Hollins, without the authority or know-
ledge of the department had placed in charge of the ordnance duties of

the station, &c., Lieut. Kennon, and given him general authority to

make contracts and purchase as he pleased. The officer who was sent

there was directed to ascertain the amount of the bills outstanding,

which he did. The bills amounted to some $500,000, which was far

beyond the means available in the department to meet the expenditures

under the head of ordnance.

20ih Question. Explain what course the department took to remedy
it. Produce the letter of Commander Minor, in charge of ordnance, <fcc.,

dated December 12th, 1861, and the letter of the department to Mr.

Conrad, chairman of the Naval Committee. (Page 637, No. 1.)

Mr. T. The letter reads as follows:

Bureau of Ordnance and Hydrography, ">

Richmond, Va., December i2ih, 1862. J

Sir: I have the honor to represent to the department that in conse-

quence of the great and pressing demands for ordnance and ordnance

stores for the defences of Virginia, North Carolina, South Carolina,

Georgia, Louisiana and Alabama, it was found impossible with the

means at the disposal of the department in Richmond and Norfolk, Va.,

to comply promptly with requisitions made upon this bureau from said

States, threatened as they were by the enemy at different points, nnd
more particularly for ordnance &c., required for the naval defences of

the Mississippi.

It therefore became necessary to establish a laboratory in New Or-

leans, for the preparation of fuses, primers, fire-works, &c., and to au-

thorize the casting of heavy cannon, the construction of gun-carriages,

and the manufacture of projectiles, and ordnance equipments ot all

kinds. This has been done at that place upon a large scale, and the

bureau has no means to meet the expenditures that have been made, or

to pay for the construction of the work, our principal expenses having

been for equipping and furnishing river batteries, and making gun-car-

riages, shot, shell, and other articles for shore defences.

The amount of liabilities in New Orleans at this time does not ex-

ceed $500,000 for ordnance purposes, and it is believed that the exigen-

cies of the service will require a further sum of not less than $350,000
to complete what has already been commenced. I would, therefore,

respectfully recommend that an application be made to Congress for a
special appropriation of $850,000 for " ordnance and ordnance stores for

the defence of the Mississippi river;" said appropriation to be in addition

to the sum of $550,000, recently asked for ordnance purposes generally.

1 have the honor to be.

With great respect, sir, your ob't serv't,

GEORGE MINOR, Commander,
For Chief of the Bureau^

Bon. S. R. Mallory, Secretary of the Navy.
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Confederate Statkr Navy Department, )

Richmond, Dae. I2ih, 1861.
J

fio?i. C. M. OoNaAD,
Chairman of the Naval Committee—

Sir: I have the honor to transmit herewith a copy of a letter from
Commander George Minor, the officer in charge of the ordnance of this

department, in relation to expenditures for ordnance, ordnance equip-
ments and stores at New Orleans, together with an estimate of the
amount required to meet them, amounting to $850,000.

Copies of these papers have been submitted to Congress and tha
Secretary of the Treasury.

1 am, respectfully, your obedient servant,

S. R. MALLORY,
Secretary of the Navy.

Mr. TiDBALL. On the 12th of December, the same day on which
this letter is dated, the Secretary sent in an estimate with this amount
to Mr. Conrad. A bill passed, making this appropriation early in Jan-

uary. The Secretary at once drew a requisition upon the treasury de-

partment for $300,000, in favor of the navy agent, to meet these bills,

and directed him to pay ali the bills that were certified by the ordnance
officer and approved by the commanding officer of the station.

215^ Question. Did the department ^ive any order to Capt. Whittle

relative to the removal of the steamer Arkansas from Memphis to Yazoo
City?
Mr. T. I find there is lio such order upon the record. I know

nothing of it.

22c? Question. State, if you can, and produce the orders, whom the

department did order to remove the vessel under construction at Mem-
phis, and to what place.

Mr. T. On the 10th of April, 1862, the department received a tele-

graph from Capt. Hollins, then in command of the forces on the Upper
Mississippi, stating that three iron clad gun boats of the enemy had
passed Island No. 10. The Secretary telegraphed to Capt. Hollins as

follows:
" Yours received—^act according to your best judgment—do not let

the eiiemy get the boats at Memphis."
This was sent to the captain at Fort Pillow.

On the same day the following telegraphic dispatch was sent to Com-
mander McBlair, in command of the Arkansas:
" I have just heard of the enemy having passed Island No. 10—get

your boat to New Orleans and complete her as soon as possible, if she
is in danger at Memphis."
2dd Question. Produce the telegram from Commander McBlaiis

stating that the enemy's vessels had passed the forts, and that he would,
send the Arkansas to Yazoo City.

Mr. T. On the 25th of April we received the following telegrain from
Commander McBlair at Memphis:
"We haVe intelligence from New Orleans that the enemy's force

have passed Fort Jackson and overpowered our boats. We shall leave

this evening for Yazoo City, carrying with us the materials for com-
54 .
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pleting the gun boats, and also carrying the engines of the boat on the

stocks. I will make arrangements for the destruction of the boat on the

stocks when rendered necessary. I have selected Yazoo City as the

safest point, and the one where the work can be most conveniently

carried on."
2ith Question. State the names of the vessels, and the number of

guns they carried under command of Capt. HoUins, at New Orleans,

producing Capt. Hollins' report.

Mr. T. I will read from Capt. Hollins' report of November 12th,

1861. TheMcRae, 8 guns; the General Polk, 5 guns; the Mobile, 4

guns; the Pamlico, 2 guns; the Jackson, 2 guns; the Ivy, 2 guns; rhe

Florida, 4 guns; the Tuscarora, 2 guns; the Tiger, 2 guns. There

were six launches carrying one gun each. These were all the vessels

that were then finished and under his command. The aggregate num-
ber of guns in the vessels enumerated above are 37.

25th Question. State the numbei* of vessels and floating batteries

under construction and alteration at New Orleans in November, 1861

,

producing Capt. Hollins' report showing the same.

Mr. T. I still read from Capt. Hollins' report. The floating battery

New Orleans, 20 guns; the floating battery Memphis, 18 guns; the gun
boat Livingston, when complete, was to carry 6 guns; the gun boat

Grotesque, afterwards called the Mauripas, 6 guns; the Lizzy Simmons,
afterwards called the Ponchartrain, 6 guns. There were two gun boats

being built by Hughes <fc Porter on the Lake, which were afterwards

called the Bienville and Carondolet, each carrying 6 guns; and then he

had two revenue cutters, the Pickens and the Morgan, each with 3
guns—making in the aggregate 76 guns. I will state also that the two
iron clad vessels, afterwards called the Louisiana and the Mississippi,

were under construction, and would have carried 16 guns each.

26/A Question. State the length of time consumed by John Hughes
&. Co. in the construction of the gun boat Livingston, under contract,

and produce their offer to construct the vessel.

Mr. T. Their offer to construct the vessel is dated the 28th of June,

1861, and they offered to construct it in three months for $80,000. They
commenced the construction of the vessel on or about the 18th of July,

and the vessel was delivered to us completed about the 1st of February,

1862, as near as I can get at the date from reports.

27;/i Question. State the length of time consumed by J. Hughes
«fc Co. in the construction of the gun boat Bienville on the Lake, and
produce their offer to construct the vessel ?

Mr. T. The offer was dated on the 14th of September, 1861, which
was accepted by Capt. Hollins, under instructions of the department, for

$76,000, and they agreed to complete the vessel in the same length of

time as the one to be built by acting constructor Porter for the depart-

ment, and to be of the same dimensions. They delivered the vessel

on or about the 5th of April, 1862.
* 28/A Question. State the length of time consumed by acting con-

structor S. D. Porter, under order of the department, in the construc-

tion of the gun boat Carondolet on the Lake.
Mr. T. He commenced the construction of the vessel about the

middle of September, the 14th or 15th, and turned the vessel over on or

{ibout the 16th of March.
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29/A Question. What is the manner of paying tlie liabilities of the

navy department at the several stations ?

Mr. T. Requisitions are made by the disbursing officers upon the

department, stating specifically, what sums are required generally for

one month, under the diflerent heads of appropriations. When these

requisitions are received, usually within twenty-four hours, requisitions

are made upon the treasury department for the funds, and they are sup-

plied by the treasury department to the disbursing office, and he is

charged' with them.
30^^ Question. How long a time elapsed between the receipt of the

paymaster's requisition for money at New Orleans and the call upon
the Treasury to place the funds there ?

Mr. T. They were generally made the same day they were re-

ceived, or the day after, except where some explanation was required in

regard to funds under a particular head. In these cases the payments
were suspended until explanations were made, but the requisitions were
issued for the other funds.

dlst Question. What time usually elapsed from the 1st of Septem-
ber to the 1st of May, 1862, between the call of the Secretary upon the

treasury for money at New Orleans and the placing the money there

in an available form ?

Mr. T. It reached from 20 to 40 days. The assistant treasurer at

New Orleans is supplied with funds and he meets the drafts of the

treasurers there.

32d Question. What has been the uniform practice of the Secretary

with reference to expediting the public works under his direction by
causing work to be done on Sundays and at nights ?

Mr. T. He has given instructions in all cases, when practicable, to

work at nights and on Sundays, in order to hasten the completion of the

work.
33c? Question. What time elapsed after the passage of the secret act,

No. 332, providing "for the purchase and alteration of steamers into

gun boats for the defence of Cumberland and Tennessee rivers," be-

fore the Secretary entered upon the duty of providing these steamers ?

Produce his instructions.

Mr. T. The act was passed, and approved by the President on the

24th of December, 1861 . On the 25th of December Lieut. Isaac N.
Brown, then on duty on the Mississippi river, was instructed to pur-

chase steamers to carry out the objects of the law.

The instructions are filed, and read as follows:

[Copy.]

Confederate States Navy Department^ }

Richmond, Dec. 2§th, 1861, f

Lieutenant Isaac N. Brown, C. <S?. Navy—
Sir: The Hon. R. B. Cheatham, Mayor of Nashville, has brought to

the attention of the department the names of four steamboats now at

that city, which, in his judgment, may be so altered as to make effi-

cient gun boats, in from thirty to fifty days. These boats are, through

him, offered to the government at the following prices, viz :
Hilman,
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$40,000, Jas. Johnson, $35,000, J. Woods, $40,000, and B. M.
Runyan, $25,000.

It is presumed that these are the ordinary river hoats, with the usual

exposure of walking beam and boiler on deck, and that to enable them
to be serviceable at all, the boilers and much of the machinery must be

placed below in the bottom. From their great lengths and vulnerabil-

ity at all points, it is presumed that the best means of fighting their

guns will be fore and aft.

There may be other steamers better calculated for gun boats, and you
will exercise your best judgment in selectmg and recommending the

purchase of such as you may deem, under all aspects of the subject,

best for. the purpose. These four are called to your attention only

because Mr. Cheatham has informed me of them.

In view of the urgent demand for these vessels on the Cumberland
river, you are authorized to conclude the purchase of four boats, and to

proceed forthwith with the necessary alteration and armament, advising

the department of your proceedings by telegraph.

Should the prices asked be, in your judgment, too great, you will

call upon the holders to submit the question of price for arbitration.

Mr. Cheatham proffers his services to you, and his aid may be impor-

tant to you in procuring workmen, ifcc.

If you can effect all the necessary Avork by contract, stipulating the

time and a forfeiture of a given amount per day for every day over the

contract, you would probably save time and money both. Should you
only be able to fit two boats at once, then, perhaps, it would be
well to purchase but the two, as others of a superior character might
be subsequently offered.

The department, upon receiving information of your arrival at Nash-
ville to enteif upon the work, will at once make a requisition in your
favor to place you in funds to go on with this important work, and will

look to your knowledge, zeal and ability for its prompt completion.
You will exercise your discretion with regard to the batteries and the

protection from the shot of the enemy to be adopted, '

I am, respectfully, your obedient servant,

(Signed) S. R. MALLORY,
Secretary of th§ Navy.

3iih Question. What time elapsed after the passage of the appro-
priation for the "construction and equipment of two iron-clad boats for

the defence of the Mississippi river and the city of Memphis," before
the Secretary entered upon the execution of the duty? and what did
he do?

Mr. T. He made the contract, on the very day the law was passed,
with Mr. Shirley, for the construction of these vessels. The plan and
specification for these vessels had been drawn up, anticipating the ap-

propriation, and he was ready to make the corltract the moment the, ap-
propriation was made.

The, Hon. D. M. Cuhjbin was next examined, at the instja^ice of th«,

Secretary of the Navy, on whose beh^f the, following, questioi^, was
put to him:
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Please state the origin of the appropriation made on the 24th of Au-
gust, 1861, for constructing two iron-clad vessels for the defence of the
Mississippi and the city of Memphis; and the connection of the Secre-
tary of the Navy therewith.

Mr. CuRRiN. The bill for the construction of the iron-clad vessels
referred to was introduced by myself. Before the introduction of the
bill I had obtained from the Secretary of the Navy estimates for the
proposed appropriation. I had also introduced and recommended to the
Secretary Capt. J. C. Shirley, who proposed to enter into a contract
with the government for the construction of the vessels.

I am confidently of the opinion that the Secretary and Capt, Shirley
had agreed upon the terms of the contract before the passage of the bill

making the appropraition; and that the contract itself was already pro-

pared; and that nothing remained to be done after the appropriation

should have been made but its formal execution, which took place,

probably, the same day, or the day afterwards.

It may be proper to state that, according to my recollection, the bill

introduced by me, as above stated, was not passed as a separate meas-
ure, but was incorporated, by way of amendment, with other appropri-
ations for the naval service proposed by Mr. Conrad, chairman of the

naval committee in the House of Representatives.

I may be mistaken in stating above, that Capt. Shirley was intro-

duced to the Secretary by myself. He probably had been introduced
before, but, at any rate, he was strongly recommended to his confidence

by myself.

The Committee then adjourned, to meet on Tuesdoy next, the 3d
proximo, at 10 o'clock.

TUESDAY, Mabch 3rd, 1863.

The Committee met at 10 o'clock.

Present—Messrs. Clay, (Chairman,) Semmes, Foote, Maxwell, Du-
.pre, Boyce, Barksdale, Peyton and Phelan.

Mr. John L. Porter having been duly sworn, the following ques-

tions were put to him by the Chair, on behalf of the Secretary of the

Navy

:

1st Question. State your name and position in the navy, and iiow

long you have held this position.

Mr. Porter. My name is John L. Porter; my position is naval con-

structor. I have served in that capacity in the United States Navy and
Confederates States Navy six years.

2d Question. Have you any knowledge of the course pursued by
the Secretary to expedite work under your direction, with reference to

working at night and on Sundays?
Mr. Porter. Yes, sir. The orders of the Secretary were very urgent

with regard to working on Sundays and at nights. We worked fre-

quently all night whenever we could do so to advantage; and we re-

ceived orders almost daily from the department urging the necessity of
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completing the work with all possible dispatch. We did everything
that could be done, in fact, to push it forward, and I might say that the

Secretary required almost impossibilities in the way of executing the

work.
Mr. SEMMES. Please state what work you allude to.

Mr. Porter. We were altering the Merrimac, and were fitting out
a number of gun boats out of steamers that were bought for the North
Carolina service. We were building other iron clad vessels and three

wooden gun boats. Two of the wooden boats are in the James river,

and one we burned at the evacuation of Norfolk. We were doing a
great deal of work for the defences around Norfolk in the way of arms
as a matter of convenience for the batteries, fortifications, <fcc.

Mr. SEMMES. You speak then exclusively of the works at Nor-
folk?

Mr. Porter. Yes, sir.

3d Question. What duties have you been performing under the Sec-

retary's orders ?

Mr. Porter. My duties have been various* 1 had charge of the

operations at the Norfolk navy yard up to the time of the evacuation.

I made all the drawings nearly for the gun boats that were being built

in different places. Since the evacuation, I have been on duty here in

Richmond carrying on the yard at Rocketts. 1 also made a great many
plans for the Secretary of the Navy. I have examined several claims

of persons against the navy department for boats that have been de-

stroyed by the enemy, and have invariably settled them. I have ex-

amined a great many plans submitted by persons for gun boats and
other purposes. I have been frequently sent out by the Secretary of the

Navy to make a general supervision of all works that were in progress

for the department. I have been to Savannah, Charleston, Selma, and
in fact every place that gun boats had been built. I have just returned

the week before last after an absence of five weeks, examining boats that

were built in different places. We have now 23 gun boats in course of

construction in the Confederacy, 20 iron dads, and three wooden boats.

Ath Question. In the performance of youj duties generally, what
has been the course of the Secretary with regard to conducting work
promptly and energetically ?

Mr. P. The Secretary has furnished all possible means and done
everything within his power to push work ahead. He has put us in

possession of everything essential to the work, that it was possible to

obtain. If we held Norfolk 30 days more, we would have the Rich-

mond completed. We were on the eve of sending a large amount of

iron from Richmond, and a large quantity was about being sent from
Atlanta. The Secretary had five or six light draft iron clads being built

outside of the navy yard by persons from Norfolk.

5th Question. Was or was not the Norfolk yard worked up to its

capacity? State the manner of conducting the work there.

Mr. P. The yard was worked up to its fullest capacity. In the

commencement of our operations we did not do much up to the 1st of

July; but after that, the yard was worked up to its fullest capacity.

Everything was properly organized and the officers were constantly on
the spot directing operations and pushing forward the work. The Sec-

retary, in order to stimulate the operations, offered them inducements
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in the way of additional pay or rewards to work after dark and on Sun.
days. In short he offered them every encouragement that was calcula.
ted to excite them to more zeal and energy.

Mr. SEMMES. How long have you been constructor in the Con-
federate service ?

Mr. P. Since June, 1861. I have been on duty since the evacuation
of Norfolk in the manner I have stated. I did not receive the appoint-
ment of naval constructor from the Secretary until last June.
Mr. SEMMES. Were you ever sent out to New Orleans to superin-

tend or carry on the construction of the Mississippi?

Mr. P. No, sir. I made the drawing for the Messrs. Tift of that

vessel. I had nothing more to do with her.

Mr. SEMMES. Within what time did you suppose the vessel could
be constructed when you made the drawing ?

Mr. P. I did not think she could have been completed in less than
nine months, at least. I did not think that a large vessel of her size

could be built in a shorter time.

Mr. DUPRE. . What was the condition of Norfolk at the time of its

evacuation ? Was it in a condition to make a formidable defence ?

Mr. P. We all thought it was. We were very much surprised on
hearing that the place was to be evacuated. The defences were of the
strongest character, and so great was our .co.nfidence in them, that we
had no idea that the city could be taken.

Mr. DUPRE. Were the defences of Norfolk, of which you speak,
under the control of the military or naval authority?

Mr. P. Under the military authority. The navy department had
planned and constructed most of the batteries; but they were turned
over to the military authorities. The guns, carriages, &c., were con-
structed at the navy yard, as well as all the conveniences about the

camps, together with boats, flag-staffs and everything of that sort.

The CHAIR. I will now submit copies of the telegrams received by
the Secretary of the Treasury from Gov. Moore, of Louisiana, with the

Secretary's response thereto.

Treasury Department C. S. A., )

Richmond, February 2d, 1863. 3

Hon. C. C. Clay, Jr., C. S. Senate—
Sir: In reply to your note of the 31st ult., I have to enclose here-

with copies of a telegram received from Gov. Moore, of Louisiana, and
of my telegram in reply. There was no endorsement upon either of
these two telegrams.

Respectfully,

C. G. MEMMINGER,
Secretary of the Treasury.

[Copy.]

New Orleans, 2^th Feb., 186S.

C. G. Memminger:

The navy department here owes nearly a million. Its credit is

stopped—if you wish, I will place two millions of dollars on account of
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the war tax, to the credit of the goveniment, so that the debts can be
paid and the works continued

.

(Signed) T. O. MOORE, Governor.

[Copy.]

Richmond, March \st, 1862.

Governor Moore, New Orleans, La,—
All the navy requisitions on the treasury have been passed, and the

treasury has sufficient means to pay them. Thanks to you for your
offer.

(Signed) C. G. MEMMINGER,
Secretary of the Treasury.

Mr. MAXWELL. 1 move that the respective Chairmen of this

Committee ask each his House for authority to print the testimony
taken before the Committee.
Mr. DUPRE. I move an amendment in the form of a resolution.

Resolved, That the respective chairman of the two Houses report to

them the conclusion of the examination ordered by their joint resolu-

tion, and ask leave to print the evidence taken before them, and to em-
ploy, if necessary, another person than the public printer to do the

work.
The consideration of these resolutions were deferred until estimates

of the cost of printing could be had.

Mr. PHELAN. I move that Mr. Mallory be invited to attend at the

next meeting, for the purpose of being examined.
The motion was agreed to, whereupon, on motion of Mr. Barksdale,

the Committee adjourned until Saturday next, the 7th inst.

SATURDAY, March 7th, 1863.

The Committee met at 10 o'clock.

Present—Messrs. Clay, (Chairman,) Maxwell, Phelan, Peyton,

Semmes, Hoyce, Dnpre, Barksdale and Foote.

The CHAIR. I beg leave to submit the following communication
from the Secretary of the navy:

Confederate States op America,
^

Navy Department, \

Richmond, March 5th, 1863.)

Hon. C. C. Clay, Jr., Chainrum, (^'c.

—

Sir: I have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of the following

resolution delivered to me by the reporter of your Committee:
" Resolved, That the Secretary of the Navy be requested to lay be-

fore this Cornmitlee, all the contracts made by his department with
persons either in this country or abroad, for the building of gun boats,
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iron-clad steamers, or other war vessels, with such explanations as h®
may choose to give touching the same."
Herewith I transmit copies of the contracts made by this department

for the construction of vessels within the Confederate States. The
department has constructed, and commenced the construction of other
vessels under the superintendence of its own officers, for which no
contracts are made.

In view of the consequences to which a discovery would subject
those who, relying on our good faith, have undertaken to aid us by
building and equipping vessels for our navy in countries whose laws
they thus infringe, I respectfully suggest that their contracts with us
should not be submitted without their consent.

However carefully a knowledge of such contracts may be guarded,
accident may at any time disclose it, and I respectfully trust that its

communication in an authentic form, will seem to the Committee, as it

does to me, highly inexpedient.

Apart from the consequences to the contractors to which 1 have
adverted, the disclosure of any information leading to the discovery of
the vessels under construction, we must presume, and I have cause to

believe, would defeat their completion and delivery.

Furthermore, I beg leave to ask the attention of the Committee to

the President's special message sent to the House of Representatives

about the 6th of February, in response to a resolution of the House
calling for copies of these contracts, in which special message, the

President declines to furnish copies of the contracts, and assigns the

reasons therefor.

Anxious, however, to furnish all the information upon this subject

which may be consistent with the views here expressed, I will, if it be
desired, and can be done without publicity, send a gentleman before

them, who has had charge of our foreign contracts, and of the cor-

respondence in relation to them, and who is acquainted with their

results.

Very respectfully, your obedient servant,

S. R. MALLORY,
Secretary of the Navy.

The following are the copies of the contracts referred to in the above
communication :

[Copy.]

Proposal of John Hughes <^ Co.y to build Gun boat, June 2Sth, 1861'

To Commander L. Rousseau, C ^S". N.—
Sir: The undersigned having the frame of a vessel now on the

stocks which was intended for a steamer of the following dimensions,
viz: One hundred and eighty feet on deck, forty-two feet beam, nine

and a half feet depth of hold. Her frame is of red cypress, yellow
pine, and white oak roots on her knuckle, stern posts, transoms, and
dead woods of white oak, extra heavy in her frame, with about eight

inch spaces between them.
She is now in a form that can be well adapted ior a steam gun boat

of extreme light draft of water, from her great breath of beam and
model, much better than any vessel that is now complete or afloat in

our waters.

55
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The additions required in order to give her solidity from shot, is to

fill in between the frames from the Icnuckle up all round on both sides

perfectly solid, and where the, engines and boilers would be placed in

theJiold, the same thing to he done.

The bends or planking oarside to be six inches in thickness. The
bilge planking four inches, aiid the bottom three and a half inches

thick, all to be well fastened with iron bolts and spikes.

The beams of yellow pine, sided from twelve to sixteen inches, and
moulded 10 inches, placed two feet apart.

The main deck of the same material three inches thick, A light

upper deck to extend sufficiently to cover the machinery amidships, as

the shaft would be amidships, and the boilers would be placed abaft

the shaft in the centre of the hull

.

The rail and stanchions, with bulwarks to extend from the main deck

stanchions, around on each end.

A berth deck put in below on each end for the men, say fifty feet in

length, leavingeighty feet for engines, boilers, coal bunkers. Water, and
provisions could be stored under the berth deck. The magazines and
shell rooms could be placed in the extremes.

Allowing the space for the wheel houses and engines when they

would pass through the main deck, say forty feet, she would then have
a clear deck of forty feet in width, and seventy feet in length on each

end, sufficient for one pivot and four shell guns on each end, making
a battery of ten guns in all.

We would propose putting the thickness of the sides on the inside

of the hull, owing to her great breadth of beam.
The deck clamps to be eighteen inches, in two thicknesses, bolted

through, and to extend below the water line, of the same thickness,

and finished to the bilge nine inches, and four inches on the floor.

She will require one heavy main keelson, and one floor keelson on
each side, ten feet from the centre one, and a corresponding string piece

under the beams, and a double diagonal bulkhead of three-inch plank

fastened through and caulked, the same to run fore and aft.

A cross bulkhead forward and aft of engines. The hull is con-

structed so that she can have a rudder on each end, and so that she

can move either way without the necessity of turning round.

The end of the beams to be dove-tailed into the edge of the clamps,

which would dispense with the necessity of knees, and would be all

that is required for strength.

We will fit the hull as above stated, complete in carpenters and
joiners work, without the boilers, machinery and armaments, for the

sum of forty-two thousand dollars, (<}i?42,000.)

(Signed) ' JOHN HUGHES & CO.

If you should deem it necessary to substitute a shell deck of fifteen

inches in thickness over that portion of the light deck that covers the

machinery and boilers, we would put one on for the sum of thirteen

thousand dollars in addition to the above.
We will agree to complete the hull in the space of three months

from commencement.
(Signed) J. H. & CO.

Algiers, June 28thj 1861.
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The undersigned would agree to put two higli-pressure engines and
boilers in the hold with all appurtenances complete, allowing ten days
in addition to the above time for machinery, for the sum of twenty-five

thousand dollars.

(Signed) JOHN HUGHES & CO.

[Plag-Oificer Rousseau was authorized to aacept this proposal,]

[Copy.]

Contract of John T. Shirley with Navy Department, Aug. 24:th, 1861.

This contract made and entered into at the city of Richmond, in th^

State of Virginia, on this 24th day of August, in the year one thousand
eight hundred and sixty-one, between John T. Shirlej, of the city of

Memphis, in the State of Tennessee, and Stephen R. Mallory, Secre-

tary of the Navy, of the Confederate States of America,, for, and in

behalf of the Government of the Confederate States

—

Witnesseth:

That the said John T. Shirley, hereby undertakes and agrees, for,

and in consideration of the sums of money to be paid by the Govern-
ment of the Confederate States, as hereinafter set forth, to construct

and deliver to the Secretary of the Navy, ofthe Confederate States, or to

his agents, on or before the twenty-fourth day of December, 1861, two
vessels of the character and description provided in the plans and spe-

cifications hereto annexed, and which are made part and parcel of this

contract.

And the said Stephen R. Mallory, Secretary of the Navy, of the

Confederate States, in consideration of the stipulations of the said John
T. Shirley, undertakes and agrees for, and on behalf of the Govern-
ment of the Confederate States, to cause to be made to the said John
T. Shirley, his authorized agents or assignees, theseveral payments of.

money for; and on account of said vessels as follows, to wit:

One-fith of seventy-six thousand nine hundred and twenty dollars,

(76,920,) the sum agreed to be paid for each vessel, that is fifteen

thousand three hundred and eighty-four dollars ($15,384) for each,

when the frame of each vessel is up and complete.

One-fifth, or fifteen thousand three hundred and eighty-four dollars^

(15,384) for each, when each vessel is planked and decked complete; one-

fifth, or fifteen thousand three hundred and eighty-four dollars (15,384)
for each, when the engines and boilers are half complete.

One-fifth, or fifteen thousand three hundred and eighty-four dollars

(15,384) for each, when the engines and boilers are fully complete, and
the iron on the hull; and one-fifth, or fifteen thousand three hundred
and eighty-four dollars (15,384) for each, when each vessel is completed
and delivered.

The foregoing payments to be made in one-third of bonds of the

Confederate States, and two-thirds in treasury notes.

And it is further understood and agreed, that if the said John T*:

Shirley, shallM to complete and deliver the said vessels, on the said
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twenty-fourth day of December, 1861, he shall suffer as a forfeit, the

sum of thirty-eight dollars and forty-six cents, which is one-twentieth

of one per centum, upon t le price agreed to be paid for each vessel, for

everyday after the said twenty-fourth day of December, 1861, until

such completion and delivery shall be made, and that if the said 'John

T. Shirley, shall complete and deliver said vessels, before the said

twenty-fourth day of December, 1861, then he is to receive a premium
of thirty-eight dollars and forty-six cents per day, for each vessel so

delivered, for every day between the delivery, and the said twenty-

fourth day of December, 1861.

It is further agreed, that any slight difference in materials on the

interior arrangements of said vessels, that the contractor may suggest,

by reason of lack of specified material, or for the more convenient

arrangement of machinery, or for the purpose of hastening the comple-

tion of said vessels, may be adopted by the consent of the officers

superintending their construction.

Witness our hands and seals the date above written.

JOHN T. SHIRLEY, [Seal.]

S. R. MALLORY, Sec. of the Navy, [Seal.]

Signed, sealed and delivered in the presence of

E. M. TiDBALL.
W. P. Milliard.

[Copy.]

Proposal Qf John Hughes^ Co. to build Gun Boats, Sept. 14^^,1861.

New Orleans, September Mth, 1862.

To Com, Hollins, O. S. Navy—
Tho undersigned agree to build a gun boat for the Confederate

States service for the lake, complete of all ship-carpenters' joiners' and
blacksmith work, together with the spars.

Also furnish and put up, complete, two good second hand high pres-

sure engines, with boilers.

The hull to be built entirely of yellow pine, with the exception of

keel, stem, stern-post, and deadwoods and kunckle timbers, which will

be of white oak and oak roots.

The above we agree to do for the sum of seventy-six thousand dol-

lars, according to the specification of Mr. S. Porter, and to have her

completed in the same length of time as the one to be built by him (S.

Porter) by the day, of the same dimensions.
Payments to be made in treasury notes as follows:

$10,000 to be paid on signing contract, say September 14th, 1861.

$10,000
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and the balanca of sixteen thousand dollars to be paid on completion of
the contract.

(Signed) JOHN HUGHES & CO.
Accept:

Geo. N. HoLLiNS, ComH.

[Flag OJicer Hollins Jtas authorized to accept the proposalJ]

[Copy.]

Contract of E. C Murray ivitk Navy Department, Sept, 18th, 1861.

This contract, made and entered into at the city of Richmond, in the
State of Virginia, on this eighteenth day of September, in the year
one thousand eight hundred and sixty-one, between E. C. Murray,
of Paducah, State of Kentucky, and Stephen R. Mallory, Secretary

of the Navy of the Confederate States of America, for and in behalf
of the Government of the Confederate States

—

Witnesseth:

That the said E. C. Murray hereby undertakes and agrees for, and
in consideration of the sums of money to be paid by the Government
of the Confederate States, as hereinafter set forth, to construct and de-
liver to the Secretary of the Navy of the Confederate States, or to his
agent at the city of New Orleans, on or before the 25th day of January,
1862, one steam gun boat of the character and description provided in
the plans and specifications hereto annexed, and which are made part
and parcel of this contract.

And the said Stephen R. Mallory, Secretary of the Navy of the Con-
federate States, in consideration of the stipulations of the said E. C.
Murray, undertakes and agrees, for and in behalf of the Government of
the Confederate States, to cause to be made to the said E. C. Murray,
his authorized agents or assignees, the several payments of money, for

and on account of said gun boat, as follows : one-eighth of one hun-
dred and ninety-six thousand dollars, ($196,000,) the sum agreed to be
paid for the gun boat—that is to say, twenty-four thousand and five

hundred dollars when one-sixth part of the work on the vessel shall be
completed, and the same amount, twenty-four thousand and five hun-
dred dollars when each succeeding one-sixth of the work shall be com-
pleted, until the vessel shall be fully completed and ready to receive her
battery, when the remaining two-eights, or forty-nine thousand dollars
will be paid.

The foregoing payments to be made in one-third of the bonds of th«
Confederate States, and two-thirds in treasury notes.

And it is further agreed, that if the said E. C. Murray shall fail to

complete the said gun boat by the said 25th day of January, 1862, he
shall -suffer as a forfeit the sum of ninety-eight dollars ($98 00) for

each and every day after the said 25th day ofJanuary, 1862, until such
completion and delivery shall be made, and if the said E. C. Murray
shall comjdete and deliver the said gun boat before the said 25th day
of January, 1862, then he is to receive as a premium ninety'^ightidpl-

«
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lars ($98 00) for each day, between the delivery and the said 25th day
of January, 1862.

It is further agreed that any slight difference in materials, or in the
interior arrangements of said gun boat that the contractor may suggest
by reason of lack of material, or for the more convenient arrangement
of machinery, or for the purpose of hastening the completion of said
gun boat, may be adopted with the consent of the officer superintend-
ing the construction.

Any unavoidable detention, such as might arise out of supplies of
material being cut off by opposing forces, or detention in getting iron,

arising from the channel of communication being closed, would be
good cause why the stipulated forfeit should not be exacted in the con-
tract.

And furthermore, as the estimate for iron-plating the vessel was made
at the rate of three cents per pound, or sixty ($60 00) dollars per ton,
for the cost of the iron, should it exceed the amount, the government
will allow to the contractor the difference in the cost of the iron.

Witness, our hands and seals, the day and date herein before written.

E. C. MURRAY, {Seal.]

S. R. MALLORY, Sec. of ISavy, [«'ea^.]

{Signed, sealed and delivered in presence of
E. M. TiDBALL,
Z. P. Moses.

[Copy.]

Contract of George Mooney with Navy Departmeiity October 3d, 1861.

Articles of agreement, made and entered into this third day of October,

in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and sixty-one,

between the Government of the Confedeiate States of America and
George Mooney, of the city of Jacksonville, State of Florida, in man-
ner and form following, to wit:

The said George Mooney, for the consideration hereinafter men-
tioned, doth for himself, his executors and administrators, covenant,

promise and agree to and with the said Confederate States of America that

the said George Mooney, or his assigns, shall and will, within the space

of one hundred and fifteen days next after he shall have received no-

tice of the execution of the contract by said government, in good
and workmanlike manner, according to the terms and specifications and
drawings herewith appended and prepared by the Navy Department of

said Confederate States of America, well and substantially build, con-

struct and complete in a workmanlike manner, a ^^gun boat" of one
hundred and fifty feet in length, with twenty-five feet beam, and ten

feet hold, with two engines and propellers, with nine hundred feet fire

and Hue surface, in all respects according to said specifications hereto

annexed, and have the same ready for delivery at the port of Jackson-

ville at the time herein specified, and that the same shall be built and
constructed at the port aforesaid ; in consideration whereof, the said

Confederate States of America doth covenant and promise to and with
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the said George Mooney, his executors, and administrators and assigns,

well and truly to pay, or cause to be paid, unto the said George Mooney,
his executors, administrators an<i assigns, the sum of fifty-nine thous-
and dollars,($59,000) in manner following , to wit: in six instalments, that
is to say, when one-sixth part of the work and materials is done and
provided, a payment shall be made of eighty per cent, of,the cost of the
material and work done, and soon until the whole is completed and de-
livered, when full payment shall be made flir the same.
And it is further agreed by and between the parties hereto, that the

work arid materials shall be subject to the approval and inspection of a
competent officer, designated by the government, who shall have the
supervision of the woric as the same progresses.

In witness whereof the said parties have hereto set their hands and
seals, interchangeably, the day and year first above written.

GEORGE MOONEY, [SeciL]

S. R. MALLORY, Sec. of the Navy, [Seal.]

In behalf of the Government of the Confederate States.

Signed, sealed and delivered in presence of

J. P. Sanderson,
Eben. Farrand.

*

.

Witness as to S. R. Mallory:

Z. P. Moses,
E. M. TideALL.

I guarantee the performance of the above contract.

J, P.SANDERSON.

[Copy.]

Contract of Nlijers <^* Co. with Navy Department, October 5th, 1861.

We propose to build a steam gun boat conforming to the annexed
specifications and the plan submitted by the Navy Department of the
Confederate States on the terms herein named, to wit:

For the sum of sixteen thousand dollars.

Two thousand five hundred dollars when the keel is laid.

Two thousand five hundred dollars when the vessel is framed and
ready for planking.

Two thousand five hundred dollars when the vessel is planked.
Two thousand five hundred dollars when the decks are lain.

Six thousand dollars when the vessel is completed.

Should the vessel be destroyed by the act of the enemy, whether the

act is committed directly by the said enemy, or should result from fire

being communicated to adjacent property, the department to pay the

amount of actual damage sustained by us

.

The vessel to be completed by the first day of March, 1862.
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We also propose to build another vessel on the same terms, to be
completed on the first of May, 1862, on the same conditions as the first

proposal.

(Signed) MYERS & CO.
(Signed) A. SINCLAIR, C. <S. Navy,

On the part of the government.

Washington, N. C, Oct., 1S61.

[Copy.]

Contract of Ritch S^ Farroiv with Navy Department, Oc/ 12^/i, 1861.

We, the undersigned, Ulysses H. Ritch and Jos. A. Farrow, propose
and hei;eby agree to build a gun boat for the Confederate Government,
agreeable to the plans and specifications presented, for and in considera-
tion of the sum of thirteen thousand two hundred dollars.

Payments to be made as follows, viz:

Two thousand dollars when keel, stem and stern-post are raised; two
thousand dollars when in frames; one thousand dollars when ceiled

out; one thousand dollars when her main deck is laid; two thousand
dollars when planked up; two thousand when dressed off and caulked,
and the remainder when finished.

We further agree to complete said vessel on or before the 15th of May,
one thousand eight hundred and sixty-two (1862).

(Signed) ULYSSES H. RITCH.
(Signed) JOS. A. FARROW.

By U. H. RITCH.
(Signed) A. SINCLAIR,

On the part of the government.

To Capt. Sinclair, C. S. N. -1^

October \2th,l'S&l.

[Copy.]

Contract of David S. Johnston with Navy Department, Oct. 19, 1861.

Articles of agreement, made and entered into this the nineteenth day of

October, in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and

sixty-one, between the Government of the Confederate States of

America and David S. Johnston, of SafFord, county of Early, State

of Georgia, in manner and form following, to wit:

The said David S. Johnston, for the consideration hereinafter men-

tioned, both for himself, his executors, and administrators, covenant,

promise and agree, to and with the said Confederate States of America,

that he the said David S. Johnston, or his assigns, shall and will within

the space ofone hundred and twenty days next, after he shall have received

notice of the execution of this contract by said government in good and

workman-like manner, according to the terms and specifications and
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drawings herewith appended, and prepared by the navy department of
the said Confederate States of America, well and substantially build,
construct and complete, in a workman-like manner, a gun boat of one
hundred and thirty feet in length, with thirty feet beam, and ten feet

depth of hold, with two engines and propellers, with eight hundred feet

of fire surface, in all respects according to said specifications hereto an-
nexed, and the same ready for delivery at or near SatFord, Early county,
Georgia, at the time herein specified, and the same shall be built at or

near the place aforesaid upon the Chattahoochee riverj in consideration
whereof the said Confederate States of America doth covenant and
promise, to and with the said David S. Johnston, his executors and ad-
ministrators, well and truly to pay, or cause to be paid unto the said
David S. Johnston, his executors, administrators, and assigns, the sum
of forty-seven thousand and five hundred dollars, ($47,500) in manner
following, to wit: in six instalments, that is to say, when one-sixth
part of the work and materials is done and provided, a payment shall be
made of eighty per cent, of the material and work done, and so on until

the whole is completed and delivered, when full payment shall be made
for the same.
And it is further agreed by and between the parties hereto, that the

work and materials shall be subject to the inspection and approval of a
competent ofiicer, to be designated by the government, who shall have
the supervision of the work as the same progresses.

In witness whereof the said parties have hereto set their hands and
seals interchangeably the day and year first above written.

DAVID S. JOHNSTON,
AUGUSTUS McLaughlin,

IJeuts. C. S, Navy,
Witness:

J. H. Warner, Chief Engineer C. S. Ndvi/.

Approved:
S. R, Mallory, Secretary of the Navy.

[Copy.]

Contract of Frederick G. Howard with Navy Department, October
29^/i, 1861.

Articles of agreement, made and entered into this twenty-ninth day of
October, in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and
sixty-one, between the Government of the Confederate States of
America, and Frederick G. Howard, of Santa Rosa county, State of
Florida, in manner and form following, to wit:

The said Howard for the consideration hereinafter mentioned, doth
for himself, his executors, and administrators, covenant, promise, and
agree to and wi^h the said Confederate States of America, that he the
said Howard, or his assigns, shall and will within the space of one
hundred and twenty days next, after he shall have received due notice
of the execution of this contract by said government, in good and
workman-like manner, according to the terms and specifications and

56
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drawings herewith appended and prepared by the navy department of

said Confederate States of America, well and substantially build and
construct, and complete, in a workman-like manner a gun boat, of one
hundred and fifty feet in length, with twenty-five feet beam, and ten

feet hold, with two engines and propellers, with nine hundred feet of

fire and flue surface, in all respects according to said specifications hereto

annexed, and have the same ready for delivery at the port of Pensacola,

at the time herein specified, and that the same shall be built and con-

structed on the waters of said port. In consideration whereof the said

Confederate States of America, doth covenant and promise to and with

the said F. G. Howard, his executors, administrators and assigns, well

and truly to pay, or cause to be paid unto the said Howard, his executors,

administrators or assigns, the sum of fifty-seven thousand five hundred
dollars, in manner following, viz: in six instalments, that is to say,

when one-sixth part of the work and materials is done and provided, a
payment shall be made of eighty per cent, of the contract cost of the

materials and work done, and so on until the whole is completed and
delivered, when full payment shall be made for the same.
And it is further agreed by and between the parties hereto, that the

work and materials shall be subject to the approval and inspection of a

competent officer, to be designated by the government, who shall have
the supervision of the work as the same progresses.

In witness whereof the said parties Iiave hereto set their hands and
seals, interchangeably the day and year first above written.

FREDERICK G. HOWARD, [Seal.]

S. R. MALLORY, Sec. of Navy, [Seal]

Signed, sealed, and delivered in presence of

A. E. Maxwell,
Eben. Parrand,
E. M. TiDBALL,
Z. P. Moses,

As to S. R. Mallory.

[Copy.]

Contract of H. P. Willink, Jr.^ ivith Navy Department, November 2d,
1861.

This contract made between H. F. Willink, Jr., of the city of Savan-
nah of the first part, and Stephen R. Mallory, Secretary of the Navy
of the Confederate Stetes of America for and in behalf of the govern-

ment of the Confederate States of the second part

—

Witnessoth:

That the party of the first part undertakes and agrees, for and in con-

sideration of the sum of money to be paid by the party of the second
part as hereinafter set forth, to construct and deliver to the party of the

second part, at the city of Savannah, on or before the 20th day of Feb-
mary, 1862, the hulls of two gun boats, of the character and descrip-

tion provided in the plans and specifications, together with the rigging,
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spars, sails iand outfits as therein named, and which are made part and
parcel of this contract.

And in consideration thereof the said party of the second part, un-
dertakes and agrees to pay to the party of the first part, his authorized
agents or assigns, thirty-six thousand dollars for each of said vessels,

(f36,000,) in the following manner, to wit: the sum of six thousand
dollars, to be paid on account of either vessel, when the stern, stern

post, and keel of either vessel shall be laid, six thousand dollars when
the frahie of either is up, and complete, six thousand dollars when either

is planked complete, six thousand dollars when the deck of either is

framed complete, six thousand dollars when the deck of either is laid,

and planned off complete, and the remainder, six thousand dollars,

when either vessel shall be completed in every respect, according to the
specifications herein referred to and delivered. The aggregate sum to

be paid for each vessel, when delivered complete, to be thirty-six thoU;
sand dollars.

Witness our hands and seals this 2d day of November, in the year
1861.

*Mt H. F. WILLINK,Jr., [Seal.]

S. R. MALLOKY, Secretary of the Navy, [Seal.]

Signed, sealed, and delivered in presence of
J. N. Cunningham,
J. M. KiNCHLEY.

E. M. TideALL,
Z, P. Moses,

As to S. R. Mallory.

[Copy.]

Conti'act of Ollinger Sr Bruce with Navy Department, November Ath,

1861.

Articles of agreement, made and entered into this fourth day of Novem-
ber, in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and sixty-

one, between the Government of the Confederate States of America,

and William Ollinger and Martin F. Bruce, of Santa Rosa county,

State of Florida, (known as the firm of OUinger <& Bruce,) in man-
ner and form follow;ing, to wit:

The said Ollinger & Bruce, for the consideration hereinafter men-
tioned, doth for themselves, their executors and administrators, cove-

nant, promise, and agree to and with the said Confederate States of

America, that they the said Ollinger & Bruce, or their assigns shall,

within the space of eighty-five days next after this date, in good and
workman-like manner, according to the terms and specifications, and
drawings herewith appended, and prepared by the navy department of

the Confederate States of America, well and substantially build, con-

struct, and complete, in a workman-Uke manner, a gua boat of one
hundred and ten feet in length, with about eighteen feet beam, and ten

feet hold; in all respects according to said ispecifications hereto annexed,
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herein specified, and that the same shall be built and constructed at the

port aforesaid; in consideration whereof the said Confederate States of

America doth covenant and promise to and with the said Ollinger &,

Bruce, their executors, administrators and assigns, the sum of fifteen

thousand eight hundred and fifty dollars, in manner following, to wit:

in six instalments^, that is to say, when one-sixth part of the work and
materials is done and provided, a payment shall be made of eighty per

cent, of the cost of the material and work done, and so on until the

work is completed and delivered, when full payment shall be made for

the same.
And it is further agreed by and between the parties hereto, that the

work and materials shall be subject to the approval and inspection of a

competent officer, to be designated by the government, who shall have
the supervision of the work as the same progresses.

In virtue whereof the said parties have hereto set their hands and
seals interchangeably the day and year first above written.

WILLIAM OLLINGER, [ScaU
M. F. BRUCE, [Seal.]

S. R. MALLORY, Secretary of the Navy, \Sealf\

Signed, sealed, and delivered in presence of

Eben. Farrand,
Charles J. Barkley.

We guarantee the performance of the foregoing contract.

E. E. SIMPSON,
R. L. BUSHNELL.

Witness as to S. R. Mallory:
E. M. Tidball,
Theo. S. Garnett, Jr.

[Copy.]

Contract of Gilbert Elliott, Agent, with\ Navy Department, January
I3th, 1862.

This contract made and entered into this thirteenth day of January, in
the year one thousand eight hundred and sixty-two, between Gilbert
Elliott, agent for J. G. Martin, of the town of Elizabeth City, and
State of North Carolina, of the first part, and S. R. Mallory, Secre-
tary of the Navy of the Confederate States of America, for and in
behalf of the Government of the Confederate States, of the second
part

—

Witnesseth:

That the said party of the first part undertakes, and agrees for and in
consideration of the sums of money to be paid by the said party of the
second part, in the manner hereinafter set forth, to construct and deliver
to the said party of the second part, or to the authorized agent of the

navy department, at the town of Elizabeth City, the hulls of three gun
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boats, of the character and description provided in the plans and speci-

fications hereto annexed, together with the outfits therein named, and
which are made part and parcel of this contract. The boats to be de-

livered within four months from the sixth day of January, 1862.

And the said party of the second part undertakes, and agrees for and
in consideration of the stipulations of the said party of the first part, to

pay or cause to be paid to the party of the first part, his authorized

agents or assigns, the sum of ten thousand dollars for each gun boat,

in the manner and form following, that is to say: when one-sixth part

of the work upon each vessel shall be completed, one-eighth of the

sum agreed upon for each vessel will be paid, and so on until the vessel

shall be completed and delivered, when the remaining two-eighths will

be paid.

Witness our hands and seals the day and date first herein written.

GILBERT ELLIOTT, Agent, J. G. Martin, [Seal.]

S. R. MALLORY, Secretary of the Navy, [Seal]

Signed, sealed, and delivered in presence of

Jos. E. Perebee,
Wm. E. Mann,

E. M. TideALL,
Theo. S. Garnett,

As to S. R. Mallory.

[Copy.]

Contract with Wm. A. Graves, with Navy Department, Nov. 28fh, 1861.

This contract made, and. entered into, this twenty-eighth day of No-
vember, in the year 1861, between Wm. A. Graves, of the city of
Norfolk, Virginia, and S. R. Mallory. Secretary of the Navy, of the

Confederate States of America, for, and in behalf of the Confederate

States

—

Witnesseth:

' That the said party of the first part, undertakes and agrees, for, and
in consideration of the sums of money to be paid by the said party of
the second part, as hereinafter set forth, to construct and deliver to the
party of the second part, at the city of Norfolk, at some point conve-
nient ta put in the engines and boilers, on or before the 20th day of
February, 1862, the hull of one gun boat, of the character and descrip-

tion provided in the plans and specifications annexed, together with the

outfits therein named, and which are made part and parcel of this con-
tract, and after the model deposited by the party of the first part, in the
navy department.
And in consideration thereof, the said party of the second part, un-

dertakes and agrees to pay to the party of the first part, his authorized
agents or assignees, the sum of nine thousand nine hundred and
eighty-six dollars, (9,986,) for the said vessel, in the following manner,
to-wit: Two thousand four hundred and ninety-six dollars and fifty

cents, (2,496 50,) when the keel, stem and stern post are laid, two
thousand four hundred and ninety-six dollars and fifty centS;
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($2,496 50,) when the frame is up and complete, two thousand four
hundred and ninety-six dollars and fifty cents, ($2,496 50,) when the
frame is planked complete, and two thousand four hundred and ninety-
six dollars and fifty cents, (2,496 50,) when the vessel is fully com-
plete and delivered.

Witness our hands and seals the day and date first herein written.

W. A. GRAVES, [Seal.]

S. R. MALLORY, Sec. of the Navy, [Seal.]

F. D. WiLBURN.
E.M. TlDBALL.

[Copy.]

Contract of N. Nash with Navy Department , February 7th, 1862.

Navy Department, C. S.

This contract, made and entered into this seventh day of February, in

the year one thousand eight hundred and sixty-two , between Na-
thaniel Nash, of the city of Norfolk, and State of Virginia, of the

first part, and Stephen R. Mallory, Secretary of the Navy, of the

Confederate States of America, for, and in behalf of the Government
of the Confederate States of the second part

—

Witnesseth

:

That the said party of the first part, hereby undertakes and agrees?

for, and in consideration of the sums of money to be paid by the said

party of the second part, in the manner hereinafter set forth, to con-

struct and deliver to the said party of the second part, or to the author-

ized agent of the navy department, at the city of Norfolk, Virginia,

the hulls of two gun boats of the character and description provided

in the plans and specifications hereto annexed, together with the outfits

therein named, and which are made part and parcel of this contract.

The boats to be delivered as follows: One on or before the first day of

April next, and the other, on or be<fore the first day of May next.

And the said party of the second part, undertakes and agrees, for,

and m consideration of the stipulations of the said party of the first

part, to pay, or cause to be paid to the said party of the first part, his

authorized agents or assigns, the sum of twelve thousand dollars for

each gun boat in the manner and form following: that is to say,

when one-sixth part of the work upon each vessel shall be completed,

one-eighth of the sum agreed upon for each vessel will be paid, and so

on until each vessel shall be completed and delivered, when the re-

maining two-eighths will be paid. The payments to be made one-half

in bonds of the Confederate States, and one-half in treasury notes.

Witness our hands and seals, the day and date first herein written.

(Sighed) N. NASH, [Seal.]

(Signed) S. R. MALLORY, Sec. of the Navy^ [Seal]

Signed, sealed and delivered in presence of

E. M. TiDBALL.
C N. ^ENNELL.
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[Copy.]

Contract of N. Nash,idth Navy Department, February Wi, 1862.

This contract made, and entered into this ninth of February, 1862,
between Nathaniel Nash, of the city of Norfolk, State of Virginia,
of the first part, and S. R. Mallory, Secretary of the Navy, of the
Confederate States of America, for, and in behalf of the Govern-
ment of the Confederate States, of the second part

—

Witnesseth: *

That the said party of the first part, hereby undertakes and agrees,
for, and in consideration of the sums of money to be paid by the said,

party of the second part, in the manner hereinafter set forth, to con-
struct and deliver to the said party of the second part, or to the author-
ized agent of the navy department, at the city of Norfolk, Virginia, the
hulls of two gun boats, of the character and description provided in
the plans and specifications hereto annexed, together with the outfits

therein named, and which are made parts and parcel of this contract.
The boats to be delivered, as follows: One, on or before the first day

of April next, and the other, on or before the first day of May next,
and the said party of the second part, undertakes and agrees, for, and
in consideration of the stipulations of the said party of the first part, to

pay, or cause to be paid, to the said party of the first part, his authorized
agent or assigns, the sum of twelve thousand dollars tor each gun boat,
in the manner and form following: that is to say, when one-sixth part
of the work upon each vessel shall be completed, one-eighth of the
sum agreed upon for each vessel, will be paid, and so on until each
vessel shall be completed and delivered, when the remaining two-
eighths will be paid. The payments to be made, one-half in bonds of
the Confederate States, and one-half in treasury notes.

Witness our hands and seals the day and date fist herein written.
N.NASH, - ISeaU
S. R. MALLORY, Sec. of the Navy, [Seal]

Signed , sealed and delivered in presence of
E. M. TiDBALL.
C. N. Fennell.

[Copy.]

Contract of Krenson &c Hawkeswith Navy Department, March 4, 1862.

This contract made, and entered into this fourth day of March, in the
year one thousand eight hundred, and sixty-two, between Messrs.
Kienson <fc Hawkes, of the city of Savannah, and State of Georgia

j

of the first part, and Stephen R. Mallorj, Secretary of the Navy, of
the Confederate States of America, for, and in behalf of the Govern-
ment of the Confederate States, of the second part

Witnesseth:

That the said party of the first part, hereby undertakes and agrees,
for, and in consideration of the sums of money by the said party of the
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second part, in the manner hereinafter set forth, to construct and deliver

to the said party of the second part, or to the authorized agent of the

navy department, at the city of Savannah, Georgia, the hulls of three

gun boats, of the character and description provided in the plans and
specifications hereto annexed, together with the outfits therein named,
and which are made part and parcel of this contract. The boats to be
delivered as follows: One, on or before the thirtieth day of May next;

one, on or before the thirtieth day of July next; and the other, on
or before the thirtieth day of Septemhur next.

And the said party of the second part, undertakes and agrees, for,

and in consideration of the stipulation of the said party of the first part,

to pay, or cause to be paid, to said party of the first part, their author-

ized agents or assigns, the sum of sixteen thousand dollars for each gun
boat, in manner and form following, to wit: that is to say, when one-

sixth part of the work upon each vessel shall be completed, one-eighth

of the sum agreed upon for each vessel will be paid, and so on until

each vessel shall be completed and delivered, when the remaining two-

eighths will be paid. The payments to be made, one-half in bonds of

the Confederate States, and one-half in treasury notes, and upon the

certificates of the person designated by the ofiicer in command of the

naval station at Savannah, to inspect the vessels.

Witness our hands and seals the day and date first herein written.

(Signed) S. R. MALLORY, [Seal.]

(Signed) KRENSON & HAWKES. [Seal.-]

Signed, sealed and delivered in presence of

Edward M. Tidball.
Z. P. Moses.

As to S. R. Mallory.

C. Lucian Jones.

As to Krenson & Hawkes.

[Copy.]

Contract of F. M. Jones with Navy Department, March 5th, 1862.

This contract made, and entered into this fifth day of March, 1862,

between F M. Jones, of the city of Charleston, State of South

Carolina, of the first part, and S. R. Mallory, Secretary of the Navy,

of the Confederate States of America, for, and in behalf of the Gov-

ment of the Confederate States, of the second part—

Witnessetli

:

That the said party of the first part, hereby undertakes and agrees,

for and in consi<leration of the sums of money to be paid by the said

party of the second part, in the manner hereinafter set forth, to con-

struct and deliver to the said party of the second part, or to the author-

ized at'cnt of the navy department, at the city of Charleston, South

Carolina, the hulls of three gun boats, of the character and description

provided in the plans and specifications hereto annexed, together with

the outfits therein named, and which are made parts and parcel of this

contract The boats to be delivered as follows: One, in ninety days,
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one in one hundred and fifty days, and the other in two hundred
days from the date of this contract.

And the said party of the second part, undertakes and agrees, lor, and
in consideration of the stipulations of the said party of the first part, to

pay, or cause to be paid, to the said party of the first part, his author-
ized agents or assigns, the sum of fourteen thousand dollars for each
gun boat, in the manner and form following: that is to say, when one-
sixth part of the work upon each vessel shall be completed, one-eighth
of the sum agreed upon for each vessel will be paid, and so on until

each vessel be completed and delivered, when the remaining two-eighths
will be paid. The payments to be made, one-half in bonds of the
Confederate States, and one half in Treasury notes, and upon the cer-

tificate of the person designated by the department, to inspect and re-

port upon the vessel.

Witness our hands and seals the day and date first herein written.

S. R. MALLORY, [SeaU
F.M.JONES, [Seal.]

Signed, sealed and delivered in presence of

E. M. Tide ALL.

Z. P. Moses.
As to S. R. Mallory.

F. G. Ravenal.
D. Ingraham.

As to F. M. Jones.

Note.—Anchors and chains to be supplied by the government.

[Copy.]

Contract of John Hughes 6^' Co., with Navy Department, March 1th,

1862.

This agreement entered into on this 7th day of March, 1862, by and
between John Hughes of the city of New Orleans, for himself, and

for and in behalf of John Hughes & Co., ship-builders, of the city

of New Orleans, State of Louisiana, of the first part, and Stephen

R. Mallory, Secretary of the Navy of the Confederate States of the

second part

—

Witnesseth

:

That the said party of the first part, hereby undertakes and agrees to

build and construct at his ship yards, at the city of New Orleans, for

the Confederate States, a vessel of war of the character and description

set forth in the plans and specifications furnished by the said John
Hughes, and deposited with the commanding officer of the New Or-

leans station, and that he will complete and deliver the said vessel to

the party of the second part, or to his assigns, in the shortest time

compatible with their abiUty to procure labor and materials, and which

time is estimated by them at eight months from the signing hereof, and

that they will fiirnish all materials and labor to complete the said vessel

according to said plans and specifications; and they fiirther agree that

57
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they will in all respects well and faithfully supervise the expenditures

for building said vessel, to the end that no unnecessary expense may be
incurred therein.

And the said party of the second part, in consideration of the fore-

going stipulations, undertakes and agrees that he will, appoint a |dis-

bursing agent of the Confederate States, at New Orleans, who shall

have cognizance of all disbursements, and who shall pay to the parties

of the first part, from time to time, as their work progresses, in pay-

ments, not to exceed one for every two weeks, the true and bona fide
disbursements made by them for labor and materials in constructing

said vessel; and that when said vessel shall be completed and delivered

as aforesaid, they, the parties of the first part, shall be entitled to re-

ceive ten per centum upon the exact cost price thereof, which is to be

in full compensation for their model, plans, drawings, work, labor, con-

struction and superintendence, ship yard, and services of a chief en-

gineer.

Witness our hands and seals the day and date first herein written.

(Signed) S. R. MALLORY, [Seal.-]

(Signed) JOHN HUGHES <fc CO., {Seai:\

Witness for the signature of Messrs. John Hughes & Co.,

J. B. Wasson.

[Copy.]

Contract of Wm. O. Saffoldwith Navy Department, March 25th, 1862.

Articles of agreement, made and entered into this twenty-fifth day of
March, in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and
sixty-two, between the Government of the Confederate States of

America and William O. Saffold, county of Early, State of Georgia,

in manner and form following, to wit:

The said William O. Saffold, for the consideration hereinafter men-
tioned, both for himself, his executors and administrators, covenants,

promises and agrees to, and with the said Confederate States of Ame-
lica, that he the said William O. Saffold, or his assigns, shall and will

by the first day of July next, in good and workman-like manner, ac-

cording to the terms and specifications and drawings, herewith appended
and prepared by the navy department of said Confederate States of

America, well and substantially build, construct and complete, in a

workman-like manner, two gun boats, one hundred and six feet in

length, with eighteen feet beam, and eight feet depth of hold, each with
one single back-acting high pressure engine and propeller, with seven
hundred square feet of heating surface, in all respects according to said

specifications, hereto annexed, and have the same ready for delivery at

or near Saffold, Early county, Georgia, at the time herein specified, and
that the same shall be built at or near the place specified aforesaid, upon
the Chattahoochee river.

In consideration whereof, the said Confederate States of America,
doth covenant and promise, to and with the said William O. Saffold, his

executors and administrators, well and truly to pay, or cause to be paid
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iittto the said William O. Salfold, his executors, administrators and
assigns, the sum of fifty thousand dollars ($50,000,) in manner follow-
ing, to wit: in six instalments, that is to say, when one-sixth part of the
work and material is done and provided, a payment shall be made of
eighty per cent, of the material and work done, and so on until the
whole is completed and delivered, when full payment shall be made for

the same.
And it is further agreed by and between the parties, that the work and

material shall be subject to the inspection and approval of a competent
officer, to be designated by the Government, who shall have the super-
vision of the work as the same progresses.

In witness whereof the said parties have hereto set their hands and
seals interchangeably, the day and year first above written.

(Signed) Lt. A. McLAUGHLIN, C. S. N.
(Signed) WM. O. SAFFOLD.

Witness: *

L. T. Campbell.

[Copy.

Contract of H. F. Willink, Jr., with Navy Department, March Z\Mj
1862.

This contract made and entered into this 31st day of March, in the year

one thousand eight hundred and sixty-two, betweeni H. F. Willink,

Jr., of the city of Savannah, State of Georgia, of the first [part, and
S. R. Mallory, Secretary of the Navy of the Confederate States of
America, for and in behalf of the Government of the Confederate

States of the second part

—

Witnesseth:

That the party of the first part, hereby undertakes and agrees, for and
in consideration of the sums of money to be paid by the party of the

second part, as herein set forth, to construct, and deliver to the said

party of the second part, or to the authorized agent of the navy depart-

ment, at the city of Savannah, on or before the first day of August
next, the hulls of two gun boats, to be iron clad, of the character and
description provided in the plans and specifications hereto annexed, and
which are made part and parcel of this contract, and to put in place and
fasten the iron plating on the casemates, and other parts of the vessels

to be plated with iron, as shown, and provided in the plans and specifi-

cations .

It is understood and agreed that the party of the first part is to furnish

all the timber and materials named in the specifications, and necessary

for the construction and completion of the vessels, with the exception

of the iron for plating the vessels, and the iron fastenings for the pla-

ting, and also the iron fastenings for the firames, and casemates of the

vessels, which are to be furnished by the party of the second part.

And the said party of the second part, undertakes and agrees for and
in consideration of the stipulations of the said party of the first part, to

pay or cause to be paid to the party of the first part, his authorized
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agents or assigns, the sum of one hundred and. forty thousand dollars,

($140,000,) in the manner and form following, that is to say, the sum
of twenty thousand dollars ($20,000) on account of either vessel, when
the stem, stern-post, and keel of either vessel shall be laid; twenty

thousand dollars ($20,000) when the frame of either is up and com-

plete; twenty thousand dollars ($20,000) when either is planked com-

plete; twenty thousand dollars ($20,000) when the deck and casemate

of either is framed complete; twenty thousand dollars ($20,000) when
the deck and casemate of either is laid and planed off complete; twenty

thousand dollars ($20,000) when the iron plating is put on and fastened

complete; and twenty thousand dollars ($20,000) when either vessel

shall be completed in every respect according to the specifications, and

delivered.

The foregoing payments to be made one-third in bonds of the Con-

federate States, and two-thirds in treasury notes.

Witness our hands and seals the day and date first herein written.

H. F. WILLINK, Jr., [Seal.-]

S. R. MALLORY, [Seal.]

Signed, sealed, and delivered in presence of

Z. P. Moses,
E. M. TiDBALL,

Jno. Cunningham,
C. E. Ryan.

[Copy.]

Ooniract of Gilbert Elliott with Navy Departme^it, April IQth, 1862.

This contract made and entered into this 16th April, 1862, between Gil-

bert Elliott, of Elizabeth City, State of North Carolina, of the first

part, and S. R. Mallory, Secretary of the Navy of the Confederate

States of America, for and in behalf of the Government of the Con-
federate States of the second part

—

Witnesseth

:

That the said party of the first part, hereby undertakes and agrees

for and in consideration of the sums of money to be paid as hereinafter

set forth, to construct and deliver to the said party of the second part,

or to the authorized agent of the navy department, one gun boat to be
iron clad, of the character and description provided in the specifications

hereto annexed, and which are made part and parcel of this contract.

It is understood and agreed that the party of the first part, is to con-
struct and deliver the boat complete in all its parts, ready to receive the
engine, machinery, and iron plating, which are to be placed on the
"boat by the party of the second part, the boat to be delivered in three

months from the date hereof
And the said party of the second part, undertakes and agrees for and

in consideration of the stipulations of the said party of the first part, to

pay or cause to be paid to the said party of the first part, his authorized
agent or assigns, the sum of twenty-three thousand dollars, in the ms^n-
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ner and form following, that is to say: five thousand dollars in advance
upon the full execution of this contract, and a bond of indemnity sa-

tisfactory to the party of the second part; four thousand five hundred
dollars when two-fifths of the work upon the boat shall be completed;
four thousand five hundred dollars when three-fifths of the work upon
the boat shall be completed; four thousand five hundred dollars when
four-fifths of the work upon the boat shall be completed; and four thou-
sand five hundred dolleirs when the boat is completed and delivered.

It is further understood and agreed that the party of the first part will

make alterations in, and additions to the specifications hereto annexed,
which the party of the second part may require, and perform the work
in conformity therewith, and for which he is to receive additional com-
pensation, and also allowed additional time to perform the work, if the

alterations are such as to require it.

It is further understood and agreed that if the work is interrupted by
the enemy, the party of the first part is to receive compensation for the
work done upon the boat to the time of such interruption; and also that

the party of the second part, is to furnish any iron festening, which
cannot be obtained by the party of the first part, the cost of which is to

be deducted fi:om the contract price of th« boat.

S. R. MALLORY, [Seal.]

GILBERT ELLIOTT, [Seal.-]

Signed, sealed, and delivered in presence of
As to G. Elliott:

Ed. M.Price,
Wm. p. Young, Jr.

E. M. Tidball,
Theo. S. Garnett, Jr.

As to S. R. MalloryT

[Copy.]

Cgmtract of Lindsey Sc Silvester with Navy Department, April 23, 1862.

This contract made and entered into this ?3d April, 1862, between Am-
brose H. Lindsey and Willis W. Silvester, of the county of Norfolk,

and State of Virginia, of the first part, and S. R. Mallory, Secretary

of the Navy of the Confederate States of America, for and in behalf

of the Government of the Confederate States of the second part

—

Witnesseth:

That the said party of the first part hereby undertakes and agrees for

and in consideration of the sums of money, to be paid as hereinafter set

forth, to construct and deliver to the party of the second part, or to the

authorized agent of the navy department, one gun boat, to be iron-clad,

of the character and description provided in the specifications hereto

annexed, and which are made part and parcel of this contract.

It is understood and agreed that the parties of the first part are to con-

struct and deliver the boat complete in all its parts, ready to receive the

engine, machinery, and the iron platings which are to be placed on the
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boat by the party of the second part; the boat to be delivered in three

months from the date hereof; and the said party of the second part un-
dertakes and agrees for, and in consideration of the stipulations of the

said party of the first part, to pay or cause to be paid to the party of the

first part, his authorized agent or assigns the sum of twenty-five thou-
sand dollars, in the manner and form following, that is to say: five

thousand dollars in advance upon the full execution of this contract,

and a bond of indemnity satisfactory to the party of the second part;

five thousand dollars when two-fifths of the work upon the boat shall

be completed; five thousand dollars when three-fifths of the work upon
the boat shall be completed; five thousand dollars when four- fifths of
the work upon the boat shall be completed; and five thousand dollars

when the boat is completed and delivered.

; It is further understood and agreed, that the parties of the first part

will make alterations in, and additions to the specifications hereto an-

nexed, which the party of the second part may require; and perform the

work in conformity therewith, and for which they are to receive addi-

tional compensation, and also allowed additional time to perform the

work, if the alterations are such as to require it.

It is further understood and agreed, that if the work is interrupted

by the enemy, the parties of the first part are to receive compensation

for the work done upon the boat to the time of such interruption; and
also that the party of the second part, is to furnish any iron fastenings,

which cannot be obtained by the party of the first part, the cost of

which is to be deducted from the contract price of the boat.

LINDSEY & SILYESTER, l^eaL]
S. R. MALLORY, [Seal.]

F. WILSON, [Seal.-]

ROB'T T. WILSON, [Seal.]

Signed, sealed, and delivered in presence of

John Nash,
J. S. Stuibs,

E. M. TlDBALL,
C. A. Vanfelson,

As to S. R. Mallory. "»

[Copy.]

Contract of Henri/ D. Bassett with Navy Department, May \st, 1862.

This contract, made and entered into this 1st May, 1862, between

Henry D. Bassett, of the city of Mobile, State of Alabama, of the

first part, and S. R. Mallory, Secretary of the Navy of the Confede-

rate States of America, for and in behalf of the Government of the

Confederate States, of the second part,

Witnesseth

:

That the said party of the first part hereby undertakes and agrees for

and in consideration of the sums of money to be paid by the party of

the second part, as hereinafter provided, to construct and deliver to the
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said party of the second part, or to the authorized agents of the navy
department, the hulls of two floating batteries, of the character and de-
scription provided in the specifications hereto annexed, and which are
made part and parcel of this contract.

It is understood and agreed that the said floating batteries are to be
constructed at the town of Sehna, State of Alabama, and that, if re-

quired by the said party of the second part, the said party of the first

part will construct one or two other batteries of same description upon
the following terms:—For the two provided for in this contract he is to

receive one hundred thousand dollars for each; if an additional one is

required, the three are to be constructed for two hundred and eighty
thousand dollars, or ninety-three thousand three hundred and thirty-

three dollars and thirty-three cents for each, and if two additional ones
are required the four are to be constructed for the sum of three hun-
dred and fifty thousand dollars, or eighty-seven thousand five hundred
dollars each.

It is understood that the iron for the plating of the shield and the
bolts to fasten the same are both supplied by the party of the second
part, and to be put in place and fastened by the party of the first part,

as required by the party of the second part, and that all materials which
cannot be procured by the party of the first part, are to be furnished by
the party of the second part from the stores on hand, at their value,
the amount of which is to be deducted from the contract price. And
the said party of the second part undertakes and agrees, for and in
consideration of the stipulations of the party of the first part, to pay,
or cause to be paid to the party of the first part, his authorized agents
or assigns, the sum of one hundred thousand dollars for each battery
in the manner and form following- -that is to say, thirty thousand dol-
lars advance upon the full execution of this contract, and a bond of in-

demnity satisfactory to the party of the second part; twenty-one thousand
two hundred and fifty dollars when two-fifths of the work on either of
the batteries is completed; twenty- one thousand two hundred and fifty

dollars when three-fifths of the work on either of the batteries is com-
pleted; twenty-one thousand two hundred and fifty dollars when four-
fifths of the work on either of the batteries is completed, and twenty-
one thousand two hundred and fifty dollars when either battery shall

be completed and delivered.

It is further understood aud agreed that if the work is interrupted by
the invasion of the enemy, the party of the first part is to receive com-
pensation for work done upon each battery to the time of such interrup-
tion.

,

It is further understood and agreed that the floating battery is to be
delivered within sixty days from the date hereof, and the second one
within ninety days from the date hereof, and that if the said party of
the first part shall fail to deliver them complete, in all respects, accord-
ing to the plans and specifications, at or within the time specified, to

wit: the first vessel on or before the first day of July next, and the sec-

ond vessel on or before the first day of August next, he shall forfeit the
sum of eight hundred dollars for each and every day he shall fail in the
delivery aforesaid, provided, that he is not delayed by a failure of the
party of the second part to supply the iron for the shield.

And it is further understood and agreed that one-half the sum agreed
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upon for each vessel, is to be paid in treasuary notes, and the other
half in bonds of the Confederate States.

Witness our hands and seals, the day and date first herein written.
HENRY D. BASSETT, TSeaU
S. R. MALLORY, [SeaL]

Signed, sealed and delivered in presence of
E. M. TideALL.
Z. P. Moses.

[Copy.]

Contract of Porter $c Watson with Navy Department, Aug. I2th, 1862.

Articles of agreement made and entered into this day, the twelfth of
August, one thousand eight hundred and sixty-two, between the Gov-
ernment of the Confederate States of America and Sidney D. Porter
and J. W. Watson, of the city of Mobile, and State of Alabama, do-
ing business under the firm of Porter <fc Watson, in manner and
form following, to wit:

The said Porter &> Watson, for the consideration hereinafter men-
tioned, doth for themselves, their executors, administrators and assigns,

covenant, promise and agree to and with the said Confederate States of
America, that they, the said Porter & Watson, their executors, admin-
istrators and assigns, shall and will, within the space of ninety days
next after they shall have received notice of the execution of this con-
tract by the said government, in good and workmanlike manner, ac-

cording to the terms and specifications and drawings herewith appended
and prepared by the Navy Department of the Confederate States of
America, to well and substantially build, construct, and complete in a
workmanlike manner, two iron-clad ram gun boats, of on© hundred and
sixty feet of length between perpendiculars, and forty-one feet breadth
of beam at the knuckle, and ten and one-half feet depth of hold. The
said Government of the Confederate States will furnish the plate iron

constituting the armor, and all the necessary bolts for securing th« same.
The said Porter &. Watson to furnish all the necessary machinery and
appendages required to make the same complete and efficient under
steam, and to consist of two first class high-pressure engines and four

boilers for each boat. The engines to be so geared as to run two screw
propellers, one upon each quarter. The whole machinery, with all the

necessary attachments and appendages, to be arranged and completed
to the satisfaction of the chief engineer of the navy, and subject to his

inspection, or such other officer as may be appointed for such purpose
by the Navy Department of the Confederate States. The whole work
to be completed according to specifications, and to have the same ready
for delivery within the time herein specified; and that the same be built

near Oven Bluff, on the Tombigbee river.

For and in consideration whereof, the said Confederate States of

America doth covenant and promise to and with the said Porter & Wat-
son, their executors, administrators and assigns, well and truly pay, or

cause to be paid unto the said Porter <fc Watson, their executor, ad-
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ministrator and assigns, the sum of two hundred and seventy thou-
sand dollars ($270;000) in manner following; to wit: in six instalments,
that is to say, when one-sixth part of the work is done, and material
furnished, a payment shall be made of one eighth of the amount of this
contract, and so on until the whole is completed and delivered, when
full payment shall be made 3 Provided, that one-half of all payments
shall be made in treasury notes of the Confederate States and the
remaining half in bonds of the Confederate States.

It is further agreed by and between the parties hereto, that the work
and materials shall be subject to the approval and inspection of a com-
petent officer, to be designated by the Navy Department of the Confed-
erate States, who shall have the supervision of the work as the same
progresses

.

And it is further stipulated and agreed, that the said vessels are to be
completed and finished in all respects, and that whether the specifica-

tions describe all the work to be done or not, the vessels are to be com-
pleted and finished consistently with and according to the general plan,
drawings and specifications, as if all and singular every detail necessary
for completion were specified.

The anchor and chains will be furnished by the Government of the
Confederate States.

In witness whereof the said parties have hereunto set their hands and
seals this, the twelfth day of August, one thousand eight hundred and
sixty- two,

(Signed) PORTER & WATSON, [SeaU
(Signed) EBEN. FARRAND, [Seal.]

Signed, sealed and delivered in presence of

J. H. Warner.
P. C. COSGROVE.

[Copy.]

Contract of Porter 4* Watso?iwitk Navy Department, Aug. 13th, 1862.

This contract made and entered into this 13th day of August, 1862,
between the Government of the Confederate States of America, and
Sidney D. Porter and J. M. Watson, of the city of Mobile, State of

Alabama, doing business under the firm and title of Porter &. Wat-
son

—

Witnesseth

:

That the said Porter & Watson, for the consideration hereinafter

mentioned, doth for themselves, their executors, administrators, and as-

sings, covenant, promise and agree to, and with the said Confederate States

of America, that they, the said Porter& Watson, their executors, admin-
istrators and assigns, shall, and will, within the time hereinafter set

forth, in good and workmanlike manner, according to the terms and
specifications, and drawings herewith appended, and prepared by the
navy department of the Confederate States of America, to well and
substantially build, construct and complete in a workmanlike manner,
one (1) iron-clad ram gun boat, of one hundred and eighty feet of

58 •
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length, and thirty-four feet moulded beam, and fourteen feet depth of

hold. The said Government of the Confederate States, will furnish

the plate iron constituting the armor, and all the bolts necessary for

securing the same. The whole of the work to be complete according

to the specifications, and to have the same ready for delivery to the said

Government of the States, on, or before the 15th of January, 1863,

and that the same shall be built and constructed near Oven Bluff, on

the Tombigee river. /

For, and in consideration whereof, the said Confederate States, doth

covenant and promise to, and with the said Porter & Watson, their

executors, administrators and assigns, well and truly to pay, or cause

to be paid to the said Porter <fc Watson, their executors, administrators

and assigns, the sum of one hundred and sixty thousand dollars, in

manner following to wit: in six instalments, that is to say, when one-

, sixth part of the work is done, and material furnished, a payment shall

be made of one-eighth of the amount of this contract, and so on until

the whole work is completed and delivered, when full payment shall

be made; Provided, that one-half of all payments shall be made in

treasury notes of the Confederate States, and the remaining half in

bonds of the Confederate States.

It is further agreed by and between the parties hereto, that the work
and materials shall be subject to the inspection of a competent officer,

to be designated by the navy department of the Confederate States,

who shall have the supervision of the work as the same progresses.

And it is further stipulated and agreed, that the said vessel shall be

completed and finished, consistently with, and according to the general

plan, drawing and specifications, whether the specifications describe all

the work to be done or not, but to be finished complete in all respects,

as if all and singular every detail necessary for completion were specified.

In witness whereof, the parties have hereto set their hands and seals,

this thirteenth of August, 1862.

PORTER & WATSON, [Seal.]

EBEN. FARRAND, [Seal].

Signed, sealed and delivered in presence of

J. H. Warner.
P. C. COSGROVE.

[Copy.]

CknUract of H. F. Willink, Jr. with Navy Department j September
Uth, 1862.

Navy Department, C. S.

This contract, made and entered into this thirteenth day of September,

in the year one thousand eight hundred and sixty-two, between H.

F. WiUink, Jr., of the city of Savannah, and State of Georgia of the

first part, and Stephen R. Mallory, Secretary o|| the Navy, of the

Confederate States of America, for and in behalf of the Government

of the Confederate States of the second part

—



459 .

Witnesseth:

That the said party of the first part, hereby undertakes and agrees

to construct and dehver to the said party of the second part, or to the

agent of the navy department at the city of Savannah, within nine
months from the date hereof, the hull of one gun boat, to be iron-clad,

of the character and description provided in the plans and specifica-

tions, and according to the stipulations therein set forth, and which are

hereto annexed, and made part and parcel of this contract, and to put

in place and fasten the iron-plating on the casemates, and other parts of

the vessel to be plated with iron, as provided and shown in the plans

and specifications.

It is understood and agreed, that the said party of the first part, is to

furnish all the timber and other materials named in the specifications,

and necessary for the construction and completion of the vessel, with

the exception of the iron for plating the vessel, and the iron-fastenings

for the plating, and also the iron-fastenings of the firaraes and case-

mates of the vessel, which are to be furnished by the party of the

second part.

And the said party of the second part, undertakes and agrees for and
in consideration of the stipulations of the said party of the first part, to

pay or cause to be paid to the said party of the first part, his authorized

agents or assigns, the sum of one hundred and sixty thousand dollars,

in manner and form following, that is to say, the sum of twenty thou-

sand dollars when the stem, stern-post, and keel of the vessel shall be

laid; twenty thousand dollars (|20,000) when the frame is up complete;

twenty thousand dollars (|20,000) when the vessel is planked complete;

and twenty-five thousand dollars ($25,000) when the deck and case-

mate are framed complete; twenty- five thousand dollars ($25,000) when
the deck and casemate are laid complete and planed off;' twenty-five

thousand dollars ($25,000) when the iron plating is put on and fastened

complete; and twenty-five thousand dollars ($25,000) when the vessel

shall be completed-in every respect according to the specifications, and

delivered.

It is further understood and agreed, that the foregoing payments are to

be made one-third in bonds of the Confederate States, and two-thirds

in treasury notes.

Witness our hands and seals the day and date first herein written.

(Signed) H. F. WILLINK, Jr., [Seal.}

(Signed) S. R. MALLORY, Sec. of Navyf [Seed.}

Signed, sealed, and delivered in presence of

J. W. Cunningham,
George Gaegor.

E. M. TifiBALL,

Theo. S. Garnett, Jr.

As to S. R« Mal&ort
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[Copy.]

Contract of J. E. Montgomery and A. Anderson , loith Navy Depart-

ment, September 16, 1862.

This contract made and entered into this 16th day of September, in the

year one thousand eight hundred and sixty-two, between J. E. Mont-
gomery, of Missouri, and A. Anderson, of Tennessee, of the first

part, and Stephen R. Mallory, Secretary of the Navy of the Con-
federate States of America, for and in behalf of the Government of

the Confederate States of the second part—

Witnesseth:

That the said party of the first part, hereby undertakes and agrees to

construct and complete on the Alabama river, at or near as practicable

to Montgomery, Ala., and to deliver to the said party of the second
part, or the agent of the navy department at Mobile, Ala., on or before

before the 30th day of May, 1863, one iron-clad side wheel steam war
vessel, of the size and description provided in, and according to the

plans and specifications hereto annexed, and which lare made part and
parcel of this contract, with the engines, boilers and machinery com-
plete, the character of which is to be determined by the chief engineer

of the navy, and to guarantee a speed at the rate of twelve miles per

hour in smooth water; and to furnish and put in place, and fasten the

iron used for plating said vessel as provided in the specifications. The
vessel to be delivered complete in all respects.

And the said party of the first part undertake and pledge themselves
to employ all the mechanical skill, labor and energy, and industry, ne-

cessary to complete and deliver the said vessel in the shortest possible

time, and to omit no eflbrt to attain this end.
And the said party of the second part undertakes and agrees for, and

in consideration of the stipulations of the said party, of the first part, to

pay or cause to be paid to the said party of the first part, their author-

ized agents or assigns, the sum of six hundred and sixty-six thousand
eight hundred and seventy-two dollars, in the manner and form follow-

ing, that is to say: upon the execution of this contract, and a bond of

indemnity for the sum of one hundred thousand^ dollars, with two or

more sureties satisfactory to the parties of the second part, the sum of
fifty thousand dollars (!$50,000) will be advanced; and when one-eighth

part of the' work on said vessel shall be completed, one-eighth part of

the sum agreed upon for the vessel shall be paid, deducting therefrom

twenty per centum upon the amount, and the advance of fifty thousand
dollars; and when each succeeding one-eighth part of the vessel shall

be completed to the satisfaction of the officer or agent, detailed to ex-

amine the same, one-eighth of the sum agreed upon for the vessel, de-

ducting therefrom twenty per centum upon each payment, shall be paid;

and when the vessel shall be completed and delivered to the satisfaction

of the navy department, or its agent in Mobile, the amount of the

twenty per centum reservations shall be paid.

And it is further understood and agreed, that if the said vessel shall

be delivered complete before the 30th day of May, 1863, the said party

of the first part shall be entitled to receive, and will be paid the sura of
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two hundred dollars per day for each and every day between the date

of delivery and the 30th day of May, 1863; and that if the said vessel

shall not be delivered on the said 30th day of May, 1863, that then the

said party of the first part shall forfeit the sum of two hundred dollars

per day for each and every day between the 30th day of May, 1863, and
the date of actual delivery, to be deducted from the twenty per centum
reservation.

And it is further understood, that if Mobile should fall into the hands
of the enemy, the vessel may be delivered at the point selected for build-

ing, after such trial under steam as the party of the second part may
prescribe to test the engines, machinery, &c.

Witness our hands and seals the day and date first herein written.

(Signed) J. E. MONTGOMERY, [Seal.}

(Signed) A. ANDERSON, [Seal]

(Signed) S. R. MALLORY, Sec'y of the Navt/, [Seal.]

Signed, sealed, and delivered in the presence of

Z. P.Moses,
E. M. Tideall.

[Copy.]

Contract of Martin 4* Elliott with Navy Department^ Sept. 17, 1862.

Navy Department C. S.

This contract made and entered into this 17th day of September, in the

year one thousand eight hundred and sixty-two, between Martin &
Elliott, of the town of Elizabeth City, and State of North Carolina,

of the first part, and Stephen R. Mallory, Secretary of the Navy of
the. Confederate States of America, for and in behalf of the Govern-
ment of the Confederate States of the second part

—

Witnesseth:

That the said party of the first part hereby undertakes and agrees to

construct and deliver to the said party of the second part, or the agent
of the navy department, on or before, the first day of March, 1863, at

Tarboro', North Carolina, the hull of one gun boat, to be iron-clad, of
the character and description provided in and according to the plans and
specifications hereto annexed, and which are made part and ^parcel of
this contract.

It is understood and agreed that the said party of the first part are to

deliver the vessel complete in all respects ready to receive the engine
and machinery, and to put in place and fasten the iron plating on said
vessel, as provided in the specifications—the iron plates and the bolts for

fastening the same are to be furnished by the party of the second part.

And the said party of the first part undertake and pledge themselves
to employ all the mechanical skill, labor, industry and energy necessary
to complete and deliver the said vessel in the shortest possible time, and
to omit no effort to attain this end.

And the said party of the second part, undertakes and agrees for and
in consideration of the stipulations of the said party of the first part
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tb ^ay, or cause to be paid to the said party of the first part, their au-

thorieed agents or assigns > the sum of forty thousand dollars, in manner
and form following, that is to say: five thousand dollars in advance upon
the execution of the contract, aud a bond of indemnity in the penalty

often thousand dollars, satisfiictory to the party of the second part, and
when one-sixth part of the work upon said vessel shall be completed,

one-eighth of the sum agreed upon for the vessel will be paid, and so on
until the vessel shall be completed to the satisfaction of the navy depart-

ment, and delivered, when the remaining one-eighth shall be paid.

It is further understood and agreed, that the party of the first part

will make alterations iri and addition to the specifications hereto annexed,

which the party of the second may require, and perform the work in

confomaity therewith, and for which they are to receive additional com-
pensation, and also allowed additional time to perform the work, if the

alterations axe such as to require it.

And it is further understood and agreed, that if the work be inter-

rupted by the enemy, the party of the first part is to receive compensa-
tion for the work done upon the boat to the time of such interruption;

and also that the party of the second part is to furnish any iron fasten-

ings, which cannot be obtained by the party of the first part, the cost

of which is to be deducted from the contract price of the boat.

And it is further understood and agreed, that one or more vessels will

be built, under the terms of this contract by the party of the first part,

iat the option of the party of the second part.

Witness our hands and seals the day and date first herein written.

(Signed) MARTIN & ELLIOTT, [Seal.]

{Signed) S. R. MALLORY, Sec'y of the Navy, [SeaL]

Signed, sealed, and delivered in the presence of

E. M. TibSAtL,
Z. P. Mosfis.

[Copy.]

Contract of Francis M. Jomes with Navy Department, Oct. 16, 1862..

Navy Department C. Si

This contract made and entered into this 16th day of October, in the

year one thousand eight hundred and sixty-two, between Francis M.
Jones, of the city of Charleston, and State of South CaroUna, of the

first part, and Stephen R. Mallory, Secretary of the Navy of the Con-

federate States of America, for and in behalf of the Government of

the Confederate States of the second part

—

Witnesseth:

That the said party of the first part hereby undertakes and agrees to

construct and deliver to the said party of the second part, or the agent

of the navy department at the city of Charleston, the hull of one iron-

clad steam vessel complete, of the character and description, and ac-

cording to the stipulations, provided in the specifications and drawings

hereto annexed, in the shortest possible time; and in good faith to attain
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this end, to employ as many men as can advantageously work on the
said vessel until her completion; and also to put in place and fasten the
iron plating for said vessel, which iron plating and the fastenings there-

for are to be supplied by the party of the second part.

And the said party of the second part undertakes and agrees for and
in consideration of the stipulations of the said party of the first part,
to pay or cause to be paid to the said party of the first part, his
authorized agents or assigns, the sum of one hundred and twenty
thousand dollars, in manner and form following, that is to say: when
stern and stern post are raised, twelve thousand dollars; when frame is

completed, keelsons in and ready for planking, twenty-four thousand
dollars; when ceiling and deck frames are in, twelve thousand dollars;

when planked, twelve thousand dollars; when sponsons and rafters are
up, twelve thousand dollars; when deck is laid, twelve thousand dol-

lars; when ready to launch, twelve thousand dollars; when joiners'

work is complete, twelve thousand dollars; and the remainder when
fully completed and ready to receive the iron armor.
And the said party of the second part, further agrees to pay the cur-

rent wages of the persons employed to put on and fasten the iron plating
on said vessel; the payments to be made semi-weekly, or nionthly, on
the certificate of the superintending officer, as to the amount due.

It is further understood that the payments for the vessel above pro-
vided lor, are to be made one-half in bonds of the Confederate States
and one-half in treasury notes.

(Signed) S. R. MALLORY, Sec'y of the Navy, \SeaU
(Signed) FRANCIS M. JONES, [Seal.]

Signed, sealed, and delivered in the presence of
Z. P. Moses, \
E. M. TiDBALL, fAs to S. R. Mallory.

John Ferguson, )

Wm. p. Holmes, fAs to Francis M. Jones.

[Copy.]

Contract of Howard S^ Ellis with Navy Department, Oct. 17, 18^2.

This contract made and entered into this 17th day of Octobei*, in the
year one thousand eight hundred and sixty-two, between Howard &
Ellis, of the town of Newborn, and State of North Carolina, of the
first part, and Stephen R. Mallory, Secretary of the Navy of the Con-
federate States of America, for and in behalf of the Government of
the Confederate States of the second part

—

Witnesseth:

That the said party of the first part, hereby undertakes and agrees to

construct and deliver to the said party of the second part, or the agent
of the navy department, on or before the first day of March, 1863, at

White Hall, North Carolina, the hull of one gun boat, to be iron-clad,

of the character and description provided in and according to the plans
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of this contract.

It is understood and agreed; that the said party of the first part are to

deliver the vessel complete in all respects readv to receive the engine

and machinery, and to put in place and fasten the iron plating on said

vessel, as provided in the specifications, the iron plates and the bolts for

fastening the same are to be furnished by the party of the second part.

And the said party of the first part undertake and pledge themselves

to employ all the mechanical skill, labor, industry and energy necessary

to complete and deliver the said vessel in the shortest possible time, and

o omit no effort to attain this end.

And the said party of the seaond part, undertakes and agrees for and

in consideration of the stipulations of the said party of the first part to

pay, or cause to be paid to the said party of the first part, their author-

ized agents or assigns, the sum of forty thousand dollars, in the manner

and form following, that is to say: five thousand dollars in advance

upon the execution of this contract, and a bond of indemnity in the

penalty of ten thousand dollars, satisfactory to the party of the second

part; and when one,sixth part of the work upon said vessel shall be

completed, one-eighth of the sum agreed upon for the vessel will be

paid ; and so on until the vessel shall be completed to the satisfaction of

the navy department, and delivered, when the remaining one-eighth

shall be paid.

It is further understood and agreed, that the party of the first part

will make alterations in and additions to the specifications hereto an-

nexed, which the party of the second part may require and perform the

work in conformity therewith, and for which they are to receive addi-

tional compensation, and also allowed additional time to perform the

work, if the alterations are such as to require it.

And it is further understood and agreed, that if the work be inter-

rupted by the enemy, the party of the first part is to receive compensa-

tion for the work done upon the boat to the time of such interruption;

and also that the party of the second part is to furnish any iron fasten-

ings, which cannot be obtained by the party of the first part, the cost

of°which is to be deducted from the contract price of the boat.

And it is further understood and agreed, that one or more vessels will

be built, under the terms of this contract by the party of the first part •

at the option of the party of the second part.

Witness our hands and seals the day and date herein written.

(Signed) HOWARD & ELLIS, [Seal.]

(Signed, J. W. COOKE, ComV, [Seal.\

Signed, sealed and delivered in the presence of

j. d. horinblow,
Jno. E. Arbeyett,

[Copy.]

Contract of Thomas Moore and JoJm Smoker loith Navy Department

j

November \st, 1862.

This contract made and entered into this the first day of November, in

the year ono thousand eight hundred and sixty-two, between Thomas
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Moore and John Smoker, of the Parish of St. Tammary, and State of
Louisiana, of the first part, and J. H. Carter, Lieutenant in the navy
of the Confederate States of America, for, and in behalf of the Gov-
ment of the Confederate States, of the second part

—

Witnesseth:
That the said party of the first part, hereby undertakes and agrees

to construct and deUver to the party of the second part, or to the au-
thorized agent of the navy department, within six months from the date
hereof, at Shrevepnrt, Louisiana, on the Red river, one iron-clad steam
gun boat, of the character and description provided in, and according
to the plans and specifications hereto annexed, and which are made
part and parcel of this contract. The said party of the first part to fur-

nish all materials of every kind for the construction of the said vessel,

to furnish, put in place, and fasten the iron plates on the vessel, as pro-

vided in the specifications; and furnish, erect, and put in place the en-
gines, boilers and machinery, in complete working order, and to

guarantee a rate of speed of ten miles per hour.

And the said party of the second part, undertakes and agrees, for,

and in consideration of the stipulations of the said party of the first part,

to pay, or cause to be paid, to the said party of the first part, his author-
ized agents or assigns, the sum of three hundred and thirty-six thousand
five hundred dollars, in manner and form following, that is to say, as

the work progresses, to pay monthly the sum of forty-five thousand
dollars, for the period of six months, from the date of this contract.

And it is further agreed between the parties aforesaid, that any slight

deviation from the plan and specifications heretofore made a part of
this contract, shall involve no additional cost to the Confederate States

Government in the construction of said vessel.

Witness our hands and seals the day and date first herein written.

(Signed) THOMAS MOORE, [Seal.]

(Signed) JOHN SMOKER, [SeaU
(Signed) J. H. CARTER, [Seal.]

Signed, sealed and delivered in the presence of

Geo. Alban,
Thos. H. Clabk.

Suppl&metit

.

It is further understood and agreed by the parties aforesaid, that the

six monthly payments of forty-five thousand dollars each, provided in

the foregoing contract, shall each be made upon the certificate of the

superintending ofiicer, that one-sixth part of the work on said vessel is

completed, and that the remainder of the sum agreed upon to be paid
for said vessel, sixty-six thousand five hundred dollars shall be paid
when*the vessel is completed to the satisfaction of the superintending
ofiicer, and delivered to the agent of the navy department appointed to

receive it.

Given under our hands and seals the 22dday of Dec, A. D. 1862.

(Signed) THOMAS MOORE, [Seal.]

(Signed) JOHN SMOKER, [Seal.]

(Signed) J. H. CARTER, [Seal.]

Test: Thos. H. Clark,
E. Covert.

59
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[Copy.]

Contract of Martin tV FJliott with Navy Department, Dec. 1st, 1862.

Navy Department C. S.

This contract made and entered into this first day of December, A. D.,

,1862, between Martin <fc Elliott, of Elizabeth City, and State of

North Carolina, of the first part, and James W. Cooke, Commander

in the navy of the Confederate States, acting by authority of Stephen

R. Mallory, Secretary of the Navy of the Confederate States, for and

in behalf of the Government of the Confederate Stales of the second

part

—

Witnesseth:

That the said party of the first part, hereby undertakes and agrees to

construct and deliver to the said party of the second part, or the agent

of the navy department, on or before the first day of February, 1863,

at Tiliery's farm, on the Roanoke river, in North Carolina, the hull of

one stationery, floating, four gun iron-clad battery, of the character and

description provided in and according to the plans and specifications

hereto annexed, and which are made part and parcel of this contract.

It is understood and agreed that the parties of the first part are to

deliver the vessel complete in all respects ready to receive the arma-

ment; and to put in place and fasten the iron plating on said battery,

the iron plates with punched holes, and the bolts for fastening the same

to be furnished by the party of the second part.

In consideration of the stipulations of the party of the first part, the

party of the second part undertakes and agrees to pay, or cause to be

paid to the said party of the first part, their authorized agents or assigns,

the sum of twenty-six thousand six hundred and fifty-four dollars, in

the manner and form following, that is to say: when one-fifth of the

work is done, five thousand dollars will be paid; when two-fifths of the

work is done, five thousand dollars will be paid; when three-fifths of

the work is done, five thousand dollars will be paid; when four-fifths

of the work is done, five thousand dollars will be paid; and when the

battery is completed and delivered, the remaining sum of six thousand

and fifty-four dollars will be paid.

It is further understood and agreed, that the party of the first part

will make alteratious in, and additions to the specifications hereto an-

nexed, which the party of the second part may require and perform the

work in conformity therewith, and for which the party of the first part

is to receive additional compensation, and allowed additional time to

perform the work, if the alterations are such as to require it.

And it is further understood and agreed, that if the work be inter-

rupted by the enemy, the party of the first part is to receive compensa-

tion for the work done upon the battery to the time of such interrup-

tion ; and also that the party of the second part is to furnish any iron

fastening, which cannot be obtained by the party of the first part, the

cost of which is to be deducted from the contract price of the battery.

Witness our hands and seals the day and date first above written.

(Signed) MARTIN & ELLIOTT, [Seal]

(Si|ned) J. W. COOKE, CowV, [Seal.\

Signed, sealed and delivered in presence of

5. F. Snell. r

As to Martin & Elliott.



4C7

Mr. Maxwell olTered the following resolution

:

Resolved, That the Secretary of the Navy be requested to send be-
fore the Committee, the person referred to in his communication of the
5th inst., to give such testimony in relation to contracts of the navy
department with persons abroad, as is within his knowledge.

Mr. PHELAN. I offer the following as a substitute for that reso-
lution:

Resolved, That the resolution of the Committee and the reply of the
Secretary of the Navy thereto, in relation to the disclosure of certain
contracts for the construction of naval vessels abroad, be transmitted to

the President, with the request that he communicate to the Committee,
as soon as possible, his opinion as to whether the delivery of such con-
tracts to the Committee would be consistent with the public interest.

The question having been put on the amendment offered by Mr.
Phelan, it was agreed to, and the resolution as amended, was then
adopted

.

Mr. MAXWELL. In regard to the motion submitted on Tuesday
last by the Senator from Mississippi, (Mr. Phelan,) inviting the Secre-

tary of the Navy to appear before the Committee to answer such ques-
tions as may be put to him, I will state upon the authority of the Sec-
retary, that while he is willing to answer any questions which the
Committee may think proper to put to him, he would prefer that these
questions would be put in writing, such a procedure being more con-
sistent with his convenience, than his personal appearance before the
Committee, which would involve delay and inconvenience in the dis-

charge of his public duties. 1 move that any member of the Com-
mittee be authorized to submit to the Secretary of the Navy, any writ-

ten interrogatories which he may desire to submit.

Mr. FOOTE. I move to amend that proposition as follows:

And that^ after such interrogatories shall be answered by him in

writing, the Secretary be invited to come before the Committee, for the

purpose of responding to other interrogatories that any member may
choose to propound to him in relation to the interrogatories already put
to him, or any other matter in respect to which any member may choose
to question him.

Mr. BARKSDALE. . I call the question.

The call was sustained, and the question being put, which was on
the amendment, was decided in the negative.

The question recurring on the motion submitted by Maxwell, it

was agreed to.

The Committee then proceeded to the consideration of a resolution

offered by Mr. Maxwell on "l^esday last, and an amendment offered

thereto by Mr. Dupre.
Mr. Maxwell's resolution reads as follows:

Resolved, That the respective Chairmen of this Committee ask, each
his own House, for authority to print the testimony taken before this

Committee.
Mr. Dupre 's amendment reads

:

Resolved, That the respective Chairmen of the Committee of thei

two Houses report to them the conclusion of the examination ordered

by their joint resolution, apd ask leave to print the evidence taken be-

fore them, and to employ, if necessaryj another person than the publie

printer to do the work,
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Mr. MAXWELL. 1 accept the amendment.
The amendment was then adopted.

On motion of Mr. Duprs, the Coraniittee then adjourned until Tues-

day next;, the 10th inst, at 10 o'clock.

TUESDAY; March 1*0, 1863.

The Committee met at 10 o'clock.

Present—Messrs. Semmes, (Acting Chairman,) Maxwell and Barks-

dale.

Mr. Semmes laid before the Committee, the following communica-
tion from Capt. Wm. C. ¥/hittle:

Richmond, Va., March 10th, 1863.

Sir: I beg leave to transmit to you the enclosed papers, and to ask

that they may be appended to the testimony which I have given before

the Congressional Committee, of which you are the Chairman.
1 am, sir, respectfully, your obedient servant,

VYM. C. WHITTLE, C. S. N.
Hon. C. C. Clay, of the Confederate Senate, Present:

The following are the papers referred to

:

[Copy.]

New Orleans, IWi April, 1862.

Sir: The attention of the commander of each individual vessel being
necessarily engrossed by his own command, you vviil at once assume
the direction of all naval operations in the neighborhood of Port Jack-

'

son, and keep me constantly advised of all that may be transpiring there.

You will hasten the departure of the Louisiana, (on board of which
vessel you are expected to be,) by all the means in your power, and
prepare her in- the shortest possible time to meet the enemy.
You will hold yourself in readiness, should occasion require it, to

shift at a moment's notice, the scene of your operations. Impress upon
the officers and men of the navy and the volunteers under your com-
mand, that the eyes of the country are upon them. They are expected

to emulate the glorious deeds recently enacted in Hampton Roads.
They will not disappoint the expectation of their country.

This arrangement is intended to be temporary. Wishing you glory

and happiness,

I am, very respectfully, <fcc.,

WM. C. WHITTLE,
Commandant Naval Station, New Orleans.

Commander i . K. Mitchell, O. S. N., Present.

[Copy.]

. Commandant's Office, Naval Station, ^
New Orleans, April 2M, 1862. jT

Sir: Can you not occupy the position below Fort St. Phillip, so as

to enfilade the mortar boats of the enemy, and give time to the garison
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to repair damagjes at Port Jackson? See Gen. Duncan on the subject.

Higgins will go and point out the position. As I understand it, it is

covered by the fire of the two forts, and would require that the bomb
vessels should be re-adjusted to get your range. Strain a point to

effect this.

I am, respectfully, <fcc.,

WM. C. WHITTLE,
Commandant.

Comm/ander J. K. Mitchell,
Senior Naval Officer, I^rt Jackson, La.

[Copy.]

Received from Fort Jackson at 10 o^clock, 50 minutes, P. M., April

23d, 1865?.

To Captain Wm. C. Whittle,
Commanding Naval Station—

Your telegraph received. I have since reconnoitered the enemy's

position myself, and will take up a position to-morrow nigbt, to act

against the mortar boats by daylight. I am about to communicate now
with Gen. Duncan, and if he thinks that he cannot hold out till then,

I will move to his support as soon as possible. My present position as

good as any to prevent their passage of the forts by the enemy.
Freeman says our propellers will be ready to-morrow evening. He

goes up on the Diana at once.

J. K. MITCHELL,
Commanding Naval Forces.

The Committee ordered that these documents be placed upon the

record of this day.

The following are interrogatories put to the Secretary of the Navy
by Mr. Semmes, and the responses of the Secretary thereto:

1st Question. Have any contracts for the purchase of steam engines

and machinery for gun boats been made by the department in Europe,

or have such engines and machinery been actually purchased ? If so,

where? what number? and at what cost? and have any such engines

and machinery been received ? If so, how many and when ? and how
many are in transit ?

Answer. Contracts for twenty-four steam engines, to be built in

Europe, were made in August last, the cost of which Avas- to be the cost

of construction and expenses, and a commission of eight per centum
upon delivery. Others have been ordered, together with a large supply

of boiler iron. None have been received, nor do I know thai any are

in transit.

2c? Cluestion. You telegraphed some time in April, 1862, 1 think 17lh,

to Commodore Whittle, at New Orleans, to ascertain the condition of

the rafts at the forts. Did you receive any answer thereto ? If so, state

the answer. If not, state why you made the inquiry, and why you

did not repeat the dispatch ?
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Answer. My telegram to Capt. Whittle was as follows: "Richmond,
April 17, 1862. Is the boom or raft below the forts in order to resist the

enemy, or has any part of it given away—state condition."

The reply was as follows: " New Orleans April 18, 1862. Telegram
received. I hear the raft below the forts is not in best condition—they
are strengthening it by additional lines. I have furnished anchors."
3d Question. Were you aware that the raft at the forts first con-

structed had given away ? If so, when ? Did, or did not the Secre-

tary of War in February or March, 1862, communicate to you the fact

that the first raft at the forts had given way, or that Gen- Lovell had so

reported to him ?

Attswer. The commanding general at New Orleans had the exclu-

sive charge of the construction of the raft, or obstruction in question,

and his correspondence with the war department induced confidence in

the security of New Orleans from the enemy. I was aware that this

raft had been injured, but did not doubt that the commanding general

would renew it, and place an eftectual barrier across the river, and I was
anxious that the navy should afford all possible aid. I am not aware
whether or not the injury to the raft was communicated to me by the

Secretary of War. I have no record to guide my recollection upon the

subject. A large number ^of anchors was sent to New Orleans from
Norfolk for the raft.

4;A Question. Has it, or not been difficult to get out of foreign ports

the war vessels built by us, and what was the reason of the difficulty?

Answer. Vessels built by us in a foreign port could not leave the

port at all as vessels of war. They left as merchant vessels without

means of offence or defence. One of them escaped seizure in such
port by one day, and only through the energy and ability of our agent.

The other was arrested four times in an English port, and finally

libelled, but released after full hearing before a Court of Admiralty, and
reached a Confederate port to fit out as a man-of-war, nearly six months
after leaving England. Act 59, George III., Chapter 69, commonly
known as the " Enlistment Act," prohibits " under a penalty of fine

and imprisonment, with forfeiture of the property, the equipment, fur-

nishing, fitting out, or arming of any vessel, to be employed in the ser-

vice of any foreign prince, state or potentate, with intent to commit hos-

tilities against the subjects or citizens of any prince or state with whom
his Majesty shall not then be at war."

5th Questioti. Is it not necessary to conduct building of war vessels

abroad with great secresy ? If so, why ?

Answer. Yes; the reasons are found in the foregoing answer, and
the further fact that the Government of the United States has a large

force of spies and detectives to watch and expose every transaction of
the kind abroad.

The Committee adjourned until Saturday next, the 14th inst., at 10
o'clock.
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SATURDAY, March 14, 1S63.

The Committee met at 10 o'clock.

Present—Messrs. Clay, (Chairman,) Semmes, Maxwell and Barks-
dale.

The Chair laid before the Committee the following letter from the
President, in response to the resolution of Mr. Phklan, adopted on the
Tth instant:

Confederate States of America,
Executive Department,

Richmond, Va., March XOth, 1863:(

Holt. C. C. Clay, Chairman, ^c, S^c.—
I have the honor to acknowledge yours of the Tth inst., and to reply

that contracts made for the construction of vessels of war in foreign
countries for the service of the Confederate States, can only be success-
fully executed by the maintenance of the utmost secresy, and are un-
dertaken by the builder at hazard to himself, which would only be en-
countered under entire confidence that the transaction would not be
divulged by the agents of our government with whom such contracts
were made, so as by any contingency to allow the information to be-
come available in a prosecution.

For these reasons I do not think it would be consistent with the
public interest or the good faith of the government to furnish copies as
requested.

Desirous at all times that the most entire knowledge of the operations of
the Executive Department should, as far as is consistent be possessed by
the legislative branch of the government, I hope the proposition of the
Secretary of the Navy will be found satisfactory to the committee, as it

seems to offer the desired^ information without the objection whicli
attaches to furnishing copies.

Ill-health has prevented me from giving an earlier answer.

Very truly yours,

JEFFERSON DAVIS.

The Committee then adjourned to meet again on Saturday next, the
21st inst.

SATURDAY, March 21, 1863.

There being no quorum present, the Committee adjourned until
Tuesday next, the 24th inst.
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TUESDAY, March 24, 1863.

The Committee met at 10 o'clock.

Present—Messrs. Clay, Semmes, Barksdale, Phelaii and Peyton.

On motion of Mr. Semmes, it was agreed to commit to Messrs. Phe-

LAN and Barksdale, the duty of contracting for the printing of the

testimony taken before the Committee. Whereupon, the Committee
adjourned over until the next meeting of Congress, which takes place

the second Monday of December next.
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